Ângela Maria Almeida de Sousa Christiane Pienna Soares Marlus Chorilli *Editors*

Cancer Nanotechnology



Cancer Nanotechnology

Ângela Maria Almeida de Sousa Christiane Pienna Soares • Marlus Chorilli Editors

Cancer Nanotechnology



Editors Ângela Maria Almeida de Sousa CICS-UBI – Health Sciences Research Centre University of Beira Interior Covilhã, Portugal

Marlus Chorilli School of Pharmaceutical Sciences São Paulo State University São Paulo, Brazil Christiane Pienna Soares School of Pharmaceutical Sciences São Paulo State University São Paulo, Brazil

ISBN 978-3-031-17830-6 ISBN 978-3-031-17831-3 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-17831-3

@ The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are solely and exclusively licensed by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Preface

Cancer remains one of the leading causes of death worldwide, both in developed and in developing nations. It may affect people of all ages, even fetuses, but the risk for most cancer varieties increases with age. Current therapeutic approaches, which include surgery, chemotherapy, and radiotherapy, are associated with adverse side effects, arising from the lack of therapy specificity for tumor cells or tissues. Nanobiopharmaceuticals is the area that studies nanotechnology-based therapeutic agents and drug delivery systems. Drugs, nucleic acids, peptides, proteins, antibodies, and small molecules can be used in cancer therapeutic approaches, and their effect is potentiated when delivered in nanocarriers. The ability to differentiate malignant cells from nonmalignant cells and to selectively eradicate malignant cells is the central role of nanotechnology as it relates to cancer treatment. Moreover, abnormal epigenetic changes play a critical role in cancer development. In this way, nanotechnology can provide effective targets for cancer prognosis (contributing as models to understanding cancer development), diagnosis (as scaffolds to evaluate metastases), and therapy under different approaches.

Drug delivery is a widely explored strategy as a biomedical application in cancer therapy. Nanosystems and nanostructures based on a broad variety of materials (such as lipidic, polymeric, inorganic, among others) have been used to load/encapsulate drugs while promoting their targeted and tailored/controlled release. Pursuing this goal, scientists have focused their attention on the conception of stimuliresponsive, tunable, multitargeted, and codelivery systems as a powerful tool to deliver therapeutic molecules to their site of action. Several innovative strategies based on the delivery of monoclonal antibodies, proteins, and peptides resorting to nanotechnology have been developed for efficient cancer therapy. A relatively recent approach to cancer therapy involves the use of a natural process wherein coding or noncoding nucleic acids can regulate gene expression. Gene therapy has been explored to rearrange different genes and manipulate their functions providing the necessary information for gene correction, protein synthesis, and supplementation as well as for regulation of cell mechanisms. Mitochondrial gene therapy emerges as an exciting and promising technology to correct mitochondrial DNA mutations, by replacing mutated genes, therefore restoring the normal mitochondrial function.

Gene silencing using small RNA molecules shows potent ability in silencing oncogenic factors, has been considered as one of the most important breakthroughs and rapidly growing fields in science, and is used as a therapeutic approach against cancer and its progression to metastasis. Additionally, the combination of nanotechnology with chronobiology to adjust drug and/or gene delivery according to each patient's individual circadian rhythm emerges as a unique and original perspective in personalized cancer chronotherapy. Another approach is the human vaccination making use of nanosystems as immunopotentiators and delivery vehicles capable of eliciting humoral and cellular immunity against cancer. Nanovaccines have been characterized as methodologies of vaccination at the nanoscale, which could improve the stimulation of several immune system cells and immunomodulatory molecules to generate a potent antitumor immunity.

For an effective treatment, improved diagnostic and therapeutic techniques with minimal side-effects are required. An emerging trend in this direction is theranostics which represents a combinatorial diagnosis and therapeutic approach to cancer disease and aims to eliminate multistep procedures, reduce delays in treatment, and improves patient care. Nanoparticles, including fluorescent semiconductor nanocrystals (quantum dots) and magnetic nanoparticles, have proven their excellent properties for in vivo imaging techniques in a number of modalities such as magnetic resonance and fluorescence imaging, respectively. Nano-phototherapies (namely nano-photothermal, nano-photochemical, and nano-photoimmunological therapies) also bring strong potential for cancer treatment by inducing the local activation of nontoxic phototherapeutic agents upon light irradiation. Some innovative devices, such as microneedles, are in development to enhance cancer therapy applications.

Overall, this book presents an overview of research and innovation about the most potent cancer therapies, focusing on the role of nanotechnology as a powerful tool in diagnosis, imaging, and cancer treatment aiming to develop efficient, specific, and noninvasive approaches to restore the health and well-being of all cancer patients.

Covilhã, Portugal São Paulo, Brazil Ângela Maria Almeida de Sousa Christiane Pienna Soares Marlus Chorilli

Contents

Part I Materials for Cancer Nanotechnology

Part II Strategies for Cancer Therapy Through Nanotechnology	
for Cancer Treatment João Vito Barroso de Freitas, Alice Vitoria Frota Reis, Alan Denis Olivindo Silva, Ana Carolina Cruz de Sousa, Jéssica Roberta Pereira Martins, Karina Alexandre Barros Nogueira, Thais da Silva Moreira, Raquel Petrilli, and Josimar O. Eloy	115
Monoclonal Antibodies in Nanosystems as a Strategy	
3D Bioprinting for Cancer Models	103
Functionalization of Nanosystems in Cancer Treatment Marcela Tavares Luiz, Jessyca Aparecida Paes Dutra, Jennifer Thayanne Cavalcante De Araújo, Leonardo Delello Di Filippo, Jonatas Lobato Duarte, and Marlus Chorilli	71
Polymeric Nanocarriers in Cancer Theranostics Vanessa Carla Furtado Mosqueira, Marina Guimaraes Carvalho Machado, and Maria Alice de Oliveira	45
Lipid Nanocarriers for Breast Cancer Treatment Luciana B. Lopes, Alexsandra C. Apolinário, Giovanna C. Salata, Isabella D. Malagó, and Julia S. Passos	3

Nanotechnology to Correct Mitochondrial Disorders	
in Cancer Diseases	179
Rúben Faria, Tânia Albuquerque, Ana Raquel Neves, Ângela Sousa, and	
Diana Rita Barata Costa	

Chronobiology and Nanotechnology for Personalized Cancer Therapy.				
Diana Costa				
The Function of DNA and RNA Nanovaccinesin the Treatment of CancerHoorieh Soleimanjahi and Seyed-Mahmood Seyed-Khorrami	229			
Messenger RNA Nanovaccine in Cancer Immunotherapy Mengyun Li and Hongxia Zhang	253			
Part III Innovative Nanotechnologies for Cancer Diagnostic and Treatment				
Nanoparticles for Therapy and Diagnostic Imaging Techniques in Cancer Edésia Martins Barros de Sousa, Isabela Barreto da Costa Januário Meireles, Luísa Arantes Fernandes Vieira, Rafaela Caroline Rodrigues do Apostolos, Jéssica Pauline Nunes Marinho, and Marcelo Fernandes Cipreste	273			
Polymeric Microneedle-Based Drug Delivery Platforms for Application in Cancer Therapy André F. Moreira, Carolina F. Rodrigues, Natanael Fernandes, André Figueiredo, Duarte de Melo-Diogo, and Ilídio J. Correia	309			
Clinical Trials Involving Chemotherapy-Based Nanocarriers in Cancer Therapy: State of the Art and Future Directions Tania B. Lopez-Mendez, Raffaele Strippoli, Flavia Trionfetti, Pilar Calvo, Marco Cordani, and Juan Gonzalez-Valdivieso	325			
Index	385			

Part I Materials for Cancer Nanotechnology

Lipid Nanocarriers for Breast Cancer Treatment



Luciana B. Lopes, Alexsandra C. Apolinário, Giovanna C. Salata, Isabella D. Malagó, and Julia S. Passos

Abbreviations

A7RC	A7R-cysteine peptide
AUC	Area under the plasma concentration-time curve
DCIS	Ductal carcinoma in situ
DIM	3,3 ¹ -Diindolylmethane
DSPE	Distearoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphorylethanolamine
EPR	Enhanced permeability and retention effect
ER	Estrogen receptor
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
HA	Hyaluronic acid
HER	Tyrosine-protein receptor kinase human epidermal growth factor
IV	Intravenous
LBL	Layer-by-layer coating
LCNP	Liquid crystalline nanoparticles
MDR	Multidrug resistance
ME	Microemulsions
NE	Nanoemulsions
NLC	Nanostructured lipid carriers
NRP-1	Neuropillin-1
PC	Phosphatidylcholine
PE	Phosphatidylethanolamine
PEG	Polyethylene glycol
PG	Phosphatidylglycerol

L. B. Lopes (⊠) · A. C. Apolinário · G. C. Salata · I. D. Malagó · J. S. Passos Department of Pharmacology, Institute of Biomedical Sciences, University of São Paulo, Sao Paulo, Brazil e-mail: lublopes@usp.br

P-gp	P-glycoprotein
PI	Phosphatidylinositol
PLD	PEGylated liposomal doxorubicin
PR	Progesterone receptor
PS	Phosphatidylserine
SLN	Solid lipid nanoparticles
T_m	Phase transition temperature

1 Introduction

Breast cancer is the most prevalent type of cancer among women, except for nonmelanoma skin cancer, and a frequent cause of cancer death among women (Winters et al., 2017). An estimate by the American Cancer Society and the Susan G. Komen Foundation shows that approximately 15% of women will be diagnosed with the disease in their lifetime. Data from GLOBOCAN (accessed in January 2022) demonstrate over 2 million cases diagnosed worldwide in 2020. Depending on their invasive characteristics, site of development, histology, and molecular profiling, several breast cancer classifications have been proposed. Based on the expression of estrogen receptor (ER), progesterone receptor (PR), and human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2), various targeted and efficient therapies were developed (Ensenyat-Mendez et al., 2021). The lack of expression of these receptors characterizes triple-negative breast cancer, which accounts for approximately 15% of the newly diagnosed breast cancer and is linked to the lack of effective treatments compared to other subtypes and poor prognosis (Łukasiewicz et al., 2021).

In addition to surgery, radiation therapy, oral estrogen receptor modulators, and a wide range of chemotherapies are available for adjuvant and neoadjuvant treatment, including taxanes and anthracyclines, especially in the case of invasive and metastatic cancer. HER2-positive and hormone receptor-positive tumors can be treated with targeted therapy consisting of monoclonal antibodies (such as trastuzumab), antibody-drug conjugates, and drugs that block cyclin-dependent kinases (such as palbociclib) (Jain et al., 2020). However, chemotherapy in general causes a large diversity of adverse effects that range in severity due to the lack of selectivity of most pharmacological agents. Another challenges relates to the acquisition of multidrug resistance (MDR), often related to the expression of efflux transporters, which reduces the effectiveness of single-dose treatments and chances of recurrence further complicate treatment (Muley et al., 2020).

To overcome these problems, several micro- and nanocarriers have been developed as drug delivery platforms. Since the approval of Doxil in 1995 by the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA), many other nanocarriers – which differ in composition and/or structure – were developed; several were approved since, and others are in clinical trials. In this chapter, we will focus on lipid nanocarriers for breast cancer treatment and theranostics and discuss the characteristics and properties that make them promising tools to improve therapy outcomes. This chapter will be divided in systemic and local approaches, and for each of them, examples of lipid-based nanocarriers for treatment and diagnoses will be discussed. As lipid-based nanocarriers, we will consider systems that (i) contain lipids as structure-forming agent (such as liposomes and solid lipid nanoparticles) or (ii) contain lipids as one of the phases that form the nanocarriers (oil-in-water or water-in-oil dispersions, such as nanoemulsions).

2 Properties and Advantages of Lipid Nanocarriers for Breast Cancer Management

Being biocompatible and biodegradable, lipid-based nanocarriers have received increased attention due to their many advantages. These systems include liposomes, microemulsions, nanoemulsions, solid lipid nanoparticles, nanostructured lipid carriers, and liquid crystalline dispersions, among others. Nano- and microemulsions have also been classified as surfactant-based systems since surfactants are the structure-forming compounds, which may be of synthetic or natural origin (such as phospholipids) (Carvalho et al., 2019; Lopes, 2014). Several advantages of these systems are recognized. First, they can be obtained with a wide variety of biocompatible lipids, resulting in desirable safety profile (Apolinário et al., 2021a; Lopes, 2014). Second, their design may include lipids that confer specific properties, such as the ability to mimick cancer cell bilayers, improve uptake, and activate specific signaling cascades. For example, Abumanhal-Masarweh et al. demonstrated that the lipid composition of a nanoparticle affects its internalization into triple-negative breast cancer cells. The lipid headgroup was the main factor on cellular uptake; receptor-targeted headgroup and cationic amine headgroups were more efficient than zwitterionic (neutral) and negatively charged headgroups, while longer acyl chains facilitated liposomal uptake (Abumanhal-Masarweh et al., 2019).

Third, they can modify the pharmacokinetic profile of drugs, changing the distribution and the incidence of adverse effects. An improved passive targeting due to the enhanced permeability and retention (EPR) effect in tumors and other inflammation sites has been described, which is based on the leaky vasculature and lack of lymphatic drainage (Luan et al., 2021). In other words, the EPR effect represents a universal pathophysiological phenomenon that leads to the accumulation of macromolecules and nanocarriers in vascularized tumors. However, this concept has been challenged and is a matter of intense debate as the scientific community considered the role of tumor microenvironment and localized pressure, which would go against the relevance of the EPR effect for nanoparticle accumulation in tumors (Foulkes et al., 2020). Clinical studies based on theranostics have demonstrated that the EPR effect is present in human metastatic breast tumors, but largely variable (Lee et al., 2017). The strength of the EPR effect seems to depend on the type, blood flow, and localization of tumors; thus, several investigators advocate for the assessment of its contribution as part of a personalized approach for cancer treatment, identifying patients that would benefit from nanomedicine (Wu, 2021). Nevertheless, nanoparticle accumulation has been described in several types of tumors and often leads to less drug amounts available in healthy tissues to produce off-target and adverse effects, improving the safety profile (Gabizon et al., 2014). This is especially important for antitumor drugs that generally present low selectivity.

Tumor targeting and selectivity can be further improved by functionalization of the nanocarrier surface: attaching ligands of highly expressed receptors of breast cancer cells (such as folic acid) or antibodies can improve targeting (Loureiro et al., 2015). In addition, surface modification with polyethylene glycol (PEG) increases the circulation time of nanocarriers, which has been described to aid tumor accumulation (Gabizon et al., 2014). It is important to mention that these potential benefits are not universal, but often dependent on the type of nanocarrier and tumor. For example, the clinical efficacy of Doxil[®] (PEGylated liposome containing doxorubicin) was superior than doxorubicin solution in AIDS-related Kaposi's sarcoma, but comparable in breast cancer (Harris et al., 2002; Northfelt et al., 1996). In addition, nanocarriers might have unique toxicity profiles as demonstrated by Doxil[®] ability to reduce cardiotoxicity but cause hand-foot syndrome (Luan et al., 2021).

Lipid nanocarriers have also been described to overcome biological barriers, as demonstrated in the skin, gastrointestinal mucosa, and blood-brain barrier (Apolinário et al., 2020a, 2021a; Carvalho et al., 2017b; Lin et al., 2016). This effect depends on the composition of the nanocarrier and its ability to improve the permeability of the biological barrier and to be transported by specialized mechanisms. For example, the presence of chemical penetration enhancers in nanoemulsions and liposomes has been described to improve drug delivery into the skin, which finds relevance for adjuvant treatment and prevention of recurrences using the breast skin as an administration route (Apolinário et al., 2020a; Mojeiko et al., 2019, 2021).

In addition, lipid-based nanocarriers are important tools to reverse MDR (Famta et al., 2021; Giacone et al., 2018; Han et al., 2018). MDR has been attributed to various mechanisms, including high expression of drug efflux transporter, modulation of cellular metabolism and anti-apoptotic proteins, alterations in DNA repair mechanisms, and chemical changes in target proteins/receptors, decreasing their affinity for the drug (Famta et al., 2021). Several efflux transporters have been identified, with breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP) and P-glycoprotein (P-gp) being two of the most common transporters in breast cancer cells. Nanocarriers have been demonstrated to reduce drug efflux depending on their composition and structure. For example, surfactants employed in nanodispersed lipid-based systems (like micro- and nanoemulsions) have been demonstrated to affect the membrane microviscosity and induce fluidization and, thus, conformational changes in P-gp and/or nonspecific steric hindrance of the drug-binding sites (Batrakova et al., 2004). Additionally, because they enable co-encapsulation of compounds with distinct physicochemical properties, it is possible to combine specific inhibitors of efflux transporters (such as elacridar) with antitumor agents, modify drug transport and distribution, and enhance efficacy in resistant cells (Giacone et al., 2018; Grabarnick Portnoy et al., 2021).

These properties will be further discussed in the following sessions in the context of specific types of nanocarriers.

3 Lipid-Based Nanocarriers for Breast Cancer: Approved and Under Development

The nanomedicine is a rapidly evolving field driven by innovations related to drug development and repurposing, delivery strategies, and treatment modalities. However, the approval process of nanotechnology-based products is lengthy with little regulatory guidance (Foulkes et al., 2020). Thus, before discussing new developments in lipid-based nanocarriers for breast cancer, it is important to consider approved nanomedicines and their use. A recent manuscript by Anselmo and Mitragotri accounts for over 30 nanomedicines approved by the FDA or European Medicines Agency since 1995 (Anselmo & Mitragotri, 2021).

Seven of those are lipid-based systems for cancer treatment, and one of them received FDA indication approval specifically for breast cancer: Myocet[®] is composed of 150 nm egg phosphatidylcholine/cholesterol (55:45 mole percent) liposomes containing doxorubicin. Nevertheless, other approved nanomedicines have been employed for breast cancer (in trials and off-label use) and demonstrated efficacy. The PEGylated liposomal doxorubicin Doxil[®] (United States) and Caelyx[®] (in Europe, Canada, and other countries) were approved for the treatment of AIDS-related Kaposi's sarcoma in 1995 and 1996, respectively (Jiang et al., 2017). Although the first indication of these liposome-based doxorubicin was sarcoma, their clinical application has been extended to metastatic breast cancer (Lee, 2019). Lipusu[®] (liposomal paclitaxel) was available for breast cancer treatment in China in 2003 (Apolinário et al., 2021a). Table 1 summarizes the main aspects of the liposomes approved to treat breast cancer.

There is a vast literature with new nanocarriers under development, in preclinical and clinical evaluation for the treatment of breast cancer. In the next sessions, new lipid-based nanocarriers aiming breast cancer treatment will be discussed based on

Marketed product/ regulatory agency	Formulation
Doxil/Caelyx® (FDA/EMA)	Formulation for intravenous infusion of doxorubicin hydrochloride encapsulated in PEGylated liposomes, composed of N-(carbonyl- methoxypolyethylene glycol 2000)-1,2-distearoyl-sn-glycero-3 phosphoethanolamine sodium salt, soybean phosphatidylcholine, and cholesterol
Myocet® (EMA)	Extemporaneous preparations for infusion of doxorubicin encapsulated in liposomes formed by egg phosphatidylcholine and cholesterol. The formulation consists of a three-vial system: Vial 1 – red lyophilized powder of doxorubicin HCl Vial 2 – white to off-white and homogeneous liposomal dispersion Vial 3 – buffer is a clear colorless solution/infusion
Lipusu [®] (Regulatory agency from China)	Formulation of paclitaxel encapsulated in liposomes composed of lecithin and cholesterol lyophilized powder for intravenous infusion.

Table 1 Approved liposomes for breast cancer therapy

their properties, advantages, and routes of administration. Three main routes will be included: intravenous, oral, and local in the breasts, which include subcutaneous (in and above the mammary tissue), topical (on the breast skin and nipples), and intraductal (in the ductal system).

4 Nanocarriers for Parenteral Administration

Intravenous (IV) administration provides rapid action of compounds and preserves stability, since it avoids oral digestion and first-pass metabolism and allows a personalized control of therapy (Parker & Davey, 1992). However, challenges in cancer IV chemotherapy include severe side effects and cancer recurrence (Chenthamara et al., 2019b). Many types of nanocarriers defined by 20–1000 nm structures have been shown to not only target the delivery and site of action of a drug but also decrease systemic acute toxicity, creating more tolerable therapy. Besides, nanocarriers can be designed to avoid opsonization or macrophage uptake in the intravenous route, prolonging its circulation and action (Chenthamara et al., 2019b). In the following subsections, the main types of conventional and targeted lipid-based nanocarriers studied for IV treatment of breast cancer will be introduced and be discussed.

4.1 Liposomes

Liposomes are lipid vesicles that consist of one or more concentric bilayers entrapping an aqueous core. Most often, they are classified according to the number of bilayers, but other criteria may be used, such as composition of the bilayer (Apolinário et al., 2021a). They represent the majority of nanomedicines approved for clinical use (Crommelin et al., 2020), including for breast cancer therapy with or without metastasis. Some of the most cited advantages of liposomes are biocompatibility (Mallick & Choi, 2014), possibility of co-delivery of hydrophilic drugs into the aqueous core and hydrophobic drugs into the bilayer (Joshi et al., 2016), wellknown manufacturing process (Shah et al., 2020), and relevant regulatory discussions with a draft guidance from the FDA (Schlich et al., 2021).

From the simplest viewpoint, liposomes are vesicular structures (Fig. 1a). They can be formed from one lipid bilayer surrounding an aqueous core, which are classified as unilamellar and lead to minimum clearance especially for vesicles of less than 200 nm (Paliwal et al., 2011) (Fig. 1b), or be structured as a concentric sequence of multiple bilayers, being categorized as multilamellar vesicles (FDA, 2018). They may also be organized as a set of tightly packed non-concentric vesicles (Deng et al., 2016), which display much larger sizes (\sim 3–30 µm) and are suitable to form depots for sustained-release drug delivery and utilized by non-vascular routes (Mantripragada, 2002).



Fig. 1 Schematic representation of lipid vesicles. The figure depicts a vesicle formed by a classic bilayer (composed of classical phospholipids), bilayer formed by phospholipids and cholesterol, PEGylated and functionalized lipid bilayer. (Figure drawn using the image bank: Servier Medical Art by Servier, licensed with CC BY 3.0)

Cholesterol is frequently added to bilayers to improve the stability of phospholipids employed as structure-forming agents (Apolinario et al., 2017), helping to control fluidity, permeability, elasticity, strength, retention of encapsulated compounds, and stability (Nakhaei et al., 2021). The chemical versatility of the lipids enables the formation of complex liposomes with sophisticated physicochemical and biological properties that may optimize the outcomes for breast cancer therapy (Singh et al., 2021b). Drug-loaded liposomes can overcome the heterogeneity of the vasculature and high interstitial pressures in necrotic zones of tissue in solid tumors and deliver drugs to these sites (Park, 2002). Likewise, liposomes enable immunotherapy of breast cancer since they are useful for the encapsulation and protection of RNA and proteins (Apolinário et al., 2020b).

The main lipids employed to self-assemble liposomes are phospholipids classified as glycerophospholipids and sphingomyelins (Fig. 1c). Glycerophospholipids are composed of a glycerol backbone esterified with fatty acids that may differ in length and degree of saturation and may present distinct polar headgroups like choline for phosphatidylcholine (PC), ethanolamine for phosphatidylethanolamine (PE), glycerol for phosphatidylglycerol (PG), serine for phosphatidylserine (PS), and inositol for phosphatidylinositol (PI) as well as comprise a lipophilic tail (Li et al., 2015).

Charge and phase transition temperature (T_m) are key phospholipid properties for the design of liposomes and to ensure that they reach efficacy and safety for breast cancer treatment. Phospholipids can be zwitterionic and display a neutral net charge at physiological pH and be positively or negatively charged depending on the type of polar headgroup and pH of the medium (Drescher & Van Hoogevest, 2020). Liposomes can also be formed from lipids other than the classical phospholipids such as fatty acids and other lipids synthetically obtained or found in natural sources like bacteria (e.g., archaeal lipids, found in Archaebacteria) (Apolinário et al., 2021a). Likewise, lipids can be modified with PEG or antibodies coupled to phospholipid headgroups for longer circulation time and active targeting (Sapra & Allen, 2003) or contain specific groups for stimuli-triggered drug delivery (Antoniou et al., 2021). These approaches will be better discussed in the next subsections.

Several studies have demonstrated the therapeutic advantages of modifying liposomes taking into consideration the tumor microenvironment of breast cancer (Dumont et al., 2019). The complex tumor microenvironment is a key aspect of tumor progression and affects the response to treatment, suggesting that the antitumor effects of several agents seem to be mediated through microenvironmental properties (Place et al., 2011). These properties encompass physiopathological phenomena such as hypoxia, acidosis, and abnormal expression of extracellular matrixrelated proteins and enzymes (Fig. 2).

4.1.1 Co-encapsulation of Drugs

The use of liposomes to co-deliver drug combinations to cancer has led to pronounced advantages compared with monotherapy, enabling potentiation of therapeutic efficacy and reversal of MDR (Mo et al., 2014). For example, a co-encapsulation



Liposome-based approaches for breast cancer therapy

Fig. 2 Importance of the complex and heterogeneous microenvironment of breast cancer on the choice of liposome-based treatment strategy. The overexpression of the receptors on tumor cell surface can be targeted using functionalized liposomes. Passive transport through the leaky vasculature and tumor accumulation have been known as a central dogma for nanomedicine, although some studies have undermined the relevance of this mechanism. Physiopathological changes at the tumor microenvironment, such as hypoxia and acidosis, can trigger drug release from responsive liposomes. (Figure drawn using the image bank: Servier Medical Art by Servier, licensed with CC BY 3.0)

of vincristine and quercetin (at 2:1 molar ratio) in liposomes enhanced the antitumor activity in trastuzumab-resistant breast cancer and prolonged plasma circulation of the two drugs, further inhibiting tumor growth compared to the free drugs (Wong & Chiu, 2011).

Co-encapsulation of P-glycoprotein (P-gp) inhibitors in liposomes has been investigated. P-gp is encoded by MDR genes and reduces the intracellular accumulation of drugs, such as doxorubicin, performing a substantial role in resistance to chemotherapy (Nielsen et al., 1996). Co-encapsulation of doxorubicin and the P-gp inhibitor fluoxetine in stealth liposomes was performed using an ammonium sulfate gradient, resulting in an improved cell cytotoxicity compared to doxorubicin only in liposomes in vitro (Ong et al., 2011). In addition, pharmacokinetics data evidenced the potential of co-encapsulation to extend the half-life of the compounds and reduce systemic toxicity (Ong et al., 2011).

4.1.2 Long-Circulating Liposomes

It is crucial to reduce liposome uptake by the reticuloendothelial system, and, thus, PEG-coated liposomes have a crucial role to escape from the immune system and promote the accumulation of drugs in tumors (Symon et al., 1999). They are also called PEGylated, long-circulating, sterically stabilized, or "stealth liposomes"; this last term has been used in allusion to stealth bombers that can evade radar (Cattel et al., 2003). Both hydrophobic and electrostatic interactions at the liposome surface with a variety of blood components are sterically inhibited by the hydrated groups PEG (Gabizon, 2001b). The modulated biodistribution and pharmacokinetics markedly mitigate many of the toxicity of bolus drug administration (Park, 2002).

Stealth liposomes are formed by PEGylated lipids. For example, 1,2-distearoylsn-glycero-3-phosphoethanolamine-polyethylene glycol and soybean phospholipids (with 75% phosphatidylcholine) were employed in liposomes to encapsulate cisplatin. Addition of 5% PEG to these liposomes led to smaller diameter and higher drug encapsulation. The formulation increased the therapeutic index, reduced the required drug dose, and improved the cytotoxic effect compared to the free drug (Ghafari et al., 2020). Although PEG is the most frequent polymer employed for coating, other polymers have also been shown to protect liposomes from opsonization and prolong their circulation time (Cattel et al., 2003).

4.1.3 Stimulus-Responsive Liposomes

As it was previously reported, liposomes can be designed using lipids that respond to (i) stimulus from the tumor microenvironment, such as pH, redox potential, or presence of enzymes, and (ii) external stimulus, like increases in temperature. For example, lysolipids facilitate transient pore formation in lipid bilayers around $T_{\rm m}$, promoting a faster drug release. To promote thermoresponsive therapy to breast cancer, hyperthermia, i.e., tumor heating to a temperature ~ 40–43 °C, triggers increased uptake of liposomes under a suitable amount of time (Paliwal et al., 2011). To explore this possibility, liposomes of 1,2-dipalmitoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphocholine and monopalmitoyl-2-hydroxy-sn-glycero-3-phosphocholine were obtained for the co-delivery of tamoxifen and imatinib. Release of over 80% of the drug in 30 min was observed above the transition temperature (39.4 °C), and the system reduced the viability of MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells (Jose et al., 2019). The liposomal doxorubicin ThermoDox[®] was developed for this goal. ThermoDox might be intravenously administered in combination with hyperthermia (caused by microwave or radiofrequency ablation), which promotes drug release at 39.5–42 °C. ThermoDox[®] is undergoing various phases of clinical trials: phase I for locally recurrent breast cancer and metastatic breast cancer (Jiang et al., 2022).

In addition to temperature variations, responsiveness to pH has been explored. The tumor microenvironment presents lower pH when compared to healthy tissue due to the production of lactic acid and hydrolysis of ATP, and a low pH is also found in the endosomal and lysosomal compartments within tumor cells (Gerweck & Seetharaman, 1996). Since lipids may self-assemble into different nanostructures according to the microenvironment pH, which influence net balance of intermolecular forces established by van der Waals, electrostatics, and hydrogen bonding, liposomes can be obtained using lipids that are stable at neutral environment but become soft and leaky upon pH reduction (Karve et al., 2009). Promising results have been published. For instance, the hydrazone bond presents high pH sensitivity and was used to produce pH-sensitive liposomes containing paclitaxel. These liposomes also included the R8 peptide, which is exposed after hydrolysis of hydrazone moiety under the low extracellular pH of tumors, leading to internalization mediated by R8 peptide (Zhang et al., 2015). The findings demonstrated high accumulation and internalization in breast cancer cells (Zhang et al., 2015).

Redox environment in the cytoplasm is another strategy that can trigger redox activation of liposomes formed by lipids with disulfide linkages, which can be disrupted by powerful thiolytic reducing agents (Lee & Thompson, 2017). Liposomes obtained with a redox-sensitive cationic oligopeptide lipid, natural soybean phosphatidylcholine, and cholesterol were employed for the co-delivery of paclitaxel and anti-survivin siRNA for the synergistic treatment of breast cancer and metastasis (Fouladi et al., 2017). This strategy resulted in rapid redox-responsive release of both molecules and a synergistic inhibitory effect on tumor growth.

Enzymes like phospholipase A2, matrix metalloproteinases, urokinase plasminogen activator, elastase, and cathepsin B are overexpressed in several cancer types, including breast cancer, and can be explored to trigger drug release and cytotoxic effects of liposomes (Fouladi et al., 2017).

4.1.4 Ligand-Targeted Liposome

The use of ligand-targeted liposomes is another strategy to improve tumor targeting and intracellular uptake. Antibodies, peptides, proteins, carbohydrates, and various other small molecules have been employed as ligands (Noble et al., 2014). Tumor vasculatures, stroma, cells, and the immune system can be sites for active targeting (Jiang et al., 2022).

For breast cancer, there are many possible options for ligands. One example is transferrin (Shindelman et al., 1981), which promotes iron uptake and is essential to the growth of breast cancer cells (Rychtarcikova et al., 2017). Another example is a folate, since folic acid receptors are preferentially expressed in cancers of epithelial origin (Hartmann et al., 2007). One can still cite ligands for CD44, which is a cell surface transmembrane protein and the main receptor for hyaluronic acid (McFarlane et al., 2015); it is overexpressed in breast cancer cells and associated with enhanced invasive properties and distant metastasis (Sheridan et al., 2006). To take advantage of these features, liposomes were conjugated with transferrin and promoted sirolimus active targeting of breast cancer cells. The intravenous injection of these liposomes resulted in superior antitumor effect with significant suppression of its growth compared to the free drug and non-conjugated stealth liposomes (Nandi et al., 2021). Higher tumor uptake and antitumor activity were observed by designing folate-coated, long-circulating, and pH-sensitive liposomes loading doxorubicin (de Oliveira Silva et al., 2019). Cationic liposomes loading curcumin and celecoxib for breast cancer treatment were coated on the surface with hyaluronic acid (HA) as CD44 targeting moiety and, after systematical administration in 4T1 breast tumorbearing mice, exerted the most prominent effects on anti-inflammation, inhibition of macrophage recruitment, and antitumor effects compared to other liposomes (Sun et al., 2019).

Somatostatin receptor is also overexpressed in breast cancer cells. Pharmacokinetic studies performed with diacerein-loaded liposomes decorated with a synthetic analog of somatostatin demonstrated longer circulation time and improved the anti-proliferative and anti-angiogenic effects of the drug (Bharti et al., 2017). Modified paclitaxel-loaded liposomes containing A7R-cysteine peptide (A7RC) on the surface were designed since the A7R peptide is a ligand of the NRP-1 receptor, which regulates the intracellular signal transduction related to tumor vascularization and tumor growth (Cao et al., 2015a). These liposomes enhanced cell uptake and showed improved cytotoxicity in vitro and higher accumulation in vivo (Cao et al., 2015a).

Targeting organelles is an additional approach explored in the liposomes field. Liposomes loading sunitinib and vinorelbine were produced with D- α -tocopheryl PEG 1000 succinate-triphenylphosphine conjugate, which presents a mitochondrial targeting effect. These vesicles presented prolonged blood circulation, and their uptake resulted in accumulation in the mitochondria of breast cancer cells (Shi et al., 2015).

4.1.5 Liposome-Based Gene Therapy

The development and high heterogeneity observed in breast cancers can also be related to gene mutations; thus, gene therapy has been proposed for the treatment of subtypes of breast cancer, especially triple negative. However, gene therapy is challenging mainly due to the low stability of the macromolecules, low expression after transfection, and high immunogenicity (Kaneda, 2001). Liposomes have been employed for the encapsulation of plasmids, oligonucleotides, and RNA based on the formation of a complex between vesicles (containing cationic lipids) and anionic macromolecules, which have also been referred to as lipoplex (Paliwal et al., 2011).

Many examples for breast cancer are reported in the literature. For example, liposomes complexed to plasmids to encode angiostatin or endostatin inhibited angiogenesis and the growth of MDA-MB-435 tumors. Injections of these liposomes reduced nearly 40% tumor growth in nude mice (Chen et al., 1999). Stealth liposomes produced with 1,2-dipalmitoyl-Sn-glycero-phosphatidylethanolamine-linked PEG moiety and conjugated at the distal end with 17-ß-estradiol (which acts as a targeting ligand for estrogen receptors) were loaded with pCMV-p53 DNA and induced cell death in breast cancer cells (Reddy & Banerjee, 2005).

4.1.6 Liposomes for Theranostics

Another strategy that has been receiving considerable attention is the application of nanocarriers to theranostics, which combines treatment and diagnosis. A variety of nanocarriers have been developed as they can deliver chemotherapy and contrast agents (such as radionuclides), enabling the monitoring of tumor growth/metastasis and treatment, contributing to personalized medicine. Liposomes have been employed for diagnostic and theranostic purposes, mainly to overcome drawbacks of imaging contrasting agents and nanoparticles, such as low tumor targeting ability due to short circulation time.

Jeon et al. (2021) reported a multifunctional dual-layered nanomaterial for theranostic and photothermal therapy, obtained by adding liposomal layer to liposomes coated with gold nanoparticles and modifying this external layer with ⁶⁴Cu to assess tumor accumulation. Shen et al. developed a liposome-based theranostic system for ruthenium polypyridine complex. A fluorescent signal is emitted when the complex is incorporated in lipid bilayers or DNA helix, which is useful for tumor imaging (Shen et al., 2017). Their use for the treatment of MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells promoted double-strand DNA breaks and apoptosis and reduced tumor growth in a triple-negative breast cancer model, with over 20% of the dose accumulating in the tumor. Hybrid liposomes composed of L- α -dimyristoylphosphatidylcholine and polyoxyethylene dodecyl ether were used to incorporate indocyanine green and demonstrated enhanced tumor localization in orthotopic breast cancer model in mice (MDA-MB-453) (Ichihara et al., 2018). Melanin-based liposomes were developed to simultaneously enable photoacoustic and T1-weighted magnetic resonance imaging-guided photothermal ablation of tumors (Zhang et al., 2018). IRDye800CW and ⁶⁴Cu were linked to liposomes loading doxorubicin and modified with PD-1 antibody (Du et al., 2017). The system enabled the visualization of 4-T1 tumors using NIRF/PET imaging and inhibited tumor growth.

To assess the EPR effect in the tumor accumulation of nanocarriers and identify patients who could benefit from the use of nanomedicine, HER-2-targeted and ⁶⁴Cu-labeled PEGylated liposomes encapsulating doxorubicin were administered in 19 patients with HER2-positive breast cancer (Lee et al., 2017). They were subjected to 2–3 PET/CT scans to assess distribution. Uptake of the liposomes was observed in the liver and spleen. In tumors, accumulation at 24–48 h varied 35-fold. Consistent with the existence of the EPR effect of nanoparticles, accumulation of the liposomes in non-tumor tissues was not observed; however, the results suggested the variable nature of the process. The authors suggested the feasibility of using tumor deposition of nanoparticles to identify patients that may benefit from nanomedicine. Identification of new and improved diagnostic imaging agents to enable accurate assessment of tumor delivery is necessary.

4.2 Solid Lipid Nanoparticles and Nanostructured Lipid Carriers

Solid lipid nanoparticles (SLN) are composed of a solid lipid core dispersed in aqueous phase by surfactants, giving the matrix a protective characteristic against chemical and UV degradation, as well as the property to modify drug release profiles (Apolinário et al., 2020b). Some authors relate SLN core to an alluring structure for co-delivering microRNA (miRNA), siRNA, plasmid DNA (pDNA), and antineoplastic drugs, such as paclitaxel, a potent microtubule stabilizing taxane employed as first-line therapy for breast cancer since the 1990s. The Yu group studied the application of the SLN as a co-delivery agent of paclitaxel and a model plasmid DNA (pDNA) expressing only EGFP - a green fluorescent compound aiming at a new IV platform for breast cancer treatment (Yu et al., 2016). Thereunto, SLN was prepared by dispersion-sonication, and functionalized with hyaluronic acid using 1,2-distearoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphorylethanolamine (DSPE) through anhydride linkage. The authors reported that the gene was delivered efficiently in the MCF-7 breast cancer cell line monolayer; and the uptake of HA-paclitaxel/ pDNA SLN was 30% and 40% higher (p < 0.05) than paclitaxel/pDNA SLN and pDNA reagent solution, respectively. Likewise, cellular viability decreased approximately 29% after a 48 h exposure to 20 nM- HA-paclitaxel/pDNA SLN compared to a paclitaxel solution. In an in vivo xenograft model, MCF-7-inoculated mice were submitted to an i.v. injection of the formulations containing paclitaxel at 0.1 mg/kg every 3 days from day 6 to day 18. The inhibition of the tumor weight in HA-paclitaxel/pDNA SLN group was 52% higher than the paclitaxel solution group and 9% higher than paclitaxel/pDNA SLN group, demonstrating the potential of this delivery system for drug and gene co-delivery therapy.

In a similar manner, Wang and collaborators developed a HA-paclitaxel-SLN by hot homogenization and observed that, in MCF-7 tumor-bearing mice model, i.v. treatment with the loaded SLN reduced tumor growth rate in 2.7-fold compared to paclitaxel solution, maintaining it stable up to 14 days (Wang et al., 2017). The HA-paclitaxel-SLN-treated group also presented the higher drug concentration in plasma and on tumor site and exhibited maximum area under the plasma concentration-time curve and mean residence time, indicating that the system could serve as a potential treatment for breast cancer.

Nanostructured lipid carriers (NLC) are a modification of SLN, with an adjustment on the lipid core: both solid and liquid lipids are present, increasing the number of imperfections in the internal matrix and, thus, facilitating the incorporation of a greater amount of drug and preserving physical stability of the nanocarrier (Apolinário et al., 2020b). With this reasoning, Pedro et al. optimized NLCs intended for breast cancer IV administration that could incorporate paclitaxel in higher amounts (Pedro et al., 2019). The group reported that in a mixture of glyceryl behenate, medium-chain triglyceride, and polysorbate 80 composition, the nanocarrier containing the drug presented a more monodisperse size distribution as the solid lipid concentration increased. Also, the lipid matrix was shown to saturate, since 1 mg/mL of paclitaxel could reach about 93% of encapsulation efficiency, but increasing the drug concentration would not increase the amount of encapsulation. Besides, the NLC-paclitaxel demonstrated lower systemic toxicity, higher antineoplastic activity, and tumor accumulation in Ehrlich tumor-bearing Swiss mice.

Li and collaborators also took advantage of NLC features and developed a nanocarrier containing lapachone (a therapeutic agent reported to downregulate P-gp expression) and doxorubicin (an anthracycline anticancer drug utilized in the management of several types of cancer) as a new platform to overcome MDR associated with breast cancer treatment (Li et al., 2018). The authors prepared the nanocarrier by ultrasonic dispersion and modified the glyceryl behenate, soybean phosphatidylcholine, glycerin monostearate-containing NLC surface with PEG, to increase the circulation time and augment tumor retention. The release of both drugs encapsulated in the NLC reached 80% in 48 h, demonstrating a more prolonged release than the solution. In terms of cellular uptake, the formulation containing both drugs could successfully deliver doxorubicin to the nuclei, while only-doxorubicin NLC was kept in the cytoplasm of MCF-7 ADR cells (multidrug resistant cell line). In MCF-7 ADR tumor-bearing nude mice model at a regimen of IV administration every 2 days for 14 days and a doxorubicin dose of 5 mg/kg and lapachone of 25 mg/kg, the NLC containing both drugs presented a more pronounced tumor inhibition activity than the NLC containing only one of the drugs; the tumor volume remained constant in less than threefold in the group containing both drugs. Another approach for the breast cancer NLC therapy was taken by Liang's group, which designed a multi-stage complex for breast cancers that overexpresses HER2 (Liang et al., 2018). The nanocarrier, functionalized with a HER2 aptamer, contained a natural anticancer drug (epigallocatechin gallate) and an ATP aptamer, which would, upon HER2 receptor binding and endosomal internalization, trigger drug release and induce cellular apoptosis. In this study, the NLC played a protective role, since it would prevent the extravasation of the content while being biocompatible. The NLC was shown to inhibit tumor growth by 11.5% in the unfunctionalized NLC, and a greater inhibition was noted (19.5%) in the functionalized NLC group.

SLN and NLC have also been employed for theranostics. A study carried out by Urandur et al. described the development of a monoolein-based NLC containing formononetin, a phytoestrogenic isoflavone (capable of inducing apoptosis in breast cancer cells), and tetraphenylethene (a molecule that has aggregation-induced emission effect and can be used to image the tumor) (Urandur et al., 2018). To detect the tumor with higher specificity and provide a detailed image, the group also conjugated anisamide (AA), a ligand of sigma receptors overexpressed on breast cancer cells, to Pluronic F-127. The NLC was capable of controlling the release of formononetin and tetraphenylethene and did not hinder the aggregation-induced emission effect. The uptake of the formulation containing AA after 12 h of exposure of MDA-MB-231 triple-negative breast cancer cells was almost twofold greater than the untargeted one, evidencing its crucial role in the theranostic nanoformulation. After a single IV injection on females BALB/c mice xenograft T41 model, the NLC with AA presented a 79% tumor inhibition rate, and tumor weight was about 3.3fold lower than the free formononetin group and was able to prolong the survival of the animals. Besides, a higher fluorescence intensity in the tumor was noted in the AA NLC-treated group, and its specificity to the tumor site was reinforced by the lower NLC fluorescent signal distribution in other organs compared to untargeted NLC, demonstrating the targeting ability of the formulation.

4.3 Nanoemulsions and Microemulsions

Nanoemulsion (NE) consists of a colloidal dispersion of emulsified oil, water, and surfactants. It is an isotropic system thermodynamically unstable but can be kinetically stable (Carvalho et al., 2017b; Giacone et al., 2018). Besides, NEs can be appealing for the loading of lipophilic/hydrophobic drugs since it can encapsulate high quantities in a low oil concentration (Giacone et al., 2020). For example, in order to enhance the antitumor effect of the antineoplastic drug lapachol and reduce its severe adverse effects, Miranda et al. designed a nanoemulsion composed of soybean oil, polysorbate 80, and glycerol and produced by a hot homogenization method (Miranda et al., 2021). Cytotoxicity was evaluated at a mice breast cancer cell line (4T1), and the results pointed at a 24.7% enhanced toxicity in the NE-lapachol group compared to the free drug solution. To evaluate the antitumor effects of the formulation and compare it to the free drug, the group employed a 4T1 tumor BALB/c mice model with an intravenous lapachol dose concentration of 5 mg/kg. The nanoemulsion was capable not only to double the β -half-time of the drug but also to inhibit in about 53.7% and 23.1% the tumor growth compared to the untreated and treated with the drug solution groups, respectively, possibly due to the enhancement of the bioavailability and, consequently, uptake in tumor.

Other authors also took advantage of the higher encapsulation feature provided by nanoemulsions to co-deliver drugs aiming at overcoming MDR in breast cancer treatment (Meng et al., 2016). In that sense, Cao and collaborators developed (by high-pressure homogenization) a lipid nanoemulsion containing doxorubicin and a P-gp inhibitor (bromotetrandrine) (Cao et al., 2015b). Interestingly, the 1:1 ratio (doxorubicin/bromotetrandrine, w/w) presented the higher encapsulation efficiency: approximately 84.2% and 93.4% of doxorubicin and bromotetrandrine, respectively. Results in MCF-7/ADR tumor-bearing mice demonstrated that the co-loaded NE presented a better antitumor activity than the solution of both drugs and doxo-

rubicin-NE, also reinforcing that the encapsulation in the nanocarrier did not pre-

clude the effects of the drugs. In contrast to the nanoemulsions, microemulsions (ME) are thermodynamically stable systems composed of two immiscible liquids (an oil and a polar phase that can be aqueous or non-aqueous) and stabilized by surfactants and co-surfactants (Carvalho et al., 2017a, b; Lopes, 2014; Nornoo et al., 2009). They are easily produced and can be sterilized by filtration. For their composition, microemulsions can be designed with biocompatible components and reduce toxic effects of some solvents, such as Cremophor®, present in Taxol®, the conventional dosage form for i.v. administration of paclitaxel. As an attempt to create a safer and less toxic form of administering the drug to breast cancer patients, Nornoo et al. produced two microemulsions containing either lecithin, butanol, Myvacet, and water or Capmul, Myvacet, and water (Nornoo et al., 2008). Compared to Taxol®, these MEs demonstrated to double the incorporation of paclitaxel (12 mg/g compared to 6 mg/g) and in MDA-MB-231 cell line, and both formulations seemed to slightly increase the drug's IC₅₀ compared to Taxol[®]. This is possibly attributed to a slower release of the ME and is compensated for the better pharmacokinetic parameters in an intravenous injection in male Sprague-Dawley rats such as the two- to fivefold prolonged halflives, and the formulations were three- to eightfold more distributed than the solution (Nornoo & Chow, 2008). The MEs have also proven to be safer than the commercial solution, since its hemolytic potential was lower than Taxol.

The group of Oh and collaborators demonstrated the feasibility of the application of a nanoemulsion for theranostics. The NE contained paclitaxel, a Bcl-2 siRNA, and Lipiodol, a poppy seed oil iodinated derivative used as contrast agent (Oh et al., 2013). In MCF-7 cells, the system was able to silence Bcl-2 expression in 52.1%, and cytotoxicity of the formulation containing the siRNA and paclitaxel at 140 nM was greater (19.6%) than the NE containing only paclitaxel, indicating the crucial role of Bcl-2 to the susceptibility of the cells. In an MCF-7 xenograft model of nude mice, the NE containing siRNA was capable to target the tumor site, unlike PBS-and unloaded NE treatment. The next step of this study is tumor targeting and treatment with the formulation containing both siRNA and paclitaxel.

4.4 Liquid Crystalline Phases

Liquid crystals are systems that combine properties of solid and liquid systems: they present the mobility of liquids but the structural organization of crystalline solids (Boyd et al., 2006; Ferreira et al., 2006). One of the compounds most frequently employed to form liquid crystalline phases is the polar lipid monoolein, which swells in water giving rise to several mesophases depending on its concentration, temperature, and ionic strength and presence of other compounds such as drugs and other additives (Caboi et al., 2001; Ferreira et al., 2006). In addition to monoolein, several surfactants can be employed to obtain the mesophases (Hosmer et al., 2011, 2013; Farkas et al., 2000; Borgheti-Cardoso et al., 2015). Since this chapter is focused on lipid-based nanocarriers, only systems formed by monoolein will be discussed.

Although more frequently employed in their bulk form, especially for topical delivery, which can be macroscopically visualized as gels, their dispersion in aqueous environment forms nanoparticles (liquid crystalline nanoparticles or LCNP) that have been increasingly investigated (Lopes et al., 2006; Hosmer et al., 2013; Santos et al., 2020). Some of the properties of the LCNP that have attracted interest include:

- (i) Versatility, since it reunites both particulate and fluidic characteristics.
- (ii) They can incorporate macromolecules and hydrophilic, hydrophobic, and amphiphilic drugs often at higher amounts than liposomes.
- (iii) They enhance transport across biological barriers, especially when composed of the polar lipid monoolein as structure-forming compound (which serves as a penetration enhancer), or contain other penetration enhancers in their structure.
- (iv) Suitable stability profile.
- (v) Ability to sustain the release of incorporated compounds (Depieri et al., 2016; Lopes et al., 2007; Barauskas et al., 2005).

Aiming at testing whether layer-by-layer (LbL) coating with hyaluronic acid and chitosan would improve LCNP-rapamycin's antitumor effects on breast cancer, Freag and collaborators developed a monoolein-based LCNP by hydrotropic method (Freag et al., 2016). The chitosan-hyaluronic acid LbL formulation was capable of reducing the drug hemolytic potential in almost 80% compared to the formulation coated with chitosan only, although its toxicity in vitro in MDA-MB-231 cells demonstrated to be higher in the LbL group, possibly due to hyaluronic acid's targeting CD44+ cancer cells, which might contribute to the selectivity of the formulation. In a mice Ehrlich ascites tumor model, survival on the LbL-rapamycin-LCNP group was higher (83.3%) than animals treated with rapamycin-LCN (66.7%) and the solution of the drug (16.7%), and the tumor development was lower in the LbL-rapamycin-LCNP group.

Another interesting strategy for the treatment of breast cancer is to target cancer stem-like cells, since they are described to be the ones to proliferate and develop a tumor, metastasis, or recurrence. In a study conducted by Singh et al., a monooleinbased LCNP containing paclitaxel and forskolin, a phytochemical diterpene reported to induce cancer stem-like cell differentiation and sensitize cells to chemotherapy, was developed (Singh et al., 2021a). Compared to a fluorochrome solution, the LCNP almost doubled the uptake, measured by cytometry, and spheroid penetration and distribution, reinforcing the LCNP advantageous properties. Also, the authors have shown that paclitaxel, when alone, can enrich the cancer stem-like cells in mammospheres and that the incorporation of forskolin can reverse the effect and aid tumor regression. The advantages of co-encapsulating both drugs can be further supported by the tumor growth follow-up, in which the solution of paclitaxel and paclitaxel + forskolin presented a similar rate after 82 days at equivalent single-dose treatment of 10 mg/kg of paclitaxel, while LCNP co-encapsulating both drugs presented tumor regression at 30 days after treatment. After the 82 days, the group treated with LCNP did not present tumor relapse.

5 Nanocarriers for Oral Administration

The oral route is the most used route of drug administration; it does not require training or a health professional to be applied, which makes it convenient and accessible to patients. However, it leads to systemic exposure to drugs, and the high systemic toxicity caused by antineoplastic drugs is often dose-limiting and results in low tolerability in patients. Besides, orally administered compounds must surpass the gastrointestinal physical, chemical, and immunological barriers and are often inactivated by first-pass liver metabolism, which limits therapeutic efficacy (Chenthamara et al., 2019a). Lipid-based nanocarriers have emerged as a strategy capable not only of reducing systemic adverse effects and enhancing oral bioavailability but also of promoting controlled release, protecting the encapsulated compounds from degradation, allowing the solubilization of lipophilic drugs, promoting tumor tissue targeting, and increasing compound concentration in the target site (Sharma et al., 2006).

5.1 Liposomes

Ağardan et al. (2020) developed 1,2-dipalmitoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphocholine and chitosan liposomes containing dimethyl-β-cyclodextrin (DM-β-CD) and (as absorption enhancer) for oral delivery of tamoxifen or raloxifene. These drugs are selective estrogen receptor modulators, approved by the FDA for clinical use, that act by interacting competitively with ER. Raloxifene has been employed in postmenopausal women to prevent osteoporosis. Both belong to Biopharmaceutical Classification System (BCS) class II, meaning they have poor solubility in water; thus, incorporation in liposomes can contribute to absorption. In vitro cell viability

studies, performed using MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cell lines, demonstrated more pronounced viability reductions in MCF-7 (which are ER-positive), than for MDA-MB-231 cells. The pharmacokinetic study in mice showed that tamoxifen and raloxifene were still present in the blood 24 h after the administration of liposomes. Upon oral administration of 1200 μ g/mL tamoxifen and raloxifene liposomes orally once a week for 8 weeks in mice subjected to tumor development by N-nitroso-N-methylurea, tumor reduction of 92.5% in the group treated with tamoxifen liposomes and 65% in raloxifene liposome-treated animals were observed.

5.2 Solid Lipid Nanoparticles (SLN) and Nanostructured Lipid Carriers (NLC)

SLN and NLC are solid nanocarriers that appear promising for improving oral drug delivery, but there have been reports of inefficient oral delivery by SLNs due to their typical burst release profile in the stomach acidic environment, which leads to poor absorption. To overcome this, Baek and Cho (2017) developed a surface-modified SLN (NCC-SLN) for the oral delivery of curcumin, a natural lipophilic compound with known therapeutic and chemopreventive activity against breast cancer. The SLN was coated with the polysaccharide N-carboxymethyl chitosan, which is stable in stomach pH and dissolves in pH > 5. The in vitro release study showed that coating the SLNs inhibited the burst release in a simulated gastric fluid, while the release profile was not significantly altered in a simulated intestinal fluid. The pharmacokinetic profile in rats was also altered: the maximum plasmatic concentration (C_{max}) and area under the plasma concentration-time curve (AUC) values were higher for the coated SLN than for the non-coated SLN and free curcumin. Besides inhibition of the burst effect in the stomach and increased concentration of curcumin in the intestine, the improved oral bioavailability was also attributed to lymphatic uptake, which was significantly augmented in animals that received the coated SLNs.

Godugu et al. (2016) developed NLC formulations for the $3,3^1$ -diindolylmethane (DIM) analogs DIM-10 and DIM-14, two anticancer compounds poorly soluble and therefore not well absorbed orally, as a novel oral treatment for triple-negative breast cancer. The NLCs were developed by the hot melt homogenization technique using water, Compritol 888, Miglyol 812, and vitamin E TPGS, all of which are FDA approved for clinical use. Both DIM-10 NLC and DIM-14 NLC presented a sustained-release profile in vitro and increased the maximum percentage of drug diffused through nitrocellulose membrane by 2.94- and 3.08-fold, respectively, compared to the free drug solutions. The formulations also increased both drugs' permeability by 2.59- and 2.56-fold for DIM-10 and DIM-14, respectively, in Caco-2 cells. In vivo pharmacokinetic studies showed that the NLCs were able to significantly increase oral absorption of both compounds and improve pharmacokinetic parameters such as C_{max} , half-life time ($t_{1/2}$), and AUC. In fact, C_{max} , $t_{1/2}$, and AUC values were higher for a 30 mg/kg dose of DIM-10 NLC than for a 100 mg/kg

dose of free DIM-10, suggesting that the dose necessary for comparable effect in the NLC formulation could be reduced to almost 1/3 of the free drug dose, which shows yet another advantage in the use of NLC formulations, especially when it comes to expensive drugs. Accordingly, the NLCs also had superior antitumor efficacy compared to the free drugs in an orthotopic TNBC model.

NLCs have also been developed to improve oral delivery of docetaxel, a taxane widely used for breast cancer treatment, by Fang et al. (2015). Oral bioavailability of docetaxel is low due to its poor water solubility, high efflux rates by the P-glycoprotein (P-gp), and metabolization by cytochrome P450. As the SLNs developed by Baek and Cho (2017), these NLCs were modified for functionalization. To increase the residence time of the NLC in the gastrointestinal tract, an amphiphilic bioadhesive thiomer was created and added to the particle's surface. Thiomers are thiolated polymers capable of making nanoparticles mucoadhesive, because they have sulfhydryl groups that form disulfide bonds with cysteine present in mucus. Besides the bioadhesive property, thiomers were included to increase drug permeation through the epithelium and suppress P-gp activity. For these reasons, the authors of this study conjugated cysteine with polyethylene glycol monostearate (PEG-MSA), an amphiphilic polymer, to synthesize thiolated PEG-MSA (Cy-PEG-MSA) which was used to modify NLC surface. In an in vitro bioadhesion model, mucin adsorption was 81.6% on Cy-PEG-MSA-modified NLCs (cNLCs) and only 51.9% on unmodified NLCs (uNLCs). Permeability of docetaxel in the intestine was also improved by the formulations, as shown in an in situ model of intestinal perfusion. The cNLC absorption rate was three- to fivefold the rate of free docetaxel solution and was also higher than the rate of uNLC. Pharmacokinetic parameters in vivo also indicated significantly improved oral bioavailability of cNLCs in comparison to uNLCs and especially to free docetaxel.

5.3 Micro- and Nanoemulsions

Omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid (PUFA) metabolites have been identified as potential anticancer agents. However, their administration is compromised by the low water solubility of these compounds. The synthetic omega-3 PUFA derivative 16-(4'-chloro-3'-trifluorophenyl)carbamoylamino] hexadecanoic acid (CIFPh-CHA) was selected for encapsulation in a nanoemulsion intended for oral delivery (Garrastazu Pereira et al., 2018). The CIFPh-CHA-loaded NE was administered orally to tumor-bearing animals once a day, 6 days a week. After 32 days, the 2.5 and 10 mg/kg doses reduced breast tumor's medium volume to approximately 60% of controls, while the 40 mg/kg dose promoted a reduction to 42%. CIFPh-CHA solution could cause significant reduction (approximately 40%) only at 40 mg/mL.

Choudhury et al. (2014) developed NEs with sustained-release profile in vivo to improve paclitaxel oral bioavailability. Based on paclitaxel solubility and thermodynamic stability of formulations, Capryol[®] 90 (propylene glycol monocaprylate) was selected as the lipid phase of the nanoemulsion. Polysorbate 20 and ethanol were selected as surfactant and co-surfactant based on further physicochemical characterization. The in vitro release study showed that the NE was capable of enhancing paclitaxel diffusion through the dialysis membrane to $91.20 \pm 4.20\%$ after 8 h, compared to the i.v. commercial formulation of paclitaxel (Taxol®) (58.35 ± 2.91%) and to a paclitaxel suspension (7.50 ± 1.35%). Compared to solution, the NE increased paclitaxel permeability through Caco-2 monolayer in the apical-basolateral direction and reduced transport in the basolateral-apical direction, meaning it decreased drug efflux. In accordance with this result, the NE presented higher cytotoxicity than the solution in both MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells. In mice, the orally administered NE achieved 55.9% bioavailability of paclitaxel. Compared to the IV solution, t_{1/2} and the time point when plasmatic paclitaxel was no longer quantifiable increased, suggesting the NE ability to promote sustained release in vivo.

Another NE for docetaxel was developed by Pandey et al. (2017). In this formulation, the oily phase was composed of soya oil and frankincense oil, which contains boswellic acids and keto-boswellic acids, both with anticancer and P-gp inhibitory properties. To study P-gp inhibition, cells were exposed to the P-gp fluorescent substrate rhodamine-123. In cells exposed to rhodamine only, the fluorescence was hardly observed, which can be attributed to its efflux. In contrast, the fluorescence was higher in cells exposed to rhodamine and frankincense oil or verapamil (a known P-gp inhibitor) suggesting the inhibitory activity of the oil over P-gp. In an in vitro cytotoxicity study with MDA-MB-231 cells, the nanoemulsion containing the oil and docetaxel was more cytotoxic than that containing only docetaxel, and both were more cytotoxic than Taxotere®: in cells treated with Taxotere® and the NE, 8.53% and 13.51% of cells were arrested in the G2/M phase after 24 h of treatment, respectively, and 28% and 72.45% after 48 h, suggesting that co-encapsulated docetaxel and frankincense oil are more efficient in arresting cell cycle than Taxotere[®], in a time-dependent manner. In comparison to Taxotere[®], the nanoemulsion enhanced apoptosis and necrosis in MDA-MB-231 cells. In mice, time to maximum plasma concentration (t_{max}), C_{max}, and AUC were higher for the nanoemulsion than for Taxotere®. Nanoemulsion efficacy, assessed in an in vivo model of tumorbearing mice in which mammary carcinoma cells 4T1 were subcutaneously inoculated in the mammary gland, was higher, displaying a tumor inhibition ratio of 93%.

Taking advantage of the fact that some oils and surfactants are capable of selfemulsifying in contact with water under specific conditions, oral self-emulsifying drug delivery systems have been proposed for breast cancer treatment. As these formulations do not contain water, they can be inserted in capsules for commercialization and clinical use (Constantinides et al., 1994). Self-nanoemulsifying drug delivery systems have been developed for improved oral delivery or co-delivery of several drugs that are active against breast cancer, such as quercetin, resveratrol, and genistein (Tripathi et al., 2016); tamoxifen and naringenin (Sandhu et al., 2017); and docetaxel (Seo et al., 2009). All have shown promising results in terms of enhanced oral bioavailability of compounds.

5.4 Liquid Crystalline Nanoparticles (LCNPs)

Swarnakar et al. (Swarnakar et al., 2014) developed bicontinuous cubic liquid crystalline nanoparticles (LCNPs) to improve the safety profile and efficacy of doxorubicin in cancer treatment. Doxorubicin is frequently employed in the chemotherapy of breast cancer. Despite its efficacy, it causes severe systemic toxicity, remarkably cardiotoxicity. Its oral bioavailability is also very low (less than 5%) due to low permeability, efflux by P-gp, and hepatic first-pass metabolism, and thus, it is clinically administered through the intravenous route. Phytantriol, a non-digestible lipid, was selected for the oil phase. Various surfactants were incorporated into the formulation for optimization, and, based on particle size, size distribution, zeta potential, and encapsulation efficiency, Pluronic® F-127 was selected. LCNPs were shown to be stable in simulated gastrointestinal fluids, maintaining their ability to retain high drug content even after 8 h. In the in vitro release study, LCNPs demonstrated a sustained-release profile, having been able to prolong drug release for up to 120 h $(96.7 \pm 2.1\%$ doxorubicin released). In the Caco-2 cell uptake assay, while free doxorubicin and free doxorubicin with cyclosporine A (a known P-gp inhibitor) achieved intracellular concentrations of 42.81 ± 3.14 and 64.63 ± 5.79 ng/mL after 6 h, the concentration in cells treated with loaded LCNPs was 731.04 ± 38.51 ng/ mL after only 2 h, which is equivalent to ~17.08- and 11.31-fold increases, respectively. Furthermore, cell viability was greater than 90% for the 1.0 µg/mL concentration tested, indicating low cytotoxicity in Caco-2 cells. In MCF-7 cells, the LCNPs promoted a ~ 4.57-fold increase in doxorubicin intracellular concentration in half the time compared to free doxorubicin. The LCNPs also increased doxorubicin cytotoxicity in MCF-7 cells drastically – for 24 and 48 h treatments, the IC_{50} values, which indicate the drug concentration needed for 50% reduction in cell viability, were 3.12- and 16.23-fold lower for loaded LCNPs than for free doxorubicin. This difference could be explained by the more efficient internalization of LCNPs due to higher permeability in comparison to free doxorubicin. The pharmacokinetic profile of LCNPs was assessed in female rats, at a 10 mg/kg dose of doxorubicin. In animals that received loaded LCNPs, Cmax and AUC values were pronouncedly higher than in animals that received free doxorubicin, indicating the oral bioavailability improvement promoted by the incorporation of doxorubicin in the developed system. To verify the efficacy of LCNP's treatment, breast tumors were induced with 7,12-dimethylbenz [α] anthracene (DMBA) in rats, which were then treated with equivalent doses of 5 mg/kg doxorubicin. The animals received oral saline as control, oral loaded LCNPs, or intravenous clinically approved formulations Adriamycin® or Lipodox®. As expected, all treatments reduced tumor burden in comparison to control. LCNPs reduced tumor volumes more efficiently than Adriamycin® (~42% and ~31% reduction, respectively, after 30 days), but less efficiently than Lipodox® (~85%). On the other hand, cardiac biochemical and histological parameters were analyzed and revealed that LCNPs were significantly less cardiotoxic than Adriamycin® and Lipodox®, suggesting an improved safety profile of the developed formulation.

Phytantriol was also used by Jain et al. (2018), who developed LCNPs to improve the oral bioavailability and safety profile of tamoxifen. Either phytantriol (PLCNPs) or glyceryl monooleate (GLCNPs) were used in the oil phase, and oleic acid was added to enhance tamoxifen loading. The LCNPs were shown to be stable in gastrointestinal simulated fluids. In an in vitro drug release study, both LCNPs exhibited sustained-release profiles, prolonging tamoxifen release for up to 96 h, in contrast to 2 h for the free drug control solution. The fluorescent dye coumarin-6 (C-6) was used to evaluate LCNP's internalization in Caco-2 cells, and uptake for both formulations was clearly higher than for free C-6. MCF-7 cells were used to assess in vitro cytotoxicity of the tamoxifen-loaded LCNPs in comparison to free tamoxifen. PLCNPs and GLCNPs had 7.3- and 10.0-fold lower IC₅₀ values relative to free tamoxifen after 24 h treatment, indicating their superior cytotoxicity. The permeability and cytotoxicity studies together suggest possible membrane-altering activity and some bioadhesive property of LCNPs. In vivo pharmacokinetic study in rats showed that the LCNPs had higher C_{max} values than free tamoxifen and bioavailability was 7.45- and 5.38-fold for PLCNPs and GLCNPs, respectively, relative to the free drug. Tumors were induced in rats by the administration of DMBA, and the animals were treated with oral doses equivalent to 3 mg/kg tamoxifen once every 3 days, for 30 days. At the end of this period, PLCNPs and GLCNPs caused greater reduction in tumor burden (67.96% and 48.87% reduction, respectively) than free tamoxifen (32.74% reduction) while reducing the drug hepatotoxicity. Between the two formulations, PLCNPs' reduction in hepatotoxicity was significantly higher than GLCNPs, reinforcing the safer profile of phytantriol in relation to glyceryl monooleate as previously suggested (Jain et al., 2015). Also, it is believed that LCNPs enhance absorption through the lymphatic system, reducing drug first-pass hepatic metabolism and hence leading to improved oral bioavailability and, at the same time, lessening oxidative stress in the liver, which could explain the minimized hepatotoxicity (Jain et al., 2018).

6 Nanocarriers for Localized Treatment

The standard of treatment for breast cancer has changed over the past decades, in search of less invasive methods and better outcomes (Kuang et al., 2020). As we saw in the previous sections, lipid nanoparticles are quite versatile and can be used for this purpose. However, most studies that investigate these nanocarriers for breast cancer therapy do not employ local routes of administration despite the clear advantages of these routes over systemic administration, such as fewer adverse effects and greater adherence to treatment (Kuang et al., 2020; Mojeiko et al., 2021; Murata et al., 2006; Zhang et al., 2014). The research developed over the last decades for drug localization in breast tissue was based on intraductal, topical-transdermal, and subcutaneous administration of lipid and polymeric nanocarriers. In the following subsections, we will focus only on lipid-based nanocarriers employed to localize drug delivery in breast cancer. A summary of the strategies that will be discussed in presented in Table 2.

Administration			
route	Nanocarrier type	Advantages	References
Intraductal	Liposome	Increased drug retention in ducts Lower plasma drug levels Greater safety profile	Murata et al. (2006), Stearns et al. (2011)
	Nanoemulsion	Surface modification and viscosity modulation for localization in mammary ducts	Migotto et al. (2018), Carvalho et al. (2019)
Transdermal	Liposome	Deformability and permeation enhancers can increase transdermal drug delivery Drug depot formation	Bathara et al. (2020), Altamimi et al. (2021a, b), Apolinário et al. (2021a, b)
	Micro- and nanoemulsion	Surface modification promotes interaction with epidermal cells Penetration enhancers increase permeation across the stratum corneum	Dave et al. (2017), Mojeiko et al. (2019), Altamimi et al. (2021a, b), Saraiva et al. (2021)
	Lipid nanoparticles	Lipophilic matrix facilitates transdermal transport and depot formation in breast adipose tissue	Gadag et al. (2021)
	Liquid crystalline nanoparticles	Lipophilic matrix facilitates transdermal transport and depot formation in breast adipose tissue	Musa et al. (2017)
Subcutaneous	Microemulsion	Depot formation	Salata et al. (2021)
	Lipid nanoparticles	Subcutaneous peritumoral location of the drug	Guo et al. (2012)

 Table 2
 Lipid-based nanocarriers investigated for the intraductal, transdermal, and subcutaneous treatment of breast cancer

6.1 Intraductal Therapy

The intraductal route emerged as a viable strategy capable of reaching the entire ductolobular system in an effective and minimally invasive way. In fact, considering that more than 95% of breast cancers originate in the epithelial cells that surround the breast ducts, the intraductal administration of compounds allows greater local exposure to the neoplastic lesions and fewer adverse effects, due to reduced systemic exposure of healthy tissues (Murata et al., 2006; Zhang et al., 2014; Kuang et al., 2020).

The feasibility of using the intraductal route has been previously demonstrated in several models of breast cancer in rodents for the delivery of different cytotoxic drugs, such as paclitaxel, 4-hydroxytamoxifen, doxorubicin, curcumin, methotrexate, 5-fluorouracil, and carboplatin (Gao et al., 2021a; Chun et al., 2012a; Okugawa et al., 2005). Compared to control groups, intraductal administration of drugs reduced already established tumors and prevented the development of new tumors with comparable efficacy than the intravenous route and without evidence of systemic toxicity. In addition, clinical studies were carried out to prove the success and safety of the intraductal route in humans (Love et al., 2013). Mahoney et al. administered liposomal doxorubicin in 13 women with ductal carcinoma in situ (DCIS) (Mahoney et al., 2013). The safety of the intraductal route was demonstrated in breast cancer patients waiting mastectomy by Zhang and colleagues (Zhang et al., 2014). In this study, liposomal doxorubicin and carboplatin were administered in the mammary ducts after the application of a local anesthetic, resulting in high tolerability with only transient and medium discomfort (on a scale of 0–10, patients reported levels of pain between 0.2 and 1.3).

Despite great advances in intraductal therapy, the high ductal permeability causes small drugs to rapidly diffuse into the systemic circulation, and it is still a challenge to design formulations that take into account the specific characteristics of this route (Singh et al., 2012). Next, lipid nanocarriers employed in intraductal administration will be discussed.

6.1.1 Liposomes

Most studies that evaluate the use of liposomes in the context of intraductal administration use PEGylated liposomal doxorubicin (PLD), since its advantage over free doxorubicin is well established and it is approved by the Food and Drug Administration for clinical use (Doxil[®]). PLD is a doxorubicin formulation in PEGcoated liposomes that presents a unique toxicity profile and greater stability of the drug in the circulation, in addition to reducing drug distribution and promoting an increase in its location in the tumor tissues (Chun et al., 2012a, b; Gabizon, 2001a; Zhang et al., 2014).

Murata and colleagues first studied the intraductal administration of PEGylated liposomal doxorubicin in the prevention and treatment of breast cancer in rodents in N-methyl-N'-nitrosourea and spontaneous transgenic HER-2/neu models (Murata et al., 2006). Intraductal administration was able to reduce systemic exposure to the drug when compared to intravenous administration, in addition to being more effective in promoting the regression of induced tumors and reducing the appearance of new tumors in both models. Another study compared the efficacy of PEGylated liposomal doxorubicin with several other anticancer drugs (5-fluouroracil, carboplatin, methotrexate, and nanoparticle albumin-bound paclitaxel) (Stearns et al., 2011). The drugs were able to prevent tumor growth, and PLD remained for long periods in the mammary gland. Despite the advantages of intraductal administration of liposomal doxorubicin, subsequent studies of the group observed that after long periods of time, this treatment was capable of inducing malignant breast tumors, which indicated the need for more studies on drug release and metabolism in the breast (Chun et al., 2012b).

As mentioned at the beginning of this subsection, there are clinical studies describing the intraductal administration of drugs. Love et al. (2013) demonstrated the intraductal administration of carboplatin and liposomal doxorubicin in 30 women waiting for mastectomy; carboplatin was selected for its efficacy in several types of breast cancer, including metastatic one, and PLD was selected for being as effective as free doxorubicin in breast cancer treatment with an increased safety profile. Encapsulation of doxorubicin in liposomes seemed to promote drug retention in the ductal system, as no drug metabolites were detected in the bloodstream and there was no systemic toxicity. Subsequent studies have confirmed the effects of intraductal administration of PLD in the treatment of patients with DCIS and the ability of the formulation to aid drug retention in the ductal system (Mahoney et al., 2013).

The search on ClincalTrials.gov resulted in two studies that aimed to administer liposomal doxorubicin to women awaiting mastectomy with invasive and localized breast cancer (ductal carcinoma in situ), which were complete and recruiting, respectively. The first study used different doses of liposomal PEGylated doxorubicin and evaluated the maximum tolerated dose after intraductal administration and compared doxorubicin concentrations observed in blood and tissue with those obtained after intravenous administration of the drug (Stearns et al., 2011). Intraductal administration was able to reduce doxorubicin plasma concentration and increase drug concentration in the breast compared to those who received the agent intravenously. In addition, no severe adverse events were observed in the intraductal arm of the study.

6.1.2 Nanoemulsions

Nanoemulsions are colloidal dispersions formed by droplets of oil in water (o/w) or water in oil (w/o) capable of encapsulating and delivering drugs (Mattheolabakis et al., 2012). By modulating the nanoemulsion components and modifying its surface, it is possible to obtain systems with an adequate size distribution for the intraductal route and capable of increasing the residence time in the mammary tissue while reducing systemic exposure. Migotto et al. studied the possibility of increasing the permanence of C6 ceramide in the breast ducts by encapsulation in a bioadhesive cationic nanoemulsion as a local strategy for ductal carcinoma in situ therapy (Migotto et al., 2018). The nanoemulsion surface was modified with chitosan, which confers a positive charge and allows interaction with mucin and other negatively charged proteins expressed in the mammary ducts. Also, chitosan increased the viscosity of the system, which may contribute to greater retention time. In fact, intraductal administration of the nanoemulsion loaded with fluorescently labeled C6 ceramide promoted mammary tissue targeting and prolonged retention in the mammary region for more than 120 h compared to a drug solution and systemic administration.

In another study, drug mammary retention after intraductal administration of nanoemulsions modified with chitosan (cationic) or hyaluronic acid (anionic) was compared (Carvalho et al., 2019). Despite the opposite charge of the polymers, both nanoemulsions presented bioadhesive properties and prolonged retention time in the mammary tissue, probably by complexation with mucus components or hydrogen bond formation.

6.2 Topical-Transdermal Therapy

The skin is another potential alternative route for local drug delivery to breast tissue and has been explored for adjuvant treatment and prevention of development and recurrence of breast cancer. The transdermal route has a series of advantages, such as reduced plasma concentration, possibility of self-application, improved patient compliance, and avoidance of first-pass liver metabolism (Manish et al., 2020; Mojeiko et al., 2019, 2021; Lee et al., 2015; Lee & Khan, 2016). Despite these advantages, the skin has an important barrier function, which hinders the permeation of drugs (Mojeiko et al., 2021). Lipid-based nanocarriers can be used for drug encapsulation to improve skin delivery.

6.2.1 Vesicles

There are several studies that propose the use of liposomes in the transdermal transport of cytotoxic drugs for the treatment of breast cancer. In a recent study, Altamimi and colleagues developed elastic liposomes for luteolin, a drug with an important antineoplastic action that has low water solubility and is unstable in the gastric lumen and, consequently, has low oral bioavailability (Altamimi et al., 2021a). The choice of system applied is justified by its high deformability, which facilitates permeation through the skin and transdermal drug delivery for the treatment of breast cancer. Liposomes were optimized using the design of experiments, and the final formulation was composed of phosphatidylcholine and Span 80, presenting high encapsulation efficiency (up to 92%), ability to sustain drug release for more than 12 h, and increased drug efficacy in MCF-7 cells. The optimized formulation was able to promote ex vivo permeation of 3270 μ g/cm² of drug in rat skin, which represents a 6.2-fold increase compared to a drug solution. Furthermore, it was able to form a drug depot on the skin up to 4.5 times larger than the control solution.

In addition to deformability, other properties can be explored in the development of systems for transdermal administration. One strategy is the use of vesicles containing synergistic combination of permeation enhancers (SCOPE) to improve the skin permeation of drugs. Bathara et al. developed liposomes for docetaxel delivery and breast localization; sodium oleate, sodium lauryl ether sulfate, and propylene glycol were used as permeation enhancers (Bathara et al., 2020). These high permeation vesicles were able to sustain drug release for more than 48 h and to increase drug permeation in the skin by 2.4- and 1.7-fold compared to a drug dispersion in SCOPE and SCOPE-free liposomes. In vivo studies demonstrated that SCOPE
liposomes were able to reduce the size of tumors in an equivalent proportion to conventional intravenous treatment with docetaxel (Taxotere[®]), with the advantage of substantially lower systemic toxicity. These results demonstrate the applicability of the lipid vesicles in the transdermal treatment of breast cancer.

Ethosomes are vesicles that contain ethanol (10–50%) in its composition and can be used in the delivery of drugs to the skin as they promote drug penetration (Apolinário et al., 2021a). Apolinário and colleagues developed and systematically optimized liposomes for fenretinide local-transdermal administration (Apolinário et al., 2021b). The objective of the work was the chemoprevention of breast cancer, and this system was chosen to promote drug penetration into the skin, increase the drug localization in the breast tissue, and enhance the tolerability of the treatment. The ethosomes were able to increase fenretinide delivery into the skin by up to fivefold compared to a control solution; this effect was attributed to the nanometric size of the vesicles and the components of the formulation, such as ethanol and propylene glycol. Ethosomes were well tolerated, did not reduce the viability of non-tumor MCF-10A cells and presented similar IC₅₀ to a drug solution in tumor cells (MCF-7) suggesting that nanoencapsulation does not hinder cytotoxicity.

6.2.2 Micro- and Nanoemulsions

Micro- and nanoemulsions have been frequently studied for topical-transdermal administration as they improve drug solubility and allow the incorporation of permeation enhancers, such as lipids and surfactants, promoting greater permeation across the *stratum corneum* (Nastiti et al., 2017; Hosmer et al., 2009; Giacone et al., 2020; Pepe et al., 2012).

The study of Altamimi and colleagues exemplifies the use of cationic nanoemulsions for the transdermal delivery of luteolin; the positive charge was obtained by cationic charge inducers (oleylamine and stearylamine) with the intention of promoting electrostatic interaction with epidermal cells and increasing permeation through the skin, in addition to promoting greater colloidal stability (Altamimi et al., 2021b). The cationic nanoemulsion was able to increase the cumulative amount of drug that penetrates into the skin of rats by 8.2- and 1.6-fold compared to a solution and an anionic nanoemulsion of the drug, respectively. The transdermal approach can also be used in the adjuvant therapy of triple-negative breast cancer, which is highly aggressive and metastatic and requires more effective and safer therapeutic strategies. Saraiva et al. developed edelfosine-loaded nanoemulsions and evaluated their efficacy against MDA-MB-231 triple-negative breast cancer cells in vitro and in vivo (zebrafish model) (Saraiva et al., 2021). The nanoemulsion was developed with edelfosine, Miglyol 812, and phosphatidylcholine, based on GRAS (generally recognized as safe by the US FDA), showing a good safety profile. In vitro tests revealed an increased cellular uptake of nanoemulsions and a twofold reduction in the IC₅₀ in tumor cells compared to an edelfosine solution. The animal model demonstrated the nanoemulsions' ability to cross biological barriers

after topical application in zebrafish embryos and significantly reduced the proliferation of tumor cells compared to the untreated control.

To date, various microemulsions have been developed to deliver cytotoxic drugs to the skin for the treatment and/or chemoprevention of breast cancer (Mojeiko et al., 2019; Dave et al., 2017; Yehia et al., 2017). Recently, Mojeiko et al. combined the skin microneedling technique with microemulsions to increase the cutaneous delivery of celecoxib (Mojeiko et al., 2019). The formulation enhanced dermal and transdermal transport of celecoxib compared to a control solution by up to threeand fourfold, respectively. Furthermore, pretreatment of the skin with microneedles was beneficial for deeper penetration, as it results in a strong barrier disruption due to pore formation. Encapsulation of celecoxib in microemulsions reduced the IC_{50} in MCF-7 cells by 3.3-fold, suggesting that the formulation components may aid drug cytotoxicity. In another study, Dave et al. compared the transdermal administration of α -santalol-loaded microemulsions applied to the skin of the breast and the nipple region, in the chemoprevention of breast cancer (Dave et al., 2017). Microemulsions produced with PL-ME10 phospholipid applied into the nipple were able to increase in vitro drug permeation and tissue retention in porcine skin by up to ten- and eightfold, respectively, compared to control formulations (solution and cream). Next, they investigated the difference in in vivo transport of microemulsions applied to the skin, nipple, or whole breast of Sprague-Dawley rats and found that application to the whole breast promoted the greatest accumulation of α-santalol in the breast tissue; all administration routes were able to achieve therapeutic concentrations in breast tissue and reduce plasma concentrations to undetectable levels. Finally, the in vivo chemoprevention study demonstrated the ability of the formulation to reduce the incidence and multiplicity of tumors by 1.5 times, compared to the control.

6.2.3 Lipid Nanoparticles

In a recent study, Gadag and colleagues developed and optimized resveratrol-loaded nanostructured lipid carriers and evaluated its effectiveness in combination with microneedles as a strategy for the local delivery of drugs for breast cancer therapy (Gadag et al., 2021). Microneedling was used to overcome the skin barrier function and facilitate drug delivery into the skin, and nanostructured lipid carriers were the selected system because its lipophilic matrix is capable of creating a slow-release drug depot in breast adipose tissue. The nanoparticles were able to sustain drug release and, when combined with the microneedle technique, promoted a greater transdermal permeation of resveratrol compared to the free drug. Furthermore, the nanocarriers presented greater potency than free resveratrol, represented by the lower IC₅₀ value obtained in the MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cell cytotoxicity assay. Finally, the pharmacokinetic study revealed increased values of C_{max} and AUC and a greater localization in the breast tissue compared to treatment with oral resveratrol, suggesting the applicability of the nanoparticle in local-transdermal drug delivery.

6.2.4 Liquid Crystalline Nanoparticles

Liquid crystalline nanoparticles can also be used in the transdermal therapy of breast cancer because, like micro- and nanoemulsions, they have the ability to incorporate penetration enhancers and potentially improve drug delivery through the skin, in addition to presenting suitable viscosity for topical application (El-Gendy et al., 2020; Hosmer et al., 2011). Furthermore, they are easy to obtain, allow the encapsulation of drugs with distinct physicochemical properties, and promote modulated drug release (El-Gendy et al., 2020; Musa et al., 2017). Musa et al. developed a liquid crystalline gel formulation for exemestane, an aromatase inhibitor currently used in breast cancer therapy in high-risk post-menopausal women (Musa et al., 2017). The size of the nanoparticles ranged between 120 and 466 nm, and they presented negative zeta potential (-17-25 mV) and high encapsulation efficiency (85–92%). The system successfully allowed the cutaneous delivery of exemestane in rats, which was attributed to the ability of surfactants to modify the structure and fluidity of the stratum corneum, overcoming its barrier function. In addition, the nanocarrier showed cytotoxicity in MDA-MB-231 cells at lower concentrations (12.5 and 25 µg/mL) than those used in clinical practice, suggesting that it is an efficient and safe delivery system.

6.3 Subcutaneous Delivery

In addition to intraductal and transdermal therapy, subcutaneous administration of cytotoxic drugs had also been explored for localized drug delivery in the breast. Subcutaneous therapy combines the advantages of localizing the drug in the breast tissue with greater adherence to treatment and reduced treatment time (Jackisch et al., 2016). Several clinical trials, such as HannaH, SafeHer, and PrefHer, had demonstrated the advantage of subcutaneous administration of trastuzumab in adjuvant and neoadjuvant therapy in patients with HER2-positive breast cancer; the long-term safety and efficacy of subcutaneous treatment were non-inferior to the conventional one, with greater patient convenience and preference (Jackisch et al., 2016; Heo & Syed, 2019; Jung et al., 2018). In 2020, subcutaneous therapy with trastuzumab, pertuzumab, and hyaluronidase-zzxf (Phesgo) was approved by the FDA for the treatment of patients with HER2-positive early-stage and metastatic breast cancer (Gao et al., 2021b). Despite the aforementioned advantages, few preclinical and clinical studies designed specific formulations for the subcutaneous administration of drugs. Here, we will discuss lipid nanoformulations applied for the subcutaneous administration of drugs, but efforts are still needed to understand how the formulation composition and physicochemical properties can influence the treatment outcomes.

6.3.1 Microemulsions

Microemulsion-based systems can be used in the subcutaneous delivery of drugs aimed at localized breast cancer therapy. Fenretinide is a potential candidate for breast cancer therapy and chemoprevention, since it accumulates in the breast tissue due to its high fat solubility (Sabichi et al., 2003). However, its low oral bioavailability, the need for high doses, and occurrence of severe adverse effects limit its clinical use. Salata et al. have recently developed bioresponsive microemulsions for subcutaneous administration of fenretinide and drug localization in breast tissue (Salata et al., 2021). The system was developed with phosphatidylcholine and propylene glycol aiming at the formation of a liquid crystalline system in vivo upon uptake of local fluids. The microemulsion was able to absorb water and form a gel after subcutaneous administration, forming a depot and prolonging the release of compounds for up to 30 days. In addition, it increased fenretinide in vitro cytotoxicity compared to a drug solution in MCF-7 and T47D breast cancer cell lines. In the in vivo model, the system was able to reduce tumor incidence by 4.7-fold.

6.3.2 Solid Lipid Nanoparticles

Solid lipid nanoparticles have been described to undergo rapid clearance from the circulation via the mononuclear phagocytic system, so that their subcutaneous administration represents a potential strategy for localization in tumors (Lu et al., 2006; Guo et al., 2012). Guo and collaborators investigated the subcutaneous administration of a thermosensitive hydrogel containing 2-methoxyestradiol-loaded solid lipid nanoparticles for the treatment of subcutaneous tumors, such as breast cancer (Guo et al., 2012). The system was able to increase cytotoxicity against T-41 cells by 6.4-fold and to promote localization around the injection site for more than 46 days. In addition, the subcutaneous peritumoral administration of the SLN-loaded system showed greater efficacy than just the hydrogel containing the drug, with no observed toxicity.

7 Conclusions

Since the approval of Doxil in 1995 by the US Food and Drug Administration, many lipid-based nanocarriers were developed, underwent clinical trials, and/or received approval for breast cancer treatment. Several strategies were employed to improve nanocarrier-based delivery and efficacy and to reduce the adverse effects of conventional chemotherapy. The advantage of using PEGylated, functionalized, pH- and temperature-sensitive nanocarriers has been demonstrated at least in preclinical trials. Other strategies include co-encapsulation of drugs and inclusion of efflux transporter inhibitors. Although some of these strategies have found their way to the clinic, there are many hurdles that still need to be addressed for a further

development of the nanomedicine field for breast cancer. For example, understanding the real influence of the EPR effect and the surface modification on the interactions of lipid-based nanocarriers with the immune system and plasma proteins, as well as further knowledge of the tumor microenvironment are essential to aid formulation development and enable advancements in the field.

Acknowledgments The authors' research reviewed herein was funded by the São Paulo Research Foundation (FAPESP, grants #2018/13877-1, 2018/14375-0, 2019/00196-9, 2020/01208-8), Brazilian Council for Research (CNPq, grant #306866/2020-0), and Brazilian Federal Agency for Support and Evaluation of Graduate Education (CAPES, finance code 001).

References

- (FDA), F. A. D. A. (2018). Liposome drug products: Chemistry, manufacturing, and controls; Human products pharmacokinetics and bioavailability; and labeling documentation. [Online]. Available: http://www.fda.gov/media/70837/download. Accessed 4 Jan 2022.
- Abumanhal-Masarweh, H., Da Silva, D., Poley, M., Zinger, A., Goldman, E., Krinsky, N., Kleiner, R., Shenbach, G., Schroeder, J. E., Shklover, J., Shainsky-Roitman, J., & Schroeder, A. (2019). Tailoring the lipid composition of nanoparticles modulates their cellular uptake and affects the viability of triple negative breast cancer cells. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 307, 331–341.
- Ağardan, N. B. M., Değim, Z., Yilmaz, Ş., Altintaş, L., & Topal, T. (2020). Tamoxifen/raloxifene loaded liposomes for oral treatment of breast cancer. *Journal of Drug Delivery Science and Technology*, 57, 101612.
- Altamimi, M. A., Hussain, A., Alrajhi, M., Alshehri, S., Imam, S. S., & Qamar, W. (2021a). Luteolin-loaded elastic liposomes for transdermal delivery to control breast cancer: In Vitro and Ex Vivo evaluations. *Pharmaceuticals (Basel)*, 14(11), 1143.
- Altamimi, M. A., Hussain, A., Alshehri, S., Imam, S. S., & Alnemer, U. A. (2021b). Development and evaluations of transdermally delivered luteolin loaded cationic nanoemulsion: In Vitro and Ex Vivo evaluations. *Pharmaceutics*, 13(8), 1218.
- Anselmo, A. C., & Mitragotri, S. (2021). Nanoparticles in the clinic: An update post COVID-19 vaccines. *Bioeng Transl Med*, 6(3), e10246.
- Antoniou, A. I., Giofrè, S., Seneci, P., Passarella, D., & Pellegrino, S. (2021). Stimulus-responsive liposomes for biomedical applications. *Drug Discovery Today*, 26, 1794–1824.
- Apolinario, A. C., Pachioni-Vasconcelos, J. D. A., Pessoa, A., & Rangel-Yagui, C. D. O. (2017). Polymersomes versus liposomes: The magic bullet evolution. *Quimica Nova*, 40, 810–817.
- Apolinário, A. C., Hauschke, L., Nunes, J. R., & Lopes, L. B. (2020a). Towards nanoformulations for skin delivery of poorly soluble API. *Journal of Drug Delivery Science and Technology*, 60, 102045.
- Apolinário, A. C., Salata, G. C., Bianco, A. F. R., Fukumori, C., & Lopes, L. B. (2020b). Abrindo a caixa de pandora dos nanomedicamentos: há realmente muito mais 'espaço lá embaixo. *Química nova*, 43, 212–225.
- Apolinário, A. C., Hauschke, L., Nunes, J. R., & Lopes, L. B. (2021a). Lipid nanovesicles for biomedical applications: What is in a name? *Progress in Lipid Research*, 82, 101096.
- Apolinário, A. C., Hauschke, L., Nunes, J. R., Lourenço, F. R., & Lopes, L. B. (2021b). Design of multifunctional ethosomes for topical fenretinide delivery and breast cancer chemoprevention. *Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects*, 623, 126745.
- Baek, J.-S., & Cho, C.-W. (2017). Surface modification of solid lipid nanoparticles for oral delivery of curcumin: Improvement of bioavailability through enhanced cellular uptake, and lymphatic uptake. *European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics*, 117, 132–140.

- Barauskas, J., Svedaite, I., Butkus, E., Razumas, V., Larsson, K., & Tiberg, F. (2005). Synthesis and aqueous phase behavior of 1-glyceryl monooleyl ether. *Colloids and Surfaces. B, Biointerfaces*, 41, 49–53.
- Bathara, M., Date, T., Chaudhari, D., Ghadi, R., Kuche, K., & Jain, S. (2020). Exploring the promising potential of high permeation vesicle-mediated localized transdermal delivery of docetaxel in breast cancer to overcome the limitations of systemic chemotherapy. *Molecular Pharmaceutics*, 17, 2473–2486.
- Batrakova, E. V., Li, S., Li, Y., Alakhov, V. Y., & Kabanov, A. V. (2004). Effect of pluronic P85 on ATPase activity of drug efflux transporters. *Pharmaceutical Research*, 21, 2226–2233.
- Bharti, R., Dey, G., Banerjee, I., Dey, K. K., Parida, S., Kumar, B. N. P., Das, C. K., Pal, I., Mukherjee, M., Misra, M., Pradhan, A. K., Emdad, L., Das, S. K., Fisher, P. B., & Mandal, M. (2017). Somatostatin receptor targeted liposomes with Diacerein inhibit IL-6 for breast cancer therapy. *Cancer Letters*, 388, 292–302.
- Borgheti-Cardoso, L. N., Depieri, L. V., Kooijmans, S. A., Diniz, H., Calzzani, R. A., Vicentini, F. T., Van Der Meel, R., Fantini, M. C., Iyomasa, M. M., Schiffelers, R. M., & Bentley, M. V. (2015). An in situ gelling liquid crystalline system based on monoglycerides and polyethylenimine for local delivery of siRNAs. *European Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 74, 103–117.
- Boyd, B. J., Whittaker, D. V., Khoo, S. M., & Davey, G. (2006). Lyotropic liquid crystalline phases formed from glycerate surfactants as sustained release drug delivery systems. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 309, 218–226.
- Caboi, F., Amico, G. S., Pitzalisa, P., Monduzzi, M., Nylander, T., & Larsson, K. (2001). Addition of hydrophilic and lipophilic compounds of biological relevance to the monoolein/water system. I. Phase behavior. *Chemistry and Physics of Lipids*, 109, 47–62.
- Cao, J., Wang, R., Gao, N., Li, M., Tian, X., Yang, W., Ruan, Y., Zhou, C., Wang, G., Liu, X., Tang, S., Yu, Y., Liu, Y., Sun, G., Peng, H., & Wang, Q. (2015a). A7RC peptide modified paclitaxel liposomes dually target breast cancer. *Biomaterials Science*, *3*, 1545–1554.
- Cao, X., Luo, J., Gong, T., Zhang, Z.-R., Sun, X., & Fu, Y. (2015b). Coencapsulated doxorubicin and bromotetrandrine lipid nanoemulsions in reversing multidrug resistance in breast cancer in vitro and in vivo. *Molecular Pharmaceutics*, 12, 274–286.
- Carvalho, V. F., De Lemos, D. P., Vieira, C. S., Migotto, A., & Lopes, L. B. (2017a). Potential of non-aqueous microemulsions to improve the delivery of lipophilic drugs to the skin. AAPS *PharmSciTech*, 18, 1739–1749.
- Carvalho, V. F. M., Migotto, A., Giacone, D. V., De Lemos, D. P., Zanoni, T. B., Maria-Engler, S. S., Costa-Lotufo, L. V., & Lopes, L. B. (2017b). Co-encapsulation of paclitaxel and C6 ceramide in tributyrin-containing nanocarriers improve co-localization in the skin and potentiate cytotoxic effects in 2D and 3D models. *European Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 109, 131–143.
- Carvalho, V. F. M., Salata, G. C., De Matos, J. K. R., Costa-Fernandez, S., Chorilli, M., Steiner, A. A., De Araujo, G. L. B., Silveira, E. R., Costa-Lotufo, L. V., & Lopes, L. B. (2019). Optimization of composition and obtainment parameters of biocompatible nanoemulsions intended for intraductal administration of piplartine (piperlongumine) and mammary tissue targeting. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 567, 118460.
- Cattel, L., Ceruti, M., & Dosio, F. (2003). From conventional to stealth liposomes a new frontier in cancer chemotherapy. *Tumori Journal*, 89, 237–249.
- Chen, Q.-R., Kumar, D., Stass, S. A., & Mixson, A. J. (1999). Liposomes complexed to plasmids encoding angiostatin and endostatin inhibit breast cancer in nude mice. *Cancer Research*, 59, 3308.
- Chenthamara, D., Subramaniam, S., Ramakrishnan, S. G., Krishnaswamy, S., Essa, M. M., Lin, F.-H., & Qoronfleh, M. W. (2019a). Therapeutic efficacy of nanoparticles and routes of administration. *Biomaterials Research*, 23, 1–29.
- Chenthamara, D., Subramaniam, S., Ramakrishnan, S. G., Krishnaswamy, S., Essa, M. M., Lin, F. H., & Qoronfleh, M. W. (2019b). Therapeutic efficacy of nanoparticles and routes of administration. *Biomaterials Research*, 23, 20.

- Choudhury, H., Gorain, B., Karmakar, S., Biswas, E., Dey, G., Barik, R., Mandal, M., & Pal, T. K. (2014). Improvement of cellular uptake, in vitro antitumor activity and sustained release profile with increased bioavailability from a nanoemulsion platform. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 460, 131–143.
- Chun, Y. S., Bisht, S., Chenna, V., Pramanik, D., Yoshida, T., Hong, S. M., De Wilde, R. F., Zhang, Z., Huso, D. L., Zhao, M., Rudek, M. A., Stearns, V., Maitra, A., & Sukumar, S. (2012a). Intraductal administration of a polymeric nanoparticle formulation of curcumin (NanoCurc) significantly attenuates incidence of mammary tumors in a rodent chemical carcinogenesis model: Implications for breast cancer chemoprevention in at-risk populations. *Carcinogenesis*, 33, 2242–2249.
- Chun, Y. S., Yoshida, T., Mori, T., Huso, D. L., Zhang, Z., Stearns, V., Perkins, B., Jones, R. J., & Sukumar, S. (2012b). Intraductally administered pegylated liposomal doxorubicin reduces mammary stem cell function in the mammary gland but in the long term, induces malignant tumors. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*, 135, 201–208.
- Constantinides, P. P., Scalart, J. P., Lancaster, C., Marcello, J., Marks, G., Ellens, H., & Smith, P. L. (1994). Formulation and intestinal absorption enhancement evaluation of water-in-oil microemulsions incorporating medium-chain glycerides. *Pharmaceutical Research*, 11, 1385–1390.
- Crommelin, D. J. A., Van Hoogevest, P., & Storm, G. (2020). The role of liposomes in clinical nanomedicine development. What now? Now what? *Journal of Controlled Release*, 318, 256–263.
- Dave, K., Alsharif, F. M., Islam, S., Dwivedi, C., & Perumal, O. (2017). Chemoprevention of breast cancer by transdermal delivery of α-Santalol through breast skin and mammary papilla (nipple). *Pharmaceutical Research*, *34*, 1897–1907.
- De Oliveira Silva, J., Fernandes, R. S., Ramos Oda, C. M., Ferreira, T. H., Machado Botelho, A. F., Martins Melo, M., De Miranda, M. C., Assis Gomes, D., Dantas Cassali, G., Townsend, D. M., Rubello, D., Oliveira, M. C., & De Barros, A. L. B. (2019). Folate-coated, long-circulating and pH-sensitive liposomes enhance doxorubicin antitumor effect in a breast cancer animal model. *Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy*, 118, 109323.
- Deng, N.-N., Yelleswarapu, M., & Huck, W. T. S. (2016). Monodisperse uni- and multicompartment liposomes. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 138, 7584–7591.
- Depieri, L. V., Borgheti-Cardoso, L. N., Campos, P. M., Otaguiri, K. K., Vicentini, F. T., Lopes, L. B., Fonseca, M. J., & Bentley, M. V. (2016). RNAi mediated IL-6 in vitro knockdown in psoriasis skin model with topical siRNA delivery system based on liquid crystalline phase. *European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics*, 105, 50–58.
- Drescher, S., & Van Hoogevest, P. (2020). The phospholipid research center: Current research in phospholipids and their use in drug delivery. *Pharmaceutics*, *12*(12), 1235.
- Du, Y., Liang, X., Li, Y., Sun, T., Jin, Z., Xue, H., & Tian, J. (2017). Nuclear and fluorescent labeled PD-1-liposome-DOX-. *Molecular Pharmaceutics*, 14, 3978–3986.
- Dumont, N., Merrigan, S., Turpin, J., Lavoie, C., Papavasiliou, V., Geretti, E., Espelin, C. W., Luus, L., Kamoun, W. S., Ghasemi, O., Sahagian, G. G., Muller, W. J., Hendriks, B. S., Wickham, T. J., & Drummond, D. C. (2019). Nanoliposome targeting in breast cancer is influenced by the tumor microenvironment. *Nanomedicine*, 17, 71–81.
- El-Gendy, M. A., Mansour, M., El-Assal, M. I. A., Ishak, R. A. H., & Mortada, N. D. (2020). Delineating penetration enhancer-enriched liquid crystalline nanostructures as novel platforms for improved ophthalmic delivery. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 582, 119313.
- Ensenyat-Mendez, M., Llinàs-Arias, P., Orozco, J. I. J., Íñiguez-Muñoz, S., Salomon, M. P., Sesé, B., Dinome, M. L., & Marzese, D. M. (2021). Current triple-negative breast cancer subtypes: Dissecting the most aggressive form of breast cancer. *Frontiers in Oncology*, 11, 681476.
- Famta, P., Shah, S., Chatterjee, E., Singh, H., Dey, B., Guru, S. K., Singh, S. B., & Srivastava, S. (2021). Exploring new horizons in overcoming P-glycoprotein-mediated multidrug-resistant breast cancer via nanoscale drug delivery platforms. *Current Research in Pharmacology and Drug Discovery*, 2, 100054.

- Fang, G., Tang, B., Chao, Y., Xu, H., Gou, J., Zhang, Y., Xu, H., & Tang, X. (2015). Cysteinefunctionalized nanostructured lipid carriers for oral delivery of docetaxel: A permeability and pharmacokinetic study. *Molecular Pharmaceutics*, 12, 2384–2395.
- Farkas, E., Zelko, R., Nemeth, Z., Palinkas, J., Marton, S., & Racz, I. (2000). The effect of liquid crystalline structure on chlorhexidine diacetate release. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 193, 239–245.
- Ferreira, D. A., Bentley, M. V., Karlsson, G., & Edwards, K. (2006). Cryo-TEM investigation of phase behaviour and aggregate structure in dilute dispersions of monoolein and oleic acid. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 310, 203–212.
- Fouladi, F., Steffen, K. J., & Mallik, S. (2017). Enzyme-responsive liposomes for the delivery of anticancer drugs. *Bioconjugate Chemistry*, 28, 857–868.
- Foulkes, R., Man, E., Thind, J., Yeung, S., Joy, A., & Hoskins, C. (2020). The regulation of nanomaterials and nanomedicines for clinical application: Current and future perspectives. *Biomaterials Science*, 8, 4653–4664.
- Freag, M. S., Elnaggar, Y. S. R., Abdelmonsif, D. A., & Abdallah, O. Y. (2016). Layer-by-layercoated lyotropic liquid crystalline nanoparticles for active tumor targeting of rapamycin. *Nanomedicine*, 11, 2975–2996.
- Gabizon, A. A. (2001a). Pegylated liposomal doxorubicin: Metamorphosis of an old drug into a new form of chemotherapy. *Cancer Investigation*, 19, 424–436.
- Gabizon, A. A. (2001b). Stealth liposomes and tumor targeting: One step further in the quest for the magic bullet. *Clinical Cancer Research*, *7*, 223.
- Gabizon, A., Bradbury, M., Prabhakar, U., Zamboni, W., Libutti, S., & Grodzinski, P. (2014). Cancer nanomedicines: Closing the translational gap. *Lancet*, 384, 2175–2176.
- Gadag, S., Narayan, R., Nayak, A. S., Catalina Ardila, D., Sant, S., Nayak, Y., Garg, S., & Nayak, U. Y. (2021). Development and preclinical evaluation of microneedle-assisted resveratrol loaded nanostructured lipid carriers for localized delivery to breast cancer therapy. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 606, 120877.
- Gao, D., Liu, J., Yuan, J., Wu, J., Kuang, X., Kong, D., Zheng, W., Wang, G., Sukumar, S., Tu, Y., Chen, C., & Sun, S. (2021a). Intraductal administration of N-methyl-N-nitrosourea as a novel rodent mammary tumor model. *Annals of Translational Medicine*, 9, 576.
- Gao, J. J., Osgood, C. L., Gong, Y., Zhang, H., Bloomquist, E. W., Jiang, X., Qiu, J., Yu, J., Song, P., Rahman, N. A., Chiu, H. J., Ricks, T. K., Rizvi, F., Hou, S., Wilson, W., Abukhdeir, A. M., Seidman, J., Ghosh, S., Philip, R., Pierce, W. F., Bhatnagar, V., Kluetz, P. G., Pazdur, R., Beaver, J. A., & Amiri-Kordestani, L. (2021b). FDA approval summary: Pertuzumab, trastuzumab, and hyaluronidase-zzxf injection for subcutaneous use in patients with HER2-positive breast cancer. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 27, 2126–2129.
- Garrastazu Pereira, G., Rawling, T., Pozzoli, M., Pazderka, C., Chen, Y., Dunstan, C. R., Murray, M., & Sonvico, F. (2018). Nanoemulsion-enabled oral delivery of novel anticancer ω-3 fatty acid derivatives. *Nanomaterials (Basel)*, 8(10), 825.
- Gerweck, L. E., & Seetharaman, K. (1996). Cellular pH gradient in tumor versus normal tissue: Potential exploitation for the treatment of cancer. *Cancer Research*, *56*, 1194.
- Ghafari, M., Haghiralsadat, F., Khanamani Falahati-Pour, S., & Zavar Reza, J. (2020). Development of a novel liposomal nanoparticle formulation of cisplatin to breast cancer therapy. *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry*, 121, 3584–3592.
- Giacone, D. V., Carvalho, V. F. M., Costa, S. K. P., & Lopes, L. B. (2018). Evidence that P-glycoprotein inhibitor (Elacridar)-loaded nanocarriers improve epidermal targeting of an anticancer drug via absorptive cutaneous transporters inhibition. *Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 107, 698–705.
- Giacone, D. V., Dartora, V., De Matos, J. K. R., Passos, J. S., Miranda, D. A. G., De Oliveira, E. A., Silveira, E. R., Costa-Lotufo, L. V., Maria-Engler, S. S., & Lopes, L. B. (2020). Effect of nanoemulsion modification with chitosan and sodium alginate on the topical delivery and efficacy of the cytotoxic agent piplartine in 2D and 3D skin cancer models. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, 165, 1055–1065.

- Godugu, C., Doddapaneni, R., Safe, S. H., & Singh, M. (2016). Novel diindolylmethane derivatives based NLC formulations to improve the oral bioavailability and anticancer effects in triple negative breast cancer. *European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics*, 108, 168–179.
- Grabarnick Portnoy, E., Andriyanov, A. V., Han, H., Eyal, S., & Barenholz, Y. (2021). PEGylated liposomes remotely loaded with the combination of doxorubicin, quinine, and indocyanine green enable successful treatment of multidrug-resistant tumors. *Pharmaceutics*, 13(12), 2181.
- Guo, X., Xing, Y., Zhang, X., Li, J., Mei, Q., Zhang, H., Chen, C., Zhang, Z., & Cui, F. (2012). In vivo controlled release and prolonged antitumor effects of 2-methoxyestradiol solid lipid nanoparticles incorporated into a thermosensitive hydrogel. *Drug Delivery*, 19, 188–193.
- Han, S. M., Baek, J. S., Kim, M. S., Hwang, S. J., & Cho, C. W. (2018). Surface modification of paclitaxel-loaded liposomes using d-α-tocopheryl polyethylene glycol 1000 succinate: Enhanced cellular uptake and cytotoxicity in multidrug resistant breast cancer cells. *Chemistry* and Physics of Lipids, 213, 39–47.
- Harris, L., Batist, G., Belt, R., Rovira, D., Navari, R., Azarnia, N., Welles, L., Winer, E., & Group, T. D.-S. (2002). Liposome-encapsulated doxorubicin compared with conventional doxorubicin in a randomized multicenter trial as first-line therapy of metastatic breast carcinoma. *Cancer*, 94, 25–36.
- Hartmann, L. C., Keeney, G. L., Lingle, W. L., Christianson, T. J. H., Varghese, B., Hillman, D., Oberg, A. L., & Low, P. S. (2007). Folate receptor overexpression is associated with poor outcome in breast cancer. *International Journal of Cancer*, 121, 938–942.
- Heo, Y. A., & Syed, Y. Y. (2019). Subcutaneous trastuzumab: A review in HER2-positive breast cancer. *Targeted Oncology*, 14, 749–758.
- Hosmer, J., Reed, R., Bentley, M. V., Nornoo, A., & Lopes, L. B. (2009). Microemulsions containing medium-chain glycerides as transdermal delivery systems for hydrophilic and hydrophobic drugs. AAPS PharmSciTech, 10, 589–596.
- Hosmer, J. M., Shin, S. H., Nornoo, A., Zheng, H., & Lopes, L. B. (2011). Influence of internal structure and composition of liquid crystalline phases on topical delivery of paclitaxel. *Journal* of Pharmaceutical Sciences, 100, 1444–1455.
- Hosmer, J. M., Steiner, A. A., & Lopes, L. B. (2013). Lamellar liquid crystalline phases for cutaneous delivery of paclitaxel: Impact of the monoglyceride. *Pharmaceutical Research*, 30, 694–706.
- Ichihara, H., Okumura, M., Tsujimura, K., & Matsumoto, Y. (2018). Theranostics with hybrid liposomes in an orthotopic graft model mice of breast cancer. *Anticancer Research*, 38, 5645–5654.
- Jackisch, C., Hegg, R., Stroyakovskiy, D., Ahn, J. S., Melichar, B., Chen, S. C., Kim, S. B., Lichinitser, M., Starosławska, E., Kunz, G., Falcon, S., Chen, S. T., Crepelle-Fléchais, A., Heinzmann, D., Shing, M., & Pivot, X. (2016). HannaH phase III randomised study: Association of total pathological complete response with event-free survival in HER2-positive early breast cancer treated with neoadjuvant-adjuvant trastuzumab after 2 years of treatment-free followup. *European Journal of Cancer*, 62, 62–75.
- Jain, S., Bhankur, N., Swarnakar, N. K., & Thanki, K. (2015). Phytantriol based stealth lyotropic liquid crystalline nanoparticles for improved antitumor efficacy and reduced toxicity of docetaxel. *Pharmaceutical Research*, 32, 3282–3292.
- Jain, S., Heeralal, B., Swami, R., Swarnakar, N. K., & Kushwah, V. (2018). Improved oral bioavailability, therapeutic efficacy, and reduced toxicity of tamoxifen-loaded liquid crystalline nanoparticles. AAPS PharmSciTech, 19, 460–469.
- Jain, V., Kumar, H., Anod, H. V., Chand, P., Gupta, N. V., Dey, S., & Kesharwani, S. S. (2020). A review of nanotechnology-based approaches for breast cancer and triple-negative breast cancer. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 326, 628–647.
- Jeon, M., Kim, G., Lee, W., Baek, S., Jung, H. N., & Im, H. J. (2021). Development of theranostic dual-layered Au-liposome for effective tumor targeting and photothermal therapy. *Journal of Nanobiotechnology*, 19, 262.

- Jiang, W., Yuan, H., Chan, C. K., Von Roemeling, C. A., Yan, Z., Weissman, I. L., & Kim, B. Y. S. (2017). Lessons from immuno-oncology: A new era for cancer nanomedicine? *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*, 16, 369–370.
- Jiang, Y., Jiang, Z., Wang, M., & Ma, L. (2022). Current understandings and clinical translation of nanomedicines for breast cancer therapy. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 180, 114034.
- Jose, A., Ninave, K. M., Karnam, S., & Venuganti, V. V. K. (2019). Temperature-sensitive liposomes for co-delivery of tamoxifen and imatinib for synergistic breast cancer treatment. *Journal of Liposome Research*, 29, 153–162.
- Joshi, S., Hussain, M. T., Roces, C. B., Anderluzzi, G., Kastner, E., Salmaso, S., Kirby, D. J., & Perrie, Y. (2016). Microfluidics based manufacture of liposomes simultaneously entrapping hydrophilic and lipophilic drugs. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 514, 160–168.
- Jung, K. H., Ataseven, B., Verrill, M., Pivot, X., De Laurentiis, M., Al-Sakaff, N., Lauer, S., Shing, M., Gligorov, J., & Azim, H. A. (2018). Adjuvant subcutaneous trastuzumab for HER2-positive early breast cancer: Subgroup analyses of safety and active medical conditions by body weight in the safe HER phase III study. *The Oncologist*, 23, 1137–1143.
- Kaneda, Y. (2001). Gene therapy: A battle against biological barriers. Current Molecular Medicine, 1, 493–499.
- Karve, S., Alaouie, A., Zhou, Y., Rotolo, J., & Sofou, S. (2009). The use of pH-triggered leaky heterogeneities on rigid lipid bilayers to improve intracellular trafficking and therapeutic potential of targeted liposomal immunochemotherapy. *Biomaterials*, 30, 6055–6064.
- Kuang, X. W., Liu, J. H., Sun, Z. H., Sukumar, S., Sun, S. R., & Chen, C. (2020). Intraductal therapy in breast cancer: Current status and future prospective. *Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia*, 25, 133–143.
- Lee, M.-K. (2019). Clinical usefulness of liposomal formulations in cancer therapy: Lessons from the experiences of doxorubicin. *Journal of Pharmaceutical Investigation*, 49, 203–214.
- Lee, O., & Khan, S. A. (2016). Novel routes for administering chemoprevention: Local transdermal therapy to the breasts. *Seminars in Oncology*, 43, 107–115.
- Lee, Y., & Thompson, D. H. (2017). Stimuli-responsive liposomes for drug delivery. WIREs Nanomedicine and Nanobiotechnology, 9, e1450.
- Lee, O., Ivancic, D., Allu, S., Shidfar, A., Kenney, K., Helenowski, I., Sullivan, M. E., Muzzio, M., Scholtens, D., Chatterton, R. T., Bethke, K. P., Hansen, N. M., & Khan, S. A. (2015). Local transdermal therapy to the breast for breast cancer prevention and DCIS therapy: Preclinical and clinical evaluation. *Cancer Chemotherapy and Pharmacology*, *76*, 1235–1246.
- Lee, H., Shields, A. F., Siegel, B. A., Miller, K. D., Krop, I., Ma, C. X., Lorusso, P. M., Munster, P. N., Campbell, K., Gaddy, D. F., Leonard, S. C., Geretti, E., Blocker, S. J., Kirpotin, D. B., Moyo, V., Wickham, T. J., & Hendriks, B. S. (2017). Cu-MM-302 positron emission tomography quantifies variability of enhanced permeability and retention of nanoparticles in relation to treatment response in patients with metastatic breast cancer. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 23, 4190–4202.
- Li, J., Wang, X., Zhang, T., Wang, C., Huang, Z., Luo, X., & Deng, Y. (2015). A review on phospholipids and their main applications in drug delivery systems. *Asian Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 10, 81–98.
- Li, X., Jia, X., & Niu, H. (2018). Nanostructured lipid carriers co-delivering lapachone and doxorubicin for overcoming multidrug resistance in breast cancer therapy. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 13, 4107–4119.
- Liang, T., Yao, Z., Ding, J., Min, Q., Jiang, L., & Zhu, J.-J. (2018). Cascaded aptamers-governed multistage drug-delivery system based on biodegradable envelope-type nanovehicle for targeted therapy of HER2-overexpressing breast cancer. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, 10, 34050–34059.
- Lin, K. H., Hong, S. T., Wang, H. T., Lo, Y. L., Lin, A. M., & Yang, J. C. (2016). Enhancing anticancer effect of gefitinib across the blood-brain barrier model using liposomes modified with one α-helical cell-penetrating peptide or glutathione and tween 80. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 17(12), 1998.

- Lopes, L. B. (2014). Overcoming the cutaneous barrier with microemulsions. *Pharmaceutics*, 6, 52–77.
- Lopes, L. B., Lopes, J. L., Oliveira, D. C., Thomazini, J. A., Garcia, M. T., Fantini, M. C., Collett, J. H., & Bentley, M. V. (2006). Liquid crystalline phases of monoolein and water for topical delivery of cyclosporin A: Characterization and study of in vitro and in vivo delivery. *European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics*, 63, 146–155.
- Lopes, L. B., Speretta, F. F., & Bentley, M. V. (2007). Enhancement of skin penetration of vitamin K using monoolein-based liquid crystalline systems. *European Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 32, 209–215.
- Loureiro, A., Nogueira, E., Azoia, N. G., Sárria, M. P., Abreu, A. S., Shimanovich, U., Rollett, A., Härmark, J., Hebert, H., Guebitz, G., Bernardes, G. J. L., Preto, A., Gomes, A. C., & Cavaco-Paulo, A. (2015). Size controlled protein nanoemulsions for active targeting of folate receptor positive cells. *Colloids and Surfaces. B, Biointerfaces*, 135, 90–98.
- Love, S. M., Zhang, W., Gordon, E. J., Rao, J., Yang, H., Li, J., Zhang, B., Wang, X., Chen, G., & Zhang, B. (2013). A feasibility study of the intraductal administration of chemotherapy. *Cancer Prevention Research (Philadelphia, Pa.)*, 6, 51–58.
- Lu, B., Xiong, S. B., Yang, H., Yin, X. D., & Chao, R. B. (2006). Solid lipid nanoparticles of mitoxantrone for local injection against breast cancer and its lymph node metastases. *European Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 28, 86–95.
- Luan, X., Yuan, H., Song, Y., Hu, H., Wen, B., He, M., Zhang, H., Li, Y., Li, F., Shu, P., Burnett, J. P., Truchan, N., Palmisano, M., Pai, M. P., Zhou, S., Gao, W., & Sun, D. (2021). Reappraisal of anticancer nanomedicine design criteria in three types of preclinical cancer models for better clinical translation. *Biomaterials*, 275, 120910.
- Łukasiewicz, S., Czeczelewski, M., Forma, A., Baj, J., Sitarz, R., & Stanisławek, A. (2021). Breast cancer-epidemiology, risk factors, classification, prognostic markers, and current treatment strategies-an updated review. *Cancers (Basel)*, 13(17), 4287.
- Mahoney, M. E., Gordon, E. J., Rao, J. Y., Jin, Y., Hylton, N., & Love, S. M. (2013). Intraductal therapy of ductal carcinoma in situ: A presurgery study. *Clinical Breast Cancer*, 13, 280–286.
- Mallick, S., & Choi, J. S. (2014). Liposomes: Versatile and biocompatible nanovesicles for efficient biomolecules delivery. *Journal of Nanoscience and Nanotechnology*, 14, 755–765.
- Manish, M., Lynn, A. M., & Mishra, S. (2020). Cytochrome P450 2C9 polymorphism: Effect of amino acid substitutions on protein flexibility in the presence of tamoxifen. *Computational Biology and Chemistry*, 84, 107166.
- Mantripragada, S. (2002). A lipid based depot (DepoFoam® technology) for sustained release drug delivery. Progress in Lipid Research, 41, 392–406.
- Mattheolabakis, G., Rigas, B., & Constantinides, P. P. (2012). Nanodelivery strategies in cancer chemotherapy: Biological rationale and pharmaceutical perspectives. *Nanomedicine (London, England)*, 7, 1577–1590.
- Mcfarlane, S., Coulter, J. A., Tibbits, P., O'grady, A., Mcfarlane, C., Montgomery, N., Hill, A., Mccarthy, H. O., Young, L. S., Kay, E. W., Isacke, C. M., & Waugh, D. J. J. (2015). CD44 increases the efficiency of distant metastasis of breast cancer. *Oncotarget*, 6, 11465–11476.
- Meng, L., Xia, X., Yang, Y., Ye, J., Dong, W., Ma, P., Jin, Y., & Liu, Y. (2016). Co-encapsulation of paclitaxel and baicalein in nanoemulsions to overcome multidrug resistance via oxidative stress augmentation and P-glycoprotein inhibition. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 513, 8–16.
- Migotto, A., Carvalho, V. F. M., Salata, G. C., Da Silva, F. W. M., Yan, C. Y. I., Ishida, K., Costa-Lotufo, L. V., Steiner, A. A., & Lopes, L. B. (2018). Multifunctional nanoemulsions for intraductal delivery as a new platform for local treatment of breast cancer. *Drug Delivery*, 25, 654–667.
- Miranda, S. E. M., De Alcântara Lemos, J., Fernandes, R. S., De Oliveira Silva, J., Ottoni, F. M., Townsend, D. M., Rubello, D., Alves, R. J., Cassali, G. D., & Ferreira, L. A. M. (2021). Enhanced antitumor efficacy of lapachol-loaded nanoemulsion in breast cancer tumor model. *Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy*, 133, 110936.

- Mo, R., Jiang, T., & Gu, Z. (2014). Recent progress in multidrug delivery to cancer cells by liposomes. *Nanomedicine*, 9, 1117–1120.
- Mojeiko, G., De Brito, M., Salata, G. C., & Lopes, L. B. (2019). Combination of microneedles and microemulsions to increase celecoxib topical delivery for potential application in chemoprevention of breast cancer. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 560, 365–376.
- Mojeiko, G., Passos, J. S., Apolinário, A. C., & Lopes, L. B. (2021). Topical transdermal chemoprevention of breast cancer: Where will nanomedical approaches deliver us? *Nanomedicine* (London, England), 16, 1713–1731.
- Muley, H., Fadó, R., Rodríguez-Rodríguez, R., & Casals, N. (2020). Drug uptake-based chemoresistance in breast cancer treatment. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 177, 113959.
- Murata, S., Kominsky, S. L., Vali, M., Zhang, Z., Garrett-Mayer, E., Korz, D., Huso, D., Baker, S. D., Barber, J., Jaffee, E., Reilly, R. T., & Sukumar, S. (2006). Ductal access for prevention and therapy of mammary tumors. *Cancer Research*, 66, 638–645.
- Musa, M. N., David, S. R., Zulkipli, I. N., Mahadi, A. H., Chakravarthi, S., & Rajabalaya, R. (2017). Development and evaluation of exemestane-loaded lyotropic liquid crystalline gel formulations. *BioImpacts: BI*, 7, 227–239.
- Nakhaei, P., Margiana, R., Bokov, D. O., Abdelbasset, W. K., Jadidi Kouhbanani, M. A., Varma, R. S., Marofi, F., Jarahian, M., & Beheshtkhoo, N. (2021). Liposomes: Structure, biomedical applications, and stability parameters with emphasis on cholesterol. *Frontiers in Bioengineering* and Biotechnology, 9, 705886.
- Nandi, U., Onyesom, I., & Douroumis, D. (2021). Transferrin conjugated Stealth liposomes for sirolimus active targeting in breast cancer. *Journal of Drug Delivery Science and Technology*, 66, 102900.
- Nastiti, C. M. R. R., Ponto, T., Abd, E., Grice, J. E., Benson, H. A. E., & Roberts, M. S. (2017). Topical nano and microemulsions for skin delivery. *Pharmaceutics*, 9(4), 37.
- Nielsen, D., Maare, C., & Skovsgaard, T. (1996). Cellular resistance to anthracyclines. *General Pharmacology: The Vascular System*, 27, 251–255.
- Noble, G. T., Stefanick, J. F., Ashley, J. D., Kiziltepe, T., & Bilgicer, B. (2014). Ligand-targeted liposome design: Challenges and fundamental considerations. *Trends in Biotechnology*, 32, 32–45.
- Nornoo, A. O., & Chow, D. S. L. (2008). Cremophor-free intravenous microemulsions for paclitaxel: II. Stability, in vitro release and pharmacokinetics. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 349, 117–123.
- Nornoo, A. O., Osborne, D. W., & Chow, D. S. L. (2008). Cremophor-free intravenous microemulsions for paclitaxel: I: Formulation, cytotoxicity and hemolysis. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 349, 108–116.
- Nornoo, A. O., Zheng, H., Lopes, L. B., Johnson-Restrepo, B., Kannan, K., & Reed, R. (2009). Oral microemulsions of paclitaxel: In situ and pharmacokinetic studies. *European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics*, 71, 310–317.
- Northfelt, D. W., Martin, F. J., Working, P., Volberding, P. A., Russell, J., Newman, M., Amantea, M. A., & Kaplan, L. D. (1996). Doxorubicin encapsulated in liposomes containing surfacebound polyethylene glycol: Pharmacokinetics, tumor localization, and safety in patients with AIDS-related Kaposi's sarcoma. *Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 36, 55–63.
- Oh, M. H., Kim, J. S., Lee, J. Y., Park, T. G., & Nam, Y. S. (2013). Radio-opaque theranostic nanoemulsions with synergistic anti-cancer activity of paclitaxel and Bcl-2 siRNA. *RSC Advances*, 3, 14642–14651.
- Okugawa, H., Yamamoto, D., Uemura, Y., Sakaida, N., Tanano, A., Tanaka, K., & Kamiyama, Y. (2005). Effect of perductal paclitaxel exposure on the development of MNU-induced mammary carcinoma in female S-D rats. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*, 91, 29–34.
- Ong, J. C.-L., Sun, F., & Chan, E. (2011). Development of stealth liposome coencapsulating doxorubicin and fluoxetine. *Journal of Liposome Research*, 21, 261–271.
- Paliwal, S. R., Paliwal, R., Agrawal, G. P., & Vyas, S. P. (2011). Liposomal nanomedicine for breast cancer therapy. *Nanomedicine*, 6, 1085–1100.

- Pandey, G., Mittapelly, N., Valicherla, G. R., Shukla, R. P., Sharma, S., Banala, V. T., Urandur, S., Jajoriya, A. K., Mitra, K., Mishra, D. P., Gayen, J. R., & Mishra, P. R. (2017). P-gp modulatory acetyl-11-keto-β-boswellic acid based nanoemulsified carrier system for augmented oral chemotherapy of docetaxel. *Colloids and Surfaces. B, Biointerfaces, 155*, 276–286.
- Park, J. W. (2002). Liposome-based drug delivery in breast cancer treatment. Breast Cancer Research, 4, 95.
- Parker, S. E., & Davey, P. G. (1992). Pharmacoeconomics of intravenous drug administration. *PharmacoEconomics*, 1, 103–115.
- Pedro, I. D. R., Almeida, O. P., Martins, H. R., De Alcântara Lemos, J., De Barros, A. L. B., Leite, E. A., & Carneiro, G. (2019). Optimization and in vitro/in vivo performance of paclitaxelloaded nanostructured lipid carriers for breast cancer treatment. *Journal of Drug Delivery Science and Technology*, 54, 101370.
- Pepe, D., Phelps, J., Lewis, K., Dujack, J., Scarlett, K., Jahan, S., Bonnier, E., Milic-Pasetto, T., Hass, M. A., & Lopes, L. B. (2012). Decylglucoside-based microemulsions for cutaneous localization of lycopene and ascorbic acid. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 434, 420–428.
- Place, A. E., Jin Huh, S., & Polyak, K. (2011). The microenvironment in breast cancer progression: Biology and implications for treatment. *Breast Cancer Research*, 13, 227.
- Reddy, B. S., & Banerjee, R. (2005). 17β-estradiol-associated stealth-liposomal delivery of anticancer gene to breast cancer cells. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 44, 6723–6727.
- Rychtarcikova, Z., Lettlova, S., Tomkova, V., Korenkova, V., Langerova, L., Simonova, E., Zjablovskaja, P., Alberich-Jorda, M., Neuzil, J., & Truksa, J. (2017). Tumor-initiating cells of breast and prostate origin show alterations in the expression of genes related to iron metabolism. *Oncotarget*, 8, 6376–6398.
- Sabichi, A. L., Modiano, M. R., Lee, J. J., Peng, Y. M., Xu, M. J., Villar, H., Dalton, W. S., & Lippman, S. M. (2003). Breast tissue accumulation of retinamides in a randomized short-term study of fenretinide. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 9, 2400–2405.
- Salata, G. C., Malagó, I. D., Carvalho Dartora, V. F. M., Marçal Pessoa, A. F., Fantini, M. C. A., Costa, S. K. P., Machado-Neto, J. A., & Lopes, L. B. (2021). Microemulsion for prolonged release of fenretinide in the mammary tissue and prevention of breast cancer development. *Molecular Pharmaceutics*, 18, 3401–3417.
- Sandhu, P. S., Kumar, R., Beg, S., Jain, S., Kushwah, V., Katare, O. P., & Singh, B. (2017). Natural lipids enriched self-nano-emulsifying systems for effective co-delivery of tamoxifen and naringenin: Systematic approach for improved breast cancer therapeutics. *Nanomedicine*, 13, 1703–1713.
- Santos, R. A., Rae, M., Dartora, V. F. M. C., Matos, J. K. R., Camarini, R., & Lopes, L. B. (2020). Bioresponsive nanostructured systems for sustained naltrexone release and treatment of alcohol use disorder: Development and biological evaluation. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 585, 119474.
- Sapra, P., & Allen, T. M. (2003). Ligand-targeted liposomal anticancer drugs. Progress in Lipid Research, 42, 439–462.
- Saraiva, S. M., Gutiérrez-Lovera, C., Martínez-Val, J., Lores, S., Bouzo, B. L., Díez-Villares, S., Alijas, S., Pensado-López, A., Vázquez-Ríos, A. J., Sánchez, L., & De La Fuente, M. (2021). Edelfosine nanoemulsions inhibit tumor growth of triple negative breast cancer in zebrafish xenograft model. *Scientific Reports*, 11, 9873.
- Schlich, M., Musazzi, U. M., Campani, V., Biondi, M., Franzé, S., Lai, F., De Rosa, G., Sinico, C., & Cilurzo, F. (2021). Design and development of topical liposomal formulations in a regulatory perspective. *Drug Delivery and Translational Research*, 12(8), 1811.
- Seo, Y. G., Kim, D. H., Ramasamy, T., Kim, J. H., Marasini, N., Oh, Y. K., Kim, D. W., Kim, J. K., Yong, C. S., Kim, J. O., & Choi, H. G. (2013). Development of docetaxel-loaded solid self-nanoemulsifying drug delivery system (SNEDDS) for enhanced chemotherapeutic effect. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 452, 412–420.
- Shah, S., Dhawan, V., Holm, R., Nagarsenker, M. S., & Perrie, Y. (2020). Liposomes: Advancements and innovation in the manufacturing process. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews*, 154–155, 102–122.

- Sharma, G., Anabousi, S., Ehrhardt, C., & Ravi Kumar, M. N. V. (2006). Liposomes as targeted drug delivery systems in the treatment of breast cancer. *Journal of Drug Targeting*, 14, 301–310.
- Shen, J., Kim, H. C., Wolfram, J., Mu, C., Zhang, W., Liu, H., Xie, Y., Mai, J., Zhang, H., Li, Z., Guevara, M., Mao, Z. W., & Shen, H. (2017). A liposome encapsulated ruthenium polypyridine complex as a theranostic platform for triple-negative breast cancer. *Nano Letters*, 17, 2913–2920.
- Sheridan, C., Kishimoto, H., Fuchs, R. K., Mehrotra, S., Bhat-Nakshatri, P., Turner, C. H., Goulet, R., Badve, S., & Nakshatri, H. (2006). CD44+/CD24- breast cancer cells exhibit enhanced invasive properties: An early step necessary for metastasis. *Breast Cancer Research*, 8, R59.
- Shi, J.-F., Sun, M.-G., Li, X.-Y., Zhao, Y., Ju, R.-J., Mu, L.-M., Yan, Y., Li, X.-T., Zeng, F., & Lu, W.-L. (2015). A combination of targeted sunitinib liposomes and targeted vinorelbine liposomes for treating invasive breast cancer. *Journal of Biomedical Nanotechnology*, 11, 1568–1582.
- Shindelman, J. E., Ortmeyer, A. E., & Sussman, H. H. (1981). Demonstration of the transferrin receptor in human breast cancer tissue. Potential marker for identifying dividing cells. *International Journal of Cancer*, 27, 329–334.
- Singh, A. K., Chaurasiya, A., Awasthi, A., Mishra, G., Asati, D., Khar, R. K., & Mukherjee, R. (2009). Oral bioavailability enhancement of exemestane from self-microemulsifying drug delivery system (SMEDDS). AAPS PharmSciTech, 10, 906–916.
- Singh, Y., Gao, D., Gu, Z., Li, S., Rivera, K. A., Stein, S., Love, S., & Sinko, P. J. (2012). Influence of molecular size on the retention of polymeric nanocarrier diagnostic agents in breast ducts. *Pharmaceutical Research*, 29, 2377–2388.
- Singh, D., Singh, P., Pradhan, A., Srivastava, R., & Sahoo, S. K. (2021a). Reprogramming cancer stem-like cells with nanoforskolin enhances the efficacy of paclitaxel in targeting breast cancer. ACS Applied Bio Materials, 4, 3670–3685.
- Singh, S., Singh, P., Mishra, N., Maurya, P., Singh, N., Nisha, R., & Saraf, S. A. (2021b). Chapter 10: Advanced drug delivery systems in breast cancer. In K. Dua, M. Mehta, T. De Jesus Andreoli Pinto, L. G. Pont, K. A. Williams, & M. J. Rathbone (Eds.), Advanced drug delivery systems in the management of cancer. Academic Press.
- Stearns, V., Mori, T., Jacobs, L. K., Khouri, N. F., Gabrielson, E., Yoshida, T., Kominsky, S. L., Huso, D. L., Jeter, S., Powers, P., Tarpinian, K., Brown, R. J., Lange, J. R., Rudek, M. A., Zhang, Z., Tsangaris, T. N., & Sukumar, S. (2011). Preclinical and clinical evaluation of intraductally administered agents in early breast cancer. *Science Translational Medicine*, *3*, 106ra108.
- Sun, Y., Li, X., Zhang, L., Liu, X., Jiang, B., Long, Z., & Jiang, Y. (2019). Cell permeable NBD peptide-modified liposomes by hyaluronic acid coating for the synergistic targeted therapy of metastatic inflammatory breast cancer. *Molecular Pharmaceutics*, 16, 1140–1155.
- Swarnakar, N. K., Thanki, K., & Jain, S. (2014). Bicontinuous cubic liquid crystalline nanoparticles for oral delivery of doxorubicin: Implications on bioavailability, therapeutic efficacy, and cardiotoxicity. *Pharmaceutical Research*, 31, 1219–1238.
- Symon, Z., Peyser, A., Tzemach, D., Lyass, O., Sucher, E., Shezen, E., & Gabizon, A. (1999). Selective delivery of doxorubicin to patients with breast carcinoma metastases by stealth liposomes. *Cancer*, 86, 72–78.
- Tripathi, S., Kushwah, V., Thanki, K., & Jain, S. (2016). Triple antioxidant SNEDDS formulation with enhanced oral bioavailability: Implication of chemoprevention of breast cancer. *Nanomedicine*, 12, 1431–1443.
- Urandur, S., Banala, V. T., Shukla, R. P., Mittapelly, N., Pandey, G., Kalleti, N., Mitra, K., Rath, S. K., Trivedi, R., & Ramarao, P. (2018). Anisamide-anchored lyotropic nano-liquid crystalline particles with AIE effect: A smart optical beacon for tumor imaging and therapy. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, 10, 12960–12974.
- Wang, F., Li, L., Liu, B., Chen, Z., & Li, C. (2017). Hyaluronic acid decorated pluronic P85 solid lipid nanoparticles as a potential carrier to overcome multidrug resistance in cervical and breast cancer. *Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy*, 86, 595–604.
- Winters, S., Martin, C., Murphy, D., & Shokar, N. K. (2017). Breast cancer epidemiology, prevention, and screening. *Progress in Molecular Biology and Translational Science*, 151, 1–32.

- Wong, M.-Y., & Chiu, G. N. C. (2011). Liposome formulation of co-encapsulated vincristine and quercetin enhanced antitumor activity in a trastuzumab-insensitive breast tumor xenograft model. *Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology, Biology and Medicine*, 7, 834–840.
- Wu, J. (2021). The Enhanced Permeability and Retention (EPR) effect: The significance of the concept and methods to enhance its application. *Journal of Personalized Medicine*, 11(8), 771.
- Yehia, R., Hathout, R. M., Attia, D. A., Elmazar, M. M., & Mortada, N. D. (2017). Anti-tumor efficacy of an integrated methyl dihydrojasmonate transdermal microemulsion system targeting breast cancer cells: In vitro and in vivo studies. *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces*, 155, 512–521.
- Yu, D., Li, W., Zhang, Y., & Zhang, B. (2016). Anti-tumor efficiency of paclitaxel and DNA when co-delivered by pH responsive ligand modified nanocarriers for breast cancer treatment. *Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy*, 83, 1428–1435.
- Zhang, B., Love, S. M., Chen, G., Wang, J., Gao, J., Xu, X., Wang, Z., & Wang, X. (2014). The safety parameters of the study on intraductal cytotoxic agent delivery to the breast before mastectomy. *Chinese Journal of Cancer Research*, 26, 579–587.
- Zhang, L., Wang, Y., Yang, Y., Liu, Y., Ruan, S., Zhang, Q., Tai, X., Chen, J., Xia, T., Qiu, Y., Gao, H., & He, Q. (2015). High tumor penetration of paclitaxel loaded pH sensitive cleavable liposomes by depletion of tumor collagen I in breast cancer. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, 7, 9691–9701.
- Zhang, L., Sheng, D., Wang, D., Yao, Y., Yang, K., Wang, Z., Deng, L., & Chen, Y. (2018). Bioinspired multifunctional melanin-based nanoliposome for photoacoustic/magnetic resonance imaging-guided efficient photothermal ablation of cancer. *Theranostics*, 8, 1591–1606.

Polymeric Nanocarriers in Cancer Theranostics



Vanessa Carla Furtado Mosqueira, Marina Guimaraes Carvalho Machado, and Maria Alice de Oliveira

Abbreviations

AuNPs	Gold nanoparticles
AuNR	Gold nanorod
AuNS	Gold nanospheres
CNT	Carbon nanotubes
Doxo	Doxorubicin
EPR	Enhanced permeability and retention effect
ICG	Indocyanine green
MION	Magnetic iron oxide nanocrystals
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging
NIR	Near-infrared
NIRF	Near-infrared fluorescence
NP	Nanoparticle
PAI	Photoacoustic imaging
PDT	Photodynamic therapy
PEG	Polyethylene glycol
PET	Positron emission tomography
PLA	Poly(<i>D</i> , <i>L</i> -lactide)
PLA-PEG	Poly(<i>D</i> , <i>L</i> -lactide)- <i>block</i> -polyethylene glycol
PLGA	Poly(<i>D</i> , <i>L</i> -lactide- <i>co</i> -glycolide)
PLGA-PEG	Poly(<i>D</i> , <i>L</i> -lactide- <i>co</i> -glycolide)- <i>block</i> -polyethylene glycol
	(PLGA-PEG)
PNP	Polymeric nanoparticle
PTT	Photothermal therapy

V. C. F. Mosqueira $(\boxtimes) \cdot M$. G. C. Machado $\cdot M$. A. de Oliveira

Laboratory of Pharmaceutics and Nanotechnology (LDGNano), School of Pharmacy, Federal University of Ouro Preto, Ouro Preto, Minas Gerais, Brazil e-mail: mosqueira@ufop.edu.br

QDs	Quantum dots
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
SPECT	Single photon emission computed tomography
SPION	Superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles
US	Ultrasound

1 Introduction

One of the major problems of conventional cancer treatment is the lack of specificity of chemotherapeutic agents. When the disease can be at the same time monitored and combined with a more selective chemotherapy, the approach can be called "allin-one" theranostic platforms. Theranostics are based on sophisticated and recent technologies. The monitoring is generally made by in vivo imaging and contributes to improving the efficacy and safety of new developed personalized treatments (Walia & Acharya, 2016). To overcome the main issues of conventional chemotherapy, the search of suitable delivery systems for small molecules, biomolecules, targeting moieties, and probes with high efficacy for the diagnosis and therapy got inspiration from Paul Ehrlich "magic bullet" theory more than a hundred years ago (Strebhardt & Ullrich, 2008). It is an efficient strategy that can lead to early disease detection, targeted treatment, and real-time monitoring therapeutic effect with potential to reduce toxicity in cancer therapy. The theranostic approach includes personalized medicine in clinics, such as bioproducts, molecular imaging, and very frequently a targeting strategy. In general, the best balance between risk and benefit for a wide range of patients is reached (Sharpe et al., 2020). The main applications of theranostics in medicine are the use of non-invasive molecular imaging method to evaluate disease heterogeneity, better monitoring of drug biodistribution and accumulation at a target site, more precise understanding of in situ drug release kinetics (at the target site), and prediction of drug response and associated adverse effects in special cases (Leeds, 1990). The main challenges of the field are to find emission probes, new molecules that can be used as photosensitizers, and imaging modalities associated with targeted medicines to obtain a successful patient outcome.

However, a better molecular understanding of the molecular targets and a better way to optimize the biodistribution and selectivity of the nanoconstructs for the success of theranostics technology are required. To achieve this goal, nanotechnology applied to the biomedical area has developed significantly in recent decades, especially due to its potential to revolutionize the treatment of serious diseases such as cancer and cardiovascular diseases. Nanocarriers decorated with ligands able to target specific cells have been investigated with the advantages of improving the therapeutic efficacy of drugs and drastically reducing, in some cases, toxicity and adverse effects (Nicolas et al., 2013; Banik et al., 2016). Molecular imaging techniques have evolved a lot in recent years. Examples include near-infrared fluorescence (NIRF), positron emission tomography (PET), and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) as diagnostic tools (Zhou et al., 2016). The imaging modality based on the NIR fluorescence is one of the most promising, and it is nowadays intensively investigated,



particularly using the small molecules and nanodevices to increase spatial resolution and targeting properties (Fig. 1). Herein, it will be presented promising preclinical results that have been reported more recently and discussed in the context of their biological applications (Tuguntaev et al., 2022).

2 Nanostructured Carriers and Cancer Treatment

The use of nanotechnology has been extensively studied to obtain improved accumulation of drug concentrations at the tumor site, destroying cancer cells and dramatically decreasing the effect on healthy cells. This has shown potential to revolutionize cancer treatment, tumor detection, and diagnosis (Misra et al., 2010). The physiologic base for the nanostructure accumulation in tumor sites is related to the process of neovascularization in tumors, leading to the rapid and irregular development of new vessels. The newly formed vessels present much larger fenestrations (100-780 nm) when compared to normal vascular endothelium, which contains fenestrations of size between 5 and 10 nm (Hobbs et al., 1998; Maeda et al., 2000). Therefore, nanoparticles with an average size of 200 nm can permeate the larger fenestrations of tumor neo-vessels more easily than the narrow fenestrations of the endothelium of normal tissues (Fig. 2). Furthermore, lymphatic drainage is compromised in these sites, by the lack of lymphatic vessel development near tumors. This mechanism is known as enhanced permeability and retention (EPR) effect (Torchilin, 2011). In some cases, this phenomenon can increase the concentration of drug encapsulated in nanoparticles in tumors by up to 70 times (Liechty & Peppas, 2012).

The EPR phenomenon alters the distribution of nanocarriers to the tumor without necessarily increasing its ability to reach the specific pharmacological target, an



Fig. 2 Schematic representation of physiologic differences in the endothelium of normal and tumor tissues and the strategies of targeting, passive and active, applied in cancer treatment with polymeric nanoparticles used as theranostics

approach called passive targeting (Fig. 2). In contrast, nanoparticles have the potential to accumulate at the tumor site compared to normal tissues via surface modification with ligands in "active targeting" approach and via particle size and other physical properties' optimizations. Therefore, to increase the affinity of nanoparticles for tumor cells and, consequently, increase their internalization, active targeting has been used frequently. In this, the nanoparticles are modified through the insertion of ligands with affinity for specific receptors highly expressed in the target tissue, which are thus able to interact with the target cells through receptor-mediated endocytosis (Fig. 2) (Bertrand et al., 2014). The complexity of cancer requires research to expand our understanding of the interactions of nanomaterials with the tumor microenvironment (Bertrand et al., 2014).

Imaging/diagnosis modalities associated with the use of nanosystems can be useful tools to contribute to the advancement of research in antitumor chemotherapy (Xue et al., 2018). In this complex field of oncology, theranostic strategy has the potential to make the treatment of tumors faster, more efficient, and safer, since the same nanocarrier can detect and kill tumor cells, allowing a non-invasive diagnosis and more accurate therapy. Nanoformulations can be tracked using different imaging modalities so that their targeted accumulation and delivery to the tumor site can be monitored (Fig. 1). Therefore, one of the challenges in this area is the development of nanoparticles with multiple functions (Misra et al., 2010). Imaging after the administration of the nanotheranostic is important to monitor and verify biodistribution and the amount of drug reaching the target site from a pharmacokinetic point of view and also to determine an optimal time for its therapeutic activation (Choi, 2020). Activation of the therapeutic molecule in the specific target tissue improves the therapeutic efficacy of drugs and drastically reduces toxicity and adverse effects on healthy tissue. To activate the therapeutic module of an image-guided nanostructure, different strategies can be applied, such as photothermal and photodynamic activation.

3 Photodynamic (PDT) and Photothermal (PTT) Cancer Therapies

Recently, cancer treatment with photodynamic (PDT) and photothermal (PTT) therapies and photoacoustic imaging (PAI) in diagnosis has emerged (Ai et al., 2016; Walia & Acharya, 2016). Photodynamic therapy consists of the incidence of laser light at the tumor site, activating the molecule of the photosensitizer that transfers energy to the oxygen present in the tumor environment, leading to the formation of singlet oxygen ($^{1}O_{2}$), which is cytotoxic by generating highly reactive radical species that lead to the death of underlying cells (Aires-Fernandes et al., 2022). Photothermal therapy, on the other hand, occurs through the production of heat from the irradiation of a molecule by laser light (Dolmans et al., 2003). Photoacoustic imaging (PAI) offers rich optical contrast and a high depth-to-resolution ratio, revealing anatomical information (Jablonowski et al., 2017; Upputuri & Pramanik, 2020). In all these specific techniques using light-based technologies, the fluorescent probes act also as photosensitizers and can have their photophysical properties modified by association with polymeric nanoparticles. Most of them have been investigated in the biomedical field for cancer treatment.

Phototherapies such as photodynamic (PDT) and photothermal (PTT) associated with delivery systems such as polymeric nanoparticles have shown great potential in the treatment of tumors, since non-toxic molecules are photoactivated by laser illumination at a specific wavelength, making the treatment more site selective. Thus, seeking to increasingly refine research in this area, new strategies based on nanotechnology improved the efficiency of PDT and PTT (Gao et al., 2020). For this, it is necessary to use fluorescent molecules in imaging techniques and with photosensitizing capacity to act in PDT and PTT, with multiple functions.

3.1 Photodynamic Therapy (PDT)

PDT has been considered a minimally invasive modality of cancer treatment, and it is the result of the combination of a chemical substance capable of being photoactivated (called a photosensitizer) with light and oxygen molecules (Fig. 3). The Fig. 3



Fig. 3 In (a) the wavelength range used for imaging of nanotheranostics and depth of light penetration in tissues. In (b) the schematic representation of the two pathways of tumor destruction in photodynamic therapy of cancer using a photosensitizer

summarizes the general mechanisms of PDT. The incidence of a laser, at the appropriate wavelength, at the site of interest after intravenous or topical administration of formulations containing the photosensitizer (PS) causes the transfer of energy from the molecule to the oxygen present in the environment, leading to the formation of singlet oxygen $({}^{1}O_{2})$. Reactive oxygen species (ROS) are produced leading to cell death (Gao et al., 2020). ROS can be produced by two different pathways, but that occur at the same time. In the type I reaction, from the excited state, the photosensitizer can also transfer energy to the biomolecules around it, such as lipids and proteins, leading to the formation of free radicals and anionic radicals from the photosensitizer and the substrate. Electrons interact with oxygen molecules, which leads to the production of ROS (Kwiatkowski et al., 2018). In the type II reaction, the photosensitizer in its excited triplet state $({}^{3}PS^{*})$ reacts with molecular oxygen in triplet ground state (³O₂), in a process called triplet-triplet annihilation. PDT also induces hypoxia in the tumoral region, contributing to cell death. This therapy is considered much less invasive for tumor treatment than that performed by surgery and much more selective than radiotherapy and chemotherapy due to the illumination of the selected tumoral regions (He et al., 2018a).

Photodynamic activation is an important strategy in the development of nanotheranostics since it led to ROS-mediated cytotoxicity and nanoparticulate systems allow the controlled release of photosensitizer and has been associated with an optical imaging modality (Fig. 3a). The in vivo imaging monitoring of biodistribution is due to the fluorescence emission of the photosensitizer or metal-based photoactive nanomaterials, being frequently applied in image-guided delivery (Zhang et al., 2018).

The generation of ROS in the target tissue (tumor) causes damage to tumor cells and blood vessels, triggering cell death by necrosis, if there is strong damage to the cell membrane (Fig. 3). On the other hand, apoptosis preferentially occurs if damage is more related to cell organelles. In addition, activation of innate and adaptive immunity can also be induced, and necrosis can stimulate non-specific immune reactions, thus contributing to an antitumor immune response (Gao et al., 2020).

3.2 Photothermal Therapy (PTT)

PTT is a more recent and promising treatment, based on the use of a photothermal agent that, after absorbing light of a specific wavelength, is excited and dissipates the absorbed energy in the form of heat, inducing an increase in the local temperature. It causes irreversible cell damage by hyperthermia or thermal ablation (Gao et al., 2020). PTT has a simpler action mechanism and does not depend on oxygen to have a cytotoxic effect on the cells (Alsaab et al., 2020). Thus, even if the molecule has a low fluorescence quantum yield and low efficiency in the production of ROS, after laser irradiation, it may still be capable of generating hyperthermia (Gao et al., 2020). Not only fluorescent molecules can be used for photothermal activation; other classes of nanomaterials like gold nanoparticles (AuNPs), gold nanorod (AuNR), hollow gold nanosphere (AuNS), black phosphorus, CuS, and MoS₂ nanosheets are able to produce localized heat through plasmonic photoactivation (Choi, 2020). Another possibility is the photothermal drug release that occurs through pore opening or nanoparticles disassembly.

The general requirements for fluorescent probe use in molecular imaging and in PDT, PTT, and PAI are to present (I) a remarkable contrast effect, i.e., a high signalto-noise ratio under real physiological conditions; (II) pronounced in vivo stability under the effect of enzymes in serum or targeted tissue; (III) fast clearance from healthy organs; and (IV) low cost of production under eco-friendly conditions. Several research groups are exploring the association of fluorescence probe imaging agents with nanoparticles as better contrast agents to overcome current drawbacks that impair the full development of the different bioimaging techniques.

4 Imaging Agents and Techniques in Cancer Theranostics

The combination of diagnosis and treatment has been a trend for clinical application (Tuguntaev et al., 2022). Coupled with advances in the study of tumor treatment, it was also necessary to develop superior imaging modalities. Different types of

imaging techniques have been widely used for tumor detection, such as magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), positron emission tomography (PET), single photon emission computed tomography (SPECT), X-ray, ultrasound (US), and NIR in vivo imaging (Yuan et al., 2013). Although these techniques are widely used and sensitive in some cases, in all of them, there are limitations. Thus, new diagnostic and therapeutic tools are always the subject of intense investigation.

The use of gold nanoparticles (AuNPs), iron oxide nanoparticles (IONP), carbon nanotubes (CNTs), quantum dots (QDs), or mesoporous silica has been intensively investigated. However, they have a limitation of short drug release time (<6 h) and in some approaches require drug covalent attachment to the metal nuclei of the particles (Bagalkot et al., 2007). On the other hand, the acquisition of images using NIR fluorescence through the excitation of fluorophores had extraordinary growth in recent years. This is because many of the photosensitizers used in PDT have fluorescence properties in NIR that allow in vivo imaging (Gao et al., 2020).

Optical imaging is a high sensitivity technique, non-invasive, nonionizing, and based on the detection of low levels of light emitted by specific molecules from the body. Molecules of interest emit light such as bioluminescence and fluorescence that are acquired by special equipment providing optical imaging (Reisch & Klymchenko, 2016). Bioluminescence is based on the identification of specific reactions in the body by light-emitting proteins. Fluorescence uses an external light to activate specific molecules that emit light in another wavelength. Both types have some limitations for their application in vivo, such as small penetration depths, interference of tissue autofluorescence, and light scattering (Fig. 3). Thus, new and more modern probes for optical imaging agents, which present outstanding photophysical properties, have been investigated in order to overcome these limitations (Table 1), though few fluorophores acting as photosensitizers in PDT are approved for human use in photodynamic therapy.

5 Fluorophores as Photosensitizers in Theranostics

The presence of a fluorophore tracer on the theranostic nanoparticles allows monitoring tumor location, disease evolution, and treatment efficiency. The indocyanine green (ICG) molecule was approved for diagnostic application by the US regulatory agency Food and Drug Administration (FDA) more than 50 years ago (Yi et al., 2014). However, some problems which are related to the use of its free form have been reported, such as inadequate optical properties, aggregation problems, and strong adsorption to plasma proteins, which can affect its biodistribution. Furthermore, several attempts were made to carry this molecule into different types of nanoparticles. However, these studies resulted in low encapsulation efficiency or poor stability over time or after injection (Jacquart et al., 2013).

Organic fluorescent dyes have enormous potential for nanotheranostic applications and can be used in fluorescence and photoacoustic imaging techniques and in photodynamic and photothermal therapies. However, most of these dyes have low

CI	Probes (λex/λem)		.	A 11 .1
Cyanines	(nm) Indocyanine green (ICG) (789/814 nm) Cy3 (554/565 nm) Cy5 (651/670 nm) Cy7 (756/779 nm)	Advantages Narrow absorption bands High molar extinction coefficient	Limitations Usually have low photostability Low fluorescence quantum yield in aqueous medium Aggregation in aqueous media	Applications Widely used as active ingredients in semiconductor materials, laser materials, dyes, and biomarkers for nucleic acids and proteins
Modified cyanines	IR783 (633/780 nm) MHI-148 (782/802 nm) IR780 (780/808 nm) IR808	High molar extinction coefficient	High hydrophobicity Low stability in aqueous media	Potential for in vitro and in vivo imaging and rapid detection of kidney tumors Ability to target tumor cells Detects small lesions and metastases
BODIPY and derivatives (boron- dipyrromethene)	Classic BODIPY (505/516 nm) Aza-BODIPY Iodo-substituted aza-BODIPY derivative (AZB-I) (680/720 nm)	High molar extinction coefficient and fluorescence quantum yield Thermal and photochemical stability	Excitation and emission wavelengths outside the NIR region Low tissue penetration Low water solubility Low molar extinction coefficient Small stokes' shifts	Photodynamic therapy Molecular photonic wires
Phthalocyanines and porphyrin derivatives	Zinc phthalocyanine (ZnPc) (674/678 nm) Chloroaluminium phthalocyanine (AICIPc) (610/679 nm) Porfimer sodium (Photofrin®) (500, 540 and 560/615 and 680 nm) Chlorin e6 (400 /665 nm)	High thermal and chemical stability Excellent photophysical properties	High hydrophobicity and low bioavailability	Photosensitizers for photodynamic therapy

 Table 1 Examples of fluorescent probes used for cancer imaging diagnosis and therapy

aqueous solubility. For this reason, these molecules are commonly associated with nanocarriers, such as liposomes and polymeric nanoparticles, which can improve the dispersity of these molecules in water, alter their distribution profile, and protect against degradation. In addition, other molecules can be associated with these carriers, such as drugs and targeting molecules.

Recently, photosensitizers with emission at near-infrared (NIR) region have been exploited in the non-invasive imaging technique and have been shown to be a good option for tumor detection due to its high sensitivity. There is a "biological window," a range of wavelengths from 650 to 1700 nm for tissue imaging (Fig. 3). In the near-infrared (NIR) region (700–900 nm), there are less interference from tissue autofluorescence and deeper penetration of light into the tissue. Therefore, the fluorescence imaging technique allows real-time monitoring of biological samples in vitro and in vivo (Yi et al., 2014).

Penetration depth of NIR light in tissue depends on the NIR wavelength, as shown in Fig. 3. To obtain images by NIRF, it is necessary to use fluorescent probes that absorb in the NIR region with adequate chemical and photophysical properties. The markers usually used for this purpose are divided into two groups, organic and inorganic molecules. However, due to the cytotoxic potential and accumulation of inorganic molecules, organic molecules are more attractive (Luo et al., 2011). These molecules can absorb NIR light at a specific wavelength to reach an excited state. Then part of the energy of the excited state dissipates as light with a longer wavelength, called fluorescence. Therefore, NIR fluorescent molecules can be applied in vivo to monitor tumors using imaging techniques (Yuan et al., 2013). Obviously, theranostic polymeric nanoparticles possess physical limitations with respect to penetration deep of light due to scattering. Other limiting factors are the power of the excitation wavelength source, its distance to the NPs, rapid photobleaching of some fluorophores, self-quenching, the biodistribution of NPs within the body, and the sensitivity of the luminescent detection because of low depth of light penetration in tissue (Frangioni, 2003; He et al., 2018b). In particular, NIRF-based imaging has shown to be very promising, becoming an important technique for the study and monitoring of tumor evolution, therapeutic response, and diagnosis, being applied non-invasively in vivo to preclinical studies in small animals (Kim et al., 2016). Fluorescence imaging in the NIR windows (first NIR-I 700-900 nm and second NIR-II, 1000-1700 nm) offers unique advantages in terms of reduced photon scattering, deep tissue penetration, high signal-to-background ratio, high sensitivity, low scattering light, and low cost of small organic molecules (Frangioni, 2003; Adams et al., 2007; Qian et al., 2012; Yuan et al., 2012; Guo et al., 2014; Diao et al., 2015; Ding et al., 2018; He et al., 2018b; Jiang et al., 2020).

The fluorescent probes have some disadvantages such as low aqueous solubility and rapid elimination from the organism, which can be circumvented by association with polymeric nanocarriers to increase dispersion in biological media, obtaining better photophysical stability (de Paula et al., 2013) and controlled release properties (Alves et al., 2018). Currently, indocyanine green (ICG), methylene blue (MB), and 5-aminolevulinic acid-induced protoporphyrin IX are Food and Drug Administration (FDA)-approved dyes for clinical applications. NIR fluorescence imaging has been used in preclinical and fundamental research studies based on the availability of fluorophores, such as cyanines (Cy5, Cy7, indocyanine green) and methylene blue. The cyanine-based dyes are tunable absorption and emission spectra obtained by varying the chain length of conjugated polymethine that lead to a bathochromic shift of about 100 nm (Dahal et al., 2021).

Table 1 summarizes the PDT photosensitizers with excellent photothermal conversion efficiencies that produce in vivo efficient inhibition of tumor growth with biocompatibility and prominent integrated photoacoustic imaging performance and with a high contrast in living mice at a low systemic injection mass. Encapsulation and covalent attachment of photosensitizers to polymers is a strategy to obtain highly efficient polymeric NIR photothermal agents for high desirable cancer phototheranostic nanoplatforms.

Tetrapyrrole-based compounds are fluorescence probes that have been widely used as agents for photodynamic therapy, such as porphyrins, chlorins, benzochlorins, and phthalocyanines (Zhang et al., 2012). Another class is the borondipyrromethene, known as BODIPYs. They are probes that exhibit very high fluorescence quantum yield, relatively sharp absorption and emission, and high photo- and chemical stability under physiological conditions (Ulrich et al., 2008). However, their low water solubility, relatively low molar extinction coefficient, small Stokes' shifts, and emission limitations in visible to deep red regions restrict their wide range use for NIR imaging applications.

Among the available fluorescent probes with good photophysical properties for PDT and PTT, IR780 iodide, an indocyanine heptamethine with a maximum absorption peak at 780 nm, stands out for its ability to preferentially accumulate in the mitochondria of tumor cells (Zhang et al., 2010; Alves et al., 2018). In an attempt to better elucidate the mechanism by which this occurs, Zhang et al. (2014) demonstrated in a comparative study that the cellular uptake of IR780 was significantly higher in tumor cells than in non-tumor cells, probably mediated by OATP1B, an organic anion transporter peptide (OATP) subtype overexpressed in tumor cells. Furthermore, there was a high degree of co-localization of IR780 and Mito-tracker Red, confirming their targeting to the mitochondria of tumor cells. In photodynamic therapy with IR780, there is an incidence of a laser, usually at 808 nm, at the tumor site after intravenous administration of formulations containing the photosensitizer. This irradiation causes the photosensitizer to transfer energy to the oxygen present in the tumor environment, leading to the formation of singlet oxygen $({}^{1}O_{2})$, which is cytotoxic and leads to the death of cells at the site and surroundings, through the oxidation of proteins, lipids, and DNA (Fig. 3, type II reaction) (Dolmans et al., 2003). IR780 has been used successfully in photodynamic (PDT) and photothermal (PTT) therapies in preclinical investigations for cancer therapy, since after lighting it has the ability to generate reactive oxygen species (ROS) and increase the local temperature (Pais-Silva et al., 2017; Alves et al., 2018). IR780, for example, can be also properly detected by imaging techniques through NIRF. It also allows for ex vivo and in vivo tumor imaging in small animals, investigation of the pharmacokinetics of antitumor drugs, and monitoring of tumor response to treatment over time (Luo et al., 2011).

6 Polymeric Nanoparticles as Nanotheranostics

Despite having promised and distinct optical and physicochemical properties, the use in the biological field of inorganic nanomaterials is limited due to their low biodegradability and the possibility of accumulation of these materials in the body. Thus, organic and biodegradable nanomaterials are considered more appropriate as carriers for the different molecules used in chemotherapy of different diseases and in diagnosis.

Polymeric nanoparticles (PNPs) are particles obtained from polymers that can be obtained from natural sources or produced by synthesis or semi-synthesis. Polymeric nanosystems used in therapy of cancer are generally organized and self-assembled with a nanometric size (10–300 nm) (Banik et al., 2016). PNPs possess high diversity of physicochemical properties and attract great attention as multifunctional nanocarriers in drug delivery systems (El-Say & El-Sawy, 2017).

Depending on the preparation method, drugs can be entrapped, encapsulated, or bound to polymeric NPs. Polymeric NPs are organized as matrix systems, called nanospheres, or vesicular systems, called nanocapsules (Fig. 4). There are also selfaggregated polymers that form micellar systems crosslinked that are closely related to nanoparticles. Nanospheres (NS) are colloidal particles that entrap the drug inside their matrix by physical dispersion, by dissolution of molecules in polymeric matrix, or by adsorption of the actives on the nanoparticle surface. Nanocapsules (NC) are systems consisting of an oily core cavity with an encapsulated drug and polymeric shell surrounding it.



Fig. 4 Schematic representation of polymeric nanoparticles, the nanospheres (matrix systems) and nanocapsules (vesicular systems), and the dual mode of probe association to the nanoparticles

Polyesters such as poly(*D*,*L*-lactide) (PLA) and poly(*D*,*L*-lactide-*co*-glycolide) (PLGA) and their amphiphilic copolymers poly(D,L-lactide)-block-polyethylene glycol (PLA-PEG) and poly(D,L-lactide-co-glycolide)-block-polyethylene glycol (PLGA-PEG) are biocompatible polymers that allow flexibility in the dosage of the associated drug, being easily degraded in the human body to lactic acid and glycolic acid, which is metabolized to pyruvate and enters the Krebs cycle, where it is catabolized to CO₂ and water (Bazile et al., 1995). Nanoparticles (NPs) obtained from these biodegradable polymers have shown to be promising nanocarriers due to their ability to promote a controlled release, dependent on the degradation of its polymer matrix. In addition, PEG confers good physicochemical stability during storage and in biological fluids increasing the applications as drug delivery systems (Fig. 4). PEG also delays the adsorption profile of serum proteins on the surface of polymeric nanoparticles (Mosqueira et al., 2001; Sharma et al., 2015). Recently, an interesting review reported the use of polyesters for medical imaging and theranostic applications (Nottelet et al., 2015). Despite the potential of polymeric nanoparticles containing encapsulated fluorophores for application in imaging techniques using NIRF, few are suitable for in vivo imaging applications.

Table 2 summarizes selected polymeric nanoparticles designed as theranostics evaluated in vivo. The nanocarriers present several advantages such as outstanding properties for guided therapy, imaging monitoring using suitable probes encapsulated or covalently linked, and triggered release of encapsulated cargos for antitumor therapy. Most nanocarriers used in theranostics are built with strategies that comprise a physical interaction of the polymeric network with the NIR probes (Pound-Lana et al., 2019) or the covalent attachment of a probe to the polymeric matrix (de Oliveira et al., 2019; Machado et al., 2020).

7 Inorganic-Based Probes in Polymeric Nanoparticles for Imaging

Nanostructured inorganic-based fluorescent probes such as quantum dots (QDs) (Ag₂S QDs, PbS QDs), rare earth-doped nanoparticles (RENPs), and single-walled carbon nanotubes (SWCNTs) have been developed as alternatives to NIR small-molecule fluorophores for imaging in the NIR-II window. However, the biomedical application of these nanoparticle-based fluorophores, including SWCNTs, is limited due to their dose-dependent toxicity and metabolism (Ema et al., 2016; Jin, 2019). Gold nanoparticles (AuNPs) were used experimentally for non-invasive in vivo Raman monitoring because they show a strong absorbance in the photo-therapeutic window (650–850 nm). Iron oxide-based nanoparticles ensure detection by magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) with lower toxic effects.

Superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles (SPION) have been applied to design theranostic polymeric micelles for targeted cancer therapy and diagnosis using magnetic resonance imaging technique. The effects of SPIO clustering on the

		References	Jiang et al. (2022)	Luque- Michel et al. (2021)	Treekoon et al. (2021)	Seo et al. (2022)	Kim et al. (2021)
	Mainly results in vitro	and in vivo	Enhanced Doxo plasma AUC and half-life	Accumulation of the NP within the turnoral tissue Reduction of turnor growth rate in orthotopic U87 nude mice	49.8% tumor growth inhibition in 4T1 tumor-bearing mice	Improved tumor and lymph node accumulation and signal reduction in vivo (2.7% in tumor; 8.5% in lymph node)	Clear NIRF images for biodistribution Improved tumor drug accumulation Stronger anticancer activity Targeting ability and synergistic effect of the drugs
	Tumor cell	model	I	Glioma cells	4T1 breast cancer cell	MCF-7	4T1
		Physicochemistry	Clustered SPIO affects MR imaging properties	1	660 nm red LED lamp irradiation	Super-low-frequency alternating current magnetic field	1
	Targeting	agent	I	I	I	1	Cyclic (cRGDfK)
		Drug	Doxorubicin (Doxo)	Doxorubicin	I	Paclitaxel	Paclitaxel
,	Imaging	probe	SPION	SPION	Iodo- substituted aza-BODIPY (AZB-I)	1	Sulfo-cyanine 5.5
•		Polymer	PEG-PLA	PLGA	PEG-PCL	Poly(2- oxazoline)- based polymeric micelles	PEG-PLGA
•		Nanosystem	Nanoparticle	Nanoparticle	Nanoparticle	Polymeric micelles	Nanoparticle

 Table 2
 Polymeric nanoparticles investigated as theranostics

References	Xiang et al. (2021)	Zhu et al. (2020)	Cano-Cortes et al. (2020)
Mainly results in vitro	Alteration in mitochondrial energy metabolism, rendering tumor cells more sensitive to phototherapy by blocking ATP synthesis Enhance photoacoustic (PA) image contrast in vivo Alleviate hypoxia and enhance sensitization of tumor cells	Enhance PDT efficacy in subcutaneous HeLa tumors Enhance PDT efficacy toward HeLa cells	NP accumulation in the tumor area Reduction of tumor volume in orthotopic xenotransplant mouse model using TNBC cells
Tumor cell	MDA-MB-231	HeLa	MDA-MB-231
Dhveicochamietrv		1	1
Targeting	agon -	I	CRGDK homing peptide
Druto	Larginine	Catalase (CAT)	Doxorubicin
Imaging	Chlorin-e6	Manganese dioxide (MnO ₂)	Cy7 cyanine
Dolymer	PLGA	Chlorin-e6- modified glycol chitosan (GC)	PLGA
Nanoevetam	Nanoparticle	Polymeric micelles	Nanoparticles

physicochemical and biological properties of polymeric micelles were evaluated using PEG-PLA micelles loaded with SPIO and doxorubicin (DOXO-loaded SPIOmicelles). The SPIO clusters in the micelles hydrophobic core significantly affected the physicochemical, biological and theranostic properties of the DOXO-loaded SPIO-micelles. The presence of SPIO in the micelle core resulted in (1) an increase in micelle size proportionally to the weight rate of SPIO added to the formulation; (2) a reduction of critical micelle concentration (CMC); (3) a reduction of the in vitro dissociation constant of micelles; (4) an increased DOXO loading efficiency; and in (5) a modification of the DOXO release profile, showing a more sustained release profile. In vitro biological analyzes showed that cellular uptake by H1299 non-small cell lung carcinoma cells was reduced with increasing SPIO weight ratio in micelles. However, increasing SPIO concentration in micelles improved the MR sensitivity of the formulation after its uptake by cells. Pharmacokinetic studies showed that polymeric micelles enhanced the area under the curve (AUC) and prolonged Doxo half-life in mice plasma (Jiang et al., 2022). PLGA polymeric nanoparticles loaded with SPION and Doxo (SPION-DOXO PNP) were developed for the theranostics for glioblastoma. Glioblastoma multiforme (GBM) is the most common and aggressive form of glioma, a type of brain tumor, and has a very poor prognosis with an expected survival of around 15 months. Targeting using an external magnetic field resulted in a significant increase in SPION-DOXO PNP accumulation in brain tumor tissue after IV administration in mice, as evidenced by MRI. This increase in the particles concentration in the tumor region resulted in a significant reduction in the rate of tumor growth (Luque-Michel et al., 2021).

The tri-functionalized NPs carrying doxorubicin, near-infrared cyanine tracer (Cy7), and a homing peptide (CRGDK) were designed, which can actively recognize the neuropilin-1 receptor, overexpressed in triple-negative breast cancer. They were evaluated in vitro in human breast cancer model and in vivo using an orthotopic breast cancer xenotransplant mouse model. These NPs accumulated in the tumor area and induced a reduction of tumor volume (Cano-Cortes et al., 2020).

Poly(2-oxazoline)-based polymeric particles loading paclitaxel (>40% w/w) were developed as a novel theranostic system designed to capitalize on the magnetic nanoparticle properties as imaging agents, called NanoFerrogels (Seo et al., 2022). NanoFerrogels improved tumor and lymph node accumulation and signal reduction in vivo (2.7% in tumor; 8.5% in lymph node) compared to clinically approved imaging agent ferumoxytol (FERAHEME®) 24 h after administration, demonstrating that this system has potential as remotely actuated theranostic platform for cancer diagnosis and treatment.

The fluorescent conjugated polymer nanoparticles (CPNs), poly(9,9dioctylfluorene-alt-benzothiadiazole) loaded with octaethylporphyrin, have emerged as advanced polymeric nanoplatforms in biomedical applications by virtue of extraordinary properties including high fluorescence brightness, large absorption coefficients of one and two photons, excellent photostability, and colloidal stability in water and physiological medium. CPNs were synthesized by incorporating a metal oxide magnetic core (5 nm Fe_3O_4 -Ni Fe_2O_4 NP) into their matrix by nanoprecipitation to allow in vivo monitoring of CPNs in glioblastoma-bearing mice using MR imaging and intravital fluorescence, techniques widely used for intracranial tumor evaluation (Arias-Ramos et al., 2021). In the orthotopic glioblastoma model, the nanoparticles' size hinders an effect on intratumorally T2-weighted image signals, without affecting PDT. Other types of polymeric magnetic iron oxide nanocrystals (MIONs) were designed as potent theranostic nanoplatforms due to their photophysical properties with simple and cost-effective nanoengineering through self-assembly, biocompatibility, and attractive near-infrared photothermal properties (Kolokithas-Ntoukas et al., 2021). In vitro studies highlighted a synergy-amplified photothermal effect that significantly reduces the viability of A549 cancer cells upon 808 nm laser irradiation.

Different strategies of O₂-replenishing were used to improve PDT in solid tumors, because sub-physiological hypoxia in tumors is caused by dysregulated tumor vasculature. Furthermore, the intracellular antioxidant glutathione (GSH) can reduce the generated ¹O₂. Nanoparticles composed of catalase (CAT) and manganese dioxide (MnO₂) integrated within chlorin-e6-modified glycol chitosan (GC) were developed as an intelligent multifunctional synergistic nanoplatform (CMGCC) for T_1 -weighted magnetic resonance (MR) imaging-guided with enhanced PDT activity (Zhu et al., 2020). This system could improve the chlorin-e6 accumulation within the tumor region, catalase effectively re-oxygenated the hypoxic tumor via catalyzing endogenous hydrogen peroxide to O₂, and MnO₂ consumed the intracellular GSH while simultaneously producing Mn²⁺ as a contrast agent for T₁-weighted MR imaging. Both in vitro and in vivo experiments demonstrate that this polymeric NP exhibits significantly enhanced PDT efficacy toward HeLa cells and subcutaneous HeLa tumors as a promising synergistic theranostic nanoplatform for cancer therapy. Using the same strategy, PLGA biodegradable polymeric nanoparticles (PLGA NP) in which the outer polymeric layer embeds chlorin-e6 (Ce6) and incorporates L-arginine (L-Arg) and nitric oxide (NO) were developed as a nanotheranostic nanoplatform (Xiang et al., 2021). These NPs accumulated in solid tumors by the enhanced permeability and retention (EPR) effect, locally released L-Arg that is oxidized by the abundant H_2O_2 to produce NO. Furthermore, they reduced hyperactive O₂ metabolism of tumor cells by NO-mediated mitochondrial respiration inhibition raising endogenous O₂ tension to counteract hypoxia. In addition, NO hindered oxidative phosphorylation causing intracellular adenosine triphosphate (ATP) depletion, which inhibited tumor cell proliferation and turning cells more sensitive to PDT under NIR light irradiation. NO-based nanoplatform alleviated hypoxia and sensitized tumor cells to amplify the efficacy of phototherapy guided by photoacoustic imaging (PAI).

8 Polymeric Nanoparticles with Organic Fluorescent Tracers and Photosensitizers

Acid-responsive polymeric metal organic framework nanoparticle has been constructed for co-delivering doxorubicin (Doxo) and phototherapy agent, indocyanine green (ICG), for breast carcinoma theranostics (Zhang et al., 2021). Specifically, the polymeric nanoparticles respond to the acidic microenvironment in cells, delivering drugs into target tumor sites. They effectively accumulated in tumor sites and induced powerful immunogenic cell death effect by combined photochemotherapy using multimodal imaging monitor. These NPs demonstrated to be promising in image-guided synergistic tumor therapy.

An iodo-substituted aza-BODIPY derivative (AZB-I) was encapsulated in poly(ethylene glycol)-*block*-poly(caprolactone) (PEG-b-PCL) nanoparticles (AZB-I@PEG-b-PCL) aiming at the development of a formulation for the theranostic of breast cancer. In addition to being monitored by imaging through near-infrared (NIR) light, in vitro studies showed that the formulation was able to significantly reduce the viability of 4T1 breast tumor cells after irradiation with a 660 nm red LED lamp of time- and dose-dependent manner. The production of ROS by cells after exposure to light was also evidenced. The in vivo PDT efficacy was evaluated in a murine model of orthotopic 4T1 breast cancer. Treatment with AZB-I@PEG-b-PCL associated with irradiation with 660 nm light resulted in an inhibition of tumor growth by 49.8% and a suppression of tumor growth, 3 and 14 days after PDT, respectively (Treekoon et al., 2021).

Wang et al. (2016) studied the effect of IR780 in simultaneous PDT/PTT therapy, as they have a synergistic effect, because the incidence of the laser also leads to the photothermal effect (PTT). In the other study, the generation of ROS by IR780 in albumin nanoparticles was demonstrated by Lian et al. (2017) after laser irradiation at 808 nm in human prostate tumor cells. According to Zhang et al. (2010), IR780 can also be used to visualize breast, cervical, lung, and osteosarcoma tumors in mice, since the fluorescence signals observed in the tumor after intravenous administration were much higher when compared to normal tissues. It was also found that cellular uptake of IR780 was significantly higher in tumor cells than in non-tumor cells, probably mediated by OATP1B3, a subtype of organic anion transporter peptides (OATP) (Zhang et al., 2014). Thus, due to this ability to target tumor cells and the high intensity of fluorescence, when compared to ICG, this fluorescent dye stands out in relation to other clinically approved dyes (Alves et al., 2018). IR780 present poor solubility in biological media, rapid elimination from the organism, low stability in aqueous media, and acute toxicity at high doses (1 mg/kg in mice) as limiting factors for its direct use in the treatment of tumors or in the diagnosis (Jiang et al., 2015).

To solve these physicochemical limitations, several types of nanostructures were proposed in the literature to encapsulate IR780 and improve its properties (examples in Table 3). Alves et al. (2018) published a review about IR780 and its applications when encapsulated in different nanomaterials, such as micelles (Pais-Silva

		Tumor cell	Main effects in vitro and	
Nanostructure	Particle design	model	in vivo	References
Solid lipid nanoparticles	cRGD ligand targeting integrin receptor $\alpha_v\beta_3$	U87MG	Free or encapsulated IR780 showed no toxicity without laser irradiation Reduction of cell viability to 52% after laser irradiation (IR780 at 2.5 mg/L) Greater accumulation of nanoparticles with ligand at the tumor site Fluorescence signal drop after 24 h	Kuang et al. (2017)
Transferrin nanoparticles	Binds to highly expressed transferrin receptor on tumor cells such as breast and prostate	CT26	Increased cellular internalization and tumor targeting Tumor suppression Increased tumor accumulation 48 h after injection	Wang et al. (2016)
Polymeric micelles	PEG-SH linked to IR780 and C13 chains	CT26	It only showed cytotoxicity after laser irradiation Increased tumor accumulation 24 h after injection Total tumor disappearance after 3 days of PDT treatment	Yuan et al. (2015)
Multifunctional nanostructure	IR780 and cRGC linked and loaded the anti-CRC chemotherapeutic agent, 7-ethyl-10- hydroxy- camptothecin (SN38)	DLD-1 CaCO ₂ HCT116	Dose-dependent reduction in cell viability IC_{50} reduction for HCT116 cells Significant tumor growth inhibition	Tsai et al. (2017)
Thermo- and pH-responsive polymeric micelles	Poly(ethylene glycol)-b- poly(acrylamide- co-acrylonitrile- co-vinylimidazole) micelles with IR780 and doxorubicin	4T1	Reduction of cell viability after laser irradiation Strong capacity for inhibiting cell migration after laser irradiation Complete tumor elimination and suppress lung metastasis without any obvious adverse effects	Yang et al. (2018)

 Table 3 Nanostructures containing the IR780 fluorescent probe/photosensitizer

(continued)

		Tumor cell	Main effects in vitro and	
Nanostructure	Particle design	model	in vivo	References
Polymeric micelles	CRGDK ligand targeting and containing perfluorooctyl bromide (PFOB)	MDA-MB-231 MCF-7	Increased cellular internalization Reduction of cell viability only after laser irradiation Increased ROS production after laser irradiation	Zhao et al. (2018)
Polymeric nanoparticles	IR780-conjugated PLA polymer in PEG-PLA nanocapsules	MCF-7 MDA-MB-231	Increased cell death by apoptosis Reduction of cell migration Increased ROS production after laser irradiation	Machado et al. (2020, 2022)
Polymersomes	NO-containing cis-aconitine functionalized copolymer (mPEG- PNTC-CA) polymersomes co-loaded with IR780 and DOX-HCl	MCF-7/R	NIR irradiation accelerated NO release by increasing the microenvironmental temperature Together with NIR-induced PTT/PDT effects on antitumor activity, the formulation presented significantly synergistical roles in cancer therapy on drug-resistant cancer in vivo	Liu et al. (2021)
Polymeric micelles	Amphiphilic FHSV copolymer co-loaded with paclitaxel (PTX) and IR780	S180	The temperature of IR780/ PTX/FHSV micelles (50 µg/mL of IR780) under NIR laser irradiation was increased by nearly 25 °C demonstrating to be effective for PTT and PDT with a large amount of ROS produced The system was efficiently endocytosed in tumor cells via specific receptor- mediated endocytosis Good tumor targeting ability, and effectively ablate tumors, with a synergistic antitumor activity	Yang et al. (2021b)
Nanobubbles (NBs)	IR780 iodide and docetaxel (DTX) co-loaded into the lipid shells of nanobubbles	Mia-Paca2	Cell viability decreased in 71.2% with the increase in the concentration of IR780-NBs-DTX 15 days after treatment, the tumor size gradually decreased for IR780-NBs- DTX and NBs-IR780 IR780-NBs-DTX targeted the tumor site at 1 h after injection via caudal vein	Yang et al. (2021a)

 Table 3 (continued)

et al., 2017), polymeric nanoparticles (Bazylińska et al., 2014), and nanostructured lipid carriers (Li et al., 2016), and even in hydrophobic regions of some proteins such as albumin (Jiang et al., 2015) and transferrin (Wang et al., 2016). Multifunctional nanocarriers have also been developed, where, in addition to IR780, ligands are inserted to increase selectivity for tumor cells, such as the cRGD peptide that directs to integrins present in tumor vessel cells (Kuang et al., 2017) and/or drugs to increase cytotoxicity and improve efficacy in the treatment of tumors such as docetaxel (Lin et al., 2017) and doxorubicin (Yan et al., 2016).

However, in most of the published studies, IR780 is merely physically encapsulated in nanostructures used as theranostic. In the first attempts to covalently bond IR780 to polymers, Yuan et al. (2015) inserted a PEG_{2k} chain through reaction with the chlorine atom of the IR780 molecule, and this structure was able to self-organize in the form of micelles. There was an improvement in the apparent solubility of IR780 and its photothermal properties, and the toxicity was significantly reduced after intravenous administration, in addition to making it more stable against repeated laser irradiation.

In another different approach, to ensure that the fluorescent label IR780 was covalently linked to the nanoparticle, IR780 was conjugated with polylactide (PLA), which was called IR-PLA (de Oliveira et al., 2019). For this, IR780 was derivatized and conjugated (covalently linked) to PLA by means of the one-pot azide-alkyne cycloaddition reaction promoted by cycle stress (SPAAC). Such chemical synthesis was proposed to ensure that when nanoparticles prepared with this modified polymer were applied to in vivo imaging (biodistribution) studies, the nanoparticle and the fluorescent probe will be co-located, ensuring a real tracking of the particles. This covalent attachment prevents IR780 leak from the nanocarrier and provides stable monitoring of the nanostructures in vitro and in vivo. Recently, comparative studies conducted with IR780 physical versus chemical association to nanocarriers in cell culture have shown dramatic differences in distribution profiles and protein association (Machado et al., 2020, 2022). The use of the cyanine heptamethine IR780 as a theranostic agent for breast cancer has been successfully demonstrated by Yue et al. (2013). IR780 was encapsulated in heparin-folic acid conjugate selfassembly nanoparticles (HF-IR780 NP). The presence of folate on the particle surface promoted the targeting to tumor cells that have an overexpressed folate receptor, allowing the accumulation of particles at the tumor site, which was determined by in vivo fluorescence imaging and biodistribution analysis. The increase in temperature at the tumor site, after irradiation with laser light, promoted thermal ablation of the tumor.

9 Concluding Remarks

Nanotheranostics has been widely studied nowadays as a tool for the treatment and diagnosis of different tumor types, such as skin and breast cancer. Polymeric nano-carriers are very flexible and can be designed to target several types of tumors due
to their small size, stability in biological media, and surface versatility. Furthermore, polymers can be conjugated with ligands to provide active recognition of tumor cells or to release drugs upon *stimuli*. Fluorophore conjugation with polymeric nanoparticles plays a major role for the reliable tracking of the nanosystems in biodistribution studies in the field of nanotheranostics. Different alternatives and probes are available. In this sense, several preclinical studies have been conducted with the objective of developing alternative, safe, and economical approaches for the simultaneous therapy and imaging of tumors. The theranostics of cancer in the early stages of the disease is important for the treatment to be more effective, in addition to contributing to a positive prognosis, increasing the patient survival rates (Bhushan et al., 2021).

References

- Adams, K. E., et al. (2007). Comparison of visible and near-infrared wavelength-excitable fluorescent dyes for molecular imaging of cancer. *Journal of Biomedical Optics*, 12(2), 024017. https://doi.org/10.1117/1.2717137
- Ai, X., Mu, J., & Xing, B. (2016). Recent advances of light-mediated theranostics. *Theranostics*, 6(13), 2439–2457. https://doi.org/10.7150/thno.16088
- Aires-Fernandes, M., et al. (2022). Tissue engineering and photodynamic therapy: A new frontier of science for clinical application -an up-to-date review. *Frontiers in Bioengineering and Biotechnology*, 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fbioe.2022.837693
- Alsaab, H. O., et al. (2020). Progress in clinical trials of photodynamic therapy for solid tumors and the role of nanomedicine. *Cancers*, 12(10), 2793. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers12102793
- Alves, C. G., et al. (2018). IR780 based nanomaterials for cancer imaging and photothermal, photodynamic and combinatorial therapies. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 542(1–2), 164–175. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2018.03.020
- Arias-Ramos, N., et al. (2021). Iron oxide incorporated conjugated polymer nanoparticles for simultaneous use in magnetic resonance and fluorescent imaging of brain tumors. *Pharmaceutics*, 13(8), 1258. https://doi.org/10.3390/pharmaceutics13081258
- Bagalkot, V., et al. (2007). Quantum dot-aptamer conjugates for synchronous cancer imaging, therapy, and sensing of drug delivery based on bi-fluorescence resonance energy transfer. *Nano Letters*, 7(10), 3065–3070. https://doi.org/10.1021/nl071546n
- Banik, B. L., Fattahi, P., & Brown, J. L. (2016). Polymeric nanoparticles: The future of nanomedicine. WIREs Nanomedicine and Nanobiotechnology, 8(2), 271–299. https://doi.org/10.1002/ wnan.1364
- Bazile, D., et al. (1995). Stealth Me. PEG-PLA nanoparticles avoid uptake by the mononuclear phagocytes system. *Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 84(4), 493–498. https://doi. org/10.1002/jps.2600840420
- Bazylińska, U., et al. (2014). Polymeric nanocapsules and nanospheres for encapsulation and long sustained release of hydrophobic cyanine-type photosensitizer. *Colloids and Surfaces* A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects, 442, 42–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. colsurfa.2013.02.023
- Bertrand, N., et al. (2014). Cancer nanotechnology: The impact of passive and active targeting in the era of modern cancer biology. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews*, 66, 2–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2013.11.009
- Bhushan, A., Gonsalves, A., & Menon, J. U. (2021). Current state of breast cancer diagnosis, treatment, and theranostics. *Pharmaceutics*, 13(5), 723. https://doi.org/10.3390/ pharmaceutics13050723

- Cano-Cortes, M. V., et al. (2020). A versatile theranostic nanodevice based on an orthogonal bioconjugation strategy for efficient targeted treatment and monitoring of triple negative breast cancer. *Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology, Biology and Medicine, 24*, 102120. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.nano.2019.102120
- Choi, S. (2020). Activation strategies in image-guided nanotherapeutic delivery. Journal of Nanotheranostics, 1(1), 78–104. https://doi.org/10.3390/jnt1010007
- Dahal, D., Ray, P., & Pan, D. (2021). Unlocking the power of optical imaging in the second biological window: Structuring near-infrared II materials from organic molecules to nanoparticles. WIREs Nanomedicine and Nanobiotechnology, 13(6). https://doi.org/10.1002/wnan.1734
- de Oliveira, M. A., et al. (2019). IR780-polymer conjugates for stable near-infrared labeling of biodegradable polyester-based nanocarriers. *European Polymer Journal*, 120(June), 109255. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eurpolymj.2019.109255
- de Paula, C. S., et al. (2013). Chloroaluminium phthalocyanine polymeric nanoparticles as photosensitisers: Photophysical and physicochemical characterisation, release and phototoxicity in vitro. *European Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 49(3), 371–381. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ejps.2013.03.011
- Diao, S., et al. (2015). Fluorescence imaging in vivo at wavelengths beyond 1500 nm. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 54(49), 14758–14762. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201507473
- Ding, F., et al. (2018). Recent advances in near-infrared II fluorophores for multifunctional biomedical imaging. *Chemical Science*, 9(19), 4370–4380. https://doi.org/10.1039/C8SC01153B
- Dolmans, D. E. J. G. J., Fukumura, D., & Jain, R. K. (2003). Photodynamic therapy for cancer. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 3(5), 380–387. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc1071
- El-Say, K. M., & El-Sawy, H. S. (2017). Polymeric nanoparticles: Promising platform for drug delivery. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 528(1–2), 675–691. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijpharm.2017.06.052
- Ema, M., Gamo, M., & Honda, K. (2016). A review of toxicity studies of single-walled carbon nanotubes in laboratory animals. *Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology*, 74, 42–63. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.yrtph.2015.11.015
- Frangioni, J. (2003). In vivo near-infrared fluorescence imaging. Current Opinion in Chemical Biology, 7(5), 626–634. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2003.08.007
- Gao, D., et al. (2020). Multifunctional phototheranostic nanomedicine for cancer imaging and treatment. *Materials Today Bio*, 5, 100035. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mtbio.2019.100035
- Guo, Z., et al. (2014). Recent progress in the development of near-infrared fluorescent probes for bioimaging applications. *Chemical Society Reviews*, 43(1), 16–29. https://doi.org/10.1039/ C3CS60271K
- He, H., et al. (2018a). Selective cancer treatment via photodynamic sensitization of hypoxiaresponsive drug delivery. *Nanoscale*, 10(6), 2856–2865. https://doi.org/10.1039/C7NR07677K
- He, S., et al. (2018b). Crucial breakthrough of second near-infrared biological window fluorophores: Design and synthesis toward multimodal imaging and theranostics. *Chemical Society Reviews*, 47(12), 4258–4278. https://doi.org/10.1039/C8CS00234G
- Hobbs, S. K., et al. (1998). Regulation of transport pathways in tumor vessels: Role of tumor type and microenvironment. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 95(8), 4607–4612. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.95.8.4607
- Jablonowski, L. J., et al. (2017). Shell effects on acoustic performance of a drug-delivery system activated by ultrasound. *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research Part A*, 105(11), 3189–3196. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.a.36165
- Jacquart, A., et al. (2013). LipImage[™] 815: Novel dye-loaded lipid nanoparticles for long-term and sensitive in vivo near-infrared fluorescence imaging. *Journal of Biomedical Optics*, 18(10), 101311. https://doi.org/10.1117/1.JBO.18.10.101311
- Jiang, C., et al. (2015). Hydrophobic IR780 encapsulated in biodegradable human serum albumin nanoparticles for photothermal and photodynamic therapy. *Acta Biomaterialia*, 14, 61–69. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2014.11.041
- Jiang, Y., et al. (2020). Transformable hybrid semiconducting polymer nanozyme for second near-infrared photothermal ferrotherapy. *Nature Communications*, 11(1), 1857. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-15730-x

- Jiang, Y., et al. (2022). Enhanced thermodynamic, pharmacokinetic and theranostic properties of polymeric micelles via hydrophobic core-clustering of superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles. *Biomaterials Research*, 26(1), 8. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40824-022-00255-9
- Jin, T. (2019). Critical review—recent progress in NIR fluorophores emitting over 1000 nm for bioimaging. ECS Journal of Solid State Science and Technology, 8(1), R9–R13. https://doi. org/10.1149/2.0111901jss
- Kim, E.-J., et al. (2016). In vivo fluorescence imaging to assess early therapeutic response to tumor progression in a xenograft cancer model. *Biotechnology and Bioprocess Engineering*, 21(4), 567–572. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12257-016-0251-0
- Kim, K. R., et al. (2021). Theranostic potential of biodegradable polymeric nanoparticles with paclitaxel and curcumin against breast carcinoma. *Biomaterials Science*, 9(10), 3750–3761. https://doi.org/10.1039/D1BM00370D
- Kolokithas-Ntoukas, A., et al. (2021). Condensed clustered iron oxides for ultrahigh photothermal conversion and in vivo multimodal imaging. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, 13(25), 29247–29256. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami.1c00908
- Kuang, Y., et al. (2017). Hydrophobic IR-780 dye encapsulated in cRGD-conjugated solid lipid nanoparticles for NIR imaging-guided photothermal therapy. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, 9(14), 12217–12226. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami.6b16705
- Kwiatkowski, S., et al (2018) Photodynamic therapy mechanisms photosensitizers and combinations. *Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy*, 106, 1098–1107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biopha.2018.07.049
- Leeds, N. E. (1990). The clinical application of radiopharmaceuticals. *Drugs*, 40(5), 713–721. https://doi.org/10.2165/00003495-199040050-00006
- Li, H., et al. (2016). Dual-function nanostructured lipid carriers to deliver IR780 for breast cancer treatment: Anti-metastatic and photothermal anti-tumor therapy. *Acta Biomaterialia*, 53, 399–413. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2017.01.070
- Lian, H., et al. (2017). Self-assembled albumin nanoparticles for combination therapy in prostate cancer. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 12, 7777–7787. https://doi.org/10.2147/ IJN.S144634
- Liechty, W. B., & Peppas, N. A. (2012). Expert opinion: Responsive polymer nanoparticles in cancer therapy. *European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics*, 80(2), 241–246. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2011.08.004
- Lin, T., et al. (2017). Self-assembled tumor-targeting hyaluronic acid nanoparticles for photothermal ablation in orthotopic bladder cancer. Acta Biomaterialia, 53, 427–438. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.actbio.2017.02.021
- Liu, Z., et al. (2021). Inherently nitric oxide containing polymersomes remotely regulated by NIR for improving multi-modal therapy on drug resistant cancer. *Biomaterials*, 277, 121118. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2021.121118
- Luo, S., et al. (2011). A review of NIR dyes in cancer targeting and imaging. *Biomaterials*, 32(29), 7127–7138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2011.06.024
- Luque-Michel, E., Lemaire, L., & Blanco-Prieto, M. J. (2021). SPION and doxorubicin-loaded polymeric nanocarriers for glioblastoma theranostics. *Drug Delivery and Translational Research*, 11(2), 515–523. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13346-020-00880-8
- Machado, M. G. C., et al. (2020). Labeling PLA-PEG nanocarriers with IR780: Physical entrapment versus covalent attachment to polylactide. *Drug Delivery and Translational Research*, 10(6), 1626–1643. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13346-020-00812-6
- Machado, M. G. C., et al. (2022). Photodynamic therapy with the dual-mode association of IR780 to PEG-PLA nanocapsules and the effects on human breast cancer cells. *Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy*, 145, 112464. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2021.112464
- Maeda, H., et al. (2000). Tumor vascular permeability and the EPR effect in macromolecular therapeutics: A review. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 65(1–2), 271–284. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0168-3659(99)00248-5
- Misra, R., Acharya, S., & Sahoo, S. K. (2010). Cancer nanotechnology: Application of nanotechnology in cancer therapy. *Drug Discovery Today*, 15(19–20), 842–850. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.drudis.2010.08.006

- Mosqueira, V. C. F., et al. (2001). Biodistribution of long-circulating PEG-grafted nanocapsules in mice: Effects of PEG chain length and density. *Pharmaceutical Research*, 18(10), 1411–1419. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1012248721523
- Nicolas, J., et al. (2013). Design, functionalization strategies and biomedical applications of targeted biodegradable/biocompatible polymer-based nanocarriers for drug delivery. *Chemical Society Reviews*, 42(3), 1147–1235. https://doi.org/10.1039/C2CS35265F
- Nottelet, B., Darcos, V., & Coudane, J. (2015). Aliphatic polyesters for medical imaging and theranostic applications. *European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics*, 97, 350–370. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2015.06.023
- Pais-Silva, C., de Melo-Diogo, D., & Correia, I. J. (2017). IR780-loaded TPGS-TOS micelles for breast cancer photodynamic therapy. *European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics*, 113, 108–117. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2017.01.002
- Pound-Lana, G. E. N., et al. (2019). Phthalocyanine photosensitizer in polyethylene glycol-blockpoly(lactide-co-benzyl glycidyl ether) nanocarriers: Probing the contribution of aromatic donor-acceptor interactions in polymeric nanospheres. *Materials Science and Engineering: C*, 94(August 2018), 220–233. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msec.2018.09.022
- Qian, G., Gao, J. P., & Wang, Z. Y. (2012). Near-infrared chemiluminescence tunable from 900 nm to 1700 nm from narrow-bandgap compounds and polymers. *Chemical Communications*, 48(51), 6426. https://doi.org/10.1039/c2cc32624h
- Reisch, A., & Klymchenko, A. S. (2016). Fluorescent polymer nanoparticles based on dyes: Seeking brighter tools for bioimaging. *Small*, 12(15), 1968–1992. https://doi.org/10.1002/ smll.201503396
- Seo, Y., et al. (2022). Poly(2-oxazoline)-magnetite NanoFerrogels: Magnetic field responsive theranostic platform for cancer drug delivery and imaging. *Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology, Biology and Medicine, 39*, 102459. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nano.2021.102459
- Sharma, U., Badyal, N., & Gupta, S. (2015). Polymeric nanoparticles drug delivery to brain: A review. International Journal of Pharmacology and Pharmaceutical Sciences, 2(5), 60–69.
- Sharpe, E., et al. (2020). From patent to patient: Analysing access to innovative cancer drugs. Drug Discovery Today, 25(9), 1561–1568. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drudis.2020.01.004
- Strebhardt, K., & Ullrich, A. (2008). Paul Ehrlich's magic bullet concept: 100 years of progress. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 8(6), 473–480. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc2394
- Torchilin, V. (2011). Tumor delivery of macromolecular drugs based on the EPR effect. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews*, 63(3), 131–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2010.03.011
- Treekoon, J., et al. (2021). Aza-BODIPY encapsulated polymeric nanoparticles as an effective nanodelivery system for photodynamic cancer treatment. *Materials Chemistry Frontiers*, 5(5), 2283–2293. https://doi.org/10.1039/D0QM00891E
- Tsai, M.-H., et al. (2017). Photothermal, targeting, theranostic near-infrared nanoagent with SN38 against colorectal cancer for chemothermal therapy. *Molecular Pharmaceutics*, 14(8), 2766–2780. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.molpharmaceut.7b00315
- Tuguntaev, R. G., et al. (2022). Bioimaging guided pharmaceutical evaluations of nanomedicines for clinical translations. *Journal of Nanobiotechnology*, 20(1), 236. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12951-022-01451-4
- Ulrich, G., Ziessel, R., & Harriman, A. (2008). The chemistry of fluorescent bodipy dyes: versatility unsurpassed. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 47(7), 1184–1201. https://doi. org/10.1002/anie.200702070
- Upputuri, P. K., & Pramanik, M. (2020). Recent advances in photoacoustic contrast agents for in vivo imaging. WIREs Nanomedicine and Nanobiotechnology, 12(4). https://doi.org/10.1002/ wnan.1618
- Walia, S., & Acharya, A. (2016). Theragnosis: Nanoparticles as a tool for simultaneous therapy and diagnosis. In *Nanoscale materials in targeted drug delivery, Theragnosis and Tissue Regeneration* (pp. 127–152). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-0818-4_6
- Wang, K., et al. (2016). Self-assembled IR780-loaded transferrin nanoparticles as an imaging, targeting and PDT/PTT agent for cancer therapy. *Scientific Reports*, 6(1), 27421. https://doi. org/10.1038/srep27421

- Xiang, Q., et al. (2021). Increased photodynamic therapy sensitization in tumors using a nitric oxide-based nanoplatform with ATP-production blocking capability. *Theranostics*, 11(4), 1953–1969. https://doi.org/10.7150/thno.52997
- Xue, X., et al. (2018). Trojan Horse nanotheranostics with dual transformability and multifunctionality for highly effective cancer treatment. *Nature Communications*, 9(1), 3653. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41467-018-06093-5
- Yan, F., et al. (2016). NIR-laser-controlled drug release from DOX/IR-780-loaded temperaturesensitive-liposomes for chemo-photothermal synergistic tumor therapy. *Theranostics*, 6(13), 2337–2351. https://doi.org/10.7150/thno.14937
- Yang, Z., et al. (2018). Thermo- and pH-dual responsive polymeric micelles with upper critical solution temperature behavior for photoacoustic imaging-guided synergistic chemo-photothermal therapy against subcutaneous and metastatic breast tumors. *Theranostics*, 8(15), 4097–4115. https://doi.org/10.7150/thno.26195
- Yang, H., et al. (2021a). Preparation of multifunctional nanobubbles and their application in bimodal imaging and targeted combination therapy of early pancreatic cancer. *Scientific Reports*, 11(1), 6254. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-82602-9
- Yang, Y., et al. (2021b). Self-assembled multifunctional polymeric micelles for tumor-specific bioimaging and synergistic chemo-phototherapy of cancer. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 602, 120651. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2021.120651
- Yi, X., et al. (2014). Near-infrared fluorescent probes in cancer imaging and therapy: An emerging field. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 9, 1347. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S60206
- Yuan, L., et al. (2012). A unique approach to development of near-infrared fluorescent sensors for in vivo imaging. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 134(32), 13510–13523. https:// doi.org/10.1021/ja305802v
- Yuan, A., et al. (2013). Application of near-infrared dyes for tumor imaging, photothermal, and photodynamic therapies. *Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 102(1), 6–28. https://doi. org/10.1002/jps.23356
- Yuan, A., et al. (2015). Self-assembled PEG-IR-780-C13 micelle as a targeting, safe and highlyeffective photothermal agent for in vivo imaging and cancer therapy. *Biomaterials*, 51, 184–193. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2015.01.069
- Yue, C., et al. (2013). IR-780 dye loaded tumor targeting theranostic nanoparticles for NIR imaging and photothermal therapy. *Biomaterials*, 34(28), 6853–6861. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biomaterials.2013.05.071
- Zhang, C., et al. (2010). A near-infrared fluorescent heptamethine indocyanine dye with preferential tumor accumulation for in vivo imaging. *Biomaterials*, 31(25), 6612–6617. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2010.05.007
- Zhang, X., et al. (2012). Near-infrared molecular probes for in vivo imaging. In Current protocols in cytometry. Wiley. https://doi.org/10.1002/0471142956.cy1227s60
- Zhang, E., et al. (2014). Mechanistic study of IR-780 dye as a potential tumor targeting and drug delivery agent. *Biomaterials*, 35(2), 771–778. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2013.10.033
- Zhang, H., et al. (2018). Self-assembled minimalist multifunctional theranostic nanoplatform for magnetic resonance imaging-guided tumor photodynamic therapy. ACS Nano, 12(8), 8266–8276. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsnano.8b03529
- Zhang, X., et al. (2021). Acidic microenvironment responsive polymeric MOF-based nanoparticles induce immunogenic cell death for combined cancer therapy. *Journal of Nanobiotechnology*, 19(1), 455. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12951-021-01217-4
- Zhao, C., et al. (2018). Photosensitive nanoparticles combining vascular-independent Intratumor distribution and on-demand oxygen-depot delivery for enhanced cancer photodynamic therapy. *Small*, 14(12), 1703045. https://doi.org/10.1002/smll.201703045
- Zhu, J. et al. (2020) 'Surface-Charge-Switchable Nanoclusters for Magnetic Resonance Imaging-Guided and Glutathione Depletion-Enhanced Photodynamic Therapy', ACS Nano, 14(9), pp. 11225–11237. doi: 10.1021/acsnano.0c03080.
- Zhou, H., et al. (2016). Superstable magnetic nanoparticles in conjugation with near-infrared dye as a multimodal theranostic platform. *ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces*, 8(7), 4424–4433. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami.5b11308

Functionalization of Nanosystems in Cancer Treatment



Marcela Tavares Luiz, Jessyca Aparecida Paes Dutra, Jennifer Thayanne Cavalcante De Araújo, Leonardo Delello Di Filippo, Jonatas Lobato Duarte, and Marlus Chorilli

Abbreviations

¹ H NMR	Proton nuclear magnetic resonance
ACUPA	2-[3-((S)-5-Amino-1-carboxypropyl)ureido)pentanedioic
	acid
ASGP	Asialoglycoprotein
ASGP	Asialoglycoprotein receptors
BBB	Blood-brain barrier
BCA	Bicinchoninic acid
Bio-MOFs	Metal-organic frameworks
CuAAC	Copper-catalyzed azide-alkyne cycloaddition
DCC	Dicyclohexylcarbodiimide
DSPE-PEG200-MAL	1,2-Distearoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphoethanolamine-N-
	[maleimide(polyethylene glycol)-2000]
DSPE-PEG-COOH	1,2-Distearoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphoethanolamine-N-
	[carboxy(polyethylene glycol)-2000]
DUPA	2-[3-(1,3-Dicarboxypropyl)ureido]pentanedioic acid
EDC	1-Ethyl-3-(3-dimethylaminopropyl)carbodiimide
EGFR	Epidermal growth factor receptor
EGFR	Epidermal growth factor receptor
EPR	Enhanced permeability and retention

M. T. Luiz (🖂)

School of Pharmaceutical Sciences of Ribeirao Preto, University of Sao Paulo, Ribeirão Preto, São Paulo, Brazil

J. A. P. Dutra · J. T. C. De Araújo · L. D. Di Filippo · J. L. Duarte · M. Chorilli School of pharmaceutical Sciences, Sao Paulo State University, Araraquara, São Paulo, Brazil

FR	Folate receptor
FTIR	Fourier transform infrared
GA	Glycyrrhetinic acid
GLUT	Glucose transporter
HER1	Human epidermal growth factor receptor 1
HER2	Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2
IC50	Half-maximal inhibitory concentration
LHRH	Luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone
LRP-1	Low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein 1
mAb	Monoclonal antibody
MMP	Matrix metallopeptidase
mPEG-b-PMAGP	Methoxy-poly(ethyleneglycol)-bock-poly(6-O-methacryloyl-
	D-galactopyranose
mPEG-MAL	Methoxypolyethylene glycol maleimide
NGR	Asparagine-glycine-arginine
NHS	N-Hydroxysuccinimide
NLC	Nanostructured lipid carriers
PABA	p-Aminobenzoic acid
PAMAM	Poly(amidoamine)
PEG	Polyethylene glycol
PEI	Polyethylenimine
PLGA	Poly(glycolide-co-lactic acid)
PmAb	Panitumumab
PSMA	Prostate-specific membrane antigen
PXRD	Powder X-ray diffraction
Qdots	Quantum dots
SATA	N-Succinimidyl S-acetylthioacetate
SGLT	Human sodium-glucose transporters
SMCC	Succinimidyl 4-(N-maleimidomethyl)
	cyclohexane-1-carboxylate
SMVT	Sodium-dependent multivitamin transporters
SPAAC	Strain-promoted azide-alkyne cycloaddition
SPDP	N-Succinimidyl 3-(2-pyridyldithio)-propionate
TfR	Transferrin receptor
TKRs	Typical tyrosine kinase receptors
TmAb	Trastuzumab
TOSD	D-α-Tocopheryl succinate dichloromethane
TPGS	D-α-Tocopherol polyethylene glycol 1000 succinate
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
VEGFR	Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor

1 Introduction

In the last decades, researches have been conducted to understand cancer physiology and improve its treatment. However, cancer remains a major public health problem worldwide, with a high rate of incidence and lethality (Yan et al., 2019; Siegel et al., 2021). Despite the great antitumoral potential of chemotherapeutics (e.g., paclitaxel, docetaxel, doxorubicin, epirubicin), they lack specificity to tumoral cells, which results in several systemic side effects during cancer therapy. Moreover, the emergence of multidrug resistance has made treatment increasingly challenging (Nguyen et al., 2021).

To overcome these limitations, nanosystems have been extensively investigated for drug delivery to the tumor microenvironment. In this context, numerous nanostructure systems have been developed (e.g., polymeric nanoparticles, magnetic nanoparticles, liposomes, micelles, solid lipid nanoparticles, gold nanoparticles). They have demonstrated remarkable benefits compared to conventional therapy, including improved solubility and delivery of hydrophobic drugs, facilitated permeation across biological membranes, protection of drugs against degradation, and reduced toxicity of drugs to healthy cells (Yan et al., 2019; Nguyen et al., 2021; Rasool et al., 2022).

Targeting of nanostructures to tumor cells can be achieved by two different mechanisms: passive and active targeting. The passive targeting is based on the enhanced permeability and retention (EPR) effect, in which the fenestrated vessels formed during the process of angiogenesis allow the passive penetration of nanostructures into the tumor microenvironment. In addition, the absence of efficient lymphatic drainage allows nanostructures to remain at the tumor site for longer. Despite the greater accumulation of them at the tumor site, the nanostructures accumulated in the tumor by the EPR effect alone are not able to specifically distinguish between normal and tumor cells (Nguyen et al., 2021). To enhance their selection for tumor cells, the surface of the nanostructures has been modified with the addition of targeting ligands that can be specifically recognized and internalized by receptors overexpressed in the tumor cell, a phenomenon called active targeting (Alshaer et al., 2017).

For this purpose, a wide range of targeting ligands has been extensively studied, such as antibodies, antibodies' fragments, peptides, vitamins, carbohydrates, nucleic acids, and glycoproteins (Kumari et al., 2016). This chapter addresses the main strategies employed to functionalize nanostructures with different targeting ligands. Furthermore, it is illustrated their potential application in the treatment of several cancers.

2 Strategies for Functionalization of Nanostructures

As aforementioned, the surface of nanocarriers can be modified with specific ligands to increase their selectivity and affinity for cancer cells. This functionalization has demonstrated the potential to improve the antitumoral activity of several chemotherapeutic agents, increasing their accumulation in the tumor microenvironment and their uptake in tumoral cells. For this, antibodies, proteins, peptides, and small molecules have shown great potential to target nanocarriers, and, therefore, they are currently the most used targeting ligands (Table 1) (Kumari et al., 2016; Nguyen et al., 2021).

	Surface	Therapeutic		
Nanocarrier	modification	molecule	Effect of functionalization	References
Liposomes	Cetuximab	Magnetic nanoparticles and doxorubicin	Increased cellular uptake and cytotoxicity in breast cancer cells overexpressing EGFR (SKBR-3)	Dorjsuren et al. (2020)
Liposomes	Cetuximab	Docetaxel	Greater cellular uptake in cells overexpressing EGFR (DU-145) than in cells with weak expression of EGFR (PC-3)	Eloy et al. (2020)
Polymeric nanoparticles	Panitumumab	Temozolomide	Greater internalization capacity in U-87 MG cells than unmodified formulation	Banstola et al. (2020)
Nanostructured lipid carriers	Trastuzumab	Docetaxel	Reduced cell viability of HER2-positive cells (BT-474). Higher cellular uptake in BT-474 cells than in MDA-MB-4686 (HER2-negative) cells	Varshosaz et al. (2018)
Polymeric nanoparticles	Trastuzumab	Cisplatin	Selective delivery to HER2-positive cells (SKOV-3). Greater cytotoxicity in SKOV-3 cells than unmodified formulation	Domínguez- Ríos et al. (2019)
Silica nanoparticles	Bevacizumab	Doxorubicin	Increased cellular uptake and bioaccumulation in neuroblastoma tissue	Zhu et al. (2017)
Iron oxide nanoparticles	Anti-VEGF	Doxorubicin	Greater cellular internalization in 4T1 cells than unmodified formulation. Targeted nanoparticles showed tumor regression and increased median survival time	Semkina et al. (2018)

(continued)

	Surface	Therapeutic		
Nanocarrier	modification	molecule	Effect of functionalization	References
Liposomes	Anti-VEGF	Docetaxel	Functionalization increased cellular uptake, cytotoxicity, and apoptotic index when compared to free docetaxel	Jain et al. (2021)
Carbon nanotubes	Anti-PSMA	Paclitaxel	Improved cytotoxicity and cellular uptake in PSMA-positive cells (LNCaP)	Comparetti et al. (2020)
Iron oxide nanoparticles	Anti-PSMA	Docetaxel	Enhanced the cellular uptake by about 25% more than unmodified nanoparticles	Rivero- Buceta et al. (2019)
Copper sulfide nanoparticles	Transferrin	Disulfiram	Targeted nanoparticles suppressed the tumor growth in vivo (inhibition rate of ~85%) and prolonged the survival rate	Lan et al. (2021)
Porous silicon nanoparticles	Transferrin	Doxorubicin	Greater internalization of targeted formulation in TfR-positive cells (U-87 MG and hCMEC/D3 cells) than in cells with weak expression of TfR (HaCaT)	Luo et al. (2019)
Polymeric nanoparticles	Transferrin	Amodiaquine	Greater cytotoxicity in 2D and 3D culture models than unmodified formulation, with reduction of spheroid volumes	Parvathaneni et al. (2021)
Lipid-polymer nanoparticles	RGD peptide	Paclitaxel and cisplatin	Increased cellular uptake in A549 cells and greater inhibition of tumor growth in vivo with low systemic toxicity	Wang et al. (2018)
Liposomes	cRGDfk peptide	Gemcitabine	Tumor targeting in SKOV3 cells in vitro and tumor growth reduction in vivo	Tang et al. (2019)
Lipid-polymer nanoparticles	cRGDfK peptide	Tangeretin and atorvastatin	Greater HT-29 cells tumor accumulation and growth inhibition in vivo, with low systemic toxicity	Bao et al. (2020)

Table 1 (continued)

(continued)

	Surface	Therapeutic		
Nanocarrier	modification	molecule	Effect of functionalization	References
Polymeric nanoparticles	cRGDfk peptide	Raloxifene	Apoptosis induction and angiogenesis inhibition in vitro and breast cancer tumor growth reduction in vivo	Yadav et al. (2020)
Selenium nanoparticles	RGD peptide	Doxorubicin	Suppression of the VEGF-VEGFR2-ERK/ AKT signaling pathway and inhibition of MCF-7 xenograft tumor growth	Fu et al. (2016)
Polymeric nanocapsules	LHRH peptide	Docetaxel and quercetin	Enhanced in vitro cytotoxicity and inhibition of prostate cancer tumor growth (PC-3 cell) in vivo	Shitole et al. (2020)
Polymeric nanoparticles	GE11 peptide	Docetaxel and curcumin	Potentiated in vitro cytotoxicity and in vivo tumor reduction in xenographic tumor model with LCNaP cells	Yan et al. (2017)
Polymeric nanoparticles	Angiopep-2	Doxorubicin	Greater accumulation in brain tissue and increased survival in mice bearing intracranial SU-DHL-2- LUC lymphoma	Shi et al. (2020)
Polymeric nanoparticles	Angiopep-2	Ginsenoside-Rg3	Crossed the blood-brain barrier, potentiated the cytotoxic effect of Rg3 and cell uptake in C6 cells	Su et al. (2020)
Hybrid silica nanoparticles	Folic acid	Paclitaxel and ^{sh} RNA	Greater biocompatibility and increased cell uptake, cytotoxicity, apoptosis, and silencing gene in cells $FR\alpha$ positive	Jia et al. (2021)
Transfersomes	Folic acid	Docetaxel	Increased cellular uptake, target, and cytotoxicity in 2D and 3D culture models using U-87 MG cells	Luiz et al. (2021)
Metal-organic frameworks (bio-MOFs)	Folic acid	Curcumin	Greater cellular internalization in 4T1 cells and receptor-specific targeting	Alves et al. (2021)
"Multi-seed" polymeric liposomes	Biotin- mPEG2000- polypeptide	Asulacrine	Increased targeting in vitro and in vivo (4T1 cells), tumor reduction in xenograft tumor, increased nanosystem clearance out of tumor tissue	Jin et al. (2020)

Table 1 (continued)

(continued)

Nanocarrier	Surface	Therapeutic	Effect of functionalization	References
Polymeric nanoparticles	Biotin and folic acid	Doxorubicin and siRNA ^{IGFIR}	Increased cellular uptake, apoptosis rate, and antitumor activity in vitro decreased cell migration, and reduction in IGF1R protein level in vitro	Li et al. (2019)
PAMAM dendrimers	Glucose	Methotrexate	Increased cytotoxicity and cellular uptake in vitro cells, decreased cytotoxicity in normal cells in vitro	Torres-Pérez et al. (2020)
Liposomes	Glucose and biotin	Paclitaxel	Increased cellular uptake in brain cells in vitro and in vivo model of C6 xenograft cells. Increased crossing of the blood- brain barrier	Liu et al. (2021)
Polymeric nanoparticles	Galactose	Doxorubicin	pH-responsive degradation increased higher internalization and intracellular distribution and higher cytotoxicity in ASGP receptor-positive cells	Sun et al. (2017)
Polymeric nanoparticles	Galactose	Apigenin	Increased time release, increased cellular uptake, apoptosis rate, and cytotoxicity in HepG2 cells. Increased targeting in xenograft mice model, reduced tissue damage and nodules	Ganguly et al. (2021)
Lipid-polymer nanoparticles	Urea- derivative ACUPA acid	Wogonin	Uptake cellular increase, cytotoxicity, and apoptosis rates in PSMA-positive PCa cells	Zhang et al. (2016)
Polymeric nanoparticles	Hyaluronic acid	Cisplatin and doxorubicin	Increased cellular uptake and cytotoxicity in 2D and 3D culture models of CD44 receptor-positive tumor cells (4T1). Increased targeting to tumor tissue in 4T1-xenografted mice with increased cell apoptosis and decreased tumor volume	Yu et al. (2020)

 Table 1 (continued)

Legend: *ASGP* asialoglycoprotein receptor, *EGFR* epidermal growth factor receptor, *HER2* human epidermal growth factor receptor 2, *PSMA* prostate-specific membrane antigen, *TfR* transferrin receptor, *VEGF* vascular endothelial growth factor receptor

It is important to optimize the process of development and functionalization of nanocarriers to ensure the potential of targeting ligands, given that changes in these steps can interfere with their physicochemical features, pharmacokinetic properties, and pharmacological activities. Therefore, it is decisive the selection of an appropriate conjugation method to guarantee that the function and orientation of the targeting moiety are preserved and allow its recognition by the target receptor. In addition, research has demonstrated that ligand density on the surface of nanocarriers can also interfere in their recognition by a receptor on tumor cells (Yao et al., 2016).

Wonder et al. (2018) developed RGD peptide-modified cationic liposomes for delivering DNA for cancer gene therapy. The authors investigated the influence of peptide density (1, 2.5, 5, and 10 mol% peptides) on the total biding and cellular internalization of nanocarriers in prostate cancer cells (PC3). Results indicated an increase in total biding and internalization from 1 to 2.5 mol% peptides. However, both parameters decreased when liposomes with 5 and 10 mol% peptides were analyzed. The authors suggested that high peptide density results in a thicker hydrophilic corona, which made it difficult for the RGD peptide to bind to the $\alpha_v \beta_3$ integrin receptors (Wonder et al., 2018).

Yong et al. (2020) evaluated the influence of orientation and density of antiepidermal growth factor receptor (anti-EGFR) antibodies on quantum dots (Qdots) targeting efficiency. In vitro results indicated that changes in antibody orientation enhanced around eightfold the cell targeting and 10–30% antibody density on Qdots surface gives the optimal cell biding. As observed by the previous study, high antibody density reduced its ability to bind to the specific receptor due to the thicker hydrophilic corona (Yong et al., 2020). Similar results were also observed by Gong et al. (2019) when optimizing the folate density on the surface of polymeric nanoparticles (Gong et al., 2019), demonstrating that there is an optimal molar content of targeting ligands on the surface of nanocarriers to achieve great targeting efficiency to cancer cells.

The functionalization of nanocarriers can occur by several methods, including those that are performed before and after the synthesis of nanoparticles. In presynthesis methods, the targeting ligand previously conjugated to a nanocarrier component (e.g., surfactant, polymer, lipid) is used in the nanocarrier production step. These methods have the advantage that it is not necessary to perform the functionalization synthesis whenever the nanocarrier is produced and the targeting ligand conjugated to the formulation component can be stored and used in various preparations. However, it is important to ensure the correct orientation of the ligand to the outside of the nanocarrier (Kanth et al., 2020). Luiz et al. (2021) produced folatemodified docetaxel-loaded transfersomes using a presynthesis method. The author conjugated folic acid with TPGS (a PEGylated vitamin E) and used it during transfersomes' preparation. As folic acid was linked to the hydrophilic PEG moiety of TPGS, it was preferentially exposed to the outer aqueous side of the transfersomes, which enables a higher cellular internalization and spheroids' permeation than unmodified transfersomes (Luiz et al., 2021). By contrast, postsynthesis methods are those in which the functionalization is carried out after the production of the nanocarrier. Thus, these methods give more control over the surface functionalization of nanocarriers, which makes them the most used (Kanth et al., 2020). In general, these modifications can be achieved via covalent and non-covalent functionalization. In this section, we address the main functionalization techniques that have been used for the production of functionalized nanocarriers.

2.1 Non-covalent Functionalization

Non-covalent functionalization involves the adsorption of the targeting ligand on the surface of the nanocarrier by reversible interactions, including electrostatic interaction, hydrophobic effect, and hydrogen bonds (Fig. 1). The main limitation of these methods is the risk of premature ligand release due to the weak nature of this interaction. However, the surface modification of nanocarriers using non-covalent interactions has the advantage of being a rapid and simple procedure that can be performed in one step without the need to carry out a purification step (Nieto et al., 2020; Osman et al., 2021; Chatterjee & Chanda, 2022).

Zhang et al. (2019) developed docetaxel-loaded polymeric nanoparticles functionalized with trastuzumab for the treatment of human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2)-positive breast cancer. The authors conjugated the antibody via electrostatic interaction with the positive surface charge of the nanoparticles generated by polyethylenimine. In vitro assays indicated that the functionalized formulation increased cytotoxicity in HER2-positive cells, but not in HER2-negative cells. In addition, the cellular uptake of this formulation was dependent on HER2 expression, demonstrating that this functionalization strategy was efficient in actively targeting the nanocarrier to HER2-positive breast cancer cells (Zhang et al., 2019).

Avidin-biotin and streptavidin-biotin complexes have been one of the strongest non-covalent interactions used in the functionalization of nanocarriers. The high specificity and affinity between them enable a robust and stable interaction (Yao et al., 2016). Yong et al. (2020) developed anti-EGFR antibody-modified Qdots via streptavidin-biotin complex. For this purpose, the biotinylated anti-EGFR antibody was incubated overnight with Qdots 655 streptavidin conjugate. Functionalization was confirmed by gel electrophoresis, and its efficiency was demonstrated in in vitro antitumoral assays (Yong et al., 2020).



Fig. 1 Non-covalent interactions of targeting ligands and nanosystems

2.2 Covalent Functionalization

Covalent conjugation has been the most popular method for functionalizing nanocarriers with targeting ligands due to its high stability and fabrication of various modified nanocarriers. Thus, unlike non-covalent interaction, hardly a ligand covalently bound to the surface of nanocarriers will have a premature release (Nieto et al., 2020). The main chemical groups used to bind ligands in nanocarriers include amide, ester, thiol, carbamate, bisulfite, and polycyclic. If these functional groups are not present in nanomaterial composition, they can be introduced prior to the conjugation step. For the functionalization of nanocarriers, several coupling reactions can be used (Molavipordanjani & Hosseinimehr, 2019; Osman et al., 2021). This section addresses the most common covalent strategies used to functionalize nanocarriers, including carbodiimide chemistry, maleimide chemistry, and click chemistry.

2.2.1 Carbodiimide Chemistry

Carbodiimide chemistry is a widely used reaction to bind targeting ligands on the surface of nanocarriers due to its simplicity and high binding stability. Generally, this process is based on the reaction of the activated carboxyl group (-COOH) of nanocarriers with the primary amine group of the targeting ligand, forming an amide bond (Fig. 2). As biomolecules (e.g., peptides and proteins) have several amine groups, it is difficult to predict which one will be linked with the carboxyl group of the nanocarriers. It represents the main drawback of this functionalization process, given that changes in the ligand orientation can interfere with its binding to the tumor cell receptor (Yao et al., 2016; Nieto et al., 2020; Yong et al., 2020).

To carry out this reaction, the carboxyl group must be activated by adding the crosslinking agent (e.g., dicyclohexylcarbodiimide (DCC), 1-ethyl-3-(3-dimethylaminopropyl)carbodiimide (EDC)) to produce O-acylisourea esters, which is a highly reactive group. However, the instability of O-acylisourea esters makes the incorporation of N-hydroxysuccinimide (NHS) necessary to make the reaction semi-stable, avoiding intra- and inter-molecular bonds between the functional group of the targeting ligands. After the activation process, the targeting ligand containing the amine group can be added to finish the functionalization process (Molavipordanjani & Hosseinimehr, 2019; Nieto et al., 2020).



Fig. 2 Schematic representation of nanoparticles' functionalization via carbodiimide chemistry

2.2.2 Maleimide Chemistry

Maleimide chemistry is based on the reaction of the sulfhydryl functional group of targeting ligands with the maleimide group of nanocarriers through a stable thioether linkage (Fig. 3). Since this functional group is not as abundant in targeting ligands as amine groups, fewer variations in the ligand orientation in the nanocarrier are observed. Sulfhydryl group is susceptible to oxidation; thus, they form a disulfide bond in proteins that couple pairs of cysteines, which are responsible for the formation of their ternary and quaternary structure. Thus, the reduction of disulfide bond is required to expose the reactive group before the conjugation process with nanocarriers. For this purpose, the sulfhydryl-addition reagents 2-imonothiolane (Traut's reagent) and N-succinimidyl S-acetylthioacetate (SATA) are commonly used. After sulfhydryl reduction, the targeting ligand is incubated with the nanocarriers containing maleimide crosslinking reagent in their composition, such as NHS-PEG-maleimide, methoxy PEG maleimide (mPEG-MAL), 1. 2-distearoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphoethanolamine-N-[maleimide(polyethylene gly-(DSPE-PEG₂₀₀₀-MAL), col)-2000] succinimidyl 4-(N-maleimidomethyl) cyclohexane-1-carboxylate (SMCC), and sulfosuccinimidyl4-(N-maleimidomethyl) cyclohexane-1-carboxylate (sulfo-SMCC) (Molavipordanjani & Hosseinimehr, 2019; Chatterjee & Chanda, 2022). The main disadvantages of this chemical reaction are the loss of the covalent bond between cysteines, which can destabilize the structure and function of proteins, and the reaction of maleimide with serum proteins, resulting in unstable bioconjugates in vivo (Nieto et al., 2020).

2.2.3 Click Chemistry

The "click chemistry" term was introduced by Kolb et al. (2001) and refers to a group of reactions that are irreversible, simple to perform, with high yields, and with no release of byproducts. In addition, these reactions can be carried out in aqueous conditions and require no or minimal purification steps. Thus, the mild conditions of click chemistry reactions have the advantage of retaining the structural and functional integrity of targeting ligands (Kolb et al., 2001; Alves et al., 2021; Chatterjee & Chanda, 2022).



Fig. 3 Schematic representation of nanoparticles' functionalization via maleimide chemistry



Fig. 4 Schematic representation of nanoparticles' functionalization via click chemistry. Above, CuAAC reaction, and below, SPAAC reaction

The first click chemistry reaction described in the literature was the coppercatalyzed azide-alkyne cycloaddition (CuAAC) reaction (Fig. 4). In this functionalization, the cooper catalyzes the reaction between the azide and alkyne groups, which is previously conjugated with nanocarrier and targeting ligands. The interaction between the azide and alkyne functional groups is more precise than those observed in the abovementioned amine and sulfhydryl group bonds, which eliminates the risk of nonspecific conjugation (Chatterjee & Chanda, 2022). However, the employment of copper as a catalyzer reagent is associated with in vivo toxicity. Thus, to overcome this limitation, copper-free click chemistry was developed by the strain-promoted azide-alkyne cycloaddition (SPAAC) reaction (Fig. 4), in which a cycloalkyne can react with the azide group without adding copper (Molavipordanjani & Hosseinimehr, 2019).

3 Active Targeting Strategies

3.1 Proteins

The use of functionalizing agents of protein nature is one of the first and most extensively studied. Nowadays, proteins have been used to target nanosystems to tumor cells through the specific recognition of overexpressed receptors, including the transferrin receptor, the human epidermal growth factor (EGF) receptor family, and prostate-specific membrane antigen (PSMA) (Biffi et al., 2019). Among the proteins used targeting ligand, monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) stand out due to their high antigen-specific interaction, being an attractive approach for designing cancertargeted nanocarriers. Besides whole mAbs, antibody fragments such as Fab and scFv can be used for constructing targeted nanocarriers. One of the biggest advantages when using monoclonal antibodies is the improvement in drug delivery due to the increased cellular internalization of nanocarriers (Allen, 2002). Thus, the key factors that must be considered when choosing antibodies as functionalizing agents are receptor expression level on tumors, receptor binding affinity, and cellular internalization capacity. One tool that greatly boosted the creation of new binders for active targeting was the mastery of molecular techniques of cloning and purification of proteins, allowing the targeting of different receptors in cancer therapy (Yu et al., 2010; Shargh et al., 2016; Li et al., 2018; Marques et al., 2020; Zhao et al., 2020). However, the use of Abs as a targeting ligand has some imitations, including immunogenicity, high cost, and large ligand size (Allen, 2002; Yu et al., 2010).

The EGF receptor (EGFR/HER1) is a member of the human epidermal receptor family and binds to closely related ligands, including EGF or TGF-a (Fay & Scott, 2011). Activation of HER1/EGFR promotes proliferation, migration, and adhesion of tumor cells. In addition, the activation can enhance angiogenesis and decrease cell apoptosis (Arteaga, 2003). As these mAbs have high affinity and specificity to HER1/EGFR, they have been extensively used to target nanosystems to tumor cells. The main mAbs used for blocking EGFR activation are cetuximab (Erbitux[®]), panitumumab (VectibixTM), necitumumab (TheraCIM[®]), and matuzumab. The most commonly used mAb is cetuximab, which has been conjugated to nanocarriers to promote active targeting to EGFR (Yu et al., 2017).

Dorjsuren et al. (2020) developed cetuximab-modified thermo-sensitive liposomes co-loaded with magnetic nanoparticles and doxorubicin for breast cancer therapy, combining photo-thermal therapy and chemotherapy. The authors covalently conjugated the mAb with the carboxylic group of the lipid DSPE-mPEG-COOH via carbodiimide-mediated reaction. The conjugation efficiency of mAbs in liposomes (50%) was confirmed by the BCA protein assay. The authors performed cytotoxicity and cellular uptake assay using the breast cancer cell lines SKBR-3 (overexpression of EGFR) and MCF-7 (low expression of EGFR). Targeted liposomes improved the cellular uptake in SKBR-3 cells when compared to unmodified liposomes. In addition, the internalization of targeted liposomes was greater in SKBR-3 cells than in MCF-7, indicating the potential of functionalization with cetuximab. The cytotoxicity study has indicated that cytotoxicity of targeted liposomes was higher in SKBR-3 cells than MCF-7 cells. The active targeting of cetuximab-modified liposomes was also confirmed in in vivo tumor-bearing mice model (Dorjsuren et al., 2020).

Eloy et al. (2020) developed docetaxel-loaded immunoliposomes functionalized with cetuximab for the treatment of prostate cancer. The mAbs were covalently conjugated to the lipid 1, 2-distearoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphoethanolamine-N-[maleimide(polyethylene glycol)-2000] (DSPE-PEG₂₀₀₀-MAL) via maleimide-mediated reaction. The efficiency of cetuximab conjugation (~55.3%) was confirmed

using the BCA assay. In vitro studies indicated greater cellular uptake of immunoliposomes when compared to unmodified liposomes in EGFR-overexpressing DU-145 cells. Furthermore, lower internalization of immunoliposomes was observed in PC-3 cells (low expression of EGFR), indicating the important role of functionalization in cellular uptake. Moreover, targeted and non-targeted liposomes had similar cytotoxicity activity in PC-3 cells. However, immunoliposomes were higher cytotoxic in DU-145 cells due to the overexpression of EGFR (Eloy et al., 2020).

Another study conjugated panitumumab (PmAb) in polymeric nanoparticles loaded with temozolomide for glioblastoma multiforme treatment (Banstola et al., 2020). PmAb was conjugated to the surface of PLGA nanoparticles using carbodiimide-mediated reaction, with a conjugation efficiency of 65.5% in the BCA assay. In vitro studies were performed in U-87 MG and LN229 glioma cells. U-87 MG cells exhibited 4.2-fold higher expression of EGFR than LN299 in Western blot assay. PmAb-modified nanoparticles showed greater internalization capacity than unmodified formulation. Furthermore, all formulations showed similar cellular uptake in LN299, demonstrating that functionalization with PmAb can improve internalization due to its recognition by EGFR (Banstola et al., 2020).

Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2/neu) is a member of the EGF receptor family with tyrosine kinase activity. The activation of HER2 by cognate growth factors regulates cell growth, proliferation, and differentiation (Arteaga, 2003; Iqbal & Iqbal, 2014). The most commonly used anti-HER2 mAbs are trastuzumab and pertuzumab, which have been used as functionalizing agents in nanosystems due to their high specificity to HER2 overexpressed in tumor cells (Yu et al., 2017).

Varshosaz et al. (2018) functionalized nanostructured lipid carriers (NLC) with trastuzumab (TmAb) to selectively deliver docetaxel to HER2-positive breast cancer. The authors used non-covalent (physical adsorption) and covalent (maleimide-mediated reaction) methods for functionalizing NLC. The conjugation efficiency was assessed by the Bradford method. The physical method showed significantly higher coupling efficiency than the covalent method. TmAb physically adsorbed in NLC showed lower viability in B-474 cells (HER2-positive cells) than unmodified formulation and free docetaxel. However, TmAb chemically bound to NLC showed the greatest reduction in cell viability. Furthermore, cellular uptake indicated that functionalized formulation had more internalization in BT-474 cells than in MDA-MB-468 cells, which demonstrated the selectivity of the developed formulation for HER2-positive tumor cells (Varshosaz et al., 2018).

Domínguez-Ríos et al. (2019) have also functionalized chitosan-coated PLGA polymeric nanoparticles with trastuzumab for cisplatin delivery for ovarian cancer therapy. Nanoparticles were functionalized using trastuzumab via carbodiimide chemistry conjugation. Fluorescence spectrophotometry was used to determine the conjugation efficiency of TmAb in nanoparticles' surface, and the results demonstrated that, on average, each nanoparticle was coated with 6.5 TmAb. Functionalized nanoparticles strongly reduced cell viability in SKOV-3 cells (HER2 positive) than unmodified formulations. Furthermore, no significant difference was observed for

targeted and non-targeted nanoparticles in HCC70 cells (HER2 negative). In addition, TmAb-modified nanoparticles showed greater internalization in SKOV-3 cells than in HCC70 cells, indicating the selectivity of targeted nanoparticles (Domínguez-Ríos et al., 2019).

Vascular endothelial growth factor receptors (VEGFRs) are typical tyrosine kinase receptors (TKRs) (Shibuya, 2011). The specific bind of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) to VEGFRs stimulates the process of angiogenesis by promoting the proliferation of endothelial cells, enhancing the permeability of vessels, and recruiting vascular precursor cells (Yang et al., 2018). Two FDA-approved anti-VEGF antibodies are commonly used as targeting agents in nanocarriers, bevacizumab (Avastin[®]) and ranibizumab (Lucentis[®]). Another anti-VEGFR mAb currently available is the ramucirumab (Gao & Yang, 2020).

Zhu et al. (2017) proposed the use of VEGF-targeted inorganic composites based on SiO₂ (SiO₂@LDH) to deliver doxorubicin for anti-neuroblastoma treatment. Bevacizumab was covalently conjugated to SiO₂@LDH via carbodiimide-mediated reaction. According to the BCA assay, 4.59 μ g of antibody produced 1 mg of targeted SiO₂@LDH. In vitro and in vivo experiments demonstrate that functionalization using bevacizumab was mandatory to achieve higher cellular uptake rates and bioaccumulation in neuroblastoma tissue due to active VEGF targeting. The formulation also exhibited an anti-angiogenic effect both in vitro and in vivo. Another advantage related to active targeting and accumulation of neuroblastoma tissue is the decrease in hepatic toxicity of doxorubicin (Zhu et al., 2017).

Semkina et al. (2018) conjugated anti-VEGF antibodies with bovine serum albumin-coated PEGylated iron oxide nanoparticles for promoting active targeting of nanoparticles to breast cancer theragnostic. Anti-VEGF was conjugated with nanoparticles via carbodiimide-mediated reaction. After the synthesis process, the unreacted antibodies were separated by gel permeation chromatography, and the effective binding of the antibodies to the nanoparticles was confirmed by ELISA assay. The flow cytometry data showed that targeted nanoparticles had the highest accumulation in 4 T1 cells (15.5%) than unmodified nanoparticles (5.2%), facilitating doxorubicin delivery to tumor cells. In vivo mice model showed tumor regression and 50% increased median survival time compared to non-targeted groups (Semkina et al., 2018).

Jain et al. (2021) also tested an alternative for breast cancer treatment, based on anti-VEGF-modified pH-responsive liposomes for docetaxel delivery. The VEGF mAb was linked onto liposomes' surface using carbodiimide chemistry and the linker 1, 2-distearoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphoethanolamine-N-[carboxy (polyethylene glycol)-2000] (DSPE-PEG-COOH). The functionalization increased cellular uptake (~3.17-fold), cytotoxicity (~5.78-fold), and apoptotic index (1.70-fold) when compared to free docetaxel. In addition, targeted nanoparticles showed lower IC₅₀ (IC₅₀ = 1.25 µg/ml) and greater cellular uptake than unmodified formulation (IC₅₀ = 3.84 µg/ml). The anti-angiogenic potential was confirmed by the inhibition of human vascular endothelial cell proliferation in vitro. In vivo rat tumor model was used to assess the anti-tumor efficacy of immunoliposomes; data have shown a significant 35% reduction in tumor extension compared to Taxotere[®] (Jain et al., 2021). Prostate-specific membrane antigen (PSMA) is a type II membrane protein with folate hydrolase activity produced by the prostatic epithelium (Niaz et al., 2020). PSMA possesses as substrates poly- γ -glutamated folates, which are essential nutrients, and *N*-acetylaspartylglutamate (Bühler et al., 2009). In prostate cancer cells, PSMA is upregulated and migrates to the cell plasm membrane during the transition to androgen independence, usually associated with high-grade and metastatic progression (Kiess et al., 2015). PSMA antibodies have been used as functionalized agents in drug delivery systems (Sun et al., 2021), with antibody-drug conjugates being a very promising strategy for clinical investigation of anticancer medicines. The prostate-specific membrane antigen (PSMA, also known as folate hydrolase-1) has been widely studied as a functionalization agent (Niaz et al., 2020).

Comparetti et al. (2020) developed multiple-walled carbon nanotubes functionalized with anti-PSMA mAb for the delivery of paclitaxel against prostate cancer. Anti-PSMA was bound to the surface of carbon nanotubes through a carbodiimidemediated reaction. In vitro cytotoxicity assay indicated that both prostate cells (PSMA positive) and colorectal cancer cells (PSMA negative) were more susceptible to targeted and non-targeted carbon nanotubes than free paclitaxel. However, the functionalization of nanotubes with anti-PSMA improved the toxicity in PSMApositive cells (LNCaP), indicating the selectivity of the developed formulation by PSMA. Also, the use of anti-PSMA antibodies improved carbon nanotubes' uptake and interaction on the cell surface (Comparetti et al., 2020).

Rivero-Buceta et al. (2019) developed docetaxel-loaded superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles conjugated to anti-PSMA using carbodiimide chemistry. The amount of conjugated anti-PSA in nanoparticles (11 μ g per mg of nanoparticles) was quantified by the Bradford protein assay. The targeted formulation presented greater cellular uptake in PSMA-positive cells (95%) compared to PSMA-negative prostate cancer cells (70%). Furthermore, the conjugation of anti-PSMA to nanoparticles improved the cytotoxicity effect in LNCaP cells (PSMA positive) 2- and 16-fold more than unmodified formulation and free docetaxel (Rivero-Buceta et al., 2019).

Liposomes co-loaded with genistein and plumbagin were functionalized with anti-PSMA by maleimide chemistry for prostate cancer therapy. The authors investigated the influence of anti-PSMA functionalization through the in vitro cellular uptake assay using PSMA-positive cells (LNCaP) and PSMA-negative cells (PC3). Results indicated that targeted liposomes enhanced the internalization in LNCaP when compared with the unmodified formulation. In addition, its uptake in PC3 cells was less expressive than LNCaP cells, suggesting that targeted liposomes were internalized preferentially through the receptor-mediated process (Tian et al., 2021). A similar improvement in uptake in PSMA-positive cells was found in functionalized hybrid nanoparticles carrying enzalutamide (Thangavel et al., 2018).

The transferrin receptor (TfR, CD71) is a type II transmembrane glycoprotein composed of two disulfide-linked subunits. It is involved in the transport of iron, the essential micronutrient used in the activation of oxygen transport, energy production, cell growth, and DNA synthesis (Daniels et al., 2012). It is overexpressed in cancer cells with higher metastatic potential and aggressive development (Li et al., 2019). The overexpression of TfR in cancer cells has been demonstrated to be an

important tool to target nanosystems to cancer cells (Daniels et al., 2012; Tortorella & Karagiannis, 2014).

Lan et al. (2021) functionalized disulfiram-loaded copper sulfide nanoparticles with transferrin for glioma treatment, given that TfR is overexpressed in the bloodbrain barrier and tumor cells. For this purpose, transferrin was non-covalently functionalized to nanoparticles through electrostatic interactions. The cellular uptake behavior of targeted and non-targeted nanoparticles was explored using C6 (TfRpositive) and HUVEC (weak TfR expression) cells. Targeted nanoparticles showed high accumulation in C6 cells in comparison with unmodified formulations. Furthermore, less internalization of targeted nanoparticles was observed in HUVEC cells. These findings suggested that targeted nanoparticles were preferably internalized by the TfR-mediated process. In vivo studies indicated that targeted nanoparticles suppressed the tumor growth (inhibition rate of ~85%) and prolonged the survival rate (Lan et al., 2021).

Another study has also used transferrin to functionalize porous silicon nanoparticles loaded with doxorubicin for glioblastoma multiforme treatment. The transferrin was covalently bonded to nanoparticles via carbodiimide chemistry. The functionalization was confirmed by infrared spectroscopy by the appearance of peaks at 1657 and 1455 cm⁻¹. The selectivity of cell targeting by transferrinmodified nanoparticles was assessed through the fluorescence intensity in the microplate reader and laser scanning confocal microscopy. All analyses indicated greater internalization of targeted formulation in TfR-positive cells (U-87 MG and hCMEC/D3 cells) than in cells with weak expression of TfR (HaCaT). Furthermore, in vitro BBB models using hCMEC/D3 cells in Transwell inserts indicated that targeted nanoparticles were able to cross the BBB and efficiently deliver doxorubicin to U-87 MG cells (Luo et al., 2019).

Parvathaneni et al. produced transferrin-modified polymeric nanoparticles loaded with amodiaquine for non-small cell lung cancer treatment. Transferrin was bonded to PLGA via carbodiimide chemistry. The conjugation efficiency was assessed by the fluorescence intensity of transferrin, which indicated 90–95% transferrin conjugation efficiency. The transferrin-modified formulation showed greater targeting capability in A549 and H1299 cells than unmodified formulations after 3 and 24 h of incubation. In vitro cytotoxicity assay indicated higher toxicity of targeted nanoparticles in two-dimensional and three-dimensional culture models when compared with free drug and unmodified nanoparticles, with a significant reduction of spheroid volumes (1.9, 11.9, and 13.6 mm³, respectively). These findings demonstrated the potential of transferrin functionalization for the active targeting of nanoparticles to tumor cells (Parvathaneni et al., 2021; Luo et al., 2019).

3.2 Peptides

The surface modification of organic and inorganic molecules with peptides is an excellent strategy for promoting the active targeting of drugs to different types of cancers. These ligands can be easily synthesized and show good stability, specific

recognition of target receptors, non-immunogenicity, and low toxicity. However, its use has some limitations, such as the susceptibility to be cleaved by proteases in vivo, rapid clearance, and high manufacturing cost (Marqus et al., 2017; Sun et al., 2018). Among the different peptides explored in targeting drug delivery nanosystems, this chapter will exemplify the RGD, angiopep-2, GE11, and LHRH peptides, which are the most used (Yan et al., 2017; Wang et al., 2018; Zhang et al., 2018; Tang et al., 2019; Bao et al., 2020; Shitole et al., 2020; Yadav et al., 2020).

RGD is a tripeptide containing arginine (Arg), glycine (Gly), and aspartic acid (Asp). RGD peptide can present linear and cyclic structures (e.g., cycle Arg-Gly-Asp-D-Phe-Lys) (cRGDfK), cycle(Arg-Gly-Asp-D-Phe-Cys) (cRGDfC), and cycle(Arg-Gly-Asp-D-Tyr-Lys (cRGDyK)), in which the cyclic structures show greater conformational stability than the linear (Vhora et al., 2015). These peptides of RGD are widely exploited due to their specificity and selectivity for binding to integrin receptors ($\alpha \nu \beta 3$) overexpressed in the tumor cells and vasculature (Yadav et al., 2020).

Chitosan nanoparticles loaded with raloxifene were functionalized with cRGDfK peptide to selectively target breast cancer cells overexpressing integrin receptors. The peptide was conjugated with the chitosan through the thiolation reaction using the heterobifunctional crosslinker N-succinimidyl 3-(2-pyridyldithio)-propionate (SPDP) before the development of nanoparticles. The covalent bond of RGD with the amine group of chitosan was confirmed by the FTIR spectrum, demonstrating peak reduction in the NH region of chitosan (from 1539 to 1532 cm⁻¹). Increased cellular uptake was observed in cancer cell lines (4T1 and MDA-MB-231 cells) that express $\alpha\nu\beta3$ receptor, followed by a reduction in cellular viability (<20%) and induction of apoptosis. The functionalized formulation inhibited cell migration, cell proliferation, and angiogenesis by the dysregulation of p-Akt and reduced expression of c-Fos, MMP, and VEGF. In addition, in vivo studies with a 4T1 xenograft model indicated a significant reduction in the tumor volume (Yadav et al., 2020).

Hybrid nanosystems composed of lipid and polymer were co-loaded with tangeretin and atorvastatin and functionalized with cRGDfK peptide to target colon cancer cells. To functionalize the nanosystems, PEG was conjugated with D- α tocopheryl succinate dichloromethane (TOSD) and used as a linker to obtain the cRGDfK-PEG-TOSD; the reactions were obtained via carbodiimide chemistry. The synthesis was confirmed by ¹H NMR spectroscopy (signal at δ 8.02 ppm corresponding to NH of the amine linkage) and the reaction product used during the production of the nanosystems. The functionalized nanosystem showed pronounced concentration-dependent cytotoxicity in HT-29 cells. In the in vivo model of colon cancer xenograft, the developed formulation demonstrated greater targeting ability to tumor tissue and inhibition of tumor growth (76.8%) when compared to nonfunctionalized nanosystems (57.3%) and free drugs (22.2%), demonstrating the potential of functionalization with cRGDfK peptide (Bao et al., 2020).

Tang et al. (2019) produced liposomes functionalized with cRGDfK for delivering gencitabine to ovarian cancer cells. The authors used cRGDfK previously synthesized with the lipid DSPE-PEG₃₅₀₀-maleimide through a maleimide reaction. The efficiency of the reaction was confirmed by the molecular mass of 5146 Da observed by time-of-flight electrospray mass spectrometry (TOF/MS/ES+). Then, the cRGDfK-PEG₃₅₀₀-DSPE was used during the development of gemcitabine-loaded liposomes. Functionalized liposomes showed increased cellular uptake and cytotoxicity, with a significant upregulation of pro-apoptotic proteins (BAX) and down-regulation of anti-apoptotic protein (BCL-2) in ovarian cancer cells (SKOV3 cells). Furthermore, in vivo studies indicated an increased accumulation of functionalized liposomes in the SKOV3 xenograft tumor, evidencing their targeting ability to cancer cells. Moreover, this formulation reduced the tumor volume by about 3.5-fold more when compared to the unmodified liposomes (Tang et al., 2019).

Wang et al. (2018) performed two carbodiimide-mediated reactions to produce paclitaxel-PEG-RGD molecule (RGD-ss-PTX) for functionalizing lipid-polymer nanoparticles to specific targets specifically the lung cancer cells. The synthesis of the RGD-ss-PTX complex was confirmed by ¹H NMR spectroscopy (signal near to 8.0 ppm of the NH of the amine linkage). The RGD-ss-PTX complex was combined with cisplatin during the development of lipid-polymer nanoparticles (RGD-ss-PTX/CDDP LPN) by emulsification and sonication technique. RGD-ss-PTX/CDDP LPN had a greater cytotoxicity effect (IC₅₀ of 26.7 µg/ml) on A549 cells when compared to free drugs (IC₅₀ of 75.3 µg/ml). In addition, in vivo studies indicated high accumulation of functionalized nanoparticles in the tumor than in normal tissues and a reduction of tumor volume from 1486 to 263 mm³. Therefore, the results indicated the potential of the formulation to target tumor cells (Wang et al., 2018).

Selenium nanoparticles loaded with doxorubicin were also functionalized with RGD peptide (RGD-NP) to target specifically the tumor vasculature. The peptide was conjugated with chitosan using a 3-maleimide propionic acid-N-hydroxysuccinimide ester. The covalent binding of RGD-NP was characterized by UV-VIS spectroscopy, with the absorbance peak of RGD at 562 nm, and Fourier transform infrared (FTIR) spectroscopy, with signals of the amine band from RGD at 1540.8 and 1465.5 cm⁻¹. In vitro and in vivo studies indicated the ability of RGD-NPs to inhibit cell migration and angiogenesis by suppressing the VEGF-VEGFR2-ERK/AKT signaling pathway. In addition, in an in vivo xenograft model of MCF-7 cells, RGD-NPs inhibited the tumor growth and angiogenesis in a dose-dependent manner when the treatments with 2.5, 5, and 7.5 mg/kg were investigated (Fu et al., 2016).

The asparagine-glycine-arginine (NGR) is a peptide that can specifically bind to CD13 receptors, which is highly expressed on the endothelial cells of tumor angiogenic vessels. Gu et al. (2017) functionalized docetaxel-loaded pH-sensitive liposomes with NGR to promote specific targeting to solid tumors. For this purpose, the NGR peptide was covalently conjugated with CHEMS-mPEG₂₀₀₀-COOH by a carbodiimide-mediated reaction and characterized using ¹H NMR. In vitro assays showed that NGR-modified liposomes have greater cytotoxicity and cellular uptake effect on HT-1080 cells when compared to free docetaxel and unmodified liposomes. Furthermore, in vivo studies have indicated the antitumoral potential of NGR-modified liposomes, with a significantly greater reduction in tumor volume compared to free docetaxel and unmodified liposomes. The results suggest that the functionalization of liposomes with NGR peptide is an interesting strategy to improve the active targeting of docetaxel to solid tumors (Gu et al., 2017). Lyp-1 is a cyclic peptide that can be specifically recognized by p32/gC1q-R/HABP1 receptor overexpressed on the tumor cells. In addition, this peptide can penetrate tumor tissue. Zhang et al. (2020) developed LYP-1-modified fibroin-based nanoparticles to target quercetin to lung metastasis of breast cancer. The authors covalently conjugated the LyP-1 to nanoparticles using a carbodiimide-mediated reaction, with a conjugation amount of 36.2 µg of Lyp-1 per mg of nanoparticles. Lyp-1-modified nanoparticles showed 1.8-fold higher internalization in 4T1 cells than unmodified nanoparticles after 1 h of incubation. Furthermore, the functionalized formulation significantly reduced the IC₅₀ values 2.2 and 3.0 times lower than those obtained by unmodified formulation and free quercetin. The great potential of the functionalization of nanoparticles with Lyp-1 was confirmed in in vivo studies, with a reduction in tumor growth and lung metastasis (Zhang et al., 2020).

Angiopep-2 (TFFYGGSRGKRNNFKTEEYC) is a peptide that binds to lowdensity lipoprotein receptor-related protein 1 (LRP-1) overexpressed in the bloodbrain barrier (BBB) and brain tumors, being an excellent targeting ligand capable of crossing the BBB and reaching the tumor cells (Shi et al., 2020; Su et al., 2020). Su et al. (2020) covalently conjugated Angiopep-2 to PCL-PEG-maleimide via maleimide-thiol reaction for active targeting ginsenoside-Rg3 to glioma. The synthesis was performed after nanoparticle production and characterized using a BCA protein quantification kit. Angiopep-2-modified nanoparticles (Ang-Rg3-NP) showed 39.5% conjugation efficiency by the BCA quantification method. Ang-Rg3-NP improved the cellular uptake and cytotoxicity in C6 glioma, reducing the IC₅₀ from 434 μ g/ml (unmodified nanoparticles) to 348 μ g/ml. Furthermore, Ang-Rg3-NP overcame the BBB, which was evidenced by the strong inhibition of C6 cells in an in vitro Transwell-based BBB model using BMEC cells (Su et al., 2020).

Another study has also used angiopep-2 as a targeting ligand for promoting active targeting of doxorubicin-loaded nanoparticles to primary central nervous system lymphoma. Angiopep-2 was synthesized with Mal-PCL-b-PEG by maleimide-thiol linkage (ANG-PEG-b-PCL); it was used in the preparation of nanoparticles. The conjugation efficiency was confirmed by the absence of the maleimide peak at 6.7 ppm in the ¹H NMR spectrum of ANG-PEG-b-PCL. The angiopep-2-loaded nanoparticles (APP@DOX) showed higher cellular uptake in brain endothelial cells (bEnd.3) than the unmodified formulation. In the orthotopic model of lymphoma, APP@DOX showed the smallest tumor area and an increase in animal survival (58%), while free doxorubicin and the unmodified formulation showed an increase in the survival of 9.7% and 16.4%, respectively (Shi et al., 2020).

Luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone (LHRH) receptors have low expression in healthy cells, while they are overexpressed in malignant tumors, being a potential target for the selective delivery of antitumoral drugs. Nanocapsules co-loaded with docetaxel and quercetin were functionalized with LHRH peptide (PPL-DQ NC) for the treatment of prostate cancer. The [D-lys⁶]-LHRH-NH₂ was conjugated to PLGA-PEG by carbodiimide-mediated reaction with EDC/NHS. The synthesis was confirmed by the presence of an additional peak in 1556 cm⁻¹ (corresponding to N-H) and the increase in peak intensity at 1640 cm⁻¹ (corresponding to C=O of the amide bond) in the FTIR spectrum. PPL-DQ NC showed a greater cytotoxicity effect than unmodified nanoparticles, with IC_{50} of 3.86 and 1.29 times lower in LNCaP and PC3 cells, respectively. Moreover, functionalized nanoparticles had a greater accumulation, in tumor tissue in PC-3 tumor-bearing mice, with an 85% tumor inhibition rate (Shitole et al., 2020).

The epithelial growth factor receptor (EGFR) is a target commonly used to deliver nanosystems for prostate cancer cells. Yan et al. (2017) developed polymeric nanoparticles co-loaded with docetaxel and curcumin and functionalized with GE11 peptide (GE11-DC NP). The peptide GE11 (YHWYGYTPQNVI) was conjugated to PLGA-PEG by the maleimide reaction. The synthesis was confirmed by the ¹H NMR spectrum through the presence of peaks corresponding to the amide and carboxylic groups. GE11-DC NP had the greatest cellular uptake (~80% after 12 h) in LNCaP cells, which contributed to potentiate its cytotoxicity (IC₅₀ of 0.058 μ M using docetaxel/curcumin ratio of 1:10 w/w). The xenographic tumor model of LNCaP cells showed a tumor inhibition of 85% when GE11-DC NP was used in the treatment, indicating the potential of the functionalization with GE11 in the prostate treatment (Yan et al., 2017).

3.3 Small Molecules

Small molecules are promising targeting ligands for nanosystems due to their small size, stability, ease of chemical synthesis, and lack of immunogenicity. The main challenge of these ligands is their small size and tissue diffusion that can induce non-targeted distribution, rapid clearance, and decreased tumor specificity due to problems in molecular interaction with the target. In addition, adjustment of the ligand density may be sufficient to restrict diffusion and maintain functionality (Muro, 2012). Furthermore, the variety of small molecules confers a range of promising targeting possibilities in cancer therapy; among them are small molecules based on vitamins (e.g., folic acid and biotin), monosaccharides (e.g., glucose, mannose, fructose, and galactose), urea derivatives (e.g., glutamate urea), and others (Huo et al., 2017; Singh et al., 2018; Jin et al., 2020; Ganguly et al., 2021; Liu et al., 2021; Luiz et al., 2021).

Folic acid is a member of the B vitamin family and is the most widely used small molecule targeting agent. Its structure has a pteridine ring, p-aminobenzoic acid (PABA), and glutamate moieties. In mammalian cells, it is an essential donor of carbon for the synthesis of nucleic acid bases, and intracellular transport is through folate receptors (FR). The isoform α of the FR (FR α) is overexpressed about 100–300 times higher in cancer cells than in normal tissues, being a specific strategy for targeted drug delivery into the tumor microenvironment (Zhao et al., 2009; Sun et al., 2015; Teixeira et al., 2019).

Hybrid nanoparticles co-loaded with paclitaxel (PTX) and P-shRNA (shRNA against P-glycoprotein) were functionalized with folic acid for overcoming the multidrug resistance of breast cancer. Folic acid was first activated using EDC crosslinking agent, NHS ester, and NH₂-PEG-NH₂ to obtain FA-PEG-NH₂. In sequence, folic acid and polyethylenimine (PEI) were covalently bound in the modified (CS-COOH) and activated (EDC, NHS) chitosan. The successful synthesis of the copolymer was confirmed by the characteristic peak at δ 8.2–8.6 ppm of the newly formed -CONH- a bond of folic acid and PEI on CS in the ¹H NMR spectrum. Increased cell uptake was observed in multi-resistant cells (MCF-7/ADR) expressing FR α , fluorescence rate of 93% at 4 h. The shRNA plasmid carried in the copolymer caused MDR1 gene silencing, 78% decrease in MDR1 mRNA. Cytotoxicity was 1.99-fold higher in MCF-7/ADR cells, and apoptosis rate increased by 2.18-fold in the targeted nanoparticles (80 nM paclitaxel) (Jia et al., 2021).

Folate-modified TPGS transfersomes containing docetaxel demonstrated the efficiency of folic acid as a target ligand for glioblastoma multiforme treatment. Folic acid was linked to the hydrophilic PEG moiety of TPGS by esterification reaction and then used for the preparation of transfersomes. The esterification of FA and TPGS was confirmed by the presence of signals in the region between 6.5 and 9.0 ppm ¹H NMR spectrum and the presence of 1736 and 169 cm⁻¹ peaks in FTIR spectrum, corresponding to carbonyl group of TPGS and carboxylic groups of FA, respectively. In vitro assays using 8-87 MG cells cultured in a two-dimensional model indicated higher cytotoxicity and cellular uptake effect of folic acid-modified transfersomes (IC₅₀ of 5.064 nM) when compared to unmodified transfersomes (IC₅₀ of 3.807 nM). Furthermore, cytotoxicity assay in multicellular tumor spheroids (U-87 MG) showed 6.26- and 1.33-fold higher cytotoxicity of folic acidmodified transfersomes when compared with free docetaxel and unmodified formulation. The permeation assay in U-87 MG spheroids demonstrated the potential of the functionalization to improve the permeation through the spheroids' layers (Luiz et al., 2021).

Alves et al. (2021) produced folate-modified metal-organic frameworks (bio-MOFs) loaded with curcumin for breast cancer treatment. The authors prepared the azide-modified bio-MOF and alkyne-functionalized folic acid for further conjugation via click chemistry. The functionalization was confirmed by ¹H NMR and powder X-ray diffraction (PXRD). Folate-modified bio-MOF showed greater cellular internalization when compared to unmodified bio-MOF and free CCM using 4T1 cells (triple-negative breast cancer). Thus, these results demonstrated that targeted bio-MOF exhibited excellent receptor-specific targeting (Alves et al., 2021).

Biotin (vitamin H or coenzyme R) is a cofactor associated with metabolic processes that promote cell growth. Similar to the FR α receptor, biotin receptors – sodium-dependent multivitamin transporters (SMVT) – are overexpressed in cancer cells. The upregulation of SMVT in cancer cells and the characteristics of biotin (e.g., low cost, non-toxic, non-immunogenic, and easy to modify) have made it an interesting targeting ligand for nanosystem delivery (Zempleni et al., 2009; Vadlapudi et al., 2012).

"Multi-seeded" polymeric liposomes were developed with asulacrine-loaded micelles as seeds in their aqueous cavities. The liposomes were modified with a biotin-linked polypeptide polymer cleavable by matrix metallopeptidase 9 (MMP-9). Biotin was anchored to Fmoc-NH2-mPEG2000-polypeptide activated by the cross-linking agent. Pre-insertion and post-insertion methods were used to anchor the

ligand in liposomes. In both methods, the success of the synthesis was confirmed by detecting the molecular weight (M_w 3424) of biotin-mPEG2000-polypeptide using time-of-flight mass spectrometry and by the hydrophobic interactions of polypeptides and liposomes from the increase in β -sheet by circular dichroism. There was increased cellular uptake in 4T1 spheroids over 8 h (~2.2-fold increase in fluorescence) that resulted in increased cytotoxicity. There were increased tumor tissue uptake and increased cell apoptosis with an 80% reduction in tumor size in the xenograft mice model. In addition, there was an increased clearance of the liposomes outside the tumor tissue in the presence of avidin, demonstrating the efficiency of MMP-9 cleavage in clearing the nanosystems distributed outside the tumor tissue (Jin et al., 2020).

Self-assembled folate-biotin-quaternized starch nanoparticles of doxorubicin and siRNA^{IGF1R} were developed for target in human lung adenocarcinoma cells (A549 cells). The nanoparticles were prepared by a one-pot synthesis procedure using a crosslinking agent to anchor biotin and folate. The ¹H NMR spectra indicated the success of the reaction by the characteristic peaks of ring folate (6.60 and 7.60 ppm), methylene group of biotin (1.55–1.85 ppm), and methyl protons in the quaternized groups (3.12 ppm). Targeted nanoparticles showed higher antitumor activity in vitro when compared to doxorubicin (IC₅₀ of 7.85 and 5.21 mg/l, respectively). The increase in cellular uptake was mainly through the caveolae-mediated endocytosis pathway. There were an increased apoptosis rate and a decreased cell migration observed by the wound-healing rate of only 0.03%. There was a 2.72-fold dose-dependent reduction in IGF1R protein level in A549 cells (Li et al., 2017, 2019).

Cancer cells adapt their metabolism to use glycolysis as the main source of energy for cell maintenance and survival. The high demand for glucose causes overexpression of receptors involved with tumor metabolisms such as glucose transporter (GLUT) and human sodium-glucose transporters (SGLT). Thus, the conjugation of monosaccharides to nanocarriers is an interesting strategy for their active targeting of solid tumors. In addition, these molecules are non-toxic and nonimmunogenic, and their chemical structure allows stable conjugation with the amino-terminal groups of the nanocarriers (Szablewski, 2013; Pliszka & Szablewski, 2021).

Methotrexate-loaded PAMAM dendrimers linked to d-glucose via glycosylation reaction with PAMAM previously activated by the crosslinking agent EDC were prepared by targeting triple-negative cancer cells (MDA-MB-231). The binding of glucose to the amine group of PAMAM was confirmed by the FTIR spectrum, revealing a pronounced peak in the secondary NH region (from 3435 to 1638 cm⁻¹). Targeted dendrimers reduced cell viability up to 20% in MDA-MB-231 cells, being significantly inert in HaCaT cells (human keratinocytes). The functionalized formulation had a twofold higher cellular uptake in cancer cells than in normal cells, with predominant localization in the cell cytoplasm. The great antitumoral potential of functionalized nanoparticles is related to the overexpression of GLUT transporters present in cancer cells (Torres-Pérez et al., 2020).

Multi-targeted liposomes modified with biotin and glucose loaded with paclitaxel were evaluated for their ability to cross BBB to treat gliomas. Biotin and glucose molecules were bound to cholesterol in the presence of EDCI and DMAP to obtain Bio-Chol or Glu-Chol ligands that were subsequently used to prepare liposomes. The binding between the ligands and cholesterol was confirmed by ¹H NMR spectra (Qu et al., 2012, 2014). The targeted liposome increased cellular uptake 4.04- and 3.49-fold in brain endothelial cells (bEnd.3) and glial cells (C6), respectively. The uptake was mediated by GLUT1 and the SMVT transporter. There was an increased targeting to glioma in vivo C6 xenograft cell model demonstrated by stronger fluorescence intensity of the dual-targeted liposome (Liu et al., 2021).

Galactose has also been used as a targeting ligand due to its ability to target asialoglycoprotein receptors (ASGP), primarily in mammalian liver cells. These receptors can endocytose saccharides or glycoproteins containing D-galactose or N-acetyl-D-galactosamine to hepatocytes (Cavallaro et al., 2017; Sun et al., 2017).

Galactose-based polymeric nanoparticles loaded with doxorubicin were synthesized by covalent conjugating of methoxy-poly(ethylene glycol)-bock-poly(6-Omethacryloyl-D-galactopyranose (mPEG-*b*-PMAGP) with doxorubicin using a 4-nitrophenyl chloroform crosslinker. The binding between galactose and doxorubicin was confirmed by the absorption peak at 3368 cm⁻¹ (hydroxyl group) of galactose and a peak at 1639 cm⁻¹ (-CO-NH-) of doxorubicin in the FTIR spectrum. The targeted polymeric nanoparticles have higher internalization (~3-fold) in HepG2 cells (ASGP positive) than MCF-7 and A549 cells (ASGP negative) with distribution in both nuclei and cytoplasm. Furthermore, functionalized nanoparticles showed higher in vitro antitumor efficacy in HepG2 cells than in MCF-7 cells (IC₅₀ of 1.22 and 2.97 µg/ml, respectively), demonstrating the potential of this functionalization to promote specific targeting of the nanoparticles to tumor cells expressing ASGP receptor (Sun et al., 2017).

Apigenin-loaded galactosylated-PLGA nanoparticles were synthesized through esterification reaction of the galactose hydroxyl group with the carboxyl group of PLGA. The ¹H NMR spectra showed an additional peak at δ 4.32 ppm due to the galactose unit. Galactosylated nanoparticles had 1.5 times less initial burst release. Galactosylated nanoparticles increased the cellular uptake in HepG2 cells, which was demonstrated by higher fluorescence intensity. There was greater cytotoxicity in HepG2 cells with targeted nanoparticles than non-targeted nanoparticles (IC50 = 37.1 ± 3.4 µM and 77.2 ± 6.4 µM, respectively), with a ~ 1.2-fold higher apoptosis rate for targeted nanoparticles than non-targeted nanoparticles. The presence of nodules on the liver surface in the HepG2 mice xenograft model was reduced by ~3.43-fold compared with the control group (Ganguly et al., 2021).

Small urea-based molecules are promising ligands for the detection of prostatespecific membrane antigen (PSMA). PSMA is overexpressed in prostate cancer cells, making it an interesting strategy to selectively deliver drugs to prostate cancer cells while protecting normal cells that under-express PSMA. PSMA has a high affinity for 2-[3-(1,3-dicarboxypropyl) ureido]pentanedioic acid (DUPA) ($K_i = 8$ nM) and some chemical mimetic derivatives of DUPA such as 2-[3-((*S*)-5-amino-1-carboxypropyl)ureido)pentanedioic acid (ACUPA) (Roy et al., 2015; Lim et al., 2019).

Lipid polymer nanoparticles loaded with wogonin and modified with ACUPA were synthesized using the EDC crosslinking reagent for conjugation of ACUPA and Chol-PEG and subsequent formation of the nanoparticles by self-assembly assemblies with wogonin. The ¹H NMR spectrum showed a large peak at about δ 3.5 ppm of PEG fragments, multiple peaks from δ 0.6 to 1.2 ppm of cholesterol fragments, and peaks around δ 2.0 and δ 1.40–1.38 ppm of ACUPA fragments. ACUPA-modified nanoparticles increased the cellular uptake in PSMA-positive prostate cancer cells (PCa cells) (4.3-fold higher fluorescence intensity than unmodified nanoparticles). Targeted nanoparticles were more cytotoxic than non-targeted nanoparticles (IC₅₀ = 15.83 and 45.65 µg/ml, respectively) with an apoptosis rate of 89.92% in PCa cells from the labeled nanoparticles. There was an increase in Bax and cytochrome c protein levels, suggesting that the induced apoptosis depends on the intrinsic mitochondria-related pathway (Zhang et al., 2016).

Hyaluronic acid (HA) is an unsulfated glycosaminoglycan. HA is a component of the extracellular matrix with overexpressed HA-biding receptors in several cancer cells, including the CD44, receptor for HA-mediated mot (RHAMM), and the HA receptor for endocytosis (HARE). Therefore, it is also an interesting strategy to target drug delivery in cancer cells (Kim et al., 2018).

HA-modified nanoparticles crosslinked with cisplatin and loaded with doxorubicin were synthesized as CD44-targeting anti-breast cancer cells (4T1). Hyaluronic acid was conjugated with doxorubicin using cisplatin as a crosslinker agent before the preparation of self-assembly nanoparticles. FTIR spectrum confirmed the success of synthesis by absorption peaks in 1300–1000 cm⁻¹ due to the -CO- bond stretching vibration in doxorubicin and 3300–3200 cm⁻¹ due to the amines of cisplatin. There was increased uptake of HA-targeted nanoparticles in 4T1 cells positive for CD44 than 3T3-negative cells. Targeted nanoparticles were more cytotoxic in 4T1 CDDpositive cells (IC₅₀ = 1.10 µg/ml) than 3T3 CD44-negative cells (IC₅₀ = 3.07 µg/ml). The 4T1 spheroid volumes were significantly lower than in the 3T3 groups, demonstrating the efficacy of the ligand, in addition to the improved targeting in 4T1-xenografted Balb/c mice (2.1-fold fluorescence) with 66% tumor inhibition and a 2.23-fold higher apoptosis rate at 12 h compared to control (Yu et al., 2020).

Several other small molecules have been studied for the specific targeting of nanosystems to tumor cells or the tumor microenvironment. Glycyrrhetinic acid (GA) derivatives are being used for hepatocarcinoma targeting because of the presence of GA receptors on hepatocytes. Another small molecule target has been the expression of carbonic anhydrase IX in solid tumors using sulfonamide derivatives as ligands. In addition, small molecule benzamides such as anisamide have been used as ligands targeting Sigma⁻¹ receptors (Krall et al., 2014; Huo et al., 2017; Singh et al., 2018).

4 Conclusion and Future Perspectives

In recent decades, the functionalization of nanosystems with targeting ligands has been a promising strategy to improve the selective delivery of drugs to tumor cells due to their specific recognition by receptor overexpressed in these cells. For this purpose, different functionalization procedures can be explored, including hydrophobic interactions, electrostatic interactions, biotin-avidin interaction, maleimide chemistry, carbodiimide chemistry, and click chemistry. Among them, carbodiimide and maleimide chemistry has been the most used due to the simplicity, high bind stability, and abundance of functional groups in targeting ligands. In addition to the choice of the functionalization method, other parameters are decisive to guarantee the desired biological activity, such as the orientation of the targeting moiety and the density of ligands on nanosystems. The correct orientation of the targeting ligand on the surface of nanosystems is crucial to ensure that their recognition and binding to receptors occur for later internalization of the nanosystems. Furthermore, the density of ligands on nanosystems should be optimized, given that a small number of molecules may be insufficient to promote specific targeting, whereas high ligand density can result in a thicker hydrophilic corona. Taking these aspects into account, the functionalization of nanosystems with targeting ligands (e.g., antibodies, peptides, and small molecules) has demonstrated the great potential to promote the specific delivery drug to tumors. Several in vitro assays demonstrated an improvement of cellular uptake and cytotoxicity effect when functionalized nanosystems were applied in tumor cells with overexpression of the target receptor. Furthermore, in vivo studies have confirmed the great potential of the active targeting, indicating their higher accumulation in tumor tissue and reduction of tumor volume. Therefore, the development of this technology has been an important strategy for improving cancer treatment and reducing side effects.

References

- Allen, T. M. (2002). Ligand-targeted therapies in anticancer therapy. *Natural Reviews Cancer*, 2, 750–763.
- Alshaer, W., Hillaireau, H., Vergnaud, J., Mura, S., Delomenie, C., Sauvage, F., Ismail, S., & Fattal, E. (2017). Aptamer-guided siRNA-loaded nanomedicines for systemic gene silencing in CD-44 expressing murine triple-negative breast cancer model. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 271, 98–106.
- Alves, R. C., Schulte, Z. M., Luiz, M. T., Bento Da Silva, P., Frem, R. C. G., Rosi, N. L., & Chorilli, M. (2021). Breast cancer targeting of a drug delivery system through postsynthetic modification of curcumin@N₃-bio-MOF-100 via click chemistry. *Inorganic Chemistry*, 60, 11739–11744.
- Arteaga, C. (2003). Targeting HER1/EGFR: A molecular approach to cancer therapy. Seminars in Oncology, 30, 3–14.
- Banstola, A., Duwa, R., Emami, F., Jeong, J. H., & Yook, S. (2020). Enhanced caspase-mediated abrogation of autophagy by temozolomide-loaded and panitumumab-conjugated poly(lactic-

co-glycolic acid) nanoparticles in epidermal growth factor receptor overexpressing glioblastoma cells. *Molecular Pharmaceutics*, *17*, 4386–4400.

- Bao, H., Zheng, N., Li, Z., & Zhi, Y. (2020). Synergistic effect of tangeretin and atorvastatin for colon cancer combination therapy: Targeted delivery of these dual drugs using RGD peptide decorated nanocarriers. *Drug Design, Development and Therapy*, 14, 3057–3068.
- Biffi, S., Voltan, R., Bortot, B., Zauli, G., & Secchiero, P. (2019). Actively targeted nanocarriers for drug delivery to cancer cells. *Expert Opinion on Drug Delivery*, 16, 481–496.
- Bühler, P., Wolf, P., & Elsässer-Beile, U. (2009). Targeting the prostate-specific membrane antigen for prostate cancer therapy. *Immunotherapy*, 1, 471–481.
- Cavallaro, G., Farra, R., Craparo, E. F., Sardo, C., Porsio, B., Giammona, G., Perrone, F., Grassi, M., Pozzato, G., Grassi, G., & Dapas, B. (2017). Galactosylated polyaspartamide copolymers for siRNA targeted delivery to hepatocellular carcinoma cells. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 525, 397–406.
- Chatterjee, M., & Chanda, N. (2022). Formulation of PLGA nano-carriers: Specialized modification for cancer therapeutic applications. *Materials Advances*, 3, 837–858.
- Comparetti, E. J., Romagnoli, G. G., Gorgulho, C. M., de Albuquerque Pedrosa, V., & Kaneno, R. (2020). Anti-PSMA monoclonal antibody increases the toxicity of paclitaxel carried by carbon nanotubes. *Materials Science and Engineering: C*, 116, 111254–111267.
- Daniels, T. R., Bernabeu, E., Rodríguez, J. A., Patel, S., Kozman, M., Chiappetta, D. A., Holler, E., Ljubimova, J. Y., Helguera, G., & Penichet, M. L. (2012). The transferrin receptor and the targeted delivery of therapeutic agents against cancer. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, 1820, 291–317.
- Domínguez-Ríos, R., Sánchez-Ramírez, D. R., Ruiz-Saray, K., Oceguera-Basurto, P. E., Almada, M., Juárez, J., Zepeda-Moreno, A., del Toro-Arreola, A., Topete, A., & Daneri-Navarro, A. (2019). Cisplatin-loaded PLGA nanoparticles for HER2 targeted ovarian cancer therapy. *Colloids Surfaces B Biointerfaces, 178*, 199–207.
- Dorjsuren, B., Chaurasiya, B., Ye, Z., Liu, Y., Li, W., Wang, C., Shi, D., Evans, C. E., Webster, T. J., & Shen, Y. (2020). Cetuximab-coated thermo-sensitive liposomes loaded with magnetic nanoparticles and doxorubicin for targeted EGFR-expressing breast cancer combined therapy. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 15, 8201–8215.
- Eloy, J. O., Ruiz, A., de Lima, F. T., Petrilli, R., Raspantini, G., Nogueira, K. A. B., Santos, E., de Oliveira, C. S., Borges, J. C., Marchetti, J. M., Al-Jamal, W. T., & Chorilli, M. (2020). EGFRtargeted immunoliposomes efficiently deliver docetaxel to prostate cancer cells. *Colloids Surfaces B: Biointerfaces*, 194, 111185.
- Fay, F., & Scott, C. J. (2011). Antibody-targeted nanoparticles for cancer therapy. *Immunotherapy*, 3, 381–394.
- Fu, X., Yang, Y., Li, X., Lai, H., Huang, Y., He, L., Zheng, W., & Chen, T. (2016). RGD peptideconjugated selenium nanoparticles: Anti-angiogenesis by suppressing VEGF-VEGFR2-ERK/ AKT pathway. *Nanomedicine Nanotechnology, Biology, and Medicine, 12*, 1627–1639.
- Ganguly, S., Dewanjee, S., Sen, R., Chattopadhyay, D., Ganguly, S., Gaonkar, R., & Debnath, M. C. (2021). Apigenin-loaded galactose tailored PLGA nanoparticles: A possible strategy for liver targeting to treat hepatocellular carcinoma. *Colloids Surfaces B Biointerfaces*, 204, 111778.
- Gao, F., & Yang, C. (2020). Anti-VEGF/VEGFR2 monoclonal antibodies and their combinations with PD-1/PD-L1 inhibitors in clinic. *Current Cancer Drug Targets*, 20, 3–18.
- Gong, Y. C., Xiong, X. Y., Ge, X. J., Li, Z. L., & Li, Y. P. (2019). Effect of the folate ligand density on the targeting property of folate-conjugated polymeric nanoparticles. *Macromolecular Bioscience*, 19, 1800348–1800359.
- Gu, Z., Chang, M., Fan, Y., Shi, Y., & Lin, G. (2017). NGR-modified pH-sensitive liposomes for controlled release and tumor target delivery of docetaxel. *Colloids Surfaces B: Biointerfaces*, 160, 395–405.
- Huo, M., Zhao, Y., Satterlee, A. B., Wang, Y., Xu, Y., & Huang, L. (2017). Tumor-targeted delivery of sunitinib base enhances vaccine therapy for advanced melanoma by remodeling the tumor microenvironment. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 245, 81–94.

- Iqbal, N., & Iqbal, N. (2014). Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2) in cancers: Overexpression and therapeutic implications. *Molecular Biology International*, 2014, 1–9.
- Jain, S., Deore, S. V., Ghadi, R., Chaudhari, D., Kuche, K., & Katiyar, S. S. (2021). Tumor microenvironment responsive VEGF-antibody functionalized pH sensitive liposomes of docetaxel for augmented breast cancer therapy. *Material Science and Engineering: C*, 121, 111832–111844.
- Jia, L., Li, Z., Zheng, D., Li, Z., & Zhao, Z. (2021). A targeted and redox/pH-responsive chitosan oligosaccharide derivatives based nanohybrids for overcoming multidrug resistance of breast cancer cells. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 251, 117008–117020.
- Jin, Y., Wu, Z., Wu, C., Zi, Y., Chu, X., Liu, J., & Zhang, W. (2020). Size-adaptable and ligand (biotin)-sheddable nanocarriers equipped with avidin scavenging technology for deep tumor penetration and reduced toxicity. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 320, 142–158.
- Kanth, P. C., Verma, S. K., & Gour, N. (2020). Functionalized nanomaterials for biomedical and agriculture industries. In *Handbook of functionalized nanomaterials for industrial applications* (pp. 231–265). INC.
- Kiess, A. P., Banerjee, S. R., Mease, R. C., Rowe, S. P., Rao, A., Foss, C. A., Chen, Y., Yang, X., Cho, S. Y., Nimmagadda, S., & Pomper, M. G. (2015). Prostate-specific membrane antigen as a target for cancer imaging and therapy. *Quarterly Journal of Nuclear Medicine and Molecular Imaging*, 59, 241–268.
- Kim, J. H., Moon, M. J., Kim, D. Y., Heo, S. H., & Jeong, Y. Y. (2018). Hyaluronic acid-based nanomaterials for cancer therapy. *Polymers*, 10, 1133–1148.
- Kolb, H. C., Finn, M. G., & Sharpless, K. B. (2001). Click chemistry: Diverse chemical function from a few good reactions. *Angewandte Chemie – International Edition*, 40, 2004–2021.
- Krall, N., Pretto, F., Decurtins, W., Bernardes, G. J. L., Supuran, C. T., & Neri, D. (2014). A small-molecule drug conjugate for the treatment of carbonic anhydrase IX expressing tumors. *Angewandte Chemie – International Edition*, 53, 4231–4235.
- Kumari, P., Ghosh, B., & Biswas, S. (2016). Nanocarriers for cancer-targeted drug delivery. *Journal of Drug Targeting*, 24, 179–191.
- Lan, Q. H., Du, C. C., Yu, R. J., Zhai, J., Shi, Y., Kou, L., Xiao, J., Lu, C. T., Zhao, Y. Z., & Yao, Q. (2021). Disulfiram-loaded copper sulfide nanoparticles for potential anti-glioma therapy. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 607, 120978–120992.
- Li, L., Tao, R., Song, M., Zhang, Y., Chen, K., Wang, H., & Gong, R. (2017). Fabrication of self-assembled folate-biotin-quaternized starch nanoparticles as co-carrier of doxorubicin and siRNA. *Journal of Biomaterials Applications*, 32, 587–597.
- Li, Y., Gao, Y., Gong, C., Wang, Z., Xia, Q., Gu, F., Hu, C., Zhang, L., Guo, H., & Gao, S. (2018). A33 antibody-functionalized exosomes for targeted delivery of doxorubicin against colorectal cancer. *Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology, Biology, and Medicine*, 14, 1973–1985.
- Li, L., He, S., Yu, L., Elshazly, E. H., Wang, H., Chen, K., Zhang, S., Ke, L., & Gong, R. (2019). Codelivery of DOX and siRNA by folate-biotin-quaternized starch nanoparticles for promoting synergistic suppression of human lung cancer cells. *Drug Delivery*, 26, 499–508.
- Lim, J., Guan, B., Nham, K., Hao, G., Sun, X., & Simanek, E. E. (2019). Tumor uptake of triazine dendrimers decorated with four, sixteen, and sixty-four PSMA-targeted ligands: Passive versus active tumor targeting. *Biomolecules*, 9, 421–436.
- Liu, Q., Zhou, L., Lu, R., Yang, C., Wang, S., Hai, L., & Wu, Y. (2021). Biotin and glucose comodified multi-targeting liposomes for efficient delivery of chemotherapeutics for the treatment of glioma. *Bioorganic and Medicinal Chemistry*, 29, 115852–115860.
- Luiz, M. T., Viegas, J. S. R., Abriata, J. P., Tofani, L. B., Vaidergorn, M. D. M., da Silva Emery, F., Chorilli, M., & Marchetti, J. M. (2021). Docetaxel-loaded folate-modified TPGStransfersomes for glioblastoma multiforme treatment. *Material Science and Engineering: C*, 124, 112033–112044.
- Luo, M., Lewik, G., Ratcliffe, J. C., Choi, C. H. J., Mäkilä, E., Tong, W. Y., & Voelcker, N. H. (2019). Systematic evaluation of transferrin-modified porous silicon nanoparticles for targeted delivery of doxorubicin to glioblastoma. ACS Applied Materials Interfaces, 11, 33637–33649.
- Marques, A. C., Costa, P. J., Velho, S., & Amaral, M. H. (2020). Functionalizing nanoparticles with cancer-targeting antibodies: A comparison of strategies. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 320, 180–200.

- Marqus, S., Pirogova, E., & Piva, T. J. (2017). Evaluation of the use of therapeutic peptides for cancer treatment. *Journal of Biomedical Science*, 24, 1–15.
- Molavipordanjani, S., & Hosseinimehr, S. J. (2019). Strategies for conjugation of biomolecules to nanoparticles as tumor targeting agents. *Current Pharmaceutical Design*, 25, 3917–3926.
- Muro, S. (2012). Challenges in design and characterization of ligand-targeted drug delivery systems. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 164, 125–137.
- Nguyen, P. V., Hervé-Aubert, K., Chourpa, I., & Allard-Vannier, E. (2021). Active targeting strategy in nanomedicines using anti-EGFR ligands – A promising approach for cancer therapy and diagnosis. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 609, 121134–121149.
- Niaz, M. O., Sun, M., Ramirez-Fort, M., & Niaz, M. J. (2020). Prostate-specific membrane antigen based antibody-drug conjugates for metastatic castration-resistance prostate cancer. *Cureus*, 12, 7149–7154.
- Nieto, C., Vega, M. A., & Del Valle, E. M. M. (2020). Trastuzumab: More than a guide in her 2-positive cancer nanomedicine. *Nanomaterials*, 10, 1–20.
- Osman, N., Devnarain, N., Omolo, C. A., Fasiku, V., Jaglal, Y., & Govender, T. (2021). Surface modification of nano-drug delivery systems for enhancing antibiotic delivery and activity. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Nanomedicine and Nanobiotechnology*, 14, 1758–1782.
- Parvathaneni, V., Shukla, S. K., Kulkarni, N. S., & Gupta, V. (2021). Development and characterization of inhalable transferrin functionalized amodiaquine nanoparticles – Efficacy in Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer (NSCLC) treatment. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 608, 121038–121054.
- Pliszka, M., & Szablewski, L. (2021). Glucose transporters as a target for anticancer therapy. *Cancers*, 13, 4184–4202.
- Qu, B., Li, X., Wu, J., Li, X., Hai, L., & Wu, Y. (2012). Synthesis of multivalent glucosides with high affinity for GLUT1 transporter. *Letters in Organic Chemistry*, 9, 390–395.
- Qu, B., Li, X., Guan, M., Li, X., Hai, L., & Wu, Y. (2014). Design, synthesis and biological evaluation of multivalent glucosides with high affinity as ligands for brain targeting liposomes. *European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, 72, 110–118.
- Rasool, M., Malik, A., Waquar, S., Arooj, M., Zahid, S., Asif, M., Shaheen, S., Hussain, A., Ullah, H., & Gan, S. H. (2022). New challenges in the use of nanomedicine in cancer therapy. *Bioengineered*, 13, 759–773.
- Rivero-Buceta, E., Vidaurre-Agut, C., Vera-Donoso, C. D., Benlloch, J. M., Moreno-Manzano, V., & Botella, P. (2019). PSMA-targeted mesoporous silica nanoparticles for selective intracellular delivery of docetaxel in prostate cancer cells. ACS Omega, 4, 1281–1291.
- Roy, J., Nguyen, T. X., Kanduluru, A. K., Venkatesh, C., Lv, W., Reddy, P. V. N., Low, P. S., & Cushman, M. (2015). DUPA conjugation of a cytotoxic ndenoisoquinoline topoisomerase i inhibitor for selective prostate cancer cell targeting. *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, 58, 3094–3103.
- Semkina, A. S., Abakumov, M. A., Skorikov, A. S., Abakumova, T. O., Melnikov, P. A., Grinenko, N. F., Cherepanov, S. A., Vishnevskiy, D. A., Naumenko, V. A., Ionova, K. P., Majouga, A. G., & Chekhonin, V. P. (2018). Multimodal doxorubicin loaded magnetic nanoparticles for VEGF targeted theranostics of breast cancer. *Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology, Biology, and Medicine*, 14, 1733–1742.
- Shargh, V. H., Hondermarck, H., & Liang, M. (2016). Antibody-targeted biodegradable nanoparticles for cancer therapy. *Nanomedicine*, 11, 63–79.
- Shi, X. X., Miao, W. M., Pang, D. W., Wu, J. S., Tong, Q. S., Li, J. X., Luo, J. Q., Li, W. Y., Du, J. Z., & Wang, J. (2020). Angiopep-2 conjugated nanoparticles loaded with doxorubicin for the treatment of primary central nervous system lymphoma. *Biomaterials Science*, 8, 1290–1297.
- Shibuya, M. (2011). Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor (VEGF) and its receptor (VEGFR) signaling in angiogenesis: A crucial target for anti- and pro-Angiogenic therapies. *Genes and Cancer*, 2, 1097–1105.
- Shitole, A. A., Sharma, N., Giram, P., Khandwekar, A., Baruah, M., Garnaik, B., & Koratkar, S. (2020). LHRH-conjugated, PEGylated, poly-lactide-co-glycolide nanocapsules for targeted delivery of combinational chemotherapeutic drugs docetaxel and quercetin for prostate cancer. *Materials Science and Engineering: C, 114*, 111035–111052.

- Siegel, R. L., Miller, K. D., Fuchs, H. E., & Jemal, A. (2021). Cancer statistics. CA: a Cancer Journal for Clinicians, 71, 7–33.
- Singh, H., Kim, S. J., Kang, D. H., Kim, H. R., Sharma, A., Kim, W. Y., Kang, C., & Kim, J. S. (2018). Glycyrrhetinic acid as a hepatocyte targeting unit for an anticancer drug delivery system with enhanced cell type selectivity. *Chemical Communications*, 54, 12353–12356.
- Su, X., Zhang, D., Zhang, H., Zhao, K., & Hou, W. (2020). Preparation and characterization of angiopep-2 functionalized Ginsenoside-Rg3 loaded nanoparticles and the effect on C6 Glioma cells. *Pharmaceutical Development and Technology*, 25, 385–395.
- Sun, L., Wu, Q., Peng, F., Liu, L., & Gong, C. (2015). Strategies of polymeric nanoparticles for enhanced internalization in cancer therapy. *Colloids Surfaces B: Biointerfaces*, 135, 56–72.
- Sun, Y., Zhang, J., Han, J., Tian, B., Shi, Y., Ding, Y., Wang, L., & Han, J. (2017). Galactosecontaining polymer-DOX conjugates for targeting drug delivery. AAPS PharmSciTech, 18, 749–758.
- Sun, H., Dong, Y., Feijen, J., & Zhong, Z. (2018). Peptide-decorated polymeric nanomedicines for precision cancer therapy. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 290, 11–27.
- Sun, W., Deng, Y., Zhao, M., Jiang, Y., Gou, J., Wang, Y., Yin, T., Zhang, Y., He, H., & Tang, X. (2021). Targeting therapy for prostate cancer by pharmaceutical and clinical pharmaceutical strategies. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 333, 41–64.
- Szablewski, L. (2013). Expression of glucose transporters in cancers. *Biochimica Biophysica* Acta Reviews on Cancer, 1835, 164–169.
- Tang, Z., Feng, W., Yang, Y., & Wang, Q. (2019). Gemcitabine-loaded RGD modified liposome for ovarian cancer: Preparation, characterization and pharmacodynamic studies. *Drug Design*, *Development and Therapy*, 13, 3281–3290.
- Teixeira, R. A. R., Lima, F. R. A., Silva, P. C., Costa, L. A. S., & Sant'Ana, A. C. (2019). Tracking chemical interactions of folic acid on gold surface by SERS spectroscopy. *Spectrochimica Acta – Part A: Molecular and Biomolecular Spectroscopy*, 223, 117305–117311.
- Thangavel, C., Perepelyuk, M., Boopathi, E., Liu, Y., Polischak, S., Deshpande, D. A., Rafiq, K., Dicker, A. P., Knudsen, K. E., Shoyele, S. A., & Den, R. B. (2018). Improvement in therapeutic efficacy and reduction in cellular toxicity: Introduction of a novel anti-PSMA-conjugated hybrid antiandrogen nanoparticle. *Molecular Pharmaceutics*, 15, 1778–1790.
- Tian, J., Chi, C., Bian, G., Xing, D., Guo, F., & Wang, X. (2021). PSMA conjugated combinatorial liposomal formulation encapsulating genistein and plumbagin to induce apoptosis in prostate cancer cells. *Colloids Surfaces B: Biointerfaces*, 203, 111723–111735.
- Torres-Pérez, S. A., del RamosGodínez, P., & Ramón-Gallegos, E. (2020). Glycosylated onestep PAMAM dendrimers loaded with methotrexate for target therapy in breast cancer cells MDA-MB-231. *Journal of Drug Delivery Science and Technology*, 58, 101769–101778.
- Tortorella, S., & Karagiannis, T. (2014). The significance of transferrin receptors in oncology: The development of functional nano-based drug delivery systems. *Current Drug Delivery*, *11*, 427–443.
- Vadlapudi, A. D., Vadlapatla, R. K., & Mitra, A. K. (2012). Sodium dependent multivitamin transporter (SMVT): A potential target for drug delivery. *Current Drug Targets*, 13, 994–1003.
- Varshosaz, J., Davoudi, M. A., & Rasoul-Amini, S. (2018). Docetaxel-loaded nanostructured lipid carriers functionalized with trastuzumab (Herceptin) for HER2-positive breast cancer cells. *Journal of Liposome Research*, 28, 285–295.
- Vhora, I., Patil, S., Bhatt, P., & Misra, A. (2015). Protein– and peptide–drug conjugates: An emerging drug delivery technology. Advances in Protein Chemistry and Structural Biology, 98, 1–55.
- Wang, G., Wang, Z., Li, C., Duan, G., Wang, K., Li, Q., & Tao, T. (2018). RGD peptide-modified, paclitaxel prodrug-based, dual-drugs loaded, and redox-sensitive lipid-polymer nanoparticles for the enhanced lung cancer therapy. *Biomedicine and Pharmacotherapy*, 106, 275–284.
- Wonder, E., Simón-Gracia, L., Scodeller, P., Majzoub, R. N., Kotamraju, V. R., Ewert, K. K., Teesalu, T., & Safinya, C. R. (2018). Competition of charge-mediated and specific binding by peptide-tagged cationic liposome–DNA nanoparticles in vitro and in vivo. *Biomaterials*, 166, 52–63.

- Yadav, A. S., Radharani, N. N. V., Gorain, M., Bulbule, A., Shetti, D., Roy, G., Baby, T., & Kundu, G. C. (2020). RGD functionalized chitosan nanoparticle mediated targeted delivery of raloxifene selectively suppresses angiogenesis and tumor growth in breast cancer. *Nanoscale*, 12, 10664–10684.
- Yan, J., Wang, Y., Jia, Y., Liu, S., Tian, C., Pan, W., Liu, X., & Wang, H. (2017). Co-delivery of docetaxel and curcumin prodrug via dual-targeted nanoparticles with synergistic antitumor activity against prostate cancer. *Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy*, 88, 374–383.
- Yan, W., Leung, S. S. Y., & To, K. K. W. (2019). Updates on the use of liposomes for active tumor targeting in cancer therapy. *Nanomedicine*, 15, 303–318.
- Yang, J., Yan, J., & Liu, B. (2018). Targeting VEGF/VEGFR to modulate antitumor immunity. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 9, 1–9.
- Yao, V. J., D'Angelo, S., Butler, K. S., Theron, C., Smith, T. L., Marchiò, S., Gelovani, J. G., Sidman, R. L., Dobroff, A. S., Brinker, C. J., Bradbury, A. R. M., Arap, W., & Pasqualini, R. (2016). Ligand-targeted theranostic nanomedicines against cancer. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 240, 267–286.
- Yong, K. W., Yuen, D., Chen, M. Z., & Johnston, A. P. R. (2020). Engineering the orientation, density, and flexibility of single-domain antibodies on nanoparticles to improve cell targeting. ACS Applied Materials and Interfaces, 12, 5593–5600.
- Yu, B., Tai, H. C., Xue, W., Lee, L. J., & Lee, R. J. (2010). Receptor-targeted nanocarriers for therapeutic delivery to cancer. *Molecular Membrane Biology*, 27, 286–298.
- Yu, S., Liu, Q., Han, X., Qin, S., Zhao, W., Li, A., & Wu, K. (2017). Development and clinical application of anti-HER2 monoclonal and bispecific antibodies for cancer treatment. *Experimental Hematology & Oncology*, 31, 1–15.
- Yu, T., Li, Y., Gu, X., & Li, Q. (2020). Development of a hyaluronic acid-based nanocarrier incorporating doxorubicin and cisplatin as a pH-sensitive and CD44-targeted anti-breast cancer drug delivery system. *Frontier in Pharmacology*, 11, 1–11.
- Zempleni, J., Wijeratne, S. S. K., & Hassan, Y. I. (2009). Biotin. BioFactors, 35, 36-46.
- Zhang, H., Liu, X., Wu, F., Qin, F., Feng, P., Xu, T., Li, X., & Yang, L. (2016). A novel prostatespecific membrane-antigen (PSMA) targeted micelle-encapsulating Wogonin inhibits prostate cancer cell proliferation via inducing intrinsic apoptotic pathway. *International Journal of Molecular Science*, 17, 676–690.
- Zhang, J., Zhang, P., Zou, Q., Li, X., Fu, J., Luo, Y., Liang, X., & Jin, Y. (2018). Co-delivery of gemcitabine and paclitaxel in cRGD-modified long circulating nanoparticles with asymmetric lipid layers for breast cancer treatment. *Molecules*, 23, 1–19.
- Zhang, X., Liu, J., Li, X., Li, F., Lee, R. J., Sun, F., Li, Y., Liu, Z., & Teng, L. (2019). Trastuzumabcoated nanoparticles loaded with docetaxel for breast cancer therapy. *Dose-Response*, 17, 1–12.
- Zhang, X., Huang, Y., Song, H., Canup, B. S. B., Gou, S., She, Z., Dai, F., Ke, B., & Xiao, B. (2020). Inhibition of growth and lung metastasis of breast cancer by tumor-homing triplebioresponsive nanotherapeutics. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 328, 454–469.
- Zhao, R., Matherly, L. H., & Goldman, I. D. (2009). Membrane transporters and folate homeostasis: Intestinal absorption and transport into systemic compartments and tissues. *Expert Reviews* in Molecular Medicine, 11, 1–28.
- Zhao, Z., Ukidve, A., Kim, J., & Mitragotri, S. (2020). Targeting strategies for tissue-specific drug delivery. *Cell*, 181, 151–167.
- Zhu, R., Wang, Z., Liang, P., He, X., Zhuang, X., Huang, R., Wang, M., Wang, Q., Qian, Y., & Wang, S. (2017). Efficient VEGF targeting delivery of DOX using bevacizumab conjugated SiO2@LDH for anti-neuroblastoma therapy. *Acta Biomaterialia*, 63, 163–180.
3D Bioprinting for Cancer Models



Virginia Brancato

1 Introduction

Bioprinting technology is a branch derived by the need of regenerative medicine and tissue engineering to fabricate functional tissue substitutes (Datta et al., 2020; Kim et al., 2021). The global market for bioprinted medical products has been foreseen to reach about 1.3 billion dollars by 2022 (Ricles et al., 2018). Tissue engineering paved the way to the development of scaffold-based methodology to grow cells in vitro (Benam et al., 2015). In the last decades, tissue engineering tools become more and more sophisticated and allowed to shorten the distance between the native tissues and bioengineered ones. Scaffold or hydrogel-based approaches do not allow the combination of different types of cells with a spatial distribution and precise compartmentalization that mimic the tridimensional architecture of living tissues (Singh et al., 2018). Modular building block's assembly supports the construction of complex tissue starting from controlled microscopic units that could be obtained by means of different approaches (scaffold or hydrogels, cell aggregation, or cell sheet formation) (Monteiro et al., 2022). Bioprinting plays a leading role among these methodologies due to the versatility of fabricating bioengineered constructs with accurate spatial organization. Many bioprinting techniques have been developed for different purposes (Lobo et al., 2021). Bioengineering advances several materials have been improved starting from natural materials (gelatin, collagen, alginate, hyaluronic acid) or synthetic polymers (poly(e-caprolactone), poly(lactic acid), poly(glycolic acid), and poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid)), offering a wide range of mechanical properties and tunable biochemical cues. Starting from these materials, several bioinks have been developed that allow the cell proliferation and differentiation by means of biological and physical stimuli (Skardal & Atala, 2015; Boularaoui

V. Brancato (🖂)

Center for Genomic Science IIT@SEMM, Italian Institute of Technology, Milan, Italy e-mail: Virginia.brancato@iit.it

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 Â. M. Almeida de Sousa et al. (eds.), *Cancer Nanotechnology*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-17831-3_4

et al., 2020; Zhang et al., 2021). Therefore, an overview of 3D bioprinting technology applied to the most aggressive and complex cancer is proposed in this chapter as a tool to fabricate viable constructs by depositing living cells with tunable biomaterials.

2 Tumor Microenvironment Multicellularity

The definition of cancer given by the National Cancer Institute is not appropriate because it focuses only on cancer cell, considering them the only responsible for the abnormal cellular division and the invasion to the surrounding tissue. Hence, a wider definition of the cancer disease is necessary, taking into account the genetic and epigenetic mutational landscape that underpins cancer progression (Ungefroren et al., 2011; Lee & Chaudhuri, 2017). An extensive overview of the main features of cancer disease has been summarized in hallmarks of cancer. When, in 2011, reprogrammed metabolism and immune escape became the emerging hallmarks, it was not possible to consider cancer plasticity and non-mutational epigenetic reprogramming, due to the lack of genomic and epigenomic data on cancer evolution. Moreover, it is now evident that cancer disease is also strictly connected to the microbe community dwelling in the human body (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2000, 2011; Hanahan, 2022). Intratumor heterogeneity is the reading key for the investigation of cancer in order to understand which are the triggers that drive the tumor cells from early lesions to later stage disease. Cancer cells are dynamic entities able to modify themselves and the surrounding microenvironment. Cancer cells are also able to disseminate in other organs far from the primary tissue; hence, they exploit the vascular network and in some cases are able to escape the immune system defense (Mehlen & Puisieux, 2006). When the cancer cells reach another site, metastasis occurs, increasing the poor outcome of the disease (Klein-Goldberg et al., 2014). It is clear that human tumor main feature is the dynamic and complex organization based on the interactions among different cells and the extracellular matrix. Understanding this complexity will give novel insight in the puzzle of the biological and mechanical features of cancer. Recently, the tumor microenvironment gained interest and is investigated as a target for innovative anti-cancer drugs (Quail & Joyce, 2013).

3 Bioprinting Living and Non-living Entities for Functional Organotypic Models

The progress in the knowledge of the tumor microenvironment pushed the researchers to find new methodologies to investigate cancer, since cell culture on plastic dish is not sufficient to recapitulate the cancer complexity (Klein-Goldberg et al., 2014). During the latest decades, biomaterials have been widely studied and developed.

Moreover, biomaterials are good allies in facilitating the growth of cancer cells in 3D architecture, mimicking the tumor microenvironment. Nowadays, there is not a uniformity in the 3D tumor models due to large arrays of biomaterials, in the form of hydrogels or scaffold, so a unique standard is not available as it happens for the 2D cell culture methodology (Hickman et al., 2014; Rodenhizer et al., 2018). However, this is a positive aspect because a one-size-fits-all approach is no more compatible with the representation of the complexity of the tumor microenvironment. Among all the 3D tumor models available, this chapter will focus on the bioprinted models. The advancement of 3D bioprinting technologies enlarged the possibility of applications for mimicking cancer microenvironment in vitro. Hence, the combination of manufacturing novel bioinks and ECM-mimetic biomaterials enhances the performance of biofabricated constructs, improving the biochemical and biophysical properties that leads to more realistic read-outs for drug screening (Fig. 1). Moreover, bioprinting offers a solution to obtain spatially controlled organization of different types of cells, along with the possibility to replicate cell gradients at high resolution incorporating epithelial, endothelial, and stromal cells. Bioprinting is defined as an additive manufacturing technology that exploits the stacking of different layers of cells and materials. These constructs could rapidly maturate into tissue and organs with complex and spatially precise structure. Different methodologies have been developed to fabricate bioprinted constructs, and they can be summarized as follows: extrusion-based printing, inkjet-based printing, stereolithography/digital light processing bioprinting, and laser-assisted printing (Germain et al., 2022).

The most widespread technique for bioprinting is the extrusion-based one, where the bioink is extruded out of the nozzle by means of pneumatic pressure exerted by a piston or a screw. The bioink is deposited on a cell culture plate with a precise computer-aided design. The bioprinted constructs need to be then crosslinked to maintain the mechanical properties by means of photo/thermal or chemical crosslink.

Other printing techniques have been developed to improve the manufacturing of medical devices and are not properly defined as bioprinting where bioink and cells are mixed together (Davoodi et al., 2020). At this purpose, we mentioned the inkjet bioprinting technique that is considered a non-contact printing technique where the bioink is dispensed as droplets in a predesigned pattern by means of thermal or piezoelectric processes. Stereolithography/digital light processing-based bioprinting polymerize the materials by means of projection light, offering a better resolution efficiency and working condition. This technique is particularly used for the reproduction of medical models, and the artificial tissues or organs have high biocompatibility and allow high cell viability. This type of 3D printing is also exploited to fabricate medical device customized for precise drug delivery in a less invasive and more controlled manner. An innovative 3D printing technology is the laserinduced forward transfer approach, a digital printing method where a pulsed laser beam triggers the printing of materials from a thin donor layer to a receiving one. This approach is compatible with a wide range of materials and is becoming widely popular in applications as electronic devices and sensors (Zhang et al., 2017; Monteiro et al., 2022).



Fig. 1 The reductionist view of tumor tissue as an aggregate of cancer cells is nowadays outdated. Tumor microenvironment is composed of cellular and acellular components that are schematized in the upper part of the figure. In solid tumors, cancer cells are surrounded by a dense extracellular matrix that is mainly produced by cancer-associated fibroblasts. The extracellular matrix is composed of acellular molecules such as collagen, laminin, hyaluronic acid, and proteoglycans. The tumor growth is supported by vasculature formed by endothelial cells. Immune cells such as lymphocytes and macrophages could inhibit the tumor growth or support it according to the tumor stage. The advancement in culturing cancer cells is given by the combination of biomaterials (in the form of hydrogels or scaffold) in order to mimic the extracellular matrix. 3D architecture is relevant to obtain a more realistic and specific model for spheroids and patient-derived organoids that could be embedded in more complex models based on additive manufacturing technology such as bioprinting or microfluidic or being cultured in bioreactors

3.1 Breast Cancer

Breast cancer still remains the first cause of death for women due to metastasis of breast cancer cells to other organs. Breast cancer is a solid tumor characterized by a fibrotic and dense microenvironment that plays an essential role in cancer progression and affects the response to the drug. For this reason, it is necessary to fabricate 3D in vitro models that can mimic the heterogeneity of the tumor microenvironment, including both cancer and stromal cells such as fibroblasts and immune and endothelial cells (Sharifi et al., 2021). Many attempts have been made to fabricate

bioprinted breast cancer spheroids starting from cell lines in gelatin or Matrigelbased hydrogels. Bioprinting approach guaranteed the uniformity in size of the spheroids, an important parameter when these models are used to predict the drug response in vitro. As demonstrated for other 3D tumor models, also the bioprinted breast cancer spheroids showed higher resistance to drugs as paclitaxel that may be related to the enrichment of stem cells in the spheroids (Ling et al., 2015; Swaminathan et al., 2019). Bioprinting is a cutting-edge technology, and to obtain the most from this approach, researchers combined patient-derived cells and bioinks from extracellular decellularized matrix in order to enhance the native cancer microenvironment (Fig. 2a). The mammary-derived hydrogel sustains the growth of breast organoids and tumoroids, paving the way for the study of interaction between cancer cell and extracellular matrix (Fig. 2b) (Mollica et al., 2019). Beside the extracellular matrix, what makes breast cancer cells more aggressive is also the interaction with stromal cells. It has been demonstrated that the presence of osteoblasts or mesenchymal stem cells enhances the secretion of VEGF. This model recapitulates the breast to bone metastasis process and could shed light on the mechanism underpinning breast cancer cell invasion (Zhou et al., 2016). The role of adipose stem cells in triggering cancer invasion is under debate. Tumor stiffness could be recapitulated by bioprinted hydrogels; in particular, a 5% alginate hydrogel is able to reflect the breast cancer microenvironment and the co-printing of epithelial cells and adipocytes demonstrating the capability to grow in the bioprinted construct up to 10 days (Chaji et al., 2020).

3.2 Ovarian Cancer

Ovarian cancer genomic profile, unraveled by advanced sequencing technology, led to a deeper molecular classification of this cancer that is the seventh most lethal cancer in women. As solid tumor, also in ovarian cancer, the stromal component plays a relevant role in the cancer progression and invasion; hence, it is necessary to fabricate 3D in vitro predictive models that could recapitulate also the interaction between cancer cells and fibroblasts. A platform for high-throughput drug screening is obtained by means of a droplet-based bioprinting using fibroblasts and ovarian cancer cells mixed to Matrigel in order to copycat the multicellular microenvironment of ovarian cancer at micro-scale (Xu et al., 2011). The concept that cells grown on plastic dish have a different gene and protein expression profile is nowadays accepted. However, there is no universal accepted 3D in vitro model that can substitute the 2D cell culture methodology. Researchers have still a long way to go to recapitulate in vitro ovarian cancer even if bioprinting technology has been used for organ replacing in this field.



Fig. 2 The new generation of bioinks derived from decellularized extracellular matrix, such as murine or human ones. The mammary tissue is enzymatically digested through several steps that preserve the structural components. After the neutralization, the tissue extracts spontaneously polymerized (\mathbf{a}) and can be used at different concentrations (\mathbf{b}). (Reproduced and adapted with

3.3 Pancreatic Cancer

Pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma is one of the most silent cancers, with poor prognosis at the stage of the diagnosis. The current therapies for pancreatic cancer are not efficient also due to the desmoplastic microenvironment of the pancreatic tumor that hinders the drug treatment to reach the inner tumor core. Many biomaterials have been used as bioinks for supporting the 3D growth of pancreatic cancer cells in vitro. Methacrylate gelatin allows the investigation of the early stage of pancreatic cancer, in particular the differentiation process that leads exocrine pancreatic acinar cells to remodel the pancreatic microenvironment and trigger in some cases early lesion occurring in cancer (Hakobyan et al., 2020). A more sophisticated approach to recapitulate pancreatic cancer by means of bioprinting is the fabrication of biomimetic materials based on cellulose nanofibrils and photo-crosslinkable galactoglucomannan methacrylates. These materials are highly tunable when combined together; hence, the stiffness of the tumor tissue can be achieved, so the pancreatic cancer cells can proliferate and be studied (Xu et al., 2019). The technical advances in bioprinter allow the fabrication of complex 3D culture models suitable for high-throughput screening of new drugs. An example is the technology that allows the drop of pancreatic cancer cells and 4-arm PEG-based polymers in 96-well plate in a short time (seconds), enhancing the biocompatibility of the printing process by means of bioprinter with eight independent addressable nozzles (Utama et al., 2021). Going toward fast and high-throughput approach is the key to push bioprinting as standard for the preclinical studies. An attempt to recapitulate the interaction of pancreatic cancer and stroma cell is provided by the fabrication of bioprinted organoids in the absence of extracellular matrix in low-attachment 384or 1536-well plates. The organoids are obtained by bioprinting technology coupled with magnetic force and allow the testing of about 3300 approved drugs and proof of concept for the system (Hou et al., 2018).

3.4 Brain Cancer

Brain cancer, in particular glioblastoma, has a poor outcome due to its aggressiveness. Brain cancer develops resistance to the drugs caused by the intratumoral heterogeneity. Beside the presence of different populations of cells, the brain tumor microenvironment is also playing an important role in driving the progression of the

Fig. 2 (continued) permission from reference (Mollica et al., 2019)). Scanning electron microscopy images at day 3 of a 3D culture of bioprinted glioblastoma at two different magnifications ($400\times$ and $3500\times$) revealed the formation of spheroids in the bioprinted construct (**c**). (Reproduced and adapted with permission from reference (Lee et al., 2019)). Digital-light processing bioprinting allows the fabrication of a 3D model of hepatocarcinoma. Merged fluorescence and brightfield images show the HepG2 cells at day 7 of culture in soft (red), medium (green), and stiff condition (yellow) (**d**). (Reproduced and adapted with permission from reference (Ma et al., 2018))

disease. For this reason, 3D bioprinting offers an interesting platform to recapitulate this heterogeneity. A 3D glioblastoma model is obtained bioprinting glioblastoma cell together with a fibrin-based bioink by means of an Aspect Biosystems RX1 Bioprinter that minimized the shear stress allowing the growth of the cells for 12 days (Fig. 2c). Moreover, the cells formed spheroids, and the bioprinted constructs are challenged with novel treatment previously tested in 2D, demonstrating the higher resistance of the 3D glioblastoma model in comparison to the cells grown on plastic dish (Lee et al., 2019). Another attempt to model glioblastoma in vitro is achieved using a digital light processing bioprinter. This model is interesting because it combines patient-derived glioblastoma stem cells, macrophages, neuronal progenitor cells, and astrocytes. In this case, the bioprinting process ensures a spatial organization of the cells mimicking the brain tumor microenvironment and the tumor-immune cell interactions. This model highlights the role of macrophage in the chemoresistance and cancer invasion (Tang et al., 2021). A model based on RGD-modified alginate bioink mixed with stem and stromal cells, both derived from glioblastoma patient donors, reveals cisplatin resistance that has not been raised when the cells are cultured in 2D condition. The model obtained by means of extrusion-based bioprinting highlights the role of stromal cells in the response to the drug (Hermida et al., 2020). Recently published, another glioblastoma model combines two bioinks, fibrinogen and gelatin for the tumor part and the Pluronic F127, a thermos-reversible synthetic polymer, for the vascular part. The Pluronic F127 acts as a sacrificial material in order to provide the vascular network inside the tumor part. The bioprinted glioblastoma is exploited to test mechanical and biological properties, such as growth kinetics, invasion capabilities, response to therapies, and tumor genetic signature. The model is able to recapitulate better the glioblastoma progression and the response to therapy in comparison to 2D cells and can be a promising platform for preclinical research (Neufeld et al., 2021).

3.5 Hepatic Cancer

Liver cancer is the fifth most lethal cancer one, so there is an urgent need to generate in vitro models able to help in finding predictive markers for early diagnoses or understanding the mechanism of cancer progression and metastasis. Moreover, the liver is also the site of metastasis of many cancers. The HepG2 cell line is the most common choice to recapitulate liver cancer in vitro. The combination of these cell lines together with a gelatine/alginate based bioink has been used to develop a bioprinted model for hepatocarcinoma that has been characterized by immunofluorescence, gene expression, and transcriptome sequencing. This model demonstrates an overexpression of gene related to liver function and invasion. The researchers conclude that these differences in the molecular signature between 2D and 3D culture correlate with the difference in drug response in the models, making the 3D in vitro bioprinted model more eligible for realistic drug testing (Sun et al., 2020). If from one side cell lines are widely used for investigating cancer mechanisms, from the other side, it is widely accepted that a model including patient-derived cells is more reliable in terms of drug response and the study of chemoresistance. At this aim, a bioprinted model using patient-derived cells of hepatocarcinoma has been maintained for long-term culture, and interestingly, it retained the same molecular features of the parental hepatocarcinoma from which the cells are derived. The model is proposed as a platform for the reliable study of drug screening (Sun et al., 2020). Liver extracellular matrix is essential for the environmental cues that trigger invasion in cancer. For that, researchers tried to print a liver decellularized extracellular matrix by means of rapid light-based bioprinting technology (Fig. 2d). The expression of invasion-associated markers in the bioprinted model resulted in higher than 2D culture cells (Ma et al., 2018). Hepatocarcinoma microenvironment is quite complex and not composed only of epithelial cells. A model embedding not only parenchymal cells is obtained bioprinting HiPSC-hepatocyte spheroids together with mesenchymal and endothelial cells. These bioprinted constructs showed better liver functionality when stromal cells support hepatocytes during the 18 days of the experiments. This promising approach pave the way for the bioprinting of heterocellular model for hepatocarcinoma modelling in vitro (Goulart et al., 2020).

4 Current Limitations in 3D Bioprinting

Bioprinting is a technology in progress since it is still far from the concept of a widely accepted and validated 3D tissue bioprinted model. Cell viability can be hindered by the mechanical pressure of the printing process, also because the cells are usually not immersed in a culture medium. Optimizing the printing time could affect less the cell viability and obtain functional constructs, or another strategy could keep the bioprinted constructs slightly hydrated during the process. One limitation for bioprinting living tissue is the resolution of the existing methods for bioprinting that cannot reproduce the nanoscale hierarchical organization of the human extracellular microenvironment. Due to the limits in the maximum resolution reachable in printing (40-50 µm), it is necessary to highlight that with the current bioprinting approaches, it is not always possible to print more than two to three cell types simultaneously. Some tissues, instead, are made up of more than three cell types; hence, it becomes clear that they cannot ensure the totality of the biological and structural interactions that may exist among all the cell types and the surrounding microenvironment. The native complexity is still not recapitulated, so it is needed an ultimate effort in improving the technology and the know-how behind the bioprinting technology. Moreover, when culturing two or more than one cell type, it is interesting to point out that different types of cells could need different types of culture media and growth factors that are not always compatible with all the other cells in the bioprinted construct. The easiest solution is to distribute the cell culture media in different ratios following the proportionality among the cells. However, the medium is mixed but not spatially distributed, so it represents a very specific challenge that needs to be addressed likely combining 3D bioprinting with compartmentalized on-chip or bioreactor technologies. As a consequence of the medium choice and in the case of working on undifferentiated cells, it is important to delineate which stage of differentiation the cells should have. In fact, the bioprinted tissue could serve as a differentiation niche for stem cells, but also mature cells can be bioprinted in order to study the later stage of a process, such as cancer evolution.

5 Conclusion and Future Perspectives

Recent advances in tissue engineering lead to a large portfolio of bioprinted technologies that allow to recapitulate different cancer types at different stages. In this way, bioprinting improved the relevance of models for drug screening and testing along with the investigation of mechanisms underpinning cancer progression, drug resistance, and metastasis.

The bioprinted mimicking constructs support cell viability and maintain the functionality of the tissue they are mimicking. To recapitulate the complexity and cellular heterogeneity, more than one bioprinting technique can be needed coupled with different bioinks. At this purpose, bioinks can be mixed with tissue-specific decellularized ECM to improve the physiological relevance of the models.

Present challenges for a wider implementation of bioprinting technology are technically related to the development of new bioprinters with a higher spatial resolution and more physiologically performing bioinks. From this side, it is expected that bioengineering will continue supporting bioprinting progress and improvement with new materials with tunable properties that will allow a cell response to external stimuli for a dynamic temporal control on the cancer evolution in vitro.

Bioprinted living constructs, in particular the ones mimicking multicellular tumor niches, could be integrated in microfluidic chip or bioreactors that could provide by means of sensors interesting data regarding pH levels, glucose or lactate measurement, and gas exchange monitoring in real time both from the culture media and inside the bioprinted tissue.

Along this, it will be necessary to make software for the bioprinted design more and more friendly for users from different backgrounds, in order to move bioprinting from the bench to the clinical and industrial practice in the near future.

Acknowledgement This work was supported by EU-Horizon 2020 H2020-MSCA-IF-2019 grant number 893129. The author states that Fig. 1 has been created with BioRender.com.

Author Contribution VB: conceptualization, writing original draft, and funding acquisition.

Conflict of Interest The author declares that the chapter was written without any commercial or financial relationships that could represent a potential conflict of interest.

References

- Benam, K. H., et al. (2015). Engineered in vitro disease models. Annual Review of Pathology: Mechanisms of Disease, 10(1), 195–262. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-pathol-012414-040418
- Boularaoui, S., et al. (2020). An overview of extrusion-based bioprinting with a focus on induced shear stress and its effect on cell viability. *Bioprinting*. Elsevier Ltd, 20(August), e00093. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bprint.2020.e00093
- Chaji, S., Al-Saleh, J., & Gomillion, C. T. (2020). Bioprinted three-dimensional cell-laden hydrogels to evaluate adipocyte-breast cancer cell interactions. *Gels*, 6(1). https://doi.org/10.3390/ gels6010010
- Datta, P., et al. (2020). 3D bioprinting for reconstituting the cancer microenvironment. npj Precision Oncology. Springer US, 4(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41698-020-0121-2
- Davoodi, E., et al. (2020). Extrusion and microfluidic-based bioprinting to fabricate biomimetic tissues and organs. Advanced Materials Technologies, 5(8). https://doi.org/10.1002/ admt.201901044
- Germain, N., et al. (2022). Current advances in 3D bioprinting for cancer modeling and personalized medicine. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 23(7). https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijms23073432
- Goulart, E., et al. (2020). 3D bioprinting of liver spheroids derived from human induced pluripotent stem cells sustain liver function and viability in vitro. *Biofabrication*. IOP Publishing, 12(1). https://doi.org/10.1088/1758-5090/ab4a30
- Hakobyan, D., et al. (2020). Laser-assisted 3D bioprinting of exocrine pancreas spheroid models for cancer initiation study. *Biofabrication*, 12(3). https://doi.org/10.1088/1758-5090/ab7cb8
- Hanahan, D. (2022). Hallmarks of cancer: New dimensions. Cancer Discovery, 12(1), 31–46. https://doi.org/10.1158/2159-8290.CD-21-1059
- Hanahan, D., & Weinberg, R. A. (2000). The hallmarks of cancer. *Cell*, 100(1), 57–70. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00262-010-0968-0
- Hanahan, D., & Weinberg, R. A. (2011). Hallmarks of cancer: The next generation. *Cell*. Elsevier Inc., 144(5), 646–674. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013
- Hermida, M. A., et al. (2020). Three dimensional in vitro models of cancer: Bioprinting multilineage glioblastoma models. Advances in Biological Regulation. Elsevier, 75(October 2019), 100658. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbior.2019.100658
- Hickman, J. A., et al. (2014). Three-dimensional models of cancer for pharmacology and cancer cell biology: Capturing tumor complexity in vitro/ex vivo. *Biotechnology Journal*, 9(9), 1115–1128. https://doi.org/10.1002/biot.201300492
- Hou, S., et al. (2018). Advanced development of primary pancreatic organoid tumor models for high-throughput phenotypic drug screening. *SLAS Discovery*. Society for Laboratory Automation and Screening, 23(6), 574–584. https://doi.org/10.1177/2472555218766842
- Kim, J., Jang, J., & Cho, D. W. (2021). Recapitulating the cancer microenvironment using Bioprinting technology for precision medicine. *Micromachines*, 12(9). https://doi.org/10.3390/ mi12091122
- Klein-Goldberg, A., Maman, S., & Witz, I. P. (2014). The role played by the microenvironment in site-specific metastasis. *Cancer Letters*. Elsevier Ireland Ltd, 352(1), 54–58. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.canlet.2013.08.029
- Lee, J. Y., & Chaudhuri, O. (2017). Regulation of breast cancer progression by extracellular matrix mechanics: Insights from 3D culture models. ACS Biomaterials Science & Engineering, acsbiomaterials.7b00071. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsbiomaterials.7b00071
- Lee, C., et al. (2019). Bioprinting a novel glioblastoma tumor model using a fibrin-based bioink for drug screening. *Materials Today Chemistry*. Elsevier Ltd, 12, 78–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. mtchem.2018.12.005
- Ling, K., et al. (2015). Bioprinting-based high-throughput fabrication of three-dimensional MCF-7 human breast cancer cellular spheroids. *Engineering*. The Authors, 1(2), 269–274. https://doi. org/10.15302/J-ENG-2015062

- Lobo, D. A., et al. (2021). Cancer cell direct bioprinting: A focused review. *Micromachines*, *12*(7), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.3390/mi12070764
- Ma, X., et al. (2018). Rapid 3D bioprinting of decellularized extracellular matrix with regionally varied mechanical properties and biomimetic microarchitecture. *Biomaterials*. Elsevier, 185(July), 310–321. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2018.09.026
- Mehlen, P., & Puisieux, A. (2006). Metastasis: A question of life or death. Nature Reviews Cancer, 6(6), 449–458. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc1886
- Mollica, P. A., et al. (2019). 3D bioprinted mammary organoids and tumoroids in human mammary derived ECM hydrogels. Acta Biomaterialia. Acta Materialia Inc., 95, 201–213. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2019.06.017
- Monteiro, M. V., et al. (2022). 3D-bioprinted cancer-on-a-chip: Level-up organotypic in vitro models. Trends in Biotechnology, 40(4), 432–447. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibtech.2021.08.007
- Neufeld, L., et al. (2021). Microengineered perfusable 3D-bioprinted glioblastoma model for in vivo mimicry of tumor microenvironment. *Science Advances*, 7(34), 1–20. https://doi. org/10.1126/sciady.abi9119
- Quail, D. F., & Joyce, J. A. (2013). Microenvironmental regulation of tumor progression and metastasis. *Nature Medicine*, 19(11), 1423–1437. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.3394
- Ricles, L. M., et al. (2018). Regulating 3D-printed medical products, 6521(October), 1-7.
- Rodenhizer, D., et al. (2018). The current landscape of 3D in vitro tumor models: What cancer hallmarks are accessible for drug discovery? Advanced Healthcare Materials, 1701174, 1701174. https://doi.org/10.1002/adhm.201701174
- Sharifi, M., et al. (2021). 3D bioprinting of engineered breast cancer constructs for personalized and targeted cancer therapy. *Journal of Controlled Release*. Elsevier B.V., 333(November 2020), 91–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2021.03.026
- Singh, A., Brito, I., & Lammerding, J. (2018). Beyond tissue stiffness and bioadhesivity: Advanced biomaterials to model tumor microenvironments and drug resistance. *Trends in Cancer*. Elsevier Inc., 4(4), 281–291. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trecan.2018.01.008
- Skardal, A., & Atala, A. (2015). Biomaterials for integration with 3-D bioprinting. Annals of Biomedical Engineering, 43(3), 730–746. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10439-014-1207-1
- Sun, L., et al. (2020). Application of a 3D bioprinted hepatocellular carcinoma cell model in antitumor drug research. *Frontiers in Oncology*, 10(June), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fonc.2020.00878
- Swaminathan, S., et al. (2019). Bioprinting of 3D breast epithelial spheroids for human cancer models. *Biofabrication*. IOP Publishing, 11(2). https://doi.org/10.1088/1758-5090/aafc49
- Tang, M., et al. (2021). Rapid 3D bioprinting of glioblastoma model mimicking native biophysical heterogeneity. *Small*, *17*(15), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1002/smll.202006050
- Ungefroren, H., et al. (2011). Interaction of tumor cells with the microenvironment. *Cell Communication and Signaling*. BioMed Central Ltd, 9(1), 18. https://doi.org/10.1186/1478-811X-9-18
- Utama, R. H., et al. (2021). A covalently crosslinked ink for multimaterials drop-on-demand 3D bioprinting of 3D cell cultures. *Macromolecular Bioscience*, 21(9), 1–9. https://doi. org/10.1002/mabi.202100125
- Xu, F., et al. (2011). A three-dimensional in vitro ovarian cancer coculture model using a highthroughput cell patterning platform. *Biotechnology Journal*, 6(2), 204–212. https://doi. org/10.1002/biot.201000340
- Xu, W., et al. (2019). Surface engineered biomimetic inks based on UV cross-linkable wood biopolymers for 3D printing. ACS Applied Materials and Interfaces, 11(13), 12389–12400. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami.9b03442
- Zhang, Y. S., et al. (2017). 3D bioprinting for tissue and organ fabrication. *Annals of Biomedical Engineering*, 45(1), 148–163. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10439-016-1612-8
- Zhang, T., et al. (2021). Bioink design for extrusion-based bioprinting. *Applied Materials Today*. Elsevier Ltd, 25, 101227. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmt.2021.101227
- Zhou, X., et al. (2016). 3D bioprinting a cell-laden bone matrix for breast cancer metastasis study. ACS Applied Materials and Interfaces, 8(44), 30017–30026. https://doi.org/10.1021/ acsami.6b10673

Monoclonal Antibodies in Nanosystems as a Strategy for Cancer Treatment



João Vito Barroso de Freitas, Alice Vitoria Frota Reis, Alan Denis Olivindo Silva, Ana Carolina Cruz de Sousa, Jéssica Roberta Pereira Martins, Karina Alexandre Barros Nogueira, Thais da Silva Moreira, Raquel Petrilli, and Josimar O. Eloy

Abbreviations

2-MEA	β-Mercaptoethylamine
5-FU	5-Fluorouracil
A549	Adenocarcinomic human basal alveolar epithelial cells
Abs	Antibodies
Ab-SH	Antibody with sulfhydryl thiolation reaction
ADC	Antibody-drug conjugate
ADCC	Antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity
AMF	Magnetic fields
anti-GPC3	Anti-glypican-3 antibody
AuNPs	Inorganic gold nanoparticles
BME	β-Mercaptoethanol
BsAbs	Bispecific antibodies

J. V. B. de Freitas · A. V. F. Reis · A. D. O. Silva · A. C. C. de Sousa · T. da Silva Moreira · J. O. Eloy (\boxtimes)

Federal University of Ceará, Faculty of Pharmacy, Dentistry and Nursing, Department of Pharmacy, Fortaleza, Brazil e-mail: josimar.eloy@ufc.br

J. R. P. Martins Federal University of Ceará, Northeast Network in Biotechnology – Renorbio, Fortaleza, Brazil

K. A. B. Nogueira Federal University of Ceará, Center of Technology, Department of Chemical Engineering, Fortaleza, Brazil

R. Petrilli

University for International Integration of the Afro-Brazilian Lusophony, Institute of Health Sciences, Redenção, Brazil

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 Â. M. Almeida de Sousa et al. (eds.), *Cancer Nanotechnology*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-17831-3_5

BT474	Human breast carcinoma with HER2 overexpression
BVZ	Bevacizumab
С	Constant
Calcein-AM	Calcein acetoxymethyl ester
CDC	Antibody-mediated complement-dependent cytotoxicity
CDR	Complementarity-determining regions
CET	Cetuximab
Chi	Chitosan
CMD	Carboxymethyl dextran
CNBr	Cyanogen bromide
CPT	Camptothecin
CTLA-4	Cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4
CuAAC	[3+2] Azide-alkyne cycloaddition reaction catalyzed by
	copper(I)
DA	Diels-Alder reaction
DMF	Dimethylformamide
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DOX	Doxorubicin
DSPE	1.2-Distearovl-sn-glycero-3-phosphorylethanolamine
DSPE-PEG2000	1.2-Distearovl-sn-glycero-3-phosphoethanolamine-N-
	[amino(polyethylene glycol)-2000]
DSPS	1,2-Distearoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphocholine
DTT	Dithiothreitol
DTX	Docetaxel
EDC	1-Ethyl-3-(-3-dimethylaminopropyl) carbodiimide
EGFR vIII	Epidermal growth factor receptor variant III
EGFR	Epidermal growth factor receptor
EPR	Enhanced permeability and retention
Fab	Antigen-binding fragments
Fc	Crystallizable fragment
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
FITC	Fluorescein isothiocvanate
FRET	Fluorescence resonance energy transfer
GPC3	Glypican-3
Н	Heavy
HACA	Human anti-chimeric antibodies
HAMA	Human anti-mouse antibodies
HCC	Hepatocellular carcinoma
HCC827	Lung cancer cell line
HCT 116	Human colon cancer cell line
HepG2	Hepatocellular carcinoma cell line
HER	Herceptin
HER2	Human epidermal growth factor receptor-type 2
	1 2 1 71

HGC-27	Human gastric carcinoma cell line derived from the metastatic
	lymph node of gastric cancer (undifferentiated carcinoma)
HKH-2	Human colon cancer cell line
ICP-MS	Inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry
iEDDA	Inverse electron demand hetero-Diels-Alder reaction
L	Light
LN	Lipid nanoparticles
mAb	Monoclonal antibodies
MAC	Membrane attack complex
Mal	Maleimide
MCF-7	Human breast cancer cell line
MDA-MB-231	Breast cancer strain isolated from pleural effusion with low
	expression of HER2
MDA-MB-453	Human breast cancer cell line
MEA	2-Mercaptoethylamine
MES	2-(N-Morpholino)ethanesulfonic acid
MGC-803	Human gastric cancer cell line
MKN-45	Gastric adenocarcinoma cells
MMAE	Monomethyl auristatin E
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging
MSNPs	Mesoporous silica nanoparticles
MTT	Bromide of (4,5-dimetilltiazol-2-il)-2,5-difeniltetrazolium
mV	Millivolts
NB	Nanobubble
NHS	N-Hydroxysuccinimide
NK	Natural killer cell
NLC	Nanostructured lipid carriers
nm	Nanometer
NP	Nanoparticle
P123	Pluronic
PANC-1	Human pancreatic cancer cell line isolated from pancreatic car-
	cinoma of ductal cell origin
PCL	Poly(ɛ-caprolactone)
PD-1	Programmed cell death receptor 1
PD-L1	Programmed death ligand 1
PDLA	Poly(D-lactic acid)
PDLLA	Poly(D,L-lactic acid)
PEG	Polyethylene glycol
PGA	Poly(glycolic acid)
pH	Hydrogen potential
pI	Isoelectric point
PLA	Poly(lactic acid)
PLGA	Poly(lactide-co-glycolide)
PLLA	Poly(L-lactic acid)
PTT	Photothermal therapy

PTX	Paclitaxel
QD	Quantum dots
RAPA	Rapamycin
RES	Reticuloendothelial system
SAMSA	S-Acetylmercaptosuccinic anhydride
SATA	N-Succinimidyl S-acetylthioacetate
SATP	N-Succinimidyl S-acetylthiopropionate
scFv	Single-chain variable fragment
SFB	Sorafenib
SIA	N-Succinimidyl iodoacetate
SKBR-3	Human breast cancer cell lines that overexpress HER2
SLNs	Solid lipid nanoparticles
SMCC	Succinimidyl 4-(N-maleimidomethyl)
	cyclohexane-1-carboxylate
SMPT	4-Succinimidyloxycarbonyl- α -methyl- α -[2-pyridyldithio]
	toluene
SPAAC	Strain-promoted [3+2] azide-alkyne cycloaddition reaction
SPDP	N-Succinimidyl 3-(2-pyridyldithio)propionate
SPIONs	Superparamagnetic nanoparticles
Sulfo-LC-SMPT	Sulfosuccinimidyl 6-[α-methyl-α-(2-pyridyldithio)tolua-
	mido]hexanoate
Sulfo-LC-SPDP	Sulfosuccinimidyl 6-[3'-(2-pyridyldithio)propionamido]
	hexanoate
Sulfo-NHS	N-Hydroxysulfosuccinimide
Sulfo-SMCC	Sulfosuccinimidyl 4-(N-maleimidomethyl)
	cyclohexane-1-carboxylate
TCEP	Tris-(2-carboxyethyl)phosphine
TCO	Trans-cyclooctene
THF	Tetrahydrofuran
THPP	Tris-(3-hydroxypropyl)phosphine
Tmab	Trastuzumab
TMZ	Temozolomide
TPGS	D-α-Tocopheryl polyethylene glycol succinate
TPGS-COOH	Carboxyl-terminated TPGS
Tz	Tetrazine diene
U87MG vIII	Glioblastoma cells expressing mutant epidermal growth factor
	VIII receptor
U87MG	Cell line with epithelial morphology isolated from malig-
	nant gliomas
US	Ultrasound
V	Variable
VEFGA	Vascular endothelial growth factor A
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
WHO	World Health Organization

1 Introduction

Cancer is the term used to designate a group of diseases, whose origin occurs with an uncontrollable and disordered multiplication of cells (WHO, 2021). Thus, depending on the embryonic origin from which this cell aggregate originates, the cancer will have different nomenclatures, for example, when derived from the epithelial secretory glands, the tumors is called adenocarcinoma. According to the World Health Organization (WHO), in 2020, an average of 18 million new cases of cancer were observed in the world, with lung cancer in men (1,435,943) and breast cancer in women being more frequent (2,261,419). Following the average growth of the world population, for the year 2030, it is estimated that the world will register 24.6 million new cases of cancer, increasing to 30.2 million in 2040 (GCO-WHO, 2020; Kumar et al., 2013).

Depending on the type and stage of the tumor, location, and health status of the patient, among other factors, some cancer treatment options can be listed, such as surgery, chemotherapy, radiotherapy, hormone therapy, targeted therapy, immuno-therapy, or a combination of more of a treatment modality (WHO, 2021). However, despite the wide range of possibilities, cancer therapy still presents a series of challenges, whether due to tumor resistance mechanisms (highly mutable) or high toxic-ity, with low preservation of other organs, leading to a series of side effects and consequent reduction in the patient's quality of life.

When a cancer cell appears, tumor antigens are expressed on its surface. In this way, the immune system, through innate (natural killer cells and macrophages) and adaptive (CD4 and CD8 lymphocytes and antibodies) immunity, recognizes and destroys this potential tumor cell. However, these tumor cells can undergo mutations or modifications, known as evasion mechanisms, allowing their survival in the face of the immune system attack. In addition, there may also be failure of the immune response due to tumor growth and proliferation overcoming the ability of the immune system to control. Thus, malignant tumor lethality is associated with dysregulated proliferative activity, resistance to death by apoptosis, and ability to invade tissues and metastasize to other sites (Abbas et al., 2019).

Antibodies can activate the complement system, mediate antibody-dependent cytotoxicity, or serve as drug carriers. Recombinant monoclonal antibody, such as trastuzumab, an anti-HER2 mAb, can act in monotherapy or drug combination, causing cancer cell death (Cameron et al., 2017). Radiolabeled monoclonal antibodies, in turn, are conjugated to radioisotopes and can be used both for early diagnosis and for cancer therapy, for example, ibritumomab tiuxetan, which has a radioactive isotope (yttrium-90 or indium-111), used in the treatment of non-Hodgkin lymphoma (Theuer et al., 2004). Acting similarly, antibody-drug conjugates (ADCs) have chemotherapeutic drugs attached, such as brentuximab vedotin, an antibody that targets the CD30 antigen, linked to the antimicrotubule agent monomethyl auristatin E (MMAE) (Eichenauer et al., 2018). The ADC technology has high affinity with a specific receptor present on the surface of tumor cells, releasing the drug in the region of interest and consequently protecting other organs and

tissues from cytotoxic effects; examples of this technology are brentuximab vedotin (Adcetris®) and trastuzumab emtansine (Kadcyla®) (Mitra et al., 2015).

In recent years, nanocarriers have attracted the attention of the scientific community. Nanocarriers are extremely small structures, from 0 to 1000 nm, developed with the aim of increasing the bioavailability of drugs by protecting the drug from physiological degradation, allowing control of the release, and, mainly, directing the therapy to have greater selectivity at the pathological site. In this sense, in cancer treatment, nanocarriers help the anticancer drug to accumulate in the tumor tissue, avoiding exposure to cytotoxicity to the rest of the body (Ernsting et al., 2013). Among the carriers, micelles, polymeric nanoparticles, liposomes, solid lipid nanoparticles, and several inorganic nanoparticles stand out, which will be addressed herein. Some formulations using nanocarriers have already been approved by the FDA for clinical use, such as Doxil®, a liposomal formulation of doxorubicin used to treat Kaposi's sarcoma, refractory ovarian cancer, and refractory breast cancer, and Abraxane®, in which the chemotherapy paclitaxel is efficiently associated with albumin nanoparticle for the treatment of breast cancer and pancreatic cancer (Northfelt et al., 1996; Saif, 2013).

Thus, in this chapter, nanoparticle targeting with mAbs will be discussed, which consists of functionalized nanostructures to deliver antineoplastic agents efficiently and specifically to tumor cells/tissues/organs. These can be chemically modified with several ligands for specific targeting the tumor and controlled release of the active substance, facilitating the uptake of tumor cells and increasing the retention and accumulation of nanoparticles in the tumor microenvironment. In this sense, suitable bioconjugation strategies to immobilize antibodies on the surface of nanoparticles will be addressed, demonstrating the fundamental principles of the most widely used functionalization methods. We discuss the methodologies of adsorption, covalent conjugation (carbodiimide chemistry, maleimide chemistry, and "click" chemistry), in addition to the biotin-avidin interaction. Furthermore, the chapter will cover the main physicochemical characteristics of functionalized nanoparticles, as well as their biological performance, both in vitro and in vivo.

2 Monoclonal Antibodies in Cancer Therapy (mAbs)

2.1 Antibody Structure

Only approximately three decades after the experiment by Tiselius and Kabat, which demonstrated that immunoglobulins belong to the gamma fraction of serum and that they had specificity against particular antigens, the structure of antibodies was elucidated (Singh et al., 2020). It appears in a Y shape, where the arms are represented by two antigen-binding fragments (Fab) and the base by a crystallizable fragment (Fc) (Fig. 5.1) (Parakh et al., 2020; Singh et al., 2020). An antibody is composed of two identical light (L) chains and two identical heavy (H) chains. Each



Fig. 5.1 General structure of antibodies and different mAbs types used in cancer therapy. Schematic representation of bispecific mAbs (BsAbs) IgG-like (a), non-IgG-like (b), and antibody-drug conjugates (ADC) (c). Development of monoclonal antibodies (d-g) represented in light blue (murine regions) and dark blue (human regions)

of the four polypeptide chains has constant regions (C) and variable regions (V), with respect to the nature and sequence of amino acids present between different antibodies (Eloy et al., 2017c). Together, the variable domains of the L and H chains constitute the antigen-binding site. The ability of antibodies to recognize and demonstrate binding specificity for a wide range of targets is related to the presence of complementarity-determining regions (CDRs) in variable domains. In all, a single Fab portion concentrates six CDRs which, in turn, form the antigen-binding loop (Parakh et al., 2020). The Fc portion is composed only of two pairs of paired heavy chain domains (Binyamin et al., 2006). It mediates interactions between antibodies and most cells of the immune system and is therefore essential for the maintenance of Immunoglobulin effector functions. It is also the genetic nature of the constant domains of the H chain of an antibody that determines its class, which will have individual biological structure and function. The IgA, IgD, IgE, IgG, and IgM classes have H chains called α (alpha), δ (deltha), ϵ (epsilon), γ (gamma), and μ (micro), respectively (Eloy et al., 2017c). In addition to being the most abundant isotype in the human body, IgG is also the most used in the production of therapeutic mAbs and drugs based on them, being subdivided into four subclasses, IgG1, IgG2, IgG3, and IgG4 (Kumar et al., 2017).

2.2 Biotechnological Synthesis Techniques

Hybridoma technology was a pioneer in the development and isolation of mAbs, and, even almost 50 years after its emergence, it is still widely used (Moraes et al., 2021). However, the success of this technique in the synthesis of mAbs has also brought to light a central problem in this field, the generation of human anti-mouse antibodies (HAMA) in response to their administration to humans (Liu, 2014; Stern & Herrmann, 2005). This is because the immunoglobulins from rodents, animals initially used, are foreign to the human organism and, therefore, like any unknown antigens, are seen as a threat. As a result, the search for technologies that allow the production of humanized or fully human mAbs for therapeutic use has intensified (Parray et al., 2020). Therefore, these technologies can be used both in upstream processing operations and in downstream processing operations (Carrara et al., 2021). In the first case, genetic engineering is used to obtain human antibody sequences without the need for further modifications. This translates into the use of synthesis techniques that allow the direct generation of fully human antibodies, such as the transgenic mouse technology and antibody phage display libraries (Carrara et al., 2021; Lonberg, 2008).

2.2.1 Hybridoma

The principle of the primary technique described by Kohler and Milstein in 1975 is based on three main steps. Initially, the animal of a particular species is exposed to the antigen of interest. From then on, the host's own immune system will be responsible for establishing an immune response, leading to the generation of B lymphocytes that produce antibodies against specific epitopes of the antigen. Once synthesized in the living organism, the short-lived, mature antibody-producing B lymphocytes are fused to immortalized myeloma cells (Liu, 2014; Parray et al., 2020). For the fusion of both cells, polyethylene glycol polymer (PEG), fusogenic viruses, or the application of an electric field can be used (Moraes et al., 2021). The resulting hybrid cell is called a hybridoma, which will be equipped with the ability to secrete highly specific monovalent antibodies and, at the same time, will possess "immortality." However, the population of hybridomas initially generated is not homogeneous, as it results from fusion to different clones of host B lymphocytes, each of which secretes individual antibodies specific for a particular epitope of the antigen (Liu, 2014). For this reason, the last central step of this technique consists of the selection of clones secreting the antibodies of interest and their subsequent large-scale cultivation (Moraes et al., 2021).

2.2.2 Transgenic Mouse

The transgenic mouse technology was described in the 1990s by two different research groups that generated animals genetically modified to be able to harbor a repertoire of human immunoglobulins (Parray et al., 2020). To make this possible,

endogenous murine heavy and light chain genes were silenced, while transgenic human genes encoding the same structures were introduced into the animal genome (Lonberg, 2008; Moraes et al., 2021). A method widely used for this purpose is pronuclear microinjection, where the human DNA fragment is inserted into the pronucleus of fertilized eggs of the mouse and, therefore, propagates through the cell germ line (Lonberg, 2008). As a result, the animal would preserve its ability to generate binding specificity from recombination of genes from the variable portion of the chains, immunoglobulin class switching, as well as their affinity maturation (Liu, 2014; Thomas, 2015). However, once immunized against an antigen of interest, the B cells of the transgenic animal would lead to the production not of murine antibodies, but of human antibodies against a variety of targets. The use of transgenic animals also allows access to the ease and reproducibility of mAb isolation using hybridoma technology, since human antibody-producing B cells can be collected and fused to myeloma cells (Moraes et al., 2021).

2.2.3 Phage Display

Another important methodology described in the 1990s applicable to the generation of fully human monoclonal antibodies is the phage display technology, originating from the homonymous concept initially proposed by George Smith in 1985 (Moraes et al., 2021; Smith, 1985). The basis for this technique emerged from the discovery that foreign gene fragments could be incorporated into the DNA of filamentous bacteriophage viruses and expressed on their surface along with their endogenous fusion proteins (Lonberg, 2008). Thus, once a repertoire of immunoglobulin variable region gene clones with diverse specificity is inserted into these viral particles, one has a vast library of antibody phage display. Therefore, with the antigen of interest in hand, this library can be accessed for affinity selection of target-specific fragments in a process called biopanning (Moraes et al., 2021). The bacteriophage, or phage, that expresses the compatible antibody portion is used as a vector for the insertion of the gene into prokaryotic organisms, such as E. coli, where it will be replicated and expressed, leading to the formation of new phage copies (Kumar et al., 2019). The cycle is repeated a few times, in order to obtain a population of fragments as homogeneous and specific as possible, as the lower affinity phages are removed (Lu et al., 2020). The antibody fragments most used in this methodology are the single-chain variable fragment (scFv) and the Fab, which can be directly applied in cancer therapy and diagnosis, but are preferentially converted into other formats, such as IgG or bispecific mAbs, which will be addressed later (Alibakhshi et al., 2017; Kumar et al., 2019).

2.3 Engineered Therapeutic mAbs

In addition to the synthesis strategies that allow the direct generation of human mAbs, such as the transgenic mouse and phage display techniques, the humanization of murine antibodies can be performed in the immunoglobulin downstream processing phase, which involves, among other steps, the modification and optimization of the final molecule (Carrara et al., 2021; Lonberg, 2008). This synthesis route is used on a large scale, since, despite being little applicable for therapeutic use in humans, mouse mAbs can be produced efficiently, quickly, and less expensively (Lu et al., 2020). Using molecular engineering techniques, it was possible to combine critical sequences from human antibodies to the structure of murine antibodies, preserving the essential characteristics for therapeutic activity and reducing the immunogenicity of the resulting hybrid molecule (Binyamin et al., 2006; Lu et al., 2020). Through the nomenclature assigned to each mAb used in the clinic, the species from which it originates can be identified. Murine, chimeric, humanized, and human antibodies are given the suffixes -momab, -ximab, -zumab, and -umab, respectively (Eloy et al., 2017c; Lu et al., 2020). Examples of monoclonal antibodies approved for cancer therapy are listed in Table 5.1.

2.3.1 Chimeric mAbs

Murine antibodies can be converted into chimeric mAbs through a process called chimerization, which consists of joining the variable domains of the mouse antibody to the constant portion of a human antibody (Fig. 5.1) (Carter, 2006). Although they still involve the risk of developing HAMA or, as they are called, human antichimeric antibodies (HACA) (Ternant & Paintaud, 2005) when administered to humans, chimeric mAbs are safer and more efficient when compared to mouse mAbs (Singh et al., 2020). This is due to the fact that chimeric immunoglobulins have approximately two-thirds of the human structural sequence, in addition to a half-life of close to 10 days, almost seven times longer than that shown by mouse mAbs (Kumar et al., 2019; Singh et al., 2020). The first mAb approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for the treatment of cancer, rituximab, is a chimeric IgG1 that, even two decades after its arrival on the market, remained among the ten mAbs that led the ranking of sales by pharmaceutical companies, moving almost seven billion dollars in 2018 (Lu et al., 2020).

2.3.2 Humanized mAbs

In humanized mAbs, only the complementarity-determining regions (CDR) of the variable portion of the molecule are of murine origin, resulting in an approximately 95% human molecule (Stern & Herrmann, 2005). Consequently, in addition to reduced immunogenicity compared to chimeric mAbs, humanized mAbs also

					FDA	
mAb	Target	Type	Technology	Indication	approval	Reference
Rituximab	CD20	Chimeric IgG1	Hybridoma	Non-Hodgkin lymphoma, chronic lymphocytic leukemia	1997	Lu et al. (2020), Si et al. (2021)
Trastuzumab	HER2	Humanized IgG1	Hybridoma	HER2-positive breast cancer, stomach cancer	1998	Lu et al. (2020), Si et al. (2021)
Alemtuzumab	CD52	Humanized IgG1	Hybridoma	Chronic lymphocytic leukemia	2001	Lu et al. (2020), Si et al. (2021)
Ibritumomab tiuxetan	CD20	Murine IgG1	Hybridoma	Non-Hodgkin lymphoma	2002	Lu et al. (2020), Si et al. (2021)
Cetuximab	EGFR	Chimeric IgG1	Hybridoma	Metastatic colorectal, metastatic NSCL, and head and neck cancer	2004	Lu et al. (2020), Si et al. (2021)
Bevacizumab	VEGF-A	Humanized IgG1	Hybridoma	Colon, lung, and renal cancer, glioblastoma	2004	FDA (2022), Lu et al. (2020), Si et al. (2021)
Panitumumab	EGFR	Human IgG2	Transgenic mice	Colorectal cancer	2006	Lu et al. (2020), Si et al. (2021)
Ofatumumab	CD20	Human IgG1	Transgenic mice	Chronic lymphocytic leukemia	2009	Lu et al. (2020), Si et al. (2021)
Ipilimumab	CTLA-4	Human IgG1	Transgenic mice	Melanoma	2011	Lu et al. (2020), Si et al. (2021)
Pertuzumab	HER2	Humanized IgG1	Hybridoma	HER2-positive breast cancer	2012	Lu et al. (2020), Si et al. (2021)
Obinutuzumab	CD20	Humanized IgG1	Hybridoma	Chronic lymphocytic leukemia	2013	Lu et al. (2020), Si et al. (2021)

 Table 5.1
 FDA-approved mAbs for cancer treatment

(continued)

					FDA	
. 1	m (T	 .	T 1' /'	first	DC
mAb	Target	Туре	Technology	Indication	approval	Reference
Ramucirumab	VEGFR-2	Human IgG1	Phage display	Gastric cancer	2014	Lu et al. (2020), Si et al. (2021)
Blinatumomab	CD19, CD3	Murine bispecific scFv	Hybridoma	Acute lymphoblastic leukemia	2014	Lu et al. (2020), Si et al. (2021)
Nivolumab	PD-1	Human IgG4	Transgenic mice	Melanoma, NSCL cancer, Hodgkin lymphoma, renal cell carcinoma	2014	Lu et al. (2020), Si et al. (2021)
Pembrolizumab	PD-1	Humanized IgG4	Hybridoma	Melanoma, NSCL, head and neck squamous cell, gastric, cervical, and hepatocellular cancers, Hodgkin lymphoma, urothelial carcinoma	2014	FDA (2022), Lu et al. (2020), Si et al. (2021)
Necitumumab	EGFR	Human IgG1	Phage display	NSCL cancer	2015	Lu et al. (2020), Si et al. (2021)
Dinutuximab	GD2	Chimeric IgG1	Hybridoma	Neuroblastoma	2015	Lu et al. (2020), Si et al. (2021)
Daratumumab	CD38	Human IgG1	Transgenic mice	Multiple myeloma	2015	Lu et al. (2020), Si et al. (2021)
Elotuzumab	SLAMF7	Humanized IgG1	Hybridoma	Multiple myeloma	2015	Lu et al. (2020), Si et al. (2021)
Atezolizumab	PD-L1	Humanized IgG1	Hybridoma	NSCL cancer	2016	FDA (2022), Lu et al. (2020), Si et al. (2021)
Avelumab	PD-L1	Human IgG1	Phage display	Merkel cell carcinoma	2017	Lu et al. (2020), Si et al. (2021)

 Table 5.1 (continued)

(continued)

					FDA	
					first	
mAb	Target	Туре	Technology	Indication	approval	Reference
Durvalumab	PD-L1	Human IgG1	Transgenic mice	Urothelial carcinoma, NSCL cancer	2017	FDA (2022), Si et al. (2021)
Cemiplimab	PD-1	Human mAb	Transgenic mice	Cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma, basal cell carcinoma, NSCL cancer	2018	FDA (2022), Si et al. (2021)

 Table 5.1 (continued)

Abbreviation: NSCL non-small cell lung cancer

demonstrate a longer half-life of approximately 12–20 days (Kumar et al., 2019). For its production, one of the most used techniques is CDR grafting, in which the antigen-binding loops of mouse antibodies are allocated to a human antibody. Therefore, the same human immunoglobulin structural sequence can be used for the synthesis of mAbs against different targets, since its binding specificity will be determined by the grafted CDR sequence (Winter & Harris, 1993). However, in some cases, the recognition and binding affinity of the immunoglobulin antigen do not depend only on the CDRs but also on amino acids present specifically in the structural sequence of the murine antibody, but not necessarily in the human antibody. When this occurs, to reverse the impairment of target binding activity, the CDR grafting technique can be accompanied by "human back to mouse" mutations (Lu et al., 2020; Winter & Harris, 1993).

2.3.3 Human mAbs

Almost 10 years after the approval of rituximab, the first fully human mAb aimed at cancer therapy, IgG2 panitumumab, arrived on the market (Lu et al., 2020). Despite having a half-life similar to that of humanized mAbs, from 15 to 20 days, fully human mAbs are the most suitable for therapeutic purposes because they share the same structural framework as antibodies physiologically produced in the human body (Kumar et al., 2019). In the oncological therapeutic context, the two main techniques used for its production are the phage display and the use of transgenic mice, already discussed above (Lu et al., 2020; Si et al., 2021; Carter, 2006).

2.3.4 Bispecific mAbs

Another format of mAbs that emerged in the therapeutic horizon of cancer as a product of antibody engineering was the bispecifics (BsAbs). These are designed so that the variable region of each Fab portion of the molecule expresses specificity for

a particular antigen (Rodgers & Chou, 2016). Structurally, BsAbs are divided into two main groups, the IgG-like, which have the Fc portion in their molecule, and the non-IgG-like, which present themselves as fragments without the Fc portion, but the possibilities of conformational variation within each of them are many (Krishnamurthy & Jimeno, 2018). Figure 5.1 shows some examples of possible structural conformations. As a reflex, while IgG-like BsAbs are able to mediate Fc-dependent effector functions, described in the next topic, non-IgG-like BsAbs are more applicable to the simultaneous interruption of multiple cell signaling pathways by blocking receptors or of their respective ligands. Furthermore, because of their smaller size, BsAbs without the Fc portion exhibit better tissue penetration, but shorter half-life and stability when compared to IgG-like bispecific antibodies (Lim et al., 2021). The only bispecific mAb that currently has approval for the treatment of cancer is blinatumomab, a single-chain variable fragment BsAb (scFv), but which should soon compose a vast list as hundreds of clinical studies involving bispecific mAbs for cancer therapy are ongoing (Lim et al., 2021; Rodgers & Chou, 2016).

2.4 Therapeutic Applications of mAbs in Cancer Therapy

In the treatment of cancer, monoclonal antibodies can exert their therapeutic effect by direct mechanisms, commonly mediated by the variable portions of the molecule; by indirect mechanisms, mediated by its Fc portion; or even by both mechanisms concomitantly (Foltz et al., 2013). Direct mechanisms involve the binding of the mAb to the target, which can be a specific tumor marker, a receptor or protein expressed on the surface of the tumor cell, or even a growth factor, for example. In contrast, indirect mechanisms refer to the cascade of immunological events that are carried out by cells of the host immune system in response to the binding of the mAb to the target antigen and that similarly result in the death of cancer cells (Lee et al., 2018). For indirect mechanisms, particularly, the Fc portion of the molecule and the subtype determined by it are closely related to the cytotoxic ability demonstrated by the mAb, with IgG 1 and 3 being the most used for this proposal (Foltz et al., 2013; Hafeez et al., 2018; Rodgers & Chou, 2016). In this topic, the effector mechanisms of therapeutic mAbs will be discussed when in monotherapy, as well as in their conjugated form to other cytotoxic molecules, such as drugs, toxins, or radioisotopes (Binyamin et al., 2006).

2.4.1 Blocking Cell Signaling

Tumor development and progression are closely dependent on the occurrence of several pathophysiological events mediated by different cell signaling pathways. It is from the interaction between chemical mediators and their respective receptors that processes related to angiogenesis, proliferation, growth, and cell survival begin

(Rodgers & Chou, 2016). For this reason, blocking cell-to-cell signaling represents one of the mechanisms that make mAbs valuable therapeutic tools in the context of cancer. Within this proposal, mAbs can be designed to bind to soluble mediators in the tumor microenvironment, such as growth factors and cytokines, or to their respective receptors located on the surface of the cell membrane (Shuptrine et al., 2012). In both cases, signaling is disrupted and so are cellular responses mediated by receptor-ligand binding. For example, bevacizumab, a humanized IgG1, is a mAb against vascular endothelial growth factor A (VEFGA) that steals it from the microenvironment by preventing it from interacting with its receptor on the tumor cell (Hafeez et al., 2018). Cetuximab, a chimeric IgG1, is a widely studied epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) inhibitor that occupies the outer portion of the receptor, preventing its ligand from doing so.

In addition to cetuximab, other mAbs against EGFR, also known as erbB1 or HER1, and against HER2/erbB2, another member of the erbB family of receptors, have also been linked to increased internalization, downregulation, and degradation of target receptors, either individually or in association with other mAbs. However, the mechanism by which they exert this effect is still unclear and remains under investigation (Jaramillo et al., 2006; Jones et al., 2020).

2.4.2 Antibody-Dependent Cellular Cytotoxicity (ADCC)

In ADCC, the mAb acts as a mediator between the cancer cell and an effector cell of the immune system. With the former, it establishes an antigen-specific binding through its Fab domain, while, with the latter, it interacts through a link between its Fc domain and Fcy receptors present on the surface of immune cells (Hafeez et al., 2018). Fcy receptors are divided into activating and inhibitory, and the action of immune cells on the tumor cell depends on a favorable balance to the activation stimuli for it to occur. IgG1 and IgG3 MAbs, in particular, are able to bind to activation receptors present in the membrane of natural killer (NK) cells of the immune system, in greater proportion, and of monocytes and macrophages, to a lesser extent (Shuptrine et al., 2012). Upon recognizing the monoclonal antibody attached to the cancer cell membrane, the effector cells secrete mainly granzymes and perforins, substances that lead to cell lysis and death by different mechanisms (Rodgers & Chou, 2016; Shuptrine et al., 2012). Trastuzumab and pertuzumab, both humanized IgG1 anti-HER2, are examples of mAbs that concentrate the ability to exert direct mechanisms of action on the antigen, as well as to generate ADCC (Foltz et al., 2013; Hafeez et al., 2018).

Some studies carried out in the last 20 years were successful in correlating the antitumor activity of mAbs that act by this mechanism and the functionality of Fc γ receptors. In summary, the presence of functional activating Fc γ and the absence or poor expression of inhibitory Fc γ have been shown to be determinant factors of the therapeutic efficacy of rituximab and trastuzumab in vivo. Furthermore, the presence of polymorphic inhibitory Fc γ that potentiate the affinity of effector cells for

the Fc portion of antibodies also proved to be an important marker of response to ADCC-triggering mAbs (Shuptrine et al., 2012).

2.4.3 Antibody-Mediated Complement-Dependent Cytotoxicity (CDC)

Similar to ADCC, in the complement-dependent cytotoxicity mechanism, mAbs need to communicate with a component of the immune system to cause cell death, but in this case, they are not effector cells, but a group of plasma proteins. The complement system, as it is called, is composed of a series of enzymes that are inactive when soluble, but which, once activated, initiate or continue a proteolytic cascade that culminates in the lysis of the target cell (Shuptrine et al., 2012). Also as in ADCC, the most efficient IgG subtypes in the recruitment of complement system proteins are the IgG1 and IgG3 isotypes (Rodgers & Chou, 2016). In the presence of two or more mAbs coupled to the tumor cell membrane, the classical pathway of activation of the complement system begins with the binding of the C1 protein complex to the Fc domains of both immunoglobulins. From then on, in sequence, other proteins of the complement system are recruited and cleaved, one by one, into two fragments. While one of them is returned to the blood plasma to perform other biological functions, the other is covalently bound to the membrane of the target cell and conjugated to the proteolytic complex that is formed there. As the final event of this cascade, the formation of the membrane attack complex (MAC) occurs, which allows the opening of pores on the surface of the tumor cell and, consequently, its rupture and death (Shuptrine et al., 2012). Examples of therapeutic mAbs that can generate CDC are human IgG1 of atumumab and humanized IgG1 alemtuzumab (Foltz et al., 2013; Lu et al., 2020).

2.4.4 Cancer Immunotherapy

Although its theoretical bases originated in discoveries dating from the nineteenth century, it was only from evidence obtained in the last three decades that immunotherapy was consolidated as an arm of oncotherapy (Hou et al., 2022). Among the evidences, there is the understanding of the immunoediting process, described for the first time in 2001, which establishes that the host's immune system acts not only in surveillance of tumor development in order to restrict and eradicate it but also shaping the progression of the neoplasm as it establishes mechanisms to circumvent it (Desai et al., 2022). For this reason, it is divided into three different dynamic and independent stages: elimination, equilibrium, and escape (Hou et al., 2022). Elimination is represented by the coordinated action of the innate and adaptive immunity of the host to identify and eradicate cancer cells at a faster rate than they multiply. Once this fails, the tumor enters the equilibrium phase, represented, metaphorically, by a "tug of war" between the cancer cell, which seeks to develop increasingly specialized survival strategies, and the individual's immune defense, which tries to continuously overlap these and contain tumor growth (Desai et al., 2022). It is when the immune system loses the ability to recognize and fight the tumor that it reaches the escape phase, where there is uncontrolled and progressive growth of the neoplasm (Koebel et al., 2007). One of the mechanisms of tumor escape is the activation of the so-called immunological checkpoints, negative regulators of the immune response that act as brakes to prevent the attack on self-molecules, but which, in this case, are used by tumor cells as tools of disguise (Hou et al., 2022). In cancer immunotherapy, mAbs are used as checkpoint inhibitors, and the most widely studied targets to date are programmed cell death receptor 1 (PD-1) and cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 (CTLA-4).

Both CTLA-4 and PD-1 are part of the group of inhibitory receptors responsible for ensuring the tolerance of T lymphocytes, the main representatives of the adaptive immunity of the immune system, to self-antigens. In a very simplified way, after repeated contact with the antigen, T cells begin to express inhibitory checkpoints in order to prevent them from remaining activated indefinitely, causing damage to healthy tissues. After interacting with their respective ligands, present in other cells of the immune system or even in tumor cells, CTLA-4 and PD-1 become active and drive the T lymphocyte to its non-responsive state. What the mAbs used in cancer immunotherapy are intended to do is block this interaction, by binding either to the inhibitory checkpoint itself or to its respective ligand, thereby preventing the suppression of T lymphocyte activities (Desnover et al., 2020; Hou et al., 2022). Although many monoclonal antibodies are showing promising results in clinical trials, ipilimumab is, to date, the only FDA-approved anti-CTLA-4 mAb for cancer immunotherapy and was also the first immune checkpoint inhibitor approved in 2011 (Desai et al., 2022). Nivolumab, pembrolizumab, atezolizumab, and durvalumab are approved by the FDA for blocking the PD-1 signaled pathway, the first two targeting PD-1 and the last two anti-PD-L1, its ligand (Desnoyer et al., 2020; Lu et al., 2020). Interestingly, the clinical success of immunotherapy has been observed with the individual use of checkpoint inhibitors, but notably from the association between anti-PD-1 and anti-CTLA-4 mAbs (Dougan et al., 2021).

2.4.5 Antibody-Drug Conjugate (ADC)

In cancer therapy, mAbs can also be conjugated, via a linker, to other cytotoxic drugs to target them specifically to cancer cells. Therefore, this therapeutic modality minimizes the deleterious effects on healthy tissue and promotes the widening of the drug's therapeutic window, since the cytotoxic load is mainly concentrated at the tumor site (Desai et al., 2022; Hasan et al., 2022). ADC toxicity can be caused by any of its components (cargo, mAb, or linker) and can be manifested by target-dependent mechanisms, from the interaction between the mAb and its target, which is commonly represented by a membrane receptor, overexpressed, or target-independent, upon premature drug release, binding to Fc-portion receptors, or pinocytosis, for example. In target-dependent pathways, when targeted to a membrane receptor, binding between the mAb and this is followed by the internalization of the conjugate into endosomes, disruption of the linker, and release of the cytotoxic load

inside the cell (Hasan et al., 2022; Kumar et al., 2017). On the other hand, the adoption of antigens dispersed in the tumor microenvironment as a target is also used as a strategy, especially in solid tumors, since, once the linker is broken, the free charge can penetrate the tumor mass more easily than the ADC complex (Hasan et al., 2022). FDA-approved ADCs for cancer therapy are described in Table 5.2.

					FDA first	
ADC	Payload	Target	Туре	Indication	approval	Reference
Brentuximab vedotin	MMAE	CD30	Chimeric IgG1	Hodgkin lymphoma and systemic anaplastic large cell lymphoma	2011	FDA (2022), Hasan et al. (2022)
Trastuzumab emtansine	DM1	HER2	Humanized IgG1	HER2-positive breast cancer	2012	FDA, (2022), Hasan et al. (2022)
Inotuzumab ozogamicin	Calicheamicin	CD22	Humanized IgG4	B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL)	2017	FDA (2022), Hasan et al. (2022)
Gemtuzumab ozogamicin	Calicheamicin	CD33	Humanized IgG4	CD33-positive acute myeloid leukemia (AML)	2017	FDA (2022), Hasan et al. (2022)
Moxetumomab pasudotox	Pseudotox	CD22	Murine IgG1	Hairy cell leukemia (HCL)	2018	FDA (2022), Hasan et al. (2022)
Polatuzumab vedotin	MMAE	CD79β	Humanized IgG1	Diffused large B-cell lymphoma	2019	FDA (2022), Hasan et al. (2022)
Enfortumab vedotin	MMAE	Nectin-4	Human IgG1	Locally advanced or metastatic urothelial cancer	2019	FDA (2022), Hasan et al. (2022)
Trastuzumab deruxtecan	Deruxtecan	HER2	Humanized IgG1	Unresectable or metastatic HER2-positive breast cancer	2019	FDA (2022), Hasan et al. (2022)

 Table 5.2
 ADCs approved for cancer therapy

(continued)

					FDA	
ADC	Payload	Target	Туре	Indication	approval	Reference
Sacituzumab govitecan	SN-38	TROP2	Humanized IgG1	Metastatic triple-negative breast cancer	2020	FDA (2022), Hasan et al. (2022)
Belantamab mafodotin	MMAF	BCMA	Humanized IgG1	Multiple myeloma	2020	FDA (2022), Hasan et al. (2022)
Loncastuximab tesirine-lpyl	PBD dimer	CD19	Humanized IgG1	Large B-cell lymphoma	2021	FDA, (2022), Hasan et al. (2022)

Table 5.2 (continued)

Abbreviations: MMAE monomethyl auristatin E, *DM1* maytansine derivative, *MMAF* monomethyl auristatin E, *SN-38* active metabolite of the topoisomerase I inhibitor irinotecan

3 Functionalization Strategies

The modification of the surface of nanoparticles through conjugation with biomolecules or functional groups is called functionalization, and, in the case of antibodies, this conjugation can occur by binding to the entire macromolecule or its fragments. The unique structural features of antibody molecules provide several options for modification and conjugation schemes. The chemistry used for the formation of the conjugate must be chosen in order to maintain, in the best possible way, the ability to bind the antigen. For this, the coupling method should preferably produce a stable, sterically unimpeded, and properly oriented binding, in which the antigen-binding fragment (Fab) is available for its interaction with the receptor (Manjappa et al., 2011; Sandeep et al., 2020; Thiruppathi et al., 2017). The functionalization of nanoparticles with immunoglobulins can be performed using different strategies, which is based on the nature of the interactions between these structures, and can be divided into two different groups: non-covalent and covalent methods (Petrilli et al., 2020).

Non-covalent methods are one of the simplest conjugation techniques available, as they do not require modification of the antibody structure or the nanoparticle. The simplest non-covalent immobilization method is adsorption, which is fundamentally based on physical adsorption or ionic bonding. In physical adsorption, antibodies are bound to the surface of nanoparticles through hydrogen bonds, van der Waals forces, or hydrophobic interactions. The nature of the forces involved in noncovalent attachment results in a condition that can affect the strength of the interaction (namely, pH, pI, and ionic strength). Adsorption fixation is a mild and easy-to-perform process and commonly preserves the functionality of the biomolecule (Trilling et al., 2013; Zhang et al., 2020). The principle of bioaffinity between biomolecules is also explored within the context of functionalization methodologies. The most established procedure is the avidin/streptoavidin-biotin interaction, which configures one of the strongest non-covalent affinities known (Liébana & Drago, 2016).

Covalent methodologies tend to preserve the biological activity provided by the antibody for a longer time due to greater stability of the bonds; therefore, they are the most used strategies. The types of reactions involved in the formation of the antibody/nanoparticle bond depend on the reactivity of the nanoparticle components and the side chains of the amino acids that make up the antibody and can be mediated by catalysts, activators, or intermediate ligands (Manjappa et al., 2011). Depending on the coupling chemistry selected, bond formation with or without chemical modification of the antibody is possible. This additional step favors a targeted immobilization in which the antibody keeps its functional portion exposed (Marques et al., 2020).

The different covalent methodologies can be guided by the chemistry of the functional groups of the side chains of the amino acids present in the antibodies from (i) primary amino groups of glycine, ε -amino of lysine, and α -amino N-terminal of polypeptide chains; (ii) of aspartic or glutamic acid side chain carboxyl groups; or (iii) through mercapto groups (also known as sulfhydryl or thiol) of the cysteine side chain, which may come from the reduction of disulfide bonds present in the hinge region, as well as from the connection between the heavy and light chains of antibodies. Thiol groups can also be inserted into the antibody structure through reactions with primary amines (Eloy et al., 2017c; Guo et al., 2020; Manjappa et al., 2011; Werengowska-Ciećwierz et al., 2015).

In view of the limitations of reactivity of these functional groups, covalent bonding often requires prior activation of the nanoparticle or the reactive groups of the side chains of the amino acids that make up the antibodies. In this way, it is not as straightforward as the non-covalent methodology. Among the possible reactions related to the formation of covalent bonds, we can highlight carbodiimide chemistry, maleimide chemistry, and click chemistry (Juan et al., 2020; Parracino et al., 2019; Santos et al., 2021).

3.1 Non-covalent Methods

3.1.1 Adsorption

Adsorption or physisorption is a non-covalent coupling strategy between nanoparticles and antibody that includes physical adsorption and ionic binding. In physical adsorption, the antibody is immobilized on the surface of the nanoparticle (NP) through weak intermolecular forces, such as hydrogen bonding, hydrophobic interactions, van der Waals forces, and electrostatic interactions (Sivaram et al., 2018)



Fig. 5.2 Conjugation of antibodies on nanoparticles via (a) electrostatic adsorption and via (b) hydrophobic interaction

(Fig. 5.2). It is the simplest and most direct conjugation method, since the technique applied is simple and takes little time, as it does not involve any chemical modification of the antibody or nanoparticle, occurring by mixing the two components, leading to conjugation (Marques et al., 2020; Trilling et al., 2013).

For the preparation of antibody-NP bioconjugates by adsorption, some parameters must be considered, such as the isoelectric point (pI) – pH value where there is equivalence between the positive and negative charges - of the antibody, the pH, and the amount of antibody added (Zhang et al., 2020). In general, protein adsorption is enhanced when the pH is close to or relatively above its pI. The optimal pH value for coupling and for a given antibody must be determined by measuring its pI range. The vast majority of antibodies are better adsorbed at pH 8-9, in general. Charged groups are common in antibodies; positively charged amino acids (e.g., lysine and arginine residues) and N-terminal groups are present, favoring an electrostatic interaction between these groups and the charged surface of the nanoparticle (Jazayeri et al., 2016). The electrostatic attraction fundamentally depends on the number of charged groups on the surface of nanoparticles and antibodies. Antibody orientation depends on the positions of charged regions within the protein, so the antibody is expected to be immobilized across the surface region with the highest density of charged residues, where it is thus most likely to be adsorbed in the proper orientation. Therefore, this approach is heavily influenced by the pH of the solution and the isoelectric point of the antibody, and even a subtle variation in pH can result in the removal of antibodies from the nanoparticles. Therefore, it is important to work at a pH greater than or close to the isoelectric point of the antibody to promote proper ion adsorption.

Despite its ease, antibody adsorption to nanoparticles has some disadvantages: adsorption results in randomly oriented antibodies, which may lead to a partial loss of antigen-binding capacity due to the direct interaction between the nanoparticle and the antigen-binding sites or by steric hindrance (Zhang et al., 2020). Antibody binding is relatively weak, and adsorption techniques require a high concentration of antibodies, making the method disadvantageous as the antibody is a high-cost biomolecule (Jazayeri et al., 2016). Furthermore, with regard to hydrophobic interactions, they can cause conformational changes in the three-dimensional structure of antibodies, which can lead to protein denaturation and consequent loss of biological activity (Marques et al., 2020).

Adsorption is a dynamic process between solution and bound antibody phases. Antibodies retained on the surface of the nanoparticle can be easily desorbed in the presence of another protein having a higher charge or a greater number of hydrophobic regions. This is attributed to weak and reversible interactions, so inefficient antigen binding can happen even if a greater amount of antibodies is adsorbed onto the nanoparticle. In addition, randomly adsorbed antibodies have a low affinity for their antigens (Shen et al., 2017). Therefore, to circumvent these problems, antibody immobilization strategies through covalent binding are preferred.

3.1.2 Avidin-Biotin System

One of the most popular methods involving adapter molecules is the non-covalent interaction between avidin and biotin molecules (Marques et al., 2020). This system is based on the bioaffinity of the interaction between biotin and a biotin-binding protein (e.g., avidin and its derivatives). Biotin is a B-complex vitamin, with a size of 244 Da, also known as vitamin H, soluble in water, which has a structure containing a tetrahydroimidizalone ring (ureido ring) with a tetrahydrothiophene ring. It plays a key role in cell signaling (Jain & Cheng, 2017). Avidin is a tetrameric protein obtained mainly from the egg white of oviparous vertebrates. It is highly stable (molecular weight of 66 kDa); its side chain is made up of portions of N-acetylglucosamine and mannose residues (Sakahara & Saga, 1999). Each of the four subunits binds biotin with high specificity and affinity, with a dissociation constant of about 10⁻¹⁵ (Sperling & Parak, 2010), being one of the strongest noncovalent interactions known. Avidin is an extremely basic protein, having an isoelectric point (pI) of approximately 10.5 (Jain et al., 2017). Thus, the strong positive charge on the protein, at physiological pH (pH ~ 7.4), causes ionic interactions with more negatively charged molecules. Furthermore, carbohydrate-binding proteins (for example, lectins, selectins, and galactins) in cells can interact with the polysaccharide moieties on the avidin molecule to bind them to chemical species other than (Jain & Cheng, 2017; Liébana & Drago, 2016). These non-specific interactions limit the application of avidin. Thus, non-glycosylated avidin analogues are most often chosen (e.g., streptavidin). Streptavidin is an avidin-like biotin-binding protein derived from Streptomyces avidinii. Similar to avidin, streptavidin contains four subunits, each with a unique biotin-binding site. Unlike avidin, streptavidin is not a glycoprotein, and its isoelectric point is much lower (pI 5-6) (Jain & Cheng, 2017), which implies a decrease in non-specific electrostatic interactions and the

elimination of non-specific bonds to molecules and carbohydrate-binding receptors (Jain et al., 2017).

In the context of the interaction between biotin and avidin/streptavidin, a fairly common technique is the modification of antibodies with biotin (biotinylation) (Prantner et al., 2013). In this approach, functional groups of antibodies, such as amines, hydroxyls, or sulfhydryls, can be modified with a range of biotinylation reagents, such as the sulfhydryl reagent reactivates biotin-BMCC or 1-biotinamido-4-[4'-(maleimidomethyl)cyclohexane-carboxamido]butane. Biotinylization in the Fc portion of the antibody guarantees oriented immobilization, mainly via free sulfhydryl groups or obtained by reducing disulfide bonds for reaction with maleimide-biotin reagents or by portions of polysaccharides, through the oxidation of hydroxyl groups to aldehydes for reaction with hydrazine-biotin (Trilling et al., 2013). Afterward, to form the biotin-avidin complex, the functionalized avidin/streptavidin nanoparticles are incubated with the biotinylated antibodies.

3.2 Covalent Bonding

3.2.1 Carbodiimide Chemistry

Carbodiimide compounds are used as crosslinking agents for carboxylic acids and promote the conjugation of the antibody with the nanoparticle by activating carboxyl groups. Its reaction with the carboxylic acid makes the carbonyl carbon more susceptible to nucleophilic attack by primary amines, leading to covalent bond formation by amide formation. Carbodiimides are considered zero-length crosslinkers, as no part of their chemical structure remains after amide formation in the final conjugated molecule (Elzahhar et al., 2019; Eroğlu & Ibrahim, 2020).

It is interesting to note that the carboxylic acid group may come from aspartic or glutamic acid residues of antibodies, which should react with the primary amino group present in the nanoparticle. However, the most usual strategy is the activation of carboxyl groups on the surface of nanoparticles, as primary amines are abundant on the surface of antibodies (Guo et al., 2020; Sandeep et al., 2020).

The most commonly used carbodiimide in these conjugation reactions is 1-ethyl-3-(3-dimethylaminopropyl)carbodiimide hydrochloride (EDC). It is a water-soluble compound that, upon reacting with a carboxylic acid group, forms the active intermediate O-acylisurea, and after being easily displaced by the nucleophilic attack of the primary amine to the carbonyl carbon, it is released in the form of a soluble derivative of urea. This reaction by-product can be removed easily by dialysis or gel filtration. The O-acylisurea intermediate is unstable in aqueous solutions and can undergo hydrolysis regenerating the carboxylic acid (Elzahhar et al., 2019; Werengowska-Ciećwierz et al., 2015) (Fig. 5.3 – Reaction A).

Another approach in carbodiimide chemistry is the use of N-hydroxysuccinimide (NHS), or N-hydroxysulfoxuccinimide (sulfo-NHS), with EDC reactions. These compounds are added to increase the efficiency of conjugation by forming an



Fig. 5.3 mAb-nanoparticle conjugation via carbodiimide chemistry. Reaction A: reaction between EDC and the carboxylic group leading to the production of the O-acylisourea ester which then undergoes nucleophilic attack by a primary amine present in the antibody to form an amide bond. Reaction B: EDC couples sulfo-NHS to carbonyls, forming a sulfo-NHS ester, which has greater stability than the O-acylisourea intermediate, thus allowing a more efficient conjugation with the amine group of mAbs

amine-reactive intermediate, but more stable than O-acylisurea. And although not necessary for the one-step reaction, this modification reduces hydrolysis reactions and avoids intra- and intermolecular antibody reactions. Sulfo-NHS esters are water soluble, and their use with EDC increases the stability and solubility of the reactive intermediate. Although it also provides EDC activation, NHS decreases its solubility in water, and activation using EDC/sulfo-NHS is used in preference to the EDC/NHS protocol (Elzahhar et al., 2019; Hermanson, 2013a) (Fig. 5.3 – Reaction B).

Due to the presence of carboxyl and amine groups on the entire surface of the antibody, random and self-polymerization reactions that lead to loss of antigenbinding activity are possible. The presence of binding with antibodies oriented in the "head-on" and "side-on" positions makes binding with the antigen difficult and can lead to the loss of its biological activity. Thus, although chemical carbodiimide conjugation is a relatively simple and straightforward method, as there is no need for chemical modification of the antibody, other strategies are preferred due to the lack of control over the orientation of the antibody when bound to the nanoparticle (Guo et al., 2020; Marques et al., 2020).
3.2.2 Maleimide Chemistry

Another covalent conjugation strategy is through the reaction of maleimide with mercapto or sulfhydryl (-SH) groups which leads to the formation of thioether bonds in aqueous solution (Guo et al., 2020). Thiols (RSH) are sulfur analogues of alcohols (ROH) with good nucleophilic characteristics, and their deprotonated form (RS-) at physiological pH is an even better nucleophile (Eroğlu & Ibrahim, 2020; Juan et al., 2020). Mercapto groups are generated in antibodies via reaction with primary amines or by reduction of native antibody disulfide bonds (Juan et al., 2020) (Fig. 5.4). These groups are oriented to react with the amine ends of the conjugated molecules and in acylation, alkylation, or redox reactions. In general, it is known that most thiol reactions are fast and produce a high yield of the reaction (Eroğlu & Ibrahim, 2020; Gordon et al., 2015). The degree of antibody modification, i.e., the amount of sulfhydryl groups generated or inserted, can be quantified using Ellman's reagent (Gordon et al., 2015; Riener et al., 2002).

In antibodies, the frequency of free native sulfhydryl groups is low when compared to amine and carboxyl groups. In IgG1 antibodies, cysteine residues form four interchain disulfide bonds – two connecting the light and heavy chains and two connecting the two heavy chains in the hinge region, holding the two halves of the antibody together. In addition to these, there are also 12 intrachain disulfide bonds (Hoffmann et al., 2018; Juan et al., 2020). Interchain disulfide bonds, which are generally not critical for IgG1 stability, are more susceptible to reduction than intrachain disulfide bonds and are potential conjugation sites (Sandeep et al., 2020; Tsuchikama & An, 2018). Each disulfide bridge gives rise to two sulfhydryl groups, which, depending on the pH, can be free (deprotonated) or reduced (protonated) sulfhydryls (Manjappa et al., 2011).

The formation of sulfhydryl groups from the reduction of disulfide bonds can be carried out through enzymatic digestion, acidification or by the use of reducing agents such as dithiothreitol (DTT), 2-mercaptoethylamine (MEA), or tris(2-carboxyethyl)phosphine (TCEP). Methods using reducing agents and acidification can cause separation between light and heavy chains (Eloy et al., 2017c; Eroğlu & Ibrahim, 2020).

Enzymatic digestion is useful as it produces antibody fragments and maintains their ability to bind antigen (Manjappa et al., 2011). Pepsin and papain, and other enzymes such as ficin, bromelain, and trypsin, cleave the antibody molecule at the hinge region, and, depending on the cleavage site, portions of the antibody heavy chain may or may not remain attached to the antigen-binding fragments. Papain is activated in the presence of a reducing agent, and enzymatic digestion using this sulfhydryl protease produces two Fab fragments, each containing an antigenbinding site, and the Fc portion that corresponds to the bottom of the two heavy chains on the immunoglobulin molecule. In the case of enzymatic digestion using pepsin, immunoglobulin cleavage produces a single fragment with the two Fab portions linked, called F(ab')2, and small fragments from extensive degradation of the Fc portion (Eloy et al., 2017c; Hermanson, 2013b). The use of antibody fragments



Fig. 5.4 Antibody thiolation methods. DTT dithiothreitol, MEA 2-mercaptoethylamine, SPDP N-succinimidyl 3-(2-pyridyldithio)propionate, SMPT succinimidyloxycarbonyl- α -methyl- α -(2-pyridyldithio)toluene, SATA N-succinimidyl S-acetylthioacetate, SAMSA S-acetylmercaptosuccinic anhydride

has a lower immunogenic effect due to the absence of the Fc portion that is recognized by phagocytic cells (Manjappa et al., 2011).

Another method of generating sulfhydryl groups is by breaking the disulfide bonds of antibodies with mild reducing agents. The most popular traditional reducing reagents are dithiothreitol (DTT), β -mercaptoethanol (BME), and β -mercaptoethylamine (2-MEA) and soluble alkylphosphines such as tris-(2carboxyethyl)phosphine (TCEP) and tris-(3-hydroxypropyl)phosphine (THPP) (Kantner & Watts, 2016). These reagents selectively cleave disulfide bonds present in the hinge region forming two halves of the antibody molecule, each of which has an antigen-binding site (Hermanson, 2013b). DTT and BME reagents generally require narrow neutral pH conditions (\geq 7) compared to TCEP (1.5 < pH < 8.5) and have poor stability in the presence of metal ions. In addition, excess unreacted DTT must be removed through an additional purification step as they readily react with sulfhydryl-reactive agents (Kuan et al., 2016). Only 3.25 and 2.75 molar equivalents of DTT and TCEP per mole of antibody are required to achieve the reduction of two interchain disulfide bonds of a monoclonal IgG. This limited reduction strategy keeps the specificity of the antibody molecule intact while providing discrete sites for conjugation via thiols (Hermanson, 2013c).

In addition to generating sulfhydryl groups from the reduction of disulfide bonds, thiol groups can also be created or inserted using thiolating reagent systems that insert -SH groups into antibodies by modifying the amino residues of lysine and glycine. The reagents 2-Iminothiolane (Traut's reagent), N-succinimidyl 3-(2-pyridyldithio)propionate (SPDP), and N-succinimidyl S-acetylthioacetate (SATA) are the most common (Juan et al., 2020).

Thiolation of antibodies by Traut's reagent (2-iminothiolane) is the most popular approach (Eloy et al., 2017c). In this method, the cyclic imidothioester (2-iminothiolane) reacts with primary amines, opening the ring structure to introduce sulfhydryl groups (-SH) maintaining similar charge properties to the original amino group (Sandeep et al., 2020). Traut's reagent is completely soluble in water and reacts with amines in the pH range 7–10. It is stable to hydrolysis at acidic pH, and its half-life in solution decreases as the pH rises above neutrality. At pH values above 10.0, 2-iminothiolane also reacts with aliphatic and aromatic hydroxyl groups. However, the reaction rate with these groups is about 100 times slower than with primary amines (Hermanson, 2013c). The use of Traut's reagent can lead to the formation of secondary reactions in addition to oxidation to disulfides. After modification of the amine with 2-iminothiolane, terminal mercapto group can attack the amidine carbon forming new cyclic derivative, which can make the thiol group unavailable for conjugation. The loss of significant amounts of available sulfhydryl groups can occur within a few hours. For this reason, once forming the thiolation product as 2-iminothiolane, one should immediately proceed to the conjugation reaction in order to avoid substantial loss of activity (Manjappa et al., 2011).

N-Succinimidyl 3-(2-pyridyldithio)propionate (SPDP) is a heterobifunctional crosslinking agent for introducing sulfhydryl groups in proteins and other molecules. The NHS ester end of SPDP reacts with amine groups to form an amide bond, and the other end containing the 2-pyridylthiol group can react with sulfhydryl residues to form a disulfide bond (Sandeep et al., 2020). After reaction with SPDP, the antibody molecule acquires the pyridyldisulfide group which can undergo reduction with DTT (or other disulfide reductants) forming free sulfhydryl groups and releasing pyridine-2-thione as a leaving group (Manjappa et al., 2011). The reagent 4-succinimidyloxycarbonyl- α -methyl- α -[2-pyridyldithio]toluene (SMPT) reacts similar to SPDP, except for the additional methyl group in its structure that makes the disulfide bond more sterically impeded, resulting in more stable conjugations (Gordon et al., 2015). These reagents are not soluble in aqueous solutions and must first be dissolved in an organic solvent (such as DMSO, DMF, or acetonitrile) and an aliquot of this stock solution transferred to the reaction solution (Manjappa et al., 2011). There are commercially available analogues of these reagents that are water soluble, such as sulfo-LC-SPDP and sulfo-LC-SMPT which contain an extended spacer chain. Sulfo-LC-SMPT is not as stable as SMPT. The sulfo-NHS ester is

more susceptible to hydrolysis in aqueous solution, and the pyridyl disulfide group is more easily reduced to free sulfhydryls. The main disadvantage of using these thiolating agents is the need for the additional step using reducing agents. These reducing agents can affect native disulfide bonds that are important for maintaining the structure and activity of these proteins (Gordon et al., 2015; Manjappa et al., 2011).

The disadvantage of these two molecules was solved by the development of the N-succinimidyl S-acetylthioacetate (SATA), N-succinimidyl S-acetylthiopropionate (SATP), and S-acetylmercaptosuccinic anhydride (SAMSA) reagents. The use of these reagents also requires an additional step, now for the deprotection of acety-lated sulfhydryl, but the deprotection of the acetyl group is triggered by the addition of excess hydroxylamine, which does not confer structural instability to the mAb (Gordon et al., 2015).

N-Succinimidyl S-acetylthioacetate (SATA) is a versatile reagent for thiolation reactions. Similar to SPDP, SATA has an NHS ester active end that reacts with amino groups to form a stable amide. The other end of the molecule has a sulfhydryl group that remains protected by an acetyl group. Once modified by SATA, the protein (mAb) can be stored without degradation and deacetylated when necessary. The deprotection step requires excess hydroxylamine (Hermanson, 2013c). Most polyclonal antibody molecules can be modified to contain up to about six SATA molecules per immunoglobulin with minimal effect on antigen-binding activity. Some sensitive monoclonal antibodies, however, may be susceptible to modification and should be tested on a case-by-case basis (Manjappa et al., 2011). Although thiolation by modification of reactive amino groups, such as SATA, results in random attachment to the antibody surface, unlike other reduction strategies (which cleave the antibody molecule), the conjugates formed from the use of SATA maintain the two sites of antigen binding, making this approach advantageous (Hermanson, 2013b). Because many organic solvents are freely soluble, normally a stock solution is prepared in DMSO, DMF, or methylene chloride, and an aliquot of this solution is added to an aqueous reaction mixture containing the protein to be modified (Manjappa et al., 2011). Other reagents can be used in a similar strategy to SATA, such as its analogue succinimidyl acetylthiopropionate (SATP) which has an additional methylene carbon and S-acetylmercaptosuccinic anhydride (SAMSA) which has an anhydride moiety at one end in place of the NHS ester. This anhydride moiety undergoes nucleophilic attack by amines forming an amide bond and producing a carboxylate group that provides a negative charge to the final conjugated molecule. This additional charge can affect the conformation and consequently the activity of some proteins (Manjappa et al., 2011).

Upon thiolation, by any of the strategies described above, the mercapto or sulfhydryl group can then be used to conjugate to any crosslinking agents containing sulfhydryl-reactive groups, such as maleimide (for covalent conjugation) or 2-pyridylthiol groups (for reversible conjugation). The reaction with maleimides leads to the formation of conjugates through an irreversible thioether bond (Gordon et al., 2015; Guo et al., 2020; Sandeep et al., 2020). Maleimides, or maleic acid imides, are most used in conjugation reactions due to their greater selectivity to the sulfhydryl side chain of cysteine and for providing clean, fast, and efficient reactions (Eroğlu & Ibrahim, 2020). They exhibit unique reactivity to Michael additions, and their reaction with free sulfhydryls is 1000 times faster than with lysine ε -amino groups at pH 7.0, which improves selectivity (Ravasco et al., 2019; Renault et al., 2018).

Maleimides undergo alkylation reaction with sulfhydryl groups by the reaction between the thiol group and the C1 carbon of the maleimide, to form stable thioether bonds, in the pH range between 6.5 and 7.5, called Michael thioadditions that characterize the "maleimide chemistry" (Eroğlu & Ibrahim, 2020; Ravasco et al., 2019; Renault et al., 2018). The ring tension imposed by the alkene moiety on the maleimide structure further enhances the electrophilic nature of the conjugated imide, while the solvent type, alkaline environment, and thiol type are known to play an important role in the reaction kinetics and its reaction selectivity (Ravasco et al., 2019). The pKa of the mercapto group can change drastically from one thiol to another, and depending on the chemical structure and intermolecular interactions, the thiol or thiolate can be stabilized or destabilized (Renault et al., 2018). Under alkaline conditions (pH > 8.5), hydrolytic degradation of maleimide can occur to non-sulfhydryl-reactive maleic amides, as well as thioether thiosuccimide (Michael addition product) to stable thioethers of succinamic acid (Ravasco et al., 2019) (Fig. 5.5). Control of reaction conditions should be done by using buffers that exclude thiol-containing compounds, to avoid competition for coupling sites. Furthermore, to avoid reoxidation of sulfhydryls, dissolved oxygen in these buffers must be removed (by vacuum degassing followed by inert gas bubbling), and metal chelating agents that can catalyze oxidation must be added (Manjappa et al., 2011; Marques et al., 2020). Interestingly, the thiosuccinimide conjugates resulting from the maleimide reaction have limited stability, due to their propensity to add retro-Michael. In circulation, the released maleimide payload can then react with plasma



Fig. 5.5 General Michael addition and hydrolytic pathways of maleimides and thiosuccinimides

thiols or diffuse into nearby cells, resulting in reduced efficacy and/or safety of the conjugates formed. This instability can be mitigated by forcing post-conjugation hydrolysis of the thiosuccinimide, creating a stable chemical bond (Walsh et al., 2021; Yao et al., 2016).

Maleimide chemistry is very useful in the functionalization of nanoparticles (NPs) with mAbs. The conjugation of NPs to the maleimide group can be accomplished in several ways, while the modification of mAbs, to expose the -SH group, is done by thiolating agents. And when compared to methods of conjugating carboxyl and amine groups, conjugation via thiol and maleimide can be considered more effective, as it avoids crosslinking between mAbs while maintaining their immunoreactivity (Guo et al., 2020). One of the methods for coupling thiolcontaining proteins or antibodies to nanoparticles with amino groups is by using a heterobifunctional crosslinker containing an amine-reactive NHS ester at one end and a thiol-reactive maleimide group at the other end, linked by a hydrophilic PEG spacer arm (NHS-PEG-maleimide). NHS-PEG-maleimide has been the most widely used crosslinking agent in antibody conjugation strategies to polymeric NPs for the treatment of cancer (Juan et al., 2020). This PEG coating strategy promotes a hydrophilic character to the nanoparticles after modification and helps mask any hydrophobic character the nanoparticle surface may have while providing terminal thiol-reactive maleimides for ligand coupling (Hermanson, 2013d). This coupling can be described in three steps, in which the first, the amino groups of the nanoparticle are activated by the crosslinker via the amine-reactive end. In the next step, thiolation of the antibody is performed, and finally, after removing the sulfhydryl addition reagents, the nanoparticles are mixed with the thiol-containing antibodies to form the conjugate. These heterobifunctional crosslinkers can also combine the maleimide group to phospholipids such as 1,2-distearoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphorylethanolamine (DSPE)-PEG-maleimide (DSPE-PEG-maleimide), a frequently used amphiphilic reagent (Margues et al., 2020). In addition to these, homobifunctional ligands containing the maleimide group at both ends can also be used, and it may be necessary to employ the thiolation of nanoparticles. This strategy can lead to undesirable autopolymerization reactions (Hermanson, 2013c).

3.2.3 Click Chemistry

Click chemistry is a term used to describe thermodynamically favorable chemical reactions, with excellent bioorthogonality, that connect two molecules in a simple way and with high yields (Elzahhar et al., 2019; Freitas et al., 2011). Click chemistry reactions are biocompatible and can occur efficiently at room temperature under physiological conditions, and the bonds in the resulting chemical are irreversible. This type of reaction is widely used for the modification of biomolecules such as nucleic acids, lipids, and proteins with various compounds (Juan et al., 2020; Liu et al., 2017; Takayama et al., 2019). Sharpless, who introduced this term, defined click chemistry as a group of reactions that "…must be modular, broad in scope, give very high yields, generate only harmless by-products that can be removed by

non-chromatographic methods, and be stereospecific (but not necessarily enantioselective)" (Kolb et al., 2001).

[3 + 2] Azide-alkyne cycloaddition reactions (AAC) catalyzed by copper(I) (CuAAC), strain-promoted [3 + 2] azide-alkyne cycloaddition reactions (SPAAC), typical reaction of [4 + 2] Diels-Alder (DA), and inverse electron demand hetero-Diels-Alder (iEDDA) reactions configure the "click chemistry" strategy (Juan et al., 2020).

The copper (Cu)-catalyzed cycloaddition reaction (CuAAC) between azide and alkyne groups, producing a 1,2,3-triazole ring, was the first to be designated as "click chemistry" (Fig. 5.6). Azides and alkynes are almost non-existent in biological systems and inert to most functional groups and biomolecules (Spicer & Davis, 2014). The basic CuAAC process requires only copper ions in the +1 oxidation state. There are several methods to generate active Cu(I) catalyst for the CuAAC reaction. These can be provided by a discrete Cu(I) complex, by metallic copper, or by impregnated copper materials that expose cuprous ions to the reaction solution or, more conveniently, by a mixture of a Cu(II) salt and a reducing agent, with sodium ascorbate by far the most popular (Hein et al., 2008; Presolski et al., 2011).

CuAAC reactions are broad in scope, provide high yields under mild conditions, and react quickly at low temperatures or even under ambient conditions; solvents such as tetrahydrofuran (THF) and dimethylformamide (DMF) are compatible with water and miscible with water, are regiospecific (giving only 1,4-disubstituted derivative), have minimal and/or harmless by-products, and are suitable for microscale synthesis without the need for manipulations using protecting groups (Elzahhar et al., 2019). In addition to these characteristics, the 1,2,3-triazole ligand



Fig. 5.6 Conjugation via click chemistry, CuAAC and SPAAC reaction. (Adapted from Marques et al. (2020))

is extremely soluble in water and has electronic properties very similar to amide bonds but is not subject to the same hydrolysis reactions (Hein et al., 2008).

There are two common approaches to functionalizing biomolecules with azide or alkyne loops: through N-hydroxysuccinimide (NHS)-mediated amide bond formation using an amine and carboxylic acid or through the reaction of a thiol with a substituted maleimide (Pickens et al., 2018). In this context, each heterobifunctional linker contains an NHS ester or a maleimide at one end and azide or alkyne groups at the other (Juan et al., 2020). NHS esters are among the most popular compounds used to functionalize biomolecules because of their aqueous compatibility, commercial availability, and ability to selectively target primary amines present in lysine or N-terminal residues. There are a variety of commercially available heterobifunctional linkers containing NHS esters or maleimides, which can be conjugated to amines or thiol groups present in the molecule of interest adding the desired azide or alkyne functionality (Pickens et al., 2018). However, commonly used click chemistry requires transformation of amine groups into antibodies to terminal azides or alkynes and still cannot control the orientation of the conjugated antibodies (Jeong et al., 2017).

Furthermore, the biggest challenge in bioconjugation applications involving CuAAC would be the removal of the copper catalyst. Copper is incompatible in vivo and known to cause serious side effects such as hepatitis and neurological and kidney diseases (Elzahhar et al., 2019). The most effective way to improve azide-alkyne cycloaddition biocompatibility has been to eliminate the need for Cu(I) catalysis and accelerate the reaction with alkynes that are activated by ring tension.

An alternative is stress-promoted azide-alkyne cycloaddition (SPAAC), also known as copper-free click chemistry (Mckay & Finn, 2014; Ramil & Lin, 2013). In this approach, the inclusion of an alkyne in an 8-membered cycloalkyl ring would lead to a massive deformation of the acetylene bond angle, increasing the tension in the ring. This destabilizing factor provides an enormous acceleration of the reaction. Reaction with an azide lowers the tension of the alkyne ring within the cyclooctin structure and thus drives the reaction without the addition of cytotoxic copper (Elzahhar et al., 2019) (Fig. 5.6).

The main restriction on the use of SPAAC in bioconjugation derives from the relatively large size and hydrophobic nature of the cyclooctin component, which can affect its distribution and alter the biological properties of the species to which they are attached (Mckay & Finn, 2014). Furthermore, the cost of strained cyclooctin reagents is considerably higher than their terminal alkyne counterparts. Fortunately, alternative synthetic routes are making SPAAC reagents more accessible and less costly to employ (Pickens et al., 2018). Seeking new alternatives to speed up the SPAAC reaction rate, chemists discovered that inverse electron demand Diels-Alder (iEDDA) reactions between a tetrazine diene (Tz) and a dienophile such as trans-cyclooctene (TCO) met the requirements of click chemistry. This third-generation copper-free click chemistry provides a faster second-order reaction rate constant than CuAAC and SPAAC (Kim & Koo, 2019).

3.2.4 Other Covalent Methodologies

The covalent methodologies, previously described in this chapter, can be applied by modifying the surface of preformed nanoparticles, by reacting with the functional groups exposed on the surface of these nanoparticles, or by incorporating the conjugate into the ligand during the preparation of these nanoparticles (called the preinsertion method) (Marqués-Gallego & De Kroon, 2014; Nag & Awasthi, 2013). These techniques have as main disadvantages the need for an excessive amount of ligands and the possibility of the portion linked to the biomolecule with biological function facing the inner part of the nanoparticle (in the case of the pre-insertion method) (Nag & Awasthi, 2013). In addition, exposure of conjugates to solvents, in the pre-insertion method, can lead to the loss of their active conformation (Marqués-Gallego & De Kroon, 2014). To circumvent some of these problems, another preparation strategy, mainly used in liposomes, is the post-insertion method (Marqués-Gallego & De Kroon, 2014; Marques et al., 2020; Nag & Awasthi, 2013). This method involves coupling antibodies to the terminal portion of lipopolymer derivatives (phospholipids usually linked to polyethylene glycol (PEG) such as 1.2-distearoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphorylethanolamine (DSPE)-PEG-maleimide) and slowly adding the phase micellar, containing the conjugate, to the diluted suspension of preformed drug-loaded liposomes, during a simple incubation step, in which the micelles are transferred to the liposomal bilayer (Eloy et al., 2017c; Iden & Allen, 2001; Jiang et al., 2021; Nag & Awasthi, 2013).

The post-insertion technique is a simple, flexible, and attractive method from a manufacturing point of view because it can prepare targeted liposomal drugs for clinical applications with a wide variety of ligands (Iden & Allen, 2001; Jiang et al., 2021). The insertion of the lipopolymer is a spontaneous process, but it depends on the incubation conditions, mainly temperature and time, on the concentration and nature of the composition, so that the concentration of amphiphilic lipopolymers must be lower than the critical micellar concentration (CMC). The incorporation of PEG lipids on the surface of the liposome is reduced as the length of the PEG chain is increased (Eliasen et al., 2019; Nag & Awasthi, 2013). Optimizing the preparation conditions in this approach is challenging, as the optimal conditions can vary depending on the liposomal layer formulation and the insertion of the modified lipopolymer, when altering the membrane, can cause leakage of the trapped agent (Marqués-Gallego & De Kroon, 2014). Eliasen et al. (2019) evaluated the preparation conditions of the post-insertion method by fluorescence technique, analyzing the conditions of incubation time and temperature, as well as the type of binder, and demonstrated the effect of these variables on the degree of post-insertion (Eliasen et al., 2019).

4 Nanoparticles Functionalized with Antibodies

4.1 Lipid Nanoparticles

Among the variety of nanoparticles applied for cancer treatment, lipid nanoparticles (LN) are efficient drug carriers for targeting tumor tissue; increasing the stability, specificity, and concentration of the encapsulated molecule; and decreasing the side effects (De Mendoza et al., 2009). In addition, they can encapsulate various therapeutic agents such as small soluble or insoluble molecules, proteins, and nucleic acids. They also have the advantage of being biodegradable and biocompatible, being absorbed by the lymphatic system, and improving the bioavailability of the encapsulated agent (Ramishetti et al., 2015; Shukla et al., 2018). The LN have their surface modified through the attachment of monoclonal antibodies, which is very promising for targeting of several types of cancer (Silvestre et al., 2020). Currently, most studies focused on cancer treatment with LN include liposomes (Eloy et al., 2017b), solid lipid nanoparticles (De Mendoza et al., 2009), nanostructured lipid carriers (Zimmermann et al., 2000), nanoemulsions, microemulsion, lipid nanocapsules (Formica et al., 2021), and hybrid nanoparticles at lipid base (Bummer, 2004).

4.1.1 Liposomes

Liposomes are considered the largest class of LN being widely used in the treatment of cancer. They can be defined as a lipid vesicle system with the interior of aqueous core that can contain hydrophilic drugs (Fernandes et al., 2021; Li et al., 2019). Among the advantages of these nanoparticles, one can mention their biocompatibility as they present similarities with the biomembranes, the decrease in toxicity, as well as the improvement of solubility, protection of the encapsulated agent from degradation by external agents, improvement in tissue penetration, increased drug half-life, and ability to transport hydrophilic and lipophilic drugs (Malam et al., 2009; Silvestre et al., 2020).

In the quest to further improve the specificity of liposomes, immunoliposomes were developed, which are formed by the conjugation of antibodies or antibody fragments on the surface of the liposome, before or after preparation of the formulation, covalently or not, thus improving active targeting by the liposome uptake of specific receptors on the membrane of cancer cells (Eloy et al., 2017c; Petrilli et al., 2020).

Monoclonal antibodies (mAb) can be conjugated by the post-insertion method where micelles are prepared containing the antibody and the ligand and only then are incorporated into the liposome. Another way to couple the mAb is using maleimide chemistry, by forming a thioether bond by reactions with cysteine thiols with maleimide groups. This type of anchoring produces stable ligands and a high conjugation efficiency (Paszko & Senge, 2012). Trastuzumab (Tmab), a monoclonal antibody that targets the human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2),

expressed in between 20 and 30% of breast and ovarian cancers, can be conjugated on the surface of the liposome (Amin et al., 2018; Barrajón-Catalán et al., 2010; Zhang et al., 2019). Combination therapy with chemotherapy and phototherapy has achieved good results when associated with immunoliposomes. Nguyen and collaborators combined phototherapy and immunoliposomes in breast cancer. In vitro studies addressed phototherapy with polypyrrole in the release of rapamycin with targeting via the monoclonal antibody trastuzumab. The formulation presented therapeutic efficacy and strongly affected the proliferation of cancer cells. Cytotoxicity analyzed by the method (3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl) was MTT 2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide). Thus, the cells were treated with the immunoliposome and with the free antibody being irradiated by NIR laser followed by cell incubation. The results showed higher fluorescence intensity in cells treated with the immunoliposome in the BT-474 lineage, but the immunoliposomes showed lower uptake in the MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 lines, due to the lower expression levels of the HER2 receptor. It was thus demonstrated the ability of chemotherapy combined with the immunoliposome to improve the treatment of breast cancer (Nguyen et al., 2017).

To enhance idarubicin delivery, Amin et al. (2018) developed a Tmab-conjugated immunoliposome coupled directly to the lipid membrane using a lipid anchor via hydrophobic bonds. In the in vitro study, the breast cancer cell line (HER2) with overexpression (SK-BR-3) was used. The antitumor effects of the immunoliposome were significant and superior to all other treatments, improving its effectiveness by decreasing the viability of the SK-BR-3 cells proven by the MTT assay. The study concluded that the increase in cellular uptake was favored by the binding of the immunoliposome with cells that overexpress HER2, which could cause membrane damage from the generation of radicals that caused DNA damage (Amin et al., 2018).

Rodallec et al. (2018) produced an immunoliposome loaded with docetaxel and functionalized with Tmab. In an attempt to conjugate the antibody, two methodologies were tested. In the first methodology, the addition of NaOH was used after the extrusion step of the hydration of the lipid film, increasing the pH by crosslinking the carboxyl groups in acidic functions on the surface of nanocarriers and amines of the ligands. In the second methodology, the Tmab antibody was thiolated, in this way, the terminal group (-SH) can be functionalized to the sulfhydryl groups, and only then added to the PEGylated liposome (Paszko & Senge, 2012; Rodallec et al., 2018). The in vitro study was developed using three human breast cancer cell lines that vary in HER2 expression, with MDA-MB-231, a model with low expression considered canonical triple negative, positive MDA-MB-453, and overexpressing SKBR3. The immunoliposome showed better performance in terms of size, encapsulation rates, stability, and in vitro activity. The study showed better conjugation by the antibody thiolation method; the formulations obtained by this technique showed greater antiproliferative efficiency and drug release and that the greater the expression of HER2, the greater the cellular uptake.

Some drugs have major disadvantages, for example, side effects, as well as unfavorable pharmacokinetics, such as rapamycin. In a study developed by Eloy (2017a), it was shown that the improvement in cytotoxicity, pharmacokinetics, as well as improvement in the encapsulation of rapamycin encapsulated in loaded immunoliposome conjugated with Tmab used in combination with the lipophilic inhibitor of the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) showed superior therapeutic efficacy to the antibody-free loaded liposome. Tmab was thiolated with the aid of Traut's reagent and incorporated into the liposome prepared for conjugation. Cytotoxicity was evaluated in cells expressing HER2 (MDA-MB-231, SK-BR-3). The authors concluded that rapamycin and trastuzumab exhibited synergistic effect in vitro and via immunoliposomes, the cytotoxicity reduced by the slow release provided by the system (Eloy et al., 2017a). In another study, rapamycin was combined with paclitaxel in an immunoliposome containing trastuzumab for HER2(+) breast cancer cells. In the in vivo study developed using nude mice, the immunoliposome presented better results, compared to the liposome, controlling tumor growth and volume (Eloy et al., 2017b).

Bevacizumab is a humanized anti-VEGF monoclonal antibody fragment designed to inhibit and prevent mainly ocular angiogenesis. Karumanchi et al. (2018) prepared two types of liposomes, conventional and PEGylated. The liposome developed presented a particle size between 100 and 200 nm, and the use of cholesterol (25–30%) with phospholipids (70–75%) provided a prolonged release of the encapsulated antibody. The ARPE-19 cell line was treated with free and entrapped in liposomes, and the treated cells were submitted to the MTT assay. Free antibody is susceptible to degradation and has a short intravitreal half-life and is susceptible to aggregation and denaturation. When the antibody is encapsulated, its stability is improved, causing cytotoxic effects in vitro and in vivo when administered (Karumanchi et al., 2018).

The EGFR that is overexpressed in cancer cells has its activity blocked and inactivated by the monoclonal antibody cetuximab. The cytotoxicity of the drug may be improved when encapsulated in an immunoliposome functionalized with cetuximab. Thus, the drug 5-fluorouracil (5-FU) used in the treatment of skin cancer was encapsulated in an immunoliposome containing 1,2-distearoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphocholine (DSPS) and CHOL. The liposome was produced by the lipid hydration method; in the study, the antibody was conjugated using the DSPE-mPEG2000-Mal anchor. The IC₅₀ result showed a fivefold lower reduction compared to the free drug; the liposome-conjugated antibody showed a better cell viability result. The results demonstrated synergism with a combination index of less than 1, which proves the potential to improve the cytotoxicity of 5-FU and cetuximab (Petrilli et al., 2016).

Associated with the lipid nanoparticle, the iontophoresis technique can be used; this technique increases the retention of the drug in the skin layers in addition to the increase in cytotoxicity due to the greater permeabilization of the drug in the cell membrane by the presence of iontophoresis. The iontophoresis technique assists in the penetration of nanoparticles containing drugs, due to the movement of charges and solvent flow caused in the ionized skin, making it permeable to cations. In this sense, the formulation must contain competitive ions and adequate pH to guarantee electromigration. In this sense, 5-FU-loaded immunoliposomes were combined

with iontophoresis, resulting in better 5-FU skin penetration and better skin cancer tumor control in xenograft model (Petrilli & Lopez, 2018).

Another antibody that has been used to improve the pharmacokinetics and immunogenicity of drugs is mAb2C5. It was employed as a targeting ligand in liposome in cancer cell model An immunoliposome loaded with paclitaxel, salinomycin, and mAb conjugate has been developed to prevent cancer growth and metastases. The antibody was bound to the surface of the liposome by binding to the surface lipid ligands. The produced nanoparticles were stable with a size range between 170 and 220 nm, a polydispersity <0.2, and a zeta potential in the range of -13 mV to -20 mV. In the in vitro study, holographic imaging was followed to evaluate cell death and cell division and to evaluate the inhibition of proliferation caused by the formulation. In the in vitro study, the SK-BR-3 and MDA-MB-231 cell lines were used. The isotype on cell surface-bound nucleosomes in vitro was quantified using flow cytometry analysis; the observed results showed that the combination therapy intensely affected cancer cell proliferation, significantly increasing cell uptake compared to rhodamine-labeled single liposomes. The ex vivo study used nude female mice, where mouse blood was collected and evaluated in order to assess the toxicity of the immunoliposome produced. The results obtained through the holographic images of immunoliposome showed an increase in cell death and cell proliferation and division. In the ex vivo study, it was possible to analyze the reduction correlated with the low toxicity of the immunoliposome (Narayanaswamy & Torchilin, 2021).

4.1.2 Solid Lipid Nanoparticles and Nanostructured Lipid Carriers

Solid lipid nanoparticles (SLNs) are nanospheres formed by a solid lipid core and are a system loaded in a different way from traditional carriers such as emulsions, liposomes, and microemulsions. SLNs have advantages compared to liposomes, particularly the better colloidal stability and ability to prevent drug immediate release (De Mendoza et al., 2011). SLNs have been loaded with mAbs. To this end, Battaglia et al. (2015) developed SLNs with entrapped bevacizumab (BVZ) for glioblastoma. Basically, the antibody was solubilized in the aqueous phase to facilitate loading, the medium was acidified to form lipophilic groups, and the antibody was then covalently conjugated. The results showed 80% cell inhibition for those treated with immunoliposome and 30% inhibition for cells treated with free BVZ. In the in vitro study, it was possible to observe the existence of the antiangiogenic activity of the immunoliposome. Antibody activity increased up to 100–200-fold when loaded on NL (Battaglia et al., 2015).

Nanostructured lipid carriers (NLC) are classified as the second generation of SLNs. They were developed to address the low drug-carrying capacity of the SLN. The difference between the two systems is their lipid composition: in NLC, the solid lipid is homogenized with a liquid lipid to obtain a solid structure and to avoid the crystallization process after the solidification of the particles of the system (Zimmermann et al., 2000).

Guo et al. (2019) developed a NLC loaded with paclitaxel (PTX) functionalized with cetuximab (CET) (CET-PTX/DMN-NLCs) for EGFR targeting. The antibody was thiolated and bound to the surface of the NLC by chemical reaction (EGFR). The NLC showed sizes of about 130 nm, and the zeta potential changed from 20 mV to 30 mV. In this study, in vitro and in vivo assays were performed. The study showed a cellular uptake of 65.8% for CET-PTX/DMN-NLCs in A549 cells. In the in vivo study, tumor xenografts from mice were used, and the study showed that immunoliposomes inhibited tumor growth. The tissue distribution results showed that the nanocarrier containing the antibody led to a greater accumulation of drug in the tumor and the concentrations of free drug present in the kidney and the heart were lower (Guo et al., 2019).

Nanostructured lipid for intravenous administration showed reduced side effects when functionalized with bevacizumab (BVZ) and loaded with docetaxel (DTX) associated with the treatment of malignant brain cells. The antibody was covalently conjugated on the surface of the nanoparticle, for which the antibody was thiolated with Traut's reagent and followed by filtration and lyophilization. In the in vitro study, the assay was performed in cell lines that overexpress VEGF (U87MG and A172), and the immunoliposome caused cell death by apoptosis in cells that overexpress VEGF, which was not observed in healthy cells. The in vivo study was carried out in orthotopic rats using free DTX and DTX immunoliposomes. It was observed for the group containing the immunoliposome reduced tumor growth up to 70% in the treatment for 15 days, whereas in the group with free DTX, no tumor reduction was observed (Di Filippo et al., 2022).

4.2 Polymeric Nanoparticles

Polymeric nanoparticles (PNPs) are formed by a matrix consisting of polymers, which are fundamental materials for the composition of these versatile drug delivery systems, confering some properties, such as size and selective targeting (Juan et al., 2020; Soppimath et al., 2001). They can be designed and prepared with various polymeric components, with different molecular weights, structures, and functions to meet the requirements of a particular drug (Shukla et al., 2019). Antibodies and fragments can be functionalized into polymeric nanoparticles for targeted delivery and are under constant research (Bhattacharya, 2020).

Synthetic polymers are commonly used in the preparation of these nanocarriers, including polyesters, poly(glycolic acid) (PGA), poly(lactide-co-glycolide) (PLGA), poly(lactic acid) (PLA), poly(ε -caprolactone) (PCL), polyacrylic acid, and others, which are biocompatible materials approved by the Food and Drug Administration (Bapat et al., 2018; Juan et al., 2020; Masood, 2015). Preparation methodologies consist of nanoprecipitation, emulsification and solvent evaporation, solvent displacement, salting out, nanoencapsulation, and spray drying (Li et al., 2020; Sousa et al., 2018).

Poly(lactic acid) is a hydrophobic aliphatic polymer widely explored due to its easy degradation and versatility in the controlled delivery of bioactive molecules. Known as polylactides, this class of polymers consists of four different compounds: poly(L-lactic acid) or PLLA, poly(D-lactic acid) or PDLA, poly(D,L-lactic acid) or PDLLA, or meso-PLA. These materials are widely used in the preparation and development of nanoparticles as delivery systems for various therapeutic substances, including vaccines. The association of PLA with its various isomers can be used as an innovative polymer in the delivery of anticancer drugs. In addition to being a promising biomaterial and offering flexible physical properties, nanoparticles demonstrate in vivo biodegradability and biocompatibility for the effective delivery of molecules to the therapeutic target (Kumar & Kumar, 2019; Peres et al., 2017).

Polymeric nanoparticles can undergo functionalization as a strategy in oncology for targeted and controlled therapy, reducing toxicity, through conjugation with antibodies. The process consists of covalent conjugation through the linkage of the amine or sulfhydryl groups of antibodies, by the chemistry of carbodiimide and maleimide, respectively, in the presence of auxiliary components in the crosslinking N-hydroxysuccinimide or NHS, N-hydroxysulfosuccinimide or sulfo-NHS, NHS/ analogues (NHS-PEG-maleimide), maleimide. PEGylated succinimidvl 4-(N-maleimidomethyl)cyclohexane-1-carboxylate (SMCC), and sulfosuccinimi-4-(N-maleimidomethyl)cyclohexane-1-carboxylate (sulfo-SMCC) dvl under adjusted pH conditions. In this way, antibody groups can be linked to polymers arranged on the surface of the nanoparticle (Juan et al., 2020; Son et al., 2009). In this sense, Niza and colleagues developed polymeric PLA nanoparticles conjugated with trastuzumab for the enhanced delivery of dasatinib to HER2-positive tumors. The functionalized nanocarrier formulation induced greater cytotoxicity in HER2 overexpressing cell lines, inducing apoptosis when compared to the pure drug, showing to be a more efficient alternative than unconjugated nanocarriers (Niza et al., 2019).

Furthermore, Sun and Feng also developed polymeric nanoparticles consisting of PLA and D- α -tocopheryl polyethylene glycol succinate (TPGS) and copolymer of carboxyl-terminated TPGS (TPGS-COOH) conjugated with trastuzumab antibody, and the nanoparticle was loaded with docetaxel for specific delivery to breast cancer cells. It was shown the increased targeting of functionalized carriers to breast cancer cells after 24, 48, and 72 h of treatment compared to non-functionalized nanoparticles. And the targeting effects of the conjugation showed a high mortality rate in breast cancer cells that show high overexpression of HER2 compared to cells with moderate overexpression of this receptor (Sun & Feng, 2009).

The ability of polymer micelles made up of PLA and polyethylene glycol (PEG) to deliver doxorubicin (DOX) and functionalized with anti-VEGF antibody was evaluated by Chang et al. The size of the PEG-PLA nanoparticles was about 100 nm. However, when loaded with doxorubicin, this value changed to 200 nm, and even when functionalized with the antibody, the hydrodynamic diameter of the conjugates (VEGF-PEG-PLA-DOX) changed to 220 nm. The targeting efficiency of the nanocarriers (VEGF-PEG-PLA-DOX, PEG-PLA-DOX, DOX) was evaluated

in vitro by cell viability in the lung adenocarcinoma lineage (A549). The micelles conjugated with VEGF showed a higher inhibitory effect indicating a more potent antitumor effect. In vivo study evaluated the antitumor efficacy of polymeric micelles (VEGF-PEG-PLA-DOX) in nude mice, where the tumor sizes of the functionalized polymer micelle treatment group were significantly smaller than those of PEG-PLA-DOX micelles or the free DOX group, corroborating in vitro analysis (Chang et al., 2020).

Poly(ε -caprolactone) or PCL nanoparticles are among the polymers that have a potential effect on the controlled release of drugs in anticancer therapy (Shukla et al., 2019). PCL is one of the synthetic polymers used as a strategy for biomedical application; unlike other polyesters, it has several unique properties of biodegrad-ability and miscibility with other polymers, it is non-toxic and has high crystallinity, in addition, the slow degradation of this material stands out as an attractive property to improve the prolongation of drug delivery in specific therapeutic situations (Gan et al., 2018; Peng et al., 2019).

In this sense, Peng and collaborators designed polymeric micelles made of PCL-PEG and conjugated with Herceptin (trastuzumab) loaded with paclitaxel for controlled drug release in HER2+ breast cancer cells. Thus, a new non-biodegradable conjugation method was proposed, based on the thiol-ether bond (-C-S-C-) to covalently link the antibody to the functional groups available on the surface of the nanocarrier. The hydrodynamic size of the blank micelles (PCL-PEG) was 111 nm; when encapsulated with paclitaxel (PTX-PCL-PEG), this value increased significantly to 135 nm; however, the conjugation with the mAb (PTX-PCL-PEG-Herceptin) changed the value slightly to 144 nm. Circular dichroism provided results for both free and conjugated Herceptin, which indicated that the antibody was successfully conjugated to the nanoparticles via the thiol-ether binding strategy. Biological assays in breast cancer cell line (SKBR-3) showed that the nanocarriers (PTX-PCL-PEG and PTX-PCL-PEG-Herceptin) entered cells through endocytosis. Complementary confocal laser scanning microscopy study showed accumulated fluorescent signals from the nanoparticle (PTX-PCL-PEG-Herceptin) surrounding SKBR-3 (HER2+) cells compared to MDA-MB-231 (triple-negative) cells, indicating specific delivery and targeted to HER2+ tumor cells. The in vivo assays evaluated in subcutaneous SKBR-3 xenograft model mice tested the formulations (TAXOL®, PTX-PCL-PEG, and PTX-PCL-PEG-Herceptin) and showed that PTX-PCL-PEG-Herceptin had improved targeting ability to tumor tissues reducing nonspecific toxicity; furthermore, the PTX-PCL-PEG-Herceptin nanocarrier was two- to threefold more effective in suppressing tumor growth in relation to the free drug and the unconjugated nanocarrier (Peng et al., 2019).

With a polymeric constitution similar to the previous study, Xu and collaborators developed polymeric nanoparticle based on PEG (polyethylene glycol) and PCL (poly- ε -caprolactone) conjugated with monoclonal antibody PD-L1 and synergized with docetaxel (DTX). The mAb antibody was conjugated through an amidation reaction resulting from the binding of primary amine groups on the surface of the nanoparticle with the carboxylic group of the mAb. In vitro assays performed in MGC803, MKN45, and HGC27 gastric cells showed that mAb-DTX-PEG-PCL

nanoparticles exhibited greater cytotoxicity in cancer cells that express the PD-L1 protein, with a significant increase in cell apoptosis and inhibition of cell proliferation in the G2/M phase of the cell cycle (Xu et al., 2019).

Gan and collaborators have developed polymeric nanoparticles made up of the copolymers TPGS-b-poly(caprolactone) (TPGS-b-PCL) and Pluronic (P123) conjugated with anti-glypican-3 antibody (GPC3), for the delivery of sorafenib (SFB) to hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). The modification of the anti-GPC3 antibody with sulfhydryl was carried out through a thiolation reaction (Ab-SH) resulting from the mixture of the antibody with Traut's reagent, and then it was mixed with the NP-SFB nanoparticle for bioconjugation. In this study, in vitro assays showed that the ability of NP-SFB-GPC3 to kill HepG2 cancer cells is significantly superior to that of free SFB and NP-SFB, as well as the in vivo assay evaluated in nude mice with HepG2 xenograft, confirmed the inhibition of tumor growth when functionalized polymeric nanoparticles (PNPs) are administered in HCC (Gan et al., 2018).

PLGA is a hydrophobic copolymer of poly(lactic acid) or PLA and poly(glycolic acid) or PGA; it can be produced by melt copolymerization processes of cyclic lactic acid and cyclic glycolic acid in the presence of catalysts under specific temperature and pressure (Erbetta et al., 2011; Kumar & Kumar, 2019; Shukla et al., 2019). PLGA nanoparticles provide potential advantages to anticancer drug delivery systems, being able to encapsulate hydrophilic or hydrophobic substances, reduce the administered dose, are non-toxic and biodegradable, and facilitate drug delivery to the tumor by the EPR effect (Choudhury et al., 2019; Zhong et al., 2020). In addition to its advantages, PLGA is a biomaterial commonly used in targeted delivery with monoclonal antibodies (Bregoli et al., 2016; Son et al., 2009; Varshochian et al., 2013).

In this context, Acharya and collaborators prepared and characterized PLGA nanoparticles (NPs) loaded with rampamycin (RAPA) and conjugated with an anti-EGFR antibody for delivery to breast cancer. The conjugation was based on carbodiimide chemistry, where the nanoparticle was activated with 1-ethyl-3-(-3-dimethylaminopropyl)carbodiimide(EDC)andN-hydroxysuccinimide (NHS). Then the nanoparticle was incubated with the anti-EGRF antibody and finally kept under overnight incubation at 4 °C, followed by ultracentrifugation to remove the unconjugated antibody. The developed nanoconjugates (EGFR-RAPA-NPs) showed a size of 274 nm with a monodisperse distribution. Biological cell uptake assays revealed that the immunonanoparticles had an uptake rate almost 13 times higher than the unconjugated nanoparticles. In vitro cytotoxicity studies in MCF-7, a breast cancer cell line, indicated that nanoparticles (EGFR-RAPA-NPs) had greater antiproliferative activity even at very low doses than unconjugated nanoparticles (Rapa-NPs), resulting in an enhanced cytotoxic effect of the loaded drug (Acharya et al., 2009).

The association of polymers in a formulation can be performed as an alternative to reverse or circumvent possible undesirable effects, such as toxicity and others. In this sense, Lee and collaborators have developed polymeric nanoparticles made of PLGA and PEG; the latter is also a polymer that can be used both to assist in the solubility of hydrophobic drugs and to perform surface modifications of the nanoparticle, conferring advantages of prolonged circulation, increased active solubility, decreased immunogenicity, and specific targeting by the effect of increased permeability (EPR) (Lee & Chang, 2017; Shukla et al., 2019). Copolymer nanoparticles (PLGA and PEG) encapsulated with doxorubicin and indocyanine green were conjugated with anti-HER2 antibody through reaction with carbodiimide with EDC/NHS. In vitro assays showed that the viability of MDA-MB-453 cells overexpressing HER2, when treated with the conjugated polymeric nanoparticles and laser irradiation, suffered significant cell death. Moreover, the presence of the PEG polymer allowed the nanoparticles to have an increased circulation time due to their low immunogenicity (Lee & Chang, 2017).

Polymeric nanoparticles can acquire structural forms that facilitate and help the targeting and controlled release of treatment through physical or chemical stimuli. In this scenario, Zhong and collaborators produced polymeric nanoparticles in nanobubble format made up of poly(lactic-co-glycolic) PLGA acid loaded with paclitaxel and conjugated with Herceptin (PTX-NBs-HER) for targeting breast cancer in association with ultrasound (US). The antibody was conjugated using the carbodiimide method, where the nanoparticles were activated using activator coupling (EDC)/(NHS), incubated with Herceptin antibody (20 mg/ml) during 2 h at room temperature, and centrifuged and washed with 2-(N-morpholino)ethanesulfonic acid (MES) to remove unbound antibodies. In vitro studies in MCF-7 cells, overexpressing HER2, showed that NPs (PTX-NBs-HER) targeted cells bound more when compared to NPs (PTX-NBs). In addition, both (PTX-NBs-HER) and (PTX-NBs-HER+US) had the best cell death results, corroborating in vivo assays in models of tumor xenograft of MCF-7 cells in nude BALB/c mice, which showed that the formulation (PTX-NBs-HER+US) had increased drug content in cancer cells, revealing the synergistic effect of paclitaxel, Herceptin antibody, and nanobubbles generated by the ultrasound irradiation, facilitating and directing the accumulation of drug to the tumor (Zhong et al., 2020). Other studies of antibody conjugates using PLGA polymer are described in Table 5.3.

4.3 Inorganic Nanoparticles

The use of nanoparticles for drug delivery is described in the literature as a promising tool that can be applied to monitor, treat, and diagnose cancer (Taleghani et al., 2021). Nanoparticles can be divided into organic and inorganic nanoparticles (NPs), which are made up of metals and metallic oxides. The stability of inorganic nanoparticles in high temperature is better than organic particles, showing an advantage in cancer treatment and provides materials with gold and iron oxide under test in cancer patients (Pugazhendhi et al., 2018). For pancreatic cancer, Feraheme® iron oxide NPs are being studied in clinical trial (Liu et al., 2022).

Although inorganic NPs have properties such as free radical generation and heating that generates controlled tissue destruction for the treatment of neoplasms, active targeting, through the attachment of antibodies (Abs) in these NPs, can be

ble 5.3 Biological studies using PLGA nanoparticles conjugated with antibody for cancer treatment		
ble 5.3 Biological studies using PLGA nanoparticles conjugated with antibody for cancer treatm	lent	
ble 5.3 Biological studies using PLGA nanoparticles conjugated with antibody for cancer tr	reatm	
ble 5.3 Biological studies using PLGA nanoparticles conjugated with antibody for can	cer ti	
ble 5.3 Biological studies using PLGA nanoparticles conjugated with antibody for	canc	
ble 5.3 Biological studies using PLGA nanoparticles conjugated with antibody	for	
ble 5.3 Biological studies using PLGA nanoparticles conjugated with antibu	vbc	
ble 5.3 Biological studies using PLGA nanoparticles conjugated with an	tibe	
ble 5.3 Biological studies using PLGA nanoparticles conjugated with	an	
ble 5.3 Biological studies using PLGA nanoparticles conjugated	with	
ble 5.3 Biological studies using PLGA nanoparticles conjugat	ed	
ble 5.3 Biological studies using PLGA nanoparticles conju	gat	0
ble 5.3 Biological studies using PLGA nanoparticles con	niu	
whle 5.3 Biological studies using PLGA nanoparticles	CO CO	
ble 5.3 Biological studies using PLGA nanopartic	les	
whe 5.3 Biological studies using PLGA nanopar	rtic	
whle 5.3 Biological studies using PLGA nanc	Da	
whle 5.3 Biological studies using PLGA	nanc	
whle 5.3 Biological studies using PLC	A5	
whle 5.3 Biological studies using]	PLC	
whle 5.3 Biological studies usi	пg	0
ble 5.3 Biological studies	isn	
ble 5.3 Biological stu	Idies	
ble 5.3 Biological	stu	
ble 5.3 Biolog	ical	
ble 5.3 Bio	log	l
ble 5.3	Bio	
ble 5.	ŝ	
q	e N	
~	q	

	Ref.	Duwa et al. (2020)	Eivazi et al. (2020)	ontinued)
ancer treatment	Main findings	The polymeric nanoparticles presented characterization of particle size of 162.26 \pm 5.09 nm, polydispersivity index of 0.16 \pm 0.07, and zeta negative potential, showing stability. The effects of polymeric nanoconjugates on treatment significantly reduced the viability of the three strains that overexpress EGFR. The live/dead assay showed that treatment with Cmab-TMZ-PLGA-NP showed a reduction in cell viability, with greater absorption in U-87MG cells than in SW480 and SK-Mel 28 cells, showing to be a versatile drug delivery strategy in the treatment of cancer where there is overexpression of EGFR	The nanoparticles developed showed a size of 196.5 \pm 14.6 mm, polydispersivity index of 0.64 \pm 0.1, and zeta potential of -5.05 ± 2.05 . Functionalized nanoparticles (mAb-DXR-PLGA-NPs) showed a more pronounced decrease in cell viability than non- functionalized nanoparticles, with more pronounced effects on U87MG vIII cells than U87MG cells, showing that conjugation with antibody can improve treatment efficacy	3)
particles conjugated with antibody for c	In vitro/in vivo assays	U-87MG, SW480, and SK-Mel 28 cells were used to evaluate cell viability and cell uptake by confocal laser scanning microscopy and live/ dead assay for cell effect treatments (calcein-AM/ethidium homodimer-1)	The study used U87MG and U87MG vIII cell lines, employing. Fluorescence microscopy and flow cytometry, to evaluate in vitro cell uptake and apoptosis	
al studies using PLGA nano!	Formulation	Polymeric nanoparticles of poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid), loaded with temozolomide (TMZ) and conjugated with cetuximab (Cmab-TMZ-PLGA-NPs)	PLGA-PEG (D,L-lactic- co-glycolic acid)- (polyethylene glycol)- polymeric nanoparticles loaded with dox orubicin (DOX) conjugated anti-EGFR vIII antibody (mAb-DXR-PLGA-NPs)	
Table 5.3 Biologic	Cancer type	Human glioblastoma Adenocarcinoma Human melanoma	Human glioblastoma cells (with and without EGFR vIII overexpression)	

Table 5.3 (continu	(pər			
Cancer type	Formulation	In vitro/in vivo assays	Main findings	Ref.
Colon cancer, human lung carcinoma, lung cancer, and pancreatic tumor cells	Camptothecin encapsulated in polymeric nanoparticles of poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA) conjugated with cetuximab (CTX) (CTX-CPT-NPs)	Cell viability assessment and cell death were performed in vitro on HCT116, A549, HKH-2, HCC827, and PANC-1 cells. In vivo studies were performed in female mice with severe combined immunodeficiency, where PANC-1 cells were implanted subcutaneously in the flanks of the animals	The nanoparticles (CTX-CPT-NPs) exerted a more pronounced apoptosis effect with cell death than the formulation not conjugated with cetuximab. In vivo studies showed a 30% difference in turnor volume reduction compared to the non-antibody conjugated control group, where the body weight of the animals tested remained constant due to the effect of drug nanoencapsulation and specific targeting to cells	McDaid et al. (2019)
Human breast cancer	Polymeric nanoparticles (PLGA-DSPE-PEG- maleimide) encapsulated with paclitaxel and functionalized with herceptin	Cell lines BT474 and MCF7 were applied to assays of cell uptake by flow cytometry, cell uptake by confocal microscopy, and cell death through in vitro cytotoxicity	The nanoparticles prepared by pre-conjugation strategy (PLGA-DSPE-PEG2000-PTX-her) showed pronounced cytotoxicity in relation to the post-conjugation strategy in BT474 cells with HER2 overexpression and higher percentage of cellular internalization, revealed by flow cytometry. The mechanisms of clathrin-mediated and caveolae-dependent endocytosis were evidenced as the main mechanism of internalization of nanoconjugates in cells	Yu et al. (2016)

ued
ttin
con
<u> </u>
5.5
ole

useful in several applications in the field of in vivo diagnosis. The use in human therapy provides targeted drug delivery, gene therapy, cell tagging, and magnetic or optical hyperthermia treatments, among others. Targeting is achieved by attaching ligands to the surface of inorganic NPs with high affinity for overexpressed receptors on tumor cells. The binding of this system (Abs-NPs) in the tumor results in the specific and efficient internalization of drugs via receptor-mediated endocytosis (Montenegro et al., 2013; Pugazhendhi et al., 2018; Taleghani et al., 2021).

4.3.1 Iron

Magnetic nanoparticles are widely used, for example, in targeted drug delivery, for magnetic hyperthermia therapy, cell labeling, and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) as substance for contrast. Interest in magnetic nanoparticles for biomedical applications has increased over time due, in part, to their ability to react to magnetic fields (AMF). It is known that magnetic nanoparticles are able to convert the energy of an AMF into both thermal (in the case of high-frequency fields) and mechanical (low-frequency fields). Particularly, superparamagnetic nanoparticles (SPIONs) formed by iron oxide (Fe₃O₄) due to their excellent magnetic properties and chemical stability can be used for studies applying components for targeting. In addition, to their own ability to accumulate in tissues under an external magnetic field, the detection of tumor cells mediated by such antibodies coupled to magnetic nanoparticles in combination with hyperthermia represents a significant advance in cancer treatment and a substantial improvement in the survival of cancer patients (Antal et al., 2021; Ivanova et al., 2021; Khaniabadi et al., 2020; Montenegro et al., 2013).

In this sense, Antal and collaborators used physical adsorption to immobilize antibodies on the surface of the developed nanoparticle (Montenegro et al., 2013). Thus, the methodology used to bind Ab to the surface of the nanoparticles by physical adsorption consisted of using the lyophilized monoclonal antibody VII/20 specific for carbonic anhydrase IX (CA IX). In the later step, a colloidal solution of Gly5-MNPs had an Ab solution added. After the formation of the pellet, Ab0,5-Gly5-MNPs were used for in vitro experiments. After conjugation of Ab to Gly5-MNPs, the diameter was shifted from 48.0 nm to 78.6 nm. Assessment of cytotoxic potential was verified in melanoma cell lines and survived and even proliferated in the presence of unconjugated Gly5-MNPs or antibody-conjugated Ab0,5-Gly5-MNPs; in addition, the cells did not show reduced metabolism or cytostatic effect. The immunofluorescence study showed that Ab0,5-Gly5-MNPs specifically bind to the CA IX antigen found on the cell surface of B16-FL-CA IX cells. Thus, the antibody-conjugated nanoparticles showed efficient internalization capacity. This important phenomenon of cellular internalization may have implications for selective partitioning of MNPs in tumors, and internalization may also be useful for therapeutic applications where efficacy is modulated by intracellular localization (e.g., magnetic hyperthermia) (Antal et al., 2021).

Studies combining targeted magnetic nanoparticles with antibodies are also used with theranostic purpose: the combination of therapeutic and diagnostic agent for treatment and monitoring as well as diagnosis. Thus, theranostic agents combine photosensitizers and contrast agents and use optical or magnetic resonance imaging techniques that are non-invasive, in a single unit for photothermal therapy (PTT) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). These nanoparticles have greater permeability and retention effect and the ability to exit the body via urinary excretion without long-term toxicity (Khaniabadi et al., 2020; Moradi et al., 2021).

Retention capacity was observed by Moradi et al. (2021), who conjugated anti-CD3 monoclonal antibody to iron oxide (Fe₃O₄) after coating by carboxymethyl dextran (CMD) using cyanogen bromide (CNBr) generating the nanomaterial MPN-CD3. This conjugation is accessible and fast up to 4 h as it is stable under physiological conditions, providing great magnetization, and covalent bonds occur on the metal surface. The physicochemical characteristics of the material showed an MNP size distribution prior to 18 nm conjugation, and after conjugation, the size of the MNPs obtained was 40-100 nm, indicating the increase in the size of the MNPs after the conjugation, in other words after antibody binding to MNPs. In vivo studies were performed staining the tumor portions, and MRI scans were conducted to assess the specificity of the bioconjugated material (MNP-CD3). As a result, the signal-to-noise and contrast-to-noise ratio showed that CD3+ cells were colocalized when stained in the joints of mice with the antibody-containing material compared to the control that was not bioconjugated (Moradi et al., 2021). Similar behavior was observed by Khaniabadi et al. (2020) that, through the excellent performance of T2 magnetic resonance imaging at low concentration of the developed nanosystem (SPION-porphyrin conjugated with traztuzumab), support the applicability of ION-PP-TZ as a new contrast agent (Khaniabadi et al., 2020).

4.3.2 Gold

Gold has been applied in various medical treatments over the years and has no harmful effects. Inorganic gold nanoparticles (AuNPs) are currently being extensively studied due to their unique versatile properties and can be applied in diagnostics through the provision of bioimages enabling early detection and cancer therapy. The high surface-to-volume ratio of AuNPs makes possible their application of drug delivery, as well as functionalization to enhance target specificity. AuNPs have different shapes – nanospheres, nanorods, nanoshells, nanotriangle nanostar, nanohexagon, nanobranched, and hollow spheres, depending on their size and physical characteristics. AuNPs have already been tested with results as contrast agents, biosensors, therapeutics, as well as theranostic potential (Aldahhan et al., 2021; Andrade et al., 2020; Medici et al., 2021).

In addition to drug incorporation, AuNPs as nanosystems for drug delivery may combine functionalization with molecules that allow targeting (such as antibodies) to achieve a level of target specificity. The functionalization process can generally be carried out through the reduction of gold salts in the presence of thiols or thiolderived molecules, so that strong, non-labile covalent bonds are formed through adsorption of the thiol surface, which are stable even when exposed to pH changes. This process also contributes to the assessment of the toxicity of AuNPs because, if not properly functionalized, they can accumulate in the spleen, liver, and lymph nodes, preventing filtration by the reticuloendothelial system (Aldahhan et al., 2021; Medici et al., 2021). In this sense, Liszbinski and collaborators developed a strategy of combining the drug 5-fluorouracil and anti-EGFR (epidermal growth factor receptors) antibody loaded on the nanoparticle of AuNPs to increase the specific delivery of 5-fluorouracil against colorectal cells that overexpress EGFR. The nanoformulation demonstrated the induction of apoptosis in addition to necrosis in a dose-dependent manner; inhibition of proliferation was also observed in a nondependent manner (Liszbinski et al., 2020). Comparatively, Shabbir et al. also developed anti-EGFR nanoparticles with lutetium (177Lu-AuNPs) for colorectal and breast cells, showing that the strains that overexpressed the receptor were sensitive to the nanosystem as well as the biodistribution in mice with xenografts demonstrated the greater uptake of [177Lu]-AuNPs with cetuximab after 4 h of injection via the liver and spleen (Shabbir et al., 2021). Other biological studies applying gold nanoparticle conjugated with antibodies can be seen in Table 5.4.

High antibody coverage in AuNPs is important for biosensor function, but it must be stable with accessibility to conjugated antibodies ensuring the ability to recognize the antigen. Physical adsorption is a method that requires little knowledge of surface chemistry, being a simple and direct method of attraction between AuNPs and the antibody. Byzova et al. (2017) and Ruiz et al. (2019) verified the parameters that govern the preparation of this bioconjugate, such as the isoelectric point of the antibody, the amount of antibody added, and the pH, making it possible to adjust the orientation of the antibody molecules on the surface of citrate-coated AuNPs. In this way, the work results in the statement that the antibody conjugation process on the surface of the gold nanoparticle involves several factors that must be correctly analyzed to ensure greater and more stable conjugation. Computer simulation assays can provide support in understanding these interactions between the antibody and gold (Byzova et al., 2017; Ruiz et al., 2019).

The ability of AuNPs as diagnostic contrast agents was evaluated by Aston and colleagues where a poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG) molecule containing a reactive NHS ester group (succinimidyl valerate) forms covalent bonds with the antibody (VHH-122 OR C225) through the primary amines. And the thiol group contained at the other end of the PEG molecule binds to the surface of the gold nanoparticle. The hydrodynamic diameter had a more pronounced increase with PEGylation, going from 28 nm to 42 nm, and after conjugation with VHH-122 antibody, the diameter increased from 42 nm to 45 nm, with no significant increase. However, after the addition of C225 antibody, the diameter increased from 42 nm to 68 nm. The targeting efficacy of the nanosystems (C225-AuNPs, VHH-AuNPs, and PEG-AuNPs) was evaluated in vitro by EGFR binding assays in squamous cell carcinoma (A431), which overexpress EGFR. C225-AuNPs were found to have a high level of binding, with nanoparticles visibly bright over most of the cell surface under dark-field microscopy. Computed tomography imaging performance was evaluated in C57BL/6 and nude mice; all tested groups had tumor accumulation, but for the cetuximab target group, it was significantly higher (Ashton et al., 2018).

Cancer type Fo Human Go squamous (A cell cet carcinoma				
Human Go squamous (A cell cet carcinoma	rmulation	In vitro/in vivo assays	Main findings	Ref.
	ld nanoparticle uNPs) and uximab	Cell internalization of AuNPs and AuNPCet ₅₀ was conducted using A431 strain as well as immunocytochemistry and fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC) annexin V/7-AAD assessments	The results found showed that bioconjugations without the need to use ligands such as EDC-NHS to conjugate the antibody to the surfaces of AuNPs were successful and that there was a greater amount of intracellular AuNPCet ₅₀ than AuNPs without antibody in the assays. And also, in A431 cells, the nanoparticles were internalized through the transport of vesicles, due to a probable endocytic mechanism	Andrade et al. (2020)
Human breast cancer cell (tr Au Au	ld nanoparticle stuzumab and lium-111 astuzumab- NP- ¹¹¹ In)	The cytotoxicity of trastuzumab- AuNP- ¹¹¹ In on SK-BR-3 and MDA-MB-361 human breast cancer cells in vitro and a breast cancer xenograft mouse model into female CD1-athymic mice for evaluate tumor growth inhibition properties and normal tissue toxicity	Trastuzumab-AuNP- ¹¹¹ In demonstrated targeting for cell lines SK-BR-3 and MDA-MB-361 being internalized more efficiently than AuNP- ¹¹¹ In without antibody and located in a perinuclear region. The absorbed radiation dose deposited in the tumor by trastuzumab-AuNP- ¹¹¹ In was 60.5 Gy, and values lower than 0.9 Gy were received for normal organs	Cai et al. (2016)
Murine Cit glioblastoma nan cell (C VF VF	rate-gold noparticle it-AuNPs) and i-mouse GF-A noclonal Ig	The effect of cit-AuNP on growth curve in GL261 cell proliferation was tested. Female C57BL/6 J mice was used for tumor volume, body weight measurements, and also Cit-AuNP in the cerebral parenchyma	The groups selected for study (cit-AuNP or anti-VEGF Ig covered-AuNP) did not demonstrate a reduction in glioblastoma tumor progression in vivo, possibly because the amount that crosses the blood-brain barrier is not sufficient. In the GL261 glioblastoma cell line growth curve assays, it was observed that Cit-AuNP, at different concentrations, did not alter the proliferation state of GL261	Silva et al. (2020)

Table 5.4 Biological studies applying gold nanoparticle conjugated with antibodies for cancer therapy

Fan et al. (2015)	Kubota et al. (2018)
The toxicity of Au compounds in the Colo 205 cell showed no cytotoxic effects at the highest concentration of 5 μ M. It was observed by confocal microscopy that AuCOOH(Cy5)_mAb198.3 after 4 h of incubation could bind to the cell membrane, thus captured or surrounded by the cytoplasm and nucleus. The images obtained from tumor mice show intense fluorescence at the tumor site due to the targeting effect of mAb198.3 and EPR effect, almost 90% of AuCOOH_mAb198.3	Generated by induction of autophagy, the cytotoxic activity was quite pronounced not only in the trastuzumab-sensitive NCI-N87 gastric cancer lineage but also in the MKN7-resistant lineage. In the in vivo study, the biodistribution of T-AuNPs after systemic administration for NCI-N87 showed accumulation of the nanoparticle in the liver and few in the tumor tissue
Colo 205 and HeLa cells were used to assess AuNP cytotoxicity on cell viability and proliferation, flow cytometry, and confocal microscopy analysis of FAT1 expression. In vivo bioimaging studies were conducted in BALB/c athymic nude mice	MKN7, MKN74, NCI-N87, and NHLF cells were applied in assays like lipid hydroperoxide and confocal fluorescent microscopy. For the antitumor effects of T-AuNPs, female BALB/c nude mice and female NOD/SCID mice were used in tumor models
Gold nanoparticle, cyanine 5, and mAb198.3 antibody (AuCOOH(Cy5)_ mAb198.3)	Gold nanoparticle and trastuzumab (T-AuNPs)
Human colon carcinoma and cervix carcinoma	Human gastric cancer cell

4.3.3 Silica

Among the materials that improve the drug delivery profile to cancer cells, reducing toxic effects, are mesoporous silica nanoparticles (MSNPs) which are solids formed by several empty channels that are arranged in a two-dimensional porous structure with physicochemical characteristics such as nanometer size, high surface area and ordered porous arrangement. MSNPs have corrosion resistance, biocompatibility, and mechanical, chemical, and thermal stability. In general, pore volume and surface area are adjustable as well as pore diameter which can vary in the range of 2 to 50 nm. To functionalize the surface of MSNPs in a specific and efficient way, antibodies are used through covalent bonding or electrostatic interaction. In order to avoid immune responses and increase dispersivity and stability, PEG and other hydrophilic polymers can be used forming a bond between antibody and nanoparticle (Taleghani et al., 2021).

In this sense, Zhang and collaborators developed the MSN material functionalized with carboxyl groups for conjugation of bevacizumab (BVZ) on the surface of the nanoparticle for targeting to ovarian cancer. The nanoparticles had a size without antibody of approximately 135 nm and after incorporation of the antibody the size of 166 nm (Zhang et al., 2015). This size range was also verified by Wang et al. (2017) with 135 nm for conjugation of the cetuximab antibody using the antibody thiolation method with MEA reagent (β -mercaptoethylamine) (Wang et al., 2017). Despite the increase in size, it still allows targeting and passive accumulation in tumor tissues by the EPR (enhanced permeation and retention) effect, suggesting its suitability for the delivery of cancer drugs. Thus, the nanoparticles developed were small enough to avoid detection and destruction by the reticuloendothelial system (RES), prolonging the time of systemic circulation.

The antibody was conjugated to the MSN material through the interaction between the amine groups of the Abs and the carboxyl groups of the MSN. About 100 mg of acid-terminated MSN in MES buffer was activated by reacting with EDC/NHS for 2 h. The MSN is then incubated with the antibody followed by centrifugal separation of the free antibody. Biological assays conducted initially by flow cytometry showed a threefold increase in cellular uptake for the antibodyconjugated material (BMSN/Ab) compared to the antibody-free material (BMSN) for the 2 h and 4 h assays. It can be seen that BMSN/Ab exhibited a threefold increase in cell uptake at the end of 2 h and 4 h. A higher uptake of BMSN/Ab in cancer cells was also observed, being primarily attributed to the specific affinity of BMSN/AB for the receptor overexpressed in ovarian cancer cells (OVCAR-5). Complementary colony formation assay was performed to evaluate the cytotoxic potential of BMSN/Ab where the control (no treatment) had no effect on cell proliferation and although BVZ and BMSN generated control in colony formation, the combination of antibody with the inorganic silica nanoparticle inhibited about ten times compared to the control (Zhang et al., 2015).

Another possible modification for antibody conjugation was described by Mozafarinia et al. (2021) modifying mesoporous silica with amine (MSNs-NH2) to conjugate the Herceptin antibody (trastuzumab) which is made up of two carboxylic

functional groups. In this study, EDC/NHS and a Herceptin concentration of 0.01 mg/ml were also used. The in vitro studies conducted showed the preference of the developed nanoparticle (MSN-NH2@Her) for HER2+ cell lines, considering that the studied lines SKBR3 (HER2+) and MDA-MB-231 (HER-) showed a difference in binding with the developed nanoparticle. Since SKBR3 cells had high cellular uptake of MSN-NH2@Her, due to the targeting generated by their HER2 receptors, MDA-MB-231 cells were not able to absorb the nanoparticle due to the lack of receptors, thus not occurring binding to the plasma membrane (Mozafarinia et al., 2021).

4.3.4 Quantum Dots

The quantum dots (QDs) are versatile fluorescent inorganic semiconductors in the form of nanocrystals with optical and electronic properties. The QDs can be adjusted in their photoluminescence emission band; the adjustment takes place from the ultraviolet to the infrared region based on the choice of composition and size of the nanocrystals. The composition may consist of binary (CdS, ZnS) or ternary (AgInS, CuInS) alloys. Due to environmental and biological issues, the synthesis of QDs containing Cd obtained by organometallic route has sought replacements for alternative syntheses such as aqueous. This nanoparticle produced under hydrophilic conditions favors the process of direct chemical conjugation of molecules, generating specificity for cell receptors. In addition to applications for cell imaging, optical bar code due to photostability and strong fluorescence intensity, quantum dots can be used to verify interactions between protein molecules and detect signal transduction in cells through fluorescence resonance energy transfer (FRET), being a promising nanomaterial for the treatment and tracking of cancer cells in vivo (Ruan et al., 2012; Santana et al., 2019).

Santana and collaborators developed quantum dots of ternary alloys: the AgInS2 nanoconjugates (AIS). The synthesis was carried out by aqueous route using chitosan (Chi) as a stabilizing agent and binding agent for anti-vascular endothelial growth factor antibody (abVEGF, Avastin®) and salt precursors (silver, indium, and sulfide). The deposition of ZnS was performed on the nanoparticle, making the semiconductor material (ZnS-AgInS2, ZAIS) coated with a chitosan ligand with a size of approximately 4.4 nm. And the anti-VEGF antibodies were covalently bioconjugated using EDC/NHS producing the immunoconjugates (ZAIS/ChiabVEGF). The specific targeting of cancer cells was evaluated using cytotoxicity assays for glioma tumor cells (U87). Cell viability compared to normal cells (HEK 293 T) had a significant reduction of 40% when QDs had conjugation with antibody with a concentration of 3 mg/mL. And for higher abVEGF concentrations (30 mg/mL), the reduction of cancer cells was 65%. Thus, the development of a hybrid nanomaterial biofunctionalized with affinity antibodies to target and kill cancer cells was effective (Santana et al., 2019).

Ruan et al. using binary alloy quantum dots (CdTe) conjugated with ribonuclease A (RQDs) verified their application in vivo. The material developed is composed of

a large number of quantum dots; the average size of the RQDs is about 40 nm. The monoclonal antibody HER2 was modified with a sufhydryl group and later conjugated to RODs through the thiol antibody group. Thus, two steps can be described: the primary amines present in RNase A being coupled to N-succinimidyl iodoacetate (SIA) and the binding of the iodoacetyl group to the thiolated antibody HER2. The evaluation of the HER2-RQDs nanosystem targeting was performed in gastric cancer cells (MGC803). The images obtained by confocal microscopy show strong red fluorescence around the nucleus, indicating the directed entry of HER2-RODs by the HER2 overexpression in cancer cells. And image of morphology showed apoptotic characteristics like cavity in the endoplasmic reticulum and cell surface containing bubble-shaped protrusions. The distribution of HER2-RODs in in vivo and in situ nude mouse model was analyzed by inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (ICP-MS). The analysis allowed to identify that the amount of the nanoparticle used in the study in the gastric tumor tissues was 10.2 ppm after 24 h of treatment, but the other tissues evaluated (heart, kidney, spleen, lung, liver, and blood) showed values below 5 ppm, indicating the favoring of the distribution of HER2-RQDs in gastric cancer tissues in vivo. Therefore, the material developed may be a type of imaging probe aimed at gastric cancer (Ruan et al., 2012).

5 Conclusion

The development of monoclonal antibodies has offered new opportunities for the treatment of several diseases, including cancer. The recognition ability and its particular reactivity, with the possibility of bioconjugation, have stimulated the development of several therapies. Targeting antibodies for the functionalization of nanoparticles with different approaches have been described demonstrating the versatility and range of possibilities for the development of new therapies. Functionalization using maleimide chemistry has been the most used technique, and new approaches to click chemistry have been developed seeking to improve its safety. The different conjugation techniques employed in the functionalization can alter the physicochemical properties of the nanoparticles and the binding sites of the antibodies resulting in dramatic variations in the stability and in the intended therapeutic effect for the formulation. The biggest challenge is choosing the ideal strategy for a particular type of cancer. The use of antibody-functionalized nanoparticles is still less developed than ADCs, which have approved clinical protocols, and commercial formulations are already available. However, the use of nanoparticles seems promising because, in addition to promoting selective delivery, they have other advantages such as increased drug stability, controlled release, and improved pharmacokinetics and immunogenicity. Different types of nanoparticles and conjugation strategies have been tried and optimized in the search for conjugation efficiency, with adequate conformation and density of the conjugates, in order to improve the circulation time and binding capacity of functionalized nanoparticles with antibodies directed to the different types of cancer. In this chapter, several functionalization approaches and in vivo and in vitro studies were presented with excellent perspectives in the development of treatments for cancer. Although it is a challenge, drugloaded nanoparticles functionalized with antibodies are expected to be developed and approved.

Acknowledgments This work was supported by the National Council for Scientific and Technological Development (CNPq) (grants # 409362/2018-2; #409352/2018-7).

References

- Abbas, A. K., Pillai, S., & Lichtman, A. H. (2019). *Imunologia: Celular e Molecular* (9th ed.). Elsevier Ltd.
- Acharya, S., Dilnawaz, F., & Sahoo, S. K. (2009). Targeted epidermal growth factor receptor nanoparticle bioconjugates for breast cancer therapy. *Biomaterials*, 30, 5737–5750.
- Aldahhan, R., Almohazey, D., & Khan, F. A. (2021). Emerging trends in the application of gold nanoformulations in colon cancer diagnosis and treatment. *Seminars in Cancer Biology*.
- Alibakhshi, A., Abarghooi Kahaki, F., Ahangarzadeh, S., Yaghoobi, H., Yarian, F., Arezumand, R., Ranjbari, J., Mokhtarzadeh, A., & De La Guardia, M. (2017). Targeted cancer therapy through antibody fragments-decorated nanomedicines. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 268, 323–334.
- Amin, M., Pourshohod, A., Kheirollah, A., Afrakhteh, M., Gholami-Borujeni, F., Zeinali, M., & Jamalan, M. (2018). Specific delivery of idarubicin to HER2-positive breast cancerous cell line by trastuzumab-conjugated liposomes. *The Journal of Drug Delivery Science and Technology*, 47, 209–214.
- Andrade, L. M., Martins, E. M. N., Versiani, A. F., Reis, D. S., Da Fonseca, F. G., Souza, I. P. D., Paniago, R. M., Pereira-Maia, E., & Ladeira, L. O. (2020). The physicochemical and biological characterization of a 24-month-stored nanocomplex based on gold nanoparticles conjugated with cetuximab demonstrated long-term stability, EGFR affinity and cancer cell death due to apoptosis. *Materials Science and Engineering, C 107*.
- Antal, I., Koneracka, M., Kubovcikova, M., Zavisova, V., Jurikova, A., Khmara, I., Omastova, M., Micusik, M., Barathova, M., Jelenska, L., Kajanova, I., Zatovicova, M., & Pastorekova, S. (2021). Targeting of carbonic anhydrase IX-positive cancer cells by glycine-coated superparamagnetic nanoparticles. *Colloids Surfaces B Biointerfaces*, 205.
- Ashton, J. R., Gottlin, E. B., Patz, E. F., West, J. L., & Badea, C. T. (2018). A comparative analysis of EGFR-targeting antibodies for gold nanoparticle CT imaging of lung cancer. *PLoS One*, 13, 1–21.
- Bapat, R. A., Chaubal, T. V., Joshi, C. P., Bapat, P. R., Choudhury, H., Pandey, M., Gorain, B., & Kesharwani, P. (2018). An overview of application of silver nanoparticles for biomaterials in dentistry. *Materials Science and Engineering: C*, 91, 881–898.
- Barrajón-Catalán, E., Menéndez-Gutiérrez, M. P., Falco, A., Carrato, A., Saceda, M., & Micol, V. (2010). Selective death of human breast cancer cells by lytic immunoliposomes: Correlation with their HER2 expression level. *Cancer Letters*, 290, 192–203.
- Battaglia, L., Gallarate, M., Peira, E., Chirio, D., Solazzi, I., Giordano, S. M. A., Gigliotti, C. L., Riganti, C., & Dianzani, C. (2015). Bevacizumab loaded solid lipid nanoparticles prepared by the coacervation technique: Preliminary in vitro studies. *Nanotechnology*, 26, 255102.
- Bhattacharya, S. (2020). Anti-EGFR-mAb and 5-fluorouracil conjugated polymeric nanoparticles for colorectal cancer. *Recent Patents on Anti-Cancer Drug Discovery*, 16, 84–100.
- Binyamin, L., Borghaei, H., & Weiner, L. M. (2006). Cancer therapy with engineered monoclonal antibodies. Update Cancer Therapeutics, 2, 147–157.

- Bregoli, L., Movia, D., Gavigan-Imedio, J. D., Lysaght, J., Reynolds, J., & Prina-Mello, A. (2016). Nanomedicine applied to translational oncology: A future perspective on cancer treatment. *Nanomedicine Nanotechnology, Biologie et Médecine*, 12, 81–103.
- Bummer, P. M. (2004). Physical chemical considerations of lipid-based oral drug delivery-solid lipid nanoparticles. *Critical Reviews in Therapeutic Drug Carrier Systems*, 21, 1–20.
- Byzova, N. A., Safenkova, I. V., Slutskaya, E. S., Zherdev, A. V., & Dzantiev, B. B. (2017). Less is more: A comparison of antibody-gold nanoparticle conjugates of different ratios. *Bioconjugate Chemistry*, 28, 2737–2746.
- Cai, Z., Chattopadhyay, N., Yang, K., Kwon, Y. L., Yook, S., Pignol, J. P., Reilly, R. M., (2016). 111In-labeled trastuzumab-modified gold nanoparticles are cytotoxic in vitro to HER2-positive breast cancer cells and arrest tumor growth in vivo in athymic mice after intratumoral injection. *Nuclear Medicine and Biology*, 43, 818–826.
- Cameron, D., Piccart-Gebhart, M. J., Gelber, R. D., Procter, M., Goldhirsch, A., De Azambuja, E., Castro, G., Untch, M., Smith, I., Gianni, L., Baselga, J., Al-Sakaff, N., Lauer, S., Mcfadden, E., Leyland-Jones, B., Bell, R., Dowsett, M., & Jackisch, C. (2017). 11 years' follow-up of trastuzumab after adjuvant chemotherapy in HER2-positive early breast cancer: Final analysis of the HERceptin adjuvant (HERA) trial. *Lancet (London, England), 389*, 1195–1205.
- Carrara, S. C., Ulitzka, M., Grzeschik, J., Kornmann, H., Hock, B., & Kolmar, H. (2021). From cell line development to the formulated drug product: The art of manufacturing therapeutic monoclonal antibodies. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 594.
- Carter, P. J. (2006). Potent antibody therapeutics by design. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 6, 343–357.
- Chang, J., Yang, Z., Li, J., Jin, Y., Gao, Y., Sun, Y., Li, H., & Yu, T. (2020). Preparation and in vitro and in vivo antitumor effects of VEGF targeting micelles. *Technology in Cancer Research & Treatment*, 19, 1–8.
- Choudhury, H., Gorain, B., Pandey, M., Khurana, R. K., & Kesharwani, P. (2019). Strategizing biodegradable polymeric nanoparticles to cross the biological barriers for cancer targeting. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 565, 509–522.
- De Mendoza, A. E.-H., Campanero, M. A., Mollinedo, F., & Blanco-Prieto, M. J. (2009). Lipid nanomedicines for anticancer drug therapy. *Journal of Biomedical Nanotechnology*, 5, 323–343.
- De Mendoza, E.-H. A., Préat, V., Mollinedo, F., & Blanco-Prieto, M. J. (2011). In vitro and in vivo efficacy of edelfosine-loaded lipid nanoparticles against glioma. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 156, 421–426.
- Desai, R., Coxon, A. T., & Dunn, G. P. (2022). Therapeutic applications of the cancer immunoediting hypothesis. *Seminars in Cancer Biology*, 78, 63–77.
- Desnoyer, A., Broutin, S., Delahousse, J., Maritaz, C., Blondel, L., Mir, O., Chaput, N., & Paci, A. (2020). Pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic relationship of therapeutic monoclonal antibodies used in oncology: Part 2, immune checkpoint inhibitor antibodies. *European Journal of Cancer, 128*, 119–128.
- Di Filippo, L. D., Lobato Duarte, J., Hofstätter Azambuja, J., Isler Mancuso, R., Tavares Luiz, M., Hugo Sousa Araújo, V., Delbone Figueiredo, I., Barretto-De-Souza, L., Miguel Sábio, R., Sasso-Cerri, E., Martins Baviera, A., Crestani, C. C., Teresinha Ollala Saad, S., & Chorilli, M. (2022). Glioblastoma multiforme targeted delivery of docetaxel using bevacizumab-modified nanostructured lipid carriers impair in vitro cell growth and in vivo tumor progression. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, *618*, 121682.
- Dougan, M., Luoma, A. M., Dougan, S. K., & Wucherpfennig, K. W. (2021). Understanding and treating the inflammatory adverse events of cancer immunotherapy. *Cell*, 184, 1575–1588.
- Duwa, R., Banstola, A., Emami, F., Jeong, J. H., Lee, S., Yook, S., (2020). Cetuximab conjugated temozolomide-loaded poly (lactic-co-glycolic acid) nanoparticles for targeted nanomedicine in EGFR overexpressing cancer cells. *Journal of Drug Delivery Science and Technology*, 60, 101928.

- Eichenauer, D. A., Aleman, B. M. P., André, M., Federico, M., Hutchings, M., Illidge, T., Engert, A., & Ladetto, M. (2018). Hodgkin lymphoma: ESMO clinical practice guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. *Annals of Oncology*, 29, iv19–iv29.
- Eivazi, N., Rahmani, R., Paknejad, M., (2020). Specific cellular internalization and pH-responsive behavior of doxorubicin loaded PLGA-PEG nanoparticles targeted with anti EGFRvIII antibody. *Life Sciences*, 261, 118361.
- Eliasen, R., Andresen, T. L., & Larsen, J. B. (2019). PEG-lipid post insertion into drug delivery liposomes quantified at the single liposome level. Advanced Materials Interfaces, 6, 1801807.
- Eloy, J. O., Petrilli, R., Brueggemeier, R. W., Marchetti, J. M., & Lee, R. J. (2017a). Rapamycinloaded immunoliposomes functionalized with trastuzumab: A strategy to enhance cytotoxicity to HER2-positive breast cancer cells. *Anti-Cancer Agents in Medicinal Chemistry*, 17, 48–56.
- Eloy, J. O., Petrilli, R., Chesca, D. L., Saggioro, F. P., Lee, R. J., & Marchetti, J. M. (2017b). Anti-HER2 immunoliposomes for co-delivery of paclitaxel and rapamycin for breast cancer therapy. *European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics*, 115, 159–167.
- Eloy, J. O., Petrilli, R., Trevizan, L. N. F., & Chorilli, M. (2017c). Immunoliposomes: A review on functionalization strategies and targets for drug delivery. *Colloids Surfaces B Biointerfaces*, 159, 454–467.
- Elzahhar, P., Belal, A. S. F., Elamrawy, F., Helal, N. A., & Nounou, M. I. (2019). Bioconjugation in drug delivery: Practical perspectives and future perceptions. *Methods in Molecular Biology*, 2000, 125–182.
- Erbetta, C. D. C., Viegas, C. C. B., Freitas, R. F. S., & Sousa, R. G. (2011). Síntese e Caracterização Têrmica e Química do Copolímero Poli(D,L-lactídeo-co-glicolídeo). *Polimeros, 21*, 376–382.
- Ernsting, M. J., Murakami, M., Roy, A., & Li, S. D. (2013). Factors controlling the pharmacokinetics, biodistribution and intratumoral penetration of nanoparticles. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 172, 782–794.
- Eroğlu, İ., & Ibrahim, M. (2020). Liposome–ligand conjugates: A review on the current state of art. *Journal of Drug Targeting*.
- Fan, L., Campagnoli, S., Wu, H., Grandi, A., Parri, M., De Camilli, E., Grandi, G., Viale, G., Pileri, P., Grifantini, R., Song, C., Jin, B., (2015). Negatively charged AuNP modified with monoclonal antibody against novel tumor antigen FAT1 for tumor targeting. *Journal of Experimental & Clinical Cancer Research*, 34, 1–13.
- Fernandes, L.C.C., Nogueira, K.A.B., Martins, J.R.P., Santos, E., De Freitas, P.G.C., Nogueira, B.A.B., Raspantini, G.L., Petrilli, R., Eloy, J.O., 2021. Nanotechnology: Concepts and potential applications in medicine.
- Foltz, I. N., Karow, M., & Wasserman, S. M. (2013). Evolution and emergence of therapeutic monoclonal antibodies: What cardiologists need to know. *Circulation*, 127, 2222–2230.
- Formica, M. L., Legeay, S., Bejaud, J., Montich, G. G., Ullio Gamboa, G. V., Benoit, J. P., & Palma, S. D. (2021). Novel hybrid lipid nanocapsules loaded with a therapeutic monoclonal antibody – Bevacizumab – and Triamcinolone acetonide for combined therapy in neovascular ocular pathologies. *Materials Science and Engineering: C, 119*, 111398.
- Freitas, L. B. O., Ruela, F. A., Pereira, G. R., Alves, R. B., & Freitas, R. P. (2011). A Reação "CLICK" Na Síntese DE 1,2,3-Triazóis: Aspectos Químicos E Aplicações. *Quimica Nova*, 34, 1791–1804.
- Gan, H., Chen, L., Sui, X., Wu, B., Zou, S., Li, A., Zhang, Y., Liu, X., Wang, D., Cai, S., Liu, X., Liang, Y., & Tang, X. (2018). Enhanced delivery of sorafenib with anti-GPC3 antibody-conjugated TPGS-b-PCL/Pluronic P123 polymeric nanoparticles for targeted therapy of hepatocellular carcinoma. *Materials Science and Engineering: C*, *91*, 395–403.
- GCO-WHO, 2020. Global cancer observatory. .
- Gordon, M. R., Canakci, M., Li, L., Zhuang, J., Osborne, B., & Thayumanavan, S. (2015). A field guide to challenges and opportunities in antibody-drug conjugates for chemists. *Bioconjugate Chemistry*, 26, 2198–2215.

- Guo, S., Zhang, Y., Wu, Z., Zhang, L., He, D., Li, X., & Wang, Z. (2019). Synergistic combination therapy of lung cancer: Cetuximab functionalized nanostructured lipid carriers for the codelivery of paclitaxel and 5-Demethylnobiletin. *Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy*, 118.
- Guo, Y.-Y., Huang, L., Zhang, Z., Fu, P., & Hao, D. (2020). Strategies for precise engineering and conjugation of antibody targeted-nanoparticles for cancer therapy. *Current Medical Science*, 40, 463–473.
- Hafeez, U., Gan, H. K., & Scott, A. M. (2018). Monoclonal antibodies as immunomodulatory therapy against cancer and autoimmune diseases. *Current Opinion in Pharmacology*, 41, 114–121.
- Hasan, M. M., Laws, M., Jin, P., & Rahman, K. M. (2022). Factors influencing the choice of monoclonal antibodies for antibody-drug conjugates. *Drug Discovery Today*, 27, 354–361.
- Hein, C. D., Liu, X. M., & Wang, D. (2008). Click chemistry, a powerful tool for pharmaceutical sciences. *Pharmaceutical Research*, 25, 2216–2230.
- Hermanson, G. T. (2013a). Zero-length Crosslinkers. Bioconjugate Techniques, 259-273.
- Hermanson, G. T. (2013b). Antibody modification and conjugation. *Bioconjugate Techniques*, 867–920.
- Hermanson, G. T. (2013c). Functional targets for bioconjugation. *Bioconjugate Techniques*, 127–228.
- Hermanson, G. T. (2013d). Microparticles and nanoparticles. Bioconjugate Techniques, 549-587.
- Hoffmann, R.M., Coumbe, B.G.T., Josephs, D.H., Mele, S., Ilieva, K.M., Cheung, A., Tutt, A.N., Spicer, J.F., Thurston, D.E., Crescioli, S., Karagiannis, S.N., 2018. Antibody structure and engineering considerations for the design and function of antibody drug conjugates (ADCS).
- Hou, Y., Liu, Y., Tang, C., Tan, Y., Zheng, X., Deng, Y., He, N., & Li, S. (2022). Recent advance in nanomaterials for cancer immunotherapy. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, 435, 134145.
- Iden, D. L., & Allen, T. M. (2001). In vitro and in vivo comparison of immunoliposomes made by conventional coupling techniques with those made by a new post-insertion approach. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, 1513, 207–216.
- Ivanova, A. V., Nikitin, A. A., Gabashvily, A. N., Vishnevskiy, D. A., & Abakumov, M. A. (2021). Synthesis and intensive analysis of antibody labeled single core magnetic nanoparticles for targeted delivery to the cell membrane. *The Journal of Magnetism and Magnetic Materials*, 521.
- Jain, A., & Cheng, K. (2017). The principles and applications of avidin-based nanoparticles in drug delivery and diagnosis. *Journal of Controlled Release*.
- Jain, A., Barve, A., Zhao, Z., Jin, W., & Cheng, K. (2017). Comparison of Avidin, neutravidin, and streptavidin as nanocarriers for efficient siRNA delivery. *Molecular Pharmaceutics*, 14, 1517–1527.
- Jaramillo, M. L., Leon, Z., Grothe, S., Paul-Roc, B., Abulrob, A., & O'connor Mccourt, M. (2006). Effect of the anti-receptor ligand-blocking 225 monoclonal antibody on EGF receptor endocytosis and sorting. *Experimental Cell Research*, 312, 2778–2790.
- Jazayeri, M. H., Amani, H., Pourfatollah, A. A., Pazoki-Toroudi, H., & Sedighimoghaddam, B. (2016). Various methods of gold nanoparticles (GNPs) conjugation to antibodies. *Sensing* and Bio-Sensing Research, 9, 17–22.
- Jeong, S., Park, J. Y., Cha, M. G., Chang, H., Kim, Y. I., Kim, H. M., Jun, B. H., Lee, D. S., Lee, Y. S., Jeong, J. M., Lee, Y. S., & Jeong, D. H. (2017). Highly robust and optimized conjugation of antibodies to nanoparticles using quantitatively validated protocols. *Nanoscale*, 9, 2548–2555.
- Jiang, L., Luirink, J., Kooijmans, S. A. A., Van Kessel, K. P. M., Jong, W., Van Essen, M., Seinen, C. W., De Maat, S., De Jong, O. G., Gitz-François, J. F. F., Hennink, W. E., Vader, P., & Schiffelers, R. M. (2021). A post-insertion strategy for surface functionalization of bacterial and mammalian cell-derived extracellular vesicles. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta – General Subjects*, 1865, 129763.
- Jones, S., King, P. J., Antonescu, C. N., Sugiyama, M. G., Bhamra, A., Surinova, S., Angelopoulos, N., Kragh, M., Pedersen, M. W., Hartley, J. A., Futter, C. E., & Hochhauser, D. (2020). Targeting of EGFR by a combination of antibodies mediates unconventional EGFR trafficking and degradation. *Scientific Reports*, 10, 1–19.

- Juan, A., Cimas, F. J., Bravo, I., Pandiella, A., Ocaña, A., & Alonso-Moreno, C. (2020). An overview of antibody conjugated polymeric nanoparticles for breast cancer therapy. *Pharmaceutics*, 12, 1–20.
- Kantner, T., Watts, A. G., (2016). Characterization of Reactions between Water-Soluble Trialkylphosphines and Thiol Alkylating Reagents: Implications for Protein-Conjugation Reactions. *Bioconjugate Chemistry*, 27, 2400–2406.
- Karumanchi, D. K., Skrypai, Y., Thomas, A., & Gaillard, E. R. (2018). Rational design of liposomes for sustained release drug delivery of bevacizumab to treat ocular angiogenesis. *The Journal of Drug Delivery Science and Technology*, 47, 275–282.
- Khaniabadi, P. M., Shahbazi-Gahrouei, D., Aziz, A. A., Dheyab, M. A., Khaniabadi, B. M., Mehrdel, B., & Jameel, M. S. (2020). Trastuzumab conjugated porphyrin-superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticle: A potential PTT-MRI bimodal agent for herceptin positive breast cancer. *Photodiagnosis and Photodynamic Therapy*, 31.
- Kim, E., & Koo, H. (2019). Biomedical applications of copper-free click chemistry: In vitro, in vivo, and ex vivo. *Chemical Science*, 10, 7835–7851.
- Koebel, C. M., Vermi, W., Swann, J. B., Zerafa, N., Rodig, S. J., Old, L. J., Smyth, M. J., & Schreiber, R. D. (2007). Adaptive immunity maintains occult cancer in an equilibrium state. *Nature*, 450, 903–907.
- Kolb, H. C., Finn, M. G., & Sharpless, K. B. (2001). Click chemistry: Diverse chemical function from a few good reactions. *Angewandte Chemie – International*.
- Krishnamurthy, A., & Jimeno, A. (2018). Bispecific antibodies for cancer therapy: A review. *Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, 185, 122–134.
- Kuan, S. L., Wang, T., & Weil, T. (2016). Site-selective disulfide modification of proteins: Expanding diversity beyond the proteome. *Chemistry—A European Journal*, 22, 17112–17129.
- Kubota, T., Kuroda, S., Kanaya, N., Morihiro, T., Aoyama, K., Kakiuchi, Y., Kikuchi, S., Nishizaki, M., Kagawa, S., Tazawa, H., Fujiwara, T., (2018). HER2-targeted gold nanoparticles potentially overcome resistance to trastuzumab in gastric cancer. *Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology, Biology and Medicine*, 14, 1919–1929.
- Kumar, A., & Kumar, A. (2019). Poly(lactic acid) and poly(lactic-co-glycolic) acid nanoparticles: Versatility in biomedical applications, materials for biomedical engineering: Absorbable polymers. Elsevier Inc.
- Kumar, V., Abbas, A. K., & Aster, J. C. (2013). Robbins Patologia Básica (9th ed.). Elsevier.
- Kumar, A., White, J., James Christie, R., Dimasi, N., & Gao, C. (2017). Antibody-drug conjugates (1st ed.). Annual Reports in Medicinal Chemistry. Elsevier.
- Kumar, R., Parray, H. A., Shrivastava, T., Sinha, S., & Luthra, K. (2019). Phage display antibody libraries: A robust approach for generation of recombinant human monoclonal antibodies. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, 135, 907–918.
- Lee, Y. H., & Chang, D. S. (2017). Fabrication, characterization, and biological evaluation of anti-HER2 indocyanine green-doxorubicinencapsulated PEG-b-PLGA copolymeric nanoparticles for targeted photochemotherapy of breast cancer cells. *Scientific Reports*, 7, 1–13.
- Lee, Y. T., Tan, Y. J., & Oon, C. E. (2018). Molecular targeted therapy: Treating cancer with specificity. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, 834, 188–196.
- Li, M., Du, C., Guo, N., Teng, Y., Meng, X., Sun, H., Li, S., Yu, P., & Galons, H. (2019). Composition design and medical application of liposomes. *European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, 164, 640–653.
- Li, Y., Gan, Y., Li, C., Yang, Y. Y., Yuan, P., & Ding, X. (2020). Cell membrane-engineered hybrid soft nanocomposites for biomedical applications. *Journal of Materials Chemistry B*, 8, 5578–5596.
- Liébana, S., & Drago, G. A. (2016). Bioconjugation and stabilisation of biomolecules in biosensors. Essays in Biochemistry, 60, 59–68.
- Lim, S. M., Pyo, K. H., Soo, R. A., & Cho, B. C. (2021). The promise of bispecific antibodies: Clinical applications and challenges. *Cancer Treatment Reviews*, *99*, 102240.

- Liszbinski, R. B., Romagnoli, G. G., Gorgulho, C. M., Basso, C. R., Pedrosa, V. A., & Kaneno, R. (2020). Anti-EGFR-coated gold nanoparticles in vitro carry 5-fluorouracil to colorectal cancer cells. *Materials (Basel)*, 13.
- Liu, J. K. H. (2014). The history of monoclonal antibody development Progress, remaining challenges and future innovations. *Annals of Medicine and Surgery*, 3, 113–116.
- Liu, Y., Hou, W., Sun, H., Cui, C., Zhang, L., Jiang, Y., Wu, Y., Wang, Y., Li, J., Sumerlin, B. S., Liu, Q., & Tan, W. (2017). Thiol–ene click chemistry: A biocompatible way for orthogonal bioconjugation of colloidal nanoparticles. *Chemical Science*, *8*, 6182–6187.
- Liu, X., Zhang, H., Zhang, T., Wang, Y., Jiao, W., Lu, X., Gao, X., Xie, M., Shan, Q., Wen, N., Liu, C., Siang, W., Lee, V., & Fan, H. (2022). Magnetic nanomaterials-mediated cancer diagnosis and therapy. *Progress in Biomedical Engineering*, 4.
- Lonberg, N. (2008). Fully human antibodies from transgenic mouse and phage display platforms. *Current Opinion in Immunology*, 20, 450–459.
- Lu, R. M., Hwang, Y. C., Liu, I. J., Lee, C. C., Tsai, H. Z., Li, H. J., & Wu, H. C. (2020). Development of therapeutic antibodies for the treatment of diseases. *Journal of Biomedical Science*, 27, 1–30.
- Malam, Y., Loizidou, M., & Seifalian, A. M. (2009). Liposomes and nanoparticles: Nanosized vehicles for drug delivery in cancer. *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences*, 30, 592–599.
- Manjappa, A. S., Chaudhari, K. R., Venkataraju, M. P., Dantuluri, P., Nanda, B., Sidda, C., Sawant, K. K., & Ramachandra Murthy, R. S. (2011). Antibody derivatization and conjugation strategies: Application in preparation of stealth immunoliposome to target chemotherapeutics to tumor. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 150, 2–22.
- Marques, A. C., Costa, P. J., Velho, S., & Amaral, M. H. (2020). Functionalizing nanoparticles with cancer-targeting antibodies: A comparison of strategies. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 320, 180–200.
- Marqués-Gallego, P., & De Kroon, A. I. P. M. (2014). Ligation strategies for targeting liposomal nanocarriers. *BioMed Research International*, 2014.
- Masood, F. (2015). Polymeric nanoparticles for targeted drug delivery system for cancer therapy. *Materials Science and Engineering: C*, 60, 569–578.
- McDaid, W. J., Greene, M. K., Johnston, M. C., Pollheimer, E., Smyth, P., McLaughlin, K., Van Schaeybroeck, S., Straubinger, R. M., Longley, D. B., Scott, C. J., (2019). Repurposing of Cetuximab in antibody-directed chemotherapy- loaded nanoparticles in EGFR therapyresistant pancreatic tumours. *Nanoscale 11*, 20261–20273.
- Mckay, C. S., & Finn, M. G. (2014). Click chemistry in complex mixtures: Bioorthogonal bioconjugation. *Chemistry & Biology*, 21, 1075–1101.
- Medici, S., Peana, M., Coradduzza, D., & Zoroddu, M. A. (2021). Gold nanoparticles and cancer: Detection, diagnosis and therapy. *Seminars in Cancer Biology*, 76, 27–37.
- Mitra, A. K., Agrahari, V., Mandal, A., Cholkar, K., Natarajan, C., Shah, S., Joseph, M., Trinh, H. M., Vaishya, R., Yang, X., Hao, Y., Khurana, V., & Pal, D. (2015). Novel delivery approaches for cancer therapeutics. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 219, 248–268.
- Montenegro, J. M., Grazu, V., Sukhanova, A., Agarwal, S., De La Fuente, J. M., Nabiev, I., Greiner, A., & Parak, W. J. (2013). Controlled antibody/(bio-) conjugation of inorganic nanoparticles for targeted delivery. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews*.
- Moradi, N., Muhammadnejad, S., Delavari, H., Pournoori, N., Oghabian, M. A., & Ghafouri, H. (2021). Bio-conjugation of anti-human CD3 monoclonal antibodies to magnetic nanoparticles by using cyanogen bromide: A potential for cell sorting and noninvasive diagnosis. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, 192, 72–81.
- Moraes, J. Z., Hamaguchi, B., Braggion, C., Speciale, E. R., Cesar, F. B. V., Soares, G. D. F., Da, S., Osaki, J. H., Pereira, T. M., & Aguiar, R. B. (2021). Hybridoma technology: Is it still useful? *Current Research in Immunology*, 2, 32–40.
- Mozafarinia, M., Karimi, S., Farrokhnia, M., & Esfandiari, J. (2021). In vitro breast cancer targeting using Trastuzumab-conjugated mesoporous silica nanoparticles: Towards the new strategy

for decreasing size and high drug loading capacity for drug delivery purposes in MSN synthesis. *Microporous and Mesoporous Materials*, *316*, 110950.

- Nag, O. K., & Awasthi, V. (2013). Surface engineering of liposomes for stealth behavior. *Pharmaceutics*, 5, 542–569.
- Narayanaswamy, R., & Torchilin, V. P. (2021). Targeted delivery of combination therapeutics using monoclonal antibody 2C5-modified Immunoliposomes for cancer therapy. *Pharmaceutical Research*, 38, 429–450.
- Nguyen, H. T., Tran, T. H., Thapa, R. K., Phung, C. D., Shin, B. S., Jeong, J. H., Choi, H. G., Yong, C. S., & Kim, J. O. (2017). Targeted co-delivery of polypyrrole and rapamycin by trastuzumabconjugated liposomes for combined chemo-photothermal therapy. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 527, 61–71.
- Niza, E., Noblejas-López, M. D. M., Bravo, I., Nieto-Jiménez, C., Castro-Osma, J. A., Canales-Vázquez, J., Lara-Sanchez, A., Moya, E. M. G., Burgos, M., Ocaña, A., & Alonso-Moreno, C. (2019). Trastuzumab-targeted biodegradable nanoparticles for enhanced delivery of dasatinib in HER2+ metastasic breast cancer. *Nanomaterials*, 9, 1–14.
- Northfelt, D. W., Martin, F. J., Working, P., Volberding, P. A., Russell, J., Newman, M., Amantea, M. A., & Kaplan, L. D. (1996). Doxorubicin encapsulated in liposomes containing surfacebound polyethylene glycol: Pharmacokinetics, tumor localization, and safety in patients with AIDS-related Kaposi's sarcoma. *Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 36, 55–63.
- Parakh, S., King, D., Gan, H. K., & Scott, A. M. (2020). Current development of monoclonal antibodies in cancer therapy. *Recent Results in Cancer Research*.
- Parracino, M. A., Martín, B., & Grazú, V. (2019). State-of-the-art strategies for the biofunctionalization of photoactive inorganic nanoparticles for nanomedicine. *Photoactive Inorganic Nanoparticles. Surface Composition and Nanosystem, Funct*, 211–257.
- Parray, H. A., Shukla, S., Samal, S., Shrivastava, T., Ahmed, S., Sharma, C., & Kumar, R. (2020). Hybridoma technology a versatile method for isolation of monoclonal antibodies, its applicability across species, limitations, advancement and future perspectives. *International Immunopharmacology*, 85, 106639.
- Paszko, E., & Senge, M. O. (2012). Immunoliposomes. Current Medicinal Chemistry, 19, 5239–5277.
- Peng, J., Chen, J., Xie, F., Bao, W., Xu, H., Wang, H., Xu, Y., & Du, Z. (2019). Herceptinconjugated paclitaxel loaded PCL-PEG worm-like nanocrystal micelles for the combinatorial treatment of HER2-positive breast cancer. *Biomaterials*, 222, 119420.
- Peres, C., Matos, A. I., Conniot, J., Sainz, V., Zupančič, E., Silva, J. M., Graça, L., Sá Gaspar, R., Préat, V., & Florindo, H. F. (2017). Poly(lactic acid)-based particulate systems are promising tools for immune modulation. *Acta Biomaterialia*, 48, 41–57.
- Petrilli, R., & Lopez, R. F. V. (2018). Physical methods for topical skin drug delivery: Concepts and applications. *Brazilian Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*.
- Petrilli, R., Eloy, J., Lopez, R., & Lee, R. (2016). Cetuximab Immunoliposomes enhance delivery of 5-FU to skin squamous carcinoma cells. *Anti-Cancer Agents in Medicinal Chemistry*, 17, 301–308.
- Petrilli, R., Pinheiro, D. P., De Cássia Evangelista De Oliveira, F., Galvão, G. F., Marques, L. G. A., Lopez, R. F. V., Pessoa, C., & Eloy, J. O. (2020). Immunoconjugates for cancer targeting: A review of antibody-drug conjugates and antibody-functionalized nanoparticles. *Current Medicinal Chemistry*.
- Pickens, C. J., Johnson, S. N., Pressnall, M. M., Leon, M. A., & Berkland, C. J. (2018). Practical considerations, challenges, and limitations of bioconjugation via azide-alkyne cycloaddition. *Bioconjugate Chemistry*, 29, 686–701.
- Prantner, A. M., Nguyen, C. V., & Scholler, N. (2013). Facile immunotargeting of nanoparticles against tumor antigens using site-specific biotinylated antibody fragments. *Journal of Biomedical Nanotechnology*, 9, 1686–1697.
- Presolski, S. I., Hong, V. P., & Finn, M. G. (2011). Copper-catalyzed azide–alkyne click chemistry for bioconjugation. *Current Protocols in Chemical Biology*, 3, 153–162.

- Pugazhendhi, A., Edison, T. N. J. I., Karuppusamy, I., & Kathirvel, B. (2018). Inorganic nanoparticles: A potential cancer therapy for human welfare. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 539, 104–111.
- Ramil, C. P., & Lin, Q. (2013). Bioorthogonal chemistry: Strategies and recent developments. *Chemical Communications*, 49, 11007–11022.
- Ramishetti, S., Kedmi, R., Goldsmith, M., Leonard, F., Sprague, A. G., Godin, B., Gozin, M., Cullis, P. R., Dykxhoorn, D. M., & Peer, D. (2015). Systemic gene silencing in primary T lymphocytes using targeted lipid nanoparticles. ACS Nano, 9, 6706–6716.
- Ravasco, J. M. J. M., Faustino, H., Trindade, A., & Gois, P. M. P. (2019). Bioconjugation with maleimides: A useful tool for chemical biology. *Chemistry—A European Journal*, 25, 43–59.
- Renault, K., Fredy, J. W., Renard, P. Y., & Sabot, C. (2018). Covalent modification of biomolecules through maleimide-based labeling strategies. *Bioconjugate Chemistry*, 29, 2497–2513.
- Riener, C. K., Kada, G., & Gruber, H. J. (2002). Quick measurement of protein sulfhydryls with Ellman's reagent and with 4,4'-dithiodipyridine. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry*, 373, 266–276.
- Rodallec, A., Brunel, J. M., Giacometti, S., Maccario, H., Correard, F., Mas, E., Orneto, C., Savina, A., Bouquet, F., Lacarelle, B., Ciccolini, J., & Fanciullino, R. (2018). Docetaxel-trastuzumab stealth immunoliposome: Development and in vitro proof of concept studies in breast cancer. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 13, 3451–3465.
- Rodgers, K. R., & Chou, R. C. (2016). Therapeutic monoclonal antibodies and derivatives: Historical perspectives and future directions. *Biotechnology Advances*, 34, 1149–1158.
- Ruan, J., Song, H., Qian, Q., Li, C., Wang, K., Bao, C., & Cui, D. (2012). HER2 monoclonal antibody conjugated RNase-A-associated CdTe quantum dots for targeted imaging and therapy of gastric cancer. *Biomaterials*, 33, 7093–7102.
- Ruiz, G., Tripathi, K., Okyem, S., & Driskell, J. D. (2019). PH impacts the orientation of antibody adsorbed onto gold nanoparticles. *Bioconjugate Chemistry*, 30, 1182–1191.
- Saif, M. W. (2013). U.S. Food and Drug Administration approves paclitaxel protein-bound particles (Abraxane®) in combination with gemcitabine as first-line treatment of patients with metastatic pancreatic cancer. *Journal of the Pancreas: JOP, 14*, 686–688.
- Sakahara, H., & Saga, T. (1999). Avidin-biotin system for delivery of diagnostic agents. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews.
- Sandeep, D., Alsawaftah, N. M., & Husseini, G. A. (2020). Immunoliposomes: Synthesis, structure, and their potential as drug delivery carriers. *Current Cancer Therapy*, 16, 306–319.
- Santana, C. P., Mansur, A. A. P., Carvalho, S. M., Da Silva-Cunha, A., & Mansur, H. S. (2019). Bi-functional quantum dot-polysaccharide-antibody immunoconjugates for bioimaging and killing brain cancer cells in vitro. *Materials Letters*, 252, 333–337.
- Santos, E. D. S., Nogueira, K. A. B., Fernandes, L. C. C., Martins, J. R. P., Reis, A. V. F., Neto, J. D. B. V., Júnior, I. J. D. S., Pessoa, C., Petrilli, R., & Eloy, J. O. (2021). EGFR targeting for cancer therapy: Pharmacology and immunoconjugates with drugs and nanoparticles. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 592, 120082.
- Shabbir, R., Mingarelli, M., Cabello, G., Van Herk, M., Choudhury, A., & Smith, T. A. D. (2021). EGFR targeting of [177Lu] gold nanoparticles to colorectal and breast tumour cells: Affinity, duration of binding and growth inhibition of Cetuximab-resistant cells. *Journal of King Saud University*, 33, 101573.
- Shen, M., Rusling, J. F., & Dixit, C. K. (2017). Site-selective orientated immobilization of antibodies and conjugates for immunodiagnostics development. *Methods*.
- Shukla, T., Upmanyu, N., Prakash Pandey, S., & Gosh, D. (2018). *Lipid nanocarriers, lipid nanocarriers for drug targeting*. Elsevier Inc.
- Shukla, R., Handa, M., Lokesh, S. B., Ruwali, M., Kohli, K., & Kesharwani, P. (2019). Conclusion and future prospective of polymeric nanoparticles for cancer therapy, polymeric nanoparticles as a promising tool for anti-cancer therapeutics. Elsevier Inc.
- Shuptrine, C. W., Surana, R., & Weiner, L. M. (2012). Monoclonal antibodies for the treatment of cancer. Seminars in Cancer Biology, 22, 3–13.
- Si, Y., Melkonian, A. L., Curry, K. C., Xu, Y., Tidwell, M., Liu, M., Zaky, A. F., Liu, X. (Margaret), (2021). Monoclonal antibody-based cancer therapies. *Chinese Journal of Chemical Engineering*, 30, 301–307.
- Silva, V. de C. J. da, Silva, R. de N. O., Colli, L. G., Carvalho, M. H. C. de, Rodrigues, S. F., (2020). Gold nanoparticles carrying or not anti-VEGF antibody do not change glioblastoma multiforme tumor progression in mice. *Heliyon* 6.
- Silvestre, A. L. P., Oshiro-Júnior, J. A., Garcia, C., Turco, B. O., Da Silva Leite, J. M., De Lima Damasceno, B. P. G., Soares, J. C. M., & Chorilli, M. (2020). Monoclonal antibodies carried in drug delivery nanosystems as a strategy for cancer treatment. *Current Medicinal Chemistry*, 28, 401–418.
- Singh, A., Mishra, A., & Verma, A. (2020). Antibodies: Monoclonal and polyclonal. Animal Biotechnology: Models in Discovery and Translation, 327–352.
- Sivaram, A. J., Wardiana, A., Howard, C. B., Mahler, S. M., & Thurecht, K. J. (2018). Recent advances in the generation of antibody–nanomaterial conjugates. *Advanced Healthcare Materials*.
- Smith, G. P. (1985). Filamentous fusion phage: Novel expression vectors that display cloned antigens on the virion surface. *Science*, 228, 1315–1317.
- Son, S., Lee, W. R., Joung, Y. K., Kwon, M. H., Kim, Y. S., & Park, K. D. (2009). Optimized stability retention of a monoclonal antibody in the PLGA nanoparticles. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 368, 178–185.
- Soppimath, K. S., Aminabhavi, T. M., Kulkarni, A. R., & Rudzinskib, W. E. (2001). Biodegradable polymeric microparticles as drug delivery devices. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 70(70), 1–20.
- Sousa, F., Fonte, P., Cruz, A., Kennedy, P. J., Pinto, I. M., & Sarmento, B. (2018). Polyester-based nanoparticles for the encapsulation of monoclonal antibodies. *Methods in Molecular Biology*, 1674, 239–253.
- Sperling, R. A., & Parak, W. J. (2010). Surface modification, functionalization and bioconjugation of colloidal inorganic nanoparticles. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences.*
- Spicer, C. D., & Davis, B. G. (2014). Selective chemical protein modification. Nature Communications 2014, 51(5), 1–14.
- Stern, M., & Herrmann, R. (2005). Overview of monoclonal antibodies in cancer therapy: Present and promise. *Critical Reviews in Oncology/Hematology*, 54, 11–29.
- Sun, B., & Feng, S. S. (2009). Trastuzumab-functionalized nanoparticles of biodegradable copolymers for targeted delivery of docetaxel. *Nanomedicine*, 4, 431–445.
- Takayama, Y., Kusamori, K., & Nishikawa, M. (2019). Click chemistry as a tool for cell engineering and drug delivery. *Molecules 2019*, 24, 172.
- Taleghani, A. S., Nakhjiri, A. T., Khakzad, M. J., Rezayat, S. M., Ebrahimnejad, P., Heydarinasab, A., Akbarzadeh, A., & Marjani, A. (2021). Mesoporous silica nanoparticles as a versatile nanocarrier for cancer treatment: A review. *Journal of Molecular Liquids*, 328, 115417.
- Ternant, D., & Paintaud, G. (2005). Pharmacokinetics and concentration-effect relationships of therapeutic monoclonal antibodies and fusion proteins. *Expert Opinion on Biological Therapy*, 5, 37–47.
- Theuer, C. P., Leigh, B. R., Multani, P. S., Allen, R. S., & Liang, B. C. (2004). Radioimmunotherapy of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma: Clinical development of the Zevalin regimen. *Biotechnology Annual Review*, 10, 265–295.
- Thiruppathi, R., Mishra, S., Ganapathy, M., Padmanabhan, P., Gulyás, B., Thiruppathi, R., Mishra, S., Padmanabhan, P., Gulyás, B., & Ganapathy, M. (2017). Nanoparticle functionalization and its potentials for molecular imaging. *Advancement of Science*, 4, 1600279.
- Thomas, W.D., 2015. Production of full-length human monoclonal antibodies using transgenic mice. In *Current laboratory techniques in rabies diagnosis, research and prevention* (2nd ed.). Elsevier Inc.
- Trilling, A. K., Beekwilder, J., & Zuilhof, H. (2013). Antibody orientation on biosensor surfaces: A minireview. *The Analyst*.

- Tsuchikama, K., & An, Z. (2018). Antibody-drug conjugates: Recent advances in conjugation and linker chemistries. *Protein & Cell*, 9, 33–46.
- U.S. Food and drug administration, https://www.fda.gov, FDA (2022).
- Varshochian, R., Jeddi-Tehrani, M., Mahmoudi, A. R., Khoshayand, M. R., Atyabi, F., Sabzevari, A., Esfahani, M. R., & Dinarvand, R. (2013). The protective effect of albumin on bevacizumab activity and stability in PLGA nanoparticles intended for retinal and choroidal neovascularization treatments. *European Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 50, 341–352.
- Walsh, S. J., Bargh, J. D., Dannheim, F. M., Hanby, A. R., Seki, H., Counsell, A. J., Ou, X., Fowler, E., Ashman, N., Takada, Y., Isidro-Llobet, A., Parker, J. S., Carroll, J. S., & Spring, D. R. (2021). Site-selective modification strategies in antibody-drug conjugates. *Chemical Society Reviews*, 50, 1305–1353.
- Wang, J. K., Zhou, Y. Y., Guo, S. J., Wang, Y. Y., Nie, C. J., Wang, H. L., Wang, J. L., Zhao, Y., Li, X. Y., & Chen, X. J. (2017). Cetuximab conjugated and doxorubicin loaded silica nanoparticles for tumor-targeting and tumor microenvironment responsive binary drug delivery of liver cancer therapy. *Materials Science and Engineering: C*, 76, 944–950.
- Werengowska-Ciećwierz, K., WIS Niewski, M., Terzyk, A. P., & Furmaniak, S. (2015). The chemistry of bioconjugation in nanoparticles-based drug delivery system. Advances in Condensed Matter Physics 2015.
- WHO. (2021). World Health Organization. Who, 2019, 5.
- Winter, G., & Harris, W. J. (1993). Humanized antibodies. Immunology Today, 14, 243-246.
- Xu, S., Cui, F., Huang, D., Zhang, D., Zhu, A., Sun, X., Cao, Y., Ding, S., Wang, Y., Gao, E., & Zhang, F. (2019). PD-11 monoclonal antibody-conjugated nanoparticles enhance drug delivery level and chemotherapy efficacy in gastric cancer cells. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 14, 17–32.
- Yao, H., Jiang, F., Lu, A., & Zhang, G. (2016). Methods to design and synthesize antibody-drug conjugates (ADCs). *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 17.
- Yu, K., Zhou, Y., Li, Yuhuan, Sun, X., Sun, F., Wang, X., Mu, H., Li, J., Liu, X., Teng, L., Li, Youxin, (2016). Comparison of three different conjugation strategies in the construction of herceptin-bearing paclitaxel-loaded nanoparticles. *Biomaterials Science*, 4, 1219–1232.
- Zhang, Y., Guo, J., Zhang, X. L., Li, D. P., Zhang, T. T., Gao, F. F., Liu, N. F., & Sheng, X. G. (2015). Antibody fragment-armed mesoporous silica nanoparticles for the targeted delivery of bevacizumab in ovarian cancer cells. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 496, 1026–1033.
- Zhang, X., Liu, J., Li, X., Li, F., Lee, R. J., Sun, F., Li, Y., Liu, Z., & Teng, L. (2019). Trastuzumabcoated nanoparticles loaded with docetaxel for breast cancer therapy. *Dose-Response*, 17, 1–12.
- Zhang, L., Mazouzi, Y., Salmain, M., Liedberg, B., & Boujday, S. (2020). Antibody-gold nanoparticle bioconjugates for biosensors: Synthesis, characterization and selected applications. *Biosensors and Bioelectronics*, 165.
- Zhong, S., Ling, Z., Zhou, Z., He, J., Ran, H., Wang, Z., Zhang, Q., Song, W., Zhang, Y., & Luo, J. (2020). Herceptin-decorated paclitaxel-loaded poly(lactide-co-glycolide) nanobubbles: Ultrasound-facilitated release and targeted accumulation in breast cancers. *Pharmaceutical Development and Technology*, 25, 454–463.
- Zimmermann, E., Müller, R. H., & Mäder, K. (2000). Influence of different parameters on reconstitution of lyophilized SLN. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 196, 211–213.

Part II Strategies for Cancer Therapy Through Nanotechnology

Nanotechnology to Correct Mitochondrial Disorders in Cancer Diseases



Rúben Faria, Tânia Albuquerque, Ana Raquel Neves, Ângela Sousa, and Diana Rita Barata Costa

Abbreviations

CPP	Cell-penetrating peptides					
CRISPR	Clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats					
ENS	Enzymatic noncovalent synthesis					
Fe/S	Iron-sulfur					
GFP	Green fluorescent protein					
LHON	Leber's hereditary optic neuropathy					
MELAS	Mitochondrial encephalopathy, lactic acidosis, and stroke-like episodes					
MERRF	Myoclonic epilepsy with ragged-red fibers					
mtDNA	Mitochondrial DNA					
MTS	Mitochondrial targeting signal peptide					
ND2NADH	Dehydrogenase 2					
nDNA	Nuclear DNA					
OXPHOS	Oxidative phosphorylation					
ROS	Reactive oxygen species					
TIM	Mitochondrial inner membrane					
TOM	Mitochondrial outer membrane					
T-ZnPc	Zinc phthalocyanine					

R. Faria · T. Albuquerque · A. R. Neves · Â. Sousa · D. R. B. Costa (\boxtimes)

CICS-UBI – Health Sciences Research Centre, University of Beira Interior, Covilhã, Portugal e-mail: dcosta@fcsaude.ubi.pt

1 Introduction

Mitochondria are fundamental organelles for the functioning of a eukaryotic cell and, therefore, life and health as we know it. A long-standing question is to understand which processes make mitochondria essential and why. The main source of energy in any metabolic reaction occurring in any cell at any time is glucose. Mitochondria play an important role in cellular bioenergetic pathways, being able to generate energy in the form of ATP from oxidation of glucose through oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS). It is estimated that about 90% of all energy generated within a cell is attributed to mitochondria, earning them the title of "powerhouse of the cell" (Herrera et al., 2015).

Energy production by aerobic respiration, however, is just one of the many roles played by mitochondria. Indeed, mitochondrial proteome consists of more than 1000 proteins involved in a wide range of biochemical processes and metabolic pathways, including tricarboxylic acid cycle, fatty acid oxidation, gluconeogenesis, protein synthesis, amino acid metabolism, quinone and steroid biosynthesis, iron-sulfur (Fe/S) cluster biogenesis, generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS), maintenance of calcium homeostasis, initiation of apoptotic cascade, and ion homeostasis, among others (Calvo & Mootha, 2010).

Mitochondrion is also the only organelle (except for plant chloroplasts), outside the nucleus with its own genome, the mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA), giving support to the accepted theory of an endosymbiotic origin of mitochondria, in which a proteobacterium took residence within a eukaryotic cell. Over evolutionary time, most of the bacterial genes encoding components of the present-day organelles were transferred to the nucleus, remaining only a few, but very important, proteins that are encoded by the mitochondrial genome and expressed exclusively in the mitochondrial matrix (Roger et al., 2017). Among these are four enzymatic complexes, components of oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS) system. Complex I, the first enzyme of OXPHOS, comprises more than half of all the polypeptide encoded by mitochondria, being the largest but least understood of them all.

On the counter side, although mitochondria generate almost all the energy required for cell survival, they also generate highly reactive oxygen species that undermine cell viability if there is an imbalance between ROS generation and detoxification (Zhou et al., 2016). Moreover, mtDNA inherent protective proteins and repair systems are less robust compared to nuclear DNA which leads mtDNA being more prone to be affected by ROS that are inherently present in high concentration inside the mitochondria. Consequently, mtDNA mutations are a more common phenomenon than the nuclear ones. These series of key discoveries have reawakened the scientific interest in this long-known cell organelle. It has become increasingly evident that molecular lesions to the mtDNA lead to mitochondrial dysfunction and contribute to a variety of human disorders, ranging from severe metabolic diseases, neurodegenerative and neuromuscular diseases, obesity, and diabetes to ischemia-reperfusion injury and cancer (Hahn & Zuryn, 2019; Taylor & Turnbull, 2005).

To overcome mitochondrial loss of function, the treatment of mtDNA-based diseases has been mainly focused on the administration of a "drug cocktail," composed of small molecules or biologic active compounds, to alleviate a variety of symptoms. However, these therapeutic strategies are largely supportive rather than curative, and, in general, they reveal to be ineffective (Pfeffer et al., 2012). Consequently, increasing efforts are being made either to design molecules able to target mitochondria or to develop drug carrier systems for the selective delivery of drugs and DNA into mitochondria. An emerging attractive approach for mitochondrial targeting is gene therapy. The use of a therapeutic vector based on mitochondrial DNA, along with its affinity to the site of mitochondrial function. The insertion of functional mtDNA in mutated cells may provide the normal mitochondrial function reestablishment and, consequently, a promising approach to treat mitochondrial disorders (Jang & Lim, 2018).

In this chapter, we discuss the role of mitochondria in cellular metabolism and homeostasis and how their dysfunction is linked to human diseases and pathologies, particularly in cancer and the ones related with complex I mutations. Furthermore current strategies for mitochondria-specific targeting of mitochondrial genes using nanotechnology and their expression, future therapeutic applications, and challenges.

2 The Mitochondrial Genome

Mitochondria contain their own DNA and all the machinery necessary for its replication, transcription, and translation. Structurally, mtDNA is like the one of its antecedent bacteria: compact, circular, and double-stranded DNA, ranging in size depending on species. The number of copies of DNA per cell usually ranges from 10³ to 10⁴ depending on the cell type and tissue origin, yet fertilized cells or cells with diseases, such as cancer, have altered mtDNA copy numbers (Reznik et al., 2016). Throughout evolution, the transition from a proteobacterium to a permanent specialized ATP-producing organelle has been accompanied by major changes including massive gene acquisition and lost and transfer to the nuclear genome, thus affecting mitochondrial proteome. Consequently, additional roles in metabolism and biosynthetic pathways in mitochondria have gradually developed over time (Johnston & Williams, 2016).

Advances in mitochondrial genome sequencing have provided for the identification of approximately 1500 proteins that comprise the mammalian mitochondrial proteome. However, these 16,569 base-pair molecules only code for a relatively small number of proteins and RNAs. The human mitochondrial genome includes 37 genes encoding for 13 mRNA (translated to 13 proteins), 22 tRNA, and 2 rRNA (12S and 16S rRNA) molecules, which are not able to produce all the proteins needed for its functionality. Thus, the majority of mitochondrial proteins are encoded by the nucleus, synthesized on cytosolic ribosomes, and then imported from the cytosol to mitochondrion by a complex importing machinery (Fox, 2012). All the mitochondrial genome is arranged in two strands of DNA that differ in their base composition. A heavier, guanine-rich, outer strand comprises most information, encoding for 2 rRNAs, 14 tRNAs, and 12 polypeptides. On the inner site, the transcription from the light strand results in eight tRNAs and a single polypeptide. Another interesting feature is the lack of introns, and there is only one longer noncoding region referred to as the regulatory region, essential for both the replication and transcription of the genome, ensuring mRNA processing and protein translation. Located within this noncoding regulatory region (NCR) are L- and H-strand promoters (ITL and ITH, respectively), from which mitochondrial transcription is initiated, as well as two putative origins of replication (OH and OL). The transcription process is driven by DNA-dependent RNA polymerase and depends on a couple of cofactors. The resulted polycistronic transcript undergoes further processing (Mercer et al., 2011).

As simple as the transcription apparatus appears to be, the unique features of mtDNA imply different regulation mechanisms, as complex as it benefits a genome that is a core factor in human health. Besides mtDNA replication and transcription, the maintenance and expression of mtDNA involve other levels of control, such as RNA stability, translation by mitochondrial ribosomes, and the insertion of translated proteins into the mitochondrial inner membrane (Fox, 2012).

Considering this, it can be said that mitochondria are not self-sustained entities within the cell, strongly relying upon the import of hundreds of nuclear encoding factors for their function. The importance of such regulatory processes is highlighted by the identification of numerous mutations in nuclear genes that impair mtDNA expression at different levels and has been associated with human mitochondrial diseases (Rusecka et al., 2018).

2.1 Mitochondrial Genes

All the 13 mtDNA-encoded polypeptides synthesized within the mitochondria are subunits of enzyme complexes that constitute the OXPHOS system, the main metabolic function of mitochondria in all aerobic organisms. The precise regulation of these genes is crucial for maintaining ATP production levels required for cellular metabolism. Approximately 90 proteins take part of OXPHOS system (Saada, 2014). Thus, mitochondrial subunits only account for roughly 15% of the total machinery. Also, the nuclear contribution is not limited to the expression of the respiratory chain. The components of numerous other essential pathways are as well nuclear encoded, such as heme biosynthesis, fatty acid/amino acid oxidation, pyrimidine biosynthesis, calcium homeostasis, and apoptosis (Spinelli & Haigis, 2018).

Besides the minority contribution of mitochondria proteome for OXPHOS subunits, they are nevertheless essential because OXPHOS collapses in the absence of mtDNA expression (Larsson et al., 1998). This system consists of five multimeric complexes set in the mitochondrial inner membrane. Seven polypeptides (ND1, ND2, ND3, ND4, ND4L, ND5, and ND6) are subunits of complex I (NADHubiquinone oxidoreductase), one (CYTB) is part of complex III (cytochrome bc1 or ubiquinol-cytochrome c reductase), three (COX1, COX2, COX3) are subunits of complex IV (cytochrome c oxidase), and two (ATP6, ATP8) are part of complex V (ATP synthase). Complex II (succinate dehydrogenase) presents four subunits, all encoded by multiple nuclear genes (Saada, 2014) (Fig. 6.1).

Briefly, NADH and FADH2, major outputs from the Krebs cycle, are oxidized generating electrons that are transferred through the respiratory chain (complexes I–IV) to oxygen. The transfer of the negatively charged particles by these protein complexes generates a proton (H+) gradient creating an unequal electrical charge on either side of the inner mitochondrial membrane. This electrochemical gradient is then used from ATP synthase to synthesize ATP, as the H+ spontaneously diffuses back to cross the inner membrane. The ultimate acceptor of these high-energy electrons is oxygen, and therefore, OXPHOS generates both ATP and water.

ATP is the most important energy supplier in many enzymatic reactions; however, it is a versatile molecule, rather than just an energy storage molecule and supplier to the cell. Cells utilize ATP to carry out cellular functions that are necessary for their survival, such as synthesis of proteins, ion transport, growth, and replication (Bonora et al., 2012). It also regulates cell functions by activating a series of intracellular signaling pathways, namely, in the nervous and vascular systems (Lohman et al., 2012). Additionally, it has been implicated in immune responses to tissue damage and in cell proliferation, differentiation, and apoptosis (Burnstock & Verkhratsky, 2010). A correct expression of mitochondrial genome and OXPHOS function is therefore essential for ATP formation to occur at normal levels.

Different cell types within an organism have diverse physiological requirement and different mitochondrial compositions and energy demands, and therefore, it can affect their mitochondrial metabolism and ATP production. Organs with higher metabolic rate, as the liver, kidney, brain, heart, and skeletal muscle system, are the



Fig. 6.1 Illustrative scheme of the mitochondrial genome and its complexes, subunits, and structural genes

ones that require more energy supply (Veltri et al., 1990). When cellular respiration is compromised, these are also the first to be affected, ultimately resulting in progressive metabolic disorders and contributing to a distinctive class of conditions known as mitochondrial diseases.

2.2 Mitochondrial Gene Mutations and Mitochondrial DNA Diseases

Efficient mitochondrial function depends upon a series of factors, for instance, (a) coordinated interaction between nuclear and mitochondrial genome; (b) quality control mechanisms of processes such as replication, transcription, and translation; (c) correct assembly of the components of OXPHOS system; (d) control of protein import, folding, and degradation; and (e) DNA repair systems (Saki & Prakash, 2017). In line with this, dysregulation of these pathways is an emerging key in understanding many current mitochondrial diseases.

A primary cause for mitochondrial dysfunction is nuclear and mitochondrial DNA mutations, which are usually associated with OXPHOS dysfunction, changes in metabolite homeostasis, and a variety of tissue-specific clinical features. Not surprisingly, mutation in genes that encode proteins required for ATP production often causes cell deterioration and a subsequent array of human mitochondrial diseases, which can affect multiple organs in the body at any point of an individual's life (Bhatti et al., 2017).

Mitochondrial disorders can derive from mutations transmitted in maternal mtDNA or arise from both nDNA (nuclear DNA) and mtDNA mutations through spontaneous errors during DNA replication, unrepaired damage to mtDNA, or environmental stress, such as ROS production (Farrar et al., 2013). ROS are produced at very low levels during the OXPHOS and play an important role in physiological functions. Overproduction of ROS along with failure of body's antioxidant enzyme systems might result in lipid, protein, and DNA damage. Due to the close proximity of ROS site production to the respiratory chain and its lack of protective histone proteins, mtDNA is particularly sensitive of ROS-induced mutations. In turn, mutations induced by ROS impair OXPHOS leading to more ROS production exponentially increasing mitochondrial dysfunction. The culminating loss of cellular and tissue function includes reduced energy production, cell communication failure, mitochondrial membrane disruption, and induction of the mitochondrial pathway for apoptosis (Webster, 2012).

Undoubtedly, it is clear that a variety of mutations are associated with human pathology. Mitochondrial-associated disorders are diverse and can be devastating, affecting many tissues including muscles, the heart, and the nervous system. These include encephalomyopathies, such as myoclonic epilepsy with ragged-red fibers (MERRF) (Ban et al., 2018); mitochondrial encephalopathy with lactic acidosis and stroke-like episodes (MELAS) (Henry et al., 2017); neuropathies, such as Leber's hereditary optic neuropathy (LHON) (Carreño-Gago et al., 2017a);

neurodegenerative diseases such as Huntington's disease, Alzheimer's disease, and Parkinson's disease (Van Horssen et al., 2019); deafness (Kokotas et al., 2007); diabetes mellitus (Yee et al., 2018); obesity (De Mello et al., 2018); and cancer (Kim et al., 2016). The severity and phenotype of the disease depend on the grade of heteroplasmy, that is, the percentage of the mitochondria per cell affected by the mtDNA mutation (Wallace & Chalkia, 2013). Epidemiological studies report the number of adults suffering from all forms of mitochondrial disease to be around 12.5 per 100,000 of the population (Gorman et al., 2015b). During the last decades, evolution on genome sequencing techniques allowed the identification of over 250 pathogenic mtDNA mutations (Gorman et al., 2015b). In Tables 6.1 and 6.2, some of the more frequent mtDNA mutations and associated diseases are presented.

2.3 Mutations of the Mitochondrial ND1 Gene and Associated Diseases

Complex I is the major entry point for electrons to the electron transport chain, being considered as a limiting step in the overall respiration and energy production (Fig. 6.2). In mitochondria, it catalyzes the transfer of electrons from NADH (ubiquinone oxidoreductase chain) to ubiquinone and translocates protons across the inner mitochondrial membrane. Along with complex III, it is also regarded as the main source of reactive oxygen species (Hirst et al., 2008). A deficiency in this complex can be attributed to a mutation affecting either a structural subunit or an assembly protein, to an increase in its ROS production or both (Tretter et al., 2004). Mitochondrial DNA encodes seven subunits of this enzyme complex that are involved in proton translocation and ubiquinone binding. This represents roughly half of all mitochondrial genome. Thus, it is expected that the activity of complex I would be the most affected between other mitochondrial enzyme complexes.

Among these, the mt-ND1 (NADH-1) has been shown to play a crucial role for the assembly of subunits in complex I (Kirby et al., 2004). Mitochondrial point mutations in ND1 have first been described in association with two distinct clinical phenotypes, LHON and MELAS (Spruijt et al., 2007; Blakely et al., 2005; Lin et al., 2014). Indeed, different point mutations occurring in mitochondrial genes might have variable phenotypes, which clinically can be difficult to diagnose. Moreover, mt-ND1 mutations have been associated with a few cases of adult-onset dystonia (Spruijt et al., 2007), hearing loss (Mezghani et al., 2013), fatal infantile mitochondrial encephalopathies such as Leigh's syndrome (Lenaz et al., 2004), and progressive cardiomyopathy (Moslemi et al., 2008), among others. More recently, some studies have indicated a correlation between some mutations in the mtDNA and cancer (Kim et al., 2016; Thapa et al., 2016). Kim et al. demonstrated that mutations associated with mtDNA, namely, the ND1 gene, were found in the four stages of kidney cancer (I to V) (Kim et al., 2016). Another study revealed that mutations in the ND1, ATP6, and ATP8 gene have an influence on the onset of breast cancer. However, the ATP6 gene seems to be more predisposed to mutations in this type of

THE ALL THE ALL THE REPORT OF THE TABLE AND A DESCRIPTION OF THE ALL T	annain maintanaan t	2	
Mutation(s)	Mutant gene(s)	Associated disease(s)	Ref.
m.3243 A > G	Leucine (UUR) tRNA	Diabetes	Decoux-Poullot et al. (2020)
3316 G > A	ND1	Type 2 diabetes mellitus	Lalrohlui et al. (2016)
m.9053G > A	ATP6		Permana Maksum et al. (2017)
8584 G > A/8860A > G/8701 A > G/10389 A > G	ATP6		Lalrohlui et al.
10398A > G/10310 G > A	ND3		(2020)
3970C > T	ND1		
7444G > A/7471DelG/7496A > G	Serine (UCN) tRNA	Hearing loss	Tang et al. (2015)
c.235deIC	Gap junction beta 2 (GJB2)		Zheng et al. (2015)
7551A > G	Asp tRNA		Wang et al. (2016)
m.3634ANG	ND1	Leber's hereditary optic neuropathy (LHON)	Carreño-Gago et al. (2017b)
m.3460G > A	ND1		Baertling et al. (2018)
S12F/A213V/L345P/A357P/L370P/D399Y	Desmin (DES)	Skeletal myopathy Desmin myopathies	Smolina et al. (2020)
M337V/I383T	C9orf72/ TARDBP	Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) and the related disorder frontotemporal dementia (FTD)	Dafinca et al. (2020)
T4291C/A4295G	Ile tRNA	Hypertensive renal dysfunction	Zhu et al. (2019)
m.8914C > T	ATP6	Mitochondrial encephalomyopathies	Guo et al. (2018)
A10398G	ND3	Parkinson's disease (PD)	Chu et al. (2015)
317–318 ins CCC	GAA	Pompe disease (PD) or glycogen storage disease type II	Bahreini et al. (2016)

 Table 6.1
 List of the most common mtDNA mutations and associated diseases

11719A/12705 T/15043A/15301A	I	Cancer of the digestive system	Muramatsu et al. (2019)
POLG c.1879C > T; p.R627W	POLG	Autosomal recessive progressive external ophthalmoplegia, ptosis, hearing loss, proximal myopathy, and neuropathy	Paramasivam et al. (2019)
At least one mutation in each mtDNA protein-coding gene, with the exception of ND6 and ATP8	1	Hurthle cell carcinoma (HCC)	Ganly et al. (2018)
m.3861A > C	ND1	Sensorineural hearing loss and neurodevelopmental delay	Ammar et al. (2016)
m.8584G > A	ATP6	Alzheimer's disease	Bi et al. (2015))
C3572ins	ND1	Kidney cancer	Kim et al. (2016)
C3572ins 3331del242bp	ND1	Oncocytic thyroid carcinoma Invasive ductal breast carcinoma	Gasparre et al. (2007)
T12601C A13973T	ND5	Invasive ductal breast carcinoma	Gasparre et al. (2007)
T9903C	COXIII	Invasive lobular breast carcinoma	Gasparre et al. (2007)
C3572ins	ND1	Oncocytic pituitary adenoma	Porcelli et al. (2010)
C3572ins	ND1	Renal oncocytoma	Lang et al. (2015)
8584G > A	ATP6	Breast cancer	Thapa et al. (2016)

		Mitochondrial	Assasiated	
Mutation(s)	Mutant gene(s)	affected	disease(s)	Reference
p.(Gly671Trp)/p. (Tyr689His)	AFG3L2 gene	Protein of the mitochondrial ATPase complex	Progressive external ophthalmoplegia (PEO)	Gorman et al. (2015a)
c.993dupA	FBXL4(F-box and leucine- rich repeat protein 4) gene	F-box protein maintains mtDNA integrity and stability	Mitochondrial DNA depletion syndrome-13 (MTDPS13)	Wang et al. (2020)
D1005G	NPC1 gene	Mitochondrial stress regulator protein MNRR1	NiemannPick type C (NPC)	Erickson et al. (2020)
c.523delC	Adenine nucleotide translocator 1 gene (SLC25A4, ANT1)	Impaired mitochondrial complex I activity Increased oxidative damage Decreased I-Opa Altered mitochondrial morphology Sensitization of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore Augmented somatic mtDNA mutation levels Shortened lifespan	Cardiomyopathy	Mcmanus et al. (2019)
POLG c.1879C > T; p.R627W and c.2341G > A; p.A781T	POLG gene	Mitochondrial DNA polymerase gamma (pol γ)	Encephalopathy, seizures, and stroke-like episodes	Paramasivam et al. (2019)
c.424G > A (p.Val142IIe)/ c.469C > T (p.Arg157*)	RNASEH1 gene	Ragged-red and cytochrome c oxidase (COX)- negative fibers Impaired activity of various mitochondrial respiratory chain complexes	Chronic progressive external ophthalmoplegia (CPEO)	Reyes et al. (2015)
p.K202del and p.T108M	TK2 gene	TK2 activity drastically reduced leading to dramatic decrease in mtDNA copy number in muscle	mtDNA depletion syndrome (MDS)	Cámara et al. (2015)

Table 6.2 List of the most common nuclear DNA mutations and associated diseases



Fig. 6.2 Representation of the mitochondrial matrix where the ND1 subunit of the NADH dehydrogenase I complex is inserted

cases and therefore may play an important role in the prognosis of breast cancer (Thapa et al., 2016).

Conventional clinical practices toward mitochondrial respiratory chain dysfunction are sparse and very limited. Current treatment includes symptom-based management options, such as energy fuel supplements, oxidants, cofactor, and vitamins (Murphy & Hartley, 2018). These focus on improving quality of life and mitigating the set of symptoms, being largely supportive rather than curative. Therefore, there is a clear requirement for innovative therapeutics.

2.4 Mitochondria as a Therapeutic Target in Cancer

As already described above, mutations in the mitochondrial genome can trigger the onset of various diseases. One of the possible consequences of mitochondrial function dysregulation is the development of cancer. These organelles play a key role in regulating metabolism, cell proliferation and death, and signaling pathways. Consequently, alterations in their normal function contribute to the development of tumor cells and their growth, the appearance of metastases, and even resistance to anticancer drugs. Taking into account that they play such an important role,

mitochondria have become a therapeutic target for the development of new mitochondrial therapies that facilitate the treatment of cancer (Kim et al., 2017; Vyas et al., 2016).

The presence of large amounts of ROS can cause mutations in mtDNA, since the DNA repair system in mitochondria is not as efficient as that in the nucleus (Alexeyev et al., 2013). In several types of cancer, these mtDNA mutations are present and play an essential role in the proliferation and maintenance of tumor cells (Lu et al., 2009). One example of the effect of these mutations was described for colorectal cancer, where alterations in subunit 5 of complex I (NADH dehydrogenase 5, (ND5)) showed not only the activation of the Akt signaling pathway, contributing to tumorigenesis, but also an increase in the production lactate and consequent tumor growth (Park et al., 2009; Sharma et al., 2011). Also, mutations in mtDNA induced demethylation of the D-loop region, the region responsible for controlling mtDNA expression. Demethylation of the D-loop region caused an uncontrolled increase in the number of mtDNA copies, promoting the proliferation of cancer cells (Feng et al., 2012). The D-loop region that controls mtDNA replication and transcription was also proved to be very important in gastric cancer. Wen et al. demonstrated that demethylation of the D-loop region leads to a decrease in mtDNA, which is more evident in late stages of gastric cancer. The study further demonstrated that treatment with 5-Aza-2'-deoxycytidine for demethylation led to an increase in the number of mtDNA copies in the treated versus untreated cancer cells (Wen et al., 2013). Lastly, in colorectal cancer, it has also been shown that NADH dehydrogenase 2 (ND2) is overexpressed in the early stage (Wen et al., 2013; Feng et al., 2012).

The CRISPR/Cas9 complex may play a very important role in strategies that aim to minimize or eliminate the effects of mtDNA mutations. This complex is composed of the "clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats" (CRISPR), whose function is to identify specific sequences and the Cas9 enzyme that works as a "cutter" of the sequences identified by CRISPR. Since this complex can be manipulated to find specific mutations in mtDNA, this strategy makes it possible to create a highly specific and personalized therapy for each type of cancer (Fogleman et al., 2016). In addition to this therapeutic function, the CRISPR-Cas9 complex can also be used to identify the role and importance of mitochondrial genes that regulate the function of this organelle (Kim et al., 2017).

Another approach that can be taken for the treatment of cancer using mitochondria as a target is immunotherapy. Immunotherapy sometimes does not offer positive results, and one of the given reasons is the fact that the mitochondria present in cancer cells have a greatly reduced metabolism and function. The mtDNA mutations and consequent dysfunction lead to an ineffective T-cell response, making immunotherapy unfeasible (Kim et al., 2017). Published studies have shown that when it was possible to restore the expression of PGC1- α , mitochondrial activity was restored and consequently the antitumor immunity of T cells was activated, enabling treatment by immunotherapy (Scharping et al., 2016; Bengsch et al., 2016). Immunotherapy through the T-cell response was also tested by the group of Marrache et al. but using vectors at the nanometer scale (Marrache et al., 2013). Zinc phthalocyanine-based systems (T-ZnPc-NPs) were used to stimulate dendritic cells in order to potentiate an immunotherapeutic response of tumor antigen-specific T cells. T-ZnPc-NPs nanoparticles have characteristics that enable specific targeting to mitochondria, which in turn triggers an immune response. The fact that they are photosensitive allowed the application of these nanocarriers in breast cancer cells, and once stimulated by light, they led to the production of interferon-gamma cyto-kines, a product of T and natural killer cells (Marrache et al., 2013). These approaches serve as a basis for the development of new types of cancer therapies resulting from mitochondrial dysfunction.

3 Mitochondrial Gene Therapy

Mitochondrial gene therapy emerges as a potential alternative in the treatment of mitochondrial diseases. The treatments available these days only serve to mitigate the symptoms and do not provide a cure. This type of gene therapy allows for a personalized treatment that addresses the problem at its source and can be adjusted for each mutation in the mtDNA that leads to the appearance of diseases. Thus, mitochondrial gene therapy has several advantages compared to conventional drugs. The development of a therapeutic vector that can be produced and distributed on a large scale for the restoration of normal mitochondrial function in mutated cells may be a significant step toward the treatment of mitochondrial gene therapy is an economic strategy that can provide localized treatment with long-term action (Coutinho et al., 2017).

Mitochondrial gene therapy can be applied by different strategies. One approach consists in the expression of a gene in the nucleus, which in turn leads to the synthesis of a protein that is later directed and imported to the site of the mitochondria. Viral vectors are commonly used in this indirect mitochondrial transfection, and relevant progresses have been reported in clinical translation, namely, when treating Leber's hereditary optic neuropathy (LHON) (Koilkonda et al., 2014; Wan et al., 2016). This allowed the development of animal models suitable for mutations in mtATP6 (Dunn & Pinkert, 2012). Although a powerful technique, the allotopic expression can have some limitations such as the difficulty of mitochondria imports of more hydrophobic proteins and apparent complementation attributed to forced revertants of the original mtDNA mutations. Therefore, gene-to-gene variability can occur and limit the success of allotopic expression (Perales-Clemente et al., 2011). Additionally, besides the great transfection efficiency achieved by using viral systems, their antigenicity, oncogenic effects, and instability of storage limited this therapy. Direct transfection of mitochondria appears as an alternative to overcome the disadvantages of indirect transfection and thus constitutes a promising tool for mitochondrial gene therapy. However, for the direct delivery of genetic material to mitochondria, it is essential to formulate transporters that allow not only the loading/complexation of DNA but also its targeting to mitochondria (Coutinho et al., 2017).

The delivery of therapeutic DNA depends on the passage through the double mitochondrial membrane, which is impermeable to hydrophilic molecules. So, to overcome this challenge, physical, chemical, and biological approaches to transfer DNA to mitochondria have recently emerged (Jang & Lim, 2018).

Physical methods are used due to their simple and direct way of transferring exogenous genes to cells, since they allow the penetration of cell membranes and intracellular organelles without the need to transport molecules. It has recently been demonstrated that the use of the hydrodynamic injection technique has allowed naked plasmid DNA to be delivered to rat liver mitochondria in vivo (Yasuzaki et al., 2015). Another physical method used to deliver genetic material to mitochondria is biolistic technology, which targets cells with complexes formed by DNA coated with heavy metals. One study demonstrated the delivery of mitochondrial genes using biolistic technology in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* (Bonnefoy & Fox, 2007). Physical methods, as they do not require carrier molecules, do not induce toxicity associated with this type of molecules. However, the techniques used can damage the target cells in the cell membrane penetration process, and the DNA distribution is uniform throughout the cytoplasm, entering the mitochondrial matrix at random, which makes delivery to the mitochondria difficult (Jang & Lim, 2018).

Chemical methods are the most used and studied for the delivery of genes to the mitochondria, based on specific chemical interactions. Due to the characteristics of the mitochondrial membrane (hydrophobic and negatively charged), it is necessary to encapsulate the negatively charged DNA with carrier molecules that have cationic and amphiphilic properties to mediate the transfection of genetic material to occur. However, these transporters face several obstacles until they reach the mitochondria. In most cases, they must first cross the cellular membrane via endocytosis or translocation. If carrier molecules follow the endocytic pathway, they are not accessible to mitochondria until they escape from the endosome. Accordingly, it is important to find molecules that facilitate the passage of these carriers from the endosome. Furthermore, it is necessary to find strategies to direct these DNA transporters from the cytoplasm to the mitochondria. Thus, mitochondria-targeting molecules are conjugated with DNA-binding motifs or presented on the surface of DNA-enclosing vesicles composed of dendrimers, surfactants, or liposomes (Jang & Lim, 2018).

Mitochondrial proteins expressed in the cytosol as mitochondrial precursor proteins enter the mitochondria via mitochondrial targeting signal peptide (MTS)mediated translocation. Most MTSs are located at the amino terminus of precursor proteins and are cleaved by proteolysis upon import into mitochondria. The MTS pre-sequences form an amphipathic α -helix that has hydrophobic residues on one side and positively charged residues on the other side. MTS-conjugated proteins enter the mitochondrial matrix through the translocase of the mitochondrial outer membrane (TOM) and that of the mitochondrial inner membrane (TIM). The MTS at the N-terminus of a precursor protein is preferentially recognized by the TOM20-TOM22 receptor subcomplex, which contains clusters of negatively charged residues. The protein passes through the import pore formed by TOM40 (Van Der Laan et al., 2007). Consequently, precursor proteins enter the channel formed by TIM17 and TIM23 across the inner membrane in the presence of a membrane potential. The N-terminal domain of TIM23 encodes an MTS receptor that has negatively charged residues, which interact with the positively charged amphipathic MTS. Through this interaction, MTS conjugates can pass through the mitochondrial double membranes. Accordingly, conjugation of MTS to carrier molecules that have a DNA-binding function has been a strategy to enable specific mitochondrial gene delivery (Esaki et al., 1999; Van Der Laan et al., 2007).

3.1 Mitochondrial Gene/Protein Expression and Mitochondria Targeting Using Nanotechnology

3.1.1 Mitochondrial Gene/Protein Expression

Over the past few years, efforts have been made to develop innovative systems for mitochondrial gene therapy. An example is the use of cationic surfactants with two main hydrophilic groups and two hydrophobic groups as DNA carriers for mitochondrial delivery (Cardoso et al., 2015). These cationic surfactants give rise to micelle-like structures capable of encapsulating the DNA and forming geminisurfactant-DNA therapeutic nanosystems targeting mitochondria (Wan-Xia et al., 2011). Some researchers have been investigating the development of mitochondrial targeting liposomes with the use of MITO-Porter for therapeutic mitochondrial RNA delivery to diseased cells. These nanoparticles were able to induce a decrease in the expression of target mRNA and its corresponding protein. In addition to this silencing of mitochondrial gene, the fact that they were able to deliver an antisense RNA oligonucleotide (ASO) led to the downregulation of the respiratory chain and consequent decrease in ATP production in cancer cells (Kawamura et al., 2019, 2020).

Other researchers explored a different therapy pathway conjugating *Escherichia coli* and mitochondria to promote DNA transfection in the mitochondrial networks of mammalian cultured cells (Yoon & Koob, 2005).

3.1.2 Mitochondrial-Targeted Delivery Systems

Some other studies have focused on the mitochondrial import pathway (Flierl et al., 2003; Geromel et al., 2001). Lyrawati et al. developed a new strategy for the expression of the reporter green fluorescent protein (GFP) in mammalian mitochondria (Lyrawati et al., 2011). First, they constructed an artificial mini-mitochondrial genome with GFP that was then incorporated in liposome-like vesicles derived from dequalinium, called DQAsomes. DQAsomes were the earliest systems for gene delivery to be reported. They present the advantage of simple preparation and demonstrated the ability to selectively release DNA at the membranes of mitochondrial-like liposomes (D'souza et al., 2005). In this study, DQAsomes could deliver the mitochondrial genome construct to the mitochondria from a range of mammalian

cell lines, resulting in the expression of GFP mRNA and protein (D'souza et al., 2005).

Furthermore, good results were also obtained using delivery systems based on mitochondriotropic molecules with a high degree of mitochondrial affinity (Horobin et al., 2007). One example is rhodamine 123, a fluorescent amphiphile. The use of this fluorescent compound to perform a targeted delivery to the mitochondria comes from the fact that it can easily cross the mitochondrial membrane. This allows its preferential accumulation in the mitochondria and thus enables a better visualization of the nanosystems with rhodamine 123 in their constitution. Salvado et al. formulated mitochondrial-targeted rhodamine plasmid DNA cellulose-based delivery systems with suitable size and morphology that were able to be internalized by mammalian cells and showed targeting ability to mitochondria (Salvado et al., 2015).

Other studies focused on the allotopic expression of proteins encoded by recombinant mtDNA. These therapeutic agents containing mitochondrial targeting sequences demonstrated efficiency of their mitochondrial import by the rescue of the respiratory chain defect observed in fibroblasts harboring mutations in *ND4* or *ND1* genes (Bonnet et al., 2008). The allotopic expression approach has also led to promising results in fibroblasts with mutations in ATP6 (Kaltimbacher et al., 2006). Additionally, Ellouze and co-workers tested a similar approach but in an animal model of LHON. They demonstrated that the allotopic expression of the mitochondrial protein ND4 prevented blindness in rats with mitochondrial dysfunctions that caused LHON (Ellouze et al., 2008).

3.1.3 Mitochondria-Targeted Peptide Delivery Systems

Peri-mitochondrial enzymatic noncovalent synthesis (ENS) of peptides has also been applied in mitochondrial genetic engineering. A research group used this strategy to transfect gene vectors encoding CRISPR/Cas9 into the mitochondria to induce mitophagy and apoptosis and sensitize cancer cells to cisplatin (He et al., 2020).

Faria et al. designed and developed a set of new systems for mitochondrial gene therapy. The nanocarriers created are based on cell-penetrating peptides (CPP) in which a sequence with affinity for mitochondria (MTS) has been added (Faria et al., 2021). The choice of the nanocarrier relied on CPPs as they demonstrate good capacity for cellular internalization while allowing efficient encapsulation of genetic material and present low toxicity. The MTS-CPP vectors demonstrated the ability to complex the mitochondrial gene ND1-encoded plasmid DNA (pND1), mainly due to electrostatic interactions. The pND1 encapsulation efficiency of the developed nano-complexes was tested at different ratios of nitrogen to phosphate groups (N/P). In Fig. 6.3, it can be observed that all formulated systems displayed a high capacity to encapsulate pND1 at N/P \geq 1 ratios and that the introduction of the MTS sequence in the CPPs does not interfere with the pND1 complexation (Faria et al., 2021).

The N/P ratio demonstrated to be an effective parameter controlling the properties of the formulated peptide-based complexes. N/P displayed an effect on the size



Fig. 6.3 Analysis of pND1 complexation capacity exhibited by CpMTP/pND1 (**a**); WRAP1/ pND1 (**b**); WRAP5/pND1 (**c**); (KH)9/pND1 (**d**); MTS-WRAP1/pND1 (**e**); MTS-WRAP5/pND1 (**f**); and MTS-(KH)9/pND1 (**g**) nano-complexes at various N/P ratios, investigated by agarose gel electrophoresis

and zeta potential of the formulated nanoparticles. In general, the increase in the ratio led to a decrease in the average size of formulated complexes, and at the same time, it conferred a greater positive charge on their surface (Table 6.3). These two characteristics are essential for these vectors to be able to cross the cell membrane and consequently introduce pND1 into the mitochondria. All N/P = 1 ratio peptidepND1 systems showed sizes below 410 nm, reaching sizes below 200 nm for complexes conceived at N/P ratio of 5. The presence of the targeting sequence to mitochondria did not affect the sizes of the prepared vectors. In Table 6.3, the reader can see the sizes and also verify that all complexes have positive zeta potential values, reaching values above +12 mV for MTS-CPP systems with N/P ratios = 5 (Faria et al., 2021). In addition to the low cytotoxicity for cells, MTS-CPP systems demonstrated that they were able to mediate targeted delivery to mitochondria when the MTS sequence is present. Through a fluorescence confocal microscopy study performed on cancer HeLa cells, it was possible to observe that the peptide carriers without MTS demonstrated the ability to cross the cell membrane; however, they accumulated in the cytoplasm of cancer cells, and those that managed to reach the mitochondria were residual. On the contrary, pND1 complexes based on MTS-CPPs revealed an affinity for mitochondria, since there was a clear and intense accumulation of these vectors in the mitochondria. The developed systems demonstrated suitable physicochemical properties for gene delivery applications, namely, pND1 complexation ability, morphology, size, and surface charges. The fact that they have demonstrated efficacy in the specific targeting of mitochondria turns these MTS-CPPs as an excellent nano-platform for future research studies aiming functional mitochondrial protein expression, which may contribute significantly to the progress of mitochondrial gene therapy and cancer treatment (Faria et al., 2021).

System	Zeta (mV)	Size (nm)
CpMTP/pND1 N/P 1	$+2.00 \pm 0.58$	402 ± 25
CpMTP/pND1 N/P 2	$+3.50 \pm 0.50$	385 ± 14
CpMTP/pND1 N/P 3	$+5.83 \pm 0.69$	313 ± 10
CpMTP/pND1 N/P 5	$+12.67 \pm 0.75$	236 ± 13
WRAP1/pND1 N/P 3	$+25.17 \pm 0.69$	254 ± 14
WRAP1/pND1 N/P 5	$+32.67 \pm 0.47$	161 ± 9
WRAP5/pND1 N/P 1	$+2.00 \pm 0.58$	388 ± 15
WRAP5/pND1 N/P 2	$+10.83 \pm 1.21$	299 ± 13
WRAP5/pND1 N/P 3	$+14.17 \pm 0.90$	272 ± 11
WRAP5/pND1 N/P 5	$+20.67 \pm 0.75$	186 ± 10
(KH)9/pND1 N/P 1	$+4.50 \pm 0.50$	376 ± 14
(KH)9/pND1 N/P 2	$+6.00 \pm 0.58$	300 ± 11
(KH)9/pND1 N/P 3	$+11.83 \pm 1.34$	261 ± 10
(KH)9/pND1 N/P 5	$+22.33 \pm 0.75$	186 ± 10
MTS-WRAP1/pND1 N/P 1	-1.83 ± 0.90	406 ± 19
MTS-WRAP1/pND1 N/P 2	$+1.33 \pm 0.75$	366 ± 14
MTS-WRAP1/pND1 N/P 3	$+6.50 \pm 0.76$	277 ± 13
MTS-WRAP1/pND1 N/P 5	$+11.50 \pm 0.76$	197 ± 9
MTS-WRAP5/pND1 N/P 1	-2.17 ± 0.90	399 ± 12
MTS-WRAP5/pND1 N/P 2	$+7.17 \pm 0.90$	316 ± 10
MTS-WRAP5/pND1 N/P 3	$+10.83 \pm 1.07$	267 ± 8
MTS-WRAP5/pND1 N/P 5	$+19.33 \pm 1.60$	175 ± 11
MTS-(KH)9/pND1 N/P 1	$+3.17 \pm 0.69$	400 ± 14
MTS-(KH)9/pND1 N/P 2	$+5.67 \pm 0.75$	367 ± 12
MTS-(KH)9/pND1 N/P 3	$+8.50 \pm 0.50$	309 ± 9
MTS-(KH)9/pND1 N/P 5	$+14.67 \pm 0.75$	221 ± 9

 Table 6.3
 Average zeta potential, mean size, and polydispersity index (PI) for the various peptide/ pND1 complexes formulated at various N/P ratios

3.2 Future Challenges

Mitochondrial gene therapy is a very recent approach to fight mitochondrial dysfunction that can lead to cancer. Due to this fact, the systems that have already been explored for use in this type of therapy are still poorly studied and, certainly, have a great margin for progression. Although there are already valuable and interesting works reporting promising results as the ones mentioned above, the major difficulty encountered is the lack of mitochondria specificity. In this context, future studies should focus on the development of delivery systems that, by their own characteristics or by incorporating targeting sequences and ligands or focusing on other strategies, allow mitochondria recognition and targeting. The presence of additional sequences and/or moieties seems to be essential to ensure effective targeting while preventing their accumulation in the nucleus and cytoplasm of the cell. There are some sequences already identified with specificity toward this organelle that can be incorporated into previously studied systems or into novel delivery carriers. The constitution of the systems is another relevant aspect that must be considered when designing a vector suitable for mitochondrial gene therapy. As investigated by our team, cationic polymers, based on polyethylenimine, and CPPs appeared to be the most promising materials due to their favorable characteristics for payload complexation, cellular uptake/internalization and endosomes escape, and mitochondria targeting. Polymers, due to their positive charge, facilitate the encapsulation of nucleic acids and their entry into cells, and the addition of ligands to these polymeric systems is already being widely explored. CPPs, because they are easily manipulated and synthesized, facilitate the incorporation of ligands or sequences that can confer mitochondria targeting. During the synthesis of peptides, the addition of these targeting sequences can be explored, which thus become an integral part of CPP. Moreover, the comparison of the therapeutic effectiveness of the use of DNA or RNA for each situation must also be explored. Scientific community should evolve in this path by exploring the many possibilities of genetic material-based platforms toward optimal therapeutic response. Mitochondrial gene therapy is an area with much more to explore and can deeply contribute to the creation of new/ advanced treatments for mitochondrial dysfunction and cancer.

References

- Alexeyev, M., Shokolenko, I., Wilson, G., & Ledoux, S. (2013). The maintenance of mitochondrial DNA integrity--critical analysis and update. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, 5, a012641.
- Ammar, M., Tabebi, M., Sfaihi, L., Alila-Fersi, O., Maalej, M., Felhi, R., Chabchoub, I., Keskes, L., Hachicha, M., Fakhfakh, F., & Mkaouar-Rebai, E. (2016). Mutational screening in patients with profound sensorineural hearing loss and neurodevelopmental delay: Description of a novel m.3861A > C mitochondrial mutation in the MT-ND1 gene. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 474, 702–708.
- Baertling, F., Sánchez-Caballero, L., Van Den Brand, M. A. M., Distelmaier, F., Janssen, M. C. H., Rodenburg, R. J. T., Smeitink, J. A. M., & Nijtmans, L. G. J. (2018). A heterozygous NDUFV1 variant aggravates mitochondrial complex I deficiency in a family with a homoplasmic ND1 variant. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 196, 309–313.e3.
- Bahreini, F., Houshmand, M., Modaresi, M. H., Tonekaboni, H., Nafissi, S., Nazari, F., & Akrami, S. M. (2016). Mitochondrial copy number and D-loop variants in Pompe patients. *Cell Journal*, 18, 405–415.
- Ban, R., Guo, J. H., Pu, C. Q., Shi, Q., Liu, H. X., & Zhang, Y. T. (2018). A novel mutation of mitochondrial T14709C causes myoclonic epilepsy with ragged red fibers syndrome in a Chinese patient. *Chinese Medical Journal*, 131, 1569–1574.
- Bengsch, B., Johnson, A. L., Kurachi, M., Odorizzi, P. M., Pauken, K. E., Attanasio, J., Stelekati, E., Mclane, L. M., Paley, M. A., Delgoffe, G. M., & Wherry, E. J. (2016). Bioenergetic insufficiencies due to metabolic alterations regulated by the inhibitory receptor PD-1 are an early driver of CD8(+) T cell exhaustion. *Immunity*, 45, 358–373.
- Bhatti, J. S., Bhatti, G. K., & Reddy, P. H. (2017). Mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative stress in metabolic disorders – A step towards mitochondria based therapeutic strategies. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta – Molecular Basis of Disease*, 1863, 1066–1077.

- Bi, R., Zhang, W., Yu, D., Li, X., Wang, H.-Z., Hu, Q.-X., Zhang, C., Lu, W., Ni, J., Fang, Y., Li, T., & Yao, Y.-G. (2015). Mitochondrial DNA haplogroup B5 confers genetic susceptibility to Alzheimer's disease in Han Chinese. *Neurobiology of Aging*, *36*, 1604.e7–1604.e16.
- Blakely, E. L., De Silva, R., King, A., Schwarzer, V., Harrower, T., Dawidek, G., Turnbull, D. M., & Taylor, R. W. (2005). LHON/MELAS overlap syndrome associated with a mitochondrial MTND1 gene mutation. *European journal of human genetics : EJHG*, *13*, 623–627.
- Bonnefoy, N., & Fox, T. D. (2007). Directed alteration of Saccharomyces cerevisiae mitochondrial DNA by biolistic transformation and homologous recombination. *Methods in Molecular Biology*, 372, 153–166.
- Bonnet, C., Augustin, S., Ellouze, S., Bénit, P., Bouaita, A., Rustin, P., Sahel, J.-A., & Corral-Debrinski, M. (2008). The optimized allotopic expression of Nd1 or Nd4 genes restores respiratory chain complex I activity in fibroblasts harboring mutations in these genes. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (Bba) – Molecular Cell Research*, 1783, 1707–1717.
- Bonora, M., Patergnani, S., Rimessi, A., De Marchi, E., Suski, J. M., Bononi, A., Giorgi, C., Marchi, S., Missiroli, S., Poletti, F., Wieckowski, M. R., & Pinton, P. (2012). ATP synthesis and storage. *Purinergic Signal*, 8, 343–357.
- Burnstock, G., & Verkhratsky, A. (2010). Long-term (trophic) purinergic signalling: Purinoceptors control cell proliferation, differentiation and death. *Cell Death & Disease, 1*, e9.
- Calvo, S. E., & Mootha, V. K. (2010). The mitochondrial proteome and human disease. Annual Review of Genomics and Human Genetics, 11, 25–44.
- Cámara, Y., Carreño-Gago, L., Martín, M. A., Morén, C., Díaz-Manera, J., Gallardo, E., Bornstein, B., López-Gallardo, E., Hernández-Lain, A., Millán, B. S., Cancho, E., Rodríguezvico, J. S., Martí, R., & García-Arumí, E. (2015). Severe TK2 enzyme activity deficiency in patients with mild forms of myopathy. *Neurology*, 84, 2286.
- Cardoso, A. M., Morais, C. M., Cruz, A. R., Cardoso, A. L., Silva, S. G., Do Vale, M. L., Marques, E. F., Pedroso De Lima, M. C., & Jurado, A. S. (2015). Gemini surfactants mediate efficient mitochondrial gene delivery and expression. *Molecular Pharmaceutics*, 12, 716–730.
- Carreño-Gago, L., Gamez, J., Cámara, Y., Alvarez De La Campa, E., Aller-Alvarez, J. S., Moncho, D., Salvado, M., Galan, A., De La Cruz, X., Pinós, T., & García-Arumí, E. (2017a). Identification and characterization of the novel point mutation m.3634A>G in the mitochondrial MT-ND1 gene associated with LHON syndrome. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) – Molecular Basis of Disease*, *1863*, 182–187.
- Carreño-Gago, L., Gamez, J., Cámara, Y., Alvarez De La Campa, E., Aller-Alvarez, J. S., Moncho, D., Salvado, M., Galan, A., De La Cruz, X., Pinós, T., & García-Arumí, E. (2017b). Identification and characterization of the novel point mutation m.3634A>G in the mitochondrial MT-ND1 gene associated with LHON syndrome. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta – Molecular Basis of Disease*, 1863, 182–187.
- Chu, Q., Luo, X., Zhan, X., Ren, Y., & Pang, H. (2015). Female genetic distribution bias in mitochondrial genome observed in Parkinson's disease patients in northern China. *Scientific Reports*, 5, 17170.
- Coutinho, E., Batista, C., Sousa, F., Queiroz, J., & Costa, D. (2017). Mitochondrial gene therapy: Advances in mitochondrial gene cloning, plasmid production, and <u>n</u>anosystems targeted to mitochondria. *Molecular Pharmaceutics*, 14, 626–638.
- Dafinca, R., Barbagallo, P., Farrimond, L., Candalija, A., Scaber, J., Ababneh, N. A. A., Sathyaprakash, C., Vowles, J., Cowley, S. A., & Talbot, K. (2020). Impairment of mitochondrial calcium buffering links mutations in C9ORF72 and TARDBP in iPS-derived motor neurons from patients with ALS/FTD. *Stem Cell Reports*, 14, 892–908.
- De Mello, A. H., Costa, A. B., Engel, J. D. G., & Rezin, G. T. (2018). Mitochondrial dysfunction in obesity. *Life Sciences*, 192, 26–32.
- Decoux-Poullot, A.-G., Bannwarth, S., Procaccio, V., Lebre, A.-S., Jardel, C., Vialettes, B., Paquis-Flucklinger, V., & Chevalier, N. (2020). Clinical phenotype of mitochondrial diabetes due to rare mitochondrial DNA mutations. *Annales d'Endocrinologie*, 81, 68–77.

- D'souza, G. G., Boddapati, S. V., & Weissig, V. (2005). Mitochondrial leader sequence--plasmid DNA conjugates delivered into mammalian cells by DQAsomes co-localize with mitochondria. *Mitochondrion*, 5, 352–358.
- Dunn, D. A., & Pinkert, C. A. (2012). Nuclear expression of a mitochondrial DNA gene: Mitochondrial targeting of allotopically expressed mutant ATP6 in transgenic mice. *Journal of Biomedicine & Biotechnology*, 2012, 541245.
- Ellouze, S., Augustin, S., Bouaita, A., Bonnet, C., Simonutti, M., Forster, V., Picaud, S., Sahel, J. A., & Corral-Debrinski, M. (2008). Optimized allotopic expression of the human mitochondrial ND4 prevents blindness in a rat model of mitochondrial dysfunction. *American Journal* of Human Genetics, 83, 373–387.
- Erickson, R. P., Aras, S., Purandare, N., Hüttemann, M., Liu, J., Dragotto, J., Fiorenza, M. T., & Grossman, L. I. (2020). Decreased membrane cholesterol in liver mitochondria of the point mutation mouse model of juvenile Niemann–Pick C1, Npc1nmf164. *Mitochondrion*, 51, 15–21.
- Esaki, M., Kanamori, T., Nishikawa, S.-I., & Endo, T. (1999). Two distinct mechanisms drive protein translocation across the mitochondrial outer membrane in the late step of the cytochrome b2 import pathway. *PNAS*, 96, 11770–11775.
- Faria, R., Vives, E., Boisguerin, P., Sousa, A., & Costa, D. (2021). Development of peptide-based nanoparticles for mitochondrial plasmid DNA delivery. *Polymers (Basel)*, 13.
- Farrar, G. J., Chadderton, N., Kenna, P. F., & Millington-Ward, S. (2013). Mitochondrial disorders: Aetiologies, models systems, and candidate therapies. *Trends in Genetics*, 29, 488–497.
- Feng, S., Xiong, L., Ji, Z., Cheng, W., & Yang, H. (2012). Correlation between increased ND2 expression and demethylated displacement loop of mtDNA in colorectal cancer. *Molecular Medicine Reports*, 6, 125–130.
- Flierl, A., Jackson, C., Cottrell, B., Murdock, D., Seibel, P., & Wallace, D. C. (2003). Targeted delivery of DNA to the mitochondrial compartment via import sequence-conjugated peptide nucleic acid. *Molecular Therapy*, 7, 550–557.
- Fogleman, S., Santana, C., Bishop, C., Miller, A., & Capco, D. G. (2016). CRISPR/Cas9 and mitochondrial gene replacement therapy: Promising techniques and ethical considerations. *American Journal of Stem Cells*, 5, 39–52.
- Fox, T. D. (2012). Mitochondrial protein synthesis, import, and assembly. *Genetics*, 192, 1203–1234.
- Ganly, I., Makarov, V., Deraje, S., Dong, Y., Reznik, E., Seshan, V., Nanjangud, G., Eng, S., Bose, P., Kuo, F., Morris, L. G. T., Landa, I., Carrillo Albornoz, P. B., Riaz, N., Nikiforov, Y. E., Patel, K., Umbricht, C., Zeiger, M., Kebebew, E., Sherman, E., Ghossein, R., Fagin, J. A., & Chan, T. A. (2018). Integrated genomic analysis of Hürthle cell cancer reveals oncogenic drivers, recurrent mitochondrial mutations, and unique chromosomal landscapes. *Cancer Cell*, 34, 256–270.e5.
- Gasparre, G., Porcelli, A. M., Bonora, E., Pennisi, L. F., Toller, M., Iommarini, L., Ghelli, A., Moretti, M., Betts, C. M., Martinelli, G. N., Ceroni, A. R., Curcio, F., Carelli, V., Rugolo, M., Tallini, G., & Romeo, G. (2007). Disruptive mitochondrial DNA mutations in complex I subunits are markers of oncocytic phenotype in thyroid tumors. *PNAS*, 104, 9001–9006.
- Geromel, V., Cao, A., Briane, D., Vassy, J., Rotig, A., Rustin, P., Coudert, R., Rigaut, J. P., Munnich, A., & Taillandier, E. (2001). Mitochondria transfection by oligonucleotides containing a signal peptide and vectorized by cationic liposomes. *Antisense & Nucleic Acid Drug Development*, 11, 175–180.
- Gorman, G. S., Pfeffer, G., Griffin, H., Blakely, E. L., Kurzawa-Akanbi, M., Gabriel, J., Sitarz, K., Roberts, M., Schoser, B., Pyle, A., Schaefer, A. M., Mcfarland, R., Turnbull, D. M., Horvath, R., Chinnery, P. F., & Taylor, R. W. (2015a). Clonal expansion of secondary mitochondrial DNA deletions associated with spinocerebellar ataxia type 28. JAMA Neurology, 72, 106–111.
- Gorman, G. S., Schaefer, A. M., Ng, Y., Gomez, N., Blakely, E. L., Alston, C. L., Feeney, C., Horvath, R., Yu-Wai-Man, P., Chinnery, P. F., Taylor, R. W., Turnbull, D. M., & Mcfarland, R. (2015b). Prevalence of nuclear and mitochondrial DNA mutations related to adult mitochondrial disease. *Annals of Neurology*, 77, 753–759.

- Guo, Y., Zhang, Y., Li, F., Liu, P., Liu, Y., Yang, C., Song, J., Zhang, N., & Chen, Z. (2018). The biochemical characterization of a missense mutation m.8914C>T in ATP6 gene associated with mitochondrial encephalomyopathy. *International Journal of Developmental Neuroscience*, 71, 172–174.
- Hahn, A., & Zuryn, S. (2019). Mitochondrial genome (mtDNA) mutations that generate reactive oxygen species. *Antioxidants (Basel)*, 8.
- He, H., Lin, X., Wu, D., Wang, J., Guo, J., Green, D. R., Zhang, H., & Xu, B. (2020). Enzymatic noncovalent synthesis for mitochondrial genetic engineering of cancer cells. *Cell Reports Physical Science*, 1.
- Henry, C., Patel, N., Shaffer, W., Murphy, L., Park, J., & Spieler, B. (2017). Mitochondrial encephalomyopathy with lactic acidosis and stroke-like episodes-MELAS syndrome. *The Ochsner Journal*, 17, 296–301.
- Herrera, A. S., Del, C. A. E. M., Md Ashraf, G., Zamyatnin, A. A., & Aliev, G. (2015). Beyond mitochondria, what would be the energy source of the cell? *Central Nervous System Agents in Medicinal Chemistry*, 15, 32–41.
- Hirst, J., King, M. S., & Pryde, K. R. (2008). The production of reactive oxygen species by complex I. *Biochemical Society Transactions*, 36, 976–980.
- Horobin, R. W., Trapp, S., & Weissig, V. (2007). Mitochondriotropics: A review of their mode of action, and their applications for drug and DNA delivery to mammalian mitochondria. *Journal* of Controlled Release, 121, 125–136.
- Jang, Y. H., & Lim, K. I. (2018). Recent advances in mitochondria-targeted gene delivery. *Molecules*, 23.
- Johnston, I. G., & Williams, B. P. (2016). Evolutionary inference across eukaryotes identifies specific pressures favoring mitochondrial gene retention. *Cell Systems*, 2, 101–111.
- Kaltimbacher, V., Bonnet, C., Lecoeuvre, G., Forster, V., Sahel, J. A., & Corral-Debrinski, M. (2006). mrna localization to the mitochondrial surface allows the efficient translocation inside the organelle of a nuclear recoded ATP6 protein. *RNA*, *12*, 1408–1417.
- Kawamura, E., Hibino, M., Harashima, H., & Yamada, Y. (2019). Targeted mitochondrial delivery of antisense RNA-containing nanoparticles by a MITO-Porter for safe and efficient mitochondrial gene silencing. *Mitochondrion*, 49, 178–188.
- Kawamura, E., Maruyama, M., Abe, J., Sudo, A., Takeda, A., Takada, S., Yokota, T., Kinugawa, S., Harashima, H., & Yamada, Y. (2020). Validation of gene therapy for mutant mitochondria by delivering mitochondrial RNA using a MITO-Porter. *Molecular Therapy Nucleic Acids*, 20, 687–698.
- Kim, H., Komiyama, T., Inomoto, C., Kamiguchi, H., Kajiwara, H., Kobayashi, H., Nakamura, N., & Terachi, T. (2016). Mutations in the mitochondrial ND1 gene are associated with postoperative prognosis of localized renal cell carcinoma. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 17.
- Kim, H. K., Noh, Y. H., Nilius, B., Ko, K. S., Rhee, B. D., Kim, N., & Han, J. (2017). Current and upcoming mitochondrial targets for cancer therapy. *Seminars in Cancer Biology*, 47, 154–167.
- Kirby, D. M., Mcfarland, R., Ohtake, A., Dunning, C., Ryan, M. T., Wilson, C., Ketteridge, D., Turnbull, D. M., Thorburn, D. R., & Taylor, R. W. (2004). Mutations of the mitochondrial ND1 gene as a cause of MELAS. *Journal of Medical Genetics*, 41, 784–789.
- Koilkonda, R. D., Yu, H., Chou, T. H., Feuer, W. J., Ruggeri, M., Porciatti, V., Tse, D., Hauswirth, W. W., Chiodo, V., Boye, S. L., Lewin, A. S., Neuringer, M., Renner, L., & Guy, J. (2014). Safety and effects of the vector for the Leber hereditary optic neuropathy gene therapy clinical trial. *JAMA Ophthalmol*, 132, 409–420.
- Kokotas, H., Petersen, M. B., & Willems, P. J. (2007). Mitochondrial deafness. *Clinical Genetics*, 71, 379–391.
- Lalrohlui, F., Thapa, S., Ghatak, S., Zohmingthanga, J., & Senthil Kumar, N. (2016). Mitochondrial complex I and V gene polymorphisms in type II diabetes mellitus among high risk Mizo-Mongoloid population, Northeast India. *Genes and Environment*, 38, 5.

- Lalrohlui, F., Zohmingthanga, J., Hruaii, V., & Kumar, N. S. (2020). Genomic profiling of mitochondrial DNA reveals novel complex gene mutations in familial type 2 diabetes mellitus individuals from Mizo ethnic population, Northeast India. *Mitochondrion*, 51, 7–14.
- Lang, M., Vocke, C. D., Merino, M. J., Schmidt, L. S., & Linehan, W. M. (2015). Mitochondrial DNA mutations distinguish bilateral multifocal renal oncocytomas from familial Birt-Hogg-Dube tumors. *Modern Pathology*, 28, 1458–1469.
- Larsson, N. G., Wang, J., Wilhelmsson, H., Oldfors, A., Rustin, P., Lewandoski, M., Barsh, G. S., & Clayton, D. A. (1998). Mitochondrial transcription factor A is necessary for mtDNA maintenance and embryogenesis in mice. *Nature Genetics*, 18, 231–236.
- Lenaz, G., Baracca, A., Carelli, V., D'aurelio, M., Sgarbi, G., & Solaini, G. (2004). Bioenergetics of mitochondrial diseases associated with mtDNA mutations. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, 1658, 89–94.
- Lin, J., Zhao, C. B., Lu, J. H., Wang, H. J., Zhu, W. H., Xi, J. Y., Lu, J., Luo, S. S., Ma, D., Wang, Y., Xiao, B. G., & Lu, C. Z. (2014). Novel mutations m.3959G>A and m.3995A>G in mitochondrial gene MT-ND1 associated with MELAS. *Mitochondrial DNA*, 25, 56–62.
- Lohman, A. W., Billaud, M., & Isakson, B. E. (2012). Mechanisms of ATP release and signalling in the blood vessel wall. *Cardiovascular Research*, 95, 269–280.
- Lu, J., Sharma, L. K., & Bai, Y. (2009). Implications of mitochondrial DNA mutations and mitochondrial dysfunction in tumorigenesis. *Cell Research*, 19, 802–815.
- Lyrawati, D., Trounson, A., & Cram, D. (2011). Expression of GFP in the mitochondrial compartment using DQAsome-mediated delivery of an artificial mini-mitochondrial genome. *Pharmaceutical Research*, 28, 2848–2862.
- Marrache, S., Tundup, S., Harn, D. A., & Dhar, S. (2013). Ex vivo programming of dendritic cells by mitochondria-targeted nanoparticles to produce interferon-gamma for cancer immunotherapy. ACS Nano, 7, 7392–7402.
- Mcmanus, M. J., Picard, M., Chen, H. W., De Haas, H. J., Potluri, P., Leipzig, J., Towheed, A., Angelin, A., Sengupta, P., Morrow, R. M., Kauffman, B. A., Vermulst, M., Narula, J., & Wallace, D. C. (2019). Mitochondrial DNA variation dictates expressivity and progression of nuclear DNA mutations causing cardiomyopathy. *Cell Metabolism*, 29(78–90), e5.
- Mercer, T. R., Neph, S., Dinger, M. E., Crawford, J., Smith, M. A., Shearwood, A. M., Haugen, E., Bracken, C. P., Rackham, O., Stamatoyannopoulos, J. A., Filipovska, A., & Mattick, J. S. (2011). The human mitochondrial transcriptome. *Cell*, 146, 645–658.
- Mezghani, N., Mnif, M., Mkaouar-Rebai, E., Kallel, N., Charfi, N., Abid, M., & Fakhfakh, F. (2013). A maternally inherited diabetes and deafness patient with the 12S rRNA m.1555A>G and the ND1 m.3308T>C mutations associated with multiple mitochondrial deletions. *Biochemical* and Biophysical Research Communications, 431, 670–674.
- Moslemi, A. R., Darin, N., Tulinius, M., Wiklund, L. M., Holme, E., & Oldfors, A. (2008). Progressive encephalopathy and complex I deficiency associated with mutations in MTND1. *Neuropediatrics*, 39, 24–28.
- Muramatsu, H., Honda, K., Akanuma, S., Ishizawa, F., Umino, K., Iwabuchi, Y., Mochizuki, N., & Sugano, Y. (2019). Trial to search for mitochondrial DNA mutation associated with cancer detected by massively parallel sequencing. *Forensic Science International: Genetics Supplement Series*, 7, 698–700.
- Murphy, M. P., & Hartley, R. C. (2018). Mitochondria as a therapeutic target for common pathologies. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*, 17, 865–886.
- Paramasivam, A., Venkatapathi, C., Sandeep, G., Meena, A. K., Uppin, M. S., Mohapatra, S., Pitceathly, R. D. S., & Thangaraj, K. (2019). Homozygous R627W mutations in POLG cause mitochondrial DNA depletion leading to encephalopathy, seizures and stroke-like episodes. *Mitochondrion*, 48, 78–83.
- Park, J. S., Sharma, L. K., Li, H., Xiang, R., Holstein, D., Wu, J., Lechleiter, J., Naylor, S. L., Deng, J. J., Lu, J., & Bai, Y. (2009). A heteroplasmic, not homoplasmic, mitochondrial DNA mutation promotes tumorigenesis via alteration in reactive oxygen species generation and apoptosis. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 18, 1578–1589.

- Perales-Clemente, E., Fernandez-Silva, P., Acin-Perez, R., Perez-Martos, A., & Enriquez, J. A. (2011). Allotopic expression of mitochondrial-encoded genes in mammals: Achieved goal, undemonstrated mechanism or impossible task? *Nucleic Acids Research*, 39, 225–234.
- Permana Maksum, I., Saputra, S. R., Indrayati, N., Yusuf, M., & Subroto, T. (2017). Bioinformatics study of m.9053G>A mutation at the ATP6 gene in relation to type 2 diabetes mellitus and cataract diseases. *Bioinform Biol Insights*, 11, 1177932217728515.
- Pfeffer, G., Majamaa, K., Turnbull, D. M., Thorburn, D., & Chinnery, P. F. (2012). Treatment for mitochondrial disorders. *Cochrane Database System Review*, 2012, Cd004426.
- Porcelli, A. M., Ghelli, A., Ceccarelli, C., Lang, M., Cenacchi, G., Capristo, M., Pennisi, L. F., Morra, I., Ciccarelli, E., Melcarne, A., Bartoletti-Stella, A., Salfi, N., Tallini, G., Martinuzzi, A., Carelli, V., Attimonelli, M., Rugolo, M., Romeo, G., & Gasparre, G. (2010). The genetic and metabolic signature of oncocytic transformation implicates HIF1alpha destabilization. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 19, 1019–1032.
- Reyes, A., Melchionda, L., Nasca, A., Carrara, F., Lamantea, E., Zanolini, A., Lamperti, C., Fang, M., Zhang, J., Ronchi, D., Bonato, S., Fagiolari, G., Moggio, M., Ghezzi, D., & Zeviani, M. (2015). RNASEH1 mutations impair mtDNA replication and cause adult-onset mitochondrial encephalomyopathy. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 97, 186–193.
- Reznik, E., Miller, M. L., Şenbabaoğlu, Y., Riaz, N., Sarungbam, J., Tickoo, S. K., Al-Ahmadie, H. A., Lee, W., Seshan, V. E., Hakimi, A. A., & Sander, C. (2016). Mitochondrial DNA copy number variation across human cancers. *eLife*, 5.
- Roger, A. J., Muñoz-Gómez, S. A., & Kamikawa, R. (2017). The origin and diversification of mitochondria. *Current Biology*, 27, R1177–r1192.
- Rusecka, J., Kaliszewska, M., Bartnik, E., & Tońska, K. (2018). Nuclear genes involved in mitochondrial diseases caused by instability of mitochondrial DNA. *Journal of Applied Genetics*, 59, 43–57.
- Saada, A. (2014). Mitochondria: mitochondrial OXPHOS (dys) function ex vivo--the use of primary fibroblasts. *The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology*, 48, 60–65.
- Saki, M., & Prakash, A. (2017). DNA damage related crosstalk between the nucleus and mitochondria. Free Radical Biology & Medicine, 107, 216–227.
- Salvado, R., Sousa, F., Queiroz, J., & Costa, D. (2015). Development of mitochondrial targeting plasmid DNA nanoparticles: Characterization and in vitro studies. *Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects*, 480, 287–295.
- Scharping, N. E., Menk, A. V., Moreci, R. S., Whetstone, R. D., Dadey, R. E., Watkins, S. C., Ferris, R. L., & Delgoffe, G. M. (2016). The tumor microenvironment represses T cell mitochondrial biogenesis to drive intratumoral T cell metabolic insufficiency and dysfunction. *Immunity*, 45, 374–388.
- Sharma, L. K., Fang, H., Liu, J., Vartak, R., Deng, J., & Bai, Y. (2011). Mitochondrial respiratory complex I dysfunction promotes tumorigenesis through ROS alteration and AKT activation. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 20, 4605–4616.
- Smolina, N., Khudiakov, A., Knyazeva, A., Zlotina, A., Sukhareva, K., Kondratov, K., Gogvadze, V., Zhivotovsky, B., Sejersen, T., & Kostareva, A. (2020). Desmin mutations result in mitochondrial dysfunction regardless of their aggregation properties. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) – Molecular Basis of Disease, 1866*, 165745.
- Spinelli, J. B., & Haigis, M. C. (2018). The multifaceted contributions of mitochondria to cellular metabolism. *Nature Cell Biology*, 20, 745–754.
- Spruijt, L., Smeets, H. J., Hendrickx, A., Bettink-Remeijer, M. W., Maat-Kievit, A., Schoonderwoerd, K. C., Sluiter, W., De Coo, I. F., & Hintzen, R. Q. (2007). A MELASassociated ND1 mutation causing Leber hereditary optic neuropathy and spastic dystonia. *Archives of Neurology*, 64, 890–893.
- Tang, X., Zheng, J., Ying, Z., Cai, Z., Gao, Y., He, Z., Yu, H., Yao, J., Yang, Y., Wang, H., Chen, Y., & Guan, M.-X. (2015). Mitochondrial tRNASer(UCN) variants in 2651 Han Chinese subjects with hearing loss. *Mitochondrion*, 23, 17–24.

- Taylor, R. W., & Turnbull, D. M. (2005). Mitochondrial DNA mutations in human disease. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, 6, 389–402.
- Thapa, S., Lalrohlui, F., Ghatak, S., Zohmingthanga, J., Lallawmzuali, D., Pautu, J. L., & Senthil Kumar, N. (2016). Mitochondrial complex I and V gene polymorphisms associated with breast cancer in mizo-mongloid population. *Breast Cancer*, 23, 607–616.
- Tretter, L., Sipos, I., & Adam-Vizi, V. (2004). Initiation of neuronal damage by complex I deficiency and oxidative stress in Parkinson's disease. *Neurochemical Research*, 29, 569–577.
- Van Der Laan, M., Meinecke, M., Dudek, J., Hutu, D. P., Lind, M., Perschil, I., Guiard, B., Wagner, R., Pfanner, N., & Rehling, P. (2007). Motor-free mitochondrial presequence translocase drives membrane integration of preproteins. *Nature Cell Biology*, 9, 1152–1159.
- Van Horssen, J., Van Schaik, P., & Witte, M. (2019). Inflammation and mitochondrial dysfunction: A vicious circle in neurodegenerative disorders? *Neuroscience Letters*, 710, 132931.
- Veltri, K. L., Espiritu, M., & Singh, G. (1990). Distinct genomic copy number in mitochondria of different mammalian organs. *Journal of Cellular Physiology*, 143, 160–164.
- Vyas, S., Zaganjor, E., & Haigis, M. C. (2016). Mitochondria and cancer. Cell, 166, 555-566.
- Wallace, D. C., & Chalkia, D. (2013). Mitochondrial DNA genetics and the heteroplasmy conundrum in evolution and disease. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology, 5, a021220.
- Wan, X., Pei, H., Zhao, M. J., Yang, S., Hu, W. K., He, H., Ma, S. Q., Zhang, G., Dong, X. Y., Chen, C., Wang, D. W., & Li, B. (2016). Efficacy and safety of rAAV2-ND4 treatment for Leber's hereditary optic neuropathy. *Scientific Reports*, 6, 21587.
- Wang, M., Peng, Y., Zheng, J., Zheng, B., Jin, X., Liu, H., Wang, Y., Tang, X., Huang, T., Jiang, P., & Guan, M.-X. (2016). A deafness-associated tRNAAsp mutation alters the m1G37 modification, aminoacylation and stability of tRNAAsp and mitochondrial function. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 44, 10974–10985.
- Wang, S., Lin, L., Wang, Y., Wang, A., Liu, Z., Wu, S., Lan, X., Jia, J., Zhang, Y., Yuan, F., Wang, C., Luo, X., Sun, X., Avula, S. K., Tolaymat, A., Liu, C., Ren, Y., & Chen, Y. (2020). Novel homozygous mutation in the FBXL4 gene is associated with mitochondria DNA depletion syndrome-13. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, 416, 116948.
- Wan-Xia, W., Yun-Fei, H., Ya-Zhuo, S., & Hong-Lai, L. (2011). Interaction between the Gemini Surfactant (12-6-12) and DNA. Acta Physico-Chimica Sinica, 27, 156–162.
- Webster, K. A. (2012). Mitochondrial membrane permeabilization and cell death during myocardial infarction: Roles of calcium and reactive oxygen species. *Future Cardiology*, 8, 863–884.
- Wen, S. L., Zhang, F., & Feng, S. (2013). Decreased copy number of mitochondrial DNA: A potential diagnostic criterion for gastric cancer. *Oncology Letters*, 6, 1098–1102.
- Yasuzaki, Y., Yamada, Y., Ishikawa, T., & Harashima, H. (2015). Validation of mitochondrial gene delivery in liver and skeletal muscle via hydrodynamic injection using an artificial mitochondrial reporter DNA vector. *Molecular Pharmaceutics*, 12, 4311–4320.
- Yee, M. L., Wong, R., Datta, M., Fazlo, T. N., Ebrahim, M. M., Mcnamara, E. C., De Jong, G., & Gilfillan, C. (2018). Mitochondrial disease: An uncommon but important cause of diabetes mellitus. *Endocrinology, Diabetes & Metabolism Case Reports, 2018*.
- Yoon, Y. G., & Koob, M. D. (2005). Transformation of isolated mammalian mitochondria by bacterial conjugation. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 33, e139.
- Zheng, J., Ying, Z., Cai, Z., Sun, D., He, Z., Gao, Y., Zhang, T., Zhu, Y., Chen, Y., & Guan, M.-X. (2015). GJB2 mutation spectrum and genotype-phenotype correlation in 1067 Han Chinese subjects with non-syndromic hearing loss. *PLoS One*, 10, e0128691.
- Zhou, Z., Song, J., Nie, L., & Chen, X. (2016). Reactive oxygen species generating systems meeting challenges of photodynamic cancer therapy. *Chemical Society Reviews*, 45, 6597–6626.
- Zhu, C., Tian, L., Yang, H., Chen, P., Li, Y., & Liu, Y. (2019). Mitochondrial outer membrane voltage-dependent anion channel is involved in renal dysfunction in a spontaneously hypertensive rat carrying transfer RNA mutations. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, 865, 172622.

Chronobiology and Nanotechnology for Personalized Cancer Therapy



Tânia Albuquerque, Ana Raquel Neves, Rúben Faria, Telma Quintela, and Diana Costa

Abbreviations

5-FU	5-Fluorouracil				
BMAL1	Brain and muscle ARNT-like1				
Ccgs	Clock-controlled genes				
ChrDD	Chronodrug delivery systems				
CLOCK	Circadian locomotor output cycles protein kaput				
CRY	Cryptochrome				
Doxil	Doxorubicin				
DPD	Dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase activity				
FA	Folic acid				
GBM	Glioblastoma				
ICG	Indocyanine green				
MTX	Methotrexate				
NA	8-Naphthalimide				
OS	Overall survival				
PEG	Polyethylene glycol				
PEI	Polyethyleneimine				
PER	Protein period				
PLGA	Poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid)				
PTX	Paclitaxel				
SCN	Suprachiasmatic nucleus				
SLN	Solid lipid nanoparticles				

T. Albuquerque · A. R. Neves · R. Faria · D. Costa (\boxtimes)

CICS-UBI—Health Sciences Research Centre, Universidade da Beira Interior, Covilhã, Portugal

e-mail: dcosta@fcsaude.ubi.pt

T. Quintela

UDI-IPG-Unidade de Investigação para o Desenvolvimento do Interior, Instituto Politécnico da Guarda, Guarda, Portugal

STAT3Transcription 3TMZTemozolomide

1 Mammalian Circadian Clock

All living organisms on Earth are in constant interaction with their environments, being influenced by external cues which exhibit cyclic patterns. Diurnal periodic variations with the day and night contributed the most for the evolution of species, including humans. These rhythmic changes favored the development of an internal timekeeping system, called biological clock, that keeps track of time allowing the organism to adapt and even anticipate their responses against external stimuli (Bhadra et al., 2017). The field that studies the effect of time on biological rhythms is called chronobiology and has recently gained significant attention with the 2017 Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine awarded for discoveries of underlying cellular mechanisms that control circadian rhythms.

Biological rhythms with a recurrence of about 24 h are called circadian, as illustrating by the endogenous secretion of glucocorticoids, characterized by a daily peak around the time of the sleep-wake transition and minimum level in the early part of the night (Oster et al., 2016).

In mammals, including humans, this 24-hour rhythm reflects the activity of a central pacemaker, a master circadian clock located in the suprachiasmatic nucleus (SCN) of the brain's hypothalamus (Hastings et al., 2020); however, the clock machinery can also be found in other brain areas, as well as in most peripheral organs. Neuron cells from SCN form a circadian network that generates rhythmic signals to connect the master clock to secondary peripheral clocks in the body through neuronal and hormonal pathways that regulate many different body functions. In return, these outputs ultimately feed back to the central nervous system and even to the SCN (Grosbellet & Challet, 2017; Mohawk et al., 2012).

To be completely efficient, however, this biological clock needs to be synchronized with external environmental light-dark cycle. Light is the main stimulus for entraining the SCN. Besides light, other environmental signals (zeitgebers), such as feeding-fasting and rest-activity cycles, can entrain circadian rhythms and are dominant zeitgebers (Quante et al., 2019; Pickel & Sung, 2020).

Photic stimuli reach the retina, which contains photoreceptors that transform the photon energy into an electric signal. This information is then transmitted to target neurons in the SCN through retinal ganglion cells (LeGates et al., 2014). At the cellular level, light activates signaling pathways in SCN and induces the expression of a specific set of "clock" genes that comprises the basis of the circadian clock. The key components of the clock include a complex interplay between positive and negative regulators of transcriptional and translational feedback loops (El Cheikh Hussein et al., 2019). The positive elements of circadian clock are the transcription factors circadian locomotor output cycles protein kaput (CLOCK) and brain and muscle ARNT-like1 (BMAL1), whereas the negative elements consist of the protein period (PER1, PER2 and PER3) and cryptochrome (CRY1 and CRY2). CLOCK

and BMAL1 form heterodimers and bind to regulatory element containing E-boxes to promote the expression of PER and CRY. The resulting PER and CRY proteins then dimerize and translocate to the nucleus where they accumulate and finally inhibit their own transcription by interaction with CLOCK/BMAL1, reinitiating another 24-hour cycle. PER and CRY complexes might also be subjected to phosphorylation in the cytoplasm and subsequent degradation. Another autoregulatory feedback loop involves the nuclear orphan receptors REV-ERB α/β and ROR $\alpha/\beta/\gamma$ which repress and enhance the transcription of Bmal1, respectively. Furthermore, CLOCK/BMAL1 triggers the rhythmic expression of other genes, the so-called clock-controlled genes (ccgs) that regulate essential physiological processes in a tissue-specific manner (Fig. 1) (Korenčič et al., 2014; Buhr & Takahashi, 2013). There is an estimative that about 80% of mammalian protein-coding genes oscillate in their mRNA expression levels, impacting immune system, metabolic processes, cardiovascular function, cognition, memory, and so on (Zhang et al., 2014). Moreover, mutations or deletions of clock genes can affect this entire regulatory network affecting health in general. Misalignment between central and peripheral clocks, as well as between behavioral rhythms and endogenous clock caused by our modern lifestyle, changes environmental conditions and has also proven to increase the incidence of a series of widespread diseases (Baron & Reid, 2014; Finger & Kramer, 2021).

2 Circadian Disruption and Cancer Development

Circadian rhythms can regulate many intracellular pathways related to cancer development such as cell cycle, apoptosis, DNA damage, repair mechanisms, and apoptosis (Albuquerque et al., 2021; Lee et al., 2019; Morgan et al., 2019). Interferences in circadian rhythms can lead to a range of physiological diseases as metabolic syndromes (Ansermet et al., 2021; Kelly et al., 2020), depression (Nguyen et al., 2019), bipolarity (Palagini et al., 2019), cardiovascular diseases (Salazar et al., 2021), sleep associated disorders (Xing et al., 2021; Onat et al., 2020; Patke et al., 2017), neurodegenerative diseases (Obayashi et al., 2021), and autoimmune diseases. Besides, in the past few decades, there has been emerging evidence of a relation between the abnormal expression of circadian clock genes or abnormal circadian rhythmicity and higher cancer risk or cancer initiation and progression (Razi Soofiyani et al., 2021; Kiessling & Cermakian, 2017; Sulli et al., 2019; Li, 2019; Yuan et al., 2019; Reszka & Zienolddiny, 2018; Ye et al., 2018). Recent studies have found that Per1 knockdown significantly decreases the transcript expression levels of p53, a well-known tumor suppressor. Moreover, another study found that at the early G1 phase, the BMAL1/CLOCK heterodimer downregulates the transcription of c-Myc oncogene (involved in G0/G1 transition) to prevent its overexpression (Li, 2019). BMAL1/CLOCK complex also controls the expression of the Wee1 gene, an important G2/M checkpoint kinase. Therefore, alterations in this clock protein expression can lead to several implications in cell cycle and cancer development. Besides, loss of circadian homeostasis is also associated with poor



Fig. 1 The circadian clock system. Through evolution, most organisms developed an internal timekeeping system. Circadian clocks consist of a hierarchical network, with a master clock located in the SCN of the brain's hypothalamus, synchronized mainly by the light. Other peripheral clocks were identified in other brain regions and in most peripheral organs. The function of peripheral clocks is regulated through neuronal and hormonal pathways (from the central clock), feeding, and other external cues. In return, these outputs ultimately feed back to the central nervous system and even to the SCN. At a molecular level, this clock is based on an autoregulatory transcription-translation feedback loop comprised by clock genes/proteins that regulate several physiological processes, as hormone secretion, cell division, and drug pharmacokinetics, among others

performance of anticancer treatments and early mortality among cancer patients (Fu & Kettner, 2013). Thus, the International Agency for Research on Cancer, which belongs to the World Health Organization, listed circadian rhythm disorders as possible human carcinogens in 2007 (Group 2A) (Yao et al., 2021). The disruption of regular daily patterns and daily rhythms (in sleep-wake, meal intake, cell cycle, and metabolism) because of the new modern society patterns such as night shift work, jet lag, exposure to bright light at night, sedentarism, and bad food choices is known to contribute to several types of cancer (Damato & Herzog, 2021; Barbosa Vieira et al., 2021) (Fig. 2). Geographic factors or geological cycles like daylight and darkness in different seasons can also affect circadian rhythms (Weissová et al., 2019). Breast (Lesicka et al., 2018; Lellupitiyage Don et al., 2019; Pham et al., 2019), colon (Bishehsari et al., 2018), and colorectal cancer (Liu et al., 2021) are cancer types already documented to be linked to this desynchronization. For example, it

has been shown that there is a highly significant statistical association between polymorphisms of some circadian genes (cry1/2, arntl2, csnk1e, nr1d1/2, per1/2/3,,clock, npas2, and rora/b/c) and the risk of some breast, prostate, and lung cancers (Mocellin et al., 2018). Emerging evidence suggests that tumor hypoxiainduced acidosis inhibits the transcription and alters protein stability of BMAL1 to promote breast cancer metastasis (Kwon et al., 2020). Another study systematically analyzed clock gene alterations in 32 cancer types considering the Cancer Genome Atlas, Cancer Therapeutics Response Portal, and Genomics of Drug Sensitivity in Cancer databases. Researchers found that expression alterations in these genes are linked with key oncogenic pathways, patient survival, tumor stage, and subtype in multiple cancer types (Ye et al., 2018). Recent experiments also show that daily eating patterns as overnight meal intake or time of dinner can influence cancer risk (Sulli et al., 2019; Kogevinas et al., 2018). Finally, a large cohort of study suggests an association between late eaters and circadian perturbations that may lead to breast or prostate cancer development (Srour et al., 2018).

Remarkably, this theme continues to cause some controversy, and the role of the circadian clock machinery in cancer cell development and survival remains elusive (Papantoniou et al., 2018; Leung et al., 2019; Wendeu-Foyet et al., 2018; Cordina-Duverger et al., 2018; Kogevinas et al., 2018). As the most of published results have not always been replicated and some effect sizes have been small (Damato & Herzog, 2021), some researchers consider that the circadian rhythm disruption may be a consequence of cancer progression, but not its driving factor. Some extra factors should be considered, namely, sexes, chronotypes, genetic and/or environmental factors, tumor genotype, type of chronodisruption (e.g., advancing vs. delaying shift schedules), time of sample collection, and exposure duration (Damato & Herzog, 2021).



Fig. 2 Circadian rhythmicity disruption and cancer risk. Disruption of regular daily patterns involved in dysregulation of circadian rhythm

3 Chronotherapy for Cancer Treatment

Chronotherapy, also called chronomedicine, is a strategy that coordinates a person's biological rhythms with medical treatment, considering the timing and amount of a medication to optimize the drug desired effect. Besides increasing drug effectiveness, choosing the most suitable time of the day might also reduce undesirable side effects. A great amount of literature supports the importance of timing for treatment outcomes of a broad range of diseases. For instance, bronchodilators to treat asthma are dosed in the evening, since the most severe symptoms occur around 4 a.m. (Lodhi et al., 2019). Some lipid-lowering drugs are most effective when taken before bedtime because the level of its target enzymes peaks at night (Awad et al., 2017). Also, many studies have shown that taking hypertension medications in the evening improved blood pressure dropping, decreasing the risk of heart attack. This fact is related to angiotensin 2 receptor, involved in blood pressure regulation, which is maximally expressed during the nighttime (Carter et al., 2014).

Despite the advances in cancer research, it remains one of the leading causes of death worldwide with limited treatment options. Anticancer drug resistance and overall cytotoxicity of chemotherapy to both normal tissues and malignant cells represent reasons for current treatment failures (Mansoori et al., 2017). Thus, it is important to invest in new approaches to improve efficacy but also reduce toxic side effects in host tissue damage in order to optimize health benefits.

Five decades ago, Franz Halberg, one of the founders of modern chronobiology, envisioned the idea of a circadian-based therapy for cancer, given the differential tolerance to treatment derived from the intrinsic host rhythms (Halberg et al., 2006). Cancer chronotherapy is inciting much attention on medical field as a novel approach to improve current cancer treatment options (Sulli et al., 2018). Accumulating evidence indicates that the inclusion of chronobiology into cancer therapy will likely improve treatment efficacy of many types of cancer, diminishing side effects and enhancing patient survival. The clinical relevance of cancer chronotherapy has been investigated in a considerable number of clinical trials and animal models.

The earlier works on the field demonstrated that the efficacy of over 30 anticancer drugs varies up to 50% as a function of administration time (Innominato et al., 2014).

Recently, a retrospective analysis explored whether timing of temozolomide (TMZ) administration, a standard chemotherapeutic agent for glioblastoma (GBM), could affect GBM patient outcome (Damato et al., 2021). The study reviewed patients with newly diagnosed GBM who had surgery and chemoradiation and were prescribed TMZ to be taken in the morning or evening. Overall survival (OS) was analyzed.

Patients taking morning TMZ exhibited longer OS compared to evening. Interestingly, a previous study in both human and mouse GBM cells had shown that the time of treatment affected TMZ sensitivity of murine GBM tumor cells in vitro (Slat et al., 2017). It was found that the maximum TMZ-induced DNA damage response, apoptosis, and growth inhibition corresponded to the daily peak

expression of the clock gene Bmal1. Additionally, the deletion of Bmal1 abolished TMZ-induced activation of apoptosis. These data suggest that circadian rhythms can regulate TMZ cytotoxicity.

Other clinical trials have indicated significant clinical benefits from specific circadian timing of chemotherapy or radiotherapy (Table 1).

Another recent chronotherapy trial in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer evaluated the safety and efficacy of chronomodulated triple therapy given over 5-day period every 3 weeks (Innominato et al., 2020). Results revealed that timed combination therapy with irinotecan, oxaliplatin, 5-fluorouracil (5-FU), and leucovorin resulted in delayed time to progression and increased overall survival with increased tolerance and safety, compared to routine chemotherapy.

Several mechanisms might be responsible for the benefits of timed delivery of anticancer drugs. Target genes, enzymes, and molecules involved in effectiveness and toxicity of drugs might be expressed rhythmically. In that concern, pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics are essential determinants of time-dependent drug effects (Ayyar & Sukumaran, 2021). Today, it is recognized that time-dependent toxicity and efficacy of medications reflect circadian changes in processes of pharmacokinetics. Pharmacokinetics refers to absorption, distribution, metabolism, and excretion (ADME) of a given drug, determining its concentration in target tissues. Moreover, variations in physiology and tissue gene expression can influence pharmacodynamic responses, that is, the effect of drugs on the body (Dong et al., 2020). For example, the variability in 5-FU toxicity is dependent on circadian oscillations in thymidylate synthase activity, its molecular target, and dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase activity (DPD), the rate-limiting enzyme responsible for its elimination. A clinical study found that DPD activity in peripheral blood mononuclear cells showed circadian rhythmicity, with peak activity during the night modulating the time-dependent bioavailability and efficacy of 5-FU (Jacobs et al., 2016). Besides, most of the anticancer drugs show their cytotoxic effects at specific phases of the cell division cycle, which is also under the influence of circadian rhythms. For example, cells in the S-phase are more susceptible to 5-FU and irinotecan. The number of cells in S-phase and in G2/M phase increases by about 50% in the second half of the darkness period, while G0/G1 cells predominate during the light period in the bone marrow tissues in mice (Lee, 2021; Ozturk et al., 2017). Thus, these findings support for timed chemotherapy approaches to coincide with times of high tumor cell vulnerability and low toxicity to normal tissues. Besides chemotherapy, some studies show that chronoradiotherapy used alone or in combination with chemotherapy could represent a promising approach in clinical practice as well (Bermúdez-Guzmán et al., 2021).

Besides nowadays the relevance of circadian time is well known in pharmacology, and the time of treatment administration is not usually considered in clinical practice. The clinical translation of chronotherapy to diseases such as hypertension, arthritis, and asthma is now standard practice (Baraldo, 2008); nonetheless, the history of cancer chronotherapy includes distinct results and some scepticism. Some reasons for inconsistencies regarding this approach are related with differences in methodology of the studies, differences between sexes, chronotypes, environmental

		Chronomodulated		
Therapy	Cancer type	schedule	Main findings	References
5-fluorouracil, leucovorin, and oxaliplatin	Metastatic colorectal	Chronomodulated infusions of 5-fluorouracil and leucovorin from 22:15 to 09:45h with a peak at 04:00 h and oxaliplatin from 10:15 to 21:45 h with a peak at 16:00 h	Overall survival was improved in males on chronomodulated schedule when compared with conventional therapy	Giacchetti et al. (2012)
Radiotherapy	Bone metastases	8:00 a.m.–11:00 a.m. 11:01 a.m.–2:00 p.m. 2:01 p.m.–5:00 p.m. group	Females in the 11:01 a.m. to 2:00 p.m. cohort exhibited a significantly higher response rate	Chan et al. (2017)
Paclitaxel- loaded polymeric nanoparticles	Lung	Administration time points: 0, 5, 10, and 15 h after light onset on mice	Enhanced antitumor effect at 15 h after light onset	Hu et al. (2017a)
Cisplatin combined with radiotherapy	Locoregionally advanced nasopharyngeal	Two cycles of chronomodulated infusion (peak delivery of cisplatin at 16:00 p.m.) or flat intermittent infusion synchronized with radical radiotherapy (in both groups)	Better outcomes for adverse reactions and immune functions on study group but no significant difference in 2-year overall survival	Zhang et al. (2018)
Cisplatin, 5-fluorouracil, and radiotherapy	Nasopharyngeal	Chronomodulated chemotherapy of cisplatin from 10:00 to 22:00 h and 5-fluorouracil from 22:00 to 10:00 h each day for 3 days plus Patients in the routine chemotherapy group received cisplatin infusion within 1 h and 5-FU infusion for about 24 h Total irradiation dose was the same for both groups	Higher overall response in chronomodulated group The incidence rates of leukocytopenia, thrombocytopenia, and nausea/vomiting were significantly lower The incidence of radiation-induced complications was similar in the two groups	Gou et al. (2018)
Temozolomide	Glioblastoma	Morning or evening administration	Patients taking morning TMZ exhibited longer overall survival compared to evening	Damato et al. (2021)

 Table 1
 List of cancer chronotherapy studies
factors, interindividual differences, and clock gene polymorphisms that further impact interaction between host, cancer, and treatment outcomes (Selfridge et al., 2016). To overcome some limitations and make a step toward personalized chrono-therapy, some strategies might include (a) using mathematical models to predict treatment toxicity and optimize the optimal time of drug administration (Hesse et al., 2021), (b) detailed measures of the individual differences in circadian biology and circadian biomarkers to further optimize the potential benefit of chronotherapy for each patient (Crnko et al., 2021), (c) more phase III trials to firmly establish chronotherapy in medical oncology, and ultimately (d) the development of tumor-specific targeted drug delivery systems to diminish side effect on normal tissues. The addition of the dimension of time in medicine might undoubtedly make a tremendous difference in cancer patients' survival.

4 Nanotechnology Applied for Cancer Treatment

Conventional therapies used to fight cancer cause several adverse effects and do not prevent recurrence and drug resistance (Goldman et al., 2016; Briolay et al., 2021). One of the approaches studied in the recent decades is the application of directional therapies using nanoscale delivery systems. Targeted therapies can be used in place of or simultaneously with radiotherapy and chemotherapy to reduce their adverse effects (Cheng et al., 2019). The most common nanocarriers in this type of therapy are micelles, polymers, liposomes, lipids, and peptides (Mitchell et al., 2021). These materials are among the most used due to their physicochemical properties, which allow them to encapsulate and transport a wide variety of biopharmaceuticals and promote their controlled and targeted release (Tang et al., 2021; Levit et al., 2020). Thus, these systems make it possible to reduce the dose of the therapeutic agent and prevent healthy cells from being affected. Furthermore, these delivery systems show good biocompatibility and lack of immune response (Briolay et al., 2021). Figure 3 schematics the most common developed delivery systems for therapeutic payload release in cancer therapy.

Micelles are a set of amphiphilic molecules that form nanoparticles through a self-assembly process. Micelles have been widely used in cancer therapy due to their ability to transport high drug loads and their capacity to deliver drugs with low solubility (Kapare & Metkar, 2020; Croy & Kwon, 2006). One of the characteristics of micelles is that they are easy to handle and can be modified to provide targeted delivery to target tissues. Recent studies demonstrate the efficacy of several carriers based on polymeric micelles applied to cancer treatment. Jeanbart's group developed a nanosystem using an embedded anticancer drug. Thioguanine-loaded polymeric micelle nanoparticles demonstrated a therapeutic effect superior to the use of the drug thioguanine alone, with a reduction of induced tumors in mice models after 2 days of its injection (Jeanbart et al., 2015). Another group used micelles in the formulation of nanocarriers in order to deliver the inhibitor JSI-124 into tumor cells. JSI-124 is an inhibitor of signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3),



Fig. 3 Nanotechnology in cancer: the most commonly investigated nanosystems for the delivery of therapeutic agents toward cancer cells, to improve cancer therapy

involved in the process of cancer tumor progression. These nanoconjugates demonstrated a greater ability to inhibit STAT3 than the use of free drugs (Garg et al., 2017). Another study revealed that the use of linear polyethyleneimine (PEI)-based nano-micelle vectors was able to internalize in ovarian cancer cells, in vivo and in situ. These nanoparticles thus enabled the release of interfering RNA while transforming these cancer cells into efficient antigen-presenting cells that activated tumor-reactive lymphocytes and tumoricidal activity (Cubillos-Ruiz et al., 2009).

Polymers are a class of materials frequently applied to develop suitable delivery systems for the treatment of cancer, namely, synthetic ones. Polyplexes are formed primarily by electrostatic interactions between the positive charges of amine groups from the polymer and the negative charges of nucleic acids (Faria et al., 2019). There is a wide variety of polymers; however, the most used recently are biodegradable polymers that allow targeted and efficient delivery (Din et al., 2017). Another feature that facilitates the study of this type of material is the fact that it can be modified to improve the release of the therapeutic agents it carries. Polymers such as PEI, dendrimers, or poly(N-isopropyl acrylamide)s have demonstrated this potential in recent studies. One study demonstrated the synergistic effect of using an anticancer drug methotrexate (MTX) together with gene therapy using a DNA plasmid containing the p53 tumor suppressor protein gene. The results showed that the therapeutic effect was greater in cells transfected with the MTX-PEI-pDNA vectors than in cells transfected with the PEI-pDNA systems. The effect of the MTX-PEI-pDNA systems was also compared with the effect of free MTX, again showing a greater therapeutic effect in cells transfected with the systems containing the two therapeutic agents. The group led by Costa demonstrated that systems developed based on polymers inhibit uncontrolled cell proliferation in cervical cancer cells (Faria et al., 2019). Another study using polymers in the formulation of nanosystems developed a hydrogel capable of functioning as a dual drug carrier. PNIPAM-co-A nanoinject-able hydrogel demonstrated suitable pH responsiveness, allowing for a controlled and sequential release of drugs in tumor tissues (Xu et al., 2021; Wu et al., 2020).

Peptide-based nanocarriers have been studied for specific cancer cell targeting and payload release. The peptides used are generally short, with less than 30 amino acids that are divided into arginine-rich and amphipathic peptides (Ruseska & Zimmer, 2020). Peptides that allow the introduction of biopharmaceuticals into cells are called cell-penetrating peptides. These peptides are easily synthesized using solid-phase methods, providing space for sequence-specific modifications at the molecular level (Rubert Perez et al., 2015). Another advantage is the fact that they can be easily functionalized to ensure specific targeting. The fact that they selfassemble facilitates the formulation of nanoparticles capable of carrying drugs or nucleic acids toward cancer therapy (Habibi et al., 2016; Wang et al., 2017). Several studies have been conducted using peptides to deliver cancer-fighting drugs. The peptides have demonstrated the ability to encapsulate anticancer drugs such as doxorubicin (Doxil), paclitaxel (PTX), curcumin, and FU. Some of these systems have already been tested in preclinical and clinical trials, revealing that they are safe and biodegradable (Habibi et al., 2016). Different studies demonstrate that peptides used as ligands on the surface of other systems can provide targeting to tumor cells of various cancers (Wang et al., 2017; Jiang et al., 2019; Pearce et al., 2012).

Liposomes can be used as nanocarriers as they form lipid vesicles that allow the encapsulation and delivery of both hydrophobic and hydrophilic drugs. These systems have characteristics such as their biodegradability, reduced toxicity, and low immune response (Hashemzadeh et al., 2020). Liposomes are the most characterized and investigated delivery systems for tumor immunotherapy in medicine. There are several FDA-approved liposomal drugs, encapsulating chemical compounds or nucleic acids such as siRNA (Sousa et al., 2018). Liposomal Doxil was one of the first liposomes approved for therapeutic use (Sousa et al., 2018). More recently, liposomes have been developed that respond to temperature stimuli, which allows drug release specifically in tumor tissues. This kind of strategy makes it possible to increase the therapeutic effect and safeguard normal tissue (Swenson et al., 2015). Another study demonstrated that altering the surface of a liposome with a polymer sensitive to pH variations allowed targeted delivery to the tumor, benefiting from the acidic microenvironment of tumor tissues (Yoshizaki et al., 2014). Other liposomebased systems have demonstrated that they can be an excellent strategy in the fight against cancer (Li et al., 2020). Jia and his team used liposomes to create a system targeting the epidermal growth factor receptor. This receptor is overexpressed in cancer cells, being a desirable target for the delivery of anticancer drugs. This study demonstrated that cisplatin-loaded PEGylated liposome vectors revealed the ability to internalize and accumulate in tumor tissues, leading to increased apoptosis and consequent tumor suppression (Jia et al., 2022).

Lipid-based systems have conquered the interest of researchers due to their high affinity for the intracellular space. These lipids can be liquids or solids at room temperature; however, solid-state systems are the most explored. Easy handling, small size, and cellular absorption are the main properties that make them attractive for therapeutic application (Sezgin-Bayindir et al., 2021; Rehman et al., 2021). Solid lipid nanoparticles (SLN) have been studied for innovative therapies in the treatment of cancer. Studies show that lipid-based systems can be functionalized, namely, with peptides, to display high performance for the treatment of cancer (Hu et al., 2017b; Majidinia et al., 2020). Pearce and coworkers demonstrated that these delivery systems are capable of delivering the drug Doxil to cancer cells (Pearce et al., 2012). Lactoferrin-conjugated lipids were also investigated for the treatment of lung cancer. This conjugated system allowed for a targeted delivery of the drug rifampicin. Lactoferrin-SLN-rifampicin have been shown to be small-sized and surface-charged systems suitable for the transfection of cancer cells (Shilpi et al., 2015). Lipid-based nanosystems have demonstrated their potential and diversity as delivery systems for advanced therapies in cancer treatment (Yang et al., 2020).

In addition to the therapeutic potential, nanotechnology can also be used to investigate diseases. The combination of diagnostic/imaging and therapy approaches is called theranostic (Pant et al., 2017). Nanotheranostics consists of the use of nanoscale systems that allow the simultaneous monitoring of drug release and distribution and the assessment of therapeutic efficacy (Indoria et al., 2020). These nanosystems make it possible to develop individualized therapies suitable for each disease, including cancer (Xie et al., 2010). In recent decades, various systems for theranostics of cancer have emerged (Indoria et al., 2020). Its development arose from the need to find more efficient therapies with fewer adverse effects than conventional therapies, thus realizing a more personalized therapy. Another advantage of these systems is that they allow the identification of metastases, improving their detection in relation to conventional diagnostic techniques (Choi et al., 2012; Ali et al., 2020). Efficient targeting of theranostic nanoparticles to the tumor site is critical for both diagnosis and therapy, with the use of targeting ligands being crucial to recognize and selectively bind to receptors that are overexpressed on certain tumor cells (Chen & Cai, 2014; Chen et al., 2014).

A recent study has shown that the use of HER2-targeted magnetic iron oxide nanoparticles carrying cisplatin made it possible to reduce not only the growth of the primary tumor but also of peritoneal metastases (Satpathy et al., 2019). The nanoparticles created by Satpathy's group also showed good retention in tumor tissues, allowing the identification of residual resistant tumors by in vivo molecular imaging and histological analysis of the tumor tissues (Satpathy et al., 2019). The work developed by Revia's group demonstrated that the formulation of iron oxide and gold core drug delivery vehicles can deliver RNAi with the aim of silencing genes involved in cell proliferation and consequent uncontrolled cell growth. These nanoparticles can also be modified and functionalized with polymers to avoid recognition by the innate immune system, thus allowing greater fixation of these systems in tumors and providing a more efficient delivery of therapeutic agents and optical imaging probes (Revia et al., 2019). The fact that these nanoparticles have metallic cores allows their tracking inside the organism. Systems with iron oxide

imaging technique. Gold nanoparticles can be used as a contrast agent in photoacoustic and X-ray CT imaging. The ability to track these systems brings diagnostic information by locating tumor tissues. These systems work as theranostic agents, enabling a tracking of biodistribution and delivery of drugs at the same time that they work as a diagnostic method and therapeutic agent (Revia et al., 2019). Other theranostic systems have been developed to be applied in the treatment and detection of different tumors. For the theranostics of liver and brain cancers, a study reveals that the use of chitosan-Cy-5.5 systems enhances the ability to detect this type of tumors while providing antitumor activity, with low nonspecific uptake by normal cells. The use of near-infrared fluorescent allowed to visualize the location of the tumors, while the encapsulation of the anticancer drug PTX by the chitosan allowed that its toxic effect was less than the drug administered freely (Kim et al., 2010). Several works have focused on the theranostics for breast cancer (Hou et al., 2011; Liu et al., 2012; Zheng et al., 2012). Hou focused on detecting cancer cells that overexpress the folate receptor. Formulated PCMS-NA-FA nanoparticles included folic acid (FA) and 8-naphthalimide (NA). It confirmed that these systems showed greater cellular uptake in cancer cells such as HeLa cells and could function as detection agents (Hou et al., 2011). Peptide-based systems have also been used in breast cancer theranostics. Liu and her group demonstrated that using mPEG-PLGA-PLL nanoparticles was able to encapsulate and deliver an imaging agent (rhodamine) and an anticancer drug mitoxantrone both in cells in vitro and in in vivo models (Liu et al., 2012). Another study showed that the use of lipid-based nanovectors made it possible to overcome difficulties in the use of the fluorescent agent Indocyanine green (ICG), a fluorescent compound with wide biological applications. The systems demonstrated significant stability against photobleaching and long circulation time, superior to free ICG. In vivo studies have demonstrated their specific targeting to cancer cells, being able to be used as a diagnostic agent and targeted imaging (Zheng et al., 2012). Guan and his work group created PLGA-4arm-PEG-IR-140/Nile red nanoparticles for theranostic pancreas carcinoma. Cells transfected with these systems showed higher levels of p53, Bax, and caspase-3 than non-transfected cells after 48 h, which may mean greater activation of the mitochondrial pathway of apoptosis (Guan et al., 2012). Nanotheranostics is a promising field for the development of new treatment and diagnosis methodologies for various diseases, which may replace or complement conventional methods. This area opens a route of possibilities for the design/development of advanced and high-performance nano delivery systems to be applied in cancer therapy.

5 Chronotherapy and Nanotechnology

As mentioned above, conventional therapeutic approaches could be improved for better bioavailability and target delivery on the tumor site to minimizing adverse effects on healthy noncancerous cells. Over the last years, new findings on cancer chronotherapy also encouraged the development of novel chronodrug delivery systems (ChrDD) intended for chronotherapy application by different routes of administration (Youan, 2010; Ozturk et al., 2017). Drug delivery systems have the potential of increasing drug bioavailability per se, releasing a bioactive molecule at a specific site with a specific delivery rate (Ketabat et al., 2019), but timing in vivo drug administration to match circadian rhythms of disease is expected to enhance even more therapeutic outcomes. Besides, ChrDD could also reduce treatment duration, nursing intervention, and healthcare expenses.

Innovative technologies for chronomodulated drug delivery used in some clinical trials include external electronic programmable pumps. MelodieTM is a programmable pump that was used before in clinical trials for the delivery of irinotecan, oxaliplatin, and 5-FU into the central vein of metastatic colorectal cancer patients (Ortiz-Tudela et al., 2016). Recently it was used for the delivery of three anticancer drugs into the hepatic artery of colorectal cancer patients with extensive liver metastases (Lévi et al., 2017). However, this system showed some inconsistencies regarding programmed delivery schedules and observed drug concentration within the patient blood. A more attractive approach is the combination of chronobiology with nanotechnology, allowing the delivery of anticancer drugs and/or therapeutic genes to overcome the limitations of current methods. However, very few studies consider the influence of circadian rhythms in the effectiveness of nanocarriers systems. To the best of our knowledge, the first study to consider the effect of time explored the influence of chronobiology on the processes of nanoparticle uptake and transport into the brain (Kreuter, 2015). Nanoparticles were loaded with the analgesic drug dalargin and then injected in mice. The pain reaction of mice was significantly influenced by the time of the day of intravenous administration. The difference between the daytime and nighttime effects was over 20% with best results during the morning time, showing that the outcome of results concerning the drug transport across the blood-brain barrier using nanoparticles significantly depends on the time of day of the experiments.

Concerning cancer treatment, we report two recent studies in this matter. In the first, the antitumor effect of PTX-loaded polymeric nanoparticles (PTX-NPs) combined with circadian chronomodulated chemotherapy in xenografted human lung cancer was tested to screen out to optimum time for the drug delivery (Hu et al., 2017a). PTX-NP cytotoxicity on cancer cells was proven to be affected by the different administration times, which was the best at 15 h after light onset. The expression of two proliferation and angiogenesis markers was lowest at that time point, as the number of apoptotic cells, suggesting a significant antitumor efficacy.

More recently, a study intended to explore the effect of circadian rhythm in the performance of nanoparticles for drug and gene delivery to cancer cells (Albuquerque et al., 2022). The researchers used PEI to encapsulate the anticancer drug MTX and a p53 encoded plasmid DNA (pDNA) and performed transfection at six different time points. In this preliminary study, cell uptake, internalization, and efficacy of transfection were compared during 24 h by means of quantification of cell associated MTX fluorescence and p53 protein expression. High levels of MTX were found

in cancer cells at some specific time points, indicating a possible effect of circadian regulation in nanoparticle internalization. Additionally, high levels of p53 were observed for the same time points at which MTX was more abundant. Moreover, a comparative study was performed on a noncancer cell line, human fibroblasts (Albuquerque et al., 2022). Although poor levels of MTX and p53 protein were found, results also indicated rhythmicity, demonstrating the influence of circadian rhythm on both cancer cells targeting ability and transfection performance. Altogether, these results unravel some mechanisms underlying the effect of circadian rhythm in the performance of nano-based delivery systems. The combination of chronobiology with nanotechnology represents a novel step toward the progress in cancer therapy, and hopefully, these results will stimulate additional investigation on this topic.

6 Conclusions

For centuries, the subject of chronobiology was limited to the study of circadian rhythm in plants. Only during the last decades, the research has been extended to include animals and human beings. Nowadays, chronobiology has emerged as a new, multidisciplinary, and exciting field. Now that the molecular mechanisms of circadian clocks are better understood, the bidirectional relationship between circadian rhythms and heath can no longer be disregarded. In mammals, molecular clocks are present in practically all tissues influencing a wide range of physiological and metabolic functions. Circadian clock genes play roles in the control of the cell cycle, DNA repair mechanisms, and expression of tumor suppressor genes. Thus, the abnormal expression of circadian clock genes and dysregulation of circadian rhythms by environmental factors trigger oncogenic signaling pathways. A long account of research on animal models and human tumor samples revealed that the dysregulation of circadian rhythms is a causing factor for cancer development. Moreover, it was found that some cancers "live" by the clock. The integration of this finding gave rise to a new concept for treating cancer according to biological rhythms, termed chronotherapy. As conventional cancer therapies still hold some limitations, the integration of chronotherapy in clinical practice is seen as a tool to improve therapeutic effect while reducing toxicity. Nanotechnology has also been explored in cancer research. The design and development of suitable drug delivery systems could also improve cancer therapies. In fact, the optimal cancer therapy should depend upon delivery of a drug at the right time, to the right target, and in the right amount. The combination of chronotherapy with nanotechnology could overpass the current limitations of conventional treatment.

Nonetheless, although promising, chronotherapy has still been maintained in the fringes of clinical practice. For chronotherapy to be viable in clinical setting, one must consider the many factors influencing clinical outcomes. Age, genetic variations, sex, and environmental factors are determinant points of an individual's chronotype and are of extreme importance when discussing personalized medicine.

Additionally, only recently, studies focused on the investigation of the influence of the circadian system on the therapeutic effect of drug delivery systems. Current works still disregard the involvement of circadian system on processes concerning the application of nano delivery systems, such as cell uptake, internalization of the nanocarrier, mechanism of action, and the induced therapeutic effect. More solid data are mandatory to bring more enlightening into this promising field. The bridge between chronobiology and nanotechnology might certainly have a great impact in personalized cancer treatment.

References

- Albuquerque, T., Neves, A. R., Quintela, T., & Costa, D. (2021). Exploring the link between chronobiology and drug delivery: Effects on cancer therapy. *Journal of Molecular Medicine*, 99, 1349–1371.
- Albuquerque, T., Neves, A. R., Quintela, T., & Costa, D. (2022). The influence of circadian rhythm on cancer cells targeting and transfection efficiency of a polycation-drug/gene delivery vector. *Polymers*, *14*, 681.
- Ali, I., Alsehli, M., Scotti, L., Tullius Scotti, M., Tsai, S. T., Yu, R. S., Hsieh, M. F., & Chen, J. C. (2020). Progress in polymeric nano-medicines for theranostic cancer treatment. *Polymers* (*Basel*), 12(3), 598.
- Ansermet, C., Centeno, G., Bignon, Y., Ortiz, D., Pradervand, S., Garcia, A., Menin, L., Gachon, F., Yoshihara, H. A. I., & Firsov, D. (2021). Dysfunction of the circadian clock in the kidney tubule leads to enhanced kidney gluconeogenesis and exacerbated hyperglycemia in diabetes. *Kidney International*, 101(3), 563–573.
- Awad, K., Serban, M. C., Penson, P., Mikhailidis, D. P., Toth, P. P., Jones, S. R., Rizzo, M., Howard, G., Lip, G. Y. H., & Banach, M. (2017). Effects of morning vs evening statin administration on lipid profile: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Clinical Lipidology*, 11, 972–985.e9.
- Ayyar, V. S., & Sukumaran, S. (2021). Circadian rhythms: Influence on physiology, pharmacology, and therapeutic interventions. *Journal of Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics*, 48, 321–338.
- Baraldo, M. (2008). The influence of circadian rhythms on the kinetics of drugs in humans. *Expert Opinion on Drug Metabolism & Toxicology*, 4, 175–192.
- Barbosa Vieira, T. K., Jurema Da Rocha Leão, M., Pereira, L. X., Alves Da Silva, L. C., Pereira Da Paz, B. B., Santos Ferreira, R. J., Feitoza, C. C., Fernandes Duarte, A. K., Barros Ferreira Rodrigues, A. K., Cavalcanti De Queiroz, A., Fireman De Farias, K., Del Vechio Koike, B., De Sales Marques, C., & Alberto De Carvalho Fraga, C. (2021). Correlation between circadian rhythm related genes, type 2 diabetes, and cancer: Insights from metanalysis of transcriptomics data. *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology*, 526, 111214.
- Baron, K. G., & Reid, K. J. (2014). Circadian misalignment and health. *International Review of Psychiatry*, 26, 139–154.
- Bermúdez-Guzmán, L., Blanco-Saborío, A., Ramírez-Zamora, J., & Lovo, E. (2021). The time for chronotherapy in radiation oncology. *Frontiers in Oncology*, 11, 687672.
- Bhadra, U., Thakkar, N., Das, P., & Pal Bhadra, M. (2017). Evolution of circadian rhythms: From bacteria to human. *Sleep Medicine*, *35*, 49–61.
- Bishehsari, F., Engen, P. A., Voigt, R. M., Swanson, G., Shaikh, M., Wilber, S., Naqib, A., Green, S. J., Shetuni, B., Forsyth, C. B., Saadalla, A., Osman, A., Hamaker, B. R., Keshavarzian, A., & Khazaie, K. (2020). Abnormal eating patterns cause circadian disruption and promote alcohol-

associated colon carcinogenesis. Cellular and Molecular Gastroenterology and Hepatology, 9, 219–237.

- Briolay, T., Petithomme, T., Fouet, M., Nguyen-Pham, N., Blanquart, C., & Boisgerault, N. (2021). Delivery of cancer therapies by synthetic and bio-inspired nanovectors. *Molecular Cancer*, 20, 55.
- Buhr, E. D., & Takahashi, J. S. (2013). Molecular components of the Mammalian circadian clock. Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology, 3–27.
- Carter, B. L., Chrischilles, E. A., Rosenthal, G., Gryzlak, B. M., Eisenstein, E. L., & Vander Weg, M. W. (2014). Efficacy and safety of nighttime dosing of antihypertensives: Review of the literature and design of a pragmatic clinical trial. *Journal of Clinical Hypertension (Greenwich, Conn.)*, 16, 115–121.
- Chan, S., Zhang, L., Rowbottom, L., Mcdonald, R., Bjarnason, G. A., Tsao, M., Barnes, E., Danjoux, C., Popovic, M., Lam, H., Deangelis, C., & Chow, E. (2017). Effects of circadian rhythms and treatment times on the response of radiotherapy for painful bone metastases. *Annals of Palliative Medicine*, 6, 14–25.
- Chen, F., & Cai, W. (2014). Tumor vasculature targeting: A generally applicable approach for functionalized nanomaterials. *Small*, 10, 1887–1893.
- Chen, F., Ehlerding, E. B., & Cai, W. (2014). Theranostic nanoparticles. *Journal of Nuclear Medicine*, 55, 1919–1922.
- Cheng, C. T., Castro, G., Liu, C. H., & Lau, P. (2019). Advanced nanotechnology: An arsenal to enhance immunotherapy in fighting cancer. *Clinica Chimica Acta*, 492, 12–19.
- Choi, K. Y., Liu, G., Lee, S., & Chen, X. (2012). Theranostic nanoplatforms for simultaneous cancer imaging and therapy: Current approaches and future perspectives. *Nanoscale*, 4, 330–342.
- Cordina-Duverger, E., Menegaux, F., Popa, A., Rabstein, S., Harth, V., Pesch, B., Brüning, T., Fritschi, L., Glass, D. C., Heyworth, J. S., Erren, T. C., Castaño-Vinyals, G., Papantoniou, K., Espinosa, A., Kogevinas, M., Grundy, A., Spinelli, J. J., Aronson, K. J., & Guénel, P. (2018). Night shift work and breast cancer: A pooled analysis of population-based case–control studies with complete work history. *European Journal of Epidemiology*, 33, 369–379.
- Crnko, S., Schutte, H., Doevendans, P. A., Sluijter, J. P. G., & van Laake, L. W. (2021). Minimally invasive ways of determining circadian rhythms in humans. *Physiology (Bethesda)*, 36, 7–20.
- Croy, S. R., & Kwon, G. S. (2006). Polymeric micelles for drug delivery. *Current Pharmaceutical Design*, 12, 4669–4684.
- Cubillos-Ruiz, J. R., Engle, X., Scarlett, U. K., Martinez, D., Barber, A., Elgueta, R., Wang, L., Nesbeth, Y., Durant, Y., Gewirtz, A. T., Sentman, C. L., Kedl, R., & Conejo-Garcia, J. R. (2009). Polyethylenimine-based siRNA nanocomplexes reprogram tumor-associated dendritic cells via TLR5 to elicit therapeutic antitumor immunity. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 119, 2231–2244.
- Damato, A. R., & Herzog, E. D. (2021). Circadian clock synchrony and chronotherapy opportunities in cancer treatment. Seminars in Cell & Developmental Biology., 126, 27.
- Damato, A. R., Luo, J., Katumba, R. G. N., Talcott, G. R., Rubin, J. B., Herzog, E. D., & Campian, J. L. (2021). Temozolomide chronotherapy in patients with glioblastoma: A retrospective single-institute study. *Neuro-Oncology Advances*, 3(1), vdab041.
- Dickerman, B. A., Markt, S. C., Koskenvuo, M., Hublin, C., Pukkala, E., Mucci, L. A., & Kaprio, J. (2016). Sleep disruption, chronotype, shift work, and prostate cancer risk and mortality: A 30-year prospective cohort study of Finnish twins. *Cancer Causes & Control*, 27, 1361–1370.
- Din, F. U., Aman, W., Ullah, I., Qureshi, O. S., Mustapha, O., Shafique, S., & Zeb, A. (2017). Effective use of nanocarriers as drug delivery systems for the treatment of selected tumors. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 12, 7291–7309.
- Dong, D., Yang, D., Lin, L., Wang, S., & Wu, B. (2020). Circadian rhythm in pharmacokinetics and its relevance to chronotherapy. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 178, 114045.
- El Cheikh Hussein, L., Mollard, P., & Bonnefont, X. (2019). Molecular and cellular networks in the suprachiasmatic nuclei. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 20, 2052.

- El-Athman, R., Fuhr, L., & Relógio, A. (2018). A systems-level analysis reveals circadian regulation of splicing in colorectal cancer. *eBioMedicine*, 33, 68–81.
- Faria, R., Sousa, Â., Neves, A. R., Queiroz, J. A., & Costa, D. (2019). Methotrexate-plasmid DNA polyplexes for cancer therapy: Characterization, cancer cell targeting ability and tuned in vitro transfection. *Journal of Molecular Liquids*, 292, 111391.
- Finger, A.-M., & Kramer, A. (2021). Mammalian circadian systems: Organization and modern life challenges. Acta Physiologica, 231, e13548.
- Fu, L., & Kettner, N. M. (2013). The circadian clock in cancer development and therapy. Progress in Molecular Biology and Translational Science, 119, 221–282.
- Garg, S. M., Vakili, M. R., Molavi, O., & Lavasanifar, A. (2017). Self-associating poly(ethylene oxide)-block-poly(alpha-carboxyl-epsilon-caprolactone) drug conjugates for the delivery of STAT3 inhibitor JSI-124: Potential application in cancer immunotherapy. *Molecular Pharmaceutics*, 14, 2570–2584.
- Giacchetti, S., Dugué, P. A., Innominato, P. F., Bjarnason, G. A., Focan, C., Garufi, C., Tumolo, S., Coudert, B., Iacobelli, S., Smaaland, R., Tampellini, M., Adam, R., Moreau, T., & Lévi, F. (2012). Sex moderates circadian chemotherapy effects on survival of patients with metastatic colorectal cancer: A meta-analysis. *Annals of Oncology*, 23, 3110–3116.
- Goldman, A., Kulkarni, A., Kohandel, M., Pandey, P., Rao, P., Natarajan, S. K., Sabbisetti, V., & Sengupta, S. (2016). Rationally designed 2-in-1 nanoparticles can overcome adaptive resistance in cancer. ACS Nano, 10, 5823–5834.
- Gou, X. X., Jin, F., Wu, W. L., Long, J. H., Li, Y. Y., Gong, X. Y., Chen, G. Y., Chen, X. X., & Liu, L. N. (2018). Induction chronomodulated chemotherapy plus radiotherapy for nasopharyngeal carcinoma: A Phase II prospective randomized study. *Journal of Cancer Research and Therapeutics*, 14, 1613–1619.
- Grosbellet, E., & Challet, E. (2017). Chapter 38: Central and peripheral circadian clocks. In M. Kryger, T. Roth, & W. C. Dement (Eds.), *Principles and practice of sleep medicine* (6th ed.). Elsevier.
- Guan, Y.-Q., Zheng, Z., Liang, L., Li, Z., Zhang, L., Du, J., & Liu, J.-M. (2012). The apoptosis of OVCAR-3 induced by TNF-α plus IFN-γ co-immobilized polylactic acid copolymers. *Journal* of Materials Chemistry, 22(29), 14746.
- Habibi, N., Kamaly, N., Memic, A., & Shafiee, H. (2016). Self-assembled peptide-based nanostructures: Smart nanomaterials toward targeted drug delivery. *Nano Today*, 11, 41–60.
- Halberg, F., Prem, K., Halberg, F., Norman, C., & Cornélissen, G. (2006). Cancer chronomics I. Origins of timed cancer treatment: Early marker rhythm-guided individualized chronochemotherapy. *Journal of Experimental Therapeutics & Oncology*, 6, 55–61.
- Hashemzadeh, H., Javadi, H., & Darvishi, M. H. (2020). Study of Structural stability and formation mechanisms in DSPC and DPSM liposomes: A coarse-grained molecular dynamics simulation. *Scientific Reports*, 10, 1837.
- Hastings, M. H., Smyllie, N. J., & Patton, A. P. (2020). Molecular-genetic manipulation of the suprachiasmatic nucleus circadian clock. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, 432, 3639–3660.
- Hesse, J., Martinelli, J., Aboumanify, O., Ballesta, A., & Relógio, A. (2021). A mathematical model of the circadian clock and drug pharmacology to optimize irinotecan administration timing in colorectal cancer. *Computational and Structural Biotechnology Journal*, 19, 5170–5183.
- Hou, J., Zhang, Q., Li, X., Tang, Y., Cao, M. R., Bai, F., Shi, Q., Yang, C. H., Kong, D. L., & Bai, G. (2011). Synthesis of novel folate conjugated fluorescent nanoparticles for tumor imaging. *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research. Part A*, 99, 684–689.
- Hu, J., Fu, S., Peng, Q., Han, Y., Xie, J., Zan, N., Chen, Y., & Fan, J. (2017a). Paclitaxel-loaded polymeric nanoparticles combined with chronomodulated chemotherapy on lung cancer: In vitro and in vivo evaluation. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 516, 313–322.
- Hu, J. B., Song, G. L., Liu, D., Li, S. J., Wu, J. H., Kang, X. Q., Qi, J., Jin, F. Y., Wang, X. J., Xu, X. L., Ying, X. Y., Yu, L., You, J., & Du, Y. Z. (2017b). Sialic acid-modified solid lipid nanoparticles as vascular endothelium-targeting carriers for ischemia-reperfusion-induced acute renal injury. *Drug Delivery*, 24, 1856–1867.

- Indoria, S., Singh, V., & Hsieh, M. F. (2020). Recent advances in theranostic polymeric nanoparticles for cancer treatment: A review. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 582, 119314.
- Innominato, P. F., Roche, V. P., Palesh, O. G., Ulusakarya, A., Spiegel, D., & Lévi, F. A. (2014). The circadian timing system in clinical oncology. *Annals of Medicine*, 46, 191–207.
- Innominato, P. F., Karaboué, A., Focan, C., Chollet, P., Giacchetti, S., Bouchahda, M., Ulusakarya, A., Torsello, A., Adam, R., Lévi, F. A., & Garufi, C. (2020). Efficacy and safety of chronomodulated irinotecan, oxaliplatin, 5-fluorouracil and leucovorin combination as first- or second-line treatment against metastatic colorectal cancer: Results from the International EORTC 05011 Trial. *International Journal of Cancer*, 148, 2512–2521.
- Jacobs, B. A. W., Deenen, M. J., Pluim, D., Van Hasselt, J. G. C., Krähenbühl, M. D., Van Geel, R. M. J. M., De Vries, N., Rosing, H., Meulendijks, D., Burylo, A. M., Cats, A., Beijnen, J. H., Huitema, A. D. R., & Schellens, J. H. M. (2016). Pronounced between-subject and circadian variability in thymidylate synthase and dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase enzyme activity in human volunteers. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 82, 706–716.
- Jeanbart, L., Kourtis, I. C., Van Der Vlies, A. J., Swartz, M. A., & Hubbell, J. A. (2015). 6-Thioguanine-loaded polymeric micelles deplete myeloid-derived suppressor cells and enhance the efficacy of T cell immunotherapy in tumor-bearing mice. *Cancer Immunology, Immunotherapy*, 64, 1033–1046.
- Jia, D., Wang, F., Yang, Y., Hu, P., Song, H., Lu, Y., Wang, R., Li, G., Liu, R., Li, J., & Yuan, F. (2022). Coupling EGFR-antagonistic affibody enhanced therapeutic effects of cisplatin liposomes in EGFR-expressing tumor models. *Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 111, 450–457.
- Jiang, Z., Guan, J., Qian, J., & Zhan, C. (2019). Peptide ligand-mediated targeted drug delivery of nanomedicines. *Biomaterials Science*, 7, 461–471.
- Kapare, H. S., & Metkar, S. R. (2020). Micellar drug delivery system: A review. *Pharmaceutical Resonance*, 2(2), 21–26.
- Kelly, R. M., Finn, J., Healy, U., Gallen, D., Sreenan, S., Mcdermott, J. H., & Coogan, A. N. (2020). Greater social jetlag associates with higher HbA1c in adults with type 2 diabetes: A cross sectional study. *Sleep Medicine*, 66, 1–9.
- Ketabat, F., Pundir, M., Mohabatpour, F., Lobanova, L., Koutsopoulos, S., Hadjiiski, L., Chen, X., Papagerakis, P., & Papagerakis, S. (2019). Controlled drug delivery systems for oral cancer treatment-current status and future perspectives. *Pharmaceutics*, 11(7), 302.
- Kiessling, S., & Cermakian, N. (2017). The tumor circadian clock: A new target for cancer therapy? *Future Oncology*, 13, 2607–2610.
- Kim, K., Kim, J. H., Park, H., Kim, Y. S., Park, K., Nam, H., Lee, S., Park, J. H., Park, R. W., Kim, I. S., Choi, K., Kim, S. Y., Park, K., & Kwon, I. C. (2010). Tumor-homing multifunctional nanoparticles for cancer theragnosis: Simultaneous diagnosis, drug delivery, and therapeutic monitoring. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 146, 219–227.
- Kogevinas, M., Espinosa, A., Castelló, A., Gómez-Acebo, I., Guevara, M., Martin, V., Amiano, P., Alguacil, J., Peiro, R., Moreno, V., Costas, L., Fernández-Tardón, G., Jimenez, J. J., Marcos-Gragera, R., Perez-Gomez, B., Llorca, J., Moreno-Iribas, C., Fernández-Villa, T., Oribe, M., Aragones, N., Papantoniou, K., Pollán, M., Castano-Vinyals, G., & Romaguera, D. (2018). Effect of mistimed eating patterns on breast and prostate cancer risk (MCC-Spain Study). *International Journal of Cancer, 143*, 2380–2389.
- Korenčič, A., Košir, R., Bordyugov, G., Lehmann, R., Rozman, D., & Herzel, H. (2014). Timing of circadian genes in mammalian tissues. *Scientific Reports*, 4, 5782.
- Kreuter, J. (2015). Influence of chronobiology on the nanoparticle-mediated drug uptake into the brain. *Pharmaceutics*, 7, 3–9.
- Kwon, Y.-J., Seo, E.-B., Kwon, S.-H., Lee, S.-H., Kim, S.-K., Park, S. K., Kim, K., Park, S., Park, I.-C., Park, J.-W., & Ye, S.-K. (2020). Extracellular acidosis promotes metastatic potency via decrease of the BMAL1 circadian clock gene in breast cancer. *Cell*, 9, 989.
- Lee, Y. (2021). Roles of circadian clocks in cancer pathogenesis and treatment. *Experimental & Molecular Medicine*, 53, 1529–1538.

- Lee, Y., Lahens, N. F., Zhang, S., Bedont, J., Field, J. M., & Sehgal, A. (2019). G1/S cell cycle regulators mediate effects of circadian dysregulation on tumor growth and provide targets for timed anticancer treatment. *PLoS Biology*, 17, e3000228.
- Legates, T. A., Fernandez, D. C., & Hattar, S. (2014). Light as a central modulator of circadian rhythms, sleep and affect. *Nature Reviews. Neuroscience*, 15, 443–454.
- Lellupitiyage Don, S. S., Lin, H. H., Furtado, J. J., Qraitem, M., Taylor, S. R., & Farkas, M. E. (2019). Circadian oscillations persist in low malignancy breast cancer cells. *Cell Cycle*, 18, 2447–2453.
- Lesicka, M., Jabłońska, E., Wieczorek, E., Seroczyńska, B., Siekierzycka, A., Skokowski, J., Kalinowski, L., Wąsowicz, W., & Reszka, E. (2018). Altered circadian genes expression in breast cancer tissue according to the clinical characteristics. *PLoS One*, 13, e0199622.
- Leung, L., Grundy, A., Siemiatycki, J., Arseneau, J., Gilbert, L., Gotlieb, W. H., Provencher, D. M., Aronson, K. J., & Koushik, A. (2019). Shift work patterns, chronotype, and epithelial ovarian cancer risk. *Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers & Prevention*, 28, 987–995.
- Lévi, F., Karaboué, A., Etienne-Grimaldi, M. C., Paintaud, G., Focan, C., Innominato, P., Bouchahda, M., Milano, G., & Chatelut, E. (2017). Pharmacokinetics of irinotecan, oxaliplatin and 5-fluorouracil during hepatic artery chronomodulated infusion: A translational European OPTILIV study. *Clinical Pharmacokinetics*, 56, 165–177.
- Levit, M., Zashikhina, N., Vdovchenko, A., Dobrodumov, A., Zakharova, N., Kashina, A., Ruhl, E., Lavrentieva, A., Scheper, T., Tennikova, T., & Korzhikova-Vlakh, E. (2020). Bio-inspired amphiphilic block-copolymers based on synthetic glycopolymer and poly(amino acid) as potential drug delivery systems. *Polymers (Basel)*, 12(1), 183.
- Li, H.-X. (2019). The role of circadian clock genes in tumors. *Oncotargets and Therapy*, 12, 3645–3660.
- Li, Y., Cong, H., Wang, S., Yu, B., & Shen, Y. (2020). Liposomes modified with bio-substances for cancer treatment. *Biomaterials Science*, 8, 6442–6468.
- Liu, P., Qin, L., Wang, Q., Sun, Y., Zhu, M., Shen, M., & Duan, Y. (2012). cRGD-functionalized mPEG-PLGA-PLL nanoparticles for imaging and therapy of breast cancer. *Biomaterials*, 33, 6739–6747.
- Liu, J.-L., Wang, C.-Y., Cheng, T.-Y., Rixiati, Y., Ji, C., Deng, M., Yao, S., Yuan, L.-H., Zhao, Y.-Y., Shen, T., & Li, J.-M. (2021). Circadian clock disruption suppresses PDL1+ intraepithelial B cells in experimental colitis and colitis-associated colorectal cancer. *Cellular and Molecular Gastroenterology and Hepatology*, 12, 251–276.
- Lodhi, S., Smith, J. A., Satia, I., Holt, K. J., Maidstone, R. J., & Durrington, H. J. (2019). Cough rhythms in asthma: Potential implication for management. *The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology. In Practice*, 7, 2024–2027.
- Majidinia, M., Mirza-Aghazadeh-Attari, M., Rahimi, M., Mihanfar, A., Karimian, A., Safa, A., & Yousefi, B. (2020). Overcoming multidrug resistance in cancer: Recent progress in nanotechnology and new horizons. *IUBMB Life*, 72, 855–871.
- Mansoori, B., Mohammadi, A., Davudian, S., Shirjang, S., & Baradaran, B. (2017). The different mechanisms of cancer drug resistance: A brief review. *Advanced Pharmaceutical Bulletin*, 7, 339–348.
- Mitchell, M. J., Billingsley, M. M., Haley, R. M., Wechsler, M. E., Peppas, N. A., & Langer, R. (2021). Engineering precision nanoparticles for drug delivery. *Nature Reviews. Drug Discovery*, 20, 101–124.
- Mocellin, S., Tropea, S., Benna, C., & Rossi, C. R. (2018). Circadian pathway genetic variation and cancer risk: Evidence from genome-wide association studies. *BMC Medicine*, 16, 20.
- Mohawk, J. A., Green, C. B., & Takahashi, J. S. (2012). Central and peripheral circadian clocks in mammals. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, 35, 445–462.
- Morgan, M. N., Dvuchbabny, S., Martinez, C. A., Kerr, B., Cistulli, P. A., & Cook, K. M. (2019). The cancer clock is (not) ticking: Links between circadian rhythms and cancer. *Clocks & Sleep*, 1, 435–458.

- Nguyen, C., Murray, G., Anderson, S., Filipowicz, A., & Ingram, K. K. (2019). In vivo molecular chronotyping, circadian misalignment, and high rates of depression in young adults. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 250, 425–431.
- Obayashi, K., Saeki, K., Yamagami, Y., Kurumatani, N., Sugie, K., & Kataoka, H. (2021). Circadian activity rhythm in Parkinson's disease: Findings from the PHASE study. *Sleep Medicine*, 85, 8–14.
- Onat, O. E., Kars, M. E., Gül, Ş., Bilguvar, K., Wu, Y., Özhan, A., AydıN, C., Başak, A. N., Trusso, M. A., Goracci, A., Fallerini, C., Renieri, A., Casanova, J.-L., Itan, Y., Atbaşoğlu, C. E., Saka, M. C., Kavaklı, İ. H., & Özçelik, T. (2020). Human CRY1 variants associate with attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 130, 3885–3900.
- Ortiz-Tudela, E., Innominato, P. F., Rol, M. A., Lévi, F., & Madrid, J. A. (2016). Relevance of internal time and circadian robustness for cancer patients. *BMC Cancer*, 16, 285.
- Oster, H., Challet, E., Ott, V., Arvat, E., de Kloet, E. R., Dijk, D.-J., Lightman, S., Vgontzas, A., & Van Cauter, E. (2016). The functional and clinical significance of the 24-hour rhythm of circulating glucocorticoids. *Endocrine Reviews*, 38, 3–45.
- Ozturk, N., Ozturk, D., Kavakli, I. H., & Okyar, A. (2017). Molecular aspects of circadian pharmacology and relevance for cancer chronotherapy. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 18, 2168.
- Palagini, L., Cipollone, G., Moretto, U., Masci, I., Tripodi, B., Caruso, D., & Perugi, G. (2019). Chronobiological dis-rhythmicity is related to emotion dysregulation and suicidality in depressive bipolar II disorder with mixed features. *Psychiatry Research*, 271, 272–278.
- Pant, K., Sedlacek, O., Nadar, R. A., Hruby, M., & Stephan, H. (2017). Radiolabelled polymeric materials for imaging and treatment of cancer: Quo vadis? *Advanced Healthcare Materials*, 6(6), 1601115.
- Papantoniou, K., Devore, E. E., Massa, J., Strohmaier, S., Vetter, C., Yang, L., Shi, Y., Giovannucci, E., Speizer, F., & Schernhammer, E. S. (2018). Rotating night shift work and colorectal cancer risk in the nurses' health studies. *International Journal of Cancer*, 143, 2709–2717.
- Patke, A., Murphy, P. J., Onat, O. E., Krieger, A. C., Özçelik, T., Campbell, S. S., & Young, M. W. (2017). Mutation of the human circadian clock gene CRY1 in familial delayed sleep phase disorder. *Cell*, 169, 203–215.e13.
- Pearce, T. R., Shroff, K., & Kokkoli, E. (2012). Peptide targeted lipid nanoparticles for anticancer drug delivery. Advanced Materials, 24, 3803–3822, 3710.
- Pham, T. T., Lee, E. S., Kong, S. Y., Kim, J., Kim, S. Y., Joo, J., Yoon, K. A., & Park, B. (2019). Night-shift work, circadian and melatonin pathway related genes and their interaction on breast cancer risk: Evidence from a case-control study in Korean women. *Scientific Reports*, 9, 10982.
- Pickel, L., & Sung, H. K. (2020). Feeding rhythms and the circadian regulation of metabolism. *Frontiers in Nutrition*, 7, 39.
- Quante, M., Mariani, S., Weng, J., Marinac, C. R., Kaplan, E. R., Rueschman, M., Mitchell, J. A., James, P., Hipp, J. A., Cespedes Feliciano, E. M., Wang, R., & Redline, S. (2019). Zeitgebers and their association with rest-activity patterns. *Chronobiology International*, 36, 203–213.
- Razi Soofiyani, S., Ahangari, H., Soleimanian, A., Babaei, G., Ghasemnejad, T., Safavi, S. E., Eyvazi, S., & Tarhriz, V. (2021). The role of circadian genes in the pathogenesis of colorectal cancer. *Gene*, 804, 145894.
- Rehman, S., Nabi, B., Baboota, S., & Ali, J. (2021). Tailoring lipid nanoconstructs for the oral delivery of paliperidone: Formulation, optimization and in vitro evaluation. *Chemistry and Physics of Lipids*, 234, 105005.
- Reszka, E., & Zienolddiny, S. (2018). Epigenetic basis of circadian rhythm disruption in cancer. *Methods in Molecular Biology*, 1856, 173–201.
- Revia, R. A., Stephen, Z. R., & Zhang, M. (2019). Theranostic nanoparticles for RNA-based cancer treatment. Accounts of Chemical Research, 52, 1496–1506.
- Rubert Perez, C. M., Stephanopoulos, N., Sur, S., Lee, S. S., Newcomb, C., & Stupp, S. I. (2015). The powerful functions of peptide-based bioactive matrices for regenerative medicine. *Annals of Biomedical Engineering*, 43, 501–514.

- Ruseska, I., & Zimmer, A. (2020). Internalization mechanisms of cell-penetrating peptides. *Beilstein Journal of Nanotechnology*, 11, 101–123.
- Salazar, P., Konda, S., Sridhar, A., Arbieva, Z., Daviglus, M., Darbar, D., & Rehman, J. (2021). Common genetic variation in circadian clock genes are associated with cardiovascular risk factors in an African American and Hispanic/Latino cohort. *IJC Heart & Vasculature*, 34, 100808.
- Satpathy, M., Wang, L., Zielinski, R. J., Qian, W., Wang, Y. A., Mohs, A. M., Kairdolf, B. A., Ji, X., Capala, J., Lipowska, M., Nie, S., Mao, H., & Yang, L. (2019). Targeted drug delivery and image-guided therapy of heterogeneous ovarian cancer using HER2-targeted theranostic nanoparticles. *Theranostics*, 9, 778–795.
- Selfridge, J. M., Gotoh, T., Schiffhauer, S., Liu, J., Stauffer, P. E., Li, A., Capelluto, D. G. S., & Finkielstein, C. V. (2016). Chronotherapy: Intuitive, sound, founded...but not broadly applied. *Drugs*, 76, 1507–1521.
- Sezgin-Bayindir, Z., Losada-Barreiro, S., Bravo-Diaz, C., Sova, M., Kristl, J., & Saso, L. (2021). Nanotechnology-based drug delivery to improve the therapeutic benefits of NRF2 modulators in cancer therapy. *Antioxidants (Basel)*, 10(5), 685.
- Shilpi, S., Vimal, V. D., & Soni, V. (2015). Assessment of lactoferrin-conjugated solid lipid nanoparticles for efficient targeting to the lung. *Progress in Biomaterials*, 4, 55–63.
- Slat, E. A., Sponagel, J., Marpegan, L., Simon, T., Kfoury, N., Kim, A., Binz, A., Herzog, E. D., & Rubin, J. B. (2017). Cell-intrinsic, Bmal1-dependent circadian regulation of temozolomide sensitivity in glioblastoma. *Journal of Biological Rhythms*, 32, 121–129.
- Sousa, I., Rodrigues, F., Prazeres, H., Lima, R. T., & Soares, P. (2018). Liposomal therapies in oncology: Does one size fit all? *Cancer Chemotherapy and Pharmacology*, 82, 741–755.
- Srour, B., Plancoulaine, S., Andreeva, V. A., Fassier, P., Julia, C., Galan, P., Hercberg, S., Deschasaux, M., Latino-Martel, P., & Touvier, M. (2018). Circadian nutritional behaviours and cancer risk: New insights from the NutriNet-santé prospective cohort study: Disclaimers. *International Journal of Cancer*, 143, 2369–2379.
- Sulli, G., Rommel, A., Wang, X., Kolar, M. J., Puca, F., Saghatelian, A., Plikus, M. V., Verma, I. M., & Panda, S. (2018). Pharmacological activation of REV-ERBs is lethal in cancer and oncogene-induced senescence. *Nature*, 553, 351–355.
- Sulli, G., Lam, M. T. Y., & Panda, S. (2019). Interplay between circadian clock and cancer: New frontiers for cancer treatment. *Trends in Cancer*, 5, 475–494.
- Swenson, C. E., Haemmerich, D., Maul, D. H., Knox, B., Ehrhart, N., & Reed, R. A. (2015). Increased duration of heating boosts local drug deposition during radiofrequency ablation in combination with thermally sensitive liposomes (ThermoDox) in a porcine model. *PLoS One*, *10*, e0139752.
- Tang, L., Li, J., Zhao, Q., Pan, T., Zhong, H., & Wang, W. (2021). Advanced and innovative nanosystems for anticancer targeted drug delivery. *Pharmaceutics*, 13(8), 1151.
- Wang, J., Masehi-Lano, J. J., & Chung, E. J. (2017). Peptide and antibody ligands for renal targeting: Nanomedicine strategies for kidney disease. *Biomaterials Science*, 5, 1450–1459.
- Weissová, K., Škrabalová, J., Skálová, K., Bendová, Z., & Kopřivová, J. (2019). The effect of a common daily schedule on human circadian rhythms during the polar day in Svalbard: A field study. *Journal of Circadian Rhythms*, 17, 9.
- Wendeu-Foyet, M. G., Bayon, V., Cénée, S., Trétarre, B., Rébillard, X., Cancel-Tassin, G., Cussenot, O., Lamy, P.-J., Faraut, B., Ben Khedher, S., Léger, D., & Menegaux, F. (2018). Night work and prostate cancer risk: Results from the EPICAP study. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 75, 573–581.
- Wu, S.-Y., Chou, H.-Y., Tsai, H.-C., Anbazhagan, R., Yuh, C.-H., Yang, J. M., & Chang, Y.-H. (2020). Amino acid-modified PAMAM dendritic nanocarriers as effective chemotherapeutic drug vehicles in cancer treatment: A study using zebrafish as a cancer model. *RSC Advances*, 10, 20682–20690.
- Xiang, R., Cui, Y., Wang, Y., Xie, T., Yang, X., Wang, Z., Li, J., & Li, Q. (2018). Circadian clock gene Per2 downregulation in non-small cell lung cancer is associated with tumour progression and metastasis. *Oncology Reports*, 40, 3040–3048.

- Xie, J., Lee, S., & Chen, X. (2010). Nanoparticle-based theranostic agents. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 62, 1064–1079.
- Xing, C., Zhou, Y., Xu, H., Ding, M., Zhang, Y., Zhang, M., Hu, M., Huang, X., & Song, L. (2021). Sleep disturbance induces depressive behaviors and neuroinflammation by altering the circadian oscillations of clock genes in rats. *Neuroscience Research*, 171, 124–132.
- Xu, Y., Yang, M., Ma, Q., Di, X., & Wu, G. (2021). A bio-inspired fluorescent nano-injectable hydrogel as a synergistic drug delivery system. *New Journal of Chemistry*, 45, 3079–3087.
- Yang, J., Shi, Z., Liu, R., Wu, Y., & Zhang, X. (2020). Combined-therapeutic strategies synergistically potentiate glioblastoma multiforme treatment via nanotechnology. *Theranostics*, 10, 3223–3239.
- Yao, J., He, C., Zhao, W., Hu, N., & Long, D. (2021). Circadian clock and cell cycle: Cancer and chronotherapy. Acta Histochemica, 123, 151816.
- Ye, Y., Xiang, Y., Ozguc, F. M., Kim, Y., Liu, C.-J., Park, P. K., Hu, Q., Diao, L., Lou, Y., Lin, C., Guo, A.-Y., Zhou, B., Wang, L., Chen, Z., Takahashi, J. S., Mills, G. B., Yoo, S.-H., & Han, L. (2018). The genomic landscape and pharmacogenomic interactions of clock genes in cancer chronotherapy. *Cell Systems*, *6*, 314–328.e2.
- Yoshizaki, Y., Yuba, E., Sakaguchi, N., Koiwai, K., Harada, A., & Kono, K. (2014). Potentiation of pH-sensitive polymer-modified liposomes with cationic lipid inclusion as antigen delivery carriers for cancer immunotherapy. *Biomaterials*, 35, 8186–8196.
- Youan, B.-B. C. (2010). Chronopharmaceutical drug delivery systems: Hurdles, hype or hope? Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 62, 898–903.
- Yuan, W., Liu, L., Wei, C., Li, X., Sun, D., Dai, C., Li, S., Peng, S., & Jiang, L. (2019). Identification and meta-analysis of copy number variation-driven circadian clock genes for colorectal cancer. *Oncology Letters*, 18, 4816–4824.
- Zhang, R., Lahens, N. F., Ballance, H. I., Hughes, M. E., & Hogenesch, J. B. (2014). A circadian gene expression atlas in mammals: Implications for biology and medicine. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 111, 16219–16224.
- Zhang, P. X., Jin, F., Li, Z. L., Wu, W. L., Li, Y. Y., Long, J. H., Chen, G. Y., Chen, X. X., Gan, J. Y., Gong, X. Y., He, Q. Y., & Bi, T. (2018). A randomized phase II trial of induction chemotherapy followed by cisplatin chronotherapy versus constant rate delivery combined with radiotherapy. *Chronobiology International*, 35, 240–248.
- Zheng, C., Zheng, M., Gong, P., Jia, D., Zhang, P., Shi, B., Sheng, Z., Ma, Y., & Cai, L. (2012). Indocyanine green-loaded biodegradable tumor targeting nanoprobes for in vitro and in vivo imaging. *Biomaterials*, 33, 5603–5609.

The Function of DNA and RNA Nanovaccines in the Treatment of Cancer



Hoorieh Soleimanjahi and Seyed-Mahmood Seyed-Khorrami

Abbreviations

AML	Acute myelogenous leukemia
APCs	Antigen-presenting cells
CTLs	Cytotoxic T lymphocytes
DCs	Dendritic cells
DOX	Doxorubicin
EP	Electroporation
FLT3L	Fms-like tyrosine kinase-3 ligand
GM-CSF	Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor
ID	Intradermal
IGFBP2	Insulin-like growth factor binding protein-2
IGF-1R	Insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor precursor
IM	Intramuscular
IV	Intravenous
Mam-A	Mammaglobin-A
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
mRNA	Messenger RNA
mTa_2O_5	Mesoporous Ta ₂ O ₅
NGS	Next-generation sequencing
NPs	Nanoparticles
PAMPs	Pathogen-associated molecular patterns
PRRs	Pattern recognition receptors
SLPs	Synthetic long peptide
TAA	Tumor-associated antigens
TSA	Tumor-specific antigens
VLPs	Viruslike particles

H. Soleimanjahi (🖂) · S.-M. Seyed-Khorrami

Department of Virology, Faculty of Medical Sciences, Tarbiat Modares University, Tehran, Iran e-mail: soleim_h@modares.ac.ir

1 Introduction

Cancer is a disease caused by genetic changes in some of the body's cells which are involved in abnormal cell growth that invade or spread into surrounding tissues or other parts of the body. The International Agency for Research on Cancer Worldwide reported an update about cancer incidence and mortality which estimated 19.3 million new cancer cases and almost 10.0 million cancer deaths occurred in 2020 (Sung et al., 2021).

Female breast cancer, lung, colorectal, prostate, and stomach are known as the most prevalent cancers, and lung, colorectal, liver, stomach, and female breast cancers are discerned as cancer with a high mortality rate (Sung et al., 2021). The current trend in the global diagnosis of cancer and mortality indicates an increase in the survival rate of individuals with cancer, particularly in developed countries (McCormick, 2018).

For a decade, heart disease and cancer have been introduced as the first and second causes of death, respectively, in the world, but according to statistical models estimated by the WHO, after 2030, cancer will become the leading cause of death worldwide (Mattiuzzi & Lippi, 2019).

Cancer care costs about 20% more than heart disease. In 2019, national financial estimates in the USA showed that the economic burden of cancer is \$ 21.09 billion, which includes the patient's direct costs and the time spent by the patient. The highest consumption costs are spent on breast, prostate, colorectal, and lung cancers (Yabroff et al., 2021). According to the American Cancer Society, obesity and smoking have been identified as the leading causes of cancer incidence in the USA (Bandi et al., 2021; Caliri et al., 2021; Avgerinos et al., 2019; McCormick, 2018).

Conventional cancer treatments are established mainly by the combination of invasive methods such as surgical procedures, radiotherapy, and chemotherapy. However, the widespread side effects and noneffectiveness of these treatments in all cancer types have persuade interest to the appliance of novel approaches (McCormick, 2018; Li et al., 2018; A Baudino, 2015). Some evidence demonstrated that such invasive surgery prepares a favorable condition for metastasis (McCormick, 2018). Besides, the usage of chemotherapeutic agents has some limitations due to their nonspecific distribution, toxicity, and side effects (Nosrati et al., 2022). Moreover, in some cancer treatments due to recurrence and multidrug resistance, successful eradication is not achieved (Liu et al., 2020).

Due to the complications of conventional treatments, in cancer treatment, it is necessary to design and create new treatment methods that are more efficient and highly accurate with fewer side effects in the treatment of cancer patients.

In this review, a novel approach with a more specific targeting capability of tumor cells based on nanovaccine platforms will be extensively discussed. This review provided a detailed overview of current and emerging nanovaccines against cancer, highlighting their benefits and challenges in cancer treatment.

2 Vaccine in Treatment and Prevention

In recent years, new approaches in cancer therapy have fascinated increasing interest including DNA-based vaccine, immunotherapy-based strategy, and oncolytic virus therapy which showed protective and therapeutic abilities to improve the clinical outcome.

The proficient approaches with lower side effects and high therapeutic efficacy in clinical therapy could be selected in cancer therapy in the near future (Nosrati et al., 2022; Nandedkar, 2009). Cancer treatment vaccines are the vaccines that have protective and therapeutic functions against the existing and the development of new tumors (Emens, 2008).

To develop more potent cancer vaccines, it is necessary to fully understand which kind of vaccine is effective and how cancer vaccines work. Intradermal, subcutaneous, intravenous, and intramuscular administration causes cancer vaccines to be exposed to antigen-presenting cells (APCs). APCs (e.g., dendritic cells (DCs), macrophages, and B cells) uptake vaccine components and present the antigens on major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I or II. Through the afferent lymph, APCs travel toward the lymph nodes, where priming and activation of T cells occurs. Then, the activated effector T cells migrate to the blood and infiltrate the tumor microenvironment, where effector T cells recognize and destroy specifically targeted cancer cells (Liu et al., 2020).

The presentation of antigen by APCs occurs via two major routes. In the first pathway, in the cytosol of APCs, endogenous antigenic proteins are well degraded by proteasomes. The degraded peptide fragments are presented by MHC-I molecules on the cell surface, which provoke activation of *tumor antigen-specific* CD8+ *cytotoxic T lymphocytes* (*CTLs*) which are the main antitumor cells in the body (Liu et al., 2020). In second pathways, exogenous antigenic proteins are taken up by APCs via endocytosis, and then these molecules are degraded to peptide fragments which are presented on MHC-II molecules to activate CD4+ T cells that encompass helper role and enhance CTL activation and their extended survival. Therefore, the administration and delivery of cancer vaccines in a professional platform that can quickly activate CD4+ T cells and CTLs is a vital step for effective antitumor therapy (Liu et al., 2020; Azadniv et al., 2011).

Cancer-specific antigens are occasionally certain molecules that are presented only on the surface of cancer cells. In cancer treatment vaccines, these molecules are candidate molecules for targeting tumor cells and trigger antitumor immune responses (Zitvogel et al., 2008).

Cancer vaccines boost the host immune system's ability to recognize and consequently attack cancer cells with presented cancer-specific antigen(s) (Vermaelen, 2019).

A decade ago, the first therapeutic cancer vaccine for the treatment of prostate cancer (Sipuleucel-T) was approved in the USA (Liu et al., 2020).

Vaccination prepares the host's immune system against specific antigens, so that it can be beneficial in cancer therapy-associated fields, with poor immunogenicity and some safety concerns. The broad potential of vaccines for cancer prevention and treatment has been less noticed, and fewer cancer vaccines have been permitted up to now (Liu et al., 2020).

Some nanovaccines that are tested in clinical trials of cancer therapy will be discussed below. Effective cancer vaccines must meet the subsequent requirements: (i) to stimulate effective T cells, a selection of the proper tumor-associated antigen is crucial; (ii) sufficient antigen uptake by APCs (mainly by DCs) is essential to prevent immune tolerance; and (iii) CTLs are key effector cells to destroy all tumor cell types. Due to the influence of CD4 + T cells on the activation of CTL expansion and generation of memory cells, the best vaccine must stimulate both CD4 + and CD8 + immune responses. (iv) To overcome the negative influence of the immuno-suppressive condition in the tumor microenvironment, cancer vaccines must be used in combination with other approaches such as chemotherapy and immunosuppressive inhibitors (Liu et al., 2020).

Over the past decades, to overcome the problems of traditional vaccines in cancer vaccine, nanotechnology, via manipulated nanoparticles, shows a hopeful horizon for the treatment of cancer (Liu et al., 2020).

Nanovaccines are a novel approach for the methodology of vaccination by using nanoparticle (NP)-based vaccines as carriers and/or adjuvants, which show numerous competitive advantages over the traditional vaccines (Maina et al., 2020; Gheibi Hayat & Darroudi, 2019; Nandedkar, 2009). Nanovaccines similar to pathogen antigens can be designed to mimic the size and shape of antigens to stimulate the immune system and more efficiently activate antibody and cell-mediated immune responses (Gheibi Hayat & Darroudi, 2019). Nanovaccines are an encouraging approach to hamper uncontrolled cancer-related diseases. The immunologic effect of nanovaccines is not always sufficient to prevent cancer progression but is regularly well tolerated and offers appreciated anticancer properties in some situations (Karimi et al., 2020).

Several types of vaccine may be used to treat cancers, such as adjuvant and DNA vaccines intended for easy recognition by immune cells to induction of a rapid and enhanced secondary response as well (Maina et al., 2020).

The nanovaccines have some advantages such as their better stability, the longer shelf life in blood flow, improved targeted delivery, rubout stimulatory effect on the immune system, no need for a cold chain and booster shots, aptitude to make active targeting, enhanced cross-presentation to induce CTLs, and so on (Gheibi Hayat & Darroudi, 2019; Das & Ali, 2021; Maina et al., 2020). The desired stability of nanovaccines dramatically reduces storage and transport costs and allows rapidly global delivery and access (Maina et al., 2020). Therefore, nanovaccines may be used as a suitable platform for improving vaccine efficacy in cancer therapy.

Due to the size of nanovaccines (average 10–100 nm), it is not necessary for more processing by immune cells to stimulate the immune response, and that works well via plug and play mechanism (Maina et al., 2020; Gheibi Hayat & Darroudi, 2019).

Nanoparticle-based vaccines are found mainly on various nanoscale materials including microemulsions, liposomes, virosomes, micelles, buckminsterfullerene, nanogels, carbon nanotube, dendrimers, and metallic NPs (Gheibi Hayat & Darroudi, 2019; Liu et al., 2020).

The diversity in the component of nanoparticles allows for the designing, manipulation, and optimizing efficacious nanovaccine constructions in particle composition including size, shape, hydrophobicity, surface charge, and self-adjuvanting properties (Maina et al., 2020). Primary nanoparticle-based systems (liposomes) have been elucidated to make available adjuvant function, and their immunological character has innovative capacity for gene delivery. This character supports the booster effect of nanovaccines by enhancing their uptake via APCs in the lymphoid tissues (Karimi et al., 2020).

For example, high-Z mesoporous Ta_2O_5 (m Ta_2O_5) nanoparticles developed by Nosrati et al. are a radiosensitizer and doxorubicin (DOX) delivery system that exhibited notable anticancer effects via effective chemoradiotherapy (Nosrati et al., 2022). However, biological and immunological characterization of certain lipopolysaccharides (e.g., *Brucella abortus* RB51 and S19) as an adjuvant enhanced the therapeutic efficacy of DNA vaccines against cervical cancer models (Shirmohammadi et al., 2021; Kianmehr et al., 2015).

In chemotherapy approaches, low molecular weight drugs are removed quickly from the tumor site. To keep the duration of their effect and overcome these problems, nanocarrier systems can be proposed to enclose anticancer drugs and increase the anticancer effects and preserve their accumulation and distribution in tumor environments. However, chemotherapy effectiveness in treating cancer cells is severely reduced by anatomical and physiological barriers, and rapid clearance of drugs by the reticuloendothelial system occurred, and the poor penetrability of the tumor mass is one of the challenges that lead to treatment failure and drug resistance. The utilization of nanocarriers for drug delivery is one of the recent approaches to overcome this problem (Nowroozi et al., 2018).

Alongside with nanocarriers for drug delivery, nanovaccines have promising hope for disease prevention such as AIDS, cancer, malaria, rheumatoid arthritis, chronic autoimmune diseases, bacterial infection, and so on (Gheibi Hayat & Darroudi, 2019; Das & Ali, 2021).

Nanovaccines induce long-lasting cellular and humoral immunity against cancer via administration of candidate vaccine through several routes including intravenous (IV), intranasal (by inhalation), oral (by nebulization), patches of microprojections to the skin, and so on (Nandedkar, 2009; Maina et al., 2020).

3 Tumor Antigen

Tumor antigens are antigenic molecules expressed mainly in tumor cells that can trigger the host immune response. Tumor-shared antigens were broadly classified into two distinct categories based on their pattern of expression: tumor-associated antigens (TAA), which have overexpressed on tumor cells and at lower levels expressed on healthy cells, and tumor-specific antigens (TSA) that express on cancer cells only (Table 1). These tumor markers are potential candidates for use in

Class of tumor antigen	Description	Examples
Tumor-specific Antigens (TSA)	Products of mutated oncogenes	P53, KRAS, RAS, BCR-ABL translocation, ETV6, NPM/ALK
(mutated antigens)	Neoantigens Tumor specific mutated antigens Mutations resulting in the generation of a neoepitopes	Case-specific mutations
Tumor-associated Antigens (TAA) (unmutated proteins)	Embryonic/differentiation genes	Gp100, tyrosinase, Melan A/ MART-1, gp75/TRP1/– 2, PSA, CEA, PAP, PSMA
	Overexpressed antigens	Her2/neu, hTERT, MUC1, WT1, cyclin B, survivin
	Products of silent genes Expression on healthy cells limited to germline	Cancer/testis antigens (a-Fetoprotein, MAGE-1, GAGE, BAGE, NY-ESO1)
	Oncogenic viral antigens	HPV E6/E7, EBV LMP-1/LMP-2A, HTLV-1 Tax, KSHV/HHV8

Table 1 Different types of tumor antigens

diagnostic tests, vaccine designing, and cancer therapy (Janelle et al., 2020; Paston et al., 2021; Lopes et al., 2019; Poorebrahim et al., 2020).

4 Nanovaccines Properties

4.1 DNA Vaccines

DNA vaccines were introduced as a safer alternative to traditional protein-based vaccines including standard live and inactivated vaccines for treating viral diseases. As shown in Fig. 1, DNA vaccines are classified as third-generation vaccines, closed circular DNA plasmids that contain a specific antigen-coding DNA sequence as well as various other immunomodulatory molecules and encode the designed antigens in transfected cells to induce an immune response (Srinivas, 2021; Liu et al., 2020).

DNA vaccines afford many advantages over conventional vaccines including simplicity, ease of production and safety, stability, transport at room temperature, inexpensiveness, decreased likelihood of vaccine-associated hypersensitivity reactions and replication interference, and the possibility of immunization against multiple pathogens in a single vaccination (Liu et al., 2020).

pTVG-HP is a DNA vaccine that is produced in *Escherichia coli* and encodes the cDNA for human prostatic acid phosphatase (prostatic tumor-associated antigen). In prostate cancer treatment, pTVG-HP has been combined with granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) as an adjuvant and assessed in phase II clinical trial (Liu et al., 2020; McNeel et al., 2019).



Fig. 1 Mechanism of action with DNA vaccine and suitable stimulatory molecule in the transfected cells

Meanwhile, several other DNA vaccines against other malignancies such as breast carcinoma, bladder carcinoma, medullary thyroid cancer, nasopharyngeal cancer, cervical cancer, and so on are widely being in clinical research (Table 2). Despite the promising results for cancer treatment with DNA vaccines, researchers have reported limited efficacy because the DNA enters the cells by low transfection rates in vivo and requires a more potent delivery system (Karimi et al., 2020). Interestingly, nonviral particulate delivery systems further enhance antitumor immunogenicity compared to viral vectors (Liu et al., 2020; Jazayeri & Poh, 2019).

Table 2 Clinic: Cancer type Anal neoplasm	ll trials in cancer DNA vaccination (2012–2022) Backbone/encoded antigen VGX-3100	Combination therapy/adjuvant	Route of administration IM followed by EP	Phase II	Start year 2018	Trial ID NCT0349979
Breast cancer	Personalized polyepitope	/ Autorital Interacts formatified	IM followed by EP	I	2015	NCT023483
	Mammaglobin-A (Mam-A) anugen	Anastrozote, tetrozote, tamoxiren, exemestane, goserelin, endocrine therapy	IM TOILOWED BY EP	-	C102	NC10220409
	pUMVC3-CD105/Yb-1/SOX2/CDH3/ MDM2-polyepitope: mammalian expression vector pUMVC3 + CD105, Y-box binding protein-1, SRY-box 2, cadherin 3, murine double minute 2	rhuGM-CSF, adjuvant therapy	Ð	I	2015	NCT0215705
	pUMVC3-IGFBP2-HER2-IGF1R: pUMVC3 vector + insulin-like growth factor binding protein-2 (IGFBP2), HER2 and insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor precursor (IGF-1R)	GM-CSF (sargramostim), adjuvant therapy	D	Ι	2016	NCT027804(
	Neoantigens	Durvalumab (anti-PD-L1 antibody), immune therapy	EP (TDS-IM system)	I	2018	NCT0319904

236

ervical ncer	VB10.16: composed by E6/E7 antigen of HPV16 + dimerization entity + APC binding protein	1	Lateral deltoid muscle	II/I	2015	NCT02529930
	GX-188E, encoding E6/E7 fusion protein of HPV 16 and 18, plus the immune-enhancer, Fms-like tyrosine kinase-3 ligand (FLT3L)		IM followed by EP	II	2015	NCT02596243
	MEDI0457 = INO3112 = VGX-3100 (encoding E6 and E7 proteins of HPV types 16 and 18) + INO-9012 (hIL-12)	Durvalumab (anti PD-L1 antibody), immune therapy	IM followed by EP	I/I	2017	NCT03162224
	HPV E6 and E7 (VGX-3100)		IM followed by EP	H	2017	NCT03185013
	GX-188E	Pembrolizumab	IM followed by EP	II/I	2018	NCT03444376
	HPV E6 and E7 (VGX-3100)	/	IM followed by EP	II	2018	NCT03603808
	HPV E6 and E7 (VGX-3100)	IL-12; durvalumab (anti-PD-L1)	IM followed by EP	Π	2018	NCT03439085
	HPV E6 and E7 (VGX-3100)	/	IM followed by EP	III	2019	NCT03721978
lorectal icer	Oncoprotein MYB (TetMYB)	Tetanus toxoid peptides and anti-PD1 antibody	D	I	2017	NCT03287427
oblastoma	INO-5401 (separate DNA plasmids targeting WT1, PSMA, and hTERT)	INO-9012 (human IL12), cemiplimab, temozolomide, and radiation	IM followed by EP	II/I	2018	NCT03491683
lanoma	IFx-Hu2.0 coding for Emm55 streptococcal antigen	1	Intralesion	Early I	2018	NCT03655756
arian Icer	pUMVC3-hIGFBP2 multiepitope: mammalian vector pUMVC3 + human IGFBP2	1	1	Ι	2012	NCT01322802
	pUMVC3-hIGFBP2 multiepitope	Carboplatin, paclitaxel, chemotherapy	D	II	2017	NCT03029611
ncreatic	Personalized neoantigen: pING vector + prioritized neoantigens + mesothelin epitopes	Surgical resection and adjuvant chemotherapy	IM followed by EP	I	2018	NCT03122106
	-					(continued)

Table 2 (contin	ued)					
			Route of		Start	
Cancer type	Backbone/encoded antigen	Combination therapy/adjuvant	administration	Phase	year	Trial ID
Prostate	pTGV-HP	Sipuleucel-T, autologous peripheral	/	II	2013	NCT01706458
cancer		oloou mononuclear ceus with antigen-presenting dendritic cells				
		that have been activated ex vivo with				
		a recombinant fusion protein				
		(PA2024) consisting of PAP linked				
		to GM-CSF, immune therapy				
	pTGV-AR	GM-CSF, adjuvant therapy	/	I	2015	NCT02411786
	pTGV-HP	Pembrolizumab (anti-PD1 antibody),	ID and IV	II/I	2015	NCT02499835
		immune therapy; rhGM-CSF,				
		adjuvant therapy				
	pTGV-HP	Nivolumab, GM-CSF	D	II	2018	NCT03600350
	Neoantigens	Nivolumab (anti-PD-1)/ipilimumab	IM followed by EP	I	2018	NCT03532217
		(anti-CTLA-4), and PROSTVAC				
Renal cell	Neoantigens	Durvalumab tremelimumab	IM followed by EP	II	2019	NCT03598816
carcinoma						
Solid tumors	hTERT	/	ID EP	I	2014	NCT02301754
Urothelial	INO-5401	INO-9012, atezolizumab	IM followed by EP	II/I	2018	NCT03502785
carcinoma						
EP electroporat	ion, IM intramuscular, ID intradermal, IV intrave	snou				

4.2 mRNA Vaccines

Similar to DNA vaccines, messenger RNA (mRNA) vaccines are classified as thirdgeneration vaccines. An mRNA vaccine strategy is a next-generation technology that works by introducing a piece of mRNA that corresponds to pathogens/cancer antigen(s), which will produce the target protein and stimulate an immune response (Pardi et al., 2018; Liu et al., 2020). Over the past two decades, many measures have taken mRNA-based technologies for new developing vaccine candidates. According to COVID-19 preclinical and clinical trials, mRNA vaccines not only can make long-term immune responses in both human and animal models but, also, are safe and effective in preventing cancer or diseases. The COVID-19 epidemic triggered more attention to the mRNA-based vaccine approach. The mRNA-based vaccine technologies have made a new era in vaccination against infectious diseases and cancer in the future because they have high potency for rapid improvements and the manufacturing process is relatively cost-effective.

The mRNA vaccines are transcribed in vitro by a bacteriophage RNA polymerase (e.g., T7, a T3, or an Sp6 phage) and template DNA containing the gene encoding the antigen(s) of interest. After, mRNA vaccine will internalize into the *host cell cytoplasm*, where it will be expressed to antigen via the cell translation machinery, and finally that products will trigger an immune response (Rosa et al., 2021; Pardi et al., 2018).

Messenger RNA vaccines have several brilliant advantages over DNA-based vaccines including in vivo delivery of high numbers of antigens and costimulatory signals, inexpensive and rapid manufacturing, rapidly expression and activation tumor-specific T cells, and no reported risk of insertional mutagenesis in the host genome, but its integration concern is under investigation (Table 3) (Rosa et al., 2021).

However, mRNA vaccines are unstable and fragile and require storage and transport at ultracold temperature systems. To solve transportation problems, the encapsulation of mRNA within biocompatible nanomaterials is proposed (Liu et al., 2020).

4.3 Neoantigen-Based Vaccine

Currently, any somatic gene mutations in tumors can be identified by next-generation sequencing (NGS) technologies. Neoantigens are mainly tumor-specific mutated peptides that are only expressed in tumor cells and act as a potent stimulator for antitumor immune responses (Zhang et al., 2021). The discovery of neoantigens is one of the most particular achievements in the field of immuno-oncology research. Neoantigens, a non-self-antigen, can easily be detected by the host immune system and elicit a strong antitumor immune response (Fotakis et al., 2021; Zhang et al., 2021; Liu et al., 2020).

)	· · ·				
Cancer type	Backbone/encoded antigen	Combination therapy/ adjuvant	koute of administration	Phase	Start year (status)	Trial ID
AML	Autologous WT1 mRNA-electroporated DCs	Chemotherapy	ID	II	2012 (recruiting)	NCT01686334
	GRNVAC1 (autologous mature DCs transfected with mRNA encoding human telomerase)	I	1	Π	2007 (completed)	NCT00510133
	TLR7/8-matured DCs electroporated with mRNA encoding WT1, PRAME, and CMVpp65	1	D	II/I	2013 (completed)	NCT01734304
	Autologous DCs loaded with acute myelogenous leukemia (AML) lysate plus mRNA	1	1	I	2009 (terminated/ slow accrual)	NCT00514189
	Autologous DCs electroporated with WT1 mRNA	1	1	II/I	2016 (active, not recruiting)	NCT03083054
Colorectal cancer	Autologous DCs pulsed with CEA- peptide or electroporated with CEA-RNA	1	ID and IV	II/I	2010 (completed)	NCT00228189
Breast cancer	VRP (alphaviruslike replicon particles) containing self-amplifying replicon RNA for HER2 (AVX901)	Pembrolizumab (anti-PD-1)	IV	II	2018 (recruiting)	NCT03632941
	Shared tumor antigens and patient- specific mutated neoantigens	Surgery and adjuvant chemotherapy	IV as nanoparticulate lipoplex	I	2016 (active, not recruiting)	NCT02316457
	DCs transfected with survivin, hTERT and p53 mRNA	Cyclophosphamide	ID	I	2009 (completed)	NCT00978913

 Table 3
 Clinical trials with mRNA-based vaccines against cancer

istoma	Autologous WT1 mRNA loaded DCs	Temozolomide	1	II/I	2015 (recruiting)	NCT02649582
	DC vaccine with mRNA from tumor stem cells	I	ID	II/I	2013 (completed)	NCT00846456
	pp65-shLAMP mRNA DCs with GM-CSF	Tetanus and diphtheria toxoid	Ð	п	2016 (recruiting)	NCT02465268
	Human CMV pp65-LAMP mRNA- pulsed autologous DCs	Temozolomide/ basiliximab	ID	п	2015 (completed)	NCT02366728
	CT7/MAGE-A3/WT1 mRNA- electroporated autologous Langerhans- type DCs	1	D	п	2014 (active, not recruiting)	NCT01995708
ancer	RBL001/RBL002 (recombinant vaccines: two TAAs of melanoma)	I	Intranodal	I	2012 (completed)	NCT01684241
	Neoantigens [poly-epitopic RNA vaccine (IVAC MUTANOME®)]	RBL001/RBL002	Intranodal	I	2013 (completed)	NCT02035956
	Four TAAs [RBL001.1, RBL002.2, RBL003.1, and RBL004 (Lipo-MERIT)]	1	IV	I	2015 (active, not recruiting)	NCT02410733
	Autologous Langerhans-type DCs electroporated with mRNA encoding a TAA	1	D	Ι	2011 (active, not recruiting)	NCT01456104
	mRNA-transfected DCs	IL-2	ID or intranodal	II/I	2002 (completed)	NCT01278940
	Autologous DCs loaded with autologous tumor RNA	1	IV	Ш	2014 (recruiting)	NCT01983748
	mRNA coding for the corresponding antigen. (Melan-A, Mage-A1, Mage-A3, survivin, GP100, and tyrosinase)	GM-CSF	D	II/I	2004 (completed)	NCT00204607
						(continued)

		Combination therapy/	Route of			
Cancer type	Backbone/encoded antigen	adjuvant	administration	Phase	Start year (status)	Trial ID
Prostate cancer	RNActive®-derived cancer vaccine (CV9104) (6RNActive®-based	1	D	II/I	2012 (terminated)	NCT01817738
	compounds)					
	RNActive®-derived prostate cancer vaccine (CV9103)	1	D	II/I	2009 (completed)	NCT00831467
	DCs are transfected with PSA, PAP, survivin, and hTERT mRNA	Docetaxel	D	II	2011 (completed)	NCT01446731
	Autologous DCs loaded with mRNA from primary prostate cancer tissue,	1	D	II/I	2010 (active, not recruiting)	NCT01197625
	III ENT, alla sul vivill					
	RNActive®-derived therapeutic vaccine (CV9103)		ID	I	2009 (terminated)	NCT00906243
Non-small cell	TAAs (six formulated mRNAs) (CV9202)	Durvalumab/	ID	II/I	2017 (completed)	NCT03164772
lung cancer		Tremelimumab Local radiation				
	RNActive®-derived cancer vaccine	1	ID	II/I	2009 (completed)	NCT00923312
Renal cell	Autologous ribonucleic acid (RNA)	Sunitinib	ID	III	2012 (terminated)	NCT01582672
carcinoma	electroporated DCs (AGS-003)					

IM intramuscular, ID intradermal, IV intravenous

Table 3 (continued)

The advent of high-throughput genomic sequencing and neoantigen prediction technologies has made it possible to produce personalized vaccines based on neoantigens (Peng et al., 2019; Zhang et al., 2021; Fotakis et al., 2021). Hence, the pursuit for immunogenic neoantigens with stronger immunogenicity in tumor cells has become a key issue in cancer immunotherapy (Peng et al., 2019; De Mattos-Arruda et al., 2020). Based on numerous reports, neoantigen-based vaccine therapies have revealed remarkable results in a variety of cancer types. Therefore, the application of neoantigen-based vaccine therapies can be promising in the field of cancer immunotherapy (Table 4). Neoantigen-based personalized therapeutic vaccines have some advantages compared to common cancer vaccines including limiting the risk of immune tolerance, no toxicity to normal tissue cells, and enhanced antitumor immune response (Liu et al., 2020; Blass & Ott, 2021).

		Combination		Strat Year	
Vaccine platform	Tumor type	therapy/adjuvant	Phase	(status)	Trial ID
IVAC MUTANOME, RBL001/RBL002	Melanoma	_	Ι	2013 (completed)	NCT02035956
APVAC1 vaccine	Glioblastoma	Immunomodulator (Poly-ICLC and GM-CSF)	I	2014 (completed)	NCT02149225
NeoVax	Glioblastoma	Radiation therapy plus pembrolizumab/ temozolomide	Ι	2014 (recruiting)	NCT02287428
NeoVax (peptides + poly-ICLC)	Melanoma	_	Ι	2014 (completed)	NCT01970358
Autologous dendritic cell vaccine matured with melanoma peptides (G209-2M and G280-9V) plus melanoma tumor-specific peptides	Advanced melanoma	Cyclophosphamide	I	2008 (completed)	NCT00683670
NeoVax (peptides + poly- ICLC)	High-risk renal cell carcinoma	Ipilimumab	I	2019 (recruiting)	NCT02950766
NeoVax	Ovarian cancer	Nivolumab	Ι	2020 (recruiting)	NCT04024878
iNeo-Vac-P01 (peptides)	Malignant tumor	GM-CSF	Ι	2018 (active, not recruiting)	NCT03662815

Table 4 Clinical trial of personalized neoantigen-based vaccine

(continued)

		Combination		Strat Year	
Vaccine platform	Tumor type	therapy/adjuvant	Phase	(status)	Trial ID
GRT-C903/ GRT-R904	Advanced solid tumors	Immune checkpoint blockade (nivolumab/ ipilimumab)	I/II	2019 (recruiting)	NCT03953235
Neoantigen- targeted vaccine	Colon and pancreatic ductal cancer	Retifanlimab (anti-PD-1 antibody) plus poly-ICLC	Ι	2022 (not recruiting)	NCT04799431
Neoantigen- expanded autologous DC-CIK cells	Advanced solid tumor	_	Ι	2021 (recruiting)	NCT05020119
Personalized neoantigen peptide vaccine	Non-small cell lung cancer	Antiangiogenesis drug/EGFR-TKI	I	2020 (recruiting)	NCT04487093
GRT-C901/ GRT-R902	Metastatic colorectal cancer	Immune checkpoint blockade (atezolizumab/ ipilimumab/ fluoropyrimidine/ bevacizumab, oxaliplatin)	II/III	2022 (not recruiting)	NCT05141721
Neoantigen dendritic cell vaccine	Resected hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) (group A) and liver metastases from colorectal cancer	Anti-PD1 (nivolumab)	Π	2020 (recruiting)	NCT04912765
GEN-009 adjuvanted vaccine with Hiltonol (poly-ICLC)	Selected solid tumors	PD-1 inhibitor therapy (nivolumab or pembrolizumab)	I/II	2018 (recruiting)	NCT03633110

 Table 4 (continued)

However, the clinical efficacy of neoantigen-based cancer vaccines requires a defined optimization and standardization process for the neoantigen identification and its delivery mechanisms (De Mattos-Arruda et al., 2020).

There are currently two kinds of personalized vaccines designed, mRNA vaccine and synthetic long peptide (SLPs) vaccine. Shahin et al. developed personalized RNA mutanome vaccines, and personalized peptide vaccines were developed by Ott et al. (Sahin & Tureci, 2018; Ott et al., 2017). The liposome was chosen for improvement of targeted delivery of personalized RNAs and synthetic peptides into DCs

because of its distinct properties such as biological safety, biocompatibility, simple manufacturing process, and the protection of vaccines from in vivo degradation (Sahin & Tureci, 2018; Ott et al., 2017; Liu et al., 2020).

In this case, bioinformatics and molecular computational tools can be useful in the prediction of neoantigens; therefore, it can support the precise designing of personalized neoantigen-based vaccines (Kardani et al., 2020; Fotakis et al., 2021; Peng et al., 2019). Up to March 2022, more than 88 clinical trials of neoantigenbased cancer vaccines have been registered in www.clinicaltrial.gov. The majority of clinical studies have been performed in recent years.

5 Nanocarrier Design and Development: Critical Points to Induce the Immune Response

An efficient delivery system is required to deliver antigen to APCs and prime T cells to T effector cells with low toxicity. In the selection of delivery system, the distinct physical properties of different types of antigens (i.e., synthetic peptide, mRNA) must be noticed.

For example, delivery systems for subunit peptide vaccines must be designed to overcome their low immunogenicity and fast clearance. Hence, nano-sized delivery systems along with the inclusion of adjuvants are used to elongate the retention of peptide vaccines and boost their immunogenicity, respectively (Tornesello et al., 2020). In the selection of desired delivery systems for DNA/RNA vaccines, efficient internalization, stability, and transcription must be regarded to induce a strong immune response.

To design the best nanocarriers for cancer vaccine delivery with low systemic toxicity and robust antitumor immune response, an extensive understanding of the interaction between the nanocarrier-based delivery system and APCs is essential. The physicochemical properties of nanocarrier-based delivery systems like nanoparticle size, rigidity, surface charge, ligand, and intrinsic immunogenicity must be subjected in the construction (Liu et al., 2020; Tornesello et al., 2020).

The NP size has a significant role in the intracellular fate of NPs in the body which can influence the biodistribution and cellular uptake mechanism and play a major role in eliciting a combined response of humoral and cell-mediated immunity. Following administration of NPs in non-intravenous route (intramuscular, intradermal, or subcutaneous) based on particle size, three scenarios will happen:

- I. The majority of small particles (<20 nm) rapidly will be entered into the blood flow and subsequently filtered out by the kidneys and removed through urine.
- II. Particles between 20 and 100 nm will be moved into the lymphatic nodes via lymph flow, and then they will be taken up by APCs and presented to them.
- III. Larger NPs (>100 nm) will stay at the injection sites until they are gradually captured and moved to lymphatic nodes by APCs (Jia et al., 2018; Liu et al., 2020).

The cellular uptake mechanism is directly dependent on particle size; particles with size 20–200 nm are generally taken up by cells through two classic receptormediated endocytosis pathways (clathrin-dependent or caveolae–/lipid raft-dependent). Conversely, particles above 200 nm are preferentially captured by the phagocytosis process. Both distribution manner and cellular uptake mechanism may affect the induced immune response. Previous studies displayed that smaller particle often induced Th2 immune responses while larger particles trigger typical Th1 responses. Accordingly, particle size indeed is one of the main role players in regulating vaccine functions (Liu et al., 2020; Wu et al., 2019).

The results of numerous investigations were performed by separate researchers that revealed rigid NPs compared to soft NPs significantly enhanced immune cell uptake, facilitating immune cell activation and the immune response (Liu et al., 2020).

The surface charge of NPs is another important factor that affects the fate of nanovaccine administration in biological systems (Liu et al., 2020; Jo et al., 2015). Henriksen-Lacey et al. evaluated the effect of surface charge in the distribution and immunogenicity of injected antigen-loaded liposomes (85B-ESAT-6) by comparing natural liposomes against cationic liposomes (CAF01) (Henriksen-Lacey et al., 2011). Their results showed the remaining antigen is traceable only in cationic synthetic liposome platform for up to 2 weeks at the injection site. This result suggested that the aggregation of cationic liposomes causes antigen trapping/retaining and slow release in an extended period of time at the site of injection. This constant stimulation thru depot effect (mechanism of action of adjuvants) may produce an enhanced immune response (Awate et al., 2013; Liu et al., 2020). The results of Henriksen-Lacey et al. study have demonstrated cationic liposomes induced a more prolonged antigen presentation compared to natural liposomes; thus, it can activate the pro-inflammatory signals to trigger the secretion of several cytokines and chemokines. Furthermore, the cell membranes of APCs similar to other cells are negatively charged; thus, using cationic NPs in nanovaccine construction can promote potency of uptake and presentation of antigen (Liu et al., 2020).

The efficient DC-specific delivery can enhance the potency of cancer nanovaccines by using appropriate delivery ligands, which improve both concentrated antigen delivery to lymphatic tissues and APCs (Liu et al., 2020).

Adjuvants are necessary for augmenting immune responses, so they must be included in designing nanovaccines to increase vaccine immunogenicity. Toll-like receptor (TLR) agonists are one of the well-known adjuvants that have been widely investigated in modern vaccines (Liu et al., 2020). TLRs are pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) that initiate the innate immune response by sensing conserved pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) which recognize pathogens and then activate multiple steps. The approved adjuvant delivery system for cancer vaccines is listed in Table 5.

TLRs coordinate systemic defenses by induction of both innate and adaptive immune responses to eliminate the invading pathogens via activating inflammatory reactions and DC maturation, enhance cross-presentation, express costimulatory molecules, and expand cytotoxic T-cell responses (Medzhitov, 2001; Liu et al., 2020). Multiple TLR agonists such as polyinosinic-polycytidylic acid (Poly I:C) and

Adjuvant	Backbone	Mechanisms	Types of response	vaccine	Reference
Alum	Mineral salt	Depot effect (antigen stability); inflammasome activation; facilitate humoral immunity via Th2-type immune responses; safe	Ab, Th2 (require other adjuvant induced CTL response)	Human papilloma virus (HPV), hepatitis B virus (HBV), CA-125- targeted vaccines	Oleszycka & Lavelle (2014), De Gregorio et al. (2008), Cuzzubbo et al. (2021)
MF59	Oil-in- water emulsion	Improves humoral and cell-mediated immunity, antigen delivery	Th1, B cell, mucosal response, enhanced APC recruitment	Combination with CpG ODN (TLR9 agonist) in several murine cancer models	O'Hagan et al. (1997), O'Hagan et al. (2013), Tsai (2013), Cuzzubbo et al. (2021)
Virosome Doxil Lipo-Dox Onivyde	Liposome	Improves humoral and cell-mediated immunity, antigen dose sparing, and enhancement of antibody titer; nontoxic	Th1, Th2, B cell, cross- priming, mucosal response	MUC1-based vaccine, hepatitis A virus, Kaposi sarcoma, breast and ovarian cancer, pancreatic cancer	Schwendener (2014), Moser et al. (2013), Wang et al. (2019)
AS04 (Glaxo Smith- Kline)	Aluminum hydroxide- adsorbed TLR4 agonist (alum +MPL)	Improves humoral and cell-mediated immunity	B-cell response, Th1 < Th2	HPV vaccine (Cervarix), hepatitis B virus (HBV)	Garcon et al. (2011), Garcon et al. (2007)

Table 5 Approved/adjuvant delivery system for cancer vaccines

CpG oligodeoxynucleotides (CpG-ODNs) as a synthetic TLR3 and TLR9 ligand, respectively, have also been reported as a potent adjuvant in cancer clinical trials. For example, Gabeleh et al. have specified that administration of α -GalCer with DNA vaccines performed adjuvant effects against tumor in animal model (Gableh et al., 2016). In fact, priming with a DNA vaccine in the presence of α -GalCer and boosting with specific pulsed DC directed an enhanced specific response.

Lee and Nguyen and Liu et al. have reported that combining CpG and poly I:C into polyester NP construction significantly could activate synergetic immune response by improved Th1 response and facilitated anticancer treatment (Lee & Nguyen, 2015; Liu et al., 2020).

Nanoparticle albumin-bound paclitaxel is used as an adjuvant commonly in combination with chemotherapy in numerous cancer clinical trials (Table 5) https:// clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/results?cond=Cancer&term=nanoparticle+adjuvant&cntry=& state=&city=&dist=.

6 Viruslike Particles as a Nanocarrier

One opportunity for enhancing the performance of various nanovaccine platforms is the use of cell-targeting approaches. Viruslike particles (VLPs) are one of the advanced recombinant systems engaged in the expression of large quantities of target proteins and used as a carrier for cell-targeting approaches. Knowing the suitable baculovirus-based system, it is possible to engineer vaccines with multiple target epitopes in order to elicit protective immunity (Kianmehr et al., 2015). The immunogenicity of VLPs is possibly due to their interaction with DCs and has been a useful approach for immunity against infections or cancers. The antigens inserted in the VLP play a major role in eliciting a combined response of humoral and cellmediated immunity. For the generation of vaccines against a range of epitopes or a combination of epitopes, the VLP may be the selective solution for inducing both B- and T-cell responses. VLP nanoparticles are used as carriers of specific antigens inducing an appropriate immune response, without adjuvants.

7 Conclusion

For the generation of vaccines against a range of infections, a combination of DNA or peptides conjugated to nano-beads or nanoparticles may be the superlative solution as they induce both B- and T-cell responses; this approach can improve immunogenicity. But, the scenario for human vaccines is different and complicated. Conventional methods such as chemotherapy, radiotherapy, and surgery are the three main available treatments. In recent years, scientists and clinicians have been encouraged to study more about cancer cells that are predominantly effective at suppressing the individual's natural immune response. These findings helped in developing therapies to prevent some kinds of cancers. Vaccine development and targeted therapy are the most attractive areas in cancer therapy. Cancer vaccine is an emerging therapy that can help us to prevent cancers. Recent developments in the formulation of nanovaccines as a cutting-edge area of research for targeted therapy appear as a chance and challenge in designing and delivering these intentions.

Although several of the new cancer vaccines have shown ability in animal models and extending patients' survival, future vaccine developments are probably needed to sustain improvement to endorse administration efficacy and eliminate suppressive cell responses for prolonging the duration of antitumor immune responses at tumor microenvironments.

In summary, nanovaccines offer quite a lot of benefits over traditional vaccines and have the potential for boosting immunogenicity and efficacy in candidate vaccines. A low dose need of antigen and effectual processing by antigen-presenting cells are the main advantages for tomorrow's nanovaccines. Further studies are needed for approving the use of nanovaccines for disease and cancer prevention or therapies. **Acknowledgments** The authors thank the Deputy of Research, Faculty of Medical Sciences, Tarbiat Modares University, for kind assistance and support.

Conflict of Interests The authors declare that there are no conflicts of interest.

Funding This research did not receive any specific grant from university or funding agencies in the public or commercial.

References

- Avgerinos, K. I., Spyrou, N., Mantzoros, C. S., & Dalamaga, M. (2019). Obesity and cancer risk: Emerging biological mechanisms and perspectives. *Metabolism*, 92, 121–135.
- Awate, S., Babiuk, L. A., & Mutwiri, G. (2013). Mechanisms of action of adjuvants. Frontiers in Immunology, 4, 114–114.
- Azadniv, M., Bowers, W. J., Topham, D. J., & Crispe, I. N. (2011). CD4+ T cell effects on CD8+ T cell location defined using bioluminescence. *PLoS One*, 6, e16222.
- Bandi, P., Minihan, A. K., Siegel, R. L., Islami, F., Nargis, N., Jemal, A., & Fedewa, S. A. (2021). Updated review of major cancer risk factors and screening test use in the United States in 2018 and 2019, with a focus on smoking cessation. *Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers & Prevention*, 30, 1287–1299.
- Baudino, T. A. (2015). Targeted cancer therapy: The next generation of cancer treatment. *Current Drug Discovery Technologies*, 12, 3–20.
- Blass, E., & Ott, P. A. (2021). Advances in the development of personalized neoantigen-based therapeutic cancer vaccines. *Nature Reviews Clinical Oncology*, 18, 215–229.
- Caliri, A. W., Tommasi, S., & Besaratinia, A. (2021). Relationships among smoking, oxidative stress, inflammation, macromolecular damage, and cancer. *Mutation Research/Reviews in Mutation Research*, 787, 108365.
- Cuzzubbo, S., Mangsbo, S., Nagarajan, D., Habra, K., Pockley, A. G., & Mcardle, S. E. B. (2021). Cancer vaccines: Adjuvant potency, importance of age, lifestyle, and treatments. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 11, 615240.
- Das, A., & Ali, N. (2021). Nanovaccine: An emerging strategy. Expert Review of Vaccines, 20, 1273–1290.
- De Gregorio, E., Tritto, E., & Rappuoli, R. (2008). Alum adjuvanticity: Unraveling a century old mystery. *European Journal of Immunology*, 38, 2068–2071.
- De Mattos-Arruda, L., Vazquez, M., Finotello, F., Lepore, R., Porta, E., Hundal, J., Amengual-Rigo, P., Ng, C. K. Y., Valencia, A., Carrillo, J., Chan, T. A., Guallar, V., McGranahan, N., Blanco, J., & Griffith, M. (2020). Neoantigen prediction and computational perspectives towards clinical benefit: Recommendations from the ESMO Precision Medicine Working Group. Annals of Oncology, 31, 978–990.
- Emens, L. A. (2008). Cancer vaccines: On the threshold of success. *Expert Opinion on Emerging Drugs*, 13, 295–308.
- Fotakis, G., Trajanoski, Z., & Rieder, D. (2021). Computational cancer neoantigen prediction: Current status and recent advances. *Immuno-Oncology and Technology*, 12, 100052.
- Gableh, F., Saeidi, M., Hemati, S., Hamdi, K., Soleimanjahi, H., Gorji, A., & Ghaemi, A. (2016). Combination of the toll like receptor agonist and α-Galactosylceramide as an efficient adjuvant for cancer vaccine. *Journal of Biomedical Science*, *23*, 1–11.
- Garcon, N., Chomez, P., & Van Mechelen, M. (2007). GlaxoSmithKline Adjuvant Systems in vaccines: Concepts, achievements and perspectives. *Expert Review of Vaccines*, 6, 723–739.
- Garcon, N., Wettendorff, M., & Van Mechelen, M. (2011). Role of AS04 in human papillomavirus vaccine: Mode of action and clinical profile. *Expert Opinion on Biological Therapy*, 11, 667–677.
- Gheibi Hayat, S. M., & Darroudi, M. (2019). Nanovaccine: A novel approach in immunization. Journal of Cellular Physiology, 234, 12530–12536.
- Henriksen-Lacey, M., Christensen, D., Bramwell, V. W., Lindenstrøm, T., Agger, E. M., Andersen, P., & Perrie, Y. (2011). Comparison of the depot effect and immunogenicity of liposomes based on dimethyldioctadecylammonium (DDA), 3β-[N-(N',N'-Dimethylaminoethane)carbomyl] cholesterol (DC-Chol), and 1,2-Dioleoyl-3-trimethylammonium propane (DOTAP): prolonged liposome retention mediates stronger Th1 responses. *Molecular Pharmaceutics*, 8, 153–161.
- Janelle, V., Rulleau, C., Del Testa, S., Carli, C., & Delisle, J.-S. (2020). T-cell immunotherapies targeting histocompatibility and tumor antigens in hematological malignancies. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 11, 276.
- Jazayeri, S. D., & Poh, C. L. (2019). Recent advances in delivery of veterinary DNA vaccines against avian pathogens. *Veterinary Research*, 50, 78.
- Jia, J., Zhang, Y., Xin, Y., Jiang, C., Yan, B., & Zhai, S. (2018). Interactions between nanoparticles and dendritic cells: From the perspective of cancer immunotherapy. *Frontiers in Oncology*, 8, 404.
- Jo, D. H., Kim, J. H., Lee, T. G., & Kim, J. H. (2015). Size, surface charge, and shape determine therapeutic effects of nanoparticles on brain and retinal diseases. *Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology, Biology and Medicine, 11*, 1603–1611.
- Kardani, K., Bolhassani, A., & Namvar, A. (2020). An overview of in silico vaccine design against different pathogens and cancer. *Expert Review of Vaccines*, 19, 699–726.
- Karimi, H., Soleimanjahi, H., Abdoli, A., & Banijamali, R. S. (2020). Combination therapy using human papillomavirus L1/E6/E7 genes and archaeosome: A nanovaccine confer immuneadjuvanting effects to fight cervical cancer. *Scientific Reports*, 10(1), 1–15.
- Kianmehr, Z., Ardestani, S. K., Soleimanjahi, H., Farahmand, B., Abdoli, A., Khatami, M., Akbari, K., & Fotouhi, F. (2015). An effective DNA priming-protein boosting approach for the cervical cancer vaccination. *Pathogens and Disease*, 73, 1–8.
- Lee, S., & Nguyen, M. T. (2015). Recent advances of vaccine adjuvants for infectious diseases. *Immune Network*, 15, 51–57.
- Li, D., Hu, C., & Li, H. (2018). Survivin as a novel target protein for reducing the proliferation of cancer cells. *Biomedical Reports*, 8, 399–406.
- Liu, J., Miao, L., Sui, J., Hao, Y., & Huang, G. (2020). Nanoparticle cancer vaccines: Design considerations and recent advances. Asian Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences, 15, 576–590.
- Lopes, A., Vandermeulen, G., & Preat, V. (2019). Cancer DNA vaccines: Current preclinical and clinical developments and future perspectives. *Journal of Experimental & Clinical Cancer Research*, 38, 1–24.
- Maina, T. W., Grego, E. A., Boggiatto, P. M., Sacco, R. E., Narasimhan, B., & McGill, J. L. (2020). Applications of nanovaccines for disease prevention in cattle. *Frontiers in Bioengineering and Biotechnology*, 8, 608050.
- Mattiuzzi, C., & Lippi, G. (2019). Current cancer epidemiology. Journal of epidemiology and global health, 9, 217–222.
- McCormick, P. J. (2018). Cancer tsunami: Emerging trends, economic burden, and perioperative implications. *Current Anesthesiology Reports*, 8, 348–354.
- McNeel, D. G., Eickhoff, J. C., Johnson, L. E., Roth, A. R., Perk, T. G., Fong, L., Antonarakis, E. S., Wargowski, E., Jeraj, R., & Liu, G. (2019). Phase II trial of a DNA vaccine encoding prostatic acid phosphatase (pTVG-HP [MVI-816]) in patients with progressive, nonmetastatic, castration-sensitive prostate cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, *37*, 3507–3517.
- Medzhitov, R. (2001). Toll-like receptors and innate immunity. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 1, 135–145.
- Moser, C., Muller, M., Kaeser, M. D., Weydemann, U., & Amacker, M. (2013). Influenza virosomes as vaccine adjuvant and carrier system. *Expert Review of Vaccines*, 12, 779–791.

- Nandedkar, T. D. (2009). Nanovaccines: Recent developments in vaccination. Journal of Biosciences, 34, 995–1003.
- Nosrati, H., Attari, E., Abhari, F., Barsbay, M., Ghaffarlou, M., Mousazadeh, N., Vaezi, R., Kavetskyy, T., Rezaeejam, H., & Webster, T. J. (2022). Complete ablation of tumors using synchronous chemoradiation with bimetallic theranostic nanoparticles. *Bioactive Materials*, 7, 74–84.
- Nowroozi, F., Dadashzadeh, S., Soleimanjahi, H., Haeri, A., Shahhosseini, S., Javidi, J., & Karimi, H. J. N. (2018). Theranostic niosomes for direct intratumoral injection: Marked enhancement in tumor retention and anticancer efficacy. *Nanomedicine (London, England)*, 13(17), 2201–2219.
- O'hagan, D. T., Ott, G. S., & Van Nest, G. (1997). Recent advances in vaccine adjuvants: The development of MF59 emulsion and polymeric microparticles. *Molecular Medicine Today*, 3, 69–75.
- O'Hagan, D. T., Ott, G. S., Nest, G. V., Rappuoli, R., & Giudice, G. D. (2013). The history of MF59® adjuvant: A phoenix that arose from the ashes. *Expert Review of Vaccines*, 12, 13–30.
- Oleszycka, E., & Lavelle, E. C. (2014). Immunomodulatory properties of the vaccine adjuvant alum. *Current Opinion in Immunology*, 28, 1–5.
- Ott, P. A., Hu, Z., Keskin, D. B., Shukla, S. A., Sun, J., Bozym, D. J., Zhang, W., Luoma, A., Giobbie-Hurder, A., Peter, L., Chen, C., Olive, O., Carter, T. A., Li, S., Lieb, D. J., Eisenhaure, T., Gjini, E., Stevens, J., Lane, W. J., Javeri, I., Nellaiappan, K., Salazar, A. M., Daley, H., Seaman, M., Buchbinder, E. I., Yoon, C. H., Harden, M., Lennon, N., Gabriel, S., Rodig, S. J., Barouch, D. H., Aster, J. C., Getz, G., Wucherpfennig, K., Neuberg, D., Ritz, J., Lander, E. S., Fritsch, E. F., Hacohen, N., & Wu, C. J. (2017). An immunogenic personal neoantigen vaccine for patients with melanoma. *Nature*, 547, 217–221.
- Pardi, N., Hogan, M. J., Porter, F. W., & Weissman, D. (2018). mRNA vaccines a new era in vaccinology. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*, 17, 261–279.
- Paston, S. J., Brentville, V. A., Symonds, P., & Durrant, L. G. (2021). Cancer vaccines, adjuvants, and delivery systems. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 12, 627932.
- Peng, M., Mo, Y., Wang, Y., Wu, P., Zhang, Y., Xiong, F., Guo, C., Wu, X., Li, Y., Li, X., Li, G., Xiong, W., & Zeng, Z. (2019). Neoantigen vaccine: An emerging tumor immunotherapy. *Molecular Cancer*, 18, 128.
- Poorebrahim, M., Abazari, M. F., Sadeghi, S., Mahmoudi, R., Kheirollahi, A., Askari, H., Wickström, S. L., Poortahmasebi, V., Lundqvist, A., Kiessling, R., & Cid-Arregui, A. (2020). Genetically modified immune cells targeting tumor antigens. *Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, 214, 107603.
- Rosa, S. S., Prazeres, D. M. F., Azevedo, A. M., & Marques, M. P. C. (2021). mRNA vaccines manufacturing: Challenges and bottlenecks. *Vaccine*, 39, 2190–2200.
- Sahin, U., & Tureci, Ö. (2018). Personalized vaccines for cancer immunotherapy. Science, 359, 1355–1360.
- Schwendener, R. A. (2014). Liposomes as vaccine delivery systems: A review of the recent advances. *Therapeutic Advances in Vaccines*, 2, 159–182.
- Shirmohammadi, M., Soleimanjahi, H., Kianmehr, Z., Karimi, H., & Ardestani, S. K. (2021). Brucella abortus RB51 lipopolysaccharide influence as an adjuvant on the therapeutic efficacy of HPV16 L1 and HPV16 E7 DNA vaccines. *Iranian Journal of Basic Medical Sciences*, 24, 92–97.
- Srinivas, K. P. (2021). Chapter 1: Recent developments in vaccines strategies against human viral pathogens. In B. Viswanath (Ed.), *Recent developments in applied microbiology and biochemistry*. Academic Press.
- Sung, H., Ferlay, J., Siegel, R. L., Laversanne, M., Soerjomataram, I., Jemal, A., & Bray, F. (2021). Global cancer statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA: a Cancer Journal for Clinicians*, 71, 209–249.
- Tornesello, A. L., Tagliamonte, M., Tornesello, M. L., Buonaguro, F. M., & Buonaguro, L. (2020). Nanoparticles to improve the efficacy of peptide-based cancer vaccines. *Cancers*, 12, 1049.

- Tsai, T. F. (2013). Fluad®-MF59®-Adjuvanted influenza vaccine in older adults. *Infection & Chemotherapy*, 45, 159–174.
- Vermaelen, K. (2019). Vaccine strategies to improve anti-cancer cellular immune responses. Frontiers in Immunology, 10, 8.
- Wang, N., Chen, M., & Wang, T. (2019). Liposomes used as a vaccine adjuvant-delivery system: From basics to clinical immunization. *Journal of Controlled Release : Official Journal of the Controlled Release Society*, 303, 130–150.
- Wu, M., Guo, H., Liu, L., Liu, Y., & Xie, L. (2019). Size-dependent cellular uptake and localization profiles of silver nanoparticles. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 14, 4247–4259.
- Yabroff, K. R., Mariotto, A., Tangka, F., Zhao, J., Islami, F., Sung, H., Sherman, R. L., Henley, S. J., Jemal, A., & Ward, E. M. J. J. O. T. N. C. I. (2021). Annual report to the nation on the status of cancer, part 2: Patient economic burden associated with cancer care (Vol. 113, pp. 1670–1682).
- Zhang, Z., Lu, M., Qin, Y., Gao, W., Tao, L., Su, W., & Zhong, J. (2021). Neoantigen: A new breakthrough in tumor immunotherapy. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 12, 672356.
- Zitvogel, L., Apetoh, L., Ghiringhelli, F., Andre, F., Tesniere, A., & Kroemer, G. (2008). The anticancer immune response: Indispensable for therapeutic success? *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 118, 1991–2001.

Messenger RNA Nanovaccine in Cancer Immunotherapy



Mengyun Li and Hongxia Zhang

Abbreviations

ADAR	Adenosine deaminase acting on RNA
APOBEC	Apolipoprotein B mRNA-editing enzyme-catalytic polypeptide
hATTR	Hereditary transthyretin amyloidosis
BMP	Bone morphogenetic protein
CAR	Chimeric antigen receptor
COVID	Coronavirus disease
cGAS	Cyclic GMP-AMP synthase
CTLA4	Cytotoxic T lymphocyte associate protein-4
DSPC	1,2-Distearoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphocholine
eIF4e	Eukaryotic transcription initiation factor 4e
IFN	Interferon
IVT	In vitro transcription
LNP	Lipid nanoparticle
mRNA	Messenger ribonucleic acid
nrRNA	Nonreplicating RNA

M. Li

MOE Key Laboratory of Gene Function and Regulation, State Key Laboratory of Biocontrol, School of Life Sciences, Sun Yat-sen University, Guangzhou, People's Republic of China

H. Zhang (🖂)

State Key Laboratory of Oncology in South China, Collaborative Innovation Center for Cancer Medicine, Sun Yat-sen University Cancer Center, Guangzhou, People's Republic of China e-mail: zhanghx@sysucc.org.cn

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 Â. M. Almeida de Sousa et al. (eds.), *Cancer Nanotechnology*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-17831-3_9

State Key Laboratory of Oncology in South China, Collaborative Innovation Center for Cancer Medicine, Sun Yat-sen University Cancer Center, Guangzhou, People's Republic of China

OAS	Oligoadenylate synthetase
PBAE	Poly (β-amino ester)
PD-1	Programmed cell death-1
PEG	Polyethylene glycol
Poly(A)	Polyadenylation
PKR	Protein kinase R
PRR	Pathogen recognition receptor
RIG	Retinoic acid-inducible gene
saRNA	Self-amplifying RNA
SARS	Severe acute respiratory syndrome
STING	Stimulator of interferon genes
TAAs	Tumor-associated antigens
TLR	Toll-like receptors
TRIM	Tripartite motif

1 Introduction

Cancer vaccine, different from other prophylactic vaccine for infectious disease, usually plays a role for therapeutic strategy. The principle of cancer vaccine is to induce potent antitumor responses by vaccinating patients with tumor-specific antigen(s) and immune-stimulating adjuvant (Melero et al., 2014; Coffman et al., 2010). Major types of vaccines include inactivated, attenuated, and recombinant subunit vaccine as well as nucleic acid vaccine. Among these vaccines, nucleic acid vaccines were less well developed in commercial distribution due to immature technology. But in the past few years, messenger RNA (mRNA) vaccine technology has been quickly developed as a novel approach to infectious disease control and cancer therapeutics. mRNA-based cancer vaccine shares some common feature in technology with nucleoside-based drugs and antiviral vaccines. The idea of using RNA in vaccine has been around for nearly three decades (Dolgin, 2021). In vitro transcribed (IVT) RNA was delivered into various types of cells by lipid-based transfection system in 1989 (Malone et al., 1989), and then mRNA vaccine was first proposed and tested on animal model in 1993 (Martinon et al., 1993). With the feature of rapid generic production, noninfectious and non-genome-integrating feature, mRNA vaccine technology has advantages over conventional vaccines and DNA vaccine. Moreover, RNA vaccine also circumvents the problem in extensive production of antigen and avoids potential regulatory barrier in gene therapy.

However, the progress of mRNA vaccine development in past decades was slow (Verbeke et al., 2019). A number of important issues must be considered for a successful mRNA vaccine production and in vivo administration. The in vivo intracellular nucleoside stability and translation efficacy as well as efficient targeted delivery play a key role in the final mRNA vaccine effect. Notably, cancer vaccine is faced with additional challenge in antigen selection and inducing maximum antitumor immunity in a generally immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment. How



Fig. 1 The synthesis flow of a typical mRNA nanovaccine

to keep a balance between immune stimulation and unwanted toxicity is also another important issue for designing safe and effective mRNA vaccines.

At present, mRNA cancer vaccine is mainly composed of mRNA encoding tumor antigens, delivery vehicles, and immune adjuvants. As shown in Fig. 1, a typical workflow for mRNA vaccine development consists of the following steps: (i) target protein or antigen sequencing selection, (ii)DNA cloning and expanding of antigen coding sequence, (iii) in vitro transcription of linearized DNA into mRNA, (iv) carrier-mRNA formulation, and (v) in vitro efficacy evaluation (Fig. 1).

In this chapter, we first discuss the major components of mRNA nanovaccine, mainly antigen-encoding mRNA with chemical modification and delivery systems with self-adjuvant feature. Tumor antigen sequence selection would be introduced at the end of this chapter. We also review the emerging field of personalized cancer vaccine and discuss recent development and future directions for this promising cancer immunotherapy strategy.

2 mRNA Modification

Generally, the mRNA component of an mRNA vaccine is prepared by in vitro transcription reaction with a linear DNA template using bacteriophage RNA polymerase. The linear DNA template consists of the target protein (antigen) sequence and a promoter. This in vitro transcribed mRNA usually has a 5' cap structure, untranslated regions (UTRs), and a 3' poly(A) tail flanking the open reading frame (ORF) to enhance mRNA stability and translational efficiency (Fig. 1) (Kwon et al., 2018; Van Hoecke & Roose, 2019). Additional modifications are often included to improve mRNA stability and modulate host immune response to foreign mRNA.

2.1 5' Cap

The 5' cap structure presents generally in eukaryotic mRNAs (Furuichi, 2015). Initially 7-methylguanosine binds to the 5' end of mRNA via 5'-5' triphosphate to form a cap 0 structure (m⁷GpppN). The extra methyl group is added to the 2' hydroxyl of adjacent first and second nucleoside form cap1 (m⁷GpppNm) and cap2 (m⁷GpppNmpNm), respectively. IVT mRNAs typically use cap1 structures. Cap structure blocks the 5' end of RNA to avoid exonuclease degradation and promote mRNA stability. Besides, eukaryotic transcription initiation factor 4e (eIF4e) binds to 5' cap, facilitating ribosome binding and transcription initiation (Sonenberg et al., 1978). There are two major capping methods for IVT mRNA, including posttranscriptional enzymatic capping and co-transcriptional capping by adding cap analogs in transcription mixture. Compared with enzymatic capping, co-transcriptional capping achieves at one step, thereby avoiding additional reaction process of enzymatic capping (Yisraeli & Melton, 1989). In addition, chemical modifications on cap analogs like oxygen substitution into sulfur and modification of 3'-OH into the 3'O-Me can block reverse transcription and enhance translation efficiency (Jemielity et al., 2003).

2.2 UTRs

UTRs, including 5'-UTR and 3'-UTR, regulate posttranscriptional expression efficiency and half-life of mRNA. At transcription initiation, 43S preinitiation complex scans 5'-UTR elements for start codon site. The efficiency of ribosome recruitment to 5'-UTR directly affects the translation efficiency (Hajj & Whitehead, 2017).

There are three major strategies for choosing UTR sequence and optimization in developing mRNA vaccine. The first is to choose UTRs from highly expressed human genes such as human α/β -globin. The second is to use the native virus and target gene UTRs. And the third one is by an in vitro cell-based selection approach by adapting systematic evolution of ligands by exponential enrichment (SELEX) method (Orlandini von Niessen et al., 2019). So far , the first two strategies are commonly used. In fact, BNT162b2, a COVID-19 mRNA nanovaccine developed by Pfizer, takes approach of the first strategy by incorporating 5'-UTR of human α -globin with minor modification in Kozak sequence (Xia, 2021). At present, UTRs used in mRNA vaccine are often from α/β -globin, human heat shock protein, and virus-derived UTRs. Considering the starting site of translation in 5' end, the presence of internal ribosome entry site (IRES) in the 5'-UTR followed 5'-cap enables a

universal translation process and enhanced antigen protein expression (Tan & Wan, 2008).

Compared to the role of 5'-UTR in initiating protein translation, 3'-UTR is more inclined to maintain the stability of mRNA. The length of 3'-UTR affects mRNA half-life. In general, longer sequence of 3'-UTR would shorten the half-life of mRNA, yet shorter 3'-UTR hampers translation, and optimal natural occurring 3'-UTRs have been screened for mRNA vaccine and cell reprograming (Orlandini von Niessen et al., 2019; Kenyon, 1975).

2.3 Poly(A) Tail

Poly(A) tail at 3' end of mRNA consists of repeated adenine nucleotides. This polyadenylation signal is important for RNA stability and translational efficiency. The length of poly(A) sequence affects translation efficiency (Passmore & Coller, 2022). In a dendritic cell-based mRNA vaccine, Holtkamp et al. firstly demonstrated the poly(A) tail, and 3'-UTR modification increased IVT RNA stability, translational efficacy, and T-cell stimulatory capacity of mRNA-loaded dendritic cells (Holtkamp et al., 2006).

2.4 Nucleotide Modification

Chemical modification on nucleosides regulates mRNA-mediated innate immune activation and mRNA stability (Kariko et al., 2005, 2008). The delivered mRNA-associated immunogenicity plays dual role in therapy. On one hand, exogenous nucleoside delivery could stimulate innate immune response through intracellular Toll-like receptors (TLRs) to promote dendritic cells (DCs) maturation and enhance antigen presentation. On the other hand, intracellular delivery of exogenous mRNA could elicit host antiviral response. Antiviral response exerts anti-mRNA property by RNA cleavage and translation inhibition (Pollard et al., 2013).

Intrinsic mechanisms to prevent virus replication include double-stranded RNAdependent protein kinase (PKR) activation and phosphorylation of translation initiation factor (eIF) α subunit, leading to the inhibition of translation, RNase activation through 2'-5'OAS, adenosine deaminase-induced mRNA deamination and ensuing translation stop, and so on. Especially, type I interferon (IFN-I) pathway is the hallmark of antiviral response (Pollard et al., 2013). IFN-I clearly interferes with mRNA-based therapy. Activated IFN-I pathway as an antiviral response to exogenous nucleosides inhibits mRNA expression independent of its specific sequence (Pichlmair & e Sousa, 2007). IFNAR^{-/-} mice, which lack intrinsic IFN-I response, showed an enhance lipid-complexed mRNA expression and antigen response in vivo compared with WT mice (Pollard et al., 2013). Nucleoside modification enables the host to distinguish host and invader RNA molecules. Unmodified RNA stimulated TLR3, TLR7, and TLR8, leading to the induction of potent IFN α/β as well as IL-12 (Kariko et al., 2005). Various modifications have been assessed for reduction in TLR activation, including pseudouridine (ψ), N1-methylpseudouridine (m1 ψ), 5-methoxyuridine (5moU), 5-methyluridine (m5U), 2-thiouridine (s2U), 5-methylcytidine (m5C), N1-methyladenosine (m1A), and N6-methyladenosine (m6A) (Hajj & Whitehead, 2017). It was reported that mRNA bearing s2U and m5C modification dedicated a higher expression level in vivo compared with unmodified RNA (Kormann et al., 2011). And enzymatic dimerization of uridine as well as pseudouridine can avoid pathogen recognition receptor (PRR) recognition and downstream PKR activation by fast protein liquid chromatography (FPLC) or high pressure liquid chromatography (HPLC) to remove dsRNA impurity is also critical for reducing the immunogenicity of synthesized mRNA (Weissman et al., 2013; Baiersdorfer et al., 2019; Nelson et al., 2020).

Two major types of mRNA are tested in vaccine application. First one is traditional nonreplicating mRNA (nrRNA). For nonreplicating mRNA, the expression level of encoded antigens directly depends on the copy number of mRNA, and the final immune response is closely related with injection dose and frequency. Another one is self-amplifying RNA (saRNA). This kind of RNA has a virus replicase sequence before ORF (Bloom et al., 2021). The replicase element is often derived from alphaviruses, flaviviruses, measles viruses, or rhabdoviruses, which makes mRNA to self-amplify (Lundstrom, 2018). Therefore, saRNA could reach a similar immune response at a lower dosage than nrRNA (Beissert et al., 2020). On the other hand, the larger size of saRNA makes the in vivo delivery more challenging.

3 mRNA Delivery System

mRNA is a single-stranded macromolecule with a negative charge. Electrostatic repulsion makes it difficult for mRNA molecules to pass through the cell membrane and enter the cell. Moreover, mRNA molecule is susceptible to degradation by a variety of enzymes in the body. Therefore, special delivery system is required for in vivo mRNA delivery (Sahin et al., 2014).

Generally, there are two major vectors of nucleoside delivery, including viral vectors and nonviral vectors. Here, we mainly introduce nonviral vectors in detail. Nonviral vectors include lipid, polymer, and peptide-based vectors, among which lipid vector is the utmost investigated. Decades ago, lipid has been explored as a vector for small interfering RNA delivery (Rettig & Behlke, 2012). The mainstream delivery systems currently on the market include protamine carrier technology, polymer carrier technology (polyplexes), and lipid nanoparticle technology (LNPs).

3.1 Protamine-Based Technology

Protamine is a natural cationic protein that can complex negatively charged mRNA molecules into nanoscale nucleic acid particles, thereby protecting mRNA from degradation by RNase in the serum. However, the combination of protamine and mRNA is too tight for mRNA release, and the protein expression efficiency of mRNA vaccines using this preparation was limited, and the expression of antigens is also largely affected by the ratio of protamine and mRNA. The RNActive® platform developed by CureVac in Germany successfully solved this problem (Rauch et al., 2017). Among the protamine-mRNA complexes obtained through the RNActive® platform, protamine as a TLR7/8 antagonist can induce Th1 cell responses, and mRNA can express the target protein to induce specific immune response (Kallen et al., 2013). RNActive® platform-based cancer vaccines against various cancer types are currently under clinical trials (Papachristofilou et al., 2019).

3.2 Polymer Carrier Technology

The clinical application of polymer carrier technology is not as broad as liposomal carriers, but it shows excellent characteristics as a carrier for nucleic acid drugs. Among various polymers, polyethyleneimine (PEI), polyamidoamine (PAMAM) dendrimer, and polysaccharide are often used as mRNA carriers (Moghimi et al., 2005; Chahal et al., 2016). Cationic polymers shuttle nucleic acids across cellular and subcellular membranes by condensing them into nanocomplexes. When designing a multimeric vector, additional consideration should be given to the molecular weight and the amount of charge of the multimeric vector. Excessive carrier molecules and carrying capacity usually cause the tight combination of the vector and the mRNA molecule, leading to a lower expression efficiency. Polymer carrier development is also hampered by its in vivo toxicities.

3.3 Lipid Nanoparticle Technology (LNP)

In 2018, the FDA approved Onpattro therapy in hATTR induced polyneuropathy (Akinc et al., 2019). Onpattro is a small interfering RNA for silencing hATTR protein expression. Clinical application of Onpattro fully takes advantages of the lipid nanoparticles (LNP). Besides siRNA, mRNA can be formulated and efficiently delivered via LNP as well. Commonly used mRNA-LNP prescriptions generally contain four components – cationic lipids, phospholipids, cholesterol, and polyethylene glycol (PEG) – to achieve mRNA encapsulation.

3.4 Ionizable Cationic Lipid

Cationic lipid was first used in RNA delivery in 1989 (Malone et al., 1989). Besides cationic lipid, other cationic polymers including poly(L-lysine), PEI, DEAD-dextran, PBAE, and chitosan were also explored in the delivery system. However, the cytotoxicity of cationic lipid is obvious. The cytotoxicity of cationic lipids is mainly related to its structure and charge. Cationic lipids are amphiphilic molecules with polar heads, linkages, and hydrophobic tails. According to the type of head, they can be divided into quaternary ammonium salt linked cationic lipids, carbamate linked cationic lipids, amino acid, or the cationic lipid of the polypeptide head. In contrast, quaternary ammonium salt linked cationic lipids are more cytotoxic. The carbamate linked cationic lipids are usually neutral or have a low surface charge, and their cytotoxicity will also be reduced. Cationic lipids with amino acids or polypeptide heads have good biocompatibility and strong biodegradability. The cationic lipid DOTMA, the first cationic lipid used for nucleic acid delivery in 1987, is a quaternary ammonium salt cationic substance (Felgner et al., 1987) and is still used in cell transfection.

3.5 Phospholipids

Phospholipids used in LNP formulation play a helper role. For example, dioleoylphosphatidylethanolamine (DOPE) is cationic synthetic phospholipid, belonging to carbamate linked cationic lipid. As an auxiliary lipid in cationic liposomes, it can stabilize the bilayer membrane and reduce the toxicity of positive components, interfere with the lipid membrane and make the endosomal membrane unstable, improve transmembrane efficiency, and help nucleic acid release. DOPE is the first lipid tested in clinical trials (Bibel et al., 1992). Similar to DOPE, DSPC (1,2-diste aroyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphocholine) was also used in LNP formulation. As another commonly used helper lipid, cholesterol has strong membrane fusibility and promotes the intracellular uptake of mRNA and cytoplasmic entry.

In the chemical synthesis process of LNP, PEG lipids in the ethanol loading formulation play a key role in LNP size and surface characteristics (Cullis & Hope, 2017). Neutral lipid used in cationic lipid complex could reduce cationic cytotoxicity and help to destabilize cell membrane, thus promoting fusion between LNP and cell membrane. PEGylated lipids are located on the surface of LNP to improve their hydrophilicity, avoid rapid clearance by the immune system, prevent particle aggregation, and increase stability. Typical commercial PEGylated lipids include DMPE-PEG2000 (phosphatidylethanolamine-polyethylene glycol (DSPE-PEG), and PEG2000-DMG.

3.6 LNP Application in COVID-19 mRNA Vaccine

In the end of 2019, the outbreak of the COVID-2019 pandemic demands rapid vaccine development, and mRNA vaccine technology fulfilled the urgent medical needs. The first two mRNA vaccines that passed through phase III clinical trials for SARS-CoV-2 are BNT162b2 developed by Pfizer and BioNTech and mRNA-1273 developed by Moderna, Inc. (Dolgin, 2021). Both vaccines target the pre-fusion stabilized spike glycoprotein of SARS-CoV-2 virus and are encapsulated in LNPs, which are composed of ionizable lipid ALC-0315 (SM-102 for mRNA-1273), helper lipid DSPC and cholesterol, and PEG lipid (Xia, 2021). Based on the remarkable protection efficacy, the FDA authorized an emergency use license for a new coronavirus vaccine developed using mRNA technology. Nevertheless, there are also reports about the side effect of the mRNA vaccines, mainly derived from the inflammatory response induced by lipid components of LNP vectors (Ndeupen et al., 2021; Tahtinen et al., 2022). Although such immunogenicity of lipids is detrimental for preventative vaccine, it may help potentiate antitumor immunity induced by therapeutic mRNA cancer vaccine. Thus, some lipids of LNPs serve a selfadjuvant function besides mRNA delivery vectors when used for therapeutic cancer vaccine.

4 Adjuvant

An adjuvant is an ingredient used in many vaccines that helps create a stronger immune response in people receiving the vaccine (Coffman et al., 2010). Adjuvant usually helps the body to produce stronger and more durable immune response than non-adjuvanted vaccines. Pathogen recognition receptor (PRR) agonist can trigger intracellular immune response. Many PRRs such as Toll-like receptors (TLRs), retinoic acid-inducible gene (RIG-I)-like receptors, nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain (NOD)-like receptors, and C-type lectin receptors have been discovered, and their corresponding natural or synthesized agonists have been developed as potent adjuvants in vaccine formulations (Van Herck et al., 2021). Here, we discuss the delivery carriers with self-adjuvant properties in mRNA nanovaccine for cancer immunotherapy.

4.1 Delivery Carriers with Self-Adjuvant Properties

Exogenous mRNA entering cytoplasm can be recognized by intracellular innate immune receptors such as TLR3/7/8, which then elicit antiviral response, mainly type I interferon response (Coffman et al., 2010). Although type I interferon response is often considered an adjuvant signal for robust antitumor T-cell response,

it also suppresses mRNA translation (Pollard et al., 2013). Kariko et al. identified that uridine in IVT mRNA elicited TLR-mediated immune activation, and modified nucleoside such as pseudouridine significantly decreased mRNA immunogenicity and increased mRNA translation efficiency (Kariko et al., 2005, 2008). Recently, in another study from BioNTech, Inc. using neutral liposome for spleen-enriched mRNA cancer vaccine delivery, the authors showed that mRNA molecules indeed activate innate immune response through TLR7/8, and such immune activation contributed to the antitumor efficacy of the vaccine (Kranz et al., 2016). Thus, the immunogenicity of mRNA itself can serve as a double-edged sword depending on the purpose of mRNA vaccine.

As carriers developed for in vivo delivery of mRNA, some carriers also showed immune-stimulating characteristics. For example, protamine, the major component of RNActive platform by CureVac, Inc., can activate TLR7 and TLR8 and ensuing antiviral and pro-inflammatory cytokine expression, which facilitate antitumor effect of such cancer vaccine (Skold et al., 2015). In a polyplex-based mRNA vaccine, the authors used cationic liposome to construct a polyplex for mRNA delivery (Persano et al., 2017). In their report, such polyplex activates TLR4 and downstream IL-1 β and IFN β production, which improved antitumor T-cell activity and overall efficacy. In line with this finding, we also observed TLR4-mediated immune signaling in boosting a lipid-like material-based mRNA cancer vaccine (Zhang et al., 2021). In this study, we identified lipid-like material C1 that efficiently expressed tumor antigen from mRNA translation in dendritic cells and promoted antigen presentation and CD8⁺ T-cell activation. Interestingly, C1 also elicited proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-1B and IL-12 in dendritic cells, and such inflammatory response was dependent on TLR4 expression on dendritic cells. It is currently not clear why the carrier-induced TLR response did not impair mRNA translation efficiency. It is possible that nanovectors serve as mild TLR agonists, and induced TLR response was strong enough for dendritic cell activation, but not for RNA translation-suppressing effect. Another possibility is that vector-induced immune response has less effect on mRNA function. Such possibilities need further experimental validation or disapproval.

Besides TLRs, cGAS-STING pathway is another intracellular DNA-sensing pathway, by which cGAS detect cytoplasmic DNA strand and synthesize cyclic GMP-AMP, which serve as an activating ligand for STING, and activate downstream IFN-I signaling and NF-κB signaling, which promote antiviral and inflammatory response (Zhang et al., 2020). STING agonists have been shown antitumor activity when directly injected into tumor tissues and also showed immune-activating effect when used as adjuvant component in cancer vaccines. Lately, two groups identified cyclic lipids that serve as both mRNA vector and STING agonist. In one study, Luo et al. screen a group of lipids and found one with cyclic head named PC7A was able to form nanoparticle structure with mRNA and activates STING in dendritic cells as well (Luo et al., 2017). Such PC7A-based mRNA vaccine showed superior antitumor efficacy on multiple mouse models. Interestingly, the authors further showed that PC7A as a pH-sensitive polymer induced STING activation by the polymer-induced formation of STING-PC7A condensates in a different way



Fig. 2 A cartoon illustration of innate immune signaling pathways activated by different nanoparticles used as mRNA delivery vectors. C1 lipid nanoparticles activated TLR4 and NF-κB signaling (Zhang et al., 2021), while PC7A nanoparticles (Luo et al., 2017) and cyclic lipid nanoparticles (Miao et al., 2019) induced STING activation and downstream NF-κB and IRF3 signaling, together leading to inflammatory gene and type I IFN gene induction

than natural ligand cGAMP (Li et al., 2021). Moreover, PC7A in combination with cGAMP activated stronger STING activation and induced a better antitumor efficacy than individual ligands on several mouse tumor models. On the other hand, Miao et al. performed similar screening using different types of cyclic lipids and identified the lipids with a common structure: an unsaturated lipid tail, a dihydroimidazole linker, and cyclic amine head groups induce intracellular STING path-way activation, which results in limited systemic cytokine expression and enhanced antitumor efficacy (Fig. 2) (Miao et al., 2019). It remains unclear why the nanovector-induced STING activation and ensuing IFN-I promoted antitumor immunity with-out impairing mRNA translation. Together, using nanovectors with self-adjuvant properties for mRNA vaccine delivery is a popular approach in the recent literature. But before the broad application, further work is warranted to decipher the underly-ing mechanism for better design of efficient and safe mRNA nanovectors.

5 Antigen Selection for mRNA Cancer Vaccine

The selection of mRNA-encoded cancer antigens is a critical issue in the development of mRNA cancer vaccines. Based on the complex interaction between tumor progression and host immune system, screening for a specific tumor antigen which can be cloned in the mRNA vaccine development is difficult. The prerequisite for these processes is that the encoded antigen can efficiently induce antitumor immunity and ensuing cancer cell killing. The ideal antigen should enable the immune system to specifically respond to tumor cells while avoiding the attack on normal cells and has a clinical therapeutic effect. Tumor-associated antigens (TAAs) are abnormally expressed on cancer cells and can be used as targets for immunotherapy (Coulie et al., 2014). At present, most cancer vaccines target tumor-associated antigens including cancer/testis antigen, carcinoembryonic antigen, and cell differentiation antigen (Hollingsworth & Jansen, 2019). However, there are two major problems remained in cancer vaccine target TAAs. First is the lower T-cell response because high affinity self-recognizing immune cells are eliminated by central and peripheral tolerance in the process of T- and B-cell differentiation. This kind of vaccine has a requirement on the optimization of immune adjuvants to help improving adaptive immune response. Another problem is the nonspecificity of TAAs. Some normal cells that express these antigens are susceptible to vaccine-induced immune attack, leading to collateral damage.

Neoantigens are another commonly used antigen in cancer vaccines (Schumacher & Schreiber, 2015). Neoantigens or new proteins produced from cancer-specific mutations have very high specificity and immunogenicity. Genomic analysis reveals that patients who burden overall high mutation loads and potential neoantigen numbers benefit more from immune checkpoint blockade therapy such as CTLA4 and PD-1 inhibitor treatment (Van Allen et al., 2015; Hugo et al., 2016). Carreno and colleagues developed a DC vaccine that targets neoantigen and observed increased breadth and diversity of melanoma neoantigen-specific T cells (Carreno et al., 2015). Neoantigens vary between different patients, and accurate neoantigen identification for individual patients was difficult. Thanks to the development of sequencing technology and antigen prediction algorithm, personalized vaccine can be achieved. So far the antigen prediction accuracy is still very low, and multiple antigens are often included in the mRNA vaccine to maximize the chance of producing antitumor immunity. For instance, 34 neoantigens were included in mRNA vaccine mRNA-4157 to induce cancer-specific T-cell response and antitumor effect for treating unresectable solid tumors and resected melanoma (Burris et al., 2019). In addition to CD8 epitope, CD4 epitope also elicits antitumor immunity, but the prediction is even more difficult (Cafri et al., 2020). BNT111, an intravenously administered liposomal RNA vaccine, targets dendritic cells and induces strong antigen-specific T-cell response and antitumor effect in mouse models and is currently under clinical trial for treating melanoma patients in combination with anti-PD1 therapy (Kranz et al., 2016; Sahin et al., 2020).

6 Future Directions of mRNA Cancer Vaccine

Vaccination is essential for inducing antigen-specific T cells response as the initial step, which does not fundamentally solve the common problem of T-cell exhaustion in the process of cancer immunity. Thus, combining cancer vaccines with immune checkpoint blockade therapy can help improve the antitumor efficacy (Curran & Glisson, 2019). Besides encoding antigen, mRNA can also be programmed to

deliver pro-inflammatory cytokines or antibodies into tumor microenvironment to activate antitumor immunity (Van Hoecke et al., 2021). For example, mRNA-2752 from Moderna, Inc. (encoding human OX40L, IL-23, and IL-36 γ) is currently under clinical trial to test its effect on T-cell infiltration into tumors and antitumor efficacy (Bauer et al., 2019; Patel et al., 2020). Moreover, mRNA can also be used to express receptors for T-cell reprogramming into CAR-Ts and TCR-Ts, which are promising adoptive T-cell transfer immunotherapeutics for treating blood cancers and solid tumors (Foster et al., 2019). Overall, recent research achievements have demonstrated that mRNA technology hold promise as a therapeutic platform to treat various diseases in addition to tumor immunotherapy and infectious vaccines. The coming years will witness the surge of mRNA drug development as another powerful weapon for treating cancer and other human diseases.

References

- Akinc, A., Maier, M. A., Manoharan, M., Fitzgerald, K., Jayaraman, M., Barros, S., Ansell, S., Du, X., Hope, M. J., Madden, T. D., Mui, B. L., Semple, S. C., Tam, Y. K., Ciufolini, M., Witzigmann, D., Kulkarni, J. A., VaN Der Meel, R., & Cullis, P. R. (2019). The Onpattro story and the clinical translation of nanomedicines containing nucleic acid-based drugs. *Nature Nanotechnology*, *14*, 1084–1087.
- Baiersdorfer, M., Boros, G., Muramatsu, H., Mahiny, A., Vlatkovic, I., Sahin, U., & Kariko, K. (2019). A facile method for the removal of dsRNA contaminant from in vitro-transcribed mRNA. *Molecular Therapy. Nucleic Acids*, 15, 26–35.
- Bauer, T., Patel, M., Jimeno, A., Wang, D., McDermott, J., Zacharek, S., Randolph, W., Johansen, L., Hopson, K., Frederick, J., Zaks, T., & Meehan, R. S. (2019). Abstract CT210: A phase I, open-label, multicenter, dose escalation study of mRNA-2752, a lipid nanoparticle encapsulating mRNAs encoding human OX40L, IL-23, and IL-36γ, for intratumoral injection alone and in combination with immune checkpoint blockade. *Cancer Research*, *79*, CT210–CT210.
- Beissert, T., Perkovic, M., Vogel, A., Erbar, S., Walzer, K. C., Hempel, T., Brill, S., Haefner, E., Becker, R., Tureci, O., & Sahin, U. (2020). A trans-amplifying RNA vaccine strategy for induction of potent protective immunity. *Molecular Therapy*, 28, 119–128.
- Bibel, D. J., Aly, R., & Shinefield, H. R. (1992). Antimicrobial activity of sphingosines. *The Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, 98, 269–273.
- Bloom, K., Van Den Berg, F., & Arbuthnot, P. (2021). Self-amplifying RNA vaccines for infectious diseases. *Gene Therapy*, 28, 117–129.
- Burris, H. A., Patel, M. R., Cho, D. C., Clarke, J. M., Gutierrez, M., Zaks, T. Z., Frederick, J., Hopson, K., Mody, K., Binanti-Berube, A., Robert-Tissot, C., Goldstein, B., Breton, B., Sun, J., Zhong, S., Pruitt, S. K., Keating, K., Meehan, R. S., & Gainor, J. F. (2019). A phase I multicenter study to assess the safety, tolerability, and immunogenicity of mRNA-4157 alone in patients with resected solid tumors and in combination with pembrolizumab in patients with unresectable solid tumors. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 37, 2523.
- Cafri, G., Gartner, J. J., Zaks, T., Hopson, K., Levin, N., Paria, B. C., Parkhurst, M. R., Yossef, R., Lowery, F. J., Jafferji, M. S., Prickett, T. D., Goff, S. L., McGowan, C. T., Seitter, S., Shindorf, M. L., Parikh, A., Chatani, P. D., Robbins, P. F., & Rosenberg, S. A. (2020). mRNA vaccine-induced neoantigen-specific T cell immunity in patients with gastrointestinal cancer. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 130, 5976–5988.
- Carreno, B. M., Magrini, V., Becker-Hapak, M., Kaabinejadian, S., Hundal, J., Petti, A. A., Ly, A., Lie, W. R., Hildebrand, W. H., Mardis, E. R., & Linette, G. P. (2015). Cancer immunotherapy.

A dendritic cell vaccine increases the breadth and diversity of melanoma neoantigen-specific T cells. *Science*, *348*, 803–808.

- Chahal, J. S., Khan, O. F., Cooper, C. L., McPartlan, J. S., Tsosie, J. K., Tilley, L. D., Sidik, S. M., Lourido, S., Langer, R., Bavari, S., Ploegh, H. L., & Anderson, D. G. (2016). Dendrimer-RNA nanoparticles generate protective immunity against lethal Ebola, H1N1 influenza, and toxoplasma gondii challenges with a single dose. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* of the United States of America, 113, E4133–E4142.
- Coffman, R. L., Fau, S. A., & Seder, R. A. (2010). Vaccine adjuvants: Putting innate immunity to work. *Immunity*, 33(4), 492–503.
- Coulie, P. G., Van Den Eynde, B. J., Van Der Bruggen, P., & Boon, T. (2014). Tumour antigens recognized by T lymphocytes: At the core of cancer immunotherapy. *Nature Reviews. Cancer*, 14, 135–146.
- Cullis, P. R., & Hope, M. J. (2017). Lipid nanoparticle systems for enabling gene therapies. *Molecular Therapy*, 25, 1467–1475.
- Curran, M. A., & Glisson, B. S. (2019). New hope for therapeutic cancer vaccines in the era of immune checkpoint modulation. *Annual Review of Medicine*, 70, 409–424.
- Dolgin, E. (2021). How COVID unlocked the power of RNA vaccines. Nature, 589, 189-191.
- Felgner, P. L., Gadek, T. R., Holm, M., Roman, R., Chan, H. W., Wenz, M., Northrop, J. P., Ringold, G. M., & Danielsen, M. (1987). Lipofection: A highly efficient, lipid-mediated DNAtransfection procedure. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States* of America, 84, 7413–7417.
- Foster, J. B., Barrett, D. M., & Kariko, K. (2019). The emerging role of in vitro-transcribed mRNA in adoptive T cell immunotherapy. *Molecular Therapy*, 27, 747–756.
- Furuichi, Y. (2015). Discovery of m(7)G-cap in eukaryotic mRNAs. *Proceedings of the Japan Academy. Series B, Physical and Biological Sciences*, 91, 394–409.
- Hajj, K. A., & Whitehead, K. A. (2017). Tools for translation: Non-viral materials for therapeutic mRNA delivery. *Nature Reviews Materials*, 2, 1–17.
- Hollingsworth, R. E., & Jansen, K. (2019). Turning the corner on therapeutic cancer vaccines. NPJ Vaccines, 4, 7.
- Holtkamp, S., Kreiter, S., Selmi, A., Simon, P., Koslowski, M., Huber, C., Tureci, O., & Sahin, U. (2006). Modification of antigen-encoding RNA increases stability, translational efficacy, and T-cell stimulatory capacity of dendritic cells. *Blood*, 108, 4009–4017.
- Hugo, W., Zaretsky, J. M., Sun, L., Song, C., Moreno, B. H., Hu-Lieskovan, S., Berent-Maoz, B., Pang, J., Chmielowski, B., Cherry, G., Seja, E., Lomeli, S., Kong, X., Kelley, M. C., Sosman, J. A., Johnson, D. B., Ribas, A., & Lo, R. S. (2016). Genomic and transcriptomic features of response to anti-PD-1 therapy in metastatic melanoma. *Cell*, 165, 35–44.
- Jemielity, J., Fowler, T., Zuberek, J., Stepinski, J., Lewdorowicz, M., Niedzwiecka, A., Stolarski, R., Darzynkiewicz, E., & Rhoads, R. E. (2003). Novel anti-reverse cap analogs with superior translational properties. *RNA*, *9*, 1108–1122.
- Kallen, K. J., Heidenreich, R., Schnee, M., Petsch, B., Schlake, T., Thess, A., Baumhof, P., Scheel, B., Koch, S. D., & Fotin-Mleczek, M. (2013). A novel, disruptive vaccination technology: Selfadjuvanted RNActive((R)) vaccines. *Human Vaccines & Immunotherapeutics*, 9, 2263–2276.
- Kariko, K., Buckstein, M., Ni, H., & Weissman, D. (2005). Suppression of RNA recognition by Toll-like receptors: The impact of nucleoside modification and the evolutionary origin of RNA. *Immunity*, 23, 165–175.
- Kariko, K., Muramatsu, H., Welsh, F. A., Ludwig, J., Kato, H., Akira, S., & Weissman, D. (2008). Incorporation of pseudouridine into mRNA yields superior nonimmunogenic vector with increased translational capacity and biological stability. *Molecular Therapy*, 16, 1833–1840.
- Kenyon, F. E. (1975). Poronography, the law and mental health. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 126, 225–232.
- Kormann, M. S., Hasenpusch, G., Aneja, M. K., Nica, G., Flemmer, A. W., Herber-Jonat, S., Huppmann, M., Mays, L. E., Illenyi, M., Schams, A., Griese, M., Bittmann, I., Handgretinger, R., Hartl, D., Rosenecker, J., & Rudolph, C. (2011). Expression of therapeutic proteins after delivery of chemically modified mRNA in mice. *Nature Biotechnology*, 29, 154–157.

- Kranz, L. M., Diken, M., Haas, H., Kreiter, S., Loquai, C., Reuter, K. C., Meng, M., Fritz, D., Vascotto, F., Hefesha, H., Grunwitz, C., Vormehr, M., Hüsemann, Y., Selmi, A., Kuhn, A. N., Buck, J., Derhovanessian, E., Rae, R., Attig, S., Diekmann, J., Jabulowsky, R. A., Heesch, S., Hassel, J., Langguth, P., Grabbe, S., Huber, C., Türeci, Ö., & Sahin, U. (2016). Systemic RNA delivery to dendritic cells exploits antiviral defence for cancer immunotherapy. *Nature*, 534, 396–401.
- Kwon, H., Kim, M., Seo, Y., Moon, Y. S., Lee, H. J., Lee, K., & Lee, H. (2018). Emergence of synthetic mRNA: In vitro synthesis of mRNA and its applications in regenerative medicine. *Biomaterials*, 156, 172–193.
- Li, S., Luo, M., Wang, Z., Feng, Q., Wilhelm, J., Wang, X., Li, W., Wang, J., Cholka, A., Fu, Y. X., Sumer, B. D., Yu, H., & Gao, J. (2021). Prolonged activation of innate immune pathways by a polyvalent STING agonist. *Nature Biomedical Engineering*, 5(5), 455–466.
- Lundstrom, K. (2018). Self-replicating RNA viruses for RNA therapeutics. *Molecules*, 23(12), 3310.
- Luo, M., Wang, H., Wang, Z., Cai, H., Lu, Z., Li, Y., Du, M., Huang, G., Wang, C., Chen, X., Porembka, M. R., Lea, J., Frankel, A. E., Fu, Y. X., Chen, Z. J., & Gao, J. (2017). A STINGactivating nanovaccine for cancer immunotherapy. *Nature Nanotechnology*, 12, 648–654.
- Malone, R. W., Felgner, P. L., & Verma, I. M. (1989). Cationic liposome-mediated RNA transfection. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 86, 6077–6081.
- Martinon, F., Krishnan, S., Lenzen, G., Magne, R., Gomard, E., Guillet, J. G., Levy, J. P., & Meulien, P. (1993). Induction of virus-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes in vivo by liposomeentrapped mRNA. *European Journal of Immunology*, 23, 1719–1722.
- Melero, I., Gaudernack, G., Gerritsen, W., Huber, C., Parmiani, G., Scholl, S., Thatcher, N., Wagstaff, J., Zielinski, C., Faulkner, I., & Mellstedt, H. (2014). Therapeutic vaccines for cancer: An overview of clinical trials. *Nature Reviews. Clinical Oncology*, 11(9), 509–524.
- Miao, L., Li, L., Huang, Y., Delcassian, D., Chahal, J., Han, J., Shi, Y., Sadtler, K., Gao, W., Lin, J., Doloff, J. C., Langer, R., & Anderson, D. G. (2019). Delivery of mRNA vaccines with heterocyclic lipids increases anti-tumor efficacy by STING-mediated immune cell activation. *Nature Biotechnology*, 37, 1174–1185.
- Moghimi, S. M., Symonds, P., Murray, J. C., Hunter, A. C., Debska, G., & Szewczyk, A. (2005). A two-stage poly(ethylenimine)-mediated cytotoxicity: Implications for gene transfer/therapy. *Molecular Therapy*, 11, 990–995.
- Ndeupen, S., Qin, Z., Jacobsen, S., Bouteau, A., Estanbouli, H., & Igyarto, B. Z. (2021). The mRNA-LNP platform's lipid nanoparticle component used in preclinical vaccine studies is highly inflammatory. *iScience*, 24, 103479.
- Nelson, J., Sorensen, E. W., Mintri, S., Rabideau, A. E., Zheng, W., Besin, G., Khatwani, N., Su, S. V., Miracco, E. J., Issa, W. J., Hoge, S., Stanton, M. G., & Joyal, J. L. (2020). Impact of mRNA chemistry and manufacturing process on innate immune activation. *Science Advances*, 6, eaaz6893.
- Orlandini Von Niessen, A. G., Poleganov, M. A., Rechner, C., Plaschke, A., Kranz, L. M., Fesser, S., Diken, M., Lower, M., Vallazza, B., Beissert, T., Bukur, V., Kuhn, A. N., Tureci, O., & Sahin, U. (2019). Improving mRNA-based therapeutic gene delivery by expression-augmenting 3' UTRs identified by cellular library screening. *Molecular Therapy*, 27, 824–836.
- Papachristofilou, A., Hipp, M. M., Klinkhardt, U., Fruh, M., Sebastian, M., Weiss, C., Pless, M., Cathomas, R., Hilbe, W., Pall, G., Wehler, T., Alt, J., Bischoff, H., Geissler, M., Griesinger, F., Kallen, K. J., Fotin-Mleczek, M., Schroder, A., Scheel, B., Muth, A., Seibel, T., Stosnach, C., Doener, F., Hong, H. S., Koch, S. D., Gnad-Vogt, U., & Zippelius, A. (2019). Phase Ib evaluation of a self-adjuvanted protamine formulated mRNA-based active cancer immunotherapy, BI1361849 (CV9202), combined with local radiation treatment in patients with stage IV nonsmall cell lung cancer. *Journal for Immunotherapy of Cancer*, 7, 38.
- Passmore, L. A., & Coller, J. (2022). Roles of mRNA poly(A) tails in regulation of eukaryotic gene expression. *Nature Reviews. Molecular Cell Biology*, 23, 93–106.

- Patel, M. R., Bauer, T. M., Jimeno, A., Wang, D., Lorusso, P., Do, K. T., Stemmer, S. M., Maurice-Dror, C., Geva, R., Zacharek, S., Laino, A. S., Sun, J., Frederick, J., Zhou, H., Randolph, W., Cohen, P. S., Meehan, R. S., & Sullivan, R. J. (2020). A phase I study of mRNA-2752, a lipid nanoparticle encapsulating mRNAs encoding human OX40L, IL-23, and IL-36γ, for intratumoral (iTu) injection alone and in combination with durvalumab. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 38, 3092–3092.
- Persano, S., Guevara, M. L., Li, Z., Mai, J., Ferrari, M., Pompa, P. P., & Shen, H. (2017). Lipopolyplex potentiates anti-tumor immunity of mRNA-based vaccination. *Biomaterials*, 125, 81–89.
- Pichlmair, A., & e Sousa, C. R. (2007). Innate recognition of viruses. Immunity, 27, 370-383.
- Pollard, C., Rejman, J., De Haes, W., Verrier, B., Van Gulck, E., Naessens, T., De Smedt, S., Bogaert, P., Grooten, J., Vanham, G., & De Koker, S. (2013). Type I IFN counteracts the induction of antigen-specific immune responses by lipid-based delivery of mRNA vaccines. *Molecular Therapy*, 21, 251–259.
- Rauch, S., Lutz, J., Kowalczyk, A., Schlake, T., & Heidenreich, R. (2017). RNActive(R) technology: Generation and testing of stable and immunogenic mRNA vaccines. *Methods in Molecular Biology*, 1499, 89–107.
- Rettig, G. R., & Behlke, M. A. (2012). Progress toward in vivo use of siRNAs-II. Molecular Therapy, 20, 483–512.
- Sahin, U., Kariko, K., & Tureci, O. (2014). mRNA-based therapeutics-developing a new class of drugs. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*, 13, 759–780.
- Sahin, U., Oehm, P., Derhovanessian, E., Jabulowsky, R. A., Vormehr, M., Gold, M., Maurus, D., Schwarck-Kokarakis, D., Kuhn, A. N., Omokoko, T., Kranz, L. M., Diken, M., Kreiter, S., Haas, H., Attig, S., Rae, R., Cuk, K., Kemmer-Brück, A., Breitkreuz, A., Tolliver, C., Caspar, J., Quinkhardt, J., Hebich, L., Stein, M., Hohberger, A., Vogler, I., Liebig, I., Renken, S., Sikorski, J., Leierer, M., Müller, V., Mitzel-Rink, H., Miederer, M., Huber, C., Grabbe, S., Utikal, J., Pinter, A., Kaufmann, R., Hassel, J. C., Loquai, C., & Türeci, Ö. (2020). An RNA vaccine drives immunity in checkpoint-inhibitor-treated melanoma. *Nature*, 585, 107–112.
- Schumacher, T. N., & Schreiber, R. D. (2015). Neoantigens in cancer immunotherapy. *Science*, 348, 69–74.
- Skold, A. E., Van Beek, J. J., Sittig, S. P., Bakdash, G., Tel, J., Schreibelt, G., & De Vries, I. J. (2015). Protamine-stabilized RNA as an ex vivo stimulant of primary human dendritic cell subsets. *Cancer Immunology, Immunotherapy*, 64, 1461–1473.
- Sonenberg, N., Morgan, M. A., Merrick, W. C., & Shatkin, A. J. (1978). A polypeptide in eukaryotic initiation factors that crosslinks specifically to the 5'-terminal cap in mRNA. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 75, 4843–4847.
- Tahtinen, S., Tong, A. J., Himmels, P., Oh, J., Paler-Martinez, A., Kim, L., Wichner, S., Oei, Y., McCarron, M. J., Freund, E. C., Amir, Z. A., De La Cruz, C. C., Haley, B., Blanchette, C., Schartner, J. M., Ye, W., Yadav, M., Sahin, U., Delamarre, L., & Mellman, I. (2022). IL-1 and IL-1ra are key regulators of the inflammatory response to RNA vaccines. *Nature Immunology*, 23, 532–542.
- Tan, X., & Wan, Y. (2008). Enhanced protein expression by internal ribosomal entry site-driven mRNA translation as a novel approach for in vitro loading of dendritic cells with antigens. *Human Immunology*, 69, 32–40.
- Van Allen, E. M., Miao, D., Schilling, B., Shukla, S. A., Blank, C., Zimmer, L., Sucker, A., Hillen, U., Foppen, M. H. G., Goldinger, S. M., Utikal, J., Hassel, J. C., Weide, B., Kaehler, K. C., Loquai, C., Mohr, P., Gutzmer, R., Dummer, R., Gabriel, S., Wu, C. J., Schadendorf, D., & Garraway, L. A. (2015). Genomic correlates of response to CTLA-4 blockade in metastatic melanoma. *Science*, 350, 207–211.
- Van Herck, S., Feng, B., & Tang, L. (2021). Delivery of STING agonists for adjuvanting subunit vaccines. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 179, 114020.
- Van Hoecke, L., & Roose, K. (2019). How mRNA therapeutics are entering the monoclonal antibody field. *Journal of Translational Medicine*, 17, 54.

- Van Hoecke, L., Verbeke, R., Dewitte, H., Lentacker, I., Vermaelen, K., Breckpot, K., & Van Lint, S. (2021). mRNA in cancer immunotherapy: Beyond a source of antigen. *Molecular Cancer*, 20, 48.
- Verbeke, R., Lentacker, I., De Smedt, S. C., & Dewitte, H. (2019). Three decades of messenger RNA vaccine development. *Nano Today*, 28, 100766.
- Weissman, D., Pardi, N., Muramatsu, H., & Kariko, K. (2013). HPLC purification of in vitro transcribed long RNA. *Methods in Molecular Biology*, 969, 43–54.
- Xia, X. (2021). Detailed dissection and critical evaluation of the Pfizer/BioNTech and Moderna mRNA vaccines. Vaccines (Basel), 9(7), 734.
- Yisraeli, J. K., & Melton, D. A. (1989). Synthesis of long, capped transcripts in vitro by SP6 and T7 RNA polymerases. *Methods in Enzymology*, 180, 42–50.
- Zhang, X., Bai, X. C., & Chen, Z. J. (2020). Structures and mechanisms in the cGAS-STING innate immunity pathway. *Immunity*, 53, 43–53.
- Zhang, H., You, X., Wang, X., Cui, L., Wang, Z., Xu, F., Li, M., Yang, Z., Liu, J., Huang, P., Kang, Y., Wu, J., & Xia, X. (2021). Delivery of mRNA vaccine with a lipid-like material potentiates antitumor efficacy through Toll-like receptor 4 signaling. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences of the United States of America, 118(6), e2005191118.

Part III Innovative Nanotechnologies for Cancer Diagnostic and Treatment

Nanoparticles for Therapy and Diagnostic Imaging Techniques in Cancer



Edésia Martins Barros de Sousa, Isabela Barreto da Costa Januário Meireles, Luísa Arantes Fernandes Vieira, Rafaela Caroline Rodrigues do Apostolos, Jéssica Pauline Nunes Marinho, and Marcelo Fernandes Cipreste

Abbreviations

ALP	Alkaline phosphatase
AuNPs	Gold nanoparticles
AuNRs	Gold nanorods
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
cm	Centimeter
СТ	Computed tomography
CW	Continuous wave
DC	Downconversion
DFO	Deferoxamine
DOTA	1,4,7,10-Tetraazacyclododecane-1,4,7,10-tetraacetic acid
DS	Downshifting
DTPA	Diethylenetriaminepentaacetic acid
EPR	Enhanced permeability and retention (EPR) effect
g	Gram
Gd-DOTA	Gadolinium (III) 1,4,7,10-tetraazacyclododecane-1,4,7,
	10-tetraacetate
GRP	Gastrin-releasing peptide
HA	Hydroxyapatite
hMSCs	Human mesenchymal stem cells
IUPAC	International Union of Pure and Applied Chemistry
keV	Kilo electronvolt
MBq	Megabecquerel
MCM-41	Mobil Composition of Matter No. 41
min	Minute

E. M. B. de Sousa (⊠) · I. B. C. J. Meireles · L. A. F. Vieira · R. C. R. do Apostolos · J. P. N. Marinho · M. F. Cipreste Centro de Desenvolvimento da Tecnologia Nuclear CDTN

Centro de Desenvolvimento da Tecnologia Nuclear - CDTN,

Belo Horizonte, MG, Brazil

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 Â. M. Almeida de Sousa et al. (eds.), *Cancer Nanotechnology*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-17831-3_10

e-mail: sousaem@cdtn.br

mL	Milliliter
mPEG-SH	Methoxy poly(ethylene glycol) thiol
MRI	Magnetic resonance image
ms	Millisecond
MTT	3-(4,5-Dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide
NaRFA	Nano-radio-frequency ablation
NF-κβ	Nuclear factor-kappa β
NIR	Near-infrared region
NIRF	Near-infrared fluorescence
nm	Nanometer
NMH	Nano-magnetic hyperthermia
NOTA	1,4,7-Triazacyclononane-1,4,7-triacetic acid
NPTT	Nano-photothermal therapy
NUH	Nano-ultrasound hyperthermia
PAMAM	Polyamidoamine
PDMS	Polydimethylsiloxane
PET	Positron emission tomography
PLGA	Poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid)
PTT	Photothermal therapy
QD	Quantum dot
RE	Rare earth
RGD	Arginylglycylaspartic acid
S	Second
SPECT	Single photon emission computed tomography
SPIONs	Superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles
SPR	Surface plasmon resonance
SWIR	Short-wave infrared
SWNTs	Single-walled carbon nanotubes
UC	Upconversion process
UCNs	Upconversion nanoparticles
UV	Ultraviolet radiation
W	Watt
μm	Micrometer

1 Introduction

Recently, nanomaterials are being explored with great optimism by the scientific community for the study of cancer treatment and diagnosis, as they allow for more efficient targeting and delivery of drugs and other important compounds, resulting in greater potency and specificity with decreased adverse side effects. The use of nanoparticles in cancer therapy is attractive for several reasons. These nanomaterials undergo passive and spontaneous accumulation in tumor regions as a result of a phenomenon called the enhanced permeability and retention (EPR) effect (Yhee

et al., 2013). Nanomaterials can also be actively targeted to neoplastic tissues with specific internalization in cancer cells when the surfaces of nanostructures are chemically modified by attaching molecules that bind specifically to receptors over-expressed in these cells (Attia et al., 2019). Furthermore, nanoparticles can be loaded with a great variety of chemotherapeutics, natural molecules, radioisotopes, luminescent agents, and magnetic materials, among other possibilities, acting as specific carriers for controlled delivery of treatment and diagnostic agents. Based on these attractive features of the nanomaterials, new modalities of cancer therapy using nanoparticles have been developed in the last years, such as local photothermal therapies, controlled drug delivery of chemotherapeutics, natural anticancer products such as curcumin, simultaneous treatment, diagnosis with radiolabeled nanocarriers, and a combination of these modalities, among others.

Cancer treatment by local photothermal therapy using noble metal nanoparticles like gold nanoparticles has become a promising strategy to improve the therapeutic efficiency of heat-based treatments of cancer. When combined with a functional nanomaterial, like calcium phosphate-based nanoparticles, photohyperthermia appears as a potential application to directly treat bone cancers by eliminating tumor cells and simultaneously promoting bone repair (Li et al., 2020). The drug delivery was one of the first applications of nanomaterials in biomedical research, and the controlled release of many common chemotherapeutics has been investigated, such as methotrexate, doxorubicin, cisplatin, and natural compounds such as curcumin (Monteiro et al., 2019; Liu et al., 2021). Curcumin has been researched over the years due to its medicinal properties including its anticancer property with low toxicity to healthy cells (Mansouri et al., 2020). Diverse studies point to nanotechnology as a tool to develop efficient delivery systems of curcumin, a natural anticancer, as nanoparticles can prolong its circulation time in the body and increase its bioavailability (Ghalandarlaki et al., 2014). Furthermore, it can be possible to add diagnostic properties to these nanoplatforms and enhance their therapeutic power through the incorporation of radioisotopes and fluorescent probes in the structure or surfaces of the nanoparticle, thus characterizing multifunctional nanomaterials (Bao et al., 2013). Bearing in mind the importance of the nanomaterials in the medical field, it becomes possible to unite all these elements in a single nanoplatform giving rise to the concept of nanotheranostic, which are materials able to act simultaneously in the treatment and diagnosis of specific illnesses through one single formulation (Kalash et al., 2016). Imaging cancer is crucial for guiding decisions about treatment and for monitoring the efficacy of administered therapies. The rare-earth ions are strategic materials for medical imaging and diagnostics due to their optical properties; they have been used in many imaging techniques such as computed tomography scans, magnetic resonance image (MRI), positron emission tomography (PET) imaging, and conventional X-ray systems (Yu et al., 2020). Following the most recent trends in these topics, the purpose of this chapter is to highlight the major impacts of nanotechnology research in therapeutic and diagnostic techniques for cancer management. A comprehensive review of this area of research is beyond the scope of this chapter, and therefore the authors elaborated the topics accordantly to the modality of cancer treatment or diagnosis that they have been investigating recently.

2 Nanoparticles for Therapy

2.1 Hyperthermia

The research and development of materials for use in hyperthermia processes take place in several applications. However, in recent decades, the development of recent technologies for the application of hyperthermia in therapies has been highlighted, especially in the area of cancer treatment. Studies have shown that the association of conventional treatments with hyperthermia processes is more efficient in the lysis of tumor cells, becoming a promising strategy to improve therapeutic efficiency in cancer treatment due to additive or synergistic effects (Ren et al., 2013; Li et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2014). The hyperthermia process is commonly defined as a therapeutic procedure in which tissues are heated to high temperatures in the range of approximately 40–45 °C (Mallory et al., 2016). All cellular components can be damaged by heat, including the cytoskeleton, membranes, and nucleus, but according to studies by Goldstein et al. (2003), the most likely thermal effect with increasing temperature is the denaturation of intercellular proteins, causing permanent irreversible damage, cell degradation, and induction of apoptosis. It is important to note that the degree of damage caused by thermal exposure depends on both the temperature reached and the time of exposure to heat (Hildebrandt et al., 2002; Jaque et al., 2014).

Depending on the location and size of the tumor, different methods and techniques can be applied. Within the field of nanotechnology research, there are several processes for heating a region through hyperthermia such as nano-photothermal therapy (NPTT), nano-magnetic hyperthermia (NMH), nano-radio-frequency ablation (NaRFA), and nano-ultrasound hyperthermia (NUH) (Beik et al., 2016) (Fig. 1). The difference between these processes is how heat is generated. In this chapter, the authors describe the process of heat generation by photothermal therapy (PTT) also called photohyperthermia, one of the treatment modalities that have been most investigated in recent years.

2.1.1 Photothermal Therapy (PTT)

Photothermal therapy (PTT), or photohyperthermia, uses photothermal agents to achieve selective and specific heating of the tumor region in cancer treatment cases. Photothermal agents are heated through interaction with laser light in the near-infrared region (NIR), promoting selective heating of the tumor region. With the development of nanotechnology, several materials with unique optical properties were discovered, such as noble metal nanoparticles, as silver and gold, which can be used as photothermal agents. For these agents to be effective, it is necessary to have improved light absorption and efficient conversion of light energy to heat (Chatterjee et al., 2011; Thakor & Gambhir, 2013; Singh et al., 2015).



Fig. 1 Scheme of selective heating of tumor region using nanoparticles (Beik et al., 2016)

According to Huang and colleagues (2009), noble metal nanoparticles can confine light photons to induce coherent oscillation in the plasmonic surface of their conduction band electrons, called surface plasmon resonance (SPR). The SPR oscillation induces a strong absorption of light and can be analyzed by the UV-visible spectrum where the regions of the spectrum where the highest light absorption by nanoparticles occur, called SPR bands (Jain et al., 2007; Huang & El-Sayed, 2010). The SPR condition depends on the particle size, shape, and structure but also the dielectric properties of the metal and the surrounding environment, thus imparting unique optical characteristics to the noble metal nanostructures (Link & El-Sayed, 1999; Huang et al., 2009; Huang & El-Sayed, 2010). Photothermal agents show strong absorption of light in the NIR regions of the electromagnetic spectrum, especially at wavelengths from 650 to 900 nm, due to SPR (Thakor & Gambhir, 2013). One of the great advantages of using PTT with thermal agents that absorb light in the NIR range is that most biological tissues exhibit minimal light absorption in this range, which allows greater light penetration without harming healthy tissues. In this way, light in the NIR range can penetrate tissues, such as the skin and blood, noninvasively and deeper, as these tissues scatter and absorb less light at longer wavelengths. Spectral bands in which tissues are partially transparent are due to a simultaneous reduction in absorption and dispersion. The range in the region of 650-900 nm is considered ideal for the use of photothermal agents in cancer treatments, as in this range there is the greatest absorption of light by the agents, the SPR band range, and the least absorption of light by tissues, maximizing the photohyperthermia process (Weissleder, 2001; Smith et al., 2009). Gold nanoparticles, as mentioned above, have great prominence in use as a photothermal agent in photothermal therapy of cancer due to their unique optical properties, and as one of the focuses of this chapter, they will be further detailed in the next section.

2.1.2 Gold Nanoparticles Applied in Photothermal Therapy

The development of light-responsive gold nanoparticles (AuNPs) in the NIR range for photothermal therapy of cancer has received a lot of attention in recent years due to its easy synthesis, surface modification, and greatly enhanced and adjustable optical properties (Jain et al., 2006; Huang & El-Sayed, 2010). For example, gold nanospheres have a single SPR absorption band in the visible spectrum due to their unique oscillation mode. However, the gold nanorods (AuNRs) have two SPR absorption bands, referring to their two oscillation modes in the longitudinal and transverse axes, and the longitudinal SPR band has greater intensity and is located at a higher frequency, within the range of the NIR region. While the transverse band is insensitive to size changes, the longitudinal band moves in the NIR region depending on the length/width ratio, called the aspect ratio, of the nanorods (Nikoobakht & El-Sayed, 2003; Huang et al., 2009). This characteristic promotes the great interest in AuNRs for use in bioapplication, especially in photothermal therapies, as it is possible to develop AuNRs with a specific aspect ratio for each therapy.

Despite the existence of different morphologies of AuNPs, AuNRs are still the most developed and researched structures, mainly in the bioapplication area. According to Huang et al. (2009), of all the possible nanoparticle shapes, gold nanorods are especially intriguing as they offer strong plasmonic fields while exhibiting excellent tunability and biocompatibility. AuNRs have high light absorption efficiency at the same wavelength as the SPR band compared to other morphologies (Chen et al., 2013; Jaque et al., 2014).

Despite the ideal optical properties for application in photohyperthermia, the AuNPs have some limitations, such as instability at high temperatures and to light and high colloidal instability in aqueous systems. Thus, for its use in biological systems, several methodologies are studied, such as functionalization of nanoparticles with biocompatible species and coating with other more stable materials, to ensure the stability of these systems in an aqueous solution ideal for bioapplication (Wu et al., 2011; Dykman & Khlebtsov, 2016; Her et al., 2017) (Fig. 2).

An example of obtaining AuNPs with surface modification to develop stable systems for bioapplication can be seen in the study by Ruttala et al. (2020). In this study, a multifunctional nanoplatform based on AuNP conjugated with lonidamine, an antitumor, and aptamers for cancer treatment was developed. The presence of the aptamer on the surface of AuNPs promoted a significant accumulation of particles in cancer cells due to the specific affinity for mitochondrial receptors. Furthermore, in vitro studies have shown that laser irradiation-based hyperthermia enhanced the chemotherapeutic effects of lonidamine without causing damage to surrounding healthy tissue.

Another alternative that shows promise to overcome the limitations of the biological application of AuNPs is coating the nanoparticles with silica, considered an excellent material for biomedical applications due to its biocompatibility, low toxicity, and high surface area, with silica MCM-41 (Pastoriza-Santos et al., 2006; Giraldo et al., 2007; Chen et al., 2013). Silica tends to favor AuNP dispersion in the liquid, making the surface chemically functional and thermally stable.



Fig. 2 The synthetic versatility of AuNPs. AuNPs offer a unique platform for straightforward manipulation of particle size, shape, surface coating, and functionalization, enabling fine-tuning (Her et al., 2017)

In the studies by Riva et al. (2017), a nanosystem composed of gold nanorods bonded to silica-coated iron oxide compounds was developed. To prevent the aggregation of iron nanoparticles in aqueous media, these particles were coated with silica and the entire nanosystem, with BSA protein to provide stability to the system in biological media. The developed material presented an SPR absorption band around 840 nm, ideal for application in therapy, and high conversion of laser radiation into thermal energy.

In new research that also addresses the coating of gold nanoparticles with silica, da Meireles et al. (2021) developed a nanocomposite of gold nanorods coated with mesoporous silica MCM-41. The AuNRs obtained presented SPR bands comprised in specific regions of the electromagnetic spectrum in which laser radiation has less interaction with tissues, being ideal for biomedical applications. The material showed high stability and desirable textural and morphological characteristics for bioapplications due to the silicate coating. Furthermore, the nanocomposite showed high biocompatibility and excellent performance in generating therapeutic heating by absorbing laser radiation, making it a promising agent in photohyperthermia.

The association of nanomaterials with different biocompatibilities can assist in the development of nanocomposites for bioapplication. He and coworkers (2020) developed a nanoplatform that associates graphene, which presents low biocompatibility, with silica, which is widely used in nanocomposites for biomedical applications. In this work, graphene oxide was coated with a layer of mesoporous silica to bind the gold seeds that formed a layer of gold nanosheet. The hybrid of graphene, silica, and gold showed great biocompatibility and high photothermal conversion efficiency leading to a temperature increase of 16.4 °C. And in the in vitro assays, there was cell death, and cancer cells, with the treatment with the hybrid, developed when submitted to NIR irradiation.

The use of gold nanoparticles in therapies may have implications due to the characteristics of these nanoparticles, such as instability in aqueous systems where most biochemical processes occur, thermal instability, and loss of properties with temperature variations, thus decreasing the efficiency of the treatment. Furthermore, gold nanoparticles can form unstable colloidal suspensions, which hinder the transport of nanomaterials to the treatment regions, which can cause adverse effects on biological systems (Zhao et al., 2007; Bohara et al., 2016; Irfan et al., 2018). Thus, the investigation of cytotoxicity, biocompatibility, and photothermal therapy of nanoparticles in contact with the biological system is of paramount importance. Chuang and collaborators (2019) developed a nanosystem of gold nanorods encapsulated with the drug doxorubicin. The results of this work showed that the nanomaterial showed evident photothermal effects with the rapid and repeated release of the drug by near-infrared irradiation. Furthermore, there was significant cellular uptake of the nanosystem by murine colon cancer cells. The development of this work highlights the promising combination of photohyperthermia and chemotherapy in the treatment of cancer, in which the nanocomplex exhibited strong synergistic anticancer effects in vitro and in vivo.

Zhao and collaborators (2022) present the investigation of the biocompatibility in photothermal therapy of gold nanoparticles. In this work, a self-regulating photothermal conversion system was designed for selective photothermal therapy for specific tumor regions. The system was based on gold nanoparticles to investigate the selectivity effect. In the selective in vitro photothermal transformation model, laser irradiation selectively increased the temperature of the indoor microenvironment (pH 5.5) and resulted in a temperature difference of 5 °C from that of the external environment (pH 7.4). Furthermore, in the in vivo skin damage assessment model, the material achieved good tumor inhibition without damaging normal skin tissue compared to conventional photothermal material.

A recently published study shows the effects of the shape of gold nanoparticles in photothermal cancer therapy. In the study by Yang et al. (2021), the performance in photothermal therapy of three gold nanostructures was investigated: gold nanospheres, gold nanorods, and gold nanostars. The gold nanoparticles were surfacemodified with mPEG-SH (methoxy poly(ethylene glycol) thiol). Gold nanostars showed greater photothermal conversion efficiency being the most promising agent for photothermal therapy among their counterparts. In vitro cell experiments demonstrated that all PEGylated gold nanoparticles exhibited low cytotoxicity.

Gold nanoparticles can be associated with other materials, even materials with low biocompatibility. Recent work by Zhang and colleagues (2022) has shown the efficiency of photothermal therapy of gold nanorods associated with L-cysteine-reduced graphene oxide. This work showed the effectiveness of the material in photothermal therapy combined with tumor chemotherapy. The results showed a high therapeutic capacity, due to the high photothermal effect of the gold nanorods and reduced graphene oxide and their synergistic effect. Furthermore, the nontoxicity of L-cysteine ensured the biocompatibility of reduced graphene oxide with a slight side effect on normal tissues. The material produced proved to be a promising photothermal agent with high efficiency of photothermal therapy triggered by NIR laser, excellent stability, and superior biocompatibility.

In view of these works, it was possible to observe the great potential that gold nanoparticles present for their use in the treatment of cancer by thermal therapy. Furthermore, it was interesting to observe that gold nanoparticles present the possibility of association with several other materials, giving rise to multifunctional nanocomposites.

2.1.3 Photothermal Therapy and Bone Regeneration

Bone cancer is one of the biggest diseases that affect the bones, thus becoming a real problem for human health. Osteosarcoma is a primary malignant tumor that usually occurs in children and adolescents. It is the second leading cause of cancer death in teenagers. It can be considered aggressive cancer with a high occurrence of lung metastasis. Symptoms, difficult to differentiate at first, involve spontaneous fractures and local pain (Kansara et al., 2014). Therefore, this disease is not easily diagnosed, resulting in rapid tumor growth. As a result, osteosarcoma promotes cancer metastasis, as well as the formation of large bone defects, causing movement limitations (Ritter & Bielack, 2010; Botter et al., 2014). Traditional therapies such as chemotherapy, radiotherapy, or surgical removal of the tumor, usually combined, have an indecisive prognosis, as they can lead to the proliferation and metastasis of residual tumor cells (Nam et al., 2018). In addition, osteosarcoma affects large areas of the bone, which cannot repair itself, leading to poor quality of life for the patient (Ma et al., 2016b). When malignant tumor cells reach the bone system, the tumor spreads, and bone metabolism becomes unbalanced. This way, healthy tissue is reabsorbed and invaded by the tumor, leading to serious bone defects. After therapy, these defects become a major challenge to be faced (Liao et al., 2021).

With the development of bionanotechnology, new innovative treatments have been pointed out as an option for the therapy of this type of cancer. Photothermal therapy is widely studied and has brought hope for a cure for cancer. Unlike traditional therapies, the use of this type of treatment can avoid side effects, as it can occur through selective targeting.

To combine the complex issue of tumor cell death with bone regeneration, the key is to use functional biomaterials. Bifunctional biomaterials then appear as a potential application to eliminating tumor cells, that is, directly treating the cancer site, as well as promoting bone repair. These bifunctional biomaterials must have specific characteristics for their use. It is common to use calcium phosphate-based materials, once they are biocompatible and osteoconductive (Roberts & Rosenbaum,

2012). Also, the bioactive ions in 3D-printed scaffolds, such as Ca^{2+} , P^{5+} , Si^{4+} , Mg^{2+} , Fe^{3+} , and Mn^{4+} , can improve osteogenic activity; therefore, its application is widely studied (Liao et al., 2021).

The administration can be performed locally or systematically. Figure 3 shows a bone tumor that was killed using bifunctional biomaterials. Locally applied bifunctional biomaterials were inserted into the bone defect area for treatment, photothermal therapy, and subsequent bone repair. The local administration mainly concentrates on 3D-printed scaffolds, scaffolds composed of nano- and microparticles, and hydrogels (Liao et al., 2021).

During the year 2016, Chengtie Wu's group formulated a 3D-printed scaffold modified with a Ca-P/polydopamine nanolayer. The polydopamine nanoparticles used on the surface can cause hyperthermia to kill MDA-MB-231 tumors in nude mice. Additionally, this scaffold could release Ca and P in a sustainable manner to induce femoral defect regeneration (Ma et al., 2016a). In 2018, the same research group designed a high-strength 3D-printed bioscaffold with Fe-CaSiO₃ for tumor therapy and bone repair. As a result, the scaffold showed an excellent photothermal effect. The presence of CaSiO₃ improved degradation performance and stimulated rat bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell proliferation and differentiation besides promoting bone formation in vivo tests. Therefore, those scaffolds can function as



Fig. 3 Bifunctional biomaterials include local treatment scaffolds (such as 3D-printed scaffolds, nano–/microparticle-containing scaffolds, and hydrogels) and systemic treatment nanoparticles (such as bone-targeting nanoparticles) for tumor photothermal therapy and bone regeneration (Liao et al., 2021). "Bifunctional biomaterials" by Liao et al. (2021) is licensed under CC BY 4.0. To view a copy of this license, visit https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/

versatile and efficient biomaterials for future bone regeneration and the treatment of cortical bone cancer (Liu et al., 2018b).

In the same year, the Dejian Li group developed a nano-hydroxyapatite and reduced graphene oxide scaffold for photothermal therapy and bone regeneration (Li et al., 2018). The research revealed satisfactory results. The scaffolds showed excellent physicochemical properties, biocompatibility, efficiency in photothermal conversion, and osteoinduction potential. In vitro experiments verified that the photothermal effect of scaffolds could effectively kill MG-63 cells (human osteosarcoma cells). The scaffolds inhibited the growth of the xenografted tumor in mice through infrared laser irradiation. Furthermore, scaffolds were able to simultaneously promote the proliferation and differentiation of bone marrow stem cells as evidenced by ALP (alkaline phosphatase) activity and bone gene expression. In vivo experiments indicated that scaffolds prepared in the work have potential application in cancer therapy and bone repair.

Several studies are linking HA to magnetic materials for different applications, including the treatment of cancer using magnetohyperthermia (Murakami et al., 2008; Tampieri et al., 2012; Iwasaki et al., 2013; Sneha & Sundaram, 2015; Mondal et al., 2017; Campodoni et al., 2021). Mondal and coworkers reported a simple procedure for obtaining a system formed by nano-HA and magnetite nanoparticles. The nanocomposite proved to be hydrophilic and superparamagnetic with good magnetic saturation. Cytotoxicity assays showed that only magnetite nanoparticle samples were toxic to MG-63 cells, thus indicating good cell viability of the system. It was also found that MG-63 cells easily engulfed the nanoparticles, thus contributing to cellular internalization. When compared to magnetite nanoparticles, the HA system registered a smaller increase in temperature but is still efficient for hyperthermia. The authors suggest that HA acts as an insulator surrounding the magnetite particles and, therefore, heat generation was different. Hyperthermia caused necrosis of tumor cells, leading to death, as evidenced in a cytotoxicity assay. The authors then concluded that the system obtained performed well once its biocompatible with great bone regeneration potential in addition to promising material for use in magnetohyperthermia to eliminate residual tumor cells and a potential bone regenerator (Mondal et al., 2017).

The systemic administration, shown in Fig. 3, involves the use of targeted nanoparticles. Systemically administered nanoparticles penetrate blood vessels to reach bone tissue for cancer treatment and to inhibit bone resorption. Bone reabsorption promotes bone destruction and tumor metastasis processes. Moreover, due to the low blood flow in the bone (0.05–0.20 mL min⁻¹/g) (Hirabayashi et al., 2001) and blood-bone marrow barrier, targeted delivery of anticancer agents is highly recommended for bone tumor therapy (Liao et al., 2021).

In 2019, Sun and coworkers prepared gold nanorods encapsulated in mesoporous silica nanoparticles conjugated with zoledronic acid for bone-targeted assisted inhibition of the proliferation of osteoclast-like cells and the promotion of osteogenic differentiation. The targeted photothermal therapy was enhanced to cure breast tumor bone metastasis in the hindlimbs of nude mice. This nanosystem cured the

tumor and inhibited bone reabsorption for breast cancer bone metastasis treatment (Sun et al., 2019).

Zhou and coworkers developed a nanoplatform with platin nanoparticles coated with phytic acid (PA/PtNPs) for bone-targeted photothermal therapy (PTT) of malignant bone tumors. The in vitro assays demonstrated that PA/PtNPs had a high binding affinity to hydroxyapatite and bone fragment and possessed the inherent anticancer ability; therefore, PA significantly enhanced the amount of PA/PtNPs bound on hydroxyapatite and their accumulation at the tumor-bearing bone lesions. Because of PA, PA/PtNPs also exhibited inherent anticancer capability in vitro and in vivo. The in vivo therapeutic study revealed that PA/PtNP-associated combination therapy efficiently regressed the bone tumor growth and tumor-associated osteolysis (Zhou et al., 2019).

All these studies presented biomaterials with potential application to eliminating tumor cells, as well as promoting bone repair. With the benefits of locally administered and systemically administered, the prognosis for patients with bone tumors has great potential to improve. Therefore, these new nanoplatforms may provide new hope for clinical bone tumor therapy while improving patient quality of life and decreasing mortality.

2.2 Curcumin Loaded in Nanoparticles as a Therapeutic Agent

Natural products have been used as traditional medicines for centuries and have shown promise as a source of components for the development of new drugs. *Curcuma longa* Linn is a plant member of the Zingiberaceae family native to Southeast Asia, cultivated in tropical and subtropical regions worldwide (Ravindran et al., 2007). Due to its pharmacological and biological properties, such as antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, antimutagenic, healing, antimicrobial, and anticancer activity, curcumin attracts the interest of researchers worldwide, even though it is present in approximately two centuries of scientific research (Hatcher et al., 2008; Priyadarsini, 2014).

The chemical structure of curcumin, as well as the structure of the other curcuminoids, which are the active components found in the crude extract of turmeric or *Curcuma longa* L., is shown in Fig. 4.

Curcumin (1,7-bis (4-hydroxy-3-methoxyphenyl) -1,6-heptadiene-3,5-dione), also called diferuloylmethane, is the main polyphenol responsible for the turmeric properties and yellowish coloration (Priyadarsini, 2014). Its chemical structure consists of two o-methoxyphenolic aromatic ring systems linked by a seven-carbon carbon chain comprising an α β -unsaturated fraction and a β -diketone group (Karthikeyan et al., 2020). The intermolecular interaction of curcumin with its biomolecular targets occurs due to the existence of these three reactive sites. The two o-methoxyphenolic aromatic ring systems act as hydrogen atom donors. The β -diketone portion acts as an excellent chelator of metal ions, and the α , β -unsaturated portion acts as a Michael acceptor in nucleophilic addition reactions. In addition,



Fig. 4 Chemical structure of curcuminoids extracted from the rhizome of *Curcuma longa* L. "Turmeric and Turmeric Powder on White Background" by Marco Verch is licensed under CC BY 4.0. (To view a copy of this license, visit https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/)



Fig. 5 Curcumin reactive sites and their tautomeric forms

the β -diketone portion has keto-enolic tautomerism that causes curcumin to exhibit different conformations according to the medium. In general, at neutral or acidic pH, the ketone form is predominant, whereas the enol tautomer is exclusively present in alkaline conditions (Fig. 5). In most apolar and moderately polar solvents, the enol form is generally more stabilized than the ketone form.

Over the past 50 years, curcumin has received increasing interest in pharmacological and biological research (Zielińska et al., 2020). Since then, many studies have proven the potentially beneficial properties of curcumin, such as antiproliferative, antimetastatic, antiangiogenic, antithrombotic, immunomodulatory, hepatoprotective, neuroprotective, and especially anticancer properties. At the molecular level, curcumin not only inhibits cell proliferation and metastasis but also induces apoptosis through the modulation of various pro-inflammatory factors, including growth factor receptors, inflammatory cytokines, transcription factors, enzymes, kinases, and adhesion molecules, among others (Zielińska et al., 2020). However, its clinical application still brings some challenges due to its low solubility, rapid elimination from the body, and low bioavailability (Patra et al., 2018; Mukherjee et al., 2020). For these reasons, researchers around the world have used nanotechnology as a tool to develop delivery systems that can protect curcumin from degradation, prolong its circulation time in the body, and increase its bioavailability (Dang & Guan, 2020). Among the strategies used to increase the bioavailability of curcumin, are substances to improve dispersibility, such as surfactants in obtaining micelles and nanoemulsions, hydrophobic carriers, such as liposomes, and the formation of inclusion complexes, that comprise the most used and successful approaches to obtain curcumin compounds (Tabanelli et al., 2021).

In cancer treatment, chemoresistance is a common problem. In particular, activation of Nuclear factor-kappa β (NF- $\kappa\beta$) is considered an important factor in the development of chemoresistance to the chemotherapeutic drug gemcitabine during breast cancer treatment (Eskandari et al., 2021). Thanks to curcumin's ability to modulate several signaling pathways, it can inhibit NF- $\kappa\beta$ activation in addition to inhibiting the development of metastasis and acting in the fight against cancer. To increase the bioavailability of curcumin in the tumor region, Eskandari and colleagues (Eskandari et al., 2021) developed poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA) nanomicelles with a natural fructose homopolymer (levan), for use in the treatment of breast cancer. In vivo assays with mouse models of breast cancer show successful targeting of the nanoformulations to the cancer tissue. They were able to inhibit NF- $\kappa\beta$ activation, and joint use with gemcitabine increased the inhibitory activity. These results demonstrate the potential use of curcumin nanoformulations with chemotherapy (Eskandari et al., 2021).

In order to investigate the therapeutic efficacy of curcumin in the treatment of squamous cell carcinoma, Malathi's colleagues (Malathi et al., 2020) developed nanopatterned films. Curcumin-loaded poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA) films were obtained using the polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS) fused molding technique. The films showed good cytotoxicity against human skin cancer cell lines (A431). In addition, they were able to inhibit the progression of skin cancer, induced in albino mice. These results demonstrate the potential use of these films as an alternative skin cancer treatment (Malathi et al., 2020).

Hybrid nanostructures have also been developed to ensure combined drug delivery, with active targeting, mediated by ligands with targeting function (Sharma et al., 2018). Ghanbari and colleagues (2021) developed a nanostructured targeted drug delivery system. The study aimed to evaluate its cytotoxic effect on breast cancer cells overexpressing glucosamine receptors. Nanostructures fabricated with glucosamine-conjugated graphene quantum dots loaded with curcumin showed pH-responsive sustained release and low toxicity to normal fibroblast cells. Furthermore, the results of in vitro cellular uptake studies exhibited stronger fluorescence for the targeted nanoporter against MCF-7 cells compared to the untargeted one. These results demonstrate the enhanced cellular internalization via endocytosis mediated by the glucosamine receptor and confirm the importance of the targeting agent (Ghanbari et al., 2021).

In a promising study, polyamidoamine dendrimers (PAMAM) were used as nanocarriers functionalized with antiapoptotic gene Bcl-2 for targeted co-delivery of curcumin and siRNA. The nanoparticles not only allowed greater cellular uptake but also promoted greater inhibition of human cervical tumor cell (HeLa) proliferation (Ghaffari et al., 2020). In vitro and in vivo assays using mice have also been performed to investigate the potential of PAMAM dendrimers for the treatment of hepatocellular cancer. PAMAM dendrimers were conjugated with triphenylphosphonium for targeted delivery of curcumin to the mitochondria of liver cancer cells. The results showed that the framework was able to successfully deliver curcumin to mitochondria, selectively and efficiently inducing apoptosis of cancer cells without causing significant damage to healthy cells. They also altered cancer-related genes at the cellular level and promoted cell cycle arrest in G2/M. In addition, they significantly reduced tumor growth in the mouse model and increased survival time. According to the researchers, these results demonstrate the potential of the structure in targeted drug delivery, to mitochondria, not only for the treatment of liver cancer but also for other types of cancer since cancer cells have higher mitochondrial activity (Kianamiri et al., 2020).

Following this trend, a novel study is being developed to obtain a nanostructured system based on hydroxyapatite nanorods, loaded with curcumin and functionalized with folic acid (Marinho et al., n.d.). The objective of the work is to obtain a carrier system for active and targeted delivery of curcumin, with potential use in the treatment of osteosarcoma. In general, it is expected that the nanostructure will be able to help in the treatment of cancer and the recovery of the bone tissue, due to the presence of the hydroxyapatite nanorods.

These researches indicate that curcumin may be a future safe chemotherapeutic agent for the treatment of various types of cancer.

3 Nanomaterials Applied in Diagnostic Imaging Techniques

The emergence of nanomaterials offers a promising strategy for the development of devices for imaging diagnosis applications (Zhang et al., 2019; Ge et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2020; Chen et al., 2021). This procedure is essential for understanding the extent of tumor progression and can mean a relatively more effective way to treat the disease at an early stage (Hou et al., 2017; Ge et al., 2020).

The complexity of the tumor environment requires careful selection of light wavelength for medical use. Excitation of ultraviolet and visible light can cause photodamage to biological tissues and has limited tissue penetration. Therefore, the chosen wavelength should have limited photon scattering, minimized absorption, and negligible autofluorescence to permeate through skin barriers and penetrate deep tissue (Ang et al., 2021).

In this context, optical imaging in the near-infrared (NIR) region, called the "biological window," has gained much attention from the scientific community. The imaging agents that operate in the first window, NIR-I (700–900 nm), can present large photon scattering losses in biological samples, and their penetration depth in tissue is still limited, reaching less than 1 cm. This characteristic restricts their use in biomedical diagnostics and therapy. In contrast, materials that act in the NIR-II
window (1000–1700 nm) have deeper penetration, around 1.8 cm, providing a better resolution for application in biological imaging (Yu et al., 2020).

This characteristic has contributed to the increased use of these materials in both scientific research and clinical practice as biosensors and for real-time imaging (Yu et al., 2020). Wang and colleagues (2019a) developed a nanomaterial in the second biological NIR-II window (1500–1700 nm) for high-resolution fluorescence imaging in vivo. The authors achieved a spatial resolution of over 1550 nm and a penetration depth of 3.5 mm in a simulator. The obtained values were much higher when compared to previous studies (Wang et al., 2019a).

Currently, several fluorescent agents with emission in the NIR-II region such as single-walled carbon nanotubes (SWNTs), organic dyes, conjugated polymers, quantum dots, and rare earth-doped nanoparticles have been explored (Yu et al., 2020). The latter stands out due to the prominent optical, magnetic, and X-ray attenuation properties of rare-earth (RE) elements, as well as the radioactivity of their isotopes, and is re-becoming increasingly popular in the biomedical field (Hong et al., 2019).

3.1 Exploring the Intrinsic Properties of Rare-Earth Elements

The RE elements correspond to a group of 17 chemical elements, including yttrium (Y), scandium (Sc), and 15 metal elements of the lanthanide series, as declared by the International Union of Pure and Applied Chemistry (IUPAC) (Jordens et al., 2013).

An interesting advantage of these elements is the characteristics of high and clear luminescence and fluorescence (Al-Shehri et al., 2019). This property gives the material the ability to absorb energy from some kind of exciter source and emit radiation with a characteristic wavelength (de Lucena et al., 2004). According to the different excitation modes, luminescence can be categorized as photoluminescence, X-ray luminescence, electroluminescence, chemiluminescence, cathodoluminescence, triboluminescence, and bioluminescence (Lei et al., 2020). Photoluminescence, generated by photon excitation, is the most studied and widely used type. The phenomena involved in this property are represented by fluorescence (decay time < 10 ms) and phosphorescence (decay time > 0.1 s) (Neacsu et al., 2019).

3.1.1 Luminescence of Rare-Earth Elements

The luminescent property of rare-earth elements originates from the electronic configurations characteristic of these materials. The electrons transit between the various energy levels and generate rich absorption and emission spectra, allowing efficient photon emission in a wide ultraviolet (UV) to visible and near-infrared spectral region (Huang et al., 2019).

The orbitals 4f are highly protected by sub-layers $5s^2 5p^6$ and are not directly involved in chemical bonding. This causes a low variation of the energy of these

levels with the chemical environment in which the ions are inserted. Therefore, the emission wavelengths of Ln^{3+} ions are minimally disturbed by the surrounding ligand field and matrix, resulting in clear emission bands with the same wavelength as the salt Ln^{3+} (Lei et al., 2020).

Despite this, the optical transition, energy transfer, photoluminescent life, and photoluminescent efficiency of dopants are significantly influenced by the structure, site symmetry, crystal field strength, and phonon energy of the host matrices. This fact demonstrates that the image quality depends on the selection of the matrix. We highlight the materials germanate, galogermanate, silicate, and aluminosilicate plicated as a matrix and the lanthanide ions Eu²⁺, Ce³⁺, Sm³⁺, Dy³⁺, Nd³⁺, and Pr³⁺ (Lei et al., 2020).

Luminescence related to Ln^{3+} ions can be distinguished by several energy transfer pathways and is divided into three categories: downshifting (DS), downconversion (DC), and upconversion process (UC). This classification is performed according to the relation between the excitation wavelength and the emission wavelength and the selection of the excitation source (Sarkar et al., 2019).

In terms of energy, DS luminescence primarily emits low-energy light through the excitation of high-energy photons. In this process, the electrons are first excited from the ground state to the excited state followed by non-radiative relaxation to the lower excited state and then return to the ground state by emitting light. This method has the advantages of long-term emission, high quantum yield, large displacements of apparent Stokes, and clear emission bands. Most current studies on DS images of rare-earth materials are based on the luminescence of the Eu³⁺, Tb³⁺, Er³⁺, Yb³⁺, and Nd³⁺ ions. Although some progress has been made in the use of visible emission DS nanoparticles for optical images, the use of UV excitation is still inevitable, which is harmful to cells in some respects and produces strong autofluorescence in biological cells and tissues. In addition, due to strong tissue absorption and low light penetration depth of short wavelength below 600 nm, many DS nanoparticles are limited in bioimaging applications (Sarkar et al., 2019; Lei et al., 2020).

The DC process occurs similarly to DS, where electrons are first excited to the high-energy state and then radiated back to the ground state. The difference is that in this process occurs the conversion of a high-energy photon into two or more low-energy photons, with a high quantum efficiency. The DC process usually occurs between two lanthanide ions. When compared to the DS, reports on the DC process are relatively rare (Wegh et al., 2000; Yu et al., 2015; Lei et al., 2020).

Luminescence UC is the conversion of low-energy radiation into high-energy light through multiphoton absorption processes. The quantum efficiency of this class is dependent on the different energy transfer processes between the energy levels of lanthanide ions. In this process, the commonly employed UC excitation source is the near-infrared lasers, which are very favorable for bioimaging (Chen et al., 2014; Zhou et al., 2015).

According to the demonstration by Liu and coworkers (2018a), a new type of nanoparticles with emissions in the NIR-II region can be obtained with Er^{3+} . This system assisted in the analysis of an in vivo inflammation dynamically at high resolution (200 × 200 µm) due to the large anti-Stokes shift, low autofluorescence, and

tissue scattering of the NIR-II upconversion luminescence (Liu et al., 2018a). Another study showed the imaging and hyperthermia potential of a theranostic agent composed of lanthanides. The erbium (Er^{3+}) enriched nanocrystals (NaErF₄) enabled luminescence emission (1525 nm) in the second biological window (NIR-II, 1000–1700 nm). The researchers obtained high-resolution optical images of blood vessels and tumors under excitation of ~980 nm. High concentrations of neodymium (Nd³⁺) introduced maximum cross-relaxation processes that converted absorbed NIR light (~808 nm) into heat with high efficiency, thus providing abilities for photothermal therapy (PTT). In this study, PTT-treated tumors shrank ~12 times compared to untreated tumors (Wang et al., 2019b).

Zhao and colleagues (2018) explored a novel gene therapy strategy. In this study, a material composed of NIR II-emitting rare earth-doped nanoparticles was developed. The system was designed to deliver gene cargo in an in vitro cancer model and detected tumor lesions in a breast cancer lung metastasis model. The material has been shown to be capable of delivering genetic loading and performing real-time response monitoring (Zhao et al., 2018).

In particular, the luminescence efficiency of most UC materials is still less than 1% due to the low absorption coefficient of lanthanide ions. Many efforts have been devoted to improving the quantum efficiency of these materials. However, a high laser excitation power with overheating side effects is often required in this process, and, according to the American National Standard for Safe Use of Lasers, only a low irradiance of about 0.1 W cm² (for 980 nm CW laser diode) can be applied to the human skin (Lei et al., 2020).

3.1.2 Magnetic Properties of Rare-Earth Elements

The lanthanide elements also attracted great interest in magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) because most of them have lone pairs of 4f electrons. Of the lanthanide ions, La^{3+} (the f orbitals are empty) and Lu^{3+} (the f orbitals are fully occupied) have unpaired electrons, which can effectively induce spin-orbit coupling and significant paramagnetic properties (Dong et al., 2015). The magnetic properties of the Eu^{3+} , Gd^{3+} , Tb^{3+} , Dy^{3+} , Er^{3+} , Ho^{3+} , Tm^{3+} , and Yb^{3+} ions allow these ion-containing materials to be used in magnetic resonance imaging (Lei et al., 2020).

Currently, bioimaging applications of most reported materials containing RE are still limited to cellular studies and preliminary animals, and clinical translation is still in its infancy. Some biomaterials containing rare-earth elements such as gado-linium (III) 1,4,7,10-tetraazacyclododecane-1,4,7,10-tetraacetate (Gd-DOTA, contrast agent for magnetic resonance imaging) and ¹⁷⁷Lu-Dotatate (clinical medicine for radiation therapy) were marketed, but most are still in laboratories and preclinical trials (Lei et al., 2020).

Gadolinium is the most widely used rare-earth element in medical diagnosis by magnetic resonance imaging and in contrast agents to improve the sensitivity and specificity of diagnostic images. In this technique, it is possible to visualize body morphology with a very high resolution, since Gd(III) ions are the best paramagnetic compounds in the periodic table (Mitsumori et al., 2014).

Ma and colleagues (2018) had explored nanoparticle emitting short-wave infrared (SWIR), activated simultaneously by an 808 nm laser and a magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). The system is shown to have the potential to accurately determine the position of tumors (Ma et al., 2018).

Shi and collaborators (2010) developed hybrid Gd_2O_3 nanoparticles doped with Eu^{3+} . The results showed that the nanoparticles were internalized into human mesenchymal stem cells (hMSCs), confirmed by confocal laser scan microscopy and inductively coupled plasma-mass spectrometry. The MTT assay showed that nanoparticles did not present significant cytotoxicity. In addition, the osteogenic, adipogenic, and chondrogenic differentiation of hMSCs was not influenced by the labeling process. With magnetic resonance images, the in vitro detection limit of cells after incubation was estimated at about 10,000 cells. These results are an indication that nanoparticles are promising for luminescent application and as a contrast agent (Shi et al., 2010).

Another study explored upconversion nanoparticles (UCNs) with multimodal fluorescence imaging, magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), and dual-energy computed tomography (CT). The UCNs marked stem cells efficiently and in a long term (at least 14 days), with almost no influence on the viability, cell cycle, apoptosis, and multilineage differentiation. The researchers demonstrated stem cell assembly at the site of the cortical bone defect, and in vivo images were well correlated with in vitro fluorescence observation. Therefore, these results demonstrate that the system was potentially developed for noninvasive real-time cell screening, which may be significant to understanding bone regeneration in a clinic (Chen et al., 2018).

The promising results presented by nanomaterials doped with rare-earth elements led to an increase in the research and development of new materials in biomedical areas (Fricker, 2006), such as biometrics (Bünzli, 2010), bioimaging (Liu et al., 2013), drug delivery (Yang et al., 2015), theranostics systems (Gai et al., 2014), and others.

4 Radiolabeled Nanoparticles for Treatment, Diagnosis, and Theranostics

4.1 Overview of Radiation in Medicine

Since the discovery of X-rays and radioactive emissions in the late nineteenth century and at the beginning of the twentieth century, radiation has been added to the arsenal of under-developing techniques designed to diagnose and treat diseases like cancer (Reed, 2011; Vinet & Zhedanov, 2014). High-energy electromagnetic radiations, like X-rays and gamma rays, were first used in medicine for imaging the inner human body due to their ability to penetrate organic tissues with distinct absorption characteristics according to the density, thickness, and effective atomic number of the different organs, which makes it possible to convert the differential intensities of the radiation bean that go through the human body into a visible image by capturing the passing radiation with specific radiographic films or detectors. The conventional X-ray systems and the computer tomography systems are based on these concepts. In the 1920s, Hermann L. Blumgart and Otto C. Yens worked on a revolutionary insight to use radionuclides as diagnostic agents. Their approach was based on tracking the path of radioactive iodine in the bloodstream to measure the blood flow or circulation time, being the first diagnostic radiotracer procedure done on a human (Patton, 2003) and the birth of the nuclear medicine and radiopharmacy.

A few years after the discovery of the phenomenon of radioactivity, Becquerel and Curie described some physiologic effects of radioactive emissions of a radium radionuclide (Becquerel & Curie, 1901). By that time, the use of radiation to treat most skin cancers had been reported, followed by a great advance in radiotherapy in the next decades provided by the increasing number of published studies on the use of radioisotopes to treat other diseases as well as the development of more sophisticated techniques and types of equipment (Gianfaldoni et al., 2017; Do Huh & Kim, 2020). Despite the great progress in radiodiagnosis and radiotherapies in the last century, the lack of specificity for radiations to attack only tumors or pathogenic tissues, or to have confined action preferably in cancerous cells or damaged cells, remains a big concern to the use of radiation in medicine. However, the considerable breakthroughs on active targeting nanocarriers by multifunctional nanoparticles research bring to light some to overcome to this problem.

The radiolabeling of nanomaterials has been reported in a great variety of scientific research (Goins, 2008; Xing et al., 2014; Koziorowski et al., 2017; Gholami et al., 2019) aiming for the selective delivery of radiation doses to provide specific diagnosis or specific treatments to many diseases and precise theranostics which means simultaneous therapy and diagnosis (Lim et al., 2015). In scientific research, the radiolabeling techniques are valorous tools that help scientists to elucidate the biodistribution of promisor nanocarriers that are designed for diverse bioapplications, from vaccines to other approaches (Guerrero et al., 2012; Sánchez-Martínez et al., 2013), likewise, the monitoring of functional processes at molecular and cellular levels to probe the molecular abnormalities that are the basis of some diseases including cancer (Morales-Avila et al., 2012).

4.2 Diagnosis of Cancer with Radiolabeled Multifunctional Nanomaterials

Each one of the distinct imaging modalities presents unique features that determine the advantages and disadvantages of a single radiodiagnostic technique above the others. Some of these techniques provide better functional data, while others provide better anatomic or morphological information. Furthermore, even between the functional imaging modalities, like magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), single photon emission computed tomography (SPECT), and positron emission tomography (PET), the unique physical principles that govern the obtaining of each type of image provide distinct information. Considering the advances and peculiarities among the imaging modalities, a combination of these techniques is usually required to detect elusive lesions (Fernández & Cueto, 2009). Therefore, multifunctional nanosystems are capable to reunite two or more distinct imaging agents in one single platform to provide simultaneously morphological, functional, and molecular information, offering the possibility to improve the diagnostic and therapeutic monitoring abilities (Xing et al., 2014). Taking advantage of these possibilities, many scientific works have been demonstrating how nanoparticles can be used to improve imaging diagnosis from multimodal systems.

Cai and coworkers (2007) develop a dual probe for specific tumor vasculature imaging through PET and NIRF (near-infrared fluorescence) systems. The authors modified the amine-functionalized surface of quantum dots with a DOTA chelator for copper-64 radiolabeling and RGD peptides for integrin $\alpha_v \beta_3$ targeting. This multifunctional system was radiolabeled with copper-64, and biological assays were performed to test the binding specificity and quantify the probe uptake in the tumor and major organs. The results show that the radiolabeled dual probe exhibited integrin $\alpha_{\nu}\beta_{3}$ specific binding and RGD peptides improved the uptaking in tumor cells. Furthermore, the authors obtained a linear correlation between the results measured by in vivo PET imaging and those measured by ex vivo NIRF imaging, demonstrating that this dual probe can be an important tool for improved and specific diagnosis of cancer (Fig. 6). In another study, Xie and colleagues (2010) modified the surface of iron oxide nanoparticles with dopamine and encapsulated these functionalized nanoparticles into human serum albumin matrices dually labeled with ⁶⁴Cu-DOTA and Cy5.5. The authors studied the biological behavior of this system by in vivo PET/NIRF/MRI trimodality imaging and ex vivo analyses for histological examinations. The results show that this multifunctional system manifested prolonged bloodstream circulation with massive accumulation in lesions (Fig. 7) with also low uptake of the particles by macrophages at the tumor area, demonstrating that this system presents promisor features for the cancer multimodal diagnosis approach.

4.3 Radiolabeled Nanomaterials for Cancer Theranostics

The cancer theranostics represent another possibility that the multifunctional nanoparticles brought to science. Recently, scientists are paying attention to the possibility to monitor cancer treatment response through radioactive probes that can provide specific diagnostic imaging simultaneously with selective therapeutic approaches. Fang and coauthors wrote a newborn review with massive information about contemporary preclinical advances in breast cancer theranostics (Fang et al., 2021). According to the authors, some of the theranostic agents highlighted in their work exhibit high potential to be translated to the clinic. In one of these works,



Fig. 6 In vivo PET of U87MG tumor-bearing mice with dual-function PET/NIRF probe. (**a**) Whole-body coronal PET images of mice at 1, 5, 18, and 25 h after injection of 7–14 MBq of 64 Cu-labeled DOTA-QD or DOTA-QD-RGD. Arrowheads indicate tumors. The images shown are for slices that were 1 mm thick. GI = gastrointestinal tract; L = liver. (**b**) Liver uptake of 64 Cu-labeled DOTA-QD and DOTA-QD-RGD over time, as quantified by ROI analysis of small-animal PET scans (n = three per group). (**c**) U87MG tumor uptake of 64 Cu-labeled DOTA-QD and DOTA-QD-RGD over time, as quantified by ROI analysis of small-animal PET scans (n = three per group). (**c**) U87MG tumor uptake of 64 Cu-labeled DOTA-QD and DOTA-QD-RGD over time, as quantified by ROI analysis of small-animal PET scans (n = three per group). (**d**) Two-dimensional whole-body projection of the two mice shown in A at 5 h after injection. Arrowheads indicate tumors. *p < 0.05. **p < 0.01 (Cai et al., 2007)

Pascual and colleagues (Pascual et al., 2017) described the preparation of a nanoparticulate system constituted of aminopropyl functionalized mesoporous silica nanoparticles gated with MUC1 aptamer, loaded with safranin O and radiolabeled with ^{99m}Tc, designed for specific targeting and cargo release in breast cancer cells. In vitro assays with MDA-MB-231, a breast cancer cell lineage that overexpressed MUC1 receptor, showed nanoparticle uptake with local drug release and a significant reduction in cell viability, while the in vivo studies with MDA-MB-231 tumorbearing Balb/c mice demonstrated a remarkable tumor targeting (Fig. 8). In another work, indium-111 labeled superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles (SPIONs) conjugated with trastuzumab-doxorubicin and coated with APTES-PEG were designed by Zolata and coworkers (2015) for tumor targeting, drug delivery, controlled drug release, and dual-modal tumor imaging. The APTES-PEG



Fig. 7 (a) Representative in vivo NIRF images of a mouse injected with HSA-IONPs. Images were acquired 1 h, 4 h, and 18 h postinjection. (b) In vivo PET imaging results of a mouse injected with HSA-IONPs. Images were acquired 1 h, 4 h, and 18 h postinjection. (c) MRI images acquired before and 18 h postinjection (Xie et al., 2010)



Fig. 8 (a) Static planar SPECT image of the MDA-MB-231 tumor-bearing Balb/c mice model after administering the S1-apMUC1-Tc nanoparticles (3.7 MBq/0.2 mL) at 90 min postinjection. (b) Bioluminescence images from mice on day 21 after the intraventricular injection of the MDA-MB-231 cancer cells that reveal tumoral lesions. (c) Static planar SPECT inverse image of the MDA-MB-231 tumor-bearing Balb/c mice model after administering the S1-apMUC1-Tc nanoparticles (3.7 MBq/0.2 mL) at 90 min postinjection (Pascual et al., 2017)

functionalization aimed at increasing the circulating time in the blood, while trastuzumab aimed at providing active targeting to breast tumor cells. The authors also evaluated the theranostic effects of this system through in vitro assessments in SKBR3 cell lines and in vivo assay with breast tumor-bearing BALB/c mice via biodistribution study, dual-modal molecular imaging, and tumor diameter measurements. Their results showed that the multifunctional nanosystems retain magnetic properties with significant accumulation in tumors sites, being able to generate dual-modal images from SPECT and MRI systems with high potential for theranostics, considering the promising results from the therapeutic evaluation that were probably achieved under the combined effects from controlled doxorubicin release, Auger electrons, and gamma rays of ¹¹¹In radionuclide. In another work, Cipreste and coworkers (Cipreste et al., 2020b) developed a nanoplatform with hydroxyapatite functionalized with a new compound, the folate-medronate, and radiolabeled with copper-64. It is known that folic acid receptors are overexpressed in the osteo-

with copper-64. It is known that folic acid receptors are overexpressed in the osteosarcoma, transforming folic acid into a potential targeting molecule for cancer sites. In this work, the ⁶⁴Cu radioisotope was complexed in the medronate portion of the folate-medronate molecule, acting as a theranostic agent due to the dual positron and beta emissions that allow the PET diagnosis of many kinds of cancers simultaneously to the treatment due to the beta emission. The authors suggest that the complexation route of ⁶⁴Cu can be improved to achieve increasing radiolabeling rates. Despite that, the authors conclude that the system is significantly potential as a theranostic alternative material.

Great advances have been achieved in cancer treatment and diagnosis on behalf of molecular imaging science. Thanks to the reduced dimensions, nanoparticles can act as carrier vehicles that can penetrate through the endothelial cell layers and interact with various cell structures allowing to record spatiotemporal events at the cellular and subcellular levels (Mirshojaei et al., 2016). Many authors revised the recent progress on radiolabeled nanoparticles for molecular imaging and cancer therapy (Hong et al., 2009; Morales-Avila et al., 2012; Mirshojaei et al., 2016; Kim et al., 2017; Mushtag et al., 2021). These works reunite the state-of-the-art of molecular imaging researches around the world, bringing to light the importance of the field of science that comprehends the visualization, characterization, and measurement of biological processes at the molecular and cellular levels (Mankoff, 2007). Acting through a distinct approach when compared to conventional diagnostic imaging systems, the molecular imaging trends probe the molecular abnormalities that cause diseases rather than capture images from the areas affected by these alterations (Morales-Avila et al., 2012). For cancer theranostics, the molecular imaging approach brings the advantage of active targeting in specific molecular markers of cancer cells, as demonstrated by Hajiramezanali and coworkers (Hajiramezanali et al., 2019). The authors demonstrated that chitosan coated SPIONS functionalized with DOTA, as a 68Ga radioisotope chelator, and bombesin, as a targeting peptide for specific binding to gastrin-releasing peptide (GRP) receptors that are overexpressed in breast cancer cells, showed insignificant toxicity and high affinity for GRP in a breast cancer cell linage. Moreover, PET and MRI images obtained from in vivo assay showed visible uptake of the radiolabeled nanoparticles in tumor induced xenograft mouse models, indicating that nanoparticles can be modulated for targeting specific molecules that are associated with cancer activities.

4.4 Curcumin-Based Multifunctional Nanomaterials for Theranostic Purposes

Currently, in addition to the various possibilities of application of curcumin in the therapy of various types of diseases and its potential use as a chemotherapeutic agent, the metal complexes of curcumin have enormous potential in the development of new tracers for application in diagnostic medicine. Thanks to these characteristics, it is also possible to use curcumin to obtain theranostic structures, especially in cancer therapy and diagnosis.

In a new research, Tian et al. (2021) developed mesoporous silica nanospheres, doped with gadolinium, loaded with curcumin, and conjugated with carboxymethyl dextran, for theranostic purposes. The nanoplatform was not only able to improve T1-weighted MRI contrast but also produced good synergistic effects in inhibiting tumor growth, due to the joint use of curcumin with sonodynamic chemotherapy (Tian et al., 2021).

A new theranostic molecule was developed by Freidus and colleagues (2020). The new molecule was produced from the reaction between curcumin and leisone giving rise to curcumin naphthoquinone. The structure exhibited intrinsic fluorescence, which allows its use in detection imaging. In addition, it exhibited cytotoxicity to ovarian cancer cells, demonstrating its chemotherapeutic property (Freidus et al., 2020).

Multimodal nanoparticles have also been developed for theranostic purposes. Demir and colleagues (2021) synthesized liposomes loaded with curcumin, bioconjugated with anti-CD44 antibodies, and carbon quantum dots. The nanoplatform showed promise in real-time imaging and showed a potentiated effect on cancer cells (Demir et al., 2021).

The development of hybrid nanostructures represents an important step in the use of curcumin, not only for therapeutic purposes but also for its use in disease diagnosis. Its theranostic potential opens new frontiers for its use in medicine, not only limited to treatment with fewer side effects.

4.5 Radiolabeling Techniques for Nanomaterials and Future Perspectives

Considering the great variety of radionuclides that present unique properties and desired features for biomedical applications and the miscellany of possibilities to incorporate these radionuclides in nanomaterials, there is a vastness of possibilities for designing radiolabeled nanoparticles aiming for the treatment and diagnosis of specific kinds of cancer.

When choosing radioisotopes for labeling nanomaterials aiming for theranostic applications, researchers must pay attention to some ideal features that radionuclides should present, such as a half-life of decay compatible for the application, accessibility of radionuclides, ease of production, type of decay and radioactive emissions, radiation energy, absence or very low toxicity, and compatible chemistry for conjugations, and scientists must remember that also the daughter nuclides must present these ideal properties. The decay half-life influences the flexibility for transportation and labeling procedures (Ni et al., 2018), which means that very short half-life radionuclides demand rapid labeling chemistry and must be produced nearby the hospital or clinic where the radiolabeled nanomaterial will be administrated in the patient. Considering systemic applications, radionuclides with a very long half-life are not desirable due to radiological protection issues.

Farzin and colleagues (2019) reviewed the use of some radioisotopes in combination with nanomaterials for molecular imaging and therapy applications; the authors described the usage of gold-198, indium-111, copper-64, tellurium-125, rhenium-188, holmium-166, and technetium-99m. The type and energy of radiation emissions of each radionuclide dictate the path length or the range of radiation in tissues like tumors; these are crucial features that determine the application of each radioisotope. For imaging purposes, radionuclides must be positron emitters or emit gamma rays with energies compatible with gamma cameras that are designed for technetium-99m energy (140 keV) (Mirshojaei et al., 2016). Considering cancer therapy applications, the great majority of the radionuclides under investigation are β emitters, which deposit their radiation energy within manifold millimeters in the surrounding tissues. However, if shallow tissue penetration is desired, alpha particles and Auger emitting radionuclides provide more appropriate emissions (Farzin et al., 2019). For theranostic applications, the incorporation of radioisotopes that present dual emissions are desirable – like copper-64 which emits β particles and positrons or iodine-131 which emits β particles and gamma rays with approximately 364 keV or a combination of radioisotopes (Laprise-Pelletier et al., 2017; Keinänen et al., 2019).

Nanoparticles can be radiolabeled through a multitude of techniques including radioisotope direct attachment to the surface of nanomaterials through chemisorption, indirect surface coupling using complexing agents (Cipreste et al., 2020a), and structural incorporation through doping process (Cipreste et al., 2016). Although many possibilities are available for radiolabeling nanoparticles, Ni et al. (2018) stated that "an ideal radiolabeling strategy should be easy, fast, robust, and highly efficient and must make only minimal changes to the original properties" of the nanostructured matrix (Ni et al., 2018). Considering these desirable properties for radiolabeling strategies, some reviews are accessible in the literature to help researchers to design their radiolabeling assays. Ge and fellows (Ge et al., 2020) reviewed the techniques researchers have been using for radiolabeling nanomaterials; the authors divided these techniques into three categories: (i) surface coupling, (ii) inner incorporation, and (iii) interface engineering. Accordantly to Ge and coworkers, for ideal surface coupling, the selection of the chelator for a given isotope is critical to achieving stable radiolabeling, since each chelator has a preference for specific radionuclides. The authors cite some of the most common chelators for radiolabeling techniques that could be applied to nanomaterials: diethylenetriaminepentaacetic acid (DTPA) is a common chelator for ¹¹¹In or ^{99m}Tc;

1,4,7,10-tetraazacyclododecane-1,4,7,10-tetraacetic acid (DOTA) for ¹⁷⁷Lu; 1,4,7-triazacyclononane-1,4,7-triacetic acid (NOTA) for ⁶⁴Cu and ⁶⁸Ga; and deferoxamine (DFO) for ⁸⁹Zr labeling. Other authors gave more attention to reviewing the approaches for ^{99m}Tc labeling to specific classes of nanomaterials such as iron oxide, gold, silica nanoparticles, titanium, and polymeric nanoparticles (Mushtaq et al., 2021), while Cipreste and colleagues described the radiolabeling of hydroxyapatite nanoparticles through the coordination chemistry of copper-64 with a bisphosphonate modified folic acid molecule (Cipreste et al., 2020a).

The radiolabeling of nanomaterials can also be achieved by chelator-free techniques. Ni and coworkers (2018) discussed the coordination chemistry for radiolabeling silica-based nanoparticles by complexation of radioisotopes as a product of a Lewis acid-base reaction between radioisotopes and oxygen from the deprotonated silanol groups located in the mesoporous structure of silica nanoparticles. Furthermore, radioisotopes can also be incorporated inside the unit cell of crystalline structures of some classes of nanoparticles such as hydroxyapatite. Rezende and colleagues (2019) reported the synthesis of strontium-doped hydroxyapatite nanorods through the hydrothermal coprecipitation method and a double radioisotope activation by neutron irradiation in a nuclear reactor. The authors described that strontium ions replace the calcium ions in the crystalline structure of hydroxyapatite and the radioisotopes ⁸⁹Sr and ³²P are produced by neutron activation of structural strontium and phosphorous. Likewise, Cipreste and coworkers (2016) described similar results by doping hydroxyapatite structure with gadolinium and activating the structural radioisotopes ¹⁵⁹Gd and ³²P by neutron irradiation.

Although many advances have been made in the field of radiolabeling techniques for bionanomaterials, there are great challenges that separate the basic research from the clinic. Griffiths et al. (2021) discussed the exhausting processes related to the translation of discovery in molecular imaging from preclinical validation steps, passing phase I, phase II, and phase III studies until the usage approval. The authors state that clinical translation reality is far from simple and requires a lot of effort and financial resources. Considering that the majority of the newly designed radiolabeled nanoparticles do not reach the end of this journey, persistence must be the rule for researchers that aim to evolve this technique.

5 Summary

This chapter describes recent studies on the use of nanoparticles for cancer therapy and diagnosis. Cellular resistance to chemotherapeutic agents and the harmful effects caused to healthy tissues by radiotherapy are a challenge that the medical community has faced for years. Thus, new techniques have been constantly studied and developed to minimize these collateral impacts. Nanomaterials have contributed to medicine by introducing new concepts to therapeutic and diagnostic methods, as they have yielded medical benefits in recent years, especially in the field of oncological diseases. To summarize, new modalities of cancer therapy and diagnosis using nanoparticles have been developed in recent years, such as local photothermal therapies, controlled delivery of chemotherapy drugs, and natural anticancer products such as curcumin. Simultaneous treatment and diagnosis with radiolabeled nanocarriers and a combination of these modalities are also possible due to their high sensitivity, specificity, and multiplexed measurement capability, which can lead to a better cancer patient survival rate.

Therefore, it can be concluded from the studies presented in this chapter that nanomaterials have great potential to be used in the treatment and diagnosis of cancer, presenting optimistic results for the development of advanced and new techniques, being potentially fascinating candidates for a wide range of applications both in treatments and innovative tools in the field of nanomedicine.

Acknowledgments CNPq, CAPES, FAPEMIG.

References

- Al-Shehri, B. M., et al. (2019). Effect of europium loading on the photoluminescence property of europium incorporated 3D-Mesoporous silica. *Journal of Non-Crystalline Solids*, 515(January), 68–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnoncrysol.2019.04.007
- Ang, M. J. Y., et al. (2021). Emerging strategies in developing multifunctional nanomaterials for cancer nanotheranostics. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 178(xxxx), 113907. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.addr.2021.113907
- Attia, M. F., et al. (2019). An overview of active and passive targeting strategies to improve the nanocarriers efficiency to tumour sites. *Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology*, 71(8), 1185–1198. https://doi.org/10.1111/jphp.13098
- Bao, G., Mitragotri, S., & Tong, S. (2013). Multifunctional nanoparticles for drug delivery and molecular imaging. *Annual Review of Biomedical Engineering*, 15(1), 253–282. https://doi. org/10.1146/annurev-bioeng-071812-152409
- Becquerel, H., & Curie, P. (1901). Action physiologique des rayons de radium. *Comptes Rendus. Académie des Sciences*, 132, 1289–1291.
- Beik, J., et al. (2016). Nanotechnology in hyperthermia cancer therapy: From fundamental principles to advanced applications. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 235, 205–221. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2016.05.062
- Bohara, R. A., Thorat, N. D., & Pawar, S. H. (2016). Role of functionalization: Strategies to explore potential nano-bio applications of magnetic nanoparticles. *RSC Advances*, 6(50), 43989–44012. https://doi.org/10.1039/c6ra02129h
- Botter, S. M., Neri, D., & Fuchs, B. (2014). Recent advances in osteosarcoma. Current Opinion in Pharmacology, 16(1), 15–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coph.2014.02.002
- Bünzli, J. C. G. (2010). Lanthanide luminescence for biomedical analyses and imaging. *Chemical Reviews*, 110(5), 2729–2755. https://doi.org/10.1021/cr900362e
- Cai, W., et al. (2007). Dual-function probe for PET and near-infrared fluorescence imaging of tumor vasculature. *Journal of Nuclear Medicine*, 48(11), 1862–1870. https://doi.org/10.2967/ jnumed.107.043216
- Campodoni, E., et al. (2021). Magnetic and radio-labeled bio-hybrid scaffolds to promote and track in vivo the progress of bone regeneration. *Biomaterials Science*. https://doi.org/10.1039/d1bm00858g

- Chatterjee, D. K., Diagaradjane, P., & Krishnan, S. (2011). Nanoparticle-mediated hyperthermia in cancer therapy. *Therapeutic Delivery*, 2(8), 1001–1014.
- Chen, H., et al. (2013). Gold nanorods and their plasmonic properties. *Chemical Society Reviews*, 42(7), 2679–2724. https://doi.org/10.1039/c2cs35367a
- Chen, G., et al. (2014). Upconversion nanoparticles: Design, nanochemistry, and applications in Theranostics. *Chemical Reviews*, 114(10), 5161–5214. https://doi.org/10.1021/cr400425h
- Chen, D., et al. (2018). Multimodal nanoprobe based on upconversion nanoparticles for monitoring implanted stem cells in bone defect of big animal. ACS Biomaterials Science and Engineering, 4(2), 626–634. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsbiomaterials.7b00763
- Chen, J., et al. (2021). Recent advances in nanomaterials for therapy and diagnosis for atherosclerosis. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 170, 142–199. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. addr.2021.01.005
- Chuang, C. C., et al. (2019). Gold nanorod-encapsulated biodegradable polymeric matrix for combined photothermal and chemo-cancer therapy. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 14, 181–193. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S177851
- Cipreste, M. F., et al. (2016). Synthesis and characterization of 159 Gd-doped hydroxyapatite nanorods for bioapplications as theranostic systems. *Materials Chemistry and Physics*, 181, 301–311. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matchemphys.2016.06.063
- Cipreste, M. F., Mussel, W. N., Batista da Silva, J., et al. (2020a). A new theranostic system for bone disorders: Functionalized folate-MDP hydroxyapatite nanoparticles with radiolabeled copper-64. *Materials Chemistry and Physics*, 254, 123265. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. matchemphys.2020.123265
- Cipreste, M. F., Mussel, W. N., da Silva, J. B., et al. (2020b). A new theranostic system for bone disorders: Functionalized folate-MDP hydroxyapatite nanoparticles with radiolabeled copper-64. *Materials Chemistry and Physics*, 254, 123265. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. matchemphys.2020.123265
- da Meireles, I. B. C. J., et al. (2021). Synthesis and characterization of gold nanorods coated by mesoporous silica MCM-41 as a platform for bioapplication in photohyperthermia. *Nanotechnology*, 32(50), 505720. https://doi.org/10.1088/1361-6528/ac28db
- Dang, Y., & Guan, J. (2020). Nanoparticle-based drug delivery systems for cancer therapy. Smart Materials in Medicine, 1(April), 10–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smaim.2020.04.001
- de Lucena, P. R., et al. (2004). Fotoluminescência em materiais com desordem estrutural. *Cerâmica*, 50(314), 138–144. https://doi.org/10.1590/s0366-69132004000200011
- de Rezende, M. R., et al. (2019). 89 Sr-doped hydroxyapatite nanoparticles as a potential therapeutic agent for bone tumors. *International Journal of Applied Ceramic Technology*, 16(5), 1904–1919. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijac.13262
- Demir, B., et al. (2021). Carbon dots and curcumin-loaded CD44-Targeted liposomes for imaging and tracking cancer chemotherapy: A multi-purpose tool for theranostics. *Journal of Drug Delivery Science and Technology*, 62(September 2020), 102363. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jddst.2021.102363
- Do Huh, H., & Kim, S. (2020). History of radiation therapy technology. *Progress in Medical Physics*, *31*(3), 124–134. https://doi.org/10.14316/pmp.2020.31.3.124
- Dong, H., et al. (2015). Lanthanide nanoparticles: From design toward bioimaging and therapy. *Chemical Reviews*, 115(19), 10725–10815. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemrev.5b00091
- Dykman, L. A., & Khlebtsov, N. G. (2016). Multifunctional gold-based nanocomposites for theranostics. *Biomaterials*, 108, 13–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2016.08.040
- Eskandari, Z., et al. (2021). Levan enhanced the NF-κB suppression activity of an oral nano PLGA-curcumin formulation in breast cancer treatment. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, 189(August), 223–231. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2021.08.115
- Fang, H., et al. (2021). Preclinical advances in theranostics for the different molecular subtypes of breast cancer. Frontiers in Pharmacology, 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2021.627693

- Farzin, L., et al. (2019). An overview of nanoscale radionuclides and radiolabeled nanomaterials commonly used for nuclear molecular imaging and therapeutic functions. *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research – Part A*, 107(1), 251–285. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.a.36550
- Fernández, C. P., & Cueto, P. M. (2009). Técnicas de radiodiagnóstico en tumores neuroendocrinos gastroenteropancreáticos. *Endocrinología y Nutrición*, 56, 2–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S1575-0922(09)73503-X
- Freidus, L. G., et al. (2020). Synthesis and properties of currup for the theranostic application in ovarian cancer intervention. *Molecules*, 25(19). https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules25194471
- Fricker, S. P. (2006). The therapeutic application of lanthanides. *Chemical Society Reviews*, 35(6), 524–533. https://doi.org/10.1039/b509608c
- Gai, S., et al. (2014). Recent progress in rare earth micro/nanocrystals: Soft chemical synthesis, luminescent properties, and biomedical applications. *Chemical Reviews*, 114(4), 2343–2389. https://doi.org/10.1021/cr4001594
- Ge, J., et al. (2020). Radiolabeling nanomaterials for multimodality imaging: New insights into nuclear medicine and cancer diagnosis. *Biomaterials*, 228(October 2019). https://doi. org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2019.119553
- Ghaffari, M., et al. (2020). Co-delivery of curcumin and Bcl-2 siRNA by PAMAM dendrimers for enhancement of the therapeutic efficacy in HeLa cancer cells. *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces*, 188(July 2019). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfb.2019.110762
- Ghalandarlaki, N., Alizadeh, A. M., & Ashkani-Esfahani, S. (2014). Nanotechnology-applied curcumin for different diseases therapy. *BioMed Research International*, 2014, 1–23. https://doi. org/10.1155/2014/394264
- Ghanbari, N., et al. (2021). Glucosamine-conjugated graphene quantum dots as versatile and pH-sensitive nanocarriers for enhanced delivery of curcumin targeting to breast cancer. *Materials Science and Engineering C, 121*(January 2020), 111809. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msec.2020.111809
- Gholami, Y. H., Maschmeyer, R., & Kuncic, Z. (2019). Radio-enhancement effects by radiolabeled nanoparticles. *Scientific Reports*, 9(1), 14346. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-50861-2
- Gianfaldoni, S., et al. (2017). An overview on radiotherapy: From its history to its current applications in dermatology. *Open Access Macedonian Journal of Medical Sciences*, 5(4), 521–525. https://doi.org/10.3889/oamjms.2017.122
- Giraldo, L. F., et al. (2007). Mesoporous silica applications. *Macromolecular Symposia*, 258, 129–141. https://doi.org/10.1002/masy.200751215
- Goins, B. A. (2008). Radiolabeled lipid nanoparticles for diagnostic imaging. Expert Opinion on Medical Diagnostics, 2(7), 853–873. https://doi.org/10.1517/17530059.2.7.853
- Goldstein, L. S., et al. (2003). Summary, conclusions and recommendations: Adverse temperature levels in the human body. *International Journal of Hyperthermia*, *19*(3), 373–384. https://doi.org/10.1080/0265673031000090701
- Griffiths, G. L., et al. (2021). Translating a radiolabeled imaging agent to the clinic. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 114086. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2021.114086
- Guerrero, S., et al. (2012). Synthesis and in vivo evaluation of the biodistribution of a 18 F-labeled conjugate gold-nanoparticle-peptide with potential biomedical application. *Bioconjugate Chemistry*, 23(3), 399–408. https://doi.org/10.1021/bc200362a
- Hajiramezanali, M., et al. (2019). 68 Ga-radiolabeled bombesin-conjugated to trimethyl chitosancoated superparamagnetic nanoparticles for molecular imaging: Preparation, characterization and biological evaluation. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 14, 2591–2605. https://doi. org/10.2147/IJN.S195223
- Hatcher, H., et al. (2008). Curcumin: From ancient medicine to current clinical trials. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, 65(11), 1631–1652. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-008-7452-4
- He, S., et al. (2020). Graphene oxide-template gold nanosheets as highly efficient near-infrared hyperthermia agents for cancer therapy. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 15, 8451–8463. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S265134

- Her, S., Jaffray, D. A., & Allen, C. (2017). Gold nanoparticles for applications in cancer radiotherapy: Mechanisms and recent advancements. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews*, 109, 84–101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2015.12.012
- Hildebrandt, B., et al. (2002). The cellular and molecular basis of hyperthermia. *Critical Reviews* in Oncology/Hematology, 43(1), 33–59.
- Hirabayashi, H., et al. (2001). Bone-specific delivery and sustained release of diclofenac, a nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug, via bisphosphonic prodrug based on the Osteotropic Drug Delivery System (ODDS). *Journal of Controlled Release*, 70(1–2), 183–191. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0168-3659(00)00355-2
- Hong, H., et al. (2009). Molecular imaging and therapy of cancer with radiolabeled nanoparticles. *Nano Today*, 4(5), 399–413. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nantod.2009.07.001
- Hong, E., et al. (2019). Control synthesis, subtle surface modification of rare-earth-doped upconversion nanoparticles and their applications in cancer diagnosis and treatment. *Materials Science and Engineering C*, 105(August), 110097. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msec.2019.110097
- Hou, W., et al. (2017). Nanoparticles for multi-modality cancer diagnosis: Simple protocol for self-assembly of gold nanoclusters mediated by gadolinium ions. *Biomaterials*, 120, 103–114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2016.12.027
- Huang, X., & El-Sayed, M. A. (2010). Gold nanoparticles: Optical properties and implementations in cancer diagnosis and photothermal therapy. *Journal of Advanced Research*, 1(1), 13–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jare.2010.02.002
- Huang, X., Neretina, S., & El-Sayed, M. A. (2009). Gold nanorods: From synthesis and properties to biological and biomedical applications. *Advanced Materials*, 21(48), 4880–4910. https://doi. org/10.1002/adma.200802789
- Huang, P., et al. (2019). Rare earth ion- and transition metal ion-doped inorganic luminescent nanocrystals: From fundamentals to biodetection. *Materials Today Nano*, 5, 100031. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.mtnano.2019.100031
- Irfan, M., et al. (2018). Stability, interparticle interactions and catalytic performance of gold nanoparticles synthesized through ionic liquid mediated oil palm leaves extract. *Journal* of Environmental Chemical Engineering, 6(4), 5024–5031. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jece.2018.07.031
- Iwasaki, T., et al. (2013). Simple and rapid synthesis of magnetite/hydroxyapatite composites for hyperthermia treatments via a mechanochemical route. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 14(5), 9365–9378. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms14059365
- Jain, P. K., et al. (2006). Calculated absorption and scattering properties of gold nanoparticles of different size, shape, and composition: Applications in biological imaging and biomedicine. *The Journal of Physical Chemistry*, 110, 7238–7248.
- Jain, P. K., et al. (2007). Review of some interesting surface plasmon resonance-enhanced properties of noble metal nanoparticles and their applications to biosystems. *Plasmonics*, 2(3), 107–118. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11468-007-9031-1
- Jaque, D., et al. (2014). Nanoparticles for photothermal therapies. Nanoscale, 6(16), 9494–9530. https://doi.org/10.1039/c4nr00708e
- Jordens, A., Cheng, Y. P., & Waters, K. E. (2013). A review of the beneficiation of rare earth element bearing minerals. *Minerals Engineering*, 41, 97–114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. mineng.2012.10.017
- Kalash, R. S., et al. (2016). Theranostics. In *Biomaterials Nanoarchitectonics* (pp. 197–215). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-37127-8.00012-1
- Kansara, M., et al. (2014). Translational biology of osteosarcoma. Nature Reviews Cancer, 14(11), 722–735. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc3838
- Karthikeyan, A., Senthil, N., & Min, T. (2020). Nanocurcumin: A promising candidate for therapeutic applications. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 11(May), 1–24. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fphar.2020.00487
- Keinänen, O., et al. (2019). Dual radionuclide theranostic pretargeting. *Molecular Pharmaceutics*, 16(10), 4416–4421. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.molpharmaceut.9b00746

- Kianamiri, S., et al. (2020). Mitochondria-targeted polyamidoamine dendrimer-curcumin construct for hepatocellular cancer treatment. *Molecular Pharmaceutics*, 17(12), 4483–4498. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.molpharmaceut.0c00566
- Kim, J., Lee, N., & Hyeon, T. (2017). Recent development of nanoparticles for molecular imaging. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences*, 375(2107), 20170022. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsta.2017.0022
- Koziorowski, J., et al. (2017). Radiolabeled nanoparticles for cancer diagnosis and therapy. Anti-Cancer Agents in Medicinal Chemistry, 17(3), 333–354. https://doi.org/10.217 4/1871520616666160219162902
- Laprise-Pelletier, M., et al. (2017). Low-dose prostate cancer brachytherapy with radioactive palladium-gold nanoparticles. *Advanced Healthcare Materials*, 6(4), 1601120. https://doi.org/10.1002/adhm.201601120
- Lei, P., Feng, J., & Zhang, H. (2020). Emerging biomaterials: Taking full advantage of the intrinsic properties of rare earth elements. *Nano Today*, 35, 100952. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. nantod.2020.100952
- Li, X., et al. (2014). PEGylated PAMAM dendrimer-doxorubicin conjugate-hybridized gold nanorod for combined photothermal-chemotherapy. *Biomaterials*, 35(24), 6576–6584. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2014.04.043
- Li, D., et al. (2018). Self-assembled hydroxyapatite-graphene scaffold for photothermal cancer therapy and bone regeneration. *Journal of Biomedical Nanotechnology*, 14(12), 2003–2017. https://doi.org/10.1166/jbn.2018.2646
- Li, H., et al. (2020). Advances in the application of gold nanoparticles in bone tissue engineering. Journal of Biological Engineering, 14(1), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13036-020-00236-3
- Liao, J., et al. (2021). Review of a new bone tumor therapy strategy based on bifunctional biomaterials. *Bone Research*, 9(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41413-021-00139-z
- Lim, E. K., et al. (2015). Nanomaterials for theranostics: Recent advances and future challenges. *Chemical Reviews*, 115(1), 327–394. https://doi.org/10.1021/cr300213b
- Link, S., & El-Sayed, M. A. (1999). Size and temperature dependence of the plasmon absorption of colloidal gold nanoparticles. *Journal of Physical Chemistry B*, 103(21), 4212–4217. https:// doi.org/10.1021/jp9847960
- Liu, Y., et al. (2013). Lanthanide-doped luminescent nanoprobes: Controlled synthesis, optical spectroscopy, and bioapplications. *Chemical Society Reviews*, 42(16), 6924–6958. https://doi. org/10.1039/c3cs60060b
- Liu, L., et al. (2018a). Er 3+ sensitized 1530 nm to 1180 nm second near-infrared window Upconversion nanocrystals for in vivo biosensing. *Angewandte Chemie*, 130(25), 7640–7644. https://doi.org/10.1002/ange.201802889
- Liu, Y., et al. (2018b). 3D-printed scaffolds with bioactive elements-induced photothermal effect for bone tumor therapy, *Acta Biomaterialia*. Acta Materialia Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. actbio.2018.04.014
- Liu, Y., et al. (2021). Sustained and controlled delivery of doxorubicin from an in-situ setting biphasic hydroxyapatite carrier for local treatment of a highly proliferative human osteosarcoma. Acta Biomaterialia, 131, 555–571. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2021.07.016
- Ma, H., et al. (2016a). 3D printing of biomaterials with mussel-inspired nanostructures for tumor therapy and tissue regeneration. *Biomaterials*, 111, 138–148. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biomaterials.2016.10.005
- Ma, Y., et al. (2016b). Cancer-targeted nanotheranostics: Recent advances and perspectives. Small Journal, 12(36), 4936–4954. https://doi.org/10.1002/smll.201600635
- Ma, L., et al. (2018). Simultaneous Activation of Short-Wave Infrared (SWIR) light and paramagnetism by a functionalized shell for high penetration and spatial resolution theranostics. *Advanced Functional Materials*, 28(6), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1002/adfm.201705057
- Malathi, S., et al. (2020). Fabrication of nanopatterned PLGA films of curcumin and TPGS for skin cancer. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 578(January), 119100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2020.119100

- Mallory, M., et al. (2016). Therapeutic hyperthermia: The old, the new, and the upcoming. *Critical Reviews in Oncology/Hematology*, 97, 56–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.critrevonc.2015.08.003
- Mankoff, D. A. (2007). A definition of molecular imaging. Journal of Nuclear Medicine: Official Publication, Society of Nuclear Medicine, 48(6), 18N.
- Mansouri, K., et al. (2020). Clinical effects of curcumin in enhancing cancer therapy: A systematic review. *BMC Cancer*, 20(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12885-020-07256-8
- Marinho, J. P. N., et al. (n.d.). Nanostructured system based on hydroxyapatite and curcumin: A promising candidate for osteosarcoma therapy, In 5ht International Caparica Symposium on nanoparticles/nanomaterials and applications 2022, 5., 2022, Caparica, Portugal.
- Mirshojaei, S. F., et al. (2016). Radiolabelled nanoparticles: Novel classification of radiopharmaceuticals for molecular imaging of cancer. *Journal of Drug Targeting*, 24(2), 91–101. https:// doi.org/10.3109/1061186X.2015.1048516
- Mitsumori, L. M., et al. (2014). Gadolinium-based contrast agents. Topics in Magnetic Resonance Imaging, 23(1), 51–69.
- Mondal, S., et al. (2017). Magnetic hydroxyapatite: A promising multifunctional platform for nanomedicine application. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 12, 8389–8410. https://doi. org/10.2147/IJN.S147355
- Monteiro, G. A. A., et al. (2019). SBA-15/P[(N-ipaam)-co-(MAA)] thermo and pH-sensitive hybrid systems and their methotrexate (MTX) incorporation and release studies. *Journal* of Drug Delivery Science and Technology, 52(June), 895–904. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jddst.2019.06.002
- Morales-Avila, E., et al. (2012). Radiolabeled nanoparticles for molecular imaging. *Molecular Imaging*. https://doi.org/10.5772/31109
- Mukherjee, S., et al. (2020). Using curcumin to turn the innate immune system against cancer. Biochemical Pharmacology, 176(January), 113824. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2020.113824
- Murakami, S., et al. (2008). Hydrothermal synthesis of magnetite/hydroxyapatite composite material for hyperthermia therapy for bone cancer. *Journal of the Ceramic Society of Japan*, 116(1357), 950–954. https://doi.org/10.2109/jcersj2.116.950
- Mushtaq, S., et al. (2021). Recent progress in technetium-99m-labeled nanoparticles for molecular imaging and cancer therapy. *Nanomaterials*, 11(11), 3022. https://doi.org/10.3390/ nano11113022
- Nam, J., et al. (2018). Chemo-photothermal therapy combination elicits anti-tumor immunity against advanced metastatic cancer. *Nature Communications*, 9(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41467-018-03473-9
- Neacsu, I. A., et al. (2019). Luminescent hydroxyapatite doped with rare earth elements for biomedical applications. *Nanomaterials*, 9(2), 239. https://doi.org/10.3390/nano9020239
- Ni, D., et al. (2018). Radiolabeling silica-based nanoparticles via coordination chemistry: Basic principles, strategies, and applications. Accounts of Chemical Research, 51(3), 778–788. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.accounts.7b00635
- Nikoobakht, B., & El-Sayed, M. A. (2003). Preparation and growth mechanism of gold nanorods (NRs) using seed-mediated growth method. *Chemistry of Materials*, 15(10), 1957–1962. https://doi.org/10.1021/cm0207321
- Pascual, L., et al. (2017). MUC1 aptamer-capped mesoporous silica nanoparticles for controlled drug delivery and radio-imaging applications. *Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology, Biology and Medicine*, 13(8), 2495–2505. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nano.2017.08.006
- Pastoriza-Santos, I., Pérez-Juste, J., & Liz-Marzán, L. M. (2006). Silica-coating and hydrophobation of CTAB-stabilized gold nanorods. *Chemistry of Materials*, 18(10), 2465–2467. https:// doi.org/10.1021/cm060293g
- Patra, J. K., et al. (2018). Nano based drug delivery systems: Recent developments and future prospects. *Journal of Nanobiotechnology*, 16(1), 1–33. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12951-018-0392-8
- Patton, D. D. (2003). The birth of nuclear medicine instrumentation: Blumgart and Yens, 1925. Journal of Nuclear Medicine, 44(8), 1362–1365.

- Priyadarsini, K. I. (2014). The chemistry of curcumin: From extraction to therapeutic agent. *Molecules*, 19(12), 20091–20112. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules191220091
- Ravindran, P. N., Babu, K. N., & Sivaraman, K. (2007). Turmeric the genus curcuma, medicinal and aromatic plants – Industrial profiles. https://doi.org/10.1201/9781420006322-9
- Reed, A. B. (2011). The history of radiation use in medicine. *Journal of Vascular Surgery*, 53(1), 3S–5S. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JVS.2010.07.024
- Ren, F., et al. (2013). Gold nanorods carrying paclitaxel for photothermal-chemotherapy of cancer. *Bioconjugate Chemistry*, 24(3), 376–386. https://doi.org/10.1021/bc300442d
- Ritter, J., & Bielack, S. S. (2010). Osteosarcoma. Annals of Oncology, 21(Suppl. 7), 320–325. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdq276
- Riva, E. R., et al. (2017). Plasmonic/magnetic nanocomposites: Gold nanorods-functionalized silica coated magnetic nanoparticles. *Journal of Colloid and Interface Science*, 502, 201–209. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcis.2017.04.089
- Roberts, T. T., & Rosenbaum, A. J. (2012). Bone grafts, bone substitutes and orthobiologics. Organogenesis, 8(4), 114–124. https://doi.org/10.4161/org.23306
- Ruttala, H. B., et al. (2020). Multi-responsive albumin-lonidamine conjugated hybridized gold nanoparticle as a combined photothermal-chemotherapy for synergistic tumor ablation. Acta Biomaterialia, 101, 531–543. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2019.11.003
- Sánchez-Martínez, M., et al. (2013). Radiolabeling and biodistribution studies of polymeric nanoparticles as adjuvants for ocular vaccination against brucellosis. *Revista Espanola de Medicina Nuclear e Imagen Molecular*, 32(2), 92–97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.remn.2012.11.005
- Sarkar, D., et al. (2019). Design of lanthanide-doped colloidal nanocrystals: Applications as phosphors, sensors, and photocatalysts. *Langmuir*, 35(19), 6211–6230. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs. langmuir.8b01593
- Sharma, G., et al. (2018). Hybrid nanostructures in targeted drug delivery. In *Hybrid nanostructures for cancer Theranostics* (pp. 1–10). Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-813906-6.00008-1
- Shi, Z., et al. (2010). Bifunctional Eu3+-doped Gd2O3 nanoparticles as a luminescent and T1 contrast agent for stem cell labeling. *Contrast Media and Molecular Imaging*, 5(2), 105–111. https://doi.org/10.1002/cmmi.373
- Singh, M., et al. (2015). Application of gold nanoparticles for gastrointestinal cancer theranostics: A systematic review. *Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology, Biology, and Medicine, 11*(8), 2083–2098. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nano.2015.05.010
- Smith, M. A., Mancini, M. C., & Nie, S. (2009). Second window for in vivo imaging. Nature Nanotechnology, 4(11), 710–711. https://doi.org/10.1038/nnano.2009.326
- Sneha, M., & Sundaram, N. M. (2015). Preparation and characterization of an iron oxidehydroxyapatite nanocomposite for potential bone cancer therapy. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 10, 99–106. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S79985
- Sun, W., et al. (2019). Bone-targeted nanoplatform combining zoledronate and photothermal therapy to treat breast cancer bone metastasis. *ACS Nano, 13*(7), 7556–7567. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsnano.9b00097
- Tabanelli, R., Brogi, S., & Calderone, V. (2021). Improving curcumin bioavailability: Current strategies and future perspectives. *Pharmaceutics*, 13(10). https://doi.org/10.3390/ pharmaceutics13101715
- Tampieri, A., et al. (2012). Intrinsic magnetism and hyperthermia in bioactive Fe-doped hydroxyapatite. Acta Biomaterialia, 8(2), 843–851. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2011.09.032
- Thakor, A. S., & Gambhir, S. S. (2013). Nanooncology: The future of cancer diagnosis and therapy. CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians, 63(6), 395–418. https://doi.org/10.3322/caac.21199
- Tian, Y., et al. (2021). Gadolinium-doped hollow silica nanospheres loaded with curcumin for magnetic resonance imaging-guided synergistic cancer sonodynamic-chemotherapy. *Materials Science and Engineering C, 126*(April), 112157. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msec.2021.112157

- Vinet, L., & Zhedanov, A. (2014). Nuclear medicine physics: A handbook for students and teachers. *Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and Theoretical*. Edited by D. L. Bailey et al. Vienna: IAEA.
- Wang, D., et al. (2014). Treatment of metastatic breast cancer by combination of chemotherapy and photothermal ablation using doxorubicin-loaded DNA wrapped gold nanorods. *Biomaterials*, 35(29), 8374–8384. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2014.05.094
- Wang, S., et al. (2019a). In vivo high-resolution ratiometric fluorescence imaging of inflammation using NIR-II nanoprobes with 1550 nm emission. *Nano Letters*, 19(4), 2418–2427. https://doi. org/10.1021/acs.nanolett.8b05148
- Wang, X., et al. (2019b). Prussian blue-coated lanthanide-doped core/shell/shell nanocrystals for NIR-II image-guided photothermal therapy. *Nanoscale*, 11(45), 22079–22088. https://doi. org/10.1039/c9nr07973d
- Wang, J., He, Z.-W., & Jiang, J.-X. (2020). Nanomaterials: Applications in the diagnosis and treatment of pancreatic cancer. World Journal of Gastrointestinal Pharmacology and Therapeutics, 11(1), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.4292/wjgtt.v11.i1.1
- Wegh, R. T., et al. (2000). Quantum cutting through downconversion in rare-earth compounds. Journal of Luminescence, 87, 1017–1019. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-2313(99)00514-1
- Weissleder, R. (2001). A clearer vision for in vivo imaging. Nature Biotechnology, 19, 316-317.
- Wu, P., et al. (2011). Gold nanoparticles supported on functionalized mesoporous silica for selective oxidation of cyclohexane. *Microporous and Mesoporous Materials*, 141(1–3), 222–230. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micromeso.2010.11.011
- Xie, J., et al. (2010). PET/NIRF/MRI triple functional iron oxide nanoparticles. *Biomaterials*, 31(11), 3016–3022. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2010.01.010
- Xing, Y., et al. (2014). Radiolabeled nanoparticles for multimodality tumor imaging. *Theranostics*, 4(3), 290–306. https://doi.org/10.7150/thno.7341
- Yang, D., et al. (2015). Current advances in lanthanide ion (Ln3+)-based upconversion nanomaterials for drug delivery. *Chemical Society Reviews*. Royal Society of Chemistry. https://doi. org/10.1039/c4cs00155a
- Yang, W., et al. (2021). Shape effects of gold nanoparticles in photothermal cancer therapy. *Materials Today Sustainability*, 13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mtsust.2021.100078
- Yhee, J. Y., et al. (2013). The EPR effect in cancer therapy. In Y. H. Bae, R. J. Mrsny, & K. Park (Eds.), *Cancer targeted drug delivery* (pp. 621–632). Springer. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-1-4614-7876-8_23
- Yu, D. C., et al. (2015). Multi-photon quantum cutting in Gd2O2S:Tm3+ to enhance the photoresponse of solar cells. *Light: Science and Applications*, 4(March), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/ lsa.2015.117
- Yu, Z., Eich, C., & Cruz, L. J. (2020). Recent advances in rare-earth-doped nanoparticles for NIR-II imaging and cancer theranostics. *Frontiers in Chemistry*, 8(June), 1–10. https://doi. org/10.3389/fchem.2020.00496
- Zhang, Y., et al. (2019). Nanotechnology in cancer diagnosis: Progress, challenges and opportunities. *Journal of Hematology and Oncology*, 12(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s13045-019-0833-3
- Zhang, M., et al. (2022). Assembly of gold nanorods with L-cysteine reduced graphene oxide for highly efficient NIR-triggered photothermal therapy. Spectrochimica Acta – Part A: Molecular and Biomolecular Spectroscopy, 266. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.saa.2021.120458
- Zhao, W., et al. (2007). Highly stabilized nucleotide-capped small gold nanoparticles with tunable size. *Advanced Materials*, *19*(13), 1766–1771. https://doi.org/10.1002/adma.200602449
- Zhao, Z., et al. (2018). Surface-modified shortwave-infrared-emitting nanophotonic reporters for gene-therapy applications. *ACS Biomaterials Science and Engineering*, 4(7), 2350–2363. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsbiomaterials.8b00378
- Zhao, L., et al. (2022). Selective thermotherapy of tumor by self-regulating photothermal conversion system. *Journal of Colloid and Interface Science*, 605(July 2021), 752–765. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcis.2021.07.134

- Zhou, B., et al. (2015). Controlling upconversion nanocrystals for emerging applications. *Nature Nanotechnology*, 10(11), 924–936. https://doi.org/10.1038/nnano.2015.251
- Zhou, Z., et al. (2019). One stone with two birds: Phytic acid-capped platinum nanoparticles for targeted combination therapy of bone tumors. *Biomaterials*, *194*, 130–138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2018.12.024
- Zielińska, A., et al. (2020). Properties, extraction methods, and delivery systems for curcumin as a natural source of beneficial health effects. *Medicina*, 56(7), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.3390/medicina56070336
- Zolata, H., Abbasi Davani, F., & Afarideh, H. (2015). Synthesis, characterization and theranostic evaluation of Indium-111 labeled multifunctional superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles. *Nuclear Medicine and Biology*, 42(2), 164–170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. nucmedbio.2014.09.007

Polymeric Microneedle-Based Drug Delivery Platforms for Application in Cancer Therapy



André F. Moreira, Carolina F. Rodrigues, Natanael Fernandes, André Figueiredo, Duarte de Melo-Diogo, and Ilídio J. Correia

1 Introduction

Cancer remains one of the most challenging diseases from a therapeutic point-ofview, ranking as one of the leading causes of premature mortality worldwide (Bray et al., 2021; Sung et al., 2021). Driven by the "magic bullet" concept, nanomaterials have been under constant evolution intending to provide a tumor-site targeted delivery of the therapeutic agents and allow the real-time monitoring (i.e., imaging) of the cancer cells (de Lázaro & Mooney, 2021; Duncan, 2005). However, a seminal review by Wilhelm and colleagues disclosed that less than 1% of the administered nanomaterials' dose reaches solid tumors (Wilhelm et al., 2016). Such data conjugated with the poor clinical translation of nanomaterials highlights the need for new anticancer therapeutic approaches (Mitchell et al., 2021). Among the different technologies developed so far, macroscale drug delivery devices (e.g., injectable hydrogels and microneedles) are currently a hot topic in cancer therapy due to their capacity to deliver and confine the anticancer agents to the tumor zone (Moreira et al., 2019; Huang et al., 2019; Dellacherie et al., 2019). Additionally, the macroscale drug delivery devices can bypass the reduced bioavailability of the

A. F. Moreira (⊠)

CICS-UBI - Health Sciences Research Centre, University of Beira Interior, Covilhã, Portugal

C. F. Rodrigues · N. Fernandes · A. Figueiredo · D. de Melo-Diogo CICS-UBI – Health Sciences Research Centre, University of Beira Interior, Covilhã, Portugal

I. J. Correia

CICS-UBI - Health Sciences Research Centre, University of Beira Interior, Covilhã, Portugal

CIEPQPF - Department of Chemical Engineering, University of Coimbra, Coimbra, Portugal

CPIRN-UDI/IPG – Center of Potential and Innovation in Natural Resources, Research Unit for Inland Development, Polytechnic Institute of Guarda, Guarda, Portugal e-mail: afmoreira@fcsaude.ubi.pt

nanomaterials as well as the off-target accumulation that induces life-threatening side effects (Moreira et al., 2019).

The microneedle-based drug delivery systems were firstly described at more than 30 years as a highly efficient technology for improving transdermal drug delivery (Kim et al., 2012). Since then, microneedles showed to be an effective drug, gene, protein, and even nanoparticle delivery system (Lopez-Ramirez et al., 2020; Ali et al., 2017; Sullivan et al., 2008; Mönkäre et al., 2018). Such prompted the development of microneedles with different structures (e.g., solid, layered, dissolving, hollow, and tips-detachable microneedles) as well as using various materials from stainless steel to polymers (Moreira et al., 2019; Tarbox et al., 2018). The application of microneedles in cancer therapy has been focused on two main areas: (i) the development of anticancer vaccines and (ii) the direct administration of anticancer agents (e.g., nanomaterials and/or chemotherapeutic drugs) to accessible tumors such as skin and oral cancers. Additionally, significant advances have been made using microneedles as delivery devices, namely, in the study of combinatorial therapies based on the simultaneous administration of two or more therapeutic agents such as chemotherapeutic drugs, genetic material, and photothermal and photodynamic agents (Zhao et al., 2021; Dong et al., 2018; Hao et al., 2020). Moreover, the microneedles can enhance the accumulation of the therapeutic agents in the deeper regions of the tumor tissue as well as tailor both in space and time the release of the therapeutic agents, therefore maximizing the antitumoral effect (Jonas et al., 2015; Moreira et al., 2019).

The following sections will summarize the general properties of the microneedlebased delivery systems, focusing on polymeric microneedles, as well as the latest developments of the microneedle application as an anticancer vaccine and/or delivery system of anticancer agents. Moreover, the utilization of biodegradable and biocompatible polymers for the loading of one or multiple therapeutic agents and promoting a sustained delivery is also highlighted, without ignoring the existing limitations and future perspectives for cancer therapy applications.

2 Microneedles

2.1 General Structure and Properties

Microneedle-based delivery systems have been widely studied in transdermal drug delivery since the presentation of the microneedle concept in the 1970s and particularly from the late 1990s onward. In this field, microneedles arise as simple and safer to use painless delivery systems of drugs, proteins, or genes to the dermal layer of the skin (Prausnitz & Langer, 2008). Such approach explores the presence of the micron-sized tips to create channels in the outer layer of the skin allowing a faster

and more effective delivery of the therapeutic agents to the target area (Prausnitz & Langer, 2008). Moreover, the capacity to load different therapeutic agents (i.e., drug molecules, proteins, genes, antibodies, and/or nanoparticles) in the microneedles makes them suitable for developing synergistic anticancer therapies, such as drug-drug and chemotherapy-photodynamic/photothermal combinations.

Microneedles can present different shapes, sizes, and geometries, being the organization as arrays of microscopic needles the most common one, with a height of $50-2000 \ \mu\text{m}$ and a base width of $30-250 \ \mu\text{m}$. Moreover, several tip designs were already described in the literature such as conical, pyramidal, beveled, and arrowheaded (please see Fig. 1b) (Rad et al., 2017; Koyani, 2019; Alimardani et al., 2021). In this regard, the available data demonstrate that the tip design can affect the microneedles' penetration efficacy and depth. Lee et al. observed that for microneedles with a low aspect ratio (ratio between tip length and base width), tip length of 600 μ m, and base of 300 μ m, the pyramidal geometry has two times higher failure force when compared to conical-shaped tips, which was attributed to the larger cross-sectional area of pyramidal microneedles (Lee et al., 2008). Moreover, sharper microneedles require less force to penetrate the tissue and are prone to present higher penetration depths (Römgens et al., 2014; Chen et al., 2012).

The microneedles can also be classified according to the drug delivery method/ strategy: (i) solid, (ii) hollow, (iii) coated, (iv) dissolving, and (v) hydrogel-forming microneedles (Fig. 1c). The solid microneedles work as permeation agents creating channels that enhance the penetration of the therapeutic agents administered subsequently in the form of a solution or gel (Wei-Ze et al., 2010; Hu et al., 2020). In turn, the hollow microneedles present a hollow structure that acts as a reservoir for the loading of the therapeutic agents (Cárcamo-Martínez et al., 2021). In this system, the channels running through the micron-sized needles allow the passage of the therapeutics, usually in the form of a solution, upon the microneedle administration at the target area. The coated microneedles are formed using suspensions of the therapeutic agents to create layers at the microneedle's surface (Saurer et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2018). The loading will be dependent on the thickness and/or the number of coating layers (Saurer et al., 2010). Such organization takes advantage of the microneedles' base to support the insertion and the subsequent release/deposition of the coated materials (i.e., therapeutic agents) at the target area. Similarly, the dissolving microneedles are composed of biodegradable materials that dissolve in contact with the body fluids releasing the therapeutic agents that are homogeneously dispersed in the microneedles' matrix (Permana et al., 2019). The hydrogel-forming microneedles are a recent design that started to capture the researchers' attention (Migdadi et al., 2018). These delivery systems are produced using hydrophilic and swellable polymers that allow the microneedles to absorb water and swell when applied at the targeted area. The microneedle swelling is then explored to allow the drug diffusion to the surrounding tissues.



Fig. 1 Schematic illustration of the microneedle fabrication methods (**a**), different tip designs (**b**), and drug delivery strategy (**c**). (**a**) The utilization of molds to direct the production of microneedles by casting polymeric solutions or through polymer melting, micromolding, is one of the most explored processes. Moreover, the pillar drawing and droplet-born air blowing techniques have been showing promising results in the reproducible and large-scale production of microneedles. (**b**) The different tip designs, ranging from pyramidal to arrow-headed, are optimized focusing on parameters such as tissue penetration efficacy and depth as well as the microneedle retention at the target site. (**c**) Solid microneedles have channels running through the tips allowing the administration of liquid drug formulations. Swellable/hydrogel-forming strategies release the loaded therapeutics in response to the intake of interstitial fluids and swelling of the tips. Coated microneedles explore the loading of therapeutics in a layer-by-layer organization created at its surface. Lastly, soluble microneedle patches promote a rapid or controlled release according to the properties of the polymeric structure (e.g., degradation profile and polymer solubility)

2.2 Production Techniques

The microneedles can be produced using various materials such as metals, ceramics, and polymers (Tarbox et al., 2018). However, the polymers present physicochemical and mechanical properties that make them highly promising for biomedical applications and cancer therapy. The utilization of biocompatible and biodegradable materials allows the optimal delivery of therapeutic agents by tailoring the polymeric microneedles' degradation profile, dissolution, and/or response to specific stimuli (Cheung & Das, 2016; Park et al., 2006). Moreover, such also decreases the production of contaminated medical waste and increases the safety of health professionals. The high manipulability of polymers offers to researchers a wide range of fabrication techniques to produce microneedles (Park et al., 2005; Tarbox et al., 2018). Micromolding is one of the most common production techniques to produce microneedles. In this approach, the microneedles are produced in three major steps: (i) fabrication of a master mold using a strong material, such as metal or silicon; (ii) production of a negative mold of polydimethylsiloxane; and (iii) polymer casting (Rad et al., 2021; Nagarkar et al., 2020). This strategy presents a high precision and reproducibility, which coupled with the simplicity and reusability of the master/ negative molds supports the industrialization of the microneedle production process (Liu et al., 2020; Tarbox et al., 2018). Alternatively, the droplet-born air blowing technique is a mold independent production methodology. For that purpose, polymer droplets are dispensed in two different plates that are subsequently stacked with the droplets facing each other and in contact (Huh et al., 2018; Lee et al., 2018). Then, the plates are separated with air flowing through the face of the plates containing the polymer droplets, forming elongated polymeric structures. At a critical distance, the polymeric structures are separated, and a microneedle array is formed in each plate (Lee et al., 2018). Similarly, in the electro-drawing lithography, polymer droplets are also placed on a surface, and the microneedles are produced using a heated polar dielectric crystal to draw the formation of the elongated needle-like structures (Ruggiero et al., 2018). The microneedles are completely formed upon the solvent evaporation that can be further optimized using heat treatments. In turn, drawing lithography uses a plate with an array of pillars to direct the growth of elongated polymeric structures from a base containing a melted polymer (Lee et al., 2010). The plate with the array of pillars is separated at a controlled speed after contact with the melted polymer, and such results in the formation of the microneedles upon cooling and detachment from de pillars.

Apart from the production of microneedle arrays, different techniques can also be used to create layers at the microneedles' surface and encapsulate the therapeutic agents, a strategy usually followed to create the coated microneedles (Saurer et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2018). One of the most explored approaches is the alternate deposition of polyelectrolytes via dip-and-dry cycles. In this technique, the microneedles are immersed in solutions containing charged polymers and/or therapeutic agents to create thin films at their surface (He et al., 2018). Therefore, a multilayered structure is created via the establishment of ionic interactions between the materials with opposite charges at each layer (Skirtach et al., 2011). This design allows controlling the release profile of the therapeutic agents through the characteristics of the materials used to produce the microneedles, the layer thickness, the number of layers, and the position of the payload regarding the most external layer (Skirtach et al., 2011). Spray coating and inkjet printing are alternative technological procedures to the most conventional dip coating processes that allow the creation of multilayers at the surface of the microneedles with high accuracy, reproducibility, and scalability (Hsu et al., 2016; Akagi et al., 2014; Choi et al., 2017).

3 Microneedles as Anticancer Vaccines

In recent years, the concept of developing anticancer vaccines has captured a great interest of the scientific community showing promising results in preclinical assays of breast, cervical, lung, ovarian, and skin cancers. This approach aims to activate the patient immune system and induce its action against the cancer cells, achieving systemic tumor suppression and long-lasting immune memory and reducing the adverse effects of conventional anticancer chemotherapy (Singh & Kesharwani, 2021; Amani et al., 2021). Moreover, the establishment of the host immune response also allows the eradication of tumor metastasis due to its systemic action (Duong et al., 2018; Guo et al., 2021).

The most common design of anticancer vaccines based on microneedles is based on the administration of immune adjuvants or antigens to the dermis layer of the skin due to a large number of antigen-presenting cells (e.g., macrophages and dendritic cells) in this tissue (Fig. 2) (Zhao et al., 2018). The antigen-presenting cells will then mediate the activation of T and B cells that are responsible for the establishment of the systemic and tumor-specific immune responses (Rice et al., 2008). For example, Zaric and coworkers observed that the ovalbumin delivery via poly-D,L-lactide-co-glycolide nanoparticles loaded on methylvinylether and maleic anhydride microneedles could successfully mediate the priming of CD8⁺ T cells and induce the IFN- γ producing effector T cells (Zaric et al., 2013). In turn, this immune response triggered by the microneedles containing ovalbumin successfully stalled the growth of B16 melanoma tumors during 13 days, contrasting with the blank microneedles where the tumors tripled in volume. Similarly, Kim and colleagues reported that sodium hyaluronate microneedle mediated delivery could mediate the delivery of a sodium hyaluronate-cytotoxic T-cell epitope peptide (SIINFEKL) conjugate (Kim et al., 2019). This strategy increased the residence time of the peptide in the dermis layer of the skin, favoring the interaction with antigen-presenting cells. Moreover, an increased infiltration of CD8+ T cells within B16 melanoma tumors was observed, which reduced tumor growth (i.e., the treated tumors presented a volume 3.5 times inferior to the phosphate buffered saline treated control group).

The triggering of the host immune response can also be achieved via gene delivery, commonly plasmid DNA encoding tumor antigens (Rice et al., 2008). In this approach, two routes of antigen presentation can be considered: (i) the indirect route where the genetic material is internalized by "nonprofessional" antigen-presenting



Fig. 2 Representation of the two main approaches to the microneedles' application in cancer therapy. The microneedle-based anticancer vaccines containing tumor antigens, immune adjuvants, and immune checkpoint inhibitors will mediate the activation of the immune cells (cytotoxic T cells) and revert the immunosuppressive environment at the tumor site, triggering the host's antitumoral immune response. In turn, the direct administration of chemotherapeutic drugs, photo-thermal/photodynamic agents, and nanomaterials aims to promote the eradication of localized tumors

cells, mainly myocytes and keratinocytes, and (ii) the direct route where the transfected cells are antigen-presenting cells, usually dendritic cells (Rice et al., 2008; Riley et al., 2019). In this process, the presentation of the encoded antigen by the major histocompatibility complex class I or class II allows the activation of T cells (CD4⁺ and CD8⁺) and indirectly stimulates the humoral immunity (Riley et al., 2019). Ali and coworkers observed that the administration of polyvinylpyrrolidone microneedles containing plasmid DNA/RALA nanoparticles encoding for E6/E7 antigens resulted in a two times higher antibody concentration and increased IFN- γ levels (\approx 530 pg/mL vs. \approx 250 pg/mL of control) (Ali et al., 2017). Moreover, the priming of the immune response further prevented the establishment and development of cervical tumors in 44% of the mice. In turn, the microneedle application in mice already presenting cervical tumors decreased the area of the tumors and was more effective than the sole administration of E6/E7 plasmid DNA/RALA nanoparticles, final tumor area of 246 mm² for microneedles vs. 503.13 mm² for nanoparticles. Similarly, Cole et al. explored the priming and activation of the immune system through the utilization of polyvinyl alcohol microneedles loaded with plasmid DNA/RALA nanoparticles encoding for the prostate stem cell antigen (Cole et al., 2019). The microneedle administration induced the local expression of the prostate stem cell antigen and consequently the priming of prostate cancer-specific CD8⁺ T cells. Moreover, the percentage of prostate cancer-specific CD8⁺ T cells in the spleen was superior in the group treated with microneedles (21.19%) when comparing the immunization with the free prostate stem cell antigen (12.02%). Moreover, the immune system activation reduced the tumor growth during 70 days, 347.7 mm³ for the microneedles containing plasmid DNA/RALA nanoparticles and 589.9 mm³ for the control group.

Apart from the direct activation/stimulation of the immune cells, the microneedle vaccines can also mediate the delivery of agents aimed to revert the immunosuppressive signals present in the tumor microenvironment. This therapeutic approach mainly focuses on the use of immune checkpoint inhibitors, targeting immune regulatory receptors expressed by cancer cells (e.g., monoclonal antibodies against PD-1/PD-L1 and CTLA-4) and metabolic checkpoints (indoleamine-2,3 dioxygenase), to attack the tumor cells' evasion from the immunosurveillance (Ribas & Wolchok, 2018). Ye et al. developed hyaluronic acid-based microneedle patches for delivering 1-methyl-_{DL}-tryptophan (1-MT) and anti-PD1 to B16F10 tumors (Ye et al., 2016). The simultaneous delivery of 1-MT and anti-PD1 aims to avoid immunosuppressive signals at the cancer microenvironment, i.e., PD-L1 present at the surface of cancer cells and indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase immunosuppressive enzyme. This therapeutic strategy was able to slow down the growth of B16F10 tumors, presenting values inferior to 50 mm² that contrasts with the 300 mm² observed in the control group. Furthermore, the 1-MT and anti-PD1 delivery resulted in a sixfold increase of the recruited CD8+ cells per tumor milligram and reduced the infiltration of regulatory T cells, when compared to the blank microneedles. Lopez-Ramirez and colleagues described that the anti-CTLA4 delivery by a poly(vinylpyrrolidone) microneedle patch containing magnesium microparticles, to control the release profile, mediated the eradication of B16F10 tumors in 60% of the animals and increased the mice survivability rate (Lopez-Ramirez et al., 2020).

4 Intratumoral Administration of Therapeutics

The direct administration of drugs, nanoparticles, and even plasmid DNA/small interfering RNA for mediating the death of cancer cells via microneedle systems is a promising approach to increase the treatment effectiveness by performing a tumor

confined delivery of the therapeutic agents. This approach bypasses the issues associated with systemic circulation and off-target accumulation (Li et al., 2021). Moreover, the microneedles also present several benefits over the intratumoral injection of liquid therapeutics, namely, a superior control (in time and space) over the therapeutics' release and interaction with cancer cells as well as a reduced leakage of the therapeutics to the surrounding healthy tissues (Li et al., 2021; Moreira et al., 2019). Furthermore, the microneedles' structure turns the combination of different therapeutics in one single delivery platform a straightforward process, which is related to the ability to encapsulate simultaneously conventional anticancer drugs, photothermal and photodynamic agents, or even nanomedicines.

Chemotherapy is the gold standard approach in cancer therapy. In this area, the microneedles have been showing promising results in the local and transdermal delivery to cancer cells of both hydrophobic and hydrophilic drugs (Sivaraman & Banga, 2017; Ma & Gill, 2014; Ahmed et al., 2019; Nguyen et al., 2018). Bhatnagar et al. promoted the co-delivery of doxorubicin and docetaxel to breast cancer using polyvinylpyrrolidone/polyvinyl alcohol microneedles (Bhatnagar et al., 2019). The direct administration of both drugs using the microneedles reduced the growth of 4T1 tumors and mitigated the systemic side effects, increasing the mice's survival rate. Huang and coworkers also demonstrated the capacity of dextran methacrylate microneedles to mediate the simultaneous delivery of therapeutic drugs (doxorubicin and trametinib) to melanoma (Huang et al., 2020). The data obtained from B16 tumor-bearing mice showed that the homogeneous dispersion of doxorubicin and trametinib in the microneedles decreased the tumor growth by 70%, whereas the intravenous administration of doxorubicin only achieved a 50% suppression. Moreover, the drug delivery mediated by the microneedles also avoided the systemic side effects associated with the free administration of doxorubicin, namely, cardiotoxicity and neurotoxicity.

Apart from the delivery of conventional anticancer drugs, the microneedles can also be engineered to mediate the action of the emerging photothermal and/or photodynamic agents (Song et al., 2021; Wei et al., 2020; Yang et al., 2021). These therapeutic agents are activated upon irradiation with a light source, generating heat (photothermal therapy) and/or cytotoxic reactive oxygen species (photodynamic therapy) to destroy the cancer cells (Li et al., 2020; Fernandes et al., 2020). The light-triggered therapeutics and their consequently site-specific cytotoxicity have been associated with an overall reduction of the side effects (Hu et al., 2018; Fernandes et al., 2020). Zhu and colleagues described the partial remission (three of the five mice) of subcutaneous 4T1 tumors after treatment with hyaluronic acid microneedles containing 5-aminolevulinic acid for 14 days (Zhu et al., 2019). The data showed that the loading of the photodynamic agent, 5-aminolevulinic acid, in the tips of the microneedles presented a superior penetration and subcutaneous distribution when compared to the conventional topical application of 5-aminolevulinic acid in solution. Therefore, upon irradiation of the tumor site for 5 min with a 635 nm laser (1 W.cm⁻² for 118 s), an increased generation of reactive oxygen species was achieved followed by an enhanced antitumoral effect, i.e., eradication of the tumor in three of the five mice, whereas the group treated with 5-aminolevulinic acid solution only slowed the tumor growth during the 14 days.

Moreira and coworkers demonstrated that the production of polyvinylpyrrolidone microneedles with a layer-by-layer organization could be explored to mediate the delivery of doxorubicin and gold-core silica-shell nanorods to cervical cancer cells (Moreira et al., 2020). The authors observed that the alternated deposition of a chitosan layer containing doxorubicin and polyvinyl alcohol enriched with goldcore silica-shell nanorods could determine the sequence of release with a pH and thermal responsiveness, leading to the complete elimination of HeLa cells when irradiated with a near-infrared (NIR – 808 nm, 1.7 W.cm⁻²) laser. Similarly, Hao et al. used hyaluronic acid microneedles containing gold nanorods and doxorubicin to mediate the chemo-photothermal therapy of epidermoid cancer (Hao et al., 2018). The incorporation of gold nanorods conferred to the microneedles the capacity of converting NIR light irradiation (808 nm, 1 W.cm⁻²) into heat, reaching a maximum temperature of 65 °C after 5 min, and a light-triggered doxorubicin release. Moreover, the combinatorial action of the chemo-photothermal therapy led to the eradication of A431 tumors in all five mice, without tumor recurrence for 25 days.

Alternatively, the direct administration of cytotoxic anticancer therapies can also be combined with the vaccine concept to create stronger and systemic antitumoral therapies. Lan and colleagues described the application of polyvinylpyrrolidone microneedles loaded with pH-responsive tumor-targeted lipid nanoparticles containing anti-PD1 and cisplatin for the treatment of head and neck carcinoma (Lan et al., 2020). The response of SCC7 subcutaneous tumors demonstrated that the combinatorial therapy mediated by the microneedles could efficiently reduce both the tumor weight and volume (0.012 g and 18.312 mm³), whereas the single anti-PD1 therapy mediated by microneedles only slowed the tumor growth (0.05 g and 90.252 mm³). Moreover, the combinatorial therapy also increased the infiltration of CD8⁺ T cells to the tumor tissue (75.95% and 47.98% for the combinatorial and single anti-PD1 therapies mediated by the microneedles) and the IFN- γ levels. Alternatively, Chen et al. combined the phototherapies with immunotherapies via microneedle administration to B16 tumors (Chen et al., 2020). For that purpose, chitosan nanoparticles loaded with indocyanine green (photothermal agent) and 1-MT were loaded on polyvinylpyrrolidone/polyvinyl alcohol microneedles. This strategy aimed to revert the immunosuppressive environment at the tumor site by inducing damages in cancer cells through photothermal effect, which also can promote the release of tumor neoantigens and damage-associated molecular patterns. Then, the immune system activation would be potentiated by the 1-MT action. The direct administration of the microneedles could mediate the increase of the topical temperature to values superior to 50 °C after irradiation with a NIR laser (808 nm, 0.35 W.cm⁻² for 30 s), which combined with the 1-MT action almost eradicated the primary B16 tumors. Contrarily, the single therapies only decreased the growth of the primary tumors during the 14 days. Furthermore, the authors reported that the combinatorial treatment suppressed the establishment of lung metastasis and stalled the progression of the already established secondary tumors, and tumor volume was 4.1-fold smaller than those treated with single photothermal therapy mediated by the microneedles. This abscopal effect was attributed to a more efficient priming of CD8⁺ T cells and higher infiltration in secondary tumors (60.57% and 50.37% infiltration for combinatorial and single photothermal therapy, respectively), which strengthens and creates a more durable antitumoral response.

5 Limitations and Future Perspectives

The commonly explored organization of the microneedles as therapeutic patches in anticancer therapy presents some limitations, namely, when the intratumoral administration of therapeutics is envisioned. This approach is often limited to superficial tumors or will require invasive surgeries to implant the microneedles at the desired site. Moreover, the therapeutic focus should shift from treating the main tumor mass to a more integrative approach also encompassing the treatment of tumors' metastasis. Regarding the application of microneedles as anticancer vaccines, additional efforts should be considered for more potent activation of immune cells underlying the skin as well as achieve a deeper diffusion and accuracy in organ distribution of immune checkpoint blockade antibodies or adjuvant cytokines. In this regard, a deeper characterization of bioavailability and pharmacokinetics is also required for a more successful clinical translation of the microneedles. Despite the minimal invasiveness of the microneedle administration, long-term safety risks are poorly explored. In this field, the impact of the recurrent administrations and the frequency of use in normal functions of the skin as well as long-term side effects of both polymers and loaded nanomaterials should also be further evaluated. Nevertheless, the recent preclinical data from the microneedle application in breast, melanoma, oral, cervical, ovarian, and prostate cancers have been paving a path for scientists to continue the development of more effective and personalized therapies.

6 Conclusions

The development of macroscale drug delivery systems for application in cancer therapy has been highly pursued in recent years to bypass the challenges/issues of the systemic administration of anticancer therapeutics. The microneedles arise as a minimally invasive technology that can mediate the delivery of genes, drugs, antibodies, and nanoparticles in a painless and controlled manner. Particularly, in the transdermal delivery of therapeutics, the microneedles can effectively transpose the external impermeable layers of the epidermis and release their payload in the skin's dermis layer. Such has been successfully pushing forward the successful application of microneedles in the single or combinatorial treatment of skin tumors by delivering nucleic acids (e.g., plasmid DNA, small interfering RNA, and oligonucleotides), drugs (e.g., 5-FU, doxorubicin, and docetaxel), immunomodulators (e.g., peptide and protein molecules and antibodies), and nanoparticles. Moreover, the versatility

both in the materials used for the microneedles' production and in the structural arrangements (e.g., solid, layered, dissolving, hollow, and tips-detachable) combined with the loading of nanomaterials (e.g. liposomes, polymeric nanostructures, and gold-based nanoparticles) has been translating in superior therapeutic performances. The combination of microneedle-assisted gene and drug delivery or even photothermal and photodynamic therapies may also show synergistic results for different types of cancer. Nevertheless, despite the increasing popularity of the microneedle application in cancer therapy, there are still obstacles limiting the clinical application of these systems. For example, when combinatorial therapies are envisioned, parameters, such as the time window for combining the action of the different agents, the release sequence, and therapeutics concentration, must be carefully characterized. Moreover, the scale-up of the production to an industrial scale is a major barrier since most of the reported microneedles require multiple preparation steps.

Acknowledgments This work was financed by the Foundation for Science and Technology (FCT), through funds from the State Budget, and by the European Regional Development Fund (ERDF), under the Portugal 2020 Program, through the Regional Operational Program of the Center (Centro 2020), through the project with the reference UIDB/00709/2020. The funding from CENTRO-01-0145-FEDER-028989 and POCI-01-0145-FEDER-031462 is also acknowledged. Duarte de Melo-Diogo acknowledges CENTRO-01-0145-FEDER-028989 for the funding given in the form of a research contract. Carolina F. Rodrigues acknowledges her Ph.D. fellowship from FCT (SFRH/BD/144680/2019).

References

- Ahmed, K. S., Shan, X., Mao, J., Qiu, L., & Chen, J. (2019). Derma roller® microneedles-mediated transdermal delivery of doxorubicin and celecoxib co-loaded liposomes for enhancing the anticancer effect. *Materials Science and Engineering: C*, 99, 1448–1458.
- Akagi, T., Fujiwara, T., & Akashi, M. (2014). Inkjet printing of layer-by-layer assembled poly (lactide) stereocomplex with encapsulated proteins. *Langmuir*, 30, 1669–1676.
- Ali, A. A., McCrudden, C. M., McCaffrey, J., McBride, J. W., Cole, G., Dunne, N. J., Robson, T., Kissenpfennig, A., Donnelly, R. F., & McCarthy, H. O. (2017). DNA vaccination for cervical cancer; a novel technology platform of RALA mediated gene delivery via polymeric microneedles. *Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology, Biology and Medicine*, 13, 921–932.
- Alimardani, V., Abolmaali, S. S., Tamaddon, A. M., & Ashfaq, M. (2021). Recent advances on microneedle arrays-mediated technology in cancer diagnosis and therapy. *Drug Delivery and Translational Research*, 11, 788–816.
- Amani, H., Shahbazi, M.-A., D'amico, C., Fontana, F., Abbaszadeh, S., & Santos, H. A. (2021). Microneedles for painless transdermal immunotherapeutic applications. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 330, 185–217.
- Bhatnagar, S., Bankar, N. G., Kulkarni, M. V., & Venuganti, V. V. K. (2019). Dissolvable microneedle patch containing doxorubicin and docetaxel is effective in 4T1 xenografted breast cancer mouse model. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 556, 263–275.
- Bray, F., Laversanne, M., Weiderpass, E., & Soerjomataram, I. (2021). The ever-increasing importance of cancer as a leading cause of premature death worldwide. *Cancer*, 127, 3029.

- Cárcamo-Martínez, Á., Mallon, B., Domínguez-Robles, J., Vora, L. K., Anjani, Q. K., & Donnelly, R. F. (2021). Hollow microneedles: A perspective in biomedical applications. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 599, 120455.
- Chen, M.-C., Ling, M.-H., Lai, K.-Y., & Pramudityo, E. (2012). Chitosan microneedle patches for sustained transfermal delivery of macromolecules. *Biomacromolecules*, 13, 4022–4031.
- Chen, M., Quan, G., Wen, T., Yang, P., Qin, W., Mai, H., Sun, Y., Lu, C., Pan, X., & Wu, C. (2020). Cold to hot: Binary cooperative microneedle array-amplified photoimmunotherapy for eliciting antitumor immunity and the abscopal effect. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, 12, 32259–32269.
- Cheung, K., & Das, D. B. (2016). Microneedles for drug delivery: Trends and progress. Drug Delivery, 23, 2338–2354.
- Choi, M., Heo, J., Yang, M., & Hong, J. (2017). Inkjet printing-based patchable multilayered biomolecule-containing nanofilms for biomedical applications. ACS Biomaterials Science & Engineering, 3, 870–874.
- Cole, G., Ali, A. A., McErlean, E., Mulholland, E. J., Short, A., McCrudden, C. M., McCaffrey, J., Robson, T., Kett, V. L., & Coulter, J. A. (2019). Dna vaccination via Rala nanoparticles in a microneedle delivery system induces a potent immune response against the endogenous prostate cancer stem cell antigen. *Acta Biomaterialia*, *96*, 480–490.
- de Lázaro, I., & Mooney, D. J. (2021). Obstacles and opportunities in a forward vision for cancer nanomedicine. *Nature Materials*, 20, 1469–1479.
- Dellacherie, M. O., Seo, B. R., & Mooney, D. J. (2019). Macroscale biomaterials strategies for local immunomodulation. *Nature Reviews Materials*, 4, 379–397.
- Dong, L., Li, Y., Li, Z., Xu, N., Liu, P., Du, H., Zhang, Y., Huang, Y., Zhu, J., & Ren, G. (2018). Au nanocage-strengthened dissolving microneedles for chemo-photothermal combined therapy of superficial skin tumors. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, 10, 9247–9256.
- Duncan, R. (2005). Nanomedicine gets clinical. Materials Today, 8, 16–17.
- Duong, H. T. T., Yin, Y., Thambi, T., Nguyen, T. L., Phan, V. G., Lee, M. S., Lee, J. E., Kim, J., Jeong, J. H., & Lee, D. S. (2018). Smart vaccine delivery based on microneedle arrays decorated with ultra-pH-responsive copolymers for cancer immunotherapy. *Biomaterials*, 185, 13–24.
- Fernandes, N., Rodrigues, C. F., Moreira, A. F., & Correia, I. J. (2020). Overview of the application of inorganic nanomaterials in cancer photothermal therapy. *Biomaterials Science*, 8, 2990–3020.
- Guo, Q., Wang, C., Zhang, Q., Cheng, K., Shan, W., Wang, X., Yang, J., Wang, Y., & Ren, L. (2021). Enhanced cancer immunotherapy by microneedle patch-assisted delivery of HBc VLPs based cancer vaccine. *Applied Materials Today*, 24, 101110.
- Hao, Y., Chen, Y., Lei, M., Zhang, T., Cao, Y., Peng, J., Chen, L., & Qian, Z. (2018). Near-infrared responsive PEGylated gold nanorod and doxorubicin loaded dissolvable hyaluronic acid microneedles for human epidermoid cancer therapy. *Advanced Therapeutics*, 1, 1800008.
- Hao, Y., Chen, Y., He, X., Yang, F., Han, R., Yang, C., Li, W., & Qian, Z. (2020). Near-infrared responsive 5-fluorouracil and indocyanine green loaded MPEG-PCL nanoparticle integrated with dissolvable microneedle for skin cancer therapy. *Bioactive Materials*, 5, 542–552.
- He, Y., Hong, C., Li, J., Howard, M. T., Li, Y., Turvey, M. E., Uppu, D. S., Martin, J. R., Zhang, K., & Irvine, D. J. (2018). Synthetic charge-invertible polymer for rapid and complete implantation of layer-by-layer microneedle drug films for enhanced transdermal vaccination. ACS Nano, 12, 10272–10280.
- Hsu, B. B., Hagerman, S. R., & Hammond, P. T. (2016). Rapid and efficient sprayed multilayer films for controlled drug delivery. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, 133(25).
- Hu, J.-J., Cheng, Y.-J., & Zhang, X.-Z. (2018). Recent advances in nanomaterials for enhanced photothermal therapy of tumors. *Nanoscale*, 10, 22657–22672.
- Hu, Z., Meduri, C. S., Ingrole, R. S., Gill, H. S., & Kumar, G. (2020). Solid and hollow metallic glass microneedles for transdermal drug-delivery. *Applied Physics Letters*, 116, 203703.
- Huang, P., Wang, X., Liang, X., Yang, J., Zhang, C., Kong, D., & Wang, W. (2019). Nano-, micro-, and macroscale drug delivery systems for cancer immunotherapy. Acta Biomaterialia, 85, 1–26.

- Huang, S., Liu, H., Huang, S., Fu, T., Xue, W., & Guo, R. (2020). Dextran methacrylate hydrogel microneedles loaded with doxorubicin and trametinib for continuous transdermal administration of melanoma. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 246, 116650.
- Huh, I., Kim, S., Yang, H., Jang, M., Kang, G., & Jung, H. (2018). Effects of two droplet-based dissolving microneedle manufacturing methods on the activity of encapsulated epidermal growth factor and ascorbic acid. *European Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 114, 285–292.
- Jonas, O., Landry, H. M., Fuller, J. E., Santini, J. T., Baselga, J., Tepper, R. I., Cima, M. J., & Langer, R. (2015). An implantable microdevice to perform high-throughput in vivo drug sensitivity testing in tumors. *Science Translational Medicine*, 7, 284ra57.
- Kim, Y.-C., Park, J.-H., & Prausnitz, M. R. (2012). Microneedles for drug and vaccine delivery. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 64, 1547–1568.
- Kim, H., Seong, K.-Y., Lee, J. H., Park, W., Yang, S. Y., & Hahn, S. K. (2019). Biodegradable microneedle patch delivering antigenic peptide–hyaluronate conjugate for cancer immunotherapy. ACS Biomaterials Science & Engineering, 5, 5150–5158.
- Koyani, R. D. (2019). Biopolymers for microneedle synthesis: From then to now. *Biomanufacturing Reviews*, 4, 1–26.
- Lan, X., Zhu, W., Huang, X., Yu, Y., Xiao, H., Jin, L., Pu, J. J., Xie, X., She, J., & Lui, V. W.Y. (2020). Microneedles loaded with anti-PD-1–cisplatin nanoparticles for synergistic cancer immunochemotherapy. *Nanoscale*, 12, 18885–18898.
- Lee, J. W., Park, J.-H., & Prausnitz, M. R. (2008). Dissolving microneedles for transdermal drug delivery. *Biomaterials*, 29, 2113–2124.
- Lee, K., Lee, H. C., Lee, D. S., & Jung, H. (2010). Drawing lithography: Three-dimensional fabrication of an ultrahigh-aspect-ratio microneedle. *Advanced Materials*, 22, 483–486.
- Lee, C., Kim, H., Kim, S., Lahiji, S. F., Ha, N. Y., Yang, H., Kang, G., Nguyen, H. Y. T., Kim, Y., & Choi, M. S. (2018). Comparative study of two droplet-based dissolving microneedle fabrication methods for skin vaccination. *Advanced Healthcare Materials*, 7, 1701381.
- Li, X., Lovell, J. F., Yoon, J., & Chen, X. (2020). Clinical development and potential of photothermal and photodynamic therapies for cancer. *Nature Reviews Clinical Oncology*, 17, 657–674.
- Li, D., Hu, D., Xu, H., Patra, H. K., Liu, X., Zhou, Z., Tang, J., Slater, N., & Shen, Y. (2021). Progress and perspective of microneedle system for anti-cancer drug delivery. *Biomaterials*, 264, 120410.
- Liu, T., Luo, G., & Xing, M. (2020). Biomedical applications of polymeric microneedles for transdermal therapeutic delivery and diagnosis: Current status and future perspectives. *Advanced Therapeutics*, *3*, 1900140.
- Lopez-Ramirez, M. A., Soto, F., Wang, C., Rueda, R., Shukla, S., Silva-Lopez, C., Kupor, D., McBride, D. A., Pokorski, J. K., & Nourhani, A. (2020). Built-in active microneedle patch with enhanced autonomous drug delivery. *Advanced Materials*, 32, 1905740.
- Ma, Y., & Gill, H. S. (2014). Coating solid dispersions on microneedles via a molten dip-coating method: Development and in vitro evaluation for transdermal delivery of a water-insoluble drug. *Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 103, 3621–3630.
- Migdadi, E. M., Courtenay, A. J., Tekko, I. A., McCrudden, M. T., Kearney, M.-C., McAlister, E., Mccarthy, H. O., & Donnelly, R. F. (2018). Hydrogel-forming microneedles enhance transdermal delivery of metformin hydrochloride. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 285, 142–151.
- Mitchell, M. J., Billingsley, M. M., Haley, R. M., Wechsler, M. E., Peppas, N. A., & Langer, R. (2021). Engineering precision nanoparticles for drug delivery. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*, 20, 101–124.
- Mönkäre, J., Pontier, M., van Kampen, E. E., Du, G., Leone, M., Romeijn, S., Nejadnik, M. R., O'mahony, C., Slütter, B., & Jiskoot, W. (2018). Development of PLGA nanoparticle loaded dissolving microneedles and comparison with hollow microneedles in intradermal vaccine delivery. *European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics*, 129, 111–121.
- Moreira, A. F., Rodrigues, C. F., Jacinto, T. A., Miguel, S. P., Costa, E. C., & Correia, I. J. (2019). Microneedle-based delivery devices for cancer therapy: A review. *Pharmacological Research*, 148, 104438.

- Moreira, A. F., Rodrigues, C. F., Jacinto, T. A., Miguel, S. P., Costa, E. C., & Correia, I. J. (2020). Poly (vinyl alcohol)/chitosan layer-by-layer microneedles for cancer chemo-photothermal therapy. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 576, 118907.
- Nagarkar, R., Singh, M., Nguyen, H. X., & Jonnalagadda, S. (2020). A review of recent advances in microneedle technology for transdermal drug delivery. *Journal of Drug Delivery Science* and Technology, 59, 101923.
- Nguyen, H. X., Bozorg, B. D., Kim, Y., Wieber, A., Birk, G., Lubda, D., & Banga, A. K. (2018). Poly (vinyl alcohol) microneedles: Fabrication, characterization, and application for transdermal drug delivery of doxorubicin. *European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics*, 129, 88–103.
- Park, J.-H., Allen, M. G., & Prausnitz, M. R. (2005). Biodegradable polymer microneedles: Fabrication, mechanics and transdermal drug delivery. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 104, 51–66.
- Park, J.-H., Allen, M. G., & Prausnitz, M. R. (2006). Polymer microneedles for controlled-release drug delivery. *Pharmaceutical Research*, 23, 1008–1019.
- Permana, A. D., Tekko, I. A., McCrudden, M. T., Anjani, Q. K., Ramadon, D., McCarthy, H. O., & Donnelly, R. F. (2019). Solid lipid nanoparticle-based dissolving microneedles: A promising intradermal lymph targeting drug delivery system with potential for enhanced treatment of lymphatic filariasis. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 316, 34–52.
- Prausnitz, M. R., & Langer, R. (2008). Transdermal drug delivery. *Nature Biotechnology*, 26, 1261–1268.
- Rad, Z. F., Nordon, R. E., Anthony, C. J., Bilston, L., Prewett, P. D., Arns, J.-Y., Arns, C. H., Zhang, L., & Davies, G. J. (2017). High-fidelity replication of thermoplastic microneedles with open microfluidic channels. *Microsystems & Nanoengineering*, 3, 1–11.
- Rad, Z. F., Prewett, P. D., & Davies, G. J. (2021). Rapid prototyping and customizable microneedle design: Ultra-sharp microneedle fabrication using two-photon polymerization and low-cost micromolding techniques. *Manufacturing Letters*, 30, 39–43.
- Ribas, A., & Wolchok, J. D. (2018). Cancer immunotherapy using checkpoint blockade. *Science*, 359, 1350–1355.
- Rice, J., Ottensmeier, C. H., & Stevenson, F. K. (2008). Dna vaccines: Precision tools for activating effective immunity against cancer. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 8, 108–120.
- Riley, R. S., June, C. H., Langer, R., & Mitchell, M. J. (2019). Delivery technologies for cancer immunotherapy. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*, 18, 175–196.
- Römgens, A., Bader, D., Bouwstra, J., Baaijens, F., & Oomens, C. (2014). Monitoring the penetration process of single microneedles with varying tip diameters. *Journal of the Mechanical Behavior of Biomedical Materials*, 40, 397–405.
- Ruggiero, F., Vecchione, R., Bhowmick, S., Coppola, G., Coppola, S., Esposito, E., Lettera, V., Ferraro, P., & Netti, P. (2018). Electro-drawn polymer microneedle arrays with controlled shape and dimension. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, 255, 1553–1560.
- Saurer, E. M., Flessner, R. M., Sullivan, S. P., Prausnitz, M. R., & Lynn, D. M. (2010). Layer-bylayer assembly of DNA-and protein-containing films on microneedles for drug delivery to the skin. *Biomacromolecules*, 11, 3136–3143.
- Singh, V., & Kesharwani, P. (2021). Recent advances in microneedles-based drug delivery device in the diagnosis and treatment of cancer. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 338, 394–409.
- Sivaraman, A., & Banga, A. K. (2017). Novel in situ forming hydrogel microneedles for transdermal drug delivery. Drug Delivery and Translational Research, 7, 16–26.
- Skirtach, A. G., Yashchenok, A. M., & Möhwald, H. (2011). Encapsulation, release and applications of LbL polyelectrolyte multilayer capsules. *Chemical Communications*, 47, 12736–12746.
- Song, G., Sun, Y., Liu, T., Zhang, X., Zeng, Z., Wang, R., Li, P., Li, C., & Jiang, G. (2021). Transdermal delivery of Cu-doped polydopamine using microneedles for photothermal and chemodynamic synergistic therapy against skin melanoma. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, 426, 130790.
- Sullivan, S. P., Murthy, N., & Prausnitz, M. R. (2008). Minimally invasive protein delivery with rapidly dissolving polymer microneedles. *Advanced Materials*, 20, 933–938.
- Sung, H., Ferlay, J., Siegel, R. L., Laversanne, M., Soerjomataram, I., Jemal, A., & Bray, F. (2021). Global cancer statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA: a Cancer Journal for Clinicians*, 71, 209–249.
- Tarbox, T. N., Watts, A. B., Cui, Z., & Williams, R. O. (2018). An update on coating/manufacturing techniques of microneedles. *Drug Delivery and Translational Research*, 8, 1828–1843.
- Wang, Q. L., Zhang, X. P., Chen, B. Z., & Guo, X. D. (2018). Dissolvable layered microneedles with core-shell structures for transdermal drug delivery. *Materials Science and Engineering: C*, 83, 143–147.
- Wei, S., Quan, G., Lu, C., Pan, X., & Wu, C. (2020). Dissolving microneedles integrated with pH-responsive micelles containing AIEgen with ultra-photostability for enhancing melanoma photothermal therapy. *Biomaterials Science*, 8, 5739–5750.
- Wei-Ze, L., Mei-Rong, H., Jian-Ping, Z., Yong-Qiang, Z., Bao-Hua, H., Ting, L., & Yong, Z. (2010). Super-short solid silicon microneedles for transdermal drug delivery applications. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 389, 122–129.
- Wilhelm, S., Tavares, A. J., Dai, Q., Ohta, S., Audet, J., Dvorak, H. F., & Chan, W. C. (2016). Analysis of nanoparticle delivery to tumours. *Nature Reviews Materials*, 1, 1–12.
- Yang, P., Chen, M., Qin, W., Shi, C., Bai, X., Quan, G., Pan, X., & Wu, C. (2021). Effective photothermal therapy mediated by indocyanine green nanoparticle tip-loaded microneedles to enhance checkpoint inhibitor immunotherapy for melanoma treatment. ACS Applied Nano Materials, 4, 5921–5931.
- Ye, Y., Wang, J., Hu, Q., Hochu, G. M., Xin, H., Wang, C., & Gu, Z. (2016). Synergistic transcutaneous immunotherapy enhances antitumor immune responses through delivery of checkpoint inhibitors. ACS Nano, 10, 8956–8963.
- Zaric, M., Lyubomska, O., Touzelet, O., Poux, C., Al-Zahrani, S., Fay, F., Wallace, L., Terhorst, D., Malissen, B., & Henri, S. (2013). Skin dendritic cell targeting via microneedle arrays laden with antigen-encapsulated poly-D, L-lactide-co-glycolide nanoparticles induces efficient antitumor and antiviral immune responses. ACS Nano, 7, 2042–2055.
- Zhao, Z., Ukidve, A., Dasgupta, A., & Mitragotri, S. (2018). Transdermal immunomodulation: Principles, advances and perspectives. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews*, *127*, 3–19.
- Zhao, Y., Zhou, Y., Yang, D., Gao, X., Wen, T., Fu, J., Wen, X., Quan, G., Pan, X., & Wu, C. (2021). Intelligent and spatiotemporal drug release based on multifunctional nanoparticle-integrated dissolving microneedle system for synergetic chemo-photothermal therapy to eradicate melanoma. Acta Biomaterialia, 135, 164–178.
- Zhu, J., Dong, L., Du, H., Mao, J., Xie, Y., Wang, H., Lan, J., Lou, Y., Fu, Y., & Wen, J. (2019). 5-Aminolevulinic acid-loaded hyaluronic acid dissolving microneedles for effective photodynamic therapy of superficial tumors with enhanced long-term stability. *Advanced Healthcare Materials*, 8, 1900896.

Clinical Trials Involving Chemotherapy-Based Nanocarriers in Cancer Therapy: State of the Art and Future Directions



Tania B. Lopez-Mendez, Raffaele Strippoli, Flavia Trionfetti, Pilar Calvo, Marco Cordani, and Juan Gonzalez-Valdivieso

Abbreviations

AIDS	Acquired immune deficiency syndrome;
ALL	Lymphoblastic leukemia;
ARC	International Agency for Research on Cancer;
AUC	Area under the curve;
AuNPs	Gold nanoparticles;
BBB	Blood-brain barrier;
CAFs	Cancer-associated fibroblasts

Tania B. Lopez-Mendez and Raffaele Strippoli contributed equally with all other contributors.

T. B. Lopez-Mendez · P. Calvo

PharmaMar S.A., Colmenar Viejo, Madrid, Spain e-mail: tlopez@pharmamar.com; pcalvo@pharmamar.com

R. Strippoli · F. Trionfetti Department of Molecular Medicine, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy

National Institute for Infectious Diseases L. Spallanzani IRCCS, Rome, Italy e-mail: raffaele.strippoli@uniroma1.it; flavia.trionfetti@uniroma1.it

M. Cordani (🖾) Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, School of Biology, Complutense University, Madrid, Spain

Instituto de Investigaciones Sanitarias San Carlos (IdISSC), Madrid, Spain e-mail: mcordani@ucm.es

J. Gonzalez-Valdivieso (🖾) Molecular Imaging Innovations Institute (MI3), Department of Radiology, Weill Cornell Medicine, New York, NY, USA e-mail: Dr. juan.gonzalez.valdivieso@uva.es

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 Â. M. Almeida de Sousa et al. (eds.), *Cancer Nanotechnology*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-17831-3_12

CD	Cyclodextrin
CD-PEG	Cyclodextrin-polyethylene glycol
Chol	Cholesterol
DMPC	1,2-Dimyris-toyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphocholine
DMPG	1,2-Dimyristoyl-sn-glycero-3-phospho-(1'-racglycerol)
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DOPC	Palmitoyloleoylphosphatidylcholine
DOPS	Dioleoylphosphatidylserine
DOTAP	1,2-Dioleoyl-3-trimethylammonium propane
DPPC	Dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine
DPPG	1,2-Dipalmitoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphoglycerol;
DSPC	Distearoylphosphatidylcholine
DSPE	Distearoyl-sn-glycero-phosphoethanolamine
DSPG	1,2-Distearoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphoglycerol
ECM	Extracellular matrix
EGFR	Epidermal growth factor receptor
EMA	European Medicines Agency
EPC	Egg phosphatidylcholine
EPR	Enhanced permeability and retention
FDA	US Food and Drug Administration
HCC	Hepatocellular carcinoma
HER2	Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus
HSA	Human serum albumin
HSPC	Hydrogenated soy phosphatidylcholine
KRAS	Kirsten rat sarcoma viral oncogene homolog
KS	Kaposi sarcoma
L-MTP-PE	Muramyl tripeptide phosphatidylethanolamine
LNPs	Lipid nanoparticles
LSAM	Large surface area microparticle
MDP	Muramyl dipeptide
MDR	Multidrug resistance
MPEG	Methoxy polyethylene glycol
MPPE	Maleimidated palmitoyl phosphatidylethanolamine
MSPC	1-Myristoyl-2-stearoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphocholine
NGPE	N-glutaryl phosphatidylethanolamine
NIPAM	Poly(N-isopropylacrylamide)
NPs	Nanoparticles
NSCLC	Non-small cell lung cancer
PC	Phosphatidylcholine
PE	Polyethylene
PEG	Polyethylene glycol
PEG2000-DSPE	PEGylated distearoyl-sn-glycero-phosphoethanolamine
PFS	Progression-free survival
PICN	Paclitaxel injection concentrate for nanodispersion

PLA	Polylactic acid
PLA2	Phospholipase A2
PLGA	Polylactide-co-glycolic acid
POPC	Palmitoyloleoylphosphatidylcholine
PPE	Palmar-plantar erythrodysesthesia
PSMA	Prostate-specific membrane antigen
PVP	Polyvinyl-pyrrolidone
RES	Reticuloendothelial system
RFA	Radiofrequency ablation
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
SM	Sphingomyelin
SPARC	Sun Pharma Advanced Research Company, Ltd.
TAMs	Tumor-associated macrophages

1 Introduction

Cancer is a general term for a large group of diseases, whose causes, characteristics, and occurrence can vary. All of them are characterized by the development of abnormal cells that divide uncontrollably and infiltrate and disrupt normal body tissue. Cancer has a major impact on society across the world, and, in fact, there were 19.3 million new cases in 2020 worldwide (Fig. 1) (https://www.iarc.who.int/). Among these statistics, breast, lung, colorectal, prostate, and stomach highlight as the most common cancer types, with more than 1 million cases each. Moreover, according to the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC), the number of new cases per year is expected to rise to 29.5 million by 2040 (https://www.iarc.who.int/).

Current medicine takes advantage of traditional approaches for cancer therapy: surgery, radiotherapy, chemotherapy, phototherapy, immunotherapy, and hormonal therapy (Jabir et al., 2018). Unfortunately, although the available treatments have improved patient survival and treatment outcomes (Ferlay et al., 2021), these clinical approaches can cause nonspecific effects in normal tissues, such as chemical toxicity, radiotoxicity, or phototoxicity, thereby provoking serious issues, namely, nausea, kidney damage, neutropenia, hair loss, loss of appetite, peripheral neuropathy, diarrhea, and skin damage (Koo et al., 2020; Liang et al., 2010). Chemoresistance, and multidrug resistance (MDR) in particular, is another challenge when treating cancer patients. MDR consists on cross-resistance to a wide amount of unrelated chemotherapeutic drugs after exposure to a single anticancer agent (Baguley, 2010; Bukowski et al., 2020). Therefore, cancer research is focused on the discovery and development of biomedical tools to improve the specificity of cancer therapies aiming to achieve therapeutic effect only at the tumor sites.

Although the administration of free chemotherapeutic drugs remains as the gold standard for cancer treatment, this therapeutic strategy still presents inherent challenges (Gonzalez-Valdivieso et al., 2021a, b). One of the most important problems



Fig. 1 Cancer statistics across the world. Number of new cases in 2020 for both gender and all ages (**a**). Estimated number of new cases from 2020 to 2040 for both gender and all ages classified by type of cancer (**b**) or geographical continent (**c**). (Data source: GLOBOCAN. Adapted from (https://www.iarc.who.int/))

of current medicine resides in the lack of specific treatments and poor drug accumulation in the tumors (Creixell & Peppas, 2012). As a consequence, undesired side effects in healthy tissues occur, especially in the heart (Octavia et al., 2012), bone marrow (Daniel & Crawford, 2006), gastrointestinal tract (Mitchell, 2006), and nervous system (Grothey, 2003). For this reason, novel approaches are needed to overcome these issues and improve the action of unspecific chemotherapeutic agents.

Nanomedicine is one of these recent strategies for cancer therapy (Awasthi et al., 2018; Bobo et al., 2016; Cao et al., 2020; Shreyash et al., 2021). Nanomedicine has emerged as a new discipline combining biology, engineering, chemistry, and physics, among others, with multiple biomedical applications in the screening, diagnosis, and treatment of diseases (Bayda et al., 2019; Caballero et al., 2022; Gonzalez-Valdivieso et al., 2021a, b; Lammers et al., 2011; Man et al., 2018). The therapeutic potential of nanomedicine aims to use sophisticated systems toward a more personalized medicine, in which each patient could take advantage of tailored approaches (Fenton et al., 2018; Park et al., 2021; Sanchez-Moreno et al., 2018). Thus, recent progress in nanotechnology has achieved the development of novel nanomaterials, whose physicochemical characteristics make them excellent candidates to be applied in the biomedical science, with high impact in the pharmaceutical industry (Norouzi et al., 2020; Park et al., 2021; van der Meel et al., 2019; Wicki et al., 2015). Drug delivery, tissue engineering, viral infections, or pathogenic bacteria are some of the biomedical applications in which nanomedicine highlights as

an effective and promising tool (Das & Ali, 2021; Girotti et al., 2020a; Gonzalez-Valdivieso et al., 2020; Peres et al., 2021; Qiao et al., 2021; Yacoby & Benhar, 2008). In this work, we will focus on nanomedicine for cancer therapy because, even if drug delivery purposes have been explored for diverse diseases, cancer is undoubtedly the main target of drug delivery research (Davis et al., 2008; Shi et al., 2017) and, in fact, multiple drug delivery nanosystems based on these concepts have been translated into clinical products for chemotherapy, such as Abraxane[®], DaunoXome[®], Doxil[®]/Caelyx[®], Marqibo[®], Myocet[®], and Onivyde[®] (Gonzalez-Valdivieso et al., 2021b; Han et al., 2017; Kushwah et al., 2018; Saw et al., 2017).

2 Cancer Physiology

Cancer is characterized by a challenging physiology which is a huge hurdle for biomedical research and demands therapeutic agents to have special features. Therefore, nanomedicine is able to explore multiple features of cancer that provoke low outcome rates and poor drug accumulation. The aberrant proliferation of cancer cells stimulates the fast formation of new blood vessels, also known as angiogenesis, thereby resulting in leaky vasculature with aberrant tortuosity, abnormal basement membrane, poor lymphatic drainage, high interstitial pressure, dense extracellular matrix (ECM) network, or extensive stromal cells, namely, tumorassociated macrophages (TAMs) and cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs) (Matsumoto et al., 2016; Shi et al., 2020). Furthermore, the tumor microenvironment traps many nanocarriers on the tumor vasculature periphery and avoids penetration into the tumor core (Matsumoto et al., 2016).

In addition, cancer cells are characterized by higher expression of multiple proteins, not only cytoplasmic proteins but also anchored receptors to cell membrane (Byrne et al., 2008; Jain & Stylianopoulos, 2010). These cancer markers have huge interest as different targets can be used depending on the type of tumor (Baron, 2012; Sethi et al., 2013). Indeed, cancer markers allow us to even differentiate primary tumors from distance metastasis (Byrne et al., 2008; Quail & Joyce, 2013). Nanocarriers surface can be decorated with molecules (peptides, DNA or RNA aptamers) as targeting systems to specifically drive these devices to cancer cells in specific locations within the body, thereby reducing the amount of drug needed to achieve therapeutic effect and avoiding undesired effects in healthy cells (Agrawal et al., 2020; Girotti et al., 2020a, b; Hwang et al., 2020; Liu et al., 2010; Mitchell et al., 2021). Thus, nanotechnology takes advantages of cancer markers to develop advanced targeted nanocarriers toward personalized biomedical therapeutics (Aguado et al., 2018; Blanco et al., 2015; Cao et al., 2020; Ho et al., 2020).

Beside cancer features and special physiology, the development of accurate systems for controlled release of therapeutics is key when working in drug delivery. Bionanomaterials have been designed for use in advanced drug delivery systems to improve the delivery and efficacy of multiple pharmaceutical agents, such as peptides, antibodies, enzymes, drugs, and vaccines (Caliceti & Matricardi, 2019; Fenton et al., 2018; Yun et al., 2015). Therefore, designing biomaterials for drug delivery purposes is challenging and has to take into account multiple parameters to achieve the maximum therapeutic benefit: (i) biocompatibility of materials themselves and their degradation products, (ii) physicochemical properties of host materials, (iii) adequate drug for prolonged release, (iv) protection of therapeutic agent from breakdown while maintaining biological activity, (v) predictable release profile, (vi) route of administration, and (vii) cost of material synthesis and production (Helary & Desimone, 2015; Mitchell et al., 2017; Yun et al., 2015).

3 Nanocarriers for Drug Delivery

As a consequence of special tumor physiology, Matsumura and Maeda reported the enhanced permeability and retention (EPR) in 1986 (Matsumura & Maeda, 1986). Their research showed that solid tumors have defective architecture within the blood vessels and enhanced vascular permeability, thereby receiving high amounts of nutrients and oxygen for rapid growth. Thus, the EPR effect considers that this nature of tumor blood vessels facilitates transport of molecules (proteins, drugpolymer conjugates, micelles, liposomes) into tumor tissues: molecules larger than the threshold of renal clearance (40 kDa) showed longer circulation times and slow clearance from the body, thereby being accumulated and retained in tumor tissues for long periods (Fang et al., 2011; Islam et al., 2021; Matsumura & Maeda, 1986; Shi et al., 2020). In contrast, this EPR effect does not occur in normal tissues. Thus, the EPR effect is considered a landmark in tumor-targeted chemotherapy.

As most chemotherapeutic drugs used in clinics are highly hydrophobic, the development of nanomaterials has explored over the past several decades different approaches and origins with different intrinsic and extrinsic properties to achieve better encapsulation and higher concentrations within tumor cells to achieve better therapeutic effect (Figs. 2 and 3) (Howes et al., 2014; Kushwah et al., 2018; Luginbuhl et al., 2017; Minelli et al., 2010; Yousefpour et al., 2019).

3.1 Types of Nanoparticles

3.1.1 Lipid-Based Nanocarriers

Lipid-based nanomaterials offer many advantages, such as simple formulation, selfassembling, biocompatibility, high bioavailability, or the ability to carry large cargo (Sercombe et al., 2015). These advantages make them very attractive for drug delivery purposes, thereby being the most common class of FDA-approved nanomedicines (Anselmo & Mitragotri, 2019; Fenton et al., 2018). There are different types of lipid-based nanomaterials:



Fig. 2 Application of engineered nanomaterials in cancer. Multidisciplinary research results in a wide pool of tailor-made tools for cancer detection, imaging, and therapy, thereby improving survival rates and treatment outcomes. (Reproduced with permissions from (Caballero et al., 2022))



Fig. 3 Types of nanoparticles reviewed in this chapter with different origins: polymeric, inorganic, and lipid-based nanomaterials. (Adapted from (Mitchell et al., 2021))

(i) Liposomes, which are typically composed of phospholipids, thereby allowing the liposome to carry hydrophilic, hydrophobic, and lipophilic drugs (Sarfraz et al., 2018). Liposome' surface is usually modified to extend their circulation times within the body to overcome the fast uptake by the reticuloendothelial system (Alyautdin et al., 2014). (ii) Lipid nanoparticles (LNPs), which form micellar structures within the particle core. LNPs are typically composed of four major components: phospholipids for particle structure, cationic lipids to complex with negatively charged genetic material, cholesterol for stability and membrane fusion, and PEGylated lipids to enhance longer circulation times (Kulkarni et al., 2019; Leung et al., 2015). LNPs have high efficacy of nucleic acid delivery, simple synthesis, small size, and serum stability as main advantages for gene therapy, but their high uptake in the liver and spleen is an important limitation for translation into the clinics (Cheng et al., 2020; Fenton et al., 2018).

3.1.2 Polymeric Nanocarriers

Polymeric nanocarriers can be synthesized from natural or synthetic materials by emulsification (Brown et al., 2020), nanoprecipitation (Le et al., 2018), ionic gelation (He et al., 2020), or microfluidics (Zhang et al., 2020), among others. Polymeric nanocarriers highlight due to their high biocompatibility, simple formulation, biodegradability, water solubility, stability over time, and wide potential to modify their surfaces for specific targeting (Fenton et al., 2018; Valcourt et al., 2020). Furthermore, this nanomaterial offers many different ways to carry the therapeutic agents, such as binding to the nanoparticle' surface, chemical conjugation to the polymer, entrapping in the polymer matrix, or encapsulation in the core (Mitchell et al., 2021). This wide versatility allows delivery of hydrophobic and hydrophilic compounds, as well as cargos with different molecular weights, ranging from small molecules to proteins and vaccines (Caldorera-Moore et al., 2019; Knight et al., 2019; Liu et al., 2020, 2010; Zhang et al., 2020). However, despite their advantages, polymeric nanocarriers have some limitations, such as particle aggregation and toxicity. There are multiple subtypes of polymeric nanoparticles, such as nanocapsules (cavities surrounded by a polymeric membrane), nanospheres (solid matrix systems), polymersomes (vesicles with membranes composed of amphiphilic block copolymers), micelles (composed of a hydrophilic core and hydrophobic coating), and dendrimers (hyperbranched polymers with complex 3D architecture and active functional groups on the external part to conjugate biomolecules) (Rideau et al., 2018; Shae et al., 2019; Zelmer et al., 2020).

3.1.3 Inorganic Nanocarriers

Inorganic nanomaterials (gold, iron, and silica) have been widely studied for diagnostics, drug delivery, photothermal therapy, and imaging purposes in biomedicine and cancer research due to their physical, electrical, magnetic, and optical properties (Bobo et al., 2016). Therefore, inorganic nanoparticles present the advantage of a great ability to be engineered into tailored nanocarriers with precise physicochemical properties (size, structure, and geometry). Despite their good biocompatibility and stability, inorganic nanoparticles are limited in the clinical application by their low solubility and toxicity (Bobo et al., 2016; Manshian et al., 2017). There are multiple forms of gold nanoparticles (AuNPs), such as nanospheres, nanorods, nanostars, nanoshells, and nanocages (Quazi et al., 2021). AuNPs can be easily functionalized, thereby allowing researchers to design and develop nanocarriers specifically targeted to different tissues (Bobo et al., 2016; Quazi et al., 2021). Another example of inorganic nanoparticles is magnetic iron oxide NPs, composed of magnetite (Fe₃O₄) or maghemite (Fe₂O₃) (Arias et al., 2018). These nanocarriers present superparamagnetic properties especially useful for various applications as contrast agents, drug delivery vehicles, and thermal-based therapies (Arias et al., 2018; Bobo et al., 2016). Calcium phosphate and mesoporous silica nanoparticles are also inorganic nanocarriers typically used for gene and drug delivery (Huang et al., 2020; Xu et al., 2019), while quantum dots are widely used for in vitro imaging applications (Wagner et al., 2019).

Hence, in this chapter, we will focus on a comprehensive analysis of the clinical application of chemotherapy-based drug delivery nanosystems as advanced tools for cancer treatment.

3.2 Mechanism of Action of Classic Chemotherapeutic Agents

In the mid-1900s, the birth of the chemotherapy entailed a whole revolution in cancer treatment. Before that, the only options available were mainly radical surgical methods, with low success rates, that aimed at the complete eradication of the disease before it could spread and metastasize throughout the organism (Falzone et al., 2018).

Classic chemotherapeutic agents, also referred to as antineoplastic agents, are used to directly or indirectly inhibit the uncontrolled growth and proliferation of cancer cells. Their main disadvantages are related to their low specificity toward cancer cells, generating acute toxicity also to healthy tissues, and the drug resistance mechanisms that lower their efficacy.

In the last decades, new discoveries in the field of immunology, cell biology, and molecular biology allowed researchers to investigate the molecular mechanisms responsible for the neoplastic transformation of cells and to redirect the path toward more specific and personalized therapies, including monoclonal antibodies or immunotherapies, among others. However, the classic chemotherapy, alone or in combination with new treatments, is still a key pharmacological option, despite its notable adverse effects (Falzone et al., 2018; Ferlay et al., 2021).

Classic chemotherapeutic agents are classified according to their mechanism of action and include alkylating agents, antimetabolites, topoisomerase inhibitors, antibiotics, and mitotic inhibitors, among others (Malhotra & Perry, 2003).

Alkylating agents impair cell function by alkylating the DNA molecule. They depend on proliferation for activity, but are not cell phase-specific, and are classified according to their chemical structures and mechanisms (Ralhan & Kaur, 2007). Alkylating agents include nitrogen mustards (More et al., 2019), nitrosoureas

(Mitchell & Schein, 1986), platinum complexes (Bai et al., 2017), oxazaphosphorines (Giraud et al., 2010), imidazotetrazines (temozolomide) (Moody & Wheelhouse, 2014), alkyl sulfates (busulfan, treosulfan, mannosulfan) (Lawson et al., 2021), and hydrazines (procarbazine) (Tweedie et al., 1987), among others.

Oxazaphosphorines (Zhang et al., 2005), such as cyclophosphamide and ifosfamide, are a type of alkylating agent that induce cross-linking at guanine.

Nitrogen mustards are powerful local vesicants. Their metabolites are highly reactive in alkylating the DNA molecule. The hematopoietic system is especially susceptible to these compounds, and dose-limiting toxicity includes myelosuppression. Severe nausea and vomiting are common side effects and, in some cases, alopecia, sterility, diarrhea, and thrombophlebitis. Examples are chlorambucil and melphalan (Diethelm-Varela et al., 2019).

Nitrosoureas (Brandes et al., 2016), for example, carmustine, lomustine, and streptozocin, are very instable and rapidly and spontaneously decompose into highly reactive intermediates. Their lipophilic nature enables free passage across membranes, including the blood-brain barrier. Therefore, these agents are used for a variety of brain tumors, but their dose-limiting toxicity is related to myelosuppression.

Platinum agents that are still widely used as first- and second-line treatments of various tumors produce intra-strand and interstrand DNA cross-links and form DNA adducts that inhibit their replication. Cisplatin, carboplatin, and oxaliplatin are examples of these compounds. Carboplatin shows greater water solubility, slower hydrolysis, and a different toxicity profile. Dose-limiting toxicities for cisplatin are renal insufficiency, peripheral sensory neuropathy, and ototoxicity. For carboplatin, the dose-limiting toxicity is myelosuppression, especially thrombocy-topenia (Chen et al., 2013; Dasari & Tchounwou, 2014).

Antimetabolites' major effect is interfering with the building blocks of DNA synthesis, and they are therefore most active in the S phase of the cell cycle and have little effect on the cells in G0. Consequently, these drugs are most effective in tumors that have a high growth fraction. Most of them are structural analogs of the naturally occurring metabolites involved in DNA and RNA synthesis. The antimetabolites can be divided into antifolates, purine antagonists, pyrimidine antagonists, and ribonucleotide reductase inhibitors. These include methotrexate, fluorouracil, cytarabine, gemcitabine, mercaptopurine, pemetrexed, pentostatin, hydroxyurea, fludarabine, and cladribine. They can induce myelosuppression and other severe adverse effects, such as hepatotoxicity or neurotoxicity, among others. Among these, 6-mercaptopurine and 5-fluorouracil, analogs of purines and pyrimidines, respectively, are widely used in clinical practices for the treatment of both hematological malignances and solid tumors (Kaye, 1998; Peters et al., 1993; Peters et al., 2000).

Topoisomerase inhibitors interrupt the DNA unbinding during the S and G2 phases of the cell cycle, by blocking topoisomerases I and II. Irinotecan and topotecan, two water-soluble analogs of the camptothecin, bind to topoisomerase I and are used to treat ovarian, colorectal, and small cell lung cancer. Their main adverse effects include severe myelosuppression and acute diarrhea. In particular, irinotecan demonstrated to have much more effective antitumor activity than first-generation camptothecins and less renal toxicity. On the other hand, etoposide and teniposide inhibit topoisomerase II, which leads to DNA double-strand breaks and increased DNA degradation. They are used to treat solid tumors, such as testicular and small cell lung cancer, leukemias, and lymphomas, and their adverse effects include myelosuppression and alopecia (Binaschi et al., 1995; Sinha, 1995; Wang & Tse-Dinh, 2019).

Antitumor antibiotics (Galm et al., 2005) can also be used for cancer treatment. First, bleomycin (Froudarakis et al., 2013), which has a cytotoxic effect on nondividing tumor cells, intercalates DNA, resulting in spontaneous oxidation and formation of free oxygen radicals that cause strand breakage. It is effective in the treatment of lymphomas, germ cell tumors, head and neck cancers, and squamous cell carcinoma, but the dose can be limited by the pulmonary toxicity that occurs in 10–40% of the treated patients. Dermatologic toxicity, fever, and anorexia are also frequently seen.

Other antibiotics, such as the anthracyclines doxorubicin, daunorubicin, and idarubicin, do not depend on the cell cycle and have multiple mechanisms of action, including the inhibition of topoisomerase II and the inhibition of DNA and RNA synthesis by intercalation with DNA, DNA strand excision, and generation of free radicals. They are effective in treating leukemias, lymphomas, and breast, ovarian, and bone cancer, and their adverse effects include cardiomyopathy and cardiotoxicity (Bhagat & Kleinerman, 2020; Carvalho et al., 2009; Greene & Hennessy, 2015).

Actinomycin D and mitomycin are also antibiotics with chemotherapeutic activity whose mechanism of action does not depend on the cell cycle. The first one intercalates into DNA and prevents DNA, RNA, and protein synthesis. It is used to treat some childhood cancers and rhabdomyosarcoma, among others, with a doselimiting myelosuppression and dermatologic toxicity. On the other hand, mitomycin is used to treat gastric and pancreatic cancers. It alkylates DNA and inhibits DNA and RNA synthesis, also causing myelosuppression, hemolytic uremic syndrome, thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura, and fever (Bradner, 2001).

Mitotic inhibitors include vinca alkaloids, taxanes, and nontaxane microtubule inhibitors (Jiang et al., 2006). Vinca alkaloids include vincristine, vinblastine, and vinorelbine. Upon entering the cell, vinca alkaloids bind rapidly to the tubulin and inhibit its assembly, during the S phase. Thus, polymerization of microtubules is blocked, resulting in cell cycle arrest in the M phase. They are used to treat many solid tumors, leukemias, and Hodgkin and non-Hodgkin lymphoma, but peripheral neurotoxicity can limit their dose (Duflos et al., 2002; Martino et al., 2018; Moore & Pinkerton, 2009; Moudi et al., 2013).

Taxanes, paclitaxel, and docetaxel, unlike the vinca alkaloids which cause microtubule disassembly, promote microtubule assembly and stability, therefore blocking the cell cycle in mitosis. Docetaxel is more potent in enhancing microtubule assembly and also induces apoptosis. These compounds have revolutionized the treatment of several solid tumors including metastatic breast cancer, metastatic pancreatic adenocarcinoma (in association with gemcitabine), NSCLC (in association with carboplatin), head and neck cancer, and gastric and prostate cancer. In particular, these drugs are used when the first-line treatment failed in metastatic patients and therefore represent the only therapeutic option for patients who show drug resistance mechanisms or are not candidates for curative surgical interventions (Mosca et al., 2021; Muggia & Kudlowitz, 2014; Zhang et al., 2019; Zhu & Chen, 2019). Adverse effects include peripheral neuropathy, interstitial pneumonitis, myelosuppression, cardiotoxicity, alopecia, and skin changes (Brewer et al., 2016; Sibaud et al., 2016).

Nontaxane microtubule inhibitors disrupt microtubule stability by blocking mitotic spindles without affecting depolymerization and thus stop the process of cell division at the G₂/M phases. They are commonly used in the treatment of meta-static breast cancer and unresectable liposarcoma. Adverse effects include myelo-suppression, peripheral neuropathy, and QT prolongation. Eribulin, ixabepilone, and epothilone are included in this group (Shetty & Gupta, 2014; Swami et al., 2017).

There are other compounds that are also worth mentioning, for example, the L-asparaginase, mostly used in acute lymphoblastic leukemia, an enzyme that breaks down the amino acid L-asparagine to aspartic acid and ammonia, reducing the source of asparagine for leukemic cells and inhibiting protein synthesis in tumor cells. During the treatment, allergic reactions, hepatotoxicity, hyperglycemia, pancreatitis, and blood clotting are frequently observed (Costa-Silva et al., 2020).

3.3 Marketed Chemotherapy-Loaded Nanoparticles for Cancer Treatment

As potent and effective cytotoxic drugs, these classic chemotherapeutic agents would benefit notably from a technology that could improve their specificity toward cancer cells, decreasing their toxicity and adverse effects and thus allowing for the administration of higher doses directed to the tumor. Nanotechnology could be the answer to the specific formulation needs of some of the abovementioned drugs. For example, doxorubicin is known to cause cumulative dose-dependent cardiotoxicity that can be severe, life-threatening, and dose-limiting (Zhao & Zhang, 2017). Changing its pharmacokinetic profile by encapsulating it into nanoparticles has demonstrated to significantly improve this aspect. Meanwhile, the mitotic inhibitor paclitaxel is very insoluble in water and is generally formulated using Cremophor EL, which generates the need for premedication and notably increases its side effects (Gelderblom et al., 2001). Figure 4 summarizes the main formulation problems that can be improved using nanoparticles.

With this idea in mind, for decades, hundreds of scientific groups worldwide have tried to improve the pharmaceutical profile of these antineoplastic agents, encapsulating them in nanoparticles of lipid, polymeric, or even inorganic nature, but it was not until 1995 when this approach finally reached the clinic (Anselmo & Mitragotri, 2019; Kemp & Kwon, 2021; Mitchell et al., 2021) (Table 1).



Fig. 4 Main advantages of nanocarriers used for drug delivery purposes against cancer

Doxil[®] (in Europe Caelyx[®]), a doxorubicin-loaded liposomal formulation, was the first FDA-/EMA-approved liposomal chemotherapeutic agent (Barenholz, 2012). Its success was based on three key elements: the liposome lipid bilayer was composed of high-T(m) phosphatidylcholine (PC) and cholesterol (in liquid state inside the body), the surface of the liposomes was modified with polyethylene glycol (PEG) to prolong drug circulation time and avoid the uptake by the reticuloendothelial system (RES), and a high drug-loading was achieved with a remote doxorubicin-loading ammonium sulfate-based transmembrane gradient.

With a prolonged circulation time, clearance and volume of distribution are drastically reduced, when compared to free doxorubicin (at least 250-fold and 60-fold, respectively), and the tumor cells are more exposed to the drug, for longer periods. Doxil not only has a better therapeutic effect but also significantly reduces the side effects of doxorubicin, such as myelosuppression, hair loss, vomiting, and diarrhea and, most importantly, the dose-limiting cumulative dose-dependent cardiotoxicity. However, Doxil[®] causes another characteristic side effect, desquamative dermatitis, which is called palmar-plantar erythrodysesthesia (PPE) or "hand-foot syndrome," and an infusion-related reaction characterized by flushing and shortness of breath (von Moos et al., 2008). This symptom can be alleviated by slowing down the infusion rate and appropriate medication. Moreover, due to the long circulation time of the PEGylated drug, stomatitis (inflammation of mucus lining) became the new dose-limiting toxicity.

TADIE I COMMENCIANZER MAIN	оранисте гоплинацоль гог салсет илегару ил иле оз А али ди	adon		
				First
Name	Particle type	Active molecule	Annlication	approval vear
Doxil®/Caelyx® (Sequus Pharmaceuticals /Janssen)	PEGylated liposome (HSPC:Chol:PEG2000-DSPE)	Doxorubicin	Varian cancer, HIV-associated Kaposi sarcoma, multiple myeloma	1995
DaunoXome® (Galen/ NeXstar Pharmaceuticals)	Non-PEGylated liposome (DSPC:Chol)	Daunorubicin	HIV-associated Kaposi sarcoma	1996
DepoCyt [®] (Enzon Pharmaceuticals)	Non-PEGylated liposome (DepoFoam technology) (DOPC:DPPG:Chol:triolein)	Cytarabine	Neoplastic meningitis	1999
Myocet [®] (Teva UK/Elan Pharmaceuticals)	Non-PEGylated liposome (EPC:Chol)	Doxorubicin	Breast cancer	2000
Eligard® (Tolmar)	PLGA	Leuprolide acetate	Prostate cancer	2004
Abraxane [®] (Celgene)	Albumin particle	Paclitaxel	Advanced non-small cell lung cancer, Metastatic pancreatic cancer, metastatic breast cancer	2005
Oncaspar [®] (Servier Pharmaceuticals)	PEG	Asparaginase	Acute lymphoblastic leukemia	2006
Mepact® (Millenium/ Takeda Pharmaceutical Limited)	Non-PEGylated liposome (DOPS:POPC)	Mifamurtide	Osteosarcoma	2009
Marqibo® (Spectrum Pharmaceuticals)	Sphingosome (SM:Chol)	Vincristine	Philadelphia chromosome-negative acute lymphoblastic leukemia; Hematologic malignancies and solid tumor	2009
LipoDox [®] (Sun Pharma Global FZE) (Generic of Doxil [®])	PEGylated liposome (HSPC:Chol:DSPE-PEG)	Doxorubicin	Breast neoplasms	2013

Table 1 Commercialized nanoparticle formulations for cancer therapy in the USA and Europe

Onivyde®/MM-398/ PEP02 (Merrimarck Pharmaceuticals, Inc.)	PEGylated liposome (DSPC:MPEG-2000:DSPE)	Irinotecan	Metastatic pancreatic cancer	2015
VY XEOS®/CPX-351 (Jazz Pharmaceuticals)	Liposome (DSPC:DSPG:Chol)	Cytarabine/ daunorubicin (5:1 molar ratio)	Acute myeloid leukemia	2017
Apealea®/Paclical® (Oasmia Pharmaceutical AB /Elevar Therapeutics)	XR17 micelle platform technology (N-(all-trans-retinoyl)- L-cysteic acid methyl ester sodium salt and N-(13-cis- retinoyl)-L-cysteic acid methyl ester sodium salt)	Paclitaxel	Ovarian cancer	2018

The US FDA approved the first generic version of Doxil[®] (doxorubicin hydrochloride liposome injection), LipoDox[®], made by Sun Pharma Global FZE, in 2013, to ease drug shortage (Pillai & Ceballos-Coronel, 2013).

Just a few months after the approval of Doxil[®], DaunoXome[®], a liposomal formulation of another anthracycline, daunorubicin, was first licensed in the UK and later approved by the FDA (Petre & Dittmer, 2007). Its liposomes were composed mainly of two lipids, distearoylphosphatidylcholine (DSPC) and cholesterol, with a reduced size and neutral charge that minimized RES uptake, leading to prolonged drug circulation. A citrate salt was used for the active loading of daunorubicin into the nanoparticles.

DaunoXome[®] was approved for the treatment of AIDS-associated Kaposi sarcoma (KS), in the years where HIV was emerging as a serious threat, and it allowed for the administration of higher cumulative chemotherapeutic doses without significant cardiotoxicity or other adverse effects. Daunorubicin[®] plasma AUC levels were more than 35fdd greater than those reported for comparable doses of free drug, with responses above 50% for the treatment of KS (Forssen & Ross, 1994; Gill et al., 1996).

There is also a second liposomal doxorubicin approved, in Europe and Canada, for the first-line treatment of metastatic breast cancer, in combination with cyclo-phosphamide: Myocet[®] (Batist et al., 2002; Leonard et al., 2009). This formulation consists of doxorubicin encapsulated in non-PEGylated liposomes, made of PC and cholesterol, and its pharmacokinetics differs from both conventional doxorubicin and PEGylated liposomal doxorubicin. The clearance of this formulation is slower than free doxorubicin, with higher plasma levels, but faster than the PEGylated liposomes (Baselga et al., 2014).

Regarding the adverse effects, Myocet[®] has demonstrated to be substantially less cardiotoxic than doxorubicin and PPE occurs rarely, with an incidence of <0.5% in metastatic breast cancer patients treated in phase III clinical trials. Thus, this formulation has a particular role in patients previously treated with anthracyclines in the adjuvant setting and those with cardiac risk factors (Safra, 2003).

The last anthracycline-based liposomal formulation approved for cancer treatment is actually a combination of daunorubicin with cytarabine, at a cytarabine/ daunorubicin 5:1 molar ratio (Blair, 2018). The liposome is composed of DSPC, 1,2-distearoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphoglycerol (DSPG), and cholesterol. Vyxeos[®] (CPX-351) efficiently encapsulates both drugs into the same liposome, exploiting the synergies of these two drugs for the treatment of acute myeloid leukemia, providing a survival benefit with acceptable tolerability. In addition, it allows for relatively simple administration versus conventional 7 + 3 chemotherapy. Compared to standard of care treatment, Vyxeos[®] demonstrated superior median overall survival (3.61 months longer), event-free survival (1.22 months longer), and remission rate (14.4% higher) without increasing treatment-related mortality and toxicities (Lancet et al., 2016; Lancet et al., 2018).

Another sustained-release formulation encapsulating just cytarabine for the treatment of neoplastic meningitis is DepoCyt[®] (Mantripragada, 2002), prepared by a proprietary technology called DepoFoam[®], that comprises

tens-of-microns-in-diameter multivesicular particles formed by compartments separated by lipid bilayers. It is composed of palmitoyloleoylphosphatidylcholine (DOPC) and 1,2-Dipalmitoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphoglycerol (DPPG), and its structure allows encapsulation of large quantities of drugs and ensures prolonged release. It is the only liposomal drug for intrathecal administration.

The terminal half-life of the formulation was 40 times longer than that of standard cytarabine (Chamberlain et al., 1995), notably improving its pharmacokinetic profile. The incidence and severity of chemical arachnoiditis, a common adverse event following administration of DepoCyt, can be reduced by the coadministration of dexamethasone.

The first nanoparticulate system for cancer treatment based in polymeric nanoparticles was approved in 2004, with the name of Eligard[®]. Polymeric nanoparticles represent very versatile vehicles that can be designed to improve the solubility of the encapsulated drug, the release profile, or the specific target, among others. Eligard[®] is composed of leuprolide (a testosterone inhibiting drug) incorporated into a polylactide-co-glycolic acid (PLGA) nanoparticle and is indicated as an effective treatment for the symptoms of prostate cancer. PLGA (Makadia & Siegel, 2011) is a widely used hydrophobic and biodegradable polymer that slowly decomposes into the constituent monomeric units over time, generating sustained-release profiles of the nanoencapsulated drug.

Oncaspar[®] (Dinndorf et al., 2007), by Servier Pharmaceuticals, is another approved nanoparticulate polymeric formulation for cancer treatment, which is composed of asparaginase and PEG. By covalently conjugating the native asparaginase to the hydrophilic polymer PEG, it is possible to increase its circulation and retention time, decrease proteolysis, and hide antigenic determinants from the immune system, thus avoiding hypersensitivity associated to the administration of free asparaginase (Jarrar et al., 2006). Oncaspar[®] was first approved for use in patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) who developed hypersensitivity to asparaginase. Later, it was approved as first-line treatment for ALL, as part of a multiagent thermotherapy regimen.

Abraxane[®] (Desai, 2016; Green et al., 2006; Lee et al., 2020) by Celgene is an albumin-bound formulation of another chemotherapy, paclitaxel, which is approved by the FDA for the treatment of metastatic breast cancer, NSCLC, and pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Conjugating the drug with albumin eliminated the need for an organic solvent, usually required for the delivery of the highly water-insoluble free paclitaxel, thus notably decreasing medication-associated side effects.

Another Cremophor-free paclitaxel formulation approved by the EMA is Apealea[®] (Vergote et al., 2020), which is also the newest nanoparticle formulation for cancer treatment in the market (approved in Europe in 2018). It is indicated in adult patients with a first relapse of platinum-sensitive epithelial ovarian cancer, primary peritoneal cancer and fallopian tube cancer, in combination with carboplatin. The formulation is based on the proprietary XR17 micelle platform technology, composed of two novel micelle-forming excipients, N-(all-trans-retinoyl)-L-cysteic acid methyl ester sodium salt and N-(13-cis-retinoyl)-L-cysteic acid methyl ester

sodium salt. Apealea[®] showed non-inferior efficacy results and improved safety profile in phase III clinical trials against Taxol[®] (paclitaxel with Cremophor).

Marqibo[®] (Silverman & Deitcher, 2013), another mitotic inhibitor based formulation, is also approved by the FDA. In this case, vincristine sulfate, a semisynthetic chemotherapeutic agent, was encapsulated in sphingomyelin (SM) and cholesterol liposomes to overcome the dosing, pharmacokinetic, and pharmacodynamic limitations of free vincristine. In clinical trials, alone or in combination, Marqibo[®] was well tolerated and showed higher activity than standard vincristine treatment, probably due to the pharmacokinetic optimization and enhanced delivery. Currently it is indicated for the treatment of adult patients with Philadelphia chromosome-negative (Ph-) ALL, in second or greater relapse, or whose disease has progressed following two or more antileukemia therapies.

In 2015, based on the encouraging preclinical and clinical data available for the treatment of a variety of solid tumors, Onivyde[®] (Zhang, 2016), the nanoliposomal formulation of irinotecan, was approved by the FDA, as a combination regimen with 5-fluorouracil (5-FU) and leucovorin, for patients with gemcitabine-based chemotherapy-resistant metastatic pancreatic cancer. In advanced clinical trials, patients who received the combination of this PEGylated liposome formulation and 5-FU/leucovorin gained on average 2 months of survival and showed an average delay in the time to tumor growth of 3.1 months when compared to those who received only 5-FU/leucovorin (FDA Approves Onivyde Combo Regimen for Advanced Pancreatic Cancer, 2015).

Finally, Mepact[®] was the first drug approved for the management of high-grade, resectable, nonmetastatic bone tumors combined with postoperative combination chemotherapy in children, adolescents, and young adults who have gone through full macroscopic surgical resection. It is made of non-PEGylated liposomes loaded with muramyl tripeptide phosphatidylethanolamine (L-MTP-PE), a fabricated lipophilic derivative of muramyl dipeptide (MDP) (a naturally occurring constituent of bacterial cell walls) that activates monocytes, macrophages, and some cytokines, producing an immune response against osteosarcoma lung metastases. In clinical trials, it demonstrated a very good safety profile, both in patients and healthy volunteers, and given in addition to the usual combination chemotherapy conducted in children and young adults with osteogenic sarcoma showed an increase in 6-year net survival from 70% to 78% (Kager et al., 2010; Meyers et al., 2008).

3.4 Clinical Development of Nanoparticulate Systems for Cancer Treatment

Despite the few nanoparticle-based drugs approved for cancer treatment, many different formulations have reached clinical trials during the last decades. Alkylating agents, antimetabolites, topoisomerase inhibitors, and enzymes, but especially antitumor antibiotics and mitotic inhibitors, have been encapsulated mainly into PEGylated or non-PEGylated liposomes or polymeric micelles, sometimes functionalized for active targeting, but heavily relying just in the EPR effect (Anselmo & Mitragotri, 2021) (Table 2).

Regarding antitumor antibiotics, doxorubicin is by far the most commonly selected drug for its encapsulation into targeted and nontargeted nanoparticles, and, apart from the already mentioned successfully marketed formulations, many others have been tested in clinical trials. In one example from more than 20 years ago, Mitsubishi Pharma Corporation produced MCC-465, a liposome containing doxorubicin, with PEG and anti-GAH mAb that binds specifically to a molecule on the cell surface of gastric cancer cells. The expectations were high, as the results obtained in xenografts were promising, but the phase I trial in patients with gastric cancer revealed no clinical response, and no more clinical trials were performed with the formulation (Matsumura et al., 2004). HER2-targeted PEGylated liposome MM-302, from Merrimack Pharmaceuticals, experienced a similar fate and, besides the promising safety results obtained in the first phase I clinical trial in breast cancer patients, failed to show improvements in efficacy in more advanced studies (Miller et al., 2016; Munster et al., 2018). The two different formulations of doxorubicinloaded epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR)-targeting nanoparticles, from EnGeneIC (Whittle et al., 2015) and the Swiss Group for Clinical Cancer Research of the University Hospital of Basel (Mamot et al., 2012), were not successful in reaching the market either. EnGeneIC is now testing its technology, based on the EDV® Nanocell Platform (bacterially derived minicell) with other cytotoxic drugs, and the Swiss Group for Clinical Cancer Research has just started a new phase I clinical trial with a doxorubicin-loaded PEGylated liposome.

2B3-101 from 2-BBB Therapeutics – that later was sold to Oncology Venture, changing its name to 2X-111 – is a glutathione-containing PEGylated liposome loaded with doxorubicin, for the treatment of solid tumors and especially designed to cross the blood-brain barrier (BBB). The first phase I clinical trial started in 2011, and the results showed a good safety profile (Brandsma et al., 2014). A second phase II clinical trial is registered, but its status is "unknown" since a decade ago.

Worth mentioning is also the case of doxorubicin-loaded ThermoDox[®] system, the first and only thermosensitive liposome formulation to reach clinical trials, based on lipids that enable the temperature triggered release of their encapsulated content. The initial phase III clinical trial on ThermoDox[®] (i.e., HEAT trial) evaluating the drug in combination with the interventional oncology technique radiofrequency ablation (RFA), in comparison with RFA alone, for treatment of inoperable hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) failed to meet its primary endpoint in progression-free survival (PFS). However, analysis of patient subgroups revealed a therapeutic benefit for ThermoDox[®] in patients who received prolonged RFA treatments, and thus Celsion Corporation decided to start a second phase III clinical trial, OPTIMA, exploring this condition, but it demonstrated that the addition of ThermoDox[®] to RFA does not provide a measurable survival benefit (Dou et al., 2017; Regenold et al., 2021).

To date, liposomal annamycin (semisynthetic analog of doxorubicin) has been tested in clinical trials, with different formulations, by three companies. The

Name (company)	Particle type	Active molecule	Application	Identifiers	Outcomes
Antibiotics					
ThermoDox [®] (Celsion Corporation)	Lyso-sensitive PEGylated liposome (DPPC:MSPC:DSPE- PEG2000)	Doxorubicin	Various cancers	NCT0093444 (Ph I; Completed) NCT00617981 (Ph II; Completed) NCT00617981 (Ph II; Completed) NCT02850419 (Ph II; Suspended, administrative) NCT01640847 (Ph II; Withdrawn) NCT01464593 (Ph II; Withdrawn) NCT01464593 (Ph II; Terminated, trial design contingent on RFA optimization) NCT01464593 (Ph II; Completed) NCT02536183 (Ph I; Recruiting) NCT02112656 (Ph III; Completed) NCT02112656 (Ph III; Completed) NCT021281075 (Ph I; Recruiting) NCT03749850 (Ph I; Recruiting) NCT04791228 (Ph II; Not yet recruiting)	Advanced phase III clinical trials failed to reach primary endpoints. No measurable survival benefit
MM-302 (Merrimack Pharmaceuticals)	HER2-targeted PEGylated liposome (HSPC:Chol:PEG-DSPE)	Doxorubicin	Breast cancer	NCT01304797 (Ph I; Unknown) NCT02213744 (Ph II/III; Terminated) NCT02735798 (Ph I; Withdrawn)	One study terminated because it felt not to show benefit over control per DMC and confirmed via futility analysis. The next study withdrawn before starting due to the sponsor choosing not to fund the trial

Table 2 Clinical trials with nanoparticle formulations for cancer therapy

(continued)					
; Recruiting) Well tolerated with a manageable side effect profile	NCT03168061 (Ph I/I	Advanced solid tumors or soft-tissue sarcoma	Epirubicin	PEGylated polymeric micelle (epirubicin covalently bound to PEG-polyaspartate block copolymer through an acid-labile hydrazone bond)	NC-6300 (NanoCarrier)
tecruiting) No conclusive results yet	NCT03387917 (Ph I;	Advanced solid tumors	Doxorubicin	PEGylated liposome (DSPC:Cholesterol: DSPE-PEG 2000)	TLD-1/Talidox (Swiss Group for Clinical Cancer Research; University Hospital, Basel, Switzerland)
The trial was completed) The trial was prematurely terminated as per SAKK board decision	NCT02833766 (Ph II; NCT03603379 (Ph I;	Advanced triple negative EGFR positive breast cancer. High grade gliomas	Doxorubicin	Anti-EGFR immunoliposome (DSPC:Chol: mPEG-DSPE + anti-EGFR Mab fragments)	Anti-EGFR-IL-dox (Swiss Group for Clinical Cancer Research; University Hospital, Basel, Switzerland)
Jnknown) Good safety profile. Three new clinical trials active in Australia with the same technology and highly potent cytotoxic drugs. Carolyn and Inspire trials (recruiting)	NCT02766699 (Ph I;	Recurrent glioblastoma	Doxorubicin	EDV® Nanocell Platform (bacterially derived minicell)	EGFR(V)-EDV-Dox (EnGeneIC)

Table 2 (continued)					
Name (company)	Particle type	Active molecule	Application	Identifiers	Outcomes
2B3–101 (2-BBB Therapeutics); later the name of the product changed to 2X-111 (Oncology Venture)	Glutathione PEGylated liposome (HSPC:Chol:PEG2000- DSPE)	Doxorubicin	Solid tumors	NCT01386580 (Ph I/II; Completed) NCT01818713 (Ph II; Unknown)	Save and well tolerated in phase I/II clinical trials. Phase II clinical trial in "Unknown" status since 2013
MCC-465 (Mitsubishi Tanabe Pharma Corporation)	PEGylated immunoliposomes (DPPC:Chol:MPPE; tagged with PEG and the F(ab')2 fragment of human monoclonal antibody GAH)	Doxorubicin	Metastatic stomach cancer	Not indexed in ClinicalTrials.gov	Failed to show efficacy in clinical trials
Imx-110 (Immix Biopharma)	PGEylated polymeric micelle (PE-PEG, poly-kinase inhibitor; polyphenol curcuminoid complex, PCC)	Stat3/NF-kB/poly-tyrosine kinase inhibitor and low-dose doxorubicin	Advanced solid tumors	NCT03382340 (Ph I/II; Recruiting)	Encouraging safety results for their ongoing phase Ib/Ila clinical trial
Liposomal Annamycin (Aronex Pharmaceuticals/ Moleculin Biotech)	Liposome (DMPC:DMPG)	Annamycin	Acute myeloid leukemia	NCT03388749 (Ph II; Recruiting) NCT03315039 (Ph II; Completed) NCT04887298 (Ph I/II; Recruiting)	Preliminary results show good safety profile, with no cardiotoxicity and reduced alopecia
Liposomal Annamycin (NYU Langone Health)	Liposome	Annamycin	Breast cancer	NCT00012129 (Ph I/II; Completed)	No detectable antitumor activity in patients with doxorubicin-resistant metastatic breast cancer

Well tolerated in phase I/II clinical trials. Second study terminated in 2011	Favorable safety profile and reduced toxicity as compared to equivalent doses of mitomycin-c	(continued)
NCT00271063 (Ph I/II; Unknown) NCT00430443 (Ph I; Terminated)	NCT01705002 (Ph I; Completed) NCT03823989 (Ph Ib; Completed) NCT04729205 (Ph I; Recruiting)	
Refractory or relapsed acute lymphocytic leukemia	Solid tumors	
Annamycin	Mitomycin-C lipidic prodrug	
Liposome	PEGylated liposome (HSPC:Chol:mPEG2000- DSPE)	
Liposomal Annamycin (Callisto Pharmaceuticals)	PROMITIL (Lipomedix Pharmaceuticals)	

Table 2 (continued)					
Name (company)	Particle type	Active molecule	Application	Identifiers	Outcomes
Mitoxantrone hydrochloride liposome (CSPC ZhongQi Pharmaceutical Technology)	PEGylated liposome (HSPC:Chol:MPEG-DSPE)	Mitoxantrone	Various cancers	NCT02131688 (Ph I; Unknown) NCT02596373 (Ph II; Unknown) NCT05100303 (Ph I; Not yet recruiting) NCT05100329 (Ph II; Not yet recruiting) NCT05089461 (Ph II; Not yet recruiting) NCT04927481 (Ph II; Recruiting) NCT04927481 (Ph II; Recruiting) NCT04921878 (Ph I; Not yet recruiting) NCT02597387 (Ph I; Unknown) NCT02597387 (Ph I; Not yet recruiting) NCT0490207 (Ph I; Not yet recruiting) NCT0490207 (Ph I; Not yet recruiting) NCT04718402 (Ph I; Not yet recruiting) NCT04719065 (Ph I; Not yet recruiting) NCT04719066 (Ph I; Not yet recruiting) NCT04509466 (Ph I; Not yet recruiting) NCT04509466 (Ph I; Not yet recruiting) NCT04503466 (Ph I; Not yet recruiting) NCT04531743 (Ph I; Recruiting) NCT045331743 (Ph I; Recruiting) NCT045331743 (Ph I; Not yet recruiting) NCT04535466 (Ph I; Not yet recruiting) NCT04535466 (Ph I; Not yet recruiting) NCT045331743 (Ph I; Not yet recruiting) NCT04532413 (Ph I; Recruiting) NCT04535466 (Ph I; Not yet recruiting) NCT04535466 (Ph I; Not yet recruiting) NCT045331743 (Ph I; Recruiting) NCT045331743 (Ph I; Recruiting) NCT04535466 (Ph I; Not yet recruiting) NCT04535466 (Ph I; Not yet recruiting) NCT045375466 (Ph I; Not yet recruiting) NCT045375466 (Ph I; Not yet recruiting) NCT045375466 (Ph I; Not yet recruiting) NCT04537566 Ph I; Not yet recruiting) NCT04537576 (Ph I; Not yet recruiting) NCT04537576 (PH I; Not yet recruiting) NCT045666 (PH I; Not yet recruiting	Tested for different cancers (lymphoma, breast cancer, myeloid leukemia, etc.). In general, good safety profile

· · · ·
_
<u> </u>
•
c J
_
_
_
-
-
_
-
-
<u> </u>
0
\sim
A
•
_
_
-
_
_
_

Name (company)	Particle type	Active molecule	Application	Identifiers	Outcomes
MM-310 (Merrimack Pharmaceuticals)	Liposome functionalized with antibodies targeted to the EphA2 receptor (Egg-SM:Chol:PEG-lipid functionalized with anti-EphA2 receptor Abs (EphA2 scFv))	Docetaxel	Solid tumors	NCT03076372 (Ph I; Unknown)	Safety update showed Phase I study unable to reach optimal therapeutic index due to continued observation of cumulative peripheral neuropathy
LEP-ETU (NeoPharm Labs Ltd.)	Liposome (DOPC:Chol:cardiolipin)	Paclitaxel	Ovarian cancer	NCT00080418 (Ph I; Completed) NCT00100139 (Ph I; Completed) NCT01190982 (Ph II; Completed)	Last study completed in 2012. Receives Orphan Drug Designation from the FDA in 2015. No new clinical trials since then
Endotag-I (Medigene/ SynCore)	Liposome (DOTAP:DOPC)	Paclitaxel	Breast and pancreatic cancer	NCT01537536 (Ph II; Completed) NCT03126435 (Ph III; Active, not recruiting) NCT00542048 (Ph II; Completed) NCT00448305 (Ph II; Completed) NCT00377936 (Ph II; Completed) NCT00377936 (Ph III; Recruiting)	Phase III clinical trials still ongoing as a second-line treatment for pancreatic cancer

Protein stabilizing liposomesDocetaxelSolid tumorsNCT01041235 (Ph I; Completed)Acceptable tolerability(PSL®)(Phospholipids:Chol,and favorable PKprofile in patients with solid tumors. Based on the FDA feedback, the company plans to proceed with a follow-on phase II trial in platinum-sensitive small cell lung cancer who have progressed at least 60 days after initiation of first-line chemotherapy	Prostate-specific membraneDocetaxelProstate, metastatic, antigen (PSMA)-targetedNCT02479178 (Ph II; Terminated)Failed to showantigen (PSMA)-targetednon-small cell lung, PEG-PLGA or PLA-PEGNCT02283320 (Ph II; Completed)efficacy. The companyparticle (Accurin [®])recrvical, head and particle (Accurin [®])NCT011812746 (Ph II; Completed)declared bankruptcy inprocessneck, or KRASNCT011792479 (Ph II; Completed)declared bankruptcy inparticle (Accurin [®])positive lungNCT01300533 (Ph I; Completed)2016centology)cancersneckcancers	(continued)
T-1123 (Azaya Protein st erapeutics, now (PSL [®]) quired by Cytori (Phospho erapeutics) HSA:sucr	ND-014 (BIND Prostate-s erapeutics) PEG-PLC PEG-PLC particle (/ technolog	

Table 2 (continued)					
Name (company)	Particle type	Active molecule	Application	Identifiers	Outcomes
Cynviloq IG-001 (Sorrento Therapeutics; EEUU and Europe)/ Genexol-PM (Samyang Biopharmaceuticals; South Korea)	Polymeric micelle (mPEG-block-D.L-PLA). PEGylated polymeric micelle (mPEG-PDLLA: monomethoxy-PEG-block- poly(D,L-lactide); mPEG-block-D,L-PLA)	Paclitaxel	Head and neck or breast cancer	NCT01023347 (Ph II; Completed) NCT00111904 (Ph II; Completed) NCT001126126 (Ph II; Completed) NCT01770795 (Ph II; Completed) NCT01770795 (Ph II; Completed) NCT01784120 (Ph II; Completed) NCT0169870 (Ph IV; Withdrawn) NCT01169870 (Ph IV; Withdrawn) NCT008877253 (Ph I; Completed) NCT008877253 (Ph I; Completed) NCT008877253 (Ph I; Completed) NCT00886717 (Ph III; Unknown) NCT002912639 (Ph II; Completed) NCT00912639 (Ph II; Unknown) NCT00912639 (Ph II; Unknown) NCT00912639 (Ph II; Unknown) NCT00912639 (Ph II; Unknown) NCT002739633 (Ph II; Unknown) NCT02739633 (Ph II; Unknown) NCT027306512 (Ph II; Terminated, due to poor accrual) NCT0264829 (Ph?; Completed)	Approved for the treatment of metastatic breast cancer and advanced lung cancer in South Korea and other countries (Genexol-PM). There are bioequivalence studies VS Abraxane ongoing to market it in EEUU and Europe, with the name of Cynviloq IG-001, but there is controversy and even legal accusations between companies on the process
Docetaxel-PM/	PEGylated polymeric	Docetaxel	Head and neck	NCT02639858 (Ph II; Unknown)	Approved in South
DOPNP201/	micelle (docetaxel		cancer and	NCT02274610 (Ph I; Completed)	Korea
Nanoxel [®] M	conjugated to the MPEG-		advanced solid	NCT03585673 (Ph II; Unknown)	
(Samyang	PLA; polymer block via an		tumors	NCT04066335 (Ph?; Recruiting)	
Biopharmaceuticals)	ester linkage (DTX-PM))			NCT02982395 (Ph III; Terminated)	
Nanoxel [®] (Dabur	Polymeric micelles	Paclitaxel	Solid tumors	NCT00915369 (Ph I; Unknown)	Approved in India
Pharma/Fresenius	(pH-sensitive block				(2006)
Kabi Oncology Ltd.)	copolymer; PVP:NIPAM; PVP-b-PNIPAM)				

olyasparate block were ondified with 4-phenyl-1- utanol by esterification action: consequently, the alf of the groups were onverted to -phenyl-1-butanolate) Docetaxel Solid tumors, NCT02442531 (Ph I; Completed) Phase I clinical trials obmeric micelle Docetaxel NCT03712423 (Ph I; Completed) Showed well-tolerated not micelle NCT03742713 (Ph II; Completed) Showed well-tolerated NCT03742713 (Ph II; Completed) Showed well-tolerated not proprietary polymers NCT03742713 (Ph II; Completed) Showed well-tolerated network NCT03742713 (Ph II; Completed) Showed well-tolerated network NCT03742713 (Ph II; Completed) Showed well-tolerated network NCT03742713 (Ph II; Completed) Showed well-tolerated NCT03742713 (Ph II; Completed) Showed well-tolerated Showed well-tolerated Showed well-tolerated Showed well-tolerated Showed well-tolerated Showed well-tolerated Showed well-tolerated Sho
olymeric micelle Docetaxel Solid tumors, ovarian cancer NCT02442531 (Ph I; Completed) Phase I clinical trials proprietary polymers) NCT03712423 (Ph I; Completed) showed well-tolerated proprietary polymers) NCT03712423 (Ph I; Completed) showed well-tolerated proprietary polymers) NCT03742713 (Ph II; Completed) stety profile, but in the phase II clinical proprietary NCT03742713 (Ph II; Completed) stety profile, but in the phase II clinical proprietary NCT03742713 (Ph II; Completed) stety profile, but in the phase II clinical proprietary the phase II clinical the phase II clinical proprietary the phase II clinical trial, the efficacy

Table 2 (continued)					
Name (company)	Particle type	Active molecule	Application	Identifiers	Outcomes
CRLX301 (Cerulean)	CD-based nanoparticle (covalently conjugated docetaxel to a linear CD-PEG copolymer)	Docetaxel	Advanced solid tumors	NCT02380677 (Ph I/II; Terminated, company decision)	The safety profile was acceptable but the company decided to terminate clinical trials with this formulation
NanoDoce [®] (NanOlogy)	Large surface area microparticles (nanoparticulates)	Docetaxel	Urothelial carcinoma	NCT03636256 (Ph I/II; Completed) NCT04060628 (Ph?; Available) NCT04260360 (Ph I; Withdrawn, not initiated)	Acceptable safety profile. Encouraging early efficacy results
NanoPac [®] (NanOlogy)	Large surface area microparticles (nanoparticulates)	Paclitaxel	Pancreatic adenocarcinoma, lung cancer	NCT04314895 (Ph II; Recruiting) NCT03077685 (Ph II; Recruiting) NCT03756311 (Ph?; Available) NCT04221828 (Ph II; Terminated, lack of enrolment) NCT03077659 (Ph II; Completed) NCT03029585 (Ph II; Terminated, business reasons)	Acceptable safety profile. Encouraging early efficacy results
Halaven E7389-LF (Eisai)	PEGylated liposome (HSPC:Chol:MPEG2000- DSPE)	Eribulin mesylate	Solid tumors	NCT01945710 (Ph I; Completed) NCT03207672 (Ph I; Recruiting) NCT04078295 (Ph I/II; Recruiting)	Well tolerated in patients with advanced solid tumors. Phase I and II clinical trials ongoing
Topoisomerase inhibito.	rs				
OSI-211 (OSI Pharmaceuticals)	Liposome (HSPC:Chol)	Lurtotecan	Advanced or metastatic solid tumors; ovarian, head and neck cancer	NCT0006036 (Ph I; Completed) NCT00022594 (Ph II; Completed) NCT00010179 (Ph II; Completed) NCT00003891 (Ph I; Completed) NCT00046787 (Ph II; Completed) NCT00046800 (Ph II; Completed)	Last clinical trials finished more than a decade ago. No news or updates

d but st efficacy	sults or	y sponsor	continued)
Well tolerate failed to mee endpoints	No recent renews	Only clinical erminated b	3
NCT00046540 (Ph I; Completed) NCT00104754 (Ph II; Withdrawn) NCT00311610 (Ph II; Completed)	Not indexed in ClinicalTrials.gov	NCT03096340 (Phl; Terminated by t sponsor)	
Advanced colorectal cancer; small cell lung cancer	Advanced solid tumors	Advanced cancer	
SN-38 (active metabolite of irinotecan)	Topotecan	SN-38 (active metabolite of irinotecan)	
Liposome (PC:Chol:cardiolipin)	Sphingosome (Chol:SM)	Polymeric micelle (PEO- poly (glutamic acid) block copolymers through chemical conjugation of SN-38 to the free carboxyl groups present on the poly(glutamic acid backbone))	
LE-SN-38 (NeoPharm Labs Ltd.)	INX-0076 (INEX Pharmaceuticals)	IT-141 (Intezyne Technologies)	

Table 2 (continued)					
Name (company)	Particle type	Active molecule	Application	Identifiers	Outcomes
CRLX101 (formerly IT-101) (Cerulean)	CD-based nanoparticle (covalently conjugated camptothecin (CPT) to a linear CD-PEG copolymer)	Camptothecin	Ovarian, renal cell, small cell lung, or rectal cancers	NCT02187302 (Ph II; Completed) NCT02010567 (Ph I/II; Terminated, due to funding partner's request) NCT02389985 (Ph I/II; Terminated, company decision) NCT01803269 (Ph II; Terminated, due to lack of activity and slow accrual) NCT01652079 (Ph II; Recruiting) NCT01652079 (Ph II; Recruiting) NCT01652079 (Ph II; Recruiting) NCT01652079 (Ph II; Recruiting) NCT02769962 (Ph II; Recruiting) NCT02648711 (Ph I; Active, not recruiting) NCT02648711 (Ph I; Active, not company decision) NCT01612546 (Ph II; Completed) NCT016125936 (Ph II; Completed) NCT016253740 (Ph II; Completed) NCT01625340 (Ph II; Withdrawn, poor trial recruitment) NCT00163319 (Ph III; Completed) NCT00163319 (Ph III; Completed)	Failed to show efficacy in phase II clinical trials, both alone and in combination
S-CKD602 (Alza Corporation)	PEGylated liposome (PEGylated phospholipids)	CKD602	Advanced malignancies	NCT00177281 (Ph I; Completed)	No news or updates since more than a decade ago
Alkylating agents					
LiPlaCis (LiPlasome Pharma; Oncology Venture)	PEGylated liposome with specific degradation- controlled drug release via phospholipase A2 (PLA2) (DSPC:DSPG:DSPE- PEG2000)	Cisplatin	Advanced or refractory tumors	NCT01861496 (Ph I; Active, not recruiting)	Severe renal toxicity and an acute infusion reaction were observed in patients in phase I study. Thus, LiPlaCis clinical studies were halted

Lipoplatin/Nanoplatin (Regulon, Inc.)	PEGylated liposome (DPPG:soy PC·mPFG-DSPF·Chol)	Cisplatin	Pancreatic cancer; lung cancer	NCT02702700 (Ph I; Terminated, drug supply issues)	Improved safety profile respect reference treatment but modest
					efficacy benefits. Received Orphan Drug
					Designation by the EMA in 2007 and
					clinical trials were
					ongoing but not results have been published in
					years and the company
					has not clarified if the
					drug is still being evaluated
SPI-77/L-NDDP	PEGylated liposome	Cisplatin or analog	Ovarian cancer;	NCT00004083 (Ph II; Completed)	Acceptable safety
(ALZA	(Chol:HSPC:PEG-DSPE)) A	malignant pleural	NCT00004033 (Ph II; Completed)	profile but very limited
Pharmaceuticals,			mesothelioma;		efficacy, probably
formerly Sequus			advanced non-small		related to low release
Pharmaceuticals)			cell lung cancer		from nanoparticles
SLIT® (Transave)/ILC	Liposome	Cisplatin	Metastatic	NCT00102531 (Ph I/II; Completed)	Well tolerated in
(Insmed Incorporated)	(DPPC:Chol)		osteosarcoma		heavily treated
					osteosarcoma patients
					without the typical
					toxicities associated to
					IV cisplatin. More
					studies are needed
Aroplatin (Liposomal	Liposome	NDDP (oxaliplatin	Advanced solid	NCT00043199 (Ph II; Unknown)	Acceptable safety
NDDP) (Aronex	(DMPC:DMPG)	analog)	malignancies	NCT00057395 (Ph I/II; Unknown)	profile but modest
Pharmaceuticals, now				NCT00081536 (Ph I/II; Unknown)	efficacy
Antigenics)				NCT00081549 (Ph I/II; Unknown)	
				INCTODIDIT (FILT; COMPLETED)	
					(continued)

able 2 (continued	\frown
able 2 (contin	ned
able 2 (co	ontin
able 2	<u> </u>
Iq	6 7
	lde

Name (company)	Particle type	Active molecule	Application	Identifiers	Outcomes
MBP-426 (Mebiopharm Co., Ltd.)	Liposome (transferrin-conjugated NGPE liposome)	Oxaliplatin	Advanced or metastatic solid tumors; second-line gastric, gastroesophageal, or esophageal adenocarcinoma	NCT00355888 (Ph I; Completed) NCT00964080 (Ph I/II; Unknown)	No results posted yet
LipoXal® (Regulon, Inc.)	PEGylated liposome (HSPC:DPPG:Chol:DSPE- PEG)	Oxaliplatin	Advanced gastrointestinal cancers	Not indexed in Clinicaltrials.gov (Phase I)	Well-tolerated and reduced oxaliplatin- related side effects, especially myelotoxicity and gastrointestinal tract toxicities
NC-6004 Nanoplatin (Nanocarrier)	Polyamino acid and PEG micelles (PEG poly(glutamic acid) block copolymers)	Cisplatin	Advanced solid tumors; lung, biliary, bladder, or pancreatic cancers	NCT02240238 (Ph I/II; Completed) NCT02043288 (Ph III; Completed) NCT03771820 (Ph II; Recruiting) NCT03109158 (Ph I/II; Completed) NCT02817113 (Ph I; Terminated, due to strategy change)	They are focusing now in the combination treatment of head and neck cancers (phase II clinical trial)
NC-4016 DACH-Platin (Nanocarrier)	Polyamino acid and PEG micelles (PEG poly(glutamic acid) block copolymers)	Oxaliplatin	Advanced solid tumors or lymphomas	NCT03168035 (Ph I; Completed)	Phase I clinical trial completed. No results published yet

Antimetabolites					
FF-10832 (Fujifilm Pharmaceuticals)	PEGylated liposome (Chol:HSPC:N-MPEG- DSPE)	Gemcitabine	Advanced solid tumors	NCT03440450 (Ph I; Recruiting)	A new clinical trial about to start, in collaboration with Merck, for advanced solid tumors, in combination therapy with KEYTRUDA® (pembrolizumab)
Others					
LipoCurc [®] (SignPath Pharma)	Liposome (patent includes different combinations of PEGylated and non- PEGylated formulations)	Curcumin	Solid tumors	NCT02138955 (Ph I/II; Unknown) NCT01403545 (Ph I; Completed)	Reported very good safety profile, with minimal toxicity despite high blood concentrations. Planning new clinical trials
¹⁸⁸ Re-BMEDA- liposome (Institute of Nuclear Energy Research, Taiwan)	PEGylated liposome (DSPC:Chol:DSPE2000- PEG)	188Re-N,N-bis(2- mercaptoethyl)-N',N'- diethylethylenediamine	Advanced solid tumors	NCT02271516 (PhI; Terminated)	Terminated due to concerns of accumulation of radioactivity in both the liver and spleen
Atragen (Aronex Pharmaceuticals, now Antigenics)	Liposome (DMPC:soybean oil)	Tretinoin	Hormone-resistant prostate cancer, renal cell carcinoma, and acute myelogenous leukemia	NCT00003656 (Ph II; Completed) NCT00005969 (Ph II; Withdrawn)	FDA rejected approval
products by NYU Langone Health (Booser et al., 2002) and Callisto Pharmaceuticals (Wetzler et al., 2013) failed to show efficacy in patients and are no longer actively being studied. On the contrary, Moleculin Biotech has just announced updated preliminary safety data for annamycin in its three phase I clinical trials for acute myeloid leukemia and metastases of soft-tissue sarcoma, reporting a promising safety profile, with no cardiotoxicity and reduced alopecia (Gil et al., 2019).

Most of the evaluated antibiotics have been encapsulated in the inner aqueous phase of the liposomes, both by passive or active loading, but there are also examples of lipophilic drugs retained in the lipid bilayer of these nanoparticles. This is the case of Promitil[®] (Gabizon et al., 2020), a mitomycin-C lipidic prodrug loaded in PEGylated liposomes for the treatment of solid tumors that has already completed two phase I clinical trials showing a favorable safety profile and reduced toxicity as compared to equivalent doses of mitomycin-c. The product is currently being evaluated in a third phase I clinical trial.

Two companies selected mitoxantrone as the drug to be encapsulated into liposomes for the treatment of various cancers. The formulation of NeoPharm Labs Ltd. was evaluated 20 years ago, in a phase I clinical trial, but the results did not encourage the continuation of the studies (Ahmad et al., 2005). The mitoxantrone hydrochloride liposome from CSPC ZhongQi Pharmaceutical Technology has been tested in a total of 23 clinical trials, alone or in combination with other chemotherapeutic drugs, for the treatment of very different cancers, such as malignant lymphoma, metastatic breast cancer, acute myeloid leukemia, advanced pancreatic cancer, etc. In general, the shown safety profile is good, and the technology will continue being evaluated in clinical trials to determine its efficacy (Wang et al., 2021).

Antibiotics have also been encapsulated into polymeric nanoparticles, such as the NC-6300 epirubicin-loaded polymeric micelles that showed to be well tolerated, with a manageable side effect profile, in a phase Ib dose escalation trial in patients with advanced solid tumors or advanced, metastatic, or unresectable soft-tissue sarcoma (Chawla et al., 2020; Riedel et al., 2021). Another example is the PE-PEG-composed IMX-110 system, from Immix Biopharma, presented as monotherapy for soft-tissue sarcoma, that just a few weeks ago announced encouraging safety results for their ongoing phase Ib/IIa clinical trial.

Mitotic inhibitors have also been extensively studied in nanoformulations for cancer treatment, especially docetaxel and paclitaxel. Paclitaxel, very insoluble in water, is generally formulated using Cremophor EL. Docetaxel, more soluble in water, is formulated using Tween 80 and ethanol. Tween 80, albeit less toxic than Cremophor EL, may be responsible of some toxic effects. Thus, nanoparticles are a key technology to eliminate these vehicles and improve the drug's antitumor efficacy.

Merrimack Pharmaceuticals tested a second formulation in a phase I clinical trial – apart from the previously described doxorubicin-loaded MM-302 – the docetaxel-loaded MM-310 anti-EphA2 receptor immunoliposome for the treatment of solid tumors (Kirpotin et al., 2016). The last safety update showed inability to reach optimal therapeutic index due to continued observation of cumulative peripheral neuropathy, and the formulation was discarded (Ernstoff et al., 2018).

The ATI-1123 product from Azaya Therapeutics, now acquired by Cytori Therapeutics, was also tested in a phase I clinical trial with encouraging safety results (Mahalingam et al., 2014). Now, based on the FDA feedback, the company plans to proceed with a follow-on phase II trial in platinum-sensitive small cell lung cancer that have progressed at least 60 days after initiation of first-line chemotherapy. The formulation is composed of phospholipids, cholesterol, human serum albumin (HSA), and sucrose, with the aim of removing the need for solvents, reducing hypersensitivity reactions, eliminating the requirement for premedications, and enhancing systemic docetaxel exposure.

The case of the BIND Therapeutics company is also well known. They developed prostate-specific membrane antigen (PSMA)-targeted polymeric nanoparticles, based on their Accurin[®] technology, loaded with chemotherapeutics, for the treatment of various cancers (Autio et al., 2018). Specifically, the BIND-014 product was loaded with docetaxel and evaluated in five phase I and II clinical trials for the treatment of prostate, metastatic, non-small cell lung, cervical, head and neck, or Kirsten Rat Sarcoma Viral Oncogene Homologue (KRAS)-positive lung cancers. Despite all the collaborations with the big pharmaceutical companies, the acquired funding, and the high expectations, their products failed to show efficacy in the clinic, and the company declared bankruptcy in 2016.

Cristal Therapeutics relies in polymeric micelles for sustained release of chemotherapeutics too (Braal et al., 2018). Their CriPec[®] platform is composed of tuneable polymers, biodegradable drug linkers, and optional target motives and has been evaluated, loaded with docetaxel, in three phase I and II clinical trials for the treatment of solid tumors and ovarian cancer. Phase I clinical trials showed well-tolerated safety profile, but in the phase II clinical trial, the efficacy endpoint was not met.

Docetaxel was also one of the chosen molecules for the cyclodextrin-based nanoparticle system of Cerulean, formed by covalently conjugating docetaxel to a linear, cyclodextrin-polyethylene glycol (CD-PEG) copolymer (Piha-Paul et al., 2021). Once again, the safety profile was acceptable, but the company decided to terminate clinical trials fearing lack of efficacy.

Samyang Biopharmaceuticals (South Korea) developed two polymeric micelle formulations loaded with docetaxel and paclitaxel, Docetaxel-PM (also DOPNP201/ Nanoxel[®]) (Lee et al., 2011) and Genexol-PM (Kim et al., 2004; Madamsetty et al., 2019), respectively. These two monomethoxy PEG-b-poly(D,L, lactic acid) (PLA) formulations were specifically designed to improve the solubility of the chemotherapeutic drugs and to avoid the need to use toxic solubilizing agents such as Cremophor EL or Tween 80. Docetaxel-PM is commercialized in South Korea, and it is under clinical evaluation for pharmacokinetic equivalence with docetaxel injection concentrate as well as for safety and antitumor efficacy. Paclitaxel-PM is also available in South Korea and other Asian countries for the treatment of breast, nonsmall cell lung, and ovarian cancer and is currently undergoing bioequivalence testing to gain marketing approval in the US and European markets, under the name of Cynviloq IG-001, but the process is being long and highly controversial, with even legal accusations between the companies involved.

In addition, there are other four paclitaxel-loaded nanoparticle formulations approved in the Asian market. The first one, called LIPUSU[®] (Xu et al., 2013; Zhang et al., 2022), is a liposomal formulation, composed of lecithin and cholesterol, that was approved in China for the treatment of non-small cell lung cancer, breast cancer, and ovarian cancer, and it has been administered to over 2 million patients in the last 17 years. The second one is Nanoxel®, by Fresenius Kabi Oncology Ltd., that was approved in India in 2006 (Madaan et al., 2013; Ranade et al., 2013), allowing patients to receive Cremophor and premedication free paclitaxel, with equivalent efficacy. The third, Liporaxel®/DHP107 (Kim et al., 2020; Rugo et al., 2021; Yang et al., 2020), has the peculiarity of being intended for oral administration. The formulation, which is elaborated by mixing up the paclitaxel chemotherapeutic drug with monoolein, tricaprylin, and Tween 80, was approved in South Korea, in 2016, for the treatment of advanced, metastatic, and local recurrent gastric cancer and is currently in clinical trials in patients with other cancers. The last one, the Paclitaxel Injection Concentrate for Nanodispersion (PICN), by Sun Pharma Advanced Research Company Ltd. (SPARC), was approved in India, in 2014, for the treatment of metastatic breast cancer. In a phase II/III clinical study in patients with metastatic breast cancer (Jain et al., 2016; Ma et al., 2021), it was found to be equally effective and safe when compared to Abraxane®. Clinical studies are still ongoing.

Nippon Kayaku and Nanocarrier evaluated a paclitaxel-loaded polymeric micelle, NK105 (Hamaguchi et al., 2005; Hamaguchi et al., 2007; Kato et al., 2012), in a late-stage clinical trial against paclitaxel reference treatment too, but the formulation failed to meet its primary endpoint. Nanocarrier decided to continue clinical trials with a second-generation micelle pipeline in which the drug was chemically conjugated to the polymers inside the nanoparticles. We have already mentioned the epirubicin-loaded NC-6300, and another two, NC-6004 (Subbiah et al., 2018) and NC-4016 (Ueno et al., 2014), encapsulating cisplatin and oxaliplatin, respectively, are also being evaluated in clinical trials. NC-6004, in phase II clinical trials, is administered as a combination therapy, for the treatment of pancreatic, head, or neck cancer, among others. On the other hand, a phase I dose-escalation and pharmacokinetic study of NC-4016 in patients with advanced solid tumors or lymphoma has been completed in 2017, but no results have been published so far.

Finally, two more paclitaxel-loaded liposomal formulations have reached clinical testing: Endotag-I and LEP-ETU. The novelty of Endotag-I, from Medigene, is its positive charge, due to the presence of 1,2-Dioleoyl-3-trimethylammonium propane (DOTAP) in the formulation. It is generally accepted that nanoparticles of neutral or slightly negative charge more efficiently scape removal by the immune system, but positive charges augment the interaction between the nanoparticles and the negatively charged cellular membranes (Mitchell et al., 2021). The hypothesis behind Endotag-I (Fasol et al., 2012) is that because of the positively charged lipids, it interacts with newly developed, negatively charged endothelial cells, which are particularly required for the generation of tumor blood vessels. The nanoparticles attack the endothelial cells as they divide, thus targeting the blood supply to tumors without affecting the blood supply to healthy tissue. However, preclinical studies and clinical trials conducted on different types of cancer such as breast cancer, adenocarcinoma, or pancreatic cancer have shown limited efficacy and sometimes notable adverse events. There are still phase III clinical trials ongoing, with Endotag-I as a second-line treatment for pancreatic cancer.

On the other hand, the paclitaxel-loaded LEP-ETU (Slingerland et al., 2013), from NeoPharm Labs Ltd., is based on a similar formulation to the already mentioned mitoxantrone-loaded LEM-ETU, and the company evaluated a third composition in clinical trials too: the SN-38-loaded LE-SN-38 (Zhang et al., 2004). The three liposome formulations are based on similar combinations incorporating cholesterol and cardiolipin. LEP-ETU entered clinical evaluation to treat ovarian, breast, and lung cancers and completed its last phase II clinical trial in 2012. Since then, it received the Orphan Drug Designation from the FDA, but no updated information has been released. On the other hand, SN-38 is the active metabolite of irinotecan, and the LE-SN-38 liposomal formulation was tested for the treatment of small cell lung cancer and metastatic colorectal cancer in phase II clinical trials, where the formulation showed to be well tolerated but failed to meet efficacy endpoints.

With a slightly different concept, NanOlogy developed NanoDoce[®] and NanoPac[®] (Maulhardt et al., 2021, 2020; Mullany et al., 2020; Verco et al., 2021), two formulations of pure drug, docetaxel and paclitaxel, respectively, composed of large surface area microparticle (LSAM) therapeutic platforms, based on a proprietary supercritical precipitation technology that converts taxane API crystals into stable LSAMs, for tumor-directed therapy and sustained drug release. The administration for both products is local/intratumoral, and they are being tested in phase I and II clinical trials for the treatment of different cancers, such as urothelial carcinoma, pancreatic adenocarcinoma, and lung cancer.

Worth mentioning are two other mitotic inhibitors that have been tested in clinical trials in nanoparticulate formulations for cancer treatment: eribulin mesylate and the thiocolchicine analog IDN 5405. Eribulin mesylate, Halaven®, synthesized by Eisai, got FDA approval in 2010, and the same company is now testing eribulin mesylate-loaded liposomal formulation (Halaven E7389-LF) in clinical trials. Results from the first phase I clinical trial showed the formulation was well tolerated in patients with advanced solid tumors (https://www.annalsofoncology.org/ article/S0923-7534(19)58570-2/fulltext#relatedArticles). Two more clinical trials, in phase I and phase Ib/II, are now ongoing in Japan, with the liposomal formulation alone or in combination with nivolumab. On the other hand, IDN 5405, the thiocolchicine analog, was formulated bound to albumin to develop ABI-011 - later NTB-011, in collaboration with Celgene - with cytotoxic and vascular disrupting properties (D'Cruz et al., 2009). The expectations were high as the inventors of Abraxane®, the successful albumin-paclitaxel nanoparticle, were involved in the project; however, the first clinical trial was terminated and the second one withdrawn even before starting patient enrollment.

One of the successful stories that ended up in the commercialization of one of the few approved nanoparticle-based chemotherapeutic formulations started with the testing of various sphingosomes by Inex Pharmaceuticals. The nanoparticles

composed of SM and cholesterol were loaded with vincristine (Onco TCS) (vincristine liposomal-INEX: lipid-encapsulated vincristine, Onco TCS, transmembrane carrier system-vincristine, vincacine, vincristine sulfate liposomes for injection, VSLI, 2004), vinorelbine (INX-0125) (Semple et al., 2005), or topotecan (INX-0076), among others, and evaluated in clinical trials for the treatment of advanced solid tumors and non-Hodgkin lymphoma (Bulbake et al., 2017). A few years later, Onco TCS changed its name to Marqibo[®] and was approved by the FDA for the treatment of Philadelphia chromosome-negative ALL and commercialized by Spectrum Pharmaceuticals. This company also tested another formulation in a phase I clinical trial, Alocrest, that resulted to be generally well tolerated (Deitcher et al., 2007).

INX-0076 and LE-SN-38 were not the only nanoparticulate formulation based on topoisomerase inhibitors that reached clinical testing. The therapeutic potential of camptothecins (including irinotecan and topotecan) is limited because they rapidly undergo hydrolysis at physiological pH, changing from their active form (lactone ring structure) to their inactive form (carboxylate structure), leading to a short circulation lifetime. Liposomal formulations of these molecules can be designed to overcome these stability issues.

The previously mentioned company, Cerulean, developed a formulation based on camptothecin (apart from the docetaxel-loaded CRLX301), called CRLX101 (Pham et al., 2015; Svenson et al., 2011; Young et al., 2011) (formerly IT-101), developed by covalently conjugating camptothecin to a linear, cyclodextrin-PEG (CD-PEG) copolymer that self-assembles into nanoparticles. The formulation seemed promising at the preclinical level, as it was expected to address solubility, formulation, toxicity, and pharmacokinetic challenges, improving the efficacy. However, in 2013, it failed to show a benefit in lung cancer, causing a strategy change to drug combinations, but 3 years later, the company reported disappointing results for another phase II clinical trial, in combination with bevacizumab, in renal cell carcinoma patients.

Other clinical stage attempts to encapsulate topoisomerase inhibitors in nanoparticles for cancer treatment including OSI-211, IT-141, and S-CKD602. The non-PEGylated liposomal form of lurtotecan, OSI-211 (Duffaud et al., 2004; Tomkinson et al., 2003), from OSI Pharmaceuticals, composed of hydrogenated soy phosphatidylcholine (HSPC) and cholesterol, was evaluated in a total of six clinical trials that finished more than a decade ago, and there are no updates since then. IT-141 (Carie et al., 2011) was composed of SN-38-loaded polymeric micelles and was evaluated in a phase I clinical trial that was terminated by the sponsor. Lastly, the phase I clinical trial testing the PEGylated liposomal formulation S-CKD602 (Zamboni et al., 2009), from Alza Corporation, finished in 2006, and, besides the company qualifying the results as "promising," there have been no news since then.

Regarding the use of alkylating agents, we have already mentioned NC-6004 Nanoplatin and NC-4016 DACH-Platin from Nanocarrier, but there are more examples in clinical trials. The most evaluated drug has been cisplatin, in formulations including lipoplatin/nanoplatin, SPI-77, SLIT[®], and LiPlaCis[®], among others. Cisplatin is one of the most widely used chemotherapies due to its efficacy against

multiple cancer types but has severe side effects, demonstrating the critical need for specificity and reformulation.

Lipoplatin[®] (also known as Nanoplatin[®]) (Boulikas et al., 2005) is a proprietary PEGylated liposome formulation of cisplatin, by Regulon, Inc. The product has been introduced as Lipoplatin[®] for the treatment of pancreatic cancer and Nanoplatin[®] for lung cancer. This liposomes, composed of lipids including DPPG, soy PC, MPEG-distearoyl-sn-glycero-phosphoethanolamine (DSPE) lipid conjugate, and cholesterol, have been tested in phase I trials for malignant pleural effusion, phase II trials for breast and gastric cancer, phase II/III trials for pancreatic cancer, and phase III trials for NSCL ((Mylonakis et al., 2010; Stathopoulos et al., 2005; Stathopoulos et al., 2006a, b). In clinical trials, the company announced good safety profiles with reduced adverse effects associated with CPT including renal toxicity, peripheral neuropathy, ototoxicity, and myelotoxicity (Boulikas et al., 2005; Boulikas, 2009). In 2007, the EMA granted Orphan Drug Designation to this product for pancreatic cancer treatment, while clinical trials were still ongoing; however, no results have been published in years, and the company has not clarified if the drug is still being evaluated.

Formulations of cisplatin (SPI-77) (Seetharamu et al., 2010; Vokes et al., 2000; White et al., 2006) or analogs, developed by ALZA Pharmaceuticals, formerly Sequus Pharmaceuticals, were based on stealth liposomes. Results obtained in phase I and II clinical trials demonstrated a good safety profile but very limited efficacy. These findings were attributed to the low loading capacity and insufficient release of the free drug.

LiPlaCis[®], developed for treatment of advanced solid tumors, is a liposomal formulation, incorporating cisplatin, which is composed of lipids with degradation properties controlled by the phospholipase A2 (PLA2) enzyme, highly expressed in a multitude of human solid tumors including prostatic, pancreatic, colorectal, gastric, and breast cancers for a tumor-triggered release mechanism. In clinical trials, LiPlaCis[®] has demonstrated an enhanced therapeutic window compared to cisplatin, with superior PK properties, greater potency, and an increased maximum tolerated dose. However, severe renal toxicity and an acute infusion reaction were observed in patients in phase I study. Thus, LiPlaCis[®] clinical studies were halted.

SLIT[®] (Sustained Release Lipid Inhalation Target) (Chou et al., 2013), the liposomal formulation from Transave (later Inhaled Lipid Cisplatin, ILC, from Insmed Incorporated), was composed of dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine (DPPC) and cholesterol and presented a key novelty: it was an aerosolized formulation for pulmonary administration. In a phase I/II clinical study in patients with osteosarcoma metastatic to the lung, adverse effects associated to the IV administration of cisplatin were not reported, but changes in the pulmonary function were detected in some patients. Major benefits were described in patients with operable and small tumors (<2 cm), but more studies are needed to determine the efficacy and safety of the treatment.

On the other hand, oxaliplatin has also been nanoencapsulated and tested in clinical trials. As a third-generation water-soluble platinum drug, it is different from cisplatin and carboplatin in that it presents free amino groups linked to platinum and has lower toxicity and tumor resistance. MBP-426 (Sankhala et al., 2009; Senzer et al., 2009) is an oxaliplatin-encapsulated transferrin-conjugated N-glutaryl phosphatidylethanolamine (NGPE)-liposome that targets the transferrin receptor, which is upregulated in many types of cancer. After a phase I clinical trial in patients with advanced or metastatic solid tumors, the formulation entered a phase I/II trial for second-line gastric, gastroesophageal, or esophageal adenocarcinoma in 2009, but results have not been posted yet.

Regulon, Inc., the company that developed the cisplatin-loaded Lipoplatin[®], also developed an oxaliplatin-based liposomal formulation, LipoXal[®] (Stathopoulos et al., 2006a; Tippayamontri et al., 2014). In a phase I study, reduction respect to free oxaliplatin of myelotoxicity, nausea, and peripheral neuropathy was observed, but further clinical tests will be needed to demonstrate the improvement of antitumor activity of LipoXal[®] over free oxaliplatin.

Aroplatin (L-NDDP) (Dragovich et al., 2006) is a liposome encapsulating a cisbis-neodecanoato-trans-R,R-1,2-diaminocyclohexane platinum II (NDDP), an oxaliplatin derivative. The multi-lamellar liposomes were formed from 1,2-dimyristoyl-sn-glycero-3-phospho-(1'-racglycerol) (DMPG) and 1,2-dimyris-t oyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphocholine (DMPC) lipids in acidified saline solution. In phase II study, Aroplatin was tested in refractory metastatic colorectal cancer, and, besides the acceptable safety profile, in general the response was modest. To date, there is no report of any ongoing phase III study. Two decades ago, the same company, Aronex Pharmaceuticals (now Antigenics), tried to commercialize another liposomal formulation, loaded with tretinoin and named Atragen (Bernstein et al., 1998), but the FDA rejected the approval.

Apart from the cytarabine-containing marketed formulations, nanomedicines based on antimetabolites for the treatment of cancer have been nearly anecdotic, with only one formulation reaching clinical trials: gemcitabine-loaded FF-10832 (Matsumoto et al., 2021), by Fujifilm Pharmaceuticals. The PEGylated formulation is now being evaluated in a phase I clinical trial, for the treatment of solid tumors, and last year, Fujifilm Pharmaceuticals signed an agreement with Merck to start a new clinical study for advanced solid tumors in combination therapy with KEYTRUDA[®] (pembrolizumab).

Finally, worth mentioning are two strategies that are not based in traditional chemotherapy: LipoCurc[®] (Bolger et al., 2019) and ¹⁸⁸Re-BMEDA-liposome. LipoCurc[®], by SignPath Pharma, is composed of curcumin-loaded nanoparticles. Historically, development of curcumin as a pharmaceutical product has been hampered by its poor absorption and cardiac side effects. Thus, LipoCurc[®] was designed to improve curcumin bioavailability and toxicological profile. First reported results were encouraging, with a very good safety profile despite the high blood concentrations. They are planning new clinical trials in different cancer types.

¹⁸⁸Re-BMEDA-liposome (Chang et al., 2007; Lepareur et al., 2019), from the Institute of Nuclear Energy Research of Taiwan, was the only formulation incorporating radioactive isotopes to reach clinical trials for the treatment of primary solid tumors in advanced or metastatic stage. However, the phase I trial was terminated due to concerns of accumulation of radioactivity in both the liver and spleen

4 Challenges in Nanomedicine Clinical Translation

Despite the uncountable attempts to develop targeted nanoparticulate therapies for drug delivery to tumors, few anticancer nanomedicines have been approved by regulatory agencies, thus generating a debate regarding the real effectiveness of these systems for cancer treatment. Most anticancer medicines follow the same two basic criteria when trying to design effective and safe sustained drug delivery systems based on lipid or polymeric nanoparticles: (1) the EPR effect, caused by the leaky vasculature next to the tumor, increases drug accumulation in the affected area, and (2) long systemic circulation of drug-loaded nanoparticles avoids the uptake by the RES, decreasing drug accumulation in the normal organs and reducing toxicity (Sun et al., 2020). The EPR effect influencing nanomedicines has repeatedly been confirmed, both in animal xenografts and in human cancer patients, using nanoparticleencapsulated imaging agents (Gaillard et al., 2014; Greish, 2010; Hamaguchi et al., 2004; Koukourakis et al., 2000; Torchilin, 2011), but it is difficult to conclude if this EPR effect is different to the one observed for the free drugs. Free drugs, as small molecules with high plasma protein binding, also accumulate in tumors due to this phenomenon (Tang et al., 2014; Torchilin, 2011), and, due to ethical concerns, clinical trials with a free drug control arm are not possible in most cases; thus, there are very few direct comparisons between the free drug and the nanoparticle formulation.

When Doxil[®] reached the market, the accumulation of doxorubicin in patient tumors was found to be an order of magnitude higher than with free drug, and pathogenic analysis of KS revealed notably leaky vasculature (Northfelt et al., 1998; Uldrick & Whitby, 2011). However, in a later study, the evaluation of the tumor uptake of radiolabeled liposomes, with the same lipid composition as Doxil[®], demonstrated considerable heterogeneity between patients with the same and different cancer types (Harrington et al., 2001). Since then, a few studies have demonstrated significantly higher drug concentrations in the tumors when administering liposomal formulations (Gabizon et al., 1994), but limited improvements have been the reason of failure and cancelation of many clinical trials (Dragovich et al., 2006; Kraut et al., 2005; White et al., 2006).

Recent studies increasingly downplay the EPR effect. An interesting analysis by Wilhelm et al., surveying the literature from the past 10 years, concluded that only 0.7% (median) of the administered nanoparticle dose is found to be delivered to a solid tumor (Wilhelm et al., 2016). Another meta-analysis found no significant difference in clinical anticancer efficacy between liposomal and conventional chemotherapeutics in terms of objective response rate, overall survival, and PFS (Petersen et al., 2016).

Another key aspect is the validity of the animal xenograft models to mimic the biological phenomena observed in human cancers. In the available animal models, the EPR effect is notably exaggerated, resulting in a poor clinical translation (Greish, 2010). Thus, there is an urgent necessity to develop new models for in vivo and in silico testing.

Regarding the long systemic circulation and the high plasma concentration, it can increase tumor accumulation if there is a strong EPR effect or decrease drug accumulation in normal organs to reduce toxicity. However, it can also reduce efficacy or alter drug distribution to different organs, generating new adverse events (Harrington et al., 2001; Ngan & Gupta, 2016; Northfelt et al., 1998).

In addition, even if nanoparticles are able to avoid clearance from blood circulation (by the mononuclear phagocytic systems or the RES, among others) and the shear stress caused by varying flow rates and extravasate next to the tumor, the complex extracellular matrix surrounding malignant cells will notably limit their penetration (Yuan et al., 1994). Furthermore, lack of drug release from the vehicles can significantly decrease drug availability (Laginha et al., 2005; White et al., 2006).

Furthermore, after hundreds of preclinical and a few clinical studies with actively targeted nanoparticles incorporating specific motifs directed to molecules that are usually overexpressed on cancer cells, none of the tested strategies have reached the market (Ernstoff et al., 2018; Mamot et al., 2012; Matsumura et al., 2004). This is probably linked to the fact that actively targeted nanosystems also rely on the same principles as the passive targeting until they reach the microenvironment of the tumor where they can match with the specific molecules on the cancer cell membranes, thus dealing with the same challenges.

In general, most of the marketed nanomedicines failed to show improved efficacy, in comparison with the reference treatment, but they significantly and consistently improved the toxicity profile of classic chemotherapeutic agents, allowing for the administration of higher doses and better patient quality of life (Batist et al., 2002; Drummond et al., 1999; Farokhzad & Langer, 2006).

5 Conclusions

Cancer continues to be unstoppable worldwide, and there will be more than 30 million new cases by 2040, according to the International Agency for Research on Cancer. Thus, novel diagnostic and treatment tools are needed to beat this global challenge. Among the approaches explored by scientists, nanomedicine highlights due to its ability to develop an endless variety of accurate nanomaterials to provide a new landscape in cancer research. Thus, different scientific disciplines, such as engineering, chemistry, physics, nanotechnology, materials science, or medicine, work together to achieve precision systems and also enhance the translation to the clinics and pharmaceutical market. However, even though standardization, stability, and reproducibility are required for this goal, tailored features are mandatory for the successful application of the personalized medicine.

In this chapter, we have evidenced the encouraging potential of advanced nanoparticles as smart drug delivery systems to improve the therapeutic effect of current standard drugs and increased patient survival rates. Undoubtedly, there is still a long journey from the nanocarrier design to translation to the pharmaceutical market as viable products. Although thousands of research articles describe great outcomes of drug delivery systems with different nature and properties in multiple in vitro and in vivo cancer models, only a small fraction has successfully reached the translation to clinical level. This limited clinical translation of new nanoparticles is mainly due to incomplete therapeutic efficacy and off-target toxicity in vital organs. Nonetheless, results and evidences from previous clinical trials should guide not only the optimization of nanocarrier formulations but also setting clinical studies taking into account the tumor heterogeneity through the introduction of stratified populations instead of broad cancer patients.

Acknowledgments Marco Cordani is currently a recipient of a Maria Zambrano research contract from the Spanish Ministry of Universities and Complutense University of Madrid (call of grants for the requalification of the Spanish university system 2021–2023). Marco Cordani acknowledges support of the Recovery, Transformation, and Resilience Plan "Next generation EU". Raffaele Strippoli acknowledges a grant form Ministry for Health of Italy (Ricerca Corrente).

References

- Agrawal, N. K., Allen, P., Song, Y. H., Wachs, R. A., Du, Y., Ellington, A. D., & Schmidt, C. E. (2020). Oligonucleotide-functionalized hydrogels for sustained release of small molecule (aptamer) therapeutics. *Acta Biomaterialia*, 102, 315–325.
- Aguado, B. A., Grim, J. C., Rosales, A. M., Watson-Capps, J. J., & Anseth, K. S. (2018). Engineering precision biomaterials for personalized medicine. *Science Translational Medicine*, 10, eaam8645.
- Ahmad, A., Wang, Y. F., & Ahmad, I. (2005). Separation of liposome-entrapped mitoxantrone from nonliposomal mitoxantrone in plasma: Pharmacokinetics in mice. *Methods in Enzymology*, 391, 176–185.
- Alyautdin, R., Khalin, I., Nafeeza, M. I., Haron, M. H., & Kuznetsov, D. (2014). Nanoscale drug delivery systems and the blood-brain barrier. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 9, 795–811.
- Anselmo, A. C., & Mitragotri, S. (2019). Nanoparticles in the clinic: An update. *Bioengineering & Translational Medicine*, 4, e10143.
- Anselmo, A. C., & Mitragotri, S. (2021). Nanoparticles in the clinic: An update post COVID-19 vaccines. *Bioengineering Translational Medicine*, 6, e10246.
- Arias, L. S., Pessan, J. P., Vieira, A. P. M., Lima, T. M. T., Delbem, A. C. B., & Monteiro, D. R. (2018). Iron oxide nanoparticles for biomedical applications: A perspective on synthesis, drugs, antimicrobial activity, and toxicity. *Antibiotics*, 7(2), 46.
- Autio, K. A., Dreicer, R., Anderson, J., Garcia, J. A., Alva, A., Hart, L. L., Milowsky, M. I., Posadas, E. M., Ryan, C. J., Graf, R. P., Dittamore, R., Schreiber, N. A., Summa, J. M., Youssoufian, H., Morris, M. J., & Scher, H. I. (2018). Safety and efficacy of BIND-014, a docetaxel nanoparticle targeting prostate-specific membrane antigen for patients with metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer: A phase 2 clinical trial. *JAMA Oncology*, *4*, 1344–1351.
- Awasthi, R., Roseblade, A., Hansbro, P. M., Rathbone, M. J., Dua, K., & Bebawy, M. (2018). Nanoparticles in cancer treatment: Opportunities and obstacles. *Current Drug Targets*, 19, 1696–1709.

Baguley, B. C. (2010). Multidrug resistance in cancer. Methods in Molecular Biology, 596, 1–14.

Bai, L., Gao, C., Liu, Q., Yu, C., Zhang, Z., Cai, L., Yang, B., Qian, Y., Yang, J., & Liao, X. (2017). Research progress in modern structure of platinum complexes. *European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, 140, 349–382.

- Barenholz, Y. (2012). Doxil®-the first FDA-approved nano-drug: Lessons learned. Journal of Controlled Release, 160, 117–134.
- Baron, J. A. (2012). Screening for cancer with molecular markers: Progress comes with potential problems. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 12, 368–371.
- Baselga, J., Manikhas, A., Cortés, J., Llombart, A., Roman, L., Semiglazov, V. F., Byakhov, M., Lokanatha, D., Forenza, S., Goldfarb, R. H., Matera, J., Azarnia, N., Hudis, C. A., & Rozencweig, M. (2014). Phase III trial of nonpegylated liposomal doxorubicin in combination with trastuzumab and paclitaxel in HER2-positive metastatic breast cancer. *Annals of Oncology*, 25, 592–598.
- Batist, G., Barton, J., Chaikin, P., Swenson, C., & Welles, L. (2002). Myocet (liposomeencapsulated doxorubicin citrate): A new approach in breast cancer therapy. *Expert Opinion on Pharmacotherapy*, 3, 1739–1751.
- Bayda, S., Adeel, M., Tuccinardi, T., Cordani, M., & Rizzolio, F. (2019). The history of nanoscience and nanotechnology: From chemical-physical applications to nanomedicine. *Molecules*, 25(1), 112.
- Bernstein, Z. P., Rios, A., Scadden, D., Groopman, J., Northfelt, D., Lang, W., Fischl, M., Cohen, P., Bock, A., & Gill, P. (1998). A multicenter, phase II/III study of Atragen[™] (Tretinoin Liposomal) in patients with AIDS-associated Kaposi's sarcoma. *JAIDS Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes*, 17, A24.
- Bhagat, A., & Kleinerman, E. S. (2020). Anthracycline-induced cardiotoxicity: Causes, mechanisms, and prevention. Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology, 1257, 181–192.
- Binaschi, M., Zunino, F., & Capranico, G. (1995). Mechanism of action of DNA topoisomerase inhibitors. *Stem Cells*, 13, 369–379.
- Blair, H. A. (2018). Daunorubicin/Cytarabine liposome: A review in acute myeloid leukaemia. Drugs, 78, 1903–1910.
- Blanco, E., Shen, H., & Ferrari, M. (2015). Principles of nanoparticle design for overcoming biological barriers to drug delivery. *Nature Biotechnology*, 33, 941–951.
- Bobo, D., Robinson, K. J., Islam, J., Thurecht, K. J., & Corrie, S. R. (2016). Nanoparticle-based medicines: A review of FDA-approved materials and clinical trials to date. *Pharmaceutical Research*, 33, 2373–2387.
- Bolger, G. T., Licollari, A., Tan, A., Greil, R., Vcelar, B., Greil-Ressler, S., Weiss, L., Schönlieb, C., Magnes, T., Radl, B., Majeed, M., & Sordillo, P. P. (2019). Pharmacokinetics of liposomal curcumin (LipocurcTM) infusion: Effect of co-medication in cancer patients and comparison with healthy individuals. *Cancer Chemotherapy and Pharmacology*, 83, 265–275.
- Booser, D. J., Esteva, F. J., Rivera, E., Valero, V., Esparza-Guerra, L., Priebe, W., & Hortobagyi, G. N. (2002). Phase II study of liposomal annamycin in the treatment of doxorubicin-resistant breast cancer. *Cancer Chemotherapy and Pharmacology*, 50, 6–8.
- Boulikas, T. (2009). Clinical overview on Lipoplatin: A successful liposomal formulation of cisplatin. *Expert Opinion on Investigational Drugs*, 18, 1197–1218.
- Boulikas, T., Stathopoulos, G. P., Volakakis, N., & Vougiouka, M. (2005). Systemic Lipoplatin infusion results in preferential tumor uptake in human studies. *Anticancer Research*, 25, 3031–3039.
- Braal, C. L., de Bruijn, P., Atrafi, F., van Geijn, M., Rijcken, C. J. F., Mathijssen, R. H. J., & Koolen, S. L. W. (2018). A new method for the determination of total and released docetaxel from docetaxel-entrapped core-crosslinked polymeric micelles (CriPec®) by LC-MS/MS and its clinical application in plasma and tissues in patients with various tumours. *Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis*, 161, 168–174.
- Bradner, W. T. (2001). Mitomycin C: A clinical update. Cancer Treatment Reviews, 27, 35-50.
- Brandes, A. A., Bartolotti, M., Tosoni, A., & Franceschi, E. (2016). Nitrosoureas in the management of malignant gliomas. *Current Neurology and Neuroscience Reports*, 16, 13.
- Brandsma, D., Milojkovic Kerklaan, B., Diéras, V., Altintas, S., Anders, C. K., Arnedos Ballester, M., Gelderblom, H., Soetekouw, P. M. M. B., Gladdines, W., Lonnqvist, F., Jager, A., van Linde, M. E., Schellens, J., & Aftimos, P. (2014). Phase 1/2A study of glutathione pegylated

liposomal doxorubicin (2b3-101) in patients with brain metastases (bm) from solid tumors or recurrent high grade gliomas (HGG). *Annals of Oncology*, 25, iv157.

- Brewer, J. R., Morrison, G., Dolan, M. E., & Fleming, G. F. (2016). Chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy: Current status and progress. *Gynecologic Oncology*, 140, 176–183.
- Brown, S. B., Wang, L., Jungels, R. R., & Sharma, B. (2020). Effects of cartilage-targeting moieties on nanoparticle biodistribution in healthy and osteoarthritic joints. *Acta Biomaterialia*, 101, 469–483.
- Bukowski, K., Kciuk, M., & Kontek, R. (2020). Mechanisms of multidrug resistance in cancer chemotherapy. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 21(9), 3233.
- Bulbake, U., Doppalapudi, S., Kommineni, N., & Khan, W. (2017). Liposomal formulations in clinical use: An updated review. *Pharmaceutics*, 9(2), 12.
- Byrne, J. D., Betancourt, T., & Brannon-Peppas, L. (2008). Active targeting schemes for nanoparticle systems in cancer therapeutics. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 60, 1615–1626.
- Caballero, D., Abreu, C. M., Lima, A. C., Neves, N. N., Reis, R. L., & Kundu, S. C. (2022). Precision biomaterials in cancer theranostics and modelling. *Biomaterials*, 280, 121299.
- Caldorera-Moore, M., Vela Ramirez, J. E., & Peppas, N. A. (2019). Transport and delivery of interferon-α through epithelial tight junctions via pH-responsive poly(methacrylic acidgrafted-ethylene glycol) nanoparticles. *Journal of Drug Targeting*, 27, 582–589.
- Caliceti, P., & Matricardi, P. (2019). Advances in drug delivery and biomaterials: Facts and vision. *Pharmaceutics*, *11*(1), 48.
- Cao, J., Huang, D., & Peppas, N. A. (2020). Advanced engineered nanoparticulate platforms to address key biological barriers for delivering chemotherapeutic agents to target sites. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews*, 167, 170–188.
- Carie, A., Rios-Doria, J., Costich, T., Burke, B., Slama, R., Skaff, H., & Sill, K. (2011). IT-141, a polymer micelle encapsulating SN-38, induces tumor regression in multiple colorectal cancer models. *Journal of drug delivery*, 2011, 869027.
- Carvalho, C., Santos., R. X., Cardoso, S., Correia, S., Oliveira, P. J., Santos, M. S., & Moreira, P. I. (2009). Doxorubicin: The good, the bad and the ugly effect. *Current Medicinal Chemistry*, 16, 3267–3285.
- Chamberlain, M. C., Kormanik, P., Howell, S. B., & Kim, S. (1995). Pharmacokinetics of intralumbar DTC-101 for the treatment of leptomeningeal metastases. *Archives of Neurology*, 52, 912–917.
- Chang, Y. J., Chang, C. H., Chang, T. J., Yu, C. Y., Chen, L. C., Jan, M. L., Luo, T. Y., Lee, T. W., & Ting, G. (2007). Biodistribution, pharmacokinetics and microSPECT/CT imaging of 188Re-bMEDA-liposome in a C26 murine colon carcinoma solid tumor animal model. *Anticancer Research*, 27, 2217–2225.
- Chawla, S. P., Goel, S., Chow, W., Braiteh, F., Singh, A. S., Olson, J. E. G., Osada, A., Bobe, I., & Riedel, R. F. (2020). A phase 1b dose escalation trial of NC-6300 (nanoparticle epirubicin) in patients with advanced solid tumors or advanced, metastatic, or unresectable soft-tissue sarcoma. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 26, 4225–4232.
- Chen, X., Wu, Y., Dong, H., Zhang, C. Y., & Zhang, Y. (2013). Platinum-based agents for individualized cancer treatment. *Current Molecular Medicine*, 13, 1603–1612.
- Cheng, Q., Wei, T., Farbiak, L., Johnson, L. T., Dilliard, S. A., & Siegwart, D. J. (2020). Selective organ targeting (SORT) nanoparticles for tissue-specific mRNA delivery and CRISPR-Cas gene editing. *Nature Nanotechnology*, 15, 313–320.
- Chou, A. J., Gupta, R., Bell, M. D., Riewe, K. O., Meyers, P. A., & Gorlick, R. (2013). Inhaled lipid cisplatin (ILC) in the treatment of patients with relapsed/progressive osteosarcoma metastatic to the lung. *Pediatric Blood & Cancer*, 60, 580–586.
- Costa-Silva, T. A., Costa, I. M., Biasoto, H. P., Lima, G. M., Silva, C., Pessoa, A., & Monteiro, G. (2020). Critical overview of the main features and techniques used for the evaluation of the clinical applicability of L-asparaginase as a biopharmaceutical to treat blood cancer. *Blood Reviews*, 43, 100651.

- Creixell, M., & Peppas, N. A. (2012). Co-delivery of siRNA and therapeutic agents using nanocarriers to overcome cancer resistance. *Nano Today*, 7, 367–379.
- D'Cruz, O., Piacente, M., Huang, T., Faxon, S., Trieu, V., & Desai, N. (2009). Sequence-dependent enhancement of antitumor activity of the vascular disrupting agent ABI-011 by paclitaxel and bevacizumab. *Cancer Research*, 69, 5638–5638.
- Daniel, D., & Crawford, J. (2006). Myelotoxicity from chemotherapy. Seminars in Oncology, 33, 74–85.
- Das, A., & Ali, N. (2021). Nanovaccine: An emerging strategy. *Expert Review of Vaccines*, 20, 1273–1290.
- Dasari, S., & Tchounwou, P. B. (2014). Cisplatin in cancer therapy: Molecular mechanisms of action. European Journal of Pharmacology, 740, 364–378.
- Davis, M. E., Chen, Z. G., & Shin, D. M. (2008). Nanoparticle therapeutics: An emerging treatment modality for cancer. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*, 7, 771–782.
- Deitcher, S., Cullis, P., Wong, M., & Choy, G. (2007). Vinorelbine liposomes injection results in greater tumor drug exposure compared to conventional vinorelbine in tumor-bearing nude mice. *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics*, 6, 109.
- Desai, N. (2016). Nanoparticle albumin-bound paclitaxel (Abraxane®). In M. Otagiri & V. T. G. Chuang (Eds.), Albumin in medicine: Pathological and clinical applications (pp. 101–119). Springer.
- Diethelm-Varela, B., Ai, Y., Liang, D., & Xue, F. (2019). Nitrogen mustards as anticancer chemotherapies: Historic perspective, current developments and future trends. *Current Topics in Medicinal Chemistry*, 19, 691–712.
- Dinndorf, P. A., Gootenberg, J., Cohen, M. H., Keegan, P., & Pazdur, R. (2007). FDA drug approval summary: Pegaspargase (Oncaspar®) for the first-line treatment of children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL). *The Oncologist*, 12, 991–998.
- Dou, Y., Hynynen, K., & Allen, C. (2017). To heat or not to heat: Challenges with clinical translation of thermosensitive liposomes. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 249, 63–73.
- Dragovich, T., Mendelson, D., Kurtin, S., Richardson, K., Von Hoff, D., & Hoos, A. (2006). A phase 2 trial of the liposomal DACH platinum L-NDDP in patients with therapy-refractory advanced colorectal cancer. *Cancer Chemotherapy and Pharmacology*, 58, 759–764.
- Drummond, D. C., Meyer, O., Hong, K., Kirpotin, D. B., & Papahadjopoulos, D. (1999). Optimizing liposomes for delivery of chemotherapeutic agents to solid tumors. *Pharmacological Reviews*, 51, 691–743.
- Duffaud, F., Borner, M., Chollet, P., Vermorken, J. B., Bloch, J., Degardin, M., Rolland, F., Dittrich, C., Baron, B., Lacombe, D., & Fumoleau, P. (2004). Phase II study of OSI-211 (liposomal lurtotecan) in patients with metastatic or loco-regional recurrent squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck. An EORTC New Drug Development Group study. *European Journal of Cancer*, 40, 2748–2752.
- Duflos, A., Kruczynski, A., & Barret, J. M. (2002). Novel aspects of natural and modified vinca alkaloids. Current Medicinal Chemistry Anti-Cancer Agents, 2, 55–70.
- Ernstoff, M. S., Ma, W. W., Tsai, F. Y.-C., Munster, P. N., Zhang, T., Kamoun, W., Pipas, J. M., Chen, S., Santillana, S., & Askoxylakis, V. (2018). A phase 1 study evaluating the safety, pharmacology and preliminary activity of MM-310 in patients with solid tumors. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 36, TPS2604.
- Falzone, L., Salomone, S., & Libra, M. (2018). Evolution of cancer pharmacological treatments at the turn of the third millennium. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, *9*, 1300.
- Fang, J., Nakamura, H., & Maeda, H. (2011). The EPR effect: Unique features of tumor blood vessels for drug delivery, factors involved, and limitations and augmentation of the effect. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews*, 63, 136–151.
- Farokhzad, O. C., & Langer, R. (2006). Nanomedicine: Developing smarter therapeutic and diagnostic modalities. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 58, 1456–1459.

- Fasol, U., Frost, A., Büchert, M., Arends, J., Fiedler, U., Scharr, D., Scheuenpflug, J., & Mross, K. (2012). Vascular and pharmacokinetic effects of EndoTAG-1 in patients with advanced cancer and liver metastasis. *Annals of Oncology*, 23, 1030–1036.
- FDA Approves Onivyde Combo Regimen for Advanced Pancreatic Cancer. (2015). Oncology Times, 37, 8.
- Fenton, O. S., Olafson, K. N., Pillai, P. S., Mitchell, M. J., & Langer, R. (2018). Advances in biomaterials for drug delivery. Advanced Materials, 30(29), e1705328.
- Ferlay, J., Colombet, M., Soerjomataram, I., Parkin, D. M., Piñeros, M., Znaor, A., & Bray, F. (2021). Cancer statistics for the year 2020: An overview. *International Journal of Cancer*, 149(4), 778–789.
- Forssen, E. A., & Ross, M. E. (1994). Daunoxome® treatment of solid tumors: Preclinical and clinical investigations. *Journal of Liposome Research*, 4, 481–512.
- Froudarakis, M., Hatzimichael, E., Kyriazopoulou, L., Lagos, K., Pappas, P., Tzakos, A. G., Karavasilis, V., Daliani, D., Papandreou, C., & Briasoulis, E. (2013). Revisiting bleomycin from pathophysiology to safe clinical use. *Critical Reviews in Oncology/Hematology*, 87, 90–100.
- Gabizon, A., Catane, R., Uziely, B., Kaufman, B., Safra, T., Cohen, R., Martin, F., Huang, A., & Barenholz, Y. (1994). Prolonged circulation time and enhanced accumulation in malignant exudates of doxorubicin encapsulated in polyethylene-glycol coated liposomes. *Cancer Research*, 54, 987–992.
- Gabizon, A., Shmeeda, H., Tahover, E., Kornev, G., Patil, Y., Amitay, Y., Ohana, P., Sapir, E., & Zalipsky, S. (2020). Development of Promitil®, a lipidic prodrug of mitomycin c in PEGylated liposomes: From bench to bedside. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews*, 154–155, 13–26.
- Gaillard, P. J., Appeldoorn, C. C., Dorland, R., van Kregten, J., Manca, F., Vugts, D. J., Windhorst, B., van Dongen, G. A., de Vries, H. E., Maussang, D., & van Tellingen, O. (2014). Pharmacokinetics, brain delivery, and efficacy in brain tumor-bearing mice of glutathione pegylated liposomal doxorubicin (2B3-101). *PLoS One, 9*, e82331.
- Galm, U., Hager, M. H., Van Lanen, S. G., Ju, J., Thorson, J. S., & Shen, B. (2005). Antitumor antibiotics: Bleomycin, enediynes, and mitomycin. *Chemical Reviews*, 105, 739–758.
- Gelderblom, H., Verweij, J., Nooter, K., & Sparreboom, A. (2001). Cremophor EL: The drawbacks and advantages of vehicle selection for drug formulation. *European Journal of Cancer*, 37, 1590–1598.
- Gil, L., Shepard, R. C., Silberman, S. L., Zak, E. M., & Priebe, W. (2019). Clinical efficacy of L-annamycin, a liposomal formulated non-cross-resistant and non-cardiotoxic anthracycline in relapsed/refractory AML patients. *Blood*, 134, 5147–5147.
- Gill, P. S., Wernz, J., Scadden, D. T., Cohen, P., Mukwaya, G. M., von Roenn, J. H., Jacobs, M., Kempin, S., Silverberg, I., Gonzales, G., Rarick, M. U., Myers, A. M., Shepherd, F., Sawka, C., Pike, M. C., & Ross, M. E. (1996). Randomized phase III trial of liposomal daunorubicin versus doxorubicin, bleomycin, and vincristine in AIDS-related Kaposi's sarcoma. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 14, 2353–2364.
- Giraud, B., Hebert, G., Deroussent, A., Veal, G. J., Vassal, G., & Paci, A. (2010). Oxazaphosphorines: New therapeutic strategies for an old class of drugs. *Expert Opinion on Drug Metabolism & Toxicology*, 6, 919–938.
- Girotti, A., Escalera-Anzola, S., Alonso-Sampedro, I., González-Valdivieso, J., & Arias, F. J. (2020a). Aptamer-functionalized natural protein-based polymers as innovative biomaterials. *Pharmaceutics*, 12(11), 1115.
- Girotti, A., Gonzalez-Valdivieso, J., Santos, M., Martin, L., & Arias, F. J. (2020b). Functional characterization of an enzymatically degradable multi-bioactive elastin-like recombinamer. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, 164, 1640–1648.
- Gonzalez-Valdivieso, J., Borrego, B., Girotti, A., Moreno, S., Brun, A., Bermejo-Martin, J. F., & Arias, F. J. (2020). A DNA vaccine delivery platform based on Elastin-Like recombinamer nanosystems for Rift Valley fever virus. *Molecular Pharmaceutics*, 17, 1608–1620.

- Gonzalez-Valdivieso, J., Garcia-Sampedro, A., Hall, A. R., Girotti, A., Arias, F. J., Pereira, S. P., & Acedo, P. (2021a). Smart nanoparticles as advanced anti-Akt kinase delivery systems for pancreatic cancer therapy. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, 13, 55790–55805.
- Gonzalez-Valdivieso, J., Girotti, A., Schneider, J., & Arias, F. J. (2021b). Advanced nanomedicine and cancer: Challenges and opportunities in clinical translation. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 599, 120438.
- Green, M. R., Manikhas, G. M., Orlov, S., Afanasyev, B., Makhson, A. M., Bhar, P., & Hawkins, M. J. (2006). Abraxane, a novel Cremophor-free, albumin-bound particle form of paclitaxel for the treatment of advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. *Annals of Oncology*, 17, 1263–1268.
- Greene, J., & Hennessy, B. (2015). The role of anthracyclines in the treatment of early breast cancer. Journal of Oncology Pharmacy Practice, 21, 201–212.
- Greish, K. (2010). Enhanced permeability and retention (EPR) effect for anticancer nanomedicine drug targeting. *Methods in Molecular Biology*, 624, 25–37.
- Grothey, A. (2003). Oxaliplatin-safety profile: Neurotoxicity. Seminars in Oncology, 30, 5-13.
- Hamaguchi, T., Matsumura, Y., Nakanishi, Y., Muro, K., Yamada, Y., Shimada, Y., Shirao, K., Niki, H., Hosokawa, S., Tagawa, T., & Kakizoe, T. (2004). Antitumor effect of MCC-465, pegylated liposomal doxorubicin tagged with newly developed monoclonal antibody GAH, in colorectal cancer xenografts. *Cancer Science*, 95, 608–613.
- Hamaguchi, T., Matsumura, Y., Suzuki, M., Shimizu, K., Goda, R., Nakamura, I., Nakatomi, I., Yokoyama, M., Kataoka, K., & Kakizoe, T. (2005). NK105, a paclitaxel-incorporating micellar nanoparticle formulation, can extend in vivo antitumour activity and reduce the neurotoxicity of paclitaxel. *British Journal of Cancer*, 92, 1240–1246.
- Hamaguchi, T., Kato, K., Yasui, H., Morizane, C., Ikeda, M., Ueno, H., Muro, K., Yamada, Y., Okusaka, T., Shirao, K., Shimada, Y., Nakahama, H., & Matsumura, Y. (2007). A phase I and pharmacokinetic study of NK105, a paclitaxel-incorporating micellar nanoparticle formulation. *British Journal of Cancer*, 97, 170–176.
- Han, W., Chilkoti, A., & López, G. P. (2017). Self-assembled hybrid elastin-like polypeptide/silica nanoparticles enable triggered drug release. *Nanoscale*, 9, 6178–6186.
- Harrington, K. J., Mohammadtaghi, S., Uster, P. S., Glass, D., Peters, A. M., Vile, R. G., & Stewart, J. S. (2001). Effective targeting of solid tumors in patients with locally advanced cancers by radiolabeled pegylated liposomes. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 7, 243–254.
- He, C., Yue, H., Xu, L., Liu, Y., Song, Y., Tang, C., & Yin, C. (2020). siRNA release kinetics from polymeric nanoparticles correlate with RNAi efficiency and inflammation therapy via oral delivery. *Acta Biomaterialia*, 103, 213–222.
- Helary, C., & Desimone, M. F. (2015). Recent advances in biomaterials for tissue engineering and controlled drug delivery. *Current Pharmaceutical Biotechnology*, 16, 635–645.
- Ho, D., Quake, S. R., McCabe, E. R. B., Chng, W. J., Chow, E. K., Ding, X., Gelb, B. D., Ginsburg, G. S., Hassenstab, J., Ho, C. M., Mobley, W. C., Nolan, G. P., Rosen, S. T., Tan, P., Yen, Y., & Zarrinpar, A. (2020). Enabling technologies for personalized and precision medicine. *Trends in Biotechnology*, 38, 497–518.
- Howes, P. D., Chandrawati, R., & Stevens, M. M. (2014). Bionanotechnology. Colloidal nanoparticles as advanced biological sensors. *Science*, 346, 1247390.
- https://www.annalsofoncology.org/article/S0923-7534(19)585702/fulltext#relatedArticles. Accessed 12 Dec 2021.
- https://www.iarc.who.int/. Accessed 27 Nov 2021.
- Huang, K. W., Hsu, F. F., Qiu, J. T., Chern, G. J., Lee, Y. A., Chang, C. C., Huang, Y. T., Sung, Y. C., Chiang, C. C., Huang, R. L., Lin, C. C., Dinh, T. K., Huang, H. C., Shih, Y. C., Alson, D., Lin, C. Y., Lin, Y. C., Chang, P. C., Lin, S. Y., & Chen, Y. (2020). Highly efficient and tumor-selective nanoparticles for dual-targeted immunogene therapy against cancer. *Science Advances*, 6, eaax5032.
- Hwang, J., Sullivan, M. O., & Kiick, K. L. (2020). Targeted drug delivery via the use of ECMmimetic materials. *Frontiers in Bioengineering and Biotechnology*, 8, 69.

- Islam, R., Maeda, H., & Fang, J. (2021). Factors affecting the dynamics and heterogeneity of the EPR effect: Pathophysiological and pathoanatomic features, drug formulations and physicochemical factors. *Expert Opinion on Drug Delivery*, 1–14.
- Jabir, N. R., Anwar, K., Firoz, C. K., Oves, M., Kamal, M. A., & Tabrez, S. (2018). An overview on the current status of cancer nanomedicines. *Current Medical Research and Opinion*, 34, 911–921.
- Jain, R. K., & Stylianopoulos, T. (2010). Delivering nanomedicine to solid tumors. *Nature Reviews Clinical Oncology*, 7, 653–664.
- Jain, M. M., Gupte, S. U., Patil, S. G., Pathak, A. B., Deshmukh, C. D., Bhatt, N., Haritha, C., Govind, B. K., Bondarde, S. A., Digumarti, R., Bajpai, J., Kumar, R., Bakshi, A. V., Bhattacharya, G. S., Patil, P., Subramanian, S., Vaid, A. K., Desai, C. J., Khopade, A., Chimote, G., Bapsy, P. P., & Bhowmik, S. (2016). Paclitaxel injection concentrate for nanodispersion versus nab-paclitaxel in women with metastatic breast cancer: A multicenter, randomized, comparative phase II/III study. *Breast Cancer Research & Treatment, 156*, 125–134.
- Jarrar, M., Gaynon, P. S., Periclou, A. P., Fu, C., Harris, R. E., Stram, D., Altman, A., Bostrom, B., Breneman, J., Steele, D., Trigg, M., Zipf, T., & Avramis, V. I. (2006). Asparagine depletion after pegylated E. coli asparaginase treatment and induction outcome in children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia in first bone marrow relapse: A Children's Oncology Group study (CCG-1941). *Pediatric Blood & Cancer*, 47, 141–146.
- Jiang, N., Wang, X., Yang, Y., & Dai, W. (2006). Advances in mitotic inhibitors for cancer treatment. *Mini Reviews in Medicinal Chemistry*, 6, 885–895.
- Kager, L., Pötschger, U., & Bielack, S. (2010). Review of mifamurtide in the treatment of patients with osteosarcoma. *Therapeutics and Clinical Risk Management*, 6, 279–286.
- Kato, K., Chin, K., Yoshikawa, T., Yamaguchi, K., Tsuji, Y., Esaki, T., Sakai, K., Kimura, M., Hamaguchi, T., Shimada, Y., Matsumura, Y., & Ikeda, R. (2012). Phase II study of NK105, a paclitaxel-incorporating micellar nanoparticle, for previously treated advanced or recurrent gastric cancer. *Investigational New Drugs*, 30, 1621–1627.
- Kaye, S. B. (1998). New antimetabolites in cancer chemotherapy and their clinical impact. British Journal of Cancer, 78, 1–7.
- Kemp, J. A., & Kwon, Y. J. (2021). Cancer nanotechnology: Current status and perspectives. Nano Convergence, 8, 34.
- Kim, T.-Y., Kim, D.-W., Chung, J.-Y., Shin, S. G., Kim, S.-C., Heo, D. S., Kim, N. K., & Bang, Y.-J. (2004). Phase I and pharmacokinetic study of Genexol-PM, a Cremophor-free, polymeric micelle-formulated paclitaxel, in patients with advanced malignancies. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 10, 3708–3716.
- Kim, S.-B., Zhang, Q., Sun, T., Seo, J. H., Lee, K. S., Kim, T.-Y., Tong, Z., Park, K. H., Moon, Y. W., Wang, S., Li, W., Yang, Y., Wang, J., Wang, X., Choi, J., Lee, J. E., Yoon, K. E., Chung, S., Xu, B., & Sohn, J. (2020). [OPTIMAL 3] A phase III trial to evaluate the efficacy and safety of DHP107 (Liporaxel, oral paclitaxel) compared to Taxol (IV paclitaxel) as first line therapy in patients with recurrent or metastatic HER2 negative breast cancer (BC) (NCT03315364). *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 38, TPS1106.
- Kirpotin, D. B., Tipparaju, S., Huang, Z. R., Kamoun, W. S., Pien, C., Kornaga, T., Oyama, S., Olivier, K., Marks, J. D., Koshkaryev, A., Schihl, S. S., Fetterly, G., Schoeberl, B., Noble, C., Hayes, M., & Drummond, D. C. (2016). Abstract 3912: MM-310, a novel EphA2-targeted docetaxel nanoliposome. *Cancer Research*, 76, 3912–3912.
- Knight, F. C., Gilchuk, P., Kumar, A., Becker, K. W., Sevimli, S., Jacobson, M. E., Suryadevara, N., Wang-Bishop, L., Boyd, K. L., Crowe, J. E., Joyce, S., & Wilson, J. T. (2019). Mucosal immunization with a pH-responsive nanoparticle vaccine induces protective CD8(+) lungresident memory T cells. ACS Nano, 13, 10939–10960.
- Koo, M. M., Swann, R., McPhail, S., Abel, G. A., Elliss-Brookes, L., Rubin, G. P., & Lyratzopoulos, G. (2020). Presenting symptoms of cancer and stage at diagnosis: Evidence from a crosssectional, population-based study. *The Lancet Oncology*, 21, 73–79.

- Koukourakis, M. I., Koukouraki, S., Giatromanolaki, A., Kakolyris, S., Georgoulias, V., Velidaki, A., Archimandritis, S., & Karkavitsas, N. N. (2000). High intratumoral accumulation of stealth liposomal doxorubicin in sarcomas–rationale for combination with radiotherapy. *Acta Oncologica*, 39, 207–211.
- Kraut, E. H., Fishman, M. N., Lorusso, P. M., Gordon, M. S., Rubin, E. H., Haas, A., Fetterly, G. J., Cullinan, P., Dul, J. L., & Steinberg, J. L. (2005). Final results of a phase I study of liposome encapsulated SN-38 (LE-SN38): Safety, pharmacogenomics, pharmacokinetics, and tumor response. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 23, 2017–2017.
- Kulkarni, J. A., Witzigmann, D., Leung, J., Tam, Y. Y. C., & Cullis, P. R. (2019). On the role of helper lipids in lipid nanoparticle formulations of siRNA. *Nanoscale*, 11, 21733–21739.
- Kushwah, V., Katiyar, S. S., Agrawal, A. K., Gupta, R. C., & Jain, S. (2018). Co-delivery of docetaxel and gemcitabine using PEGylated self-assembled stealth nanoparticles for improved breast cancer therapy. *Nanomedicine*, 14, 1629–1641.
- Laginha, K. M., Verwoert, S., Charrois, G. J., & Allen, T. M. (2005). Determination of doxorubicin levels in whole tumor and tumor nuclei in murine breast cancer tumors. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 11, 6944–6949.
- Lammers, T., Aime, S., Hennink, W. E., Storm, G., & Kiessling, F. (2011). Theranostic nanomedicine. Accounts of Chemical Research, 44, 1029–1038.
- Lancet, J. E., Uy, G. L., Cortes, J. E., Newell, L. F., Lin, T. L., Ritchie, E. K., Stuart, R. K., Strickland, S. A., Hogge, D., Solomon, S. R., Stone, R. M., Bixby, D. L., Kolitz, J. E., Schiller, G. J., Wieduwilt, M. J., Ryan, D. H., Hoering, A., Chiarella, M., Louie, A. C., & Medeiros, B. C. (2016). Final results of a phase III randomized trial of CPX-351 versus 7+3 in older patients with newly diagnosed high risk (secondary) AML. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 34, 7000–7000.
- Lancet, J. E., Uy, G. L., Cortes, J. E., Newell, L. F., Lin, T. L., Ritchie, E. K., Stuart, R. K., Strickland, S. A., Hogge, D., Solomon, S. R., Stone, R. M., Bixby, D. L., Kolitz, J. E., Schiller, G. J., Wieduwilt, M. J., Ryan, D. H., Hoering, A., Banerjee, K., Chiarella, M., Louie, A. C., & Medeiros, B. C. (2018). CPX-351 (cytarabine and daunorubicin) liposome for injection versus conventional cytarabine plus daunorubicin in older patients with newly diagnosed secondary acute myeloid leukemia. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, *36*, 2684–2692.
- Lawson, R., Staatz, C. E., Fraser, C. J., & Hennig, S. (2021). Review of the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of intravenous busulfan in paediatric patients. *Clinical Pharmacokinetics*, 60, 17–51.
- Le, Z., Chen, Y., Han, H., Tian, H., Zhao, P., Yang, C., He, Z., Liu, L., Leong, K. W., Mao, H. Q., Liu, Z., & Chen, Y. (2018). Hydrogen-bonded tannic acid-based anticancer nanoparticle for enhancement of oral chemotherapy. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, 10, 42186–42197.
- Lee, S. W., Yun, M. H., Jeong, S. W., In, C. H., Kim, J. Y., Seo, M. H., Pai, C. M., & Kim, S. O. (2011). Development of docetaxel-loaded intravenous formulation, Nanoxel-PM[™] using polymer-based delivery system. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 155, 262–271.
- Lee, H., Park, S., Kang, J. E., Lee, H. M., Kim, S. A., & Rhie, S. J. (2020). Efficacy and safety of nanoparticle-albumin-bound paclitaxel compared with solvent-based taxanes for metastatic breast cancer: A meta-analysis. *Scientific Reports*, 10, 530.
- Leonard, R. C. F., Williams, S., Tulpule, A., Levine, A. M., & Oliveros, S. Y. (2009). Improving the therapeutic index of anthracycline chemotherapy: Focus on liposomal doxorubicin (Myocet). *Breast*, 18(4), 218–224.
- Lepareur, N., Lacœuille, F., Bouvry, C., Hindré, F., Garcion, E., Chérel, M., Noiret, N., Garin, E., & Knapp, F. F. R. (2019). Rhenium-188 labeled radiopharmaceuticals: Current clinical applications in oncology and promising perspectives. *Frontiers in Medicine*, 6, 132.
- Leung, A. K., Tam, Y. Y., Chen, S., Hafez, I. M., & Cullis, P. R. (2015). Microfluidic mixing: A general method for encapsulating macromolecules in lipid nanoparticle systems. *The Journal* of Physical Chemistry B, 119, 8698–8706.
- Liang, X. J., Chen, C., Zhao, Y., & Wang, P. C. (2010). Circumventing tumor resistance to chemotherapy by nanotechnology. *Methods in Molecular Biology*, 596, 467–488.

- Liu, Y., Li, K., Liu, B., & Feng, S. S. (2010). A strategy for precision engineering of nanoparticles of biodegradable copolymers for quantitative control of targeted drug delivery. *Biomaterials*, 31, 9145–9155.
- Liu, X., Li, C., Lv, J., Huang, F., An, Y., Shi, L., & Ma, R. (2020). Glucose and H2O2 dualresponsive polymeric micelles for the self-regulated release of insulin. ACS Applied Biomaterials, 3, 1598–1606.
- Luginbuhl, K. M., Mozhdehi, D., Dzuricky, M., Yousefpour, P., Huang, F. C., Mayne, N. R., Buehne, K. L., & Chilkoti, A. (2017). Recombinant synthesis of hybrid lipid-peptide polymer fusions that self-assemble and encapsulate hydrophobic drugs. *Angewandte Chemie*, 56, 13979–13984.
- Ma, W. W., Zhu, M., Lam, E. T., Diamond, J. R., Dy, G. K., Fisher, G. A., Goff, L. W., Alberts, S., Bui, L. A., Sanghal, A., Kothekar, M., Khopade, A., Chimote, G., Faulkner, R., Eckhardt, S. G., Adjei, A. A., & Jimeno, A. (2021). A phase I pharmacokinetic and safety study of Paclitaxel Injection Concentrate for Nano-dispersion (PICN) alone and in combination with carboplatin in patients with advanced solid malignancies and biliary tract cancers. *Cancer Chemotherapy* and Pharmacology, 87, 779–788.
- Madaan, A., Singh, P., Awasthi, A., Verma, R., Singh, A. T., Jaggi, M., Mishra, S. K., Kulkarni, S., & Kulkarni, H. (2013). Efficiency and mechanism of intracellular paclitaxel delivery by novel nanopolymer-based tumor-targeted delivery system, Nanoxel(TM). *Clinical & Translational Oncology*, 15, 26–32.
- Madamsetty, V. S., Mukherjee, A., & Mukherjee, S. (2019). Recent trends of the bio-inspired nanoparticles in cancer theranostics. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 10, 1264.
- Mahalingam, D., Nemunaitis, J. J., Malik, L., Sarantopoulos, J., Weitman, S., Sankhala, K., Hart, J., Kousba, A., Gallegos, N. S., Anderson, G., Charles, J., Rogers, J. M., Senzer, N. N., & Mita, A. C. (2014). Phase I study of intravenously administered ATI-1123, a liposomal docetaxel formulation in patients with advanced solid tumors. *Cancer Chemotherapy and Pharmacology*, 74, 1241–1250.
- Makadia, H. K., & Siegel, S. J. (2011). Poly Lactic-co-Glycolic Acid (PLGA) as biodegradable controlled drug delivery carrier. *Polymers*, *3*, 1377–1397.
- Malhotra, V., & Perry, M. C. (2003). Classical chemotherapy: Mechanisms, toxicities and the therapeutic window. *Cancer Biology & Therapy*, 2, S2–S4.
- Mamot, C., Ritschard, R., Wicki, A., Stehle, G., Dieterle, T., Bubendorf, L., Hilker, C., Deuster, S., Herrmann, R., & Rochlitz, C. (2012). Tolerability, safety, pharmacokinetics, and efficacy of doxorubicin-loaded anti-EGFR immunoliposomes in advanced solid tumours: A phase 1 doseescalation study. *The Lancet Oncology*, 13, 1234–1241.
- Man, F., Lammers, T., & de Rosales, R. T. M. (2018). Imaging nanomedicine-based drug delivery: A review of clinical studies. *Molecular Imaging and Biology*, 20, 683–695.
- Manshian, B. B., Jiménez, J., Himmelreich, U., & Soenen, S. J. (2017). Personalized medicine and follow-up of therapeutic delivery through exploitation of quantum dot toxicity. *Biomaterials*, 127, 1–12.
- Mantripragada, S. (2002). A lipid based depot (DepoFoam technology) for sustained release drug delivery. *Progress in Lipid Research*, 41, 392–406.
- Martino, E., Casamassima, G., Castiglione, S., Cellupica, E., Pantalone, S., Papagni, F., Rui, M., Siciliano, A. M., & Collina, S. (2018). Vinca alkaloids and analogues as anti-cancer agents: Looking back, peering ahead. *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters*, 28, 2816–2826.
- Matsumoto, Y., Nichols, J. W., Toh, K., Nomoto, T., Cabral, H., Miura, Y., Christie, R. J., Yamada, N., Ogura, T., Kano, M. R., Matsumura, Y., Nishiyama, N., Yamasoba, T., Bae, Y. H., & Kataoka, K. (2016). Vascular bursts enhance permeability of tumour blood vessels and improve nanoparticle delivery. *Nature Nanotechnology*, 11, 533–538.
- Matsumoto, T., Komori, T., Yoshino, Y., Ioroi, T., Kitahashi, T., Kitahara, H., Ono, K., Higuchi, T., Sakabe, M., Kori, H., Kano, M., Hori, R., Kato, Y., & Hagiwara, S. (2021). A liposomal gencitabine, FF-10832, improves plasma stability, tumor targeting, and antitumor efficacy of gencitabine in pancreatic cancer xenograft models. *Pharmaceutical Research*, 38, 1093–1106.

- Matsumura, Y., & Maeda, H. (1986). A new concept for macromolecular therapeutics in cancer chemotherapy: Mechanism of tumoritropic accumulation of proteins and the antitumor agent smancs. *Cancer Research*, 46, 6387–6392.
- Matsumura, Y., Gotoh, M., Muro, K., Yamada, Y., Shirao, K., Shimada, Y., Okuwa, M., Matsumoto, S., Miyata, Y., Ohkura, H., Chin, K., Baba, S., Yamao, T., Kannami, A., Takamatsu, Y., Ito, K., & Takahashi, K. (2004). Phase I and pharmacokinetic study of MCC-465, a doxorubicin (DXR) encapsulated in PEG immunoliposome, in patients with metastatic stomach cancer. *Annals of Oncology*, 15, 517–525.
- Maulhardt, H. A., Marin, A. M., & diZerega, G. S. (2020). Intratumoral submicron particle docetaxel inhibits syngeneic Renca renal cancer growth and increases CD4+, CD8+, and Treg levels in peripheral blood. *Investigational New Drugs*, 38, 1618–1626.
- Maulhardt, H., Marin, A., Hesseltine, H., & diZerega, G. (2021). Submicron particle docetaxel intratumoral injection in combination with anti-mCTLA-4 into 4T1-Luc orthotopic implants reduces primary tumor and metastatic pulmonary lesions. *Medical Oncology*, *38*, 106.
- Meyers, P. A., Schwartz, C. L., Krailo, M. D., Healey, J. H., Bernstein, M. L., Betcher, D., Ferguson, W. S., Gebhardt, M. C., Goorin, A. M., Harris, M., Kleinerman, E., Link, M. P., Nadel, H., Nieder, M., Siegal, G. P., Weiner, M. A., Wells, R. J., Womer, R. B., & Grier, H. E. (2008). Osteosarcoma: The addition of muramyl tripeptide to chemotherapy improves overall survival-a report from the Children's Oncology Group. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 26, 633–638.
- Miller, K., Cortes, J., Hurvitz, S. A., Krop, I. E., Tripathy, D., Verma, S., Riahi, K., Reynolds, J. G., Wickham, T. J., Molnar, I., & Yardley, D. A. (2016). HERMIONE: A randomized phase 2 trial of MM-302 plus trastuzumab versus chemotherapy of physician's choice plus trastuzumab in patients with previously treated, anthracycline-naïve, HER2-positive, locally advanced/metastatic breast cancer. *BMC Cancer*, 16, 352.
- Minelli, C., Lowe, S. B., & Stevens, M. M. (2010). Engineering nanocomposite materials for cancer therapy. Small, 6, 2336–2357.
- Mitchell, E. P. (2006). Gastrointestinal toxicity of chemotherapeutic agents. *Seminars in Oncology*, 33, 106–120.
- Mitchell, E. P., & Schein, P. S. (1986). Contributions of nitrosoureas to cancer treatment. Cancer Treatment Reports, 70, 31–41.
- Mitchell, M. J., Jain, R. K., & Langer, R. (2017). Engineering and physical sciences in oncology: Challenges and opportunities. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 17, 659–675.
- Mitchell, M. J., Billingsley, M. M., Haley, R. M., Wechsler, M. E., Peppas, N. A., & Langer, R. (2021). Engineering precision nanoparticles for drug delivery. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*, 20, 101–124.
- Moody, C. L., & Wheelhouse, R. T. (2014). The medicinal chemistry of imidazotetrazine prodrugs. *Pharmaceuticals*, 7, 797–838.
- Moore, A., & Pinkerton, R. (2009). Vincristine: Can its therapeutic index be enhanced? *Pediatric Blood & Cancer*, 53, 1180–1187.
- More, G. S., Thomas, A. B., Chitlange, S. S., Nanda, R. K., & Gajbhiye, R. L. (2019). Nitrogen mustards as alkylating agents: A review on chemistry, mechanism of action and current USFDA status of drugs. *Anti-Cancer Agents in Medicinal Chemistry*, 19, 1080–1102.
- Mosca, L., Ilari, A., Fazi, F., Assaraf, Y. G., & Colotti, G. (2021). Taxanes in cancer treatment: Activity, chemoresistance and its overcoming. *Drug Resistance Updates*, *54*, 100742.
- Moudi, M., Go, R., Yien, C. Y., & Nazre, M. (2013). Vinca alkaloids. International Journal of Preventive Medicine, 4, 1231–1235.
- Muggia, F., & Kudlowitz, D. (2014). Novel taxanes. Anti-Cancer Drugs, 25, 593-598.
- Mullany, S., Miller, D. S., Robison, K., Levinson, K., Lee, Y. C., Yamada, S. D., Walker, J., Markman, M., Marin, A., Mast, P., & diZerega, G. (2020). Phase II study of intraperitoneal submicron particle paclitaxel (SPP) plus IV carboplatin and paclitaxel in patients with epithelial ovarian cancersurgery. *Gynecologic Oncology Reports*, 34, 100627.
- Munster, P., Krop, I. E., LoRusso, P., Ma, C., Siegel, B. A., Shields, A. F., Molnár, I., Wickham, T. J., Reynolds, J., Campbell, K., Hendriks, B. S., Adiwijaya, B. S., Geretti, E., Moyo, V., &

Miller, K. D. (2018). Safety and pharmacokinetics of MM-302, a HER2-targeted antibodyliposomal doxorubicin conjugate, in patients with advanced HER2-positive breast cancer: A phase 1 dose-escalation study. *British Journal of Cancer, 119*, 1086–1093.

- Mylonakis, N., Athanasiou, A., Ziras, N., Angel, J., Rapti, A., Lampaki, S., Politis, N., Karanikas, C., & Kosmas, C. (2010). Phase II study of liposomal cisplatin (Lipoplatin) plus gemcitabine versus cisplatin plus gemcitabine as first line treatment in inoperable (stage IIIB/IV) non-small cell lung cancer. *Lung Cancer*, 68, 240–247.
- Ngan, Y. H., & Gupta, M. (2016). A comparison between liposomal and nonliposomal formulations of doxorubicin in the treatment of cancer: An updated review. *Archives of Pharmacy Practice*, 7(1), 1–13.
- Norouzi, M., Amerian, M., Amerian, M., & Atyabi, F. (2020). Clinical applications of nanomedicine in cancer therapy. *Drug Discovery Today*, 25, 107–125.
- Northfelt, D. W., Dezube, B. J., Thommes, J. A., Miller, B. J., Fischl, M. A., Friedman-Kien, A., Kaplan, L. D., Du Mond, C., Mamelok, R. D., & Henry, D. H. (1998). Pegylated-liposomal doxorubicin versus doxorubicin, bleomycin, and vincristine in the treatment of AIDS-related Kaposi's sarcoma: Results of a randomized phase III clinical trial. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 16, 2445–2451.
- Octavia, Y., Tocchetti, C. G., Gabrielson, K. L., Janssens, S., Crijns, H. J., & Moens, A. L. (2012). Doxorubicin-induced cardiomyopathy: From molecular mechanisms to therapeutic strategies. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology*, 52, 1213–1225.
- Park, H., Otte, A., & Park, K. (2021). Evolution of drug delivery systems: From 1950 to 2020 and beyond. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 342, 53–65.
- Peres, C., Matos, A. I., Moura, L. I. F., Acúrcio, R. C., Carreira, B., Pozzi, S., Vaskovich-Koubi, D., Kleiner, R., Satchi-Fainaro, R., & Florindo, H. F. (2021). Preclinical models and technologies to advance nanovaccine development. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews*, 172, 148–182.
- Peters, G. J., Schornagel, J. H., & Milano, G. A. (1993). Clinical pharmacokinetics of antimetabolites. *Cancer Surveys*, 17, 123–156.
- Peters, G. J., van der Wilt, C. L., van Moorsel, C. J., Kroep, J. R., Bergman, A. M., & Ackland, S. P. (2000). Basis for effective combination cancer chemotherapy with antimetabolites. *Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, 87, 227–253.
- Petersen, G. H., Alzghari, S. K., Chee, W., Sankari, S. S., & La-Beck, N. M. (2016). Meta-analysis of clinical and preclinical studies comparing the anticancer efficacy of liposomal versus conventional non-liposomal doxorubicin. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 232, 255–264.
- Petre, C. E., & Dittmer, D. P. (2007). Liposomal daunorubicin as treatment for Kaposi's sarcoma. International Journal of Nanomedicine, 2, 277–288.
- Pham, E., Birrer, M. J., Eliasof, S., Garmey, E. G., Lazarus, D., Lee, C. R., Man, S., Matulonis, U. A., Peters, C. G., Xu, P., Krasner, C., & Kerbel, R. S. (2015). Translational impact of nanoparticle–drug conjugate CRLX101 with or without bevacizumab in advanced ovarian cancer. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 21, 808–818.
- Piha-Paul, S. A., Thein, K. Z., De Souza, P., Kefford, R., Gangadhar, T., Smith, C., Schuster, S., Zamboni, W. C., Dees, C. E., & Markman, B. (2021). First-in-human, phase I/IIa study of CRLX301, a nanoparticle drug conjugate containing docetaxel, in patients with advanced or metastatic solid malignancies. *Investigational New Drugs*, 39, 1047–1056.
- Pillai, G., & Ceballos-Coronel, M. L. (2013). Science and technology of the emerging nanomedicines in cancer therapy: A primer for physicians and pharmacists. SAGE Open Medicine, 1, 2050312113513759.
- Qiao, D., Chen, Y., & Liu, L. (2021). Engineered therapeutic nanovaccine against chronic hepatitis B virus infection. *Biomaterials*, 269, 120674.
- Quail, D. F., & Joyce, J. A. (2013). Microenvironmental regulation of tumor progression and metastasis. *Nature Medicine*, 19, 1423–1437.
- Quazi, M. Z., Lee, U., Park, S., Shin, S., Sim, E., Son, H., & Park, N. (2021). Cancer cell-specific enhanced Raman imaging and photothermal therapeutic effect based on reversibly pHresponsive gold nanoparticles. ACS Applied Biomaterials, 4, 8377–8385.

- Ralhan, R., & Kaur, J. (2007). Alkylating agents and cancer therapy. Expert Opinion on Therapeutic Patents, 17, 1061–1075.
- Ranade, A. A., Joshi, D. A., Phadke, G. K., Patil, P. P., Kasbekar, R. B., Apte, T. G., Dasare, R. R., Mengde, S. D., Parikh, P. M., Bhattacharyya, G. S., & Lopes, G. L. (2013). Clinical and economic implications of the use of nanoparticle paclitaxel (Nanoxel) in India. *Annals of Oncology*, 24, 6–12.
- Regenold, M., Bannigan, P., Evans, J. C., Waspe, A., Temple, M. J., & Allen, C. (2021). Turning down the heat: The case for mild hyperthermia and thermosensitive liposomes. *Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology, Biology, and Medicine, 40*, 102484.
- Rideau, E., Dimova, R., Schwille, P., Wurm, F. R., & Landfester, K. (2018). Liposomes and polymersomes: A comparative review towards cell mimicking. *Chemical Society Reviews*, 47, 8572–8610.
- Riedel, R. F., Chua, V. S., Kim, T., Dang, J., Zheng, K., Moradkhani, A., Osada, A., & Chawla, S. P. (2021). Results of NC-6300 (nanoparticle epirubicin) in an expansion cohort of patients with angiosarcoma. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 39, 11543–11543.
- Rugo, H. S., Pluard, T. J., Sharma, P., Melisko, M., Al-Jazayrly, G., Vidula, N., Ji, Y., Weng, D., Lim, H.-S., Yoon, K. E., & Cho, H. J. (2021). Abstract PS13-16: Pharmacokinetic evaluation of an oral paclitaxel DHP107 (Liporaxel®) in patients with recurrent or metastatic breast cancer (MBC): Phase II study (OPERA, NCT03326102). *Cancer Research*, 81, 13–16.
- Safra, T. (2003). Cardiac safety of liposomal anthracyclines. The Oncologist, 8, 17-24.
- Sanchez-Moreno, P., Ortega-Vinuesa, J. L., Peula-Garcia, J. M., Marchal, J. A., & Boulaiz, H. (2018). Smart drug-delivery systems for cancer nanotherapy. *Current Drug Targets*, 19, 339–359.
- Sankhala, K. K., Mita, A. C., Adinin, R., Wood, L., Beeram, M., Bullock, S., Yamagata, N., Matsuno, K., Fujisawa, T., & Phan, A. (2009). A phase I pharmacokinetic (PK) study of MBP-426, a novel liposome encapsulated oxaliplatin. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 27, 2535.
- Sarfraz, M., Afzal, A., Yang, T., Gai, Y., Raza, S. M., Khan, M. W., Cheng, Y., Ma, X., & Xiang, G. (2018). Development of dual drug loaded nanosized liposomal formulation by a reengineered ethanolic injection method and its pre-clinical pharmacokinetic studies. *Pharmaceutics*, 10(3), 151.
- Saw, P. E., Yu, M., Choi, M., Lee, E., Jon, S., & Farokhzad, O. C. (2017). Hyper-cell-permeable micelles as a drug delivery carrier for effective cancer therapy. *Biomaterials*, 123, 118–126.
- Seetharamu, N., Kim, E., Hochster, H., Martin, F., & Muggia, F. (2010). Phase II study of liposomal cisplatin (SPI-77) in platinum-sensitive recurrences of ovarian cancer. *Anticancer Research*, 30, 541–545.
- Semple, S. C., Leone, R., Wang, J., Leng, E. C., Klimuk, S. K., Eisenhardt, M. L., Yuan, Z. N., Edwards, K., Maurer, N., Hope, M. J., Cullis, P. R., & Ahkong, Q. F. (2005). Optimization and characterization of a sphingomyelin/cholesterol liposome formulation of vinorelbine with promising antitumor activity. *Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 94, 1024–1038.
- Senzer, N. N., Matsuno, K., Yamagata, N., Fujisawa, T., Wasserman, E., Sutherland, W., Sharma, S., & Phan, A. (2009). Abstract C36: MBP-426, a novel liposome-encapsulated oxaliplatin, in combination with 5-FU/leucovorin (LV): Phase I results of a Phase I/II study in gastroesophageal adenocarcinoma, with pharmacokinetics. *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics*, 8, C36.
- Sercombe, L., Veerati, T., Moheimani, F., Wu, S. Y., Sood, A. K., & Hua, S. (2015). Advances and challenges of liposome assisted drug delivery. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 6, 286.
- Sethi, S., Ali, S., Philip, P. A., & Sarkar, F. H. (2013). Clinical advances in molecular biomarkers for cancer diagnosis and therapy. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 14, 14771–14784.
- Shae, D., Becker, K. W., Christov, P., Yun, D. S., Lytton-Jean, A. K. R., Sevimli, S., Ascano, M., Kelley, M., Johnson, D. B., Balko, J. M., & Wilson, J. T. (2019). Endosomolytic polymersomes increase the activity of cyclic dinucleotide STING agonists to enhance cancer immunotherapy. *Nature Nanotechnology*, 14, 269–278.
- Shetty, N., & Gupta, S. (2014). Eribulin drug review. South Asian Journal of Cancer, 3, 57-59.

- Shi, J., Kantoff, P. W., Wooster, R., & Farokhzad, O. C. (2017). Cancer nanomedicine: Progress, challenges and opportunities. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 17, 20–37.
- Shi, Y., van der Meel, R., Chen, X., & Lammers, T. (2020). The EPR effect and beyond: Strategies to improve tumor targeting and cancer nanomedicine treatment efficacy. *Theranostics*, 10, 7921–7924.
- Shreyash, N., Sonker, M., Bajpai, S., & Tiwary, S. K. (2021). Review of the mechanism of nanocarriers and technological developments in the field of nanoparticles for applications in cancer theragnostics. ACS Applied Biomaterials, 4, 2307–2334.
- Sibaud, V., Lebœuf, N. R., Roche, H., Belum, V. R., Gladieff, L., Deslandres, M., Montastruc, M., Eche, A., Vigarios, E., Dalenc, F., & Lacouture, M. E. (2016). Dermatological adverse events with taxane chemotherapy. *European Journal of Dermatology*, 26, 427–443.
- Silverman, J. A., & Deitcher, S. R. (2013). Marqibo® (vincristine sulfate liposome injection) improves the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of vincristine. *Cancer Chemotherapy* and Pharmacology, 71, 555–564.
- Sinha, B. K. (1995). Topoisomerase inhibitors. Drugs, 49, 11-19.
- Slingerland, M., Guchelaar, H. J., Rosing, H., Scheulen, M. E., van Warmerdam, L. J., Beijnen, J. H., & Gelderblom, H. (2013). Bioequivalence of Liposome-Entrapped Paclitaxel Easy-To-Use (LEP-ETU) formulation and paclitaxel in polyethoxylated castor oil: A randomized, twoperiod crossover study in patients with advanced cancer. *Clinical Therapeutics*, 35, 1946–1954.
- Stathopoulos, G. P., Boulikas, T., Vougiouka, M., Deliconstantinos, G., Rigatos, S., Darli, E., Viliotou, V., & Stathopoulos, J. G. (2005). Pharmacokinetics and adverse reactions of a new liposomal cisplatin (Lipoplatin): Phase I study. *Oncology Reports*, 13, 589–595.
- Stathopoulos, G. P., Boulikas, T., Kourvetaris, A., & Stathopoulos, J. (2006a). Liposomal oxaliplatin in the treatment of advanced cancer: A phase I study. *Anticancer Research*, 26, 1489–1493.
- Stathopoulos, G. P., Boulikas, T., Vougiouka, M., Rigatos, S. K., & Stathopoulos, J. G. (2006b). Liposomal cisplatin combined with gemcitabine in pretreated advanced pancreatic cancer patients: A phase I-II study. *Oncology Reports*, 15, 1201–1204.
- Subbiah, V., Grilley-Olson, J. E., Combest, A. J., Sharma, N., Tran, R. H., Bobe, I., Osada, A., Takahashi, K., Balkissoon, J., Camp, A., Masada, A., Reitsma, D. J., & Bazhenova, L. A. (2018). Phase Ib/II trial of NC-6004 (nanoparticle cisplatin) plus gemcitabine in patients with advanced solid tumors. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 24, 43–51.
- Sun, D., Zhou, S., & Gao, W. (2020). What went wrong with anticancer nanomedicine design and how to make it right. ACS Nano, 14, 12281–12290.
- Svenson, S., Wolfgang, M., Hwang, J., Ryan, J., & Eliasof, S. (2011). Preclinical to clinical development of the novel camptothecin nanopharmaceutical CRLX101. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 153, 49–55.
- Swami, U., Shah, U., & Goel, S. (2017). Eribulin in non-small cell lung cancer: Challenges and potential strategies. *Expert Opinion on Investigational Drugs*, 26, 495–508.
- Tang, L., Yang, X., Yin, Q., Cai, K., Wang, H., Chaudhury, I., Yao, C., Zhou, Q., Kwon, M., Hartman, J. A., Dobrucki, I. T., Dobrucki, L. W., Borst, L. B., Lezmi, S., Helferich, W. G., Ferguson, A. L., Fan, T. M., & Cheng, J. (2014). Investigating the optimal size of anticancer nanomedicine. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 111, 15344–15349.
- Tippayamontri, T., Kotb, R., Sanche, L., & Paquette, B. (2014). New therapeutic possibilities of combined treatment of radiotherapy with oxaliplatin and its liposomal formulation, LipoxalTM, in rectal cancer using xenograft in nude mice. *Anticancer Research*, *34*, 5303–5312.
- Tomkinson, B., Bendele, R., Giles, F. J., Brown, E., Gray, A., Hart, K., LeRay, J. D., Meyer, D., Pelanne, M., & Emerson, D. L. (2003). OSI-211, a novel liposomal topoisomerase I inhibitor, is active in SCID mouse models of human AML and ALL. *Leukemia Research*, 27, 1039–1050.
- Torchilin, V. (2011). Tumor delivery of macromolecular drugs based on the EPR effect. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews*, 63, 131–135.
- Tweedie, D. J., Erikson, J. M., & Prough, R. A. (1987). Metabolism of hydrazine anti-cancer agents. *Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, 34, 111–127.

- Ueno, T., Endo, K., Hori, K., Ozaki, N., Tsuji, A., Kondo, S., Wakisaka, N., Murono, S., Kataoka, K., Kato, Y., & Yoshizaki, T. (2014). Assessment of antitumor activity and acute peripheral neuropathy of 1,2-diaminocyclohexane platinum (II)-incorporating micelles (NC-4016). *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 9, 3005–3012.
- Uldrick, T. S., & Whitby, D. (2011). Update on KSHV epidemiology, Kaposi Sarcoma pathogenesis, and treatment of Kaposi Sarcoma. *Cancer Letters*, 305, 150–162.
- Valcourt, D. M., Dang, M. N., Scully, M. A., & Day, E. S. (2020). Nanoparticle-mediated codelivery of Notch-1 antibodies and ABT-737 as a potent treatment strategy for triple-negative breast cancer. ACS Nano, 14, 3378–3388.
- van der Meel, R., Sulheim, E., Shi, Y., Kiessling, F., Mulder, W. J. M., & Lammers, T. (2019). Smart cancer nanomedicine. *Nature Nanotechnology*, 14, 1007–1017.
- Verco, S., Maulhardt, H., Baltezor, M., Williams, E., Iacobucci, M., Wendt, A., Verco, J., Marin, A., Campbell, S., Dorman, P., & diZerega, G. (2021). Local administration of submicron particle paclitaxel to solid carcinomas induces direct cytotoxicity and immune-mediated tumoricidal effects without local or systemic toxicity: Preclinical and clinical studies. *Drug Delivery and Translational Research*, 11, 1806–1817.
- Vergote, I., Bergfeldt, K., Franquet, A., Lisyanskaya, A. S., Bjermo, H., Heldring, N., Buyse, M., & Brize, A. (2020). A randomized phase III trial in patients with recurrent platinum sensitive ovarian cancer comparing efficacy and safety of paclitaxel micellar and Cremophor EL-paclitaxel. *Gynecologic Oncology*, 156, 293–300.
- Vincristine liposomal-INEX: Lipid-encapsulated vincristine, onco TCS, transmembrane carrier system--vincristine, vincacine, vincristine sulfate liposomes for injection, VSLI. (2004). Drugs in R&D, 5, 119–123.
- Vokes, E. E., Gordon, G. S., Mauer, A. M., Rudin, C. M., Krauss, S. A., Szeto, L., Golomb, H. M., & Hoffman, P. C. (2000). A phase I study of STEALTH cisplatin (SPI-77) and vinorelbine in patients with advanced non small-cell lung cancer. *Clinical Lung Cancer*, 2, 128–132.
- von Moos, R., Thuerlimann, B. J., Aapro, M., Rayson, D., Harrold, K., Schouli, J., Scotte, F., Lorusso, D., Dummer, R., Lacouture, M. E., Lademann, J., & Hauschild, A. (2008). Pegylated liposomal doxorubicin-associated hand-foot syndrome: Recommendations of an international panel of experts. *European Journal of Cancer*, 44, 781–790.
- Wagner, A. M., Knipe, J. M., Orive, G., & Peppas, N. A. (2019). Quantum dots in biomedical applications. Acta Biomaterialia, 94, 44–63.
- Wang, W., & Tse-Dinh, Y. C. (2019). Recent advances in use of topoisomerase inhibitors in combination cancer therapy. *Current Topics in Medicinal Chemistry*, 19, 730–740.
- Wang, L., Cao, J., Li, C., Wang, X., Zhao, Y., Li, T., Du, Y., Tao, Z., Peng, W., Wang, B., Zhang, J., Zhang, S., Wang, Z., & Hu, X. (2021). Efficacy and safety of mitoxantrone hydrochloride liposome injection in Chinese patients with advanced breast cancer: A randomized, open-label, active-controlled, single-center, phase II clinical trial. *Investigational New Drugs*, 40, 330–339.
- Wetzler, M., Thomas, D. A., Wang, E. S., Shepard, R., Ford, L. A., Heffner, T. L., Parekh, S., Andreeff, M., O'Brien, S., & Kantarjian, H. M. (2013). Phase I/II trial of nanomolecular liposomal annamycin in adult patients with relapsed/refractory acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Clinical Lymphoma, Myeloma & Leukemia, 13*, 430–434.
- White, S. C., Lorigan, P., Margison, G. P., Margison, J. M., Martin, F., Thatcher, N., Anderson, H., & Ranson, M. (2006). Phase II study of SPI-77 (sterically stabilised liposomal cisplatin) in advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. *British Journal of Cancer*, 95, 822–828.
- Whittle, J. R., Lickliter, J. D., Gan, H. K., Scott, A. M., Simes, J., Solomon, B. J., MacDiarmid, J. A., Brahmbhatt, H., & Rosenthal, M. A. (2015). First in human nanotechnology doxorubicin delivery system to target epidermal growth factor receptors in recurrent glioblastoma. *Journal* of Clinical Neuroscience, 22, 1889–1894.
- Wicki, A., Witzigmann, D., Balasubramanian, V., & Huwyler, J. (2015). Nanomedicine in cancer therapy: Challenges, opportunities, and clinical applications. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 200, 138–157.
- Wilhelm, S., Tavares, A. J., Dai, Q., Ohta, S., Audet, J., Dvorak, H. F., & Chan, W. C. W. (2016). Analysis of nanoparticle delivery to tumours. *Nature Reviews Materials*, 1, 16014.

- Xu, X., Wang, L., Xu, H. Q., Huang, X. E., Qian, Y. D., & Xiang, J. (2013). Clinical comparison between paclitaxel liposome (Lipusu®) and paclitaxel for treatment of patients with metastatic gastric cancer. Asian Pacific Journal of Cancer Prevention, 14, 2591–2594.
- Xu, C., Nam, J., Hong, H., Xu, Y., & Moon, J. J. (2019). Positron emission tomography-guided photodynamic therapy with biodegradable mesoporous silica nanoparticles for personalized cancer immunotherapy. ACS Nano, 13, 12148–12161.
- Yacoby, I., & Benhar, I. (2008). Antibacterial nanomedicine. Nanomedicine, 3, 329-341.
- Yang, J. I., Jin, B., Kim, S. Y., Li, Q., Nam, A., Ryu, M. O., Lee, W. W., Son, M. H., Park, H. J., Song, W. J., & Youn, H. Y. (2020). Antitumour effects of Liporaxel (oral paclitaxel) for canine melanoma in a mouse xenograft model. *Veterinary and Comparative Oncology*, 18, 152–160.
- Young, C., Schluep, T., Hwang, J., & Eliasof, S. (2011). CRLX101 (formerly IT-101)-a novel nanopharmaceutical of camptothecin in clinical development. *Current Bioactive Compounds*, 7, 8–14.
- Yousefpour, P., Ahn, L., Tewksbury, J., Saha, S., Costa, S. A., Bellucci, J. J., Li, X., & Chilkoti, A. (2019). Conjugate of doxorubicin to albumin-binding peptide outperforms aldoxorubicin. *Small*, 15, e1804452.
- Yuan, F., Leunig, M., Huang, S. K., Berk, D. A., Papahadjopoulos, D., & Jain, R. K. (1994). Microvascular permeability and interstitial penetration of sterically stabilized (stealth) liposomes in a human tumor xenograft. *Cancer Research*, 54, 3352–3356.
- Yun, Y. H., Lee, B. K., & Park, K. (2015). Controlled drug delivery: Historical perspective for the next generation. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 219, 2–7.
- Zamboni, W. C., Ramalingam, S., Friedland, D. M., Edwards, R. P., Stoller, R. G., Strychor, S., Maruca, L., Zamboni, B. A., Belani, C. P., & Ramanathan, R. K. (2009). Phase I and pharmacokinetic study of pegylated liposomal CKD-602 in patients with advanced malignancies. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 15, 1466–1472.
- Zelmer, C., Zweifel, L. P., Kapinos, L. E., Craciun, I., Güven, Z. P., Palivan, C. G., & Lim, R. Y. H. (2020). Organelle-specific targeting of polymersomes into the cell nucleus. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences, 117, 2770–2778.
- Zhang, H. (2016). Onivyde for the therapy of multiple solid tumors. *Oncotargets and Therapy*, *9*, 3001–3007.
- Zhang, J. A., Xuan, T., Parmar, M., Ma, L., Ugwu, S., Ali, S., & Ahmad, I. (2004). Development and characterization of a novel liposome-based formulation of SN-38. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 270, 93–107.
- Zhang, J., Tian, Q., Yung, C. S., Chuen, L. S., Zhou, S., Duan, W., & Zhu, Y. Z. (2005). Metabolism and transport of oxazaphosphorines and the clinical implications. *Drug Metabolism Reviews*, 37, 611–703.
- Zhang, E., Xing, R., Liu, S., & Li, P. (2019). Current advances in development of new docetaxel formulations. *Expert Opinion on Drug Delivery*, 16, 301–312.
- Zhang, L., Beatty, A., Lu, L., Abdalrahman, A., Makris, T. M., Wang, G., & Wang, Q. (2020). Microfluidic-assisted polymer-protein assembly to fabricate homogeneous functional nanoparticles. *Materials Science & Engineering C, Materials for Biological Applications*, 111, 110768.
- Zhang, J., Pan, Y., Shi, Q., Zhang, G., Jiang, L., Dong, X., Gu, K., Wang, H., Zhang, X., Yang, N., Li, Y., Xiong, J., Yi, T., Peng, M., Song, Y., Fan, Y., Cui, J., Chen, G., Tan, W., Zang, A., Guo, Q., Zhao, G., Wang, Z., He, J., Yao, W., Wu, X., Chen, K., Hu, X., Hu, C., Yue, L., Jiang, D., Wang, G., Liu, J., Yu, G., Li, J., Bai, J., Xie, W., Zhao, W., Wu, L., & Zhou, C. (2022). Paclitaxel liposome for injection (Lipusu) plus cisplatin versus gemcitabine plus cisplatin in the first-line treatment of locally advanced or metastatic lung squamous cell carcinoma: A multicenter, randomized, open-label, parallel controlled clinical study. *Cancer Communications*, 42, 3–16.
- Zhao, L., & Zhang, B. (2017). Doxorubicin induces cardiotoxicity through upregulation of death receptors mediated apoptosis in cardiomyocytes. *Scientific Reports*, 7, 44735.
- Zhu, L., & Chen, L. (2019). Progress in research on paclitaxel and tumor immunotherapy. *Cellular & Molecular Biology Letters*, 24, 40.

Index

A

Active targeting, 10, 13, 48, 73–77, 83, 85, 87, 89, 90, 93, 96, 148, 156, 232, 286, 292, 295, 296, 343 Antibodies, 4, 6, 10, 13, 15, 73, 74, 78, 79, 83, 85, 86, 96, 119–124, 127–131, 133–142, 144, 146–167, 232, 236–238, 247, 265, 297, 311, 316, 319, 329, 333, 346, 350 Anticancer vaccines, 310, 314, 315, 319

B

Biomaterials, 104–106, 109, 153, 155, 281–284, 290, 330 Bioprinting, 103–112 Breast cancer, 4–19, 21–33, 58, 60, 65, 74, 76, 79, 83–85, 88, 90–92, 106, 107, 119, 120, 125, 132, 133, 149, 150, 153–156, 158, 162, 185, 187, 189, 191, 209, 217, 230, 236, 240, 284, 286, 290, 293, 294, 296, 317, 335, 336, 338, 340, 341, 343–346, 348, 349, 352, 353, 360, 362, 363, 365

С

Cancer, 4, 46, 73, 104, 119, 181, 207, 230, 254, 275, 309, 327 Cancer chronotherapy, 210–212, 218 Cancer immunotherapy, 131, 243, 255, 261 Cancer treatment, 4, 5, 7, 9, 13, 15, 16, 18, 22–24, 28, 33, 46–49, 74–77, 85,

87, 92, 96, 119, 120, 148, 156-159, 195, 210, 213, 216, 218, 220, 230, 231, 234, 235, 274–278, 283, 286, 293, 296, 327, 333, 335, 340-342, 360, 363-365, 367 Carbodiimide chemistry, 80, 84-88, 96, 120, 134, 137-138, 155 Chemotherapy, 4, 8, 11, 14, 20, 24, 33, 46, 48, 50, 56, 83, 119, 120, 149, 210-213, 218, 230, 232, 233, 237, 240, 247, 248, 280, 281, 286, 297, 300, 314, 317, 327, 329, 330, 333, 340-342, 351, 361, 364, 366 Circadian disruption, 207-209 Click chemistry, 82, 92, 96, 134, 144-146, 166 Clinical trials, 4, 12, 32, 33, 131, 156, 210, 211, 215, 218, 232, 234, 236-245, 247, 259–261, 264, 265, 340, 342-367, 369 Combinatorial therapy, 310, 318, 320 Curcumin-loaded nanoparticles, 366

D

DNA-based vaccines, 231 Drug delivery, 4, 6, 8, 10, 21, 23, 25, 26, 29, 31, 32, 56, 57, 73, 83, 86, 88, 91, 95, 105, 152, 154, 155, 157, 159, 160, 164, 213, 216, 218–220, 233, 275, 286, 287, 291, 294, 309–312, 317, 319, 320, 328–330, 332, 333, 337, 367–369

© The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 Â. M. Almeida de Sousa et al. (eds.), *Cancer Nanotechnology*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-17831-3 385

F

Functionalization, 6, 22, 73–92, 94, 96, 120, 133–147, 153, 160, 166, 278, 279, 295

L

Lipid nanoparticles, 5, 15, 25, 26, 33, 63, 73, 120, 148, 150, 151, 216, 258, 259, 263, 318, 353 Liposomes, 5–15, 19–21, 26–30, 54, 73–78, 83–86, 88, 89, 92–94, 120, 147–151, 192, 193, 213, 215, 232, 233, 244, 246, 247, 260, 262, 297, 320, 330, 331, 337–340, 342–351, 354–360, 363–367

Μ

- Maleimide chemistry, 80, 81, 86, 96, 120, 134, 139–144, 148, 166 Microneedles, 31, 309–320 Mitochondria, 13, 55, 180–182, 185, 189–197, 287 Mitochondrial disorders, 181, 184
- Mitochondrial DNA, 180, 181, 184, 185, 188
- Mitochondrial gene therapy, 191, 193–197
- Molecular imaging, 46, 51, 216, 295, 296, 298, 299
- MRNA-based vaccines, 239
- MRNA nanovaccine, 255, 256, 261
- Multifunctional nanoplatforms, 278

N

Nanoemulsions, 5, 6, 17–18, 22, 23, 26, 28–30, 32, 148 Nanomedicine, 5, 7, 8, 10, 15, 34, 300, 317, 328–330, 366–368 Nanoparticles, 5, 6, 14, 15, 19, 22, 24, 26, 27, 31, 32, 47, 48, 51, 52, 56–63, 65, 73–95, 120, 133–138, 144, 147–167, 191, 193, 195, 213–219, 232, 233, 245, 247, 248, 262, 263, 274–300, 310, 311, 314–316, 318–320, 331–333, 336, 338–341, 343–364, 366–369 Nanotechnology, 46, 47, 49, 181, 193–196, 213–220, 232, 275, 276, 286, 328, 329, 336, 368 Nanotheranostics, 47, 49, 50, 61, 65, 66, 216, 217, 275

P

Personalized therapy, 190, 216, 319, 333 Photodynamic therapy (PDT), 49–53, 55, 59, 61–64, 317 Photosensitizers, 46, 49–55, 63–64, 160 Photothermal therapies (PTT), 14, 49–51, 55, 62, 64, 160, 275–278, 280–284, 290, 317–319, 332 Polymer conjugates, 330 Polymeric nanoparticles (PNPs), 47–49, 54, 56, 57, 61, 62, 65, 66, 73–79, 84, 87, 91, 94, 120, 152–158, 212, 218, 299, 332, 341, 360, 361, 367

R

Radiolabeled nanoparticles, 296, 297, 299 Rare earth-doped nanomaterials (RENPs), 57, 288

S

Self-adjuvant, 255, 261, 263

Т

Targeting, 5, 6, 13, 14, 17–20, 28, 46–48, 54, 55, 58, 63–65, 73–83, 85, 87–96, 120, 131, 148, 149, 152–154, 156, 158–166, 181, 191–197, 215–217, 219, 230, 231, 237, 248, 274, 281, 286, 293, 294, 296, 316, 329, 332, 362, 368 Targeting ligands, 13, 64, 91, 131, 196, 216 Therapeutic monitoring, 293 Tumor antigen, 119, 233, 234, 240, 255, 262, 263, 314, 315 Tumor microenvironment, 5, 10–12, 15, 34, 48, 73, 74, 91, 95, 104–106, 109,

110, 120, 129, 132, 231, 232, 248, 254, 265, 316, 329